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THE  HISTORY  OF  CANADA 
FROM  THE  EARLIEST  DATE  OF  FRENCH  RULE. 

CHAPTER  I. 

The  quarrel  between  the  Governor,  M.  de  Frontenac,  and 

the  Intendant,  Duchesneau,  remained  unadjusted.*  So  long  as 
the  latter  considered  his  position  to  be  in  no  way  subordinate 
to  that  of  the  Governor,  and  received  encouragement  to  assert 

this  assumption  of  power,  there  could  be  no  reconciliation. 

The  support  which  the  Intendant  obtained  from  M.  de  Laval 

and  the  lay  and  clerical  personages  whom  the  Bishop  con- 
trolled, encouraged  him  to  become  the  declared  opponent  of 

M,  de  Frontenac  ;  and  while  admitting  in  the  usual  courtly 

language  the  official  superiority  of  the  Governor,  he  did  not 
hesitate  to  advance  his  claim  to  independent  authority.  The 

population  of  Canada  in  1679  was  9,400  souls.  All  Ordin- 
ances for  its  government  were  issued  by  the  Council,  and 

were  absolute.  There  was,  however,  an  occasional  reference 

on  matters  of  trade  to  the  principal  inhabitants  for  the 

expression  of  their  opinion.  It  was  accordingly  in  the 

Council  chamber  that  the  dispute  assumed  its  most  .serious 

proportions. 
M.  de  Frontenac  was  by  no  means  one  to  smooth  any  dis- 

agreement having  its  origin  in  an  attack  upon  his  authority. 

His  faults  were  those  of  a  strong  mind  and  a  powerful  intel- 
lect. In  his  self-assertion  he  had  few  scruples  of  delicacy, 

and  little  thought  of  the  consequences  to  others.  He  fully  felt 

the  difficulties  and  responsibilities  of  his  position,  and  his 

whole  career  establi-shes  his  desire  faithfully  to  fulfil  his  trust. 

*  Vide  Vol.  L,  p.  434. 
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Subsequent  events  shewed  how  ruthlessly  he  could  cany  out 
his  purpose,  and  that  in  defence  of  the  interests  confided  to 

him,  he  considered  every  policy  to  be  justifiable.  He  possessed 
the  instincts  of  a  statesman,  and  there  was  scarcely  a  man  in 

France  who  could  with  greater  abilit)'  have  met  and  mastered 
the  crisis  in  which,  a  few  years  later,  the  colony  was  placed. 

The  Intendant  was  one  of  those  colourless  figures  in  history 

who  would  pass  unnoticed  except  for  their  contact  with  other 
and  more  prominent  men.  The  tool  of  M.  de  Laval,  he  was 

encouraged  to  assume  a  position  in  which  he  would  be  able 

more  successfully  to  support  the  Bishop's  views.  In  vain 
Colbert  told  him  to  know  the  difference  between  a  Governor 

and  an  Intendant.  Duchesneau  persevered  in  treating  the 

Governor  as  one  holding  office  jointly  with  himself  It  was 

not  however  until  the  27th  of  I'cbruary,  1679,  three  years  and 
some  months  after  the  Intcndant's  arrival,  that  a  positive  issue 
was  raised  which  defined  clearly  this  antagonism  of  feeling. 
On  the  meeting  of  the  Council  at  that  date,  Duchesneau 
desired  to  be  informed  why  an  innovation  in  the  entry  of  the 

proceedings  of  the  previous  meeting  had  been  made,  contrary 
to  the  orders  of  the  King.  The  Clerk  replied,  by  order  of  the 

Governor  ;  a  statement  corroborated  by  the  Governor  him- 
self The  wording  in  question  described  the  Governor  as 

Chief  and  President  of  the  Council;  the  Intendant  as  perform- 
ing the  functions  of  President  according  to  the  declaration  of 

the  King,  lliere  was  an  extraordinary  meeting  on  the  3rd 
of  March.  The  Governor  stated  that  some  three  weeks  before, 

he  discovered,  on  reference  to  the  Register,  that  the  Intendant 

was  disputing  his  position  as  Chief  and  President  of  the 

Council,  'contrary  to  the  intentions  of  His  Majesty.'  There 
is  scarcely  a  record  of  a  document  of  this  period  to  be  sub- 

mitted to  the  King,  in  which  these  dreary  words  do  not  occur, 

livery  disputant  applied  them  to  his  own  use  and  advantage. 
It  was  the  propitiatory  phrase  on  which  every  pretension  to 
gain  the  royal  will  was  based  ;  adulation  of  the  monarch  was 

a  portion  of  the  text  of  every  communication.  The  Inten- 

dant replied  that  "he  did  not  contest  the  Governor's  position  as 
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Chief  of  the  Council,"  and  referred  to  the  meeting  of  the  30th 
of  September,  1675,  when  it  was  agreed  that  the  Governor 
should  be  so  styled,  and  the  Intendant  as  performing  the 
duties  of  President.  The  Governor  had  by  his  sole  authority 

directed  a  change  to  be  made,  to  dispute  the  Intendant's 
position  as  President ;  an  office  he  held  on  a  similar  tenure  to 

that  of  the  Presidents  of  the  Superior  Courts  in  P" ranee.  He 
therefore  felt  called  upon  to  ask  the  Governor  on  what  ground 
he  claimed  the  position  of  President,  and  what  new  use  he 

designed  to  make  of  it;  for  although  as  Intendant  he  was  the 

third  person  in  the  colony,  he  claimed  to  be  "the  first  President 

of  the  Council." 
M.  de  Frontenac  would  not  admit  that  there  was  any  inno- 

vation. What  he  now  claimed  ought  to  have  been  recognized 

during  the  past  three  years  and  a  half;  and  if  such  had  not 
been  the  case,  he  was  ignorant  of  the  fact.  He  had  not  seen  the 

register  for  two  years,  since  the  dcj^arture  of  the  clerk  for 

P" ranee.  Peuvret,  that  official,  had  ncnv  returned  ;  it  was  on 
retaking  his  place  that  the  question  had  ari.sen. 

The  Governor's  view  was  that  the  Intendant  should  act 

as  "resident  in  taking  the  opinions  of  the  members  of  the 
Council,  and  in  recording  the  decision.  Duchcsneau  con- 

tended that  the  change  would  lessen  the  attributes  of  his 
office.  He  argued  that  in  his  ab.scncc  the  senior  Councillor 

should  preside,  and  that  the  Governor,  although  Chief  of  the 
Council,  could  not  act  as  President.  His  pretensions  went  to 

the  extent,  that  while  as  Intendant,  he  ought  never  to  call 

the  Council  together  on  extraordinary  occasions  without  stat- 
ing his  reasons  for  so  doing  and  agreeing  with  the  Governor 

as  to  the  time;  the  Governor  should  equally  communicate 

to  the  Intendant  when  he  deemed  it  necessary  so  to  act. 
The  dispute  was  not  for  a  mere  empty  title.  The  privilege 

battled  for,  was  that  the  Intendant,  whenev^er  he  saw  fit, 
should  have  power  to  call  a  meeting  independently  of  the 

Governor's  wish,  on  notifying  him  of  his  intention. 

P'our  days  afterwards  the  argument  was  continued.  De 

P^rontenac  pointed  out  that  when  on  the  23rd  of  September, 

i 
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1675,  Duchesneau's  commission  was  registered,  he  had 
presided  ;  the  Intendant  not  having  been  present.  Conse- 

quently, it  was  not  possible  to  dispute  his  position  as  Presi- 
dent. He  traced  this  right  to  the  time  of  de  Lauson,  and  to 

the  course  taken  by  subsequent  Governors,  by  d'Argenson, 
d'Avaugour,  and  de  Mesy.  Some  change  had  been  made  by 
de  Tracy,  as  Commander  of  the  Forces,  which  de  Courcelles 
had  followed.  He  himself  adhered  to  the  early  practice  ;  he 

assumed  to  be  .something  higher  than  an  honorary  Councillor 

having  no  other  prerogative  than  to  sit  above  the  Bishop  and 

the  Intendant,  or  in  the  Bishop's  absence,  his  Grand  Vicar. 
He  had  found  that  the  Intendant  allowed  no  opportunity  to 

pass  of  disparaging  his  position  and  character,  and  that 
courtesy  was  shewn  by  words,  not  by  actions.  He  submitted 
extracts  of  despatches  from  France  defining  his  position, 
which  he  desired  should  be  enregistered. 

These  despatches  *  were  addressed  to  M.  de  Frontenac,  as 

"  Chief  and  President  of  the  Council,"  directing  his  accept- 
ance of  the  Councillors  named,  setting  forth  his  responsibility 

in  matters  of  police  and  justice,  calling  upon  him  to  exercise 

a  good  and  beneficent  influence  on  the  Council,  and  to  sum- 
mon a  meeting  of  twenty  of  the  inhabitants,  to  consider  the 

question  of  the  sale  of  liquor  to  the  Indians. 
The  Intendant  placed  a  statement  on  record,  that  while  he 

was  always  ready  to  pay  every  deference  to  the  Governor,  he 
must  continue  to  avail  himself  of  the  Royal  declaration  ;  and 

he  asked  the  co-operation  of  the  Attorney-General.  The 
latter  recommended  that  the  question  should  be  submitted  to 
the  King,  and  that  until  his  decision  was  obtained,  the  titles 

of  Governor  and  Intendant  only  should  be  used.  This  view 

was  accepted  by  the  Council,  and  two  of  the  body  were 
directed  so  to  state  to  the  Governor. 

No  such  compliance  was  found  in  de  Frontenac.  He 

requested  the  Council  to  reconsider  the  case,  and  not  oblige 
him  to  have  recourse  to  his  authority,  to  which  he  appealed 
only  when  persuasion,  mildness  and  remonstrance  had  failed. 

•  22iid  April,  1675  ;  isth  April,  1676  ;  I2th  May ;  24th  May,  167S. 
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On  the  other  hand,  the  Intendant  expressed  his  readiness 

to  accept  the  course  suggested.  Accordingly,  the  matter 

was  again  referred  to  the  Attorney-General ;  the  latter  re- 
peated his  recommendation  that  the  case  should  be  laid 

before  the  King,  and  this  opinion  was  again  sent  to  the 
Governor. 

But  de  Frontenac  in  no  way  abandoned  his  pretensions. 

He  maintained  in  the  King's  name,*  that  he  must  be  treated 

according  to  the  King's  declaration.  The  clerk  was  instructed 
to  describe  him  as  Chief  and  President.  The  prefix  of 

Monseigneur  to  his  name  was  also  disputed  ;  on  this  point 

he  was  prepared  to  wait  the  Royal  instructions.  The  Intend- 
ant answered,  that  the  Council  was  only  bound  to  obey  the 

Governor  in  the  event  of  war,  and  for  the  safety  of  the 

country.  To  use  force  in  this  instance  was  to  do  away  with 

all  justice.  He  appealed  to  the  Council  to  maintain  its 

authority,  and  not  permit  an  entry  to  be  made  in  the  registers 
without  authority  of  its  members.  But  the  Governor  would 

not  recede  ;  he  retorted  on  the  Intendant  that  he  was  making 

trouble  in  the  country,  where  he  was  bound  U>  keep  the 
peace.  In  spite  of  the  demand  of  the  Governor  that  the 

Attorney-General  should  immediately  take  notice  of  his  com- 
munication, the  matter  was  referred  for  report  to  the  follow- 

ing Thursday. 
The  meeting  at  which  this  altercation  occurred  took  place 

on  the  27th  of  March,  1679  ;  no  meeting  was  again  held 
until  the  14th  of  August,  at  a  time  when  de  Frontenac  was 
absent  in  Montreal.  The  Intendant  stated  on  that  occasion, 

that  on  the  loth  of  July  last,  he  had  met  the  Governor  in 

Montreal,  who  had  informed  him  that  de  Villeray  had  been 
ordered  to  remain  in  his  residence  on  the  island  of  Saint 

Lawrence  ;  de  Tilly  at  the  house  of  his  brother-in-law,  St. 

Denis  ;  and  that  the  Attorney-General,  d'Auteuil,  had  been 
directed  not  to  leave  Sillery,  until  these  members  of  the 

Council  could  proceed  to  France  to  give  an  account  of  their 

conduct.     He  had,  nevertheless,  applied   for  leave  to  call  a 

"  II  DECLARE  [stc]  a  la  compagnie  de  la  part  du  Roy.     Cons.  Souv.  II.,  305. 
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meeting,  to  which  the  Governor  had  answered  that  the 

proceedings  of  the  hist  Council  had  been  concerted  and  pre- 
arranged ;  the  Intendant,  said  he,  had  also  asked  permission 

for  the  Councillors  to  he  present  at  the  meetings,  so  tiiat  the 

ordinary  business  could  be  transacted  ;  a  request  the  Gover- 
nor had  refused. 

Damours  laid  on  the  table  the  report  of  d'Auteuil.  After 
reciting  the  grounds  on  which  the  respective  claims  had  been 

advanced,  he  gave  his  opinion  that  letters  from  the  King 
addrc§.sed  personally  to  the  Governor,  owing  to  their  not 
having  been  communicated  to  the  Council,  were  not  binding 

upon  its  members,  but  were  special  to  the  party  addressed, 

for  by  law  such  letters*  could  not  be  held  as  evidence.  It 
was  on  these  documents  only,  that  the  Governor  founded  his 

pretensions,  while  the  powers  held  by  the  Intendant  clearly 

established  his  right  to  exercise  and  enjoy  privileges  analo- 
gous to  those  held  by  the  first  Presidents  of  the  Courts  in 

France.  There  could  be  no  more  conciliatory  mode  of  settle- 
ment than  to  leave  the  determination  of  the  dispute  to  the 

King.  It  was  not  admitted  that  His  Majesty  desired  the 

Council  to  obey  the  Governor  in  opposition  to  the  views  of 
the  Intendant.  He  recommended  that  a  member  of  the 

Council  .should  be  .sent  to  France  to  represent  the  matter. 

The  whole  tenor  of  the  report  was  antagonistic  to  de 
Frontenac. 

The  Council  pas.sed  a  resolution  asking  the  Governor  to 

.suspend  his  declaration  of  the  27th  of  March,  during  the  sub- 
mission of  the  points  in  dispute,  and  a  deputation  waited  upon 

the  Governor  to  solicit  the  recall  of  the  three  absent  members. 

No  steps  were  taken  on  these  proceedings. 
The  news  of  Peace  with  Holland  having  been  notified  to 

the  Governor,  he  assembled  the  Council  on  the  i6th  of  October, 

1679,  in  order  to  read  the  declaration.  It  was  the  first  meet- 

ing held  since  August.  At  the  commencement  of  the  pro- 
ceedings de  Frontenac  maintained  that  his  title  should  be 

written  according  to  the  style  he  claimed.     The   Intendant 

*  lettres  missiues  closes.     Cons.  Souv.  II.,  315. 
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interfered,  and  called  upon  him  to  recollect  that  he,  the  Inten- 

dant,  had  communicated  the  King's  order  on  this  point  ;  and 
the  Governor  had  aijrecd  that  they  should  not  speak  with 

regard  to  the  matters  in  dispute  between  them.  Dc  Frontenac 

expressed  his  willingness  that  the  business  should  be  trans- 
acted, and  added  he  himself  would  retire  from  the  meeting, 

the  cause  of  his  doing  so  being  recorded.  I'^'nally,  it  was 
resolved  that  the  Council  should  meet  at  a  later  hour,  when 

it  should  be  simply  entered  on  the  minutes  that  the  Council 
had  assembled.  The  Peace  was  accordingly  registered,  with 

an  edict  forbidding  liquor  being  carried  into  the  Indian  vil- 
lages remote  from  French  settlement. 

The  Council  recommenced  their  sittings  on  the  23rd  of 

October.  They  passed  a  resolution  that  they  would  meet 
weekly.  On  the  last  day  of  October  the  Intcndant  moved 

an  adjournment  until  after  St.  Martin's  day,  the  nth  of 
November.  M.  de  Villeray  also,  having  stated  that  he  was 

about  to  proceed  to  France,  asked  to  be  excused  from  attend- 
ance. On  the  29th  of  November  he  is  mentioned  as  having 

left  Canada.* 
Never  was  a  quarrel  more  fully  recorded.  The  parties 

interested  placed  their  views  at  length  on  the  minutes,  in 
order  that  ultimately  they  might  be  laid  before  the  King. 
The  voluminous  extracts  .sent  home  must  have  been  the 

reverse  of  welcome  to  those  who  had  to  consider  their  con- 

tents. A  correspondence  which  extended  over  the  succeeding 

two  years,  gave  every  opportunity  to  Duchcsneau  to  make 

the  first  f  formal  attack  on  dc  Frontenac.  We  have  diffi- 
culty in  believing  that  an  Intcndant  would  have  so  defamed  a 

Governor,  unless  he  was  confident  of  being  thoroughly  sus- 

tained. It  is  impossible  to  resist  the  impression  that,  pre- 
viously to  being  sent,  his  letters  had  been  submitted  in  Canada 

to  those  pledged  to  their  support,  and  carefully  considered. 
Duchesneau  accused  the  Governor  of  being  the  cause  of  the 
continued  existence  of  the  coureurs  de  Iwis,  not  only  largely 

*  Cons.  Souv.  II.,  p.  343. 
t  lolh  November,  1C79. 
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participating  in  their  i)rofits,  but  likewise  having  himself 
organized  parties  for  trade,  and  that  he  was  even  a  party  to 

the  furs  being  carried  to  Albany  ;  moreover,  that  he  had  made 
himself  master  of  the  trade  operations  in  Montreal.  Du  Luth, 

the  Intendant  .said,  was  the  principal  instrument  of  de  Fron- 
tenac,  his  brother-in-law,  de  Lusigny,  being  an  officer  of  the 

Governor's  guards.  It  is  scarcely  possible  to  conceive  accu.sa- 
tions  more  depreciatory  than  those  contained  in  the  letters 

sent  to  France  in  the  autumn  of  the  two  following  yeans.* 
What  should  we  think  in  modern  times  of  a  subordinate 

making  gross  charges  against  a  superior,  and  the  report 
remaining  unnoticed  on  the  table  of  a  Minister?  The  course 

to  take  was  a  plain  matter.  The  truth  ought  to  have  been 
established,  and  either  the  Governor  or  the  Intendant  removed 

as  the  facts  required.  No  such  idea  of  justice  prevailed  in 
the  French  Court ;  on  the  contrary,  scandal  on  all  occasions 

and  from  all  quarters  was  welcomed  as  valuable  and  import- 
ant political  information. 

In  1676  the  King  had  written  to  de  Frontenac-f*  that  he 
was  not  to  permit  any  person  invested  with  ecclesiastical  or 

secular  dignity,  or  any  religious  community,  on  any  pretext 

soever,  to  trade  in  peltries  ;  and  in  1678,  in  positively  discour- 

teous language,:]:  he  ab.solutcly  prohibited  the  Governor  him- 
self from  participation  in  trade,  and  called  upon  him  so  to  act 

that  it  should  not  even  be  suspected  that  he  did  so. 

On  the  29th  of  November  the  Intendant  reported  the  death 

of  the  Attorney-General.  He  had  previously  written  that  for 

three  years  he  had  noticed  d'Auteuil  to  be  suffering  from  an 
ailment  of  the  breast  §  and  from  inflammation  of  the  lungs  ; 
and,  fearing  he  would  die  or  be  unable  to  perform  his  duties, 

he  had  applied  for  a  warrant  to  be  given  him  in  blank  for  the 

appointment  of  a  successor,  which  paper  he  received  at  the 

end  of  1677.     As  d'Auteuil  died  during  this  quarrel  with  the 

*   13111  November,  1680;  I3tli  November,  1681. 
t  iStli  April. 
J   1 2th  May. 

§   Fluxion. 
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Governor,  Duchcsnc.iu  thought  proper  to  set  forth  in  his  let- 
ters that  he  had  sunk  ovcrvvhehncd  with  the  mortifications 

and  inconveniences  of  his  exile.*  Before  the  Council  he 
represented  the  consecjuences  as  a  natural  result  of  illness, 

and  desired  that  d'Auteuil's  son,  then  known  as  the  Sieur  dc 
Monccaux,  should  be  named  in  accordance  with  the  warrant 

which  lie  produced.  The  Governor  objected  to  the  appoint- 
ment, on  the  <;round  that  it  was  made  independently  of  him 

as  Governor;  that  the  letters  patent  were  invalid  from  the 

length  of  time  they  had  been  signed ;  and  that  de  Monceaux 

was  under  the  legal  age,  not  being  twenty-two.  In  spite 
of  this  opposition  the  appointment  was  confirmed  by  the 

Council  until  the  King's  pleasure  should  be  known,  the  rea- 
son assigned  being  that  he  was  the  only  person  in  the  colony 

who  had  the  qualifications  for  the  office.  WHiatever  qualifica- 

cations  the  younger  d'Autcuil  po.s.sessed,  for  by  that  name  he 
was  afterwards  known,  he  was  always  a  devoted  adherent  of 
the  Intcndant. 

The  main  points  of  Duchesncau's  accusations  remained 
unnoticed.  The  King,  however,  addressed  to  de  Frontenac  a 
letter  on  the  subject  of  the  coureurs  dc  bois,  instructing  him 

with  some  harshness  to  put  an  end  to-  the  disorders  which 
they  caused.  He  also  told  de  Frontenac  that  everybody  was 
complaining  of  him  ;  the  Bishop,  Ecclesiastics,  Jesuits,  the 

Supreme  Council,  and  he  called  upon  him  to  act  with  mode- 
ration for  the  good  of  the  Colony. 

On  the  29th  of  May  in.structions  were  received  from  Paris, 

which  were  registered  in  Quebec  on  the  29th  of  October,  1680. 

The  rule  was  laid  down  that  the  title  of  "Monsieur"  should  be 
given  to  M.  dc  Frontenac  as  Governor  and  Licutcnant-Gencral, 
to  M.  de  Laval  as  first  Bishop,  and  to  M.  Duchcsneau  as 
Inteiidant  of  Justice,  of  Police  and  Finance. 
There  was  a  slight  difficulty  in  February,  168 1.  The 

Intendant  was  not  present,  and  the  first  Councillor,  de  Villeray, 
claimed  to  hold  the  place  of  the  Intendant  in  his  absence,  and 

on  the  Governor  desiring  to  be  the  last  to  give  his  opinion, 

•  Accable  ties  cliagrin.s  et  lies  incommodites  ;  13th  November,  1681. 
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de  Villeray  disputed  this  right.  De  Frontenac,  however, 
would  not  yield,  and  it  was  recorded  that  although  he  was  the 

last  to  give  his  opinion,  the  Sieur  de  Villeray  gathered  the 
votes  and  pronounced  the  decision.  During  the  period  that 
Colbert  remained  in  charge  of  the  Colonies  there  was  in 

France,  generally  speaking,  a  favourable  view  of  de  Fronte- 

nac's  conduct.  Colbert  knew  the  circumstances  of  the  early 
difficulties  between  M.  de  Laval  and  the  former  Gov- 

ernors, and  he  must  have  understood  the  hidden  influence 

underlying  the  disputes  at  Quebec,  His  letter  to  the  Inten- 
dant  was  one  of  censure.*  Duchesneau  was  blamed  for  not 

acting  in  the  .spirit  which  the  King's  service  demanded,  and 
warned  if  his  conduct  did  not  change  he  would  be  removed 

from  his  position  :  the  following  year-|"  Colbert  administered 
to  him  another  rebuke.  The  King  himself  wrote  with  ̂ verity 

to  de  Frontenac  j  against  misapplication  of  the  orders  sent 
him  ;  calling  upon  him  to  maintain  a  proper  spirit  of  discipline, 
and  when  counselling  him  as  to  his  future  conduct,  pointed 

out  that  the  honour  of  representing  the  King's  person, 
elevated  him  above  the  difficulties  he  had  to  contend 

against.  There  is  strong  ground  for  the  belief  that 

Duchcsneau's  accusations  were  sustained  b}'  letters  from 
Canada.  But  de  Frontenac  himself  was  a  man  by  no  means 
to  be  idle  in  such  circumstances.  His  relations  with  his  wife 

appear  to  have  been  peculiar :  there  was  little  infection 
between  them.  She  never  joined  him  in  Canada,  but  she 
seems  to  have  considered  that  her  own  social  status  depended 

upon  his  political  well-being,  and  evidently  in  this  respect 
.she  earnestly  devoted  herself  to  his  interests.  §     It  was  to 

*  15th  May,  1678. 
t  2Slh  April,  1679. 

:|:  29th  April,  1680. 

§  Saint  Simon  thus  describes  Madame  de  Frontenac,  V.,  p.  122  [1707]:  Mou- 
rut  aussi  Mnie.  de  Frontenac  dans  un  hel  apartement  que  le  feu  due  de  Lude,  qui 

^toit  fort  galant  lui  avait  donne  a  1' Arsenal  ctant  grand-maitre  de  I'artillerie.  EUe 

avoit  etc  belle  et  ne  I'avait  pas  ignore.  File  et  .Mile.  d'Outrelaise  qu'elle  logeoit 
avec  elle,  donnerent  le  ton  11  la  meilleure  compagr.ie  de  la  ville  et  de  la  cour  sans 

y  aller  jamais.     On  les  appeloit  Les  Divines.     En  effet,  elles  exi^coient  I'encens 
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her  *  he  sent  the  documents  by  which  he  sustained  his  cause, 
knowing  that  she  would  unflinchingly  stand  by  his  side ;  and  no 
one  could  have  acced  in  his  interest  with  more  zeal.  De  Fronte- 
nac  retorted  the  charge  of  corruption  against  Duchesneau. 
He  accused  him  directly  of  being  engaged  in  trade.  He  named 

as  his  partners  de  La  Chesnaye,  le  Moyne  and  his  family, 
Le  Ber,  Saurel,  Boucher,  and  others,  all  of  whom  were  of  the 

clerical  party,  and  his  charges  were  attested  by  what  he 

claimed  to  be  proofs,  and  by  proccs-vcrbaux.  To  judge  by 
the  number  of  these  papers,  they  could  not  have  been  diffi- 

cult of  attainment  on  either  side. 

When  Colbert  retired  from  the  charge  of  the  Colonies  in 

1681,  his  son,  de  Seignelay,  entered  upon  the  office.  It  was 
an  unfortunate  change  for  de  Frontenac.  Colbert  knew  the 

difficulties  which  had  attended  the  early  years  of  de  Fronte- 

nac's  government,  and  he  could  not  have  failed  to  see 
that,  although  the  issue  was  changed,  the  quarrel  was  one  and 
the  same.  The  contest  practically  involved  the  determination 

of  power,  whether  it  should  lie  with  the  Governor  or  with  the 
Bishop  ;  it  cannot  be  said  abstractedly,  with  the  Church.  No 
such  extreme  pretension  to  political  power  as  that  put  forth  by 

M.  cic  Laval  was  advanced  by  any  one  of  his  successors,  and  no 

reader  of  the  history  of  that  period  can  doubt  that  Duches- 
neau was  a  mere  instrument  in  the  hands  of  that  able  prelate. 

The  succeeding  seventy  years  of  French  rule  were  mostly 
passed  in  war  ;  the  intervals  of  peace  were  rare.f     It  was  a 

comme  deesses,  et  ce  fut  toute  leur  vie  a  qui  leur  en  protligueroit.  Mile.  d'Outre- 

laise  etoit  morte  il  y  avoit  long  temps.  *  *  *  Celle-ci  etoit  fille  d'un  niaitre 

des  comptes  qui  s'appeloit  Le  Grange  Trianon.  Son  mari  qui  comme  elle  avoit 

peu  de  bien,  et  comme  elle  aussi  beaucoup  d'esprit,  et  de  bonne  compagnic  jjortait 
avec  peine  le  poids  de  son  autorite.  Pour  Ten  dep^trer  et  lui  donner  de  quoi 

vivre  ils  lui  procurerent  en  1672  le  gouvernment  du  Canada,  oil  il  fit  si  bien 

longues  annces,  qu'il  fut  renvoye  en  1689  et  mourut  a  Quebec  a  la  fin  de  1698. 
*   Frontenac  au  Ministre,  2  novembre,  16S1. 
+  The  years  during  which  peace  lasted  were,  from  the  Treaty  of  Ryswick, 

1697,  to  the  d.claration  of  war  on  the  accession  of  Queen  Anne,  1702  ;  from  the 

Treaty  of  Utrecht,  1713  to  about  1743  ;  and  from  the  Peace  of  Aix-la-Chapelle, 
1748,  to  the  commencement  of  final  hostilities  in  1751.  E.xcepting  during  the 

first  years  succeeding  the  treaty  of  Utrecht,  the  relations  with  the  British  Colonies 
continued  to  be  so  strained  that  there  was  a  constant  threat  of  war. 
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struggle  for  existence  ;  and  with  the  limited  population,  and 
the  insufficient  help  given  from  France,  it  is  a  wonder  that 

Canada  unaided  should  so  long  have  maintained  her  ground. 
De  Frontenac  raw  clearly  that  the  safety  of  the  Colony  was 
to  be  found  in  a  vigorous  policy  and  a  reliable  disciplined 

force,  and  that  the  ecclesiastical  pretension  to  power  was  par- 
alyzing its  vigour.  He  obtained  neither  aid  nor  support  from 

home.  His  treatment  by  the  King  was  harsh  and  ungen- 
erous. A  letter  often  quoted  to  the  disadvantage  of  de 

Frontenac,  in  reality  only  shews  the  essentially  vulgar 
nature  of  Louis  XIV.,  and  his  abandonment  of  an  able  and 

devoted  servant.  It  was  the  King's  duty  to  determine 
the  Governor's  position  as  far  as  practicable,  a  decision  not 
free  from  difficulty  even  in  modern  times  ;  to  establish 

the  relative  obligations  between  the  Intendant  and  his  repre- 
sentatives, and  clearly  to  define  where  the  superiority  lay. 

He  sneeringly  told  de  Frontenac  that  he  was  the  only  man 
in  the  Kingdom  honoured  with  the  title  of  Governor  and 
Lieutenant-General  who  wished  to  be  named  Chief  and  Presi- 

dent of  such  a  Council  as  that  of  Canada.*  "  I  desire  that  you 

abandon  that  ill-founded  pretension,"  he  continued,  "  and 
that  you  content  yourself  with  being  my  Governor  and  Lieu- 

tenant-General." Matters  were  left  as  they  were.  What 
de  Frontenac  advocated  as  a  function  of  government  was 

attributed  to  the  promptings  of  a  vain  love  of  display.  No 

responsibility  was  taken  from  him  ;  he  was  blamed  for  his 

proceedings  with  regard  to  the  two  Councillors  and  the 

Attorney-General.     He  was  threatened  with  recall ;  a  step,  he 

*  "  Vous  avez  voulu  que  dans  les  registres  du  Conseil  Souverain  vous  fussiez 
qualifie  de  chef  et  president  de  ce  conseil  ;  ce  qui  est  enti^rement  contraire  h.  mon 

^it  concernant  cet  etablissement,  en  date  du  cinq  juin,  1675  ;  et  je  suis  d'autant 

plus  surpris  de  cette  pretention  que  je  suis  bien  assur^  qu'il  n'y  a  que  vous  dans 
tout  mon  royaume  qui  etant  honore  du  litre  de  gouverneur  et  lieutenant  general 

dans  un  pays,  eilt  desire  d'etre  qualifie  chef  et  president  d'un  conseil  pareil  k  celui 
de  Canada.  Je  desire  done  que  vous  abandonniez  cette  pretention  mal  fondee,  et 

que  vous  vous  contentiez  du  titre  de  gouverneur  et  mon  lieutenant-general . . .  - 

n'etait  I'assurance  precise  que  vos  amis  m'ont  doime  que  vous  agiriez  avec  plus 
de  moderation  ^  I'avenirj 'aurais  pris  la  resolution  de  vous  faire  revenir. "  fzgth 
April,  1680.] 
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was  told,  only  prevented  by  the  assurance  given  by  his 
friends,  of  his  future  moderation.  The  King  could  only  see 
on  the  part  of  his  Lieutenant  a  desire  to  occupy  what  the 
King  looked  upon  as  an  insignificant  position  ;  those  sur- 

rounding him  having  succeeded  in  keeping  the  true  issue out  of  view. 

% 
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CHAPTER  II. 

The  letters  of  de  Frontenac  establish  his  constant  devotion 

to  his  duties.  He  carefully  watched  the  English  relations 
with  the  Indian  tribes  ;  and  during  his  first  government  the 
Iroquois  remained,  to  a  great  extent,  under  French  control. 

His  personal  influence  restrained  them  from  being  hostile, 
whatever  effort  made  to  turn  their  feeling  against  Canada. 

Andros,  then  the  English  Governor,  was  anxiously  soliciting 
them  to  break  their  relations  with  the  French  and  to  form  a 

close  alliance  with  Albany  and  New  York.  This  was  not  a  step 

to  escape  the  sharp  eye  of  de  Frontenac,  and  by  him  to  be 

unfailingly  reported  to  France.  There  were  infinitely  more 
favourable  terms  of  trade  in  Albany  than  in  Canada,  and  the 

couretirs  de  bois  did  not  neglect  to  profit  by  them.  One  of  the 

principal  channels  of  communication  was  through  Chambly 
to  Lake  Champlain,  the  Saint  Lawrence  b:ing  left  above 
Montreal.  De  Frontenac  recommended  that  de  St.  Ours 

should  be  established  at  Chambly  with  a  sufficient  garrison. 

He  pointed  out  that  the  English  rated  the  beaver  one-third 
higher  than  the  French,  and  they  paid  in  hard  dollars ;  or,  if 
merchandise  was  given,  it  was  furnished  at  half  the  rate  required 
for  that  obtained  in  Canada.  The  French  dealer  was  held  to 

pay  one-fourth  of  the  beaver  into  the  treasury  ;  a  tax  not 
levied  at  Albany.  Further,  de  Frontenac  expressed  the 
opinion  that  five  or  six  hundred  soldiers  would  be  of  great 

use  in  occupying  posts  on  Lakes  Ontario  and  Erie. 
De  Frontenac  received  no  encouragement  in  these  views.  It 

can  now  be  understood  that  the  country  was  passing  through  a 
crisis,  and  that  under  the  surface  of  apparent  calmness,  fires 

were  smouldering,  kindled  by  the  rivalry  of  national  interests, 
soon  to  burst  forth  and  work  on  all  sides  devastation  and 

*  6th  November,  1679. 
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destruction.  What  above  all  was  needed  in  Canada  was  the 

concentration  of  its  strength,  with  a  thorough  appreciation  of 
the  difficulties  to  be  met,  and  that  all  should  join  in  an  earnest 

representation  to  France  for  countenance  and  aid.  No  such 

spirit  animated  the  Council.  Its  members  were  chiefly  occu- 

pied in  asserting  their  own  powers,  while  sustaining  the  pre- 
tensions of  Duchesncau.  There  is  no  trace  of  patriotism  or 

sense  of  public  duty  to  be  found  in  their  proceedings.  The 

trumpery  causes  of  quarrel  scarcely  merit  mention,  and  when 
they  are  named,  it  is  but  to  shew  how  futile  was  the  aim  and 
frivolous  the  conduct  of  those  who  were  placed  in  prominence 

to  protect  the  fortunes  of  the  young  colony. 
The  Council  met  on  the  i6th  of  August,  1681.  There  was 

a  full  attendance,  when  Madame  Damours  entered  and  pre- 
sented a  scaled  letter.  De  Frontcnac  objected  to  its  being 

opened  as  business  of  greater  importance  had  to  be  con- 
sidered, and  it  was  unusual  to  receive  letters  of  that  character. 

The  Intendant,  on  the  contrary,  desired  the  letter  should  be 

read.  The  business  before  the  Council  was  to  register  an 
amnesty  of  the  coiireurs  de  bois,  by  v/hich  it  was  hoped  that 
these  adventurers  would  be  brought  within  the  influences  of 

the  town  population,  and  would  in  future  carry  on  less  law- 

lessl)'  their  trade  in  furs.  The  proceedings  had  evidently  been 
predetermined,  for,  on  this  difference  of  view,  the  opinion 

of  the  Attorney-General  was  called  for,  and  without  hesitation 
he  recommended  that  the  communication  should  be  read ;  ai^d 
it  was  so  voted. 

The  letter  contained  a  petition  from  Councillor  Damours, 

who  had  been  imprisoned  by  order  of  the  Governor.  Early 
in  the  season,  as  the  law  provided,  Damours  had  obtained  a 

permit  to  send  a  canoe  to  Matane,  two  hundred  and  fifty-five 
miles  below  Quebec  ;  and,  on  the  strength  of  this  pass,  he 
had  subsequently  sent  a  trading  vessel  to  the  same  spot.  On 

the  return  of  the  vessel,  while  Damours  was  giving  instruc- 
tions for  her  being  unloaded  he  was  arrested. 

At  the  time  Damours  was  taken  before  de  Frontenac,  the 

latter  was  engaged  with  a  Recollet  and  some  other  person,  so  he 
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conducted  Damours  to  an  inner  Cabinet.  The  Governor  asked 

why  he  had  despatched  a  vessel  without  a  permit  when  he 
knew  that  one  was  required.  Damours  repHed  that  in  April, 

before  the  ice  had  disappeared,  when  he  was  unable  to  start 
his  vessel,  he  had  received  a  permit  for  a  canoe,  and  had  been 

referred  to  Boisseau,  Director-General  of  the  Farm  and  Rights 
of  the  King  ;  no  difficulty  having  then  been  made,  he  looked 

upon  the  permit  as  both  for  canoe  and  vessel.  The  Governor 
replied  that  it  was  for  the  canoe  only.  Damours  answered 
with  some  insolence  that  his  vessel  had  been  sent  to  the  land 

given  him  by  the  King,  and  that  he  considered  that  it  was 

the  King's  intention  that  people  should  have  free  access  to 
the  lands  so  granted,  upon  which  de  Frontenac  replied  : 

"  You  shall  learn  the  intentions  of  the  King  and  remain  a 

prisoner  until  you  know  them."  Damours  was  taken  a 
prisoner  to  the  CJiateau.  His  letter  delivered  on  this  occasion 
was  to  ask  that  he  should  be  informed  of  the  accusations 

against  him,  and  his  trial  take  place  according  to  the  usual 

practice. The  Intendant  was  at  no  loss  how  to  proceed.  He  desired 
to  be  informed  of  the  intentions  of  the  Governor.  The 

Governor  replied  that  they  were  present  to  attend  to  the 

King's  affairs  ;  and  he  trusted  to  the  King  to  obtain  satis- 
faction for  the  insolence  shewn  him  by  Damours.  The  In- 

tendant, however,  in  no  way  abandoned  his  ground.  On 

hearing  of  the  arrest,  he  had  followed  the  Governor  to  the 

Bishop's  house,  and  the  Governor  had  told  him  that  it  was  not 
a  matter  affecting  the  Council.  He  now  asked  that  Damours 

be  allowed  to  take  his  seat.  De  Frontenac  replied  such  a  pro- 
ceeding would  be  to  set  his  authority  at  defiance.  Damours  had 

sent  off  his  vessel  at  night  without  even  acquainting  the  officer 

in  command  at  Quebec  of  the  fact.  He  had  made  no  explana- 

tion, he  had  simply  been  insolent.  His  conduct  was  lead- 
ing to  insubordination,  and  must  be  brought  before  His 

Majesty.  In  the  mean  time  the  Council  had  to  attend  to  the 

matters  before  them.  The  Attorney-General  submitted  that 
the  case  should  be  referred  to  him,  suggesting  that  the  powers 
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of  the  Governor-General  had  some  limit.  This  course  was 
followed.  On  the  Intcndant  proceeding  to  withdraw  with  the 

Clerk  to  prepare  the  minutes,  the  Governor  objected  to  his 

leaving  until  the  papers  were  signed.  The  Intcndant,  how- 
ever, stated  his  determination  to  go  to  his  own  house,  where 

he  could  quietly  examine  them  ;  but  the  Governor  placed 
himself  before  the  door  and  said  the  Intcndant  could  not  leave. 

He  had  found  that  the  Intcndant  did  not  set  forth  the  reports 

perfectly  in  the  terms,  in  which  the  words  had  been  spoken ; 
he  desired,  therefore,  to  see  them  written  and  initialled. 

He  would  act  as  usher  to  prevent  the  door  being  opened,  and 

he  called  upon  the  Intcndant  to  carry  out  what  was  so 

necessary  in  the  form,  otherwise  the  Intcndant  would  have 
to  go  out  by  the  window  or  remain  all  day  where  he  was. 
The  Intcndant  protested  against  this  violence  towards  the 
Council  and  himself  The  Governor  replied,  that  daily  and 

by  every  means  the  Intcndant  had  endeavoured  to  introduce 
discord  into  the  Council  ;  and  now  that  the  Governor  had 

placed  on  record  his  opinions,  he  had  no  objection  to  the 
Intcndant  proceeding  to  his  Cabinet. 

Two  days  afterwards  there  was  another  meeting.  The 

Bishop,  from  illness,  was  unable  to  attend.  The  Attorney- 
General  asked  the  Council  to  take  part  in  praying  the 
Governor  to  judge  the  conduct  of  Damours  favourably,  and 

to  release  him,  .so  that  he  could  act  in  the  registration  of  the 

Royal  Edict.  The  Governor  insisted  as  he  had  previously 
said,  that  it  was  not  a  matter  for  the  Council  ;  nevertheless, 

the  Intcndant  desired  to  submit  the  question  to  vote. 

It  has  been  ably  pointed  out  *  that  in  any  quarrel  with  the 
Bishop,  the  Governor  was  at  a  disadvantage.  The  former 

was  permanent  in  the  country  and  had  the  whole  weight  of  his 

position  ;  while  the  clergy,  dependent  on  his  control,  were 
removable  at  his  pleasure.  It  was  difficult  to  define  where  his 
influence  would  not  penetrate.  The  Governor  was  liable  to 

be  recalled  by  the  first  ship  leaving  France  in  spring,  and  he 

•  M.  I'Abb^  Faillon. 
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could  never  know  what  influence  was  being  exercised  against 
him  in  Versailles. 

There  are  always  men  who  take  what  is  thought  to  be  the 
winning  side,  and  it  has  ever  been  found  that  those  desiring 
to  commit  a  meanness  never  want  reasons  for  their  conduct. 

To  support  Duchesneau  was  to  support  the  Bishop :  de  Vil- 
leray  was  by  nature  and  sentiment  on  the  side  which  repre- 

sented arbitrary  ecclesiastical  opinion.  The  remaining  mem- 
bers of  the  Council  had  no  desire  to  oppose  the  formidable 

combination  which  they  were  made  to  feel.  That  de  Fronte- 

nac  should  have  resisted  this  opposition,  and  on  no  occa- 
sion to  be  forced  from  the  position  which  he  had  assumed, 

shews  the  strength  and  vigour  of  his  character.  In  any 
criticism  of  de  Frontenac,  all  the  facts  of  the  case  must  be 

taken  into  account.  The  offence  of  Damours  appears  in 

itself  slight.  It  was  in  reality  an  act  of  defiance  of  the 

Governor's  authority  insolently  justified  :  one  of  the  many 
efforts  made  to  lessen  the  consideration  in  which  the  Gover- 

nor should  be  held,  and  to  reduce  his  power  in  order  to 

throw  it  into  the  hands  of  those  opposing  him.  It  was  no 

personal  altercation  which  de  Frontenac  resented.  In  making 
Damours  responsible  for  his  breach  of  the  law,  he  was  simply 

asserting  the  prerogative  of  his  position. 

De  P'rontenac  briefly  replied  that  it  was  useless  to  make 
the  demand  of  putting  the  question  to  the  vote.  Enough 
remains  recorded  to  show  that  an  angry  discussion  followed. 
The  mode  in  which  the  minutes  were  written  was  again 

criticised  by  de  Frontenac,  while  the  Attorney-General  asked 
the  Council  to  join  with  him  in  the  request  that  the  case  of 
Damours  should  be  referred  to  the  King. 

The  enregistration  of  the  Edict  of  Amnesty  to  the  coureurs 

de  bois  was  now  considered.  The  Attorney-General  desired 
the  notice  should  be  published  at  Nipissing,  Sault  St.  Mary, 
Michillimackinac,  and  at  what  is  now  known  as  Green  Bay, 

Lake  Michigan,  with  injunctions  to  those  concerned  to  return 
to  Canada  before  July,  1682.  The  Governor  considered  that 

it  was  simply  the  duty  of  the  Council  to  register  the  Edict 
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not  to  specify  the  places  where  it  should  be  published.  The 

Attorney-General  stated  that  he  had  followed  the  precedent 

of  1676,  and  asked  the  Council  to  deliberate  on  his  proposi- 
tion. The  Governor  replied  that  if  he  had  consented  to  any 

such  proceeding;"  in  1676,  he  had  his  reasons  for  so  doing  : 
now  he  held  a  diiiferent  opinion,  and  to  remove  any  scruples  on 

the  part  of  the  Council  he  would  assume  all  responsibility. 
It  was  resolved  that  the  Edict  should  be  published  in  the 

three  cities  and  copies  sent  to  the  places  named.  The  Edict 

against  proceeding  to  the  Indian  villages  without  congi' vjus 
repeated.  It  was  also  stated  that  in  spite  of  the  prohibition 
of  1679,  liquor  was  still  taken  to  the  Indian  villages,  and  that 
in  order  to  keep  the  furs  from  being  brought  to  Montreal,  the 

report  had  been  spread  that  the  plague  was  raging  in  Canada, 
and  that  the  merchandise  obtainable  there  was  accordingly 

poisoned.  In  consequence,  the  Ottawas  had  been  deterred 
from  descending  with  their  cargoes,  causing  immense  loss  to 
the  Colony. 

The  Attorney-General  was  a  young  man  of  twenty-three 

years  of  age.  One  reads  with  astonishment  of  the  self-as.sertion 

of  M.  Ruette  d'Auteuil,  as  he  signed  himself  after  his  father's 
death.  The  prominent  position  in  which  he  placed  himself 
can  only  be  traced  to  the  influence  of  the  Intcndant  who  had 

always  some  proposition  ready  to  fit  in  with  the  preliminary 
skirmishing  of  his  law  officer.  It  was,  in  fact,  an  organized 
attack  on  the  Governor.  The  uncompromising  attitude  of 

de  Frontenac,  and  his  calm  adherence  to  his  opinions  made 
these  efforts  of  little  avail. 

At  the  next  meeting  M.  d'Auteuil  gave  some  explanation 
exculpatory  of  him.self  in  the  ca.se  of  Damours.  The  papers 
were  directed  to  be  sent  to  the  King.  Three  of  the  Council, 

however,  de  Tilly,  Dupont  and  dc  Pciras,  expres.sed  the  opin- 
ion that  the  case  was  not  one  to  call  for  the  intervention  of 

the  Council.  The  Edict  of  Amnesty  to  the  coiircurs  de  bois  was 

again  brought  forward.  De  Frontenac  considered  the  remarks 

of  the  Attorney-General,  with  regard  to  the  parties  accused  of 
spreading  false  reports,  and  of  having  prevented  the  Ottawas 

m 
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coming  to  the  cities  with  furs,  to  be  at  variance  with  the  spirit 

of  the  amnesty,  which  included  everybody,  whereas  any  spe- 
cial mention  of  such  conduct  was  to  exempt  from  its  opera- 
tion those  accused.  He  regarded  the  ordinance  of  1679, 

which  forbade  taking  can  de  vie  to  the  villages  of  the  Indians, 

antagonistic  to  that  of  168 1,  which  authorized  that  annually 

permits  should  be  granted  to  twenty-five  canoes  with  three 
men  each,  to  proceed  to  the  Indians  in  the  woods;  and  he  con- 

sidered that  not  to  allow  parties  to  take  eau  de  vie  with  them, 
was  to  interfere  with,  and  limit  the  permission  granted.  He 

said  the  proceeding  was  one  to  harass  the  King's  subjects,  for  as 
liquor  was  troublesome  to  carry,  not  much  of  it  could  be  taken. 
The  illicit  trade  in  spirits  was  really  carried  on  by  Indians  and 
French  scoundrels  who  had  established  cabarets  twenty  or 

thirty  leagues  from  Montreal.  These  were  the  people  who 

injured  the  colony,  by  intercepting  the  furs  to  take  them  to 
the  Dutch.  He  should  oppose  everything  contrary  to  the 

King's  service  which  interfered  with  the  comfort  of  his  sub- 
jects. On  M.  d'Auteuil  asking  to  have  communication  of  the 

Governor's  statement,  dc  Frontenac  called  upon  him  to  report 
on  the  subject  on  the  23rd  of  August.  Four  of  the  Council 

voted  that  he  should  be  ready  by  that  date.  When  the  Council 

met  on  that  day,  d'Auteuil  was  not  prepared  further  to  face 
the  Governor-General.  He  withdrew  from  his  demand  that 

the  Council  should  report  on  the  remonstrance  and  requisition 
which  he  had  laid  before  them,  and  requested  that  they  might 

be  sent  to  the  King  as  a  proof  how  he  had  striven  to  perform 
his  duty. 

The  Governor  was  of  opinion  that  canoes  should  be  sent  to 
Michillimackinac  to  winter  there,  and  in  spring  proceed  to 

Lake  Michigan  and  Sault  St.  Mary  to  give  the  notification  to 

the  coureurs  de  bois  assembled  at  those  places.  He  recom- 
mended also  that  Pere  Dablon  should  be  of  the  party,  as 

one  who  had  the  best  knowledge  of  these  places,  owing  to  his 
long  residence  with  the  Ottawas.  He  also  considered  that 
the  time  named  in  the  edict  should  be  extended  in  these  cases. 

At  the  next  meeting,  on  the  5th  of  September,  the  Attorney- 
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General  reported  on  the  inexpediency  of  prolonging  the  period 

except  with  regard  to  those  who  were  with  the  Sioux  and 
Assiniboines. 

A  further  difficulty  arose  in  September.  The  Intendant 

brought  before  the  Council  the  condition  of  the  currency. 

There  was  much  foreign  coin  in  the  country,  which  the  mer- 
chants refused,  and  commerce  was  accordingly  interrupted. 

He  proposed  that  the  gold  and  silver  coins  should  be  taken 
by  weight,  with  an  additional  third  added,  according  to  the 
value,  at  which  as  French  money  it  would  be  received  to 
rate  as  Canadian  currency,  and  that  no  refusal  of  the  money 

should  be  permitted. 
The  Governor  declined  to  attend  the  meeting.  He  had 

previously  been  requested  to  signify  his  views  with  regard  to 
complaints  against  Perrot,  the  Governor  of  Montreal.  Perrot 
had  been  accused  of  interfering  with  the  administration  of 

justice  in  having  assaulted  Migneon  a  bailiff,  charged  with  a 

warrant  to  arrest  a  conreur  de  bois  asserted  to  be  in  Perrot's 
interest.  The  matter  had  been  brought  before  the  Council 
without  communication  with  de  Frontenac.  He  had  replied 

that  it  was  necessary  for  him  to  look  into  the  matter.  There 

was  also  an  accusation  by  the  Attorney-General  in  relation 
to  Josias  Boisseau,  for  his  attacks  against  God  and  religion, 
his  calumnies  against  the  Council,  and  his  violence  of  conduct. 
Both  Perrot  and  Boisseau  were  looked  upon  as  partisans 
of  de  Frontenac,  so  the  attack  might  be  regarded  to  be  as 
directed  against  him  as  much  as  against  the  parties  named. 

In  thus  acting  the  Council  was  assuming  to  take  the  initia- 
tive in  public  affairs.  Hitherto  the  principle  followed  had 

been  that  the  Council  had  to  adjudicate  on  the  matters 

brought  before  them,  and  to  decide  causes  in  litigation.  It 

appertained  to  the  Governor  solely,  or  the  Intendant  with  the 

Governor's  consent,  to  introduce  the  public  business  to  be  con- 
sidered. The  pretensions  of  Duchesneau  went  to  the  length 

that  no  such  assent  on  the  Governor's  part  was  necessary  ; 
thus  setting  at  nought  the  theory  of  government  then  recog- 

nized.    While  thus  extending  his  own  power,  he  was  willing 
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to  increase  that  of  the  Council,  so  that  he  could  count  upon 
their  support.  The  latter  he  trusted  to  secure  through  the 

Attorney-General  or  his  substitute,  who,  by  proch-verbal  or 
remonstrance,  brouf^ht  matters  directly  before  the  Council 
in  the  form  M.  Duchcsneau  desired.  Thus  the  Council 

on  their  own  authority  would  consider  directly  the  point  to 
be  determined,  and  submit  the  facts  to  the  Governor  to 

obtain  his  co-operation.  The  sagacity  of  dc  Frontcnac  led 
him  to  penetrate  the  concealed  purpose  of  this  course,  and 
he  shewed  his  determination  to  resist  it. 

On  the  2 1st  of  October,  16.S1,  he  replied  to  a  deputation 
which  had  been  sent  to  him  in  the  matter  of  Perrot,  that  he 

him.self  would  examine  into  the  accusations  made  against 
the  Governor  of  Montreal,  and  when  he  had  done  so,  would 

take  his  place  at  the  Council  and  explain  his  intentions. 

Upon  the  receipt  of  this  message,  the  Attorney-General  and 
one  of  the  Council  were  deputed  to  wait  upon  the  Governor, 
and  ask  him  to  communicate  his  views  at  as  early  a  date  as 
possible,  as  the  vessels  would  .soon  be  leaving  for  France. 

The  meeting  was  adjourned  for  a  week.  On  the  27th  another 

visit  was  made  to  the  Governor  on  the  .subject  of  the  com- 
plaint of  the  Governor  of  Three  Rivers  against  dc  la  Marti- 

nicrc  and  d'Auteuil  ;  de  Frontcnac  replied  that  when  he  had 
copies  of  what  had  passed  he  would  sec  what  lie  had  to  say.* 

The  Council  had  thoroughly  ranged  themselves  on  the  side 
of  the  Intendant,  feeling  secure  in  the  undemonstrative  support 
received  from  M.  de  Laval  and  the  clergy.  De  Frontenac 

perfectly  understood  the  situation,  and  was  not  prepared  to 
be  led  like  a  lamb  to  the  .sacrifice.  There  is  one  curious  inci- 

dent in  the  quarrel.  On  the  4th  of  November  the  Attorney- 

General  begged  to  be  excu.sed  from  waiting  on  the  Gov- 
ernor, owing  to  the  bad  treatment  and  threats  which  he 

received  when  attending  at  the  Chateau.  De  Villeray  and 

Dupont  were  accordingly  deputed  again  to  ask  the  Governor's 
intention  with  regard  to  Perrot.  At  the  same  time  they  desired 
to  know  his  views  relative  to  the  Governor  of  Three  Rivers. 

*  "  11  verroit  ce  qu'ii  auioit  a  dire."     Cons.  Souv.  II.,  p.  705. 
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Dc  Frontcnac  replied  in  a  Minute.  Me  referred  to  his  answer 
of  the  20th  of  October,  in  itself  so  plain  that  no  deputations 

were  calletl  for  on  the  subject.  He  C(jinplained  that  delay 

was  imputed  to  him,  when  the  fault  lay  with  the  Council.  I  Ic 

.sti^mati/ed  as  calumnious  and  false  the  statement  of  the 

Attorney-General  that  he  had  received  bad  treatment,  and 
appealed  to  Uupont  and  the  clerk  on  the  subject.  What  had 

taken  place  was  owin^'  to  the  impertinence*  of  the  .Attorney- 
General.  I  le  had  to  repeat,  when  the  copies  asked  for  by  him 
had  been  furnished  he  would  explain  his  views.  He  desired 

his  reply  to  be  entered  on  the  minutes. 
The  Attorney-General,  on  hearing  this  statement,  requested 

that  the  testimony  of  the  parties  named  shoukl  be  taken. 

On  the  same  day,  dc  Villcray  asked  permission  to  i)rocced  to 
France,  which  dc  Frontenac  would  not  grant.  .Another 

deputation  waited  on  the  Governor,  who  received  them  with 

the  remark,  that  these  matters  had  been  studied  and  con- 
certed, and  that  pretended  civilities  were  shewn  in  order 

to  take  him  by  surprise  ;  what  he  required  was  copies  of 
what  had  been  recoriled. 

On  the  same  day,  Hoyvinet,  the  Lieutenant-Governor  of 
Three  Rivers,  attended  the  Council  by  summon.s.  He  de- 

clined to  give  any  answer  to  the  questions  of  the  Council,  as 
he  had  been  instructed  by  the  Governor  not  to  reply.  It  was 

proposed  to  send  a  deputation  to  M.  de  Frontenac  on  the 
subject ;  the  votes  were  ecpial,  so  nothing  was  done  :  but  as 
the  Governor  had  declined  to  take  steps  against  Boisscau,  it 

was  resolved  that  copies  of  the  remonstrance  of  the  Attorney- 
General,  and  of  the  other  proceedings,  should  be  .sent  to 
France. 

One  important  resolution  was  voted,  that  the  King  should 

be  petitioned  not  to  permit  appeals  to  I'Vance  in  civil  actions, 
which  should  be  finally  determined  by  the  judges  of  the 

country  :  the  distance  being  so  great  that  such  proceeding 

would  be  ruinous  to  those  intercsted.f  • 

•  Algarades. 
t  Cons.   Souv.  II.,  p.  725. 
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At  the  end  of  December,*  the  Governor  was  asked  to  take 
his  place  at  the  Council,  to  confer  on  the  subject  of  the 
money  then  current.  The  Governor  replied  that  he  would 

take  the  matter  into  consideration,  and  on  the  12th  of  Janu- 

ary, 1682,  the  request  was  repeated.  On  the  3rd  of  h'cbruary, the  Governor  sent  a  Minute  to  the  effect  that  he  was 

surprised  that  the  Intendant  should  have  brouj^ht  forward 

the  subject,  without  preliminary  discussion  with  him.self. 

On  the  l6th  of  the  month,  half  an  hour  before  the  meeting 
of  the  Council,  he  had  been  notified,  like  any  ortlinary 
member,  that  the  subject  would  be  submitted  ;  as  if  the 

position  of  h  Governor  and  a  Councillor  were  identical. 
It  was  not  in  the  Council  Chamber  that  a  Governor  should 

have  to  examine  into  such  a  matter.  According  to  the 

King's  order,  he  should  first  confer  with  the  Intendant,  and 
after  they  had  together  considered  what  was  most  essential  to 

the  King's  .service,  ami  were  of  one  opinion,  the  subject 
should  be  brought  before  the  Council. 

The  Intendant  endcavouted  to  justify  his  conduct.  It  was 

ea.sy  to  sec,  he  said,  that  the  oesire  of  the  Governor  was  to 

cause  him  anxiety,  but  the  Council  knew  how  he  had  per- 
formed his  dutv.  Although  he  had  reasonable  ground  for 

complaint  of  the  treatment  wlu  -p.  he  had  received  from  the 
Governor,  he  had  often  been  to  his  house,  to  confer  with  him 

on  the  King's  service.  On  the  18th  of  July,  1679,  although  he 
consitlered  that  the  control  of  the  currency  belonged  to  him 

as  Intendant,  he  had  by  his  Ordinance  of  that  date,  left  mat- 
ters as  thev  were.  But  on  ihe  8th  of  October,  1680,  he  had 

passcti  an  Ordinance,  in  which  he  had  stated  that  it  had  been 
.so  determined  after  a  conference  with  the  (jovernor.  It  was 

now^  necessary  to  make  other  regulations,  and  f  having  learnt 
•  22iKi  December,     p.  739. 

f  "  Et  luy  Intendant  ayant  apris  que  le  Conseil  estoit  en  pocession  de  faire  les 
Reiglemens  des  mondyes  coninic  il  liiy  All  ju.sIiCic  par  ccluy  qui  auoil  est(5  fait  en 

mil  six  cent  soixante  sept  Ic  dixiesiuc  januier,  II  cnit  ([u'  ayant  i.'honneur  d' y 
faire  les  fonctions  de  ])residont,  II  »k'ui)it  non  seulement  conseruer  a  la  Com- 
pagnie  tons  Ic  i  aduantages  dont  elle  jouissoit  mais  niesme  les  augnienter  autant 

qu'il  st"')ilenson  pouuoir."     Cons.  Soiiv.  II.,  p.  752. 
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that  the  Council  possessed  authority  to  rctrulate  the  currency, 
as  had  been  the  case  on  the  10th  of  January,  1667,  acting  as 

President  he  considered  it  to  be  his  duty,  not  only  to  preserve 

to  the  Council  the  atlvanta^es  which  they  enjoyed,  but  even  to 

increase  them  as  nuich  as  lay  in  his  power.  Accordint^ly, 

without  conference  with  the  Governor,  he  had  projKised  the 

rei^ulations  of  the  2nd  of  December.  Me  was  desirous  of 

freciat,'  him.self  from  the  suspicion  of  having  previously  ar- 

rani^ed  with  the  Governor  the  policy  proposed,  and  submittinf^ 
it  to  the  Council  as  a  inere  form. 

When  the  Intendant  plainly  declared  that  he  had  dispensed 

with  the  (lovernor's  authority  for  the  introduction  of  an 
important  ordinance,  it  was  simply  an  attempt  to  reduce  de 

Frontcnac's  authority  to  a  nullity.  !n  fact  it  was  the  transfer 
of  power  to  the  hands  of  the  Hishop.  It  was  really  the 

liishop's  iniluence  at  Versailles  which  had  controlled  the 
appointment  of  the  Council.  When  the  discussion  took  place, 

he  was  present ;  there  is  no  record  of  his  interference.  With  the 

Intendant  on  his  side,  a  .subservient  Attorney-General,  willing 

to  produce  /^nHi\s-vi'rl>(xl  or  recjuisition  as  it  was  demanded,  it 

was  only  necessary  to  make  the  ("ouncil  act  independently  of 
M.  de  Froiitenac  for  M.  de  Laval  to  be  master  of  the  situa- 

ti(  n.  It  can  be  well  understooil  wh)'  M.  ile  l'"rontenac  refused 
to  attend  further  meetings.  At  the  Council  he  met  continued 

ojipositioii  ;  in  his  Chateau  he  was  Governor-General,  and 

not  a  mere  purpo.seless  figure  of  straw.  His  power  was  still 

positixe  ;  and  in  the  crisis  he  did  not  fail  to  assert  him.self 

There  was  ;i  lull  after  this  date.  One  more  meeting, 

howe\er,  took  place  on  the  i6th  of  I'Vbruar)-,  10S2.  The 
Governor  had  been  askeil  to  attend  in  his  place  to  aid  in  the 

settlement  of  the  currency,  and  to  take  steps  to  prevent  the 

beaver  passing  to  New  \'ork.  The  Governor  rejjlied  in  a 
written  Minute  that  he  had  nothing  to  adil  to  what  had  been 

sent  to  the  Council.  The  King  had  forbidden  the  beaver  to 

be  taken  to  the  I'-nglish,  and  no  one  could  leave  the  settle- 

ments witiiout  his  permission  as  (jovernor-Geiieral. 

The  Minute  of  M.  de  I''rontenac  dealt  directly  with  the 
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powers  which  the  Intendant  claimed  to  possess.  It  set  for*h 
that  the  Intendant  had  made  an  admission  to  the  Council, 

without  being  willing  it  should  be  entered  on  the  Minutes, 

although  a  request  had  been  made  to  that  effect,  that  his 

instructions  were  to  take  no  steps  with  regard  to  the  affairs  of 

the  country,  without  communicating  his  purpose  to  the  Gover- 

nor: that  he  should  seek  the  Governor's  opinion,  and,  when  not 
in  accordance  with  his  own,  should  conform  his  policy  to  that  of 
the  Governor.  Although  matters  had  been  transacted  in  the 

Council  without  any  expressed  difference  of  opinion,  the  In- 
tendant ought  not  on  his  own  authority  to  have  submitted  to 

the  Council  a  subject  so  important  as  an  Edict  on  the  cur- 
rency, in  which  the  most  humble  as  well  as  the  highest  in 

the  Province  were  interested ;  whereas  the  Governor  had  only 
been  invited  to  take  his  place  i;s  an  ordinary  Councillor,  to  give 
his  views  on  the  subject.  In  the  Parliament  of  Paris,  and  the 

other  Superior  Courts  of  the  Kingdom,  the  Attorney-General 
never  took  the  initiative  in  matters  of  this  character  except  by 

order  of  the  King.  In  a  country  so  distant,  where  the  King 
cannot  be  addressed,  it  was  necessary  to  have  recourse  to 

his  representative  ;  and  if  the  Attorney-General  could  take 
no  step  without  consulting  the  Intendant,  the  latter  ought 

to  follow  the  same  course  with  regard  to  the  King's  repre- 
sentative. For  the  Intendant  should  communicate  to  the 

Governor  the  orders  which  he  proposed  to  give,  before  issuing 
instructions  to  execute  them. 

The  Attorney-General  had  defended  this  conduct  by  the 
assumption  that  the  Intendai.t  fulfilled  the  duties  of  President 

of  the  Council,  that  M.  dc  PVontenac,  as  Governor  of  a  Pro- 
vince, certainly  held  the  first  place  ;  but  that  the  Intendant 

was  not  bound  to  give  a  closer  knowledge  of  matters  to  him 
than  is  given  to  the  Provincial  Governors  in  France  and  to 

the  Council.  "  We  wish  to  undeceive  him,"  continues  de  Fron- 
tenac,  "and  those  whom  the  Intendant  desires  to  persuade 
that  he  is  above  us  in  the  Council,  because  he  performs  the 

duties  of  President,  as  he  stated  at  the  last  meeting,  although 

he  would  not  have  it  put  in  writing.     The  King  has  forbidden 
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any  title  but  that  of  Governor  and  Intendant.  Nevertheless, 
the  King  has  informed  us  that  we  were  the  Chief  of  the 
Council,  although  not  acting  as  President,  because  he  believed 

it  to  be  beneath  the  dignity  *  of  a  Governor  to  perform  that 

function.  Therefore,  it  is  apparent  that  it  is  not  the  King's 
intention  to  make  the  Intendant  pre-eminent.  Every  care 
had  been  taken  to  heighten  the  prerogatives  of  the  Council. 
But  neither  warning  nor  remonstrance  would  be  spared  to 

induce  them  to  avoid  the  false  step,  which  an  attempt  was 

being  made  to  lead  them  to  take." 
"  No  one  had  more  interest  to  preserve  their  prerogatives 

than  the  Governor.  The  Intendant  had  admitted  that  in  his 
Ordinance  of  1680  he  .set  forth  that  the  Ordinance  had  been 

made  after  a  conference  with  us,  in  which  he  only  did  his 

duty.  In  the  days  of  M.  de  Tracy,  M.  Talon  had  conferred 

with  him  as  to  the  sols  marques  before  the  matter  was  sub- 

mitted to  the  Council.  M.  Talon  was  jealous  of  the  pre- 
rogatives of  his  office,  but  he  was  versed  in  the  proceedings 

which  the  King  desired  should  be  followed.  Hence  he  did 
not  fail  in  them,  and  seek  for  some  mode  to  dispense  with 

doing  .so  ;f  and  the  Council  felt  the  deference  due  to  a  per- 
.son  of  honour  holding  the  office,  not  to  undertake  anything  at 
variance  with  what  was  owing  to  his  position.  It  is  these 

.sentiments  we  expect  the  Council  to  entertain  :|:  with  regard 

to  us,  even  if  in  the  past  some  of  its  members  have  departed 

from  the  principle.  We  ourselves  would  have  been  present 
personally  to  have  made  this  request,  if  we  had  not  been 

desirous  of  avoiding  fresh  altercation,  and  if  we  did  not  enter- 
tain the  hope  that  the  orders  received  from  His  Majesty  this 

year  will  prevent  their  renewal  in  future.  It  was  extraordin- 
ary that  any  interference  with  these  matters  should  be  desired. 

Everything  was  peaceable.  Commerce  undisturbed.  At 
Quebec,  as  at  Montreal,  there  was  perfect  tranquility.  There 

was  no  difficulty   about  taking  the  dollar  by  weight.     The 
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+  "chercher  des  tours  pour  sen  deflfendre."     Cons.  Souv,  II.,  p.  765. 
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changes  had  been  proposed  to  bring  trouble  and  confusion  in 
the  interest  of  two  or  three  private  persons,  who  wished  to 
make  profit  to  the  detriment  of  the  other  inhabitants.  No 

loss  would  be  experienced  by  waiting  for  the  orders  of  the 

King.  It  required  some  other  step  beyond  decrying  the  value 

of  the  piastre,  to  prevent  the  beaver  being  taken  to  the 

English,  who  would  not  fail  to  pay  in  other  money  when 

this  silver  was  found  to  have  no  currency." 
The  Intendant  replied  also  in  writing.  He  had  never  for- 

gotten the  deference  due  to  the  Governor.  He  had  punctually 

obeyed  the  orders  of  the  King  in  submitting  the  affairs  to 

him  on  which  a  conference  should  be  held.  He  had,  how- 
ever, considered  himself  excused  from  doing  so  in  this  case, 

as  he  had  explained.  He  admitted  his  subordination  to  the 

Governor,  and,  in  a  few  words,  justified  the  proceedings  of 

the  Council.* 
The  quarrel  relative  to  the  son  of  Duchesneau  is  scarcely 

worthy  of  mention,  except  that  it  involved  the  leading  mem- 
bers of  the  Government  in  the  dispute.  The  facts  are  told  in 

different  versions.  So  far  as  can  be  made  out,  young  Duches- 
neau, about  sixteen  years  of  age,  with  a  servant  man  named 

Vantier,  met  Boisseau  and  one  of  the  Governor's  guard.  A 
quarrel  arose,  which  led  to  violent  recrimination,  Boisseau 

reported  the  matter  to  de  Frontenac,  who  complained  of  the 

proceeding  to  Duchesneau.  The  latter  sent  his  son,  with 

Vantier,  to  the  Governor  to  give  their  version  of  the  proceed- 
ing, and  otherwise  to  make  explanations.  The  boy  arrived 

at  the  Chateau,  and  subsequently  made  his  escape  to  his 

father's  house,  and  Duchesneau,  affecting  to  fear  for  the  per- 
sonal safety  of  his  son,  barricaded  his  house,  and  expressed 

the  determination  to  defend  him  at  all  hazards.  The  Bishop 
intervened,  and  the  boy  was  taken  again  before  the  Governor, 

who  ordered  him  to  be  locked  up  in  a  room  in  the  Chateau  for 

a  month.     Duchesneau's  party  stated  that  dc  Frontenac  struck 

*  The  answer  of  the  Intendant  is  brief,  occupying  about  two-thirds  of  a  page, 
while  the  Minute  of  the  Governor  fills  nearly  five  pages  of  the  Conseil  Suuverain 
records. 
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s  arc  told  in 

and  behaved  badly  to  the  boy  :  the  statement  was  as  strongly 

denied.  De  Frontenac  would  have  acted  more  wisely  in  treat- 
ing the  reports  with  contempt,  or  in  contenting  himself 

with  calling  on  Duchesneau  to  punish  his  son's  insolence, 
which  occasioned  the  whole  quarrel,  which  appears  to  have 

been  admitted.  But  the  affair  happened  in  March,  1 681, 

when  the  disputes  in  the  Council  were  being  carried  on  with 
unu.sual  acrimony  ;  and  the  partisans  on  both  sides  took  more 

or  less  part  in  what  was  in  itself  a  small  and  contemptible 
matter. 

During  the  days  previous  to  the  ships'  sailing,  both  de  Fron- 
tenac and  Duchesneau  wrote  letters  to  France,  giving  their 

views  of  the  misunderstanding.  De  Frontenac  considered 

that  the  amnesty  would  have  the  effect  of  re-establishing 
order.  He  had  despatched  officers  to  urge  upon  the  Indians 

next  year  to  come  to  Montreal,  and  to  offer  to  escort  them 
and  protect  them,  going  and  returning.  He  complained  that 

he  had  been  ill-seconded  by  the  Council,  who  had  liberated 
the  men  he  had  ordered  to  be  arrested.  He  related  the  diffi- 

culties west  of  Lake  Michigan  when  the  Iroquois  had  attacked 
the  Illinois,  and  the  aged  Father  de  la  Ribourde,  a  Recollet,  had 

been  murdered.  He  had  called  upon  the  Iroquois  to  meet  him 

next  year  at  Fort  Frontenac.  There  were  indications  that  they 

were  insolent  and  inclined  to  war.  "I  most  humbly  supplicate 

you  to  consider,"  he  proceeds  to  say,  "  that  for  ten  years  I 
have  maintained  all  these  savages  in  an  obedient,  quiet  and 

peaceful  temper,  only  by  a  little  address  and  management." 
He  asked  for  five  or  six  hundred  soldiers  :  with  this  force  he 

would  march  through  the  Lakes,  and  without  any  other 

hostile  act,  insure  ten  years'  peace.  He  strongly  protested 
against  the  calumnies  which  had  been  written  to  France  con- 

cerning him  ;  and  he  asked  chat  his  wife  and  friends  might  be 

allowed  to  bring  forward  proofs  of  their  falsity  ;  for  such  was 
the  character  of  the  accusations  sent  fromCanada  again.st  him.f 

*  2ncl  November,  1682. 
t  The  contradictory  orders  sent  from  France  must  liave  been  most  embar- 

rassing.   It  is  plain  that  neither  the  Governor  nor  the  Intendant  had  any  standard 
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Duchesneau's  letter  was  accompanied  by  special  memoirs 
on  the  coureurs  de  bois*  and  the  Western  Indians. 

He  spoke  hopefully  of  bringing  the  Indians  into  the  habits 
of  Frenchmen.  These  hopes  have  never  been  even  imperfectly 

realized,  since  only  after  the  lapse  of  years  has  the  semblance  of 
civilization  been  attained.  He  dwelt  on  the  difficulties  affect- 

ing the  church.  There  were  but  seven  churches  built  with  stone 
walls,  constructed  to  a  great  extent  by  the  royal  bounty,  aided 

by  contributions  from  the  seigneurs.  The  churches  were  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Montreal,  on  the  property  of  the  Sulpicians, 

on  that  of  Bishop  de  Laval,  and  of  two  other  proprietors.  The 
Bishop  would  not  consecrate  churches  built  of  wood.  The 

clergy  are  described  as  poorly  paid,  the  tythe  being  insuf- 
ficient to  maintain  them,  and  overburdened  with  work,  owing 

to  the  great  extent  of  the  parishes.  Then  follows  his  justifica- 
tion of  himself  with  regard  to  the  coureurs  de  bois,  and  his 

attack  on  de  Frontenac.  He  deliberately  charges  the  Gover- 
nor with  sending  the  beaver  to  New  England,  and  dividing 

the  profits  with  Perrot,  Boisseau,  and  Du  Luth.  In  his 
memoir  he  recommends  the  purchase  of  Manhattan  and 

Orange  f  from  the  Duke  of  York,  with  the  country  belonging 

to  him,  stating  that  the  English  possess  the  most  fertile 

country  in  America :  and  then  comes  the  significant  para- 

graph :  "  Should  the  King  adopt  the  resolution  to  arrange 
with  the  Duke  of  York  for  his  possessions  in  this  quarter,  in 

which  case  Boston  could  not  resist,  the  only  thing  to  fear  is, 

that  this  country  might  go  to  ruin,  the  French  being  naturally 

inconstant  and  fond  of  novelty." 
by  which  either  of  them  could  judge  the  limit  of  his  duties.  At  a  later  period,  on 

the  loth  of  April,  1684,  de  Seignelay  wrote  de  MeuUes  :  "You  are  not  justified 
in  the  pretension  to  enact  ordinances  to  oblige  the  inhabitants  to  keep  arms  in 
their  houses  ;  and  when  the  said  Sieur  de  la  Barre  was  pleased  that  you  sign 
witij  him  the  ordinance  he  issued  in  this  regard,  he  felt  a  deference  for  you  that 
he  was  not  obliged  to  have,  since  that  ordinance  is  an  attribute  of  his  principal 
function,  which  regards  the  defence  of  the  country,  and  the  military  command, 
and  your  duty  in  this  matter  ought  to  be,  to  have  his  ordinances  executed,  and  to 

fine  those  who  would  fail  therein."     As  translated,  N.Y.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  222. 
•  1 2th  November,  1682. 
t  New  York  and  Albany. 
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It  can  well  be  conceived  how  these  contradictory  views  of 
Canada  from  the  two  leading  officials  of  New  France,  each 

indulging  in  accusations  of  the  other,  and  with  utter  disaccord 
between  them,  must  have  affected  French  official  opinion. 

These  voluminous  papers  were  sustained  by  evidence,  which, 

being  by  no  means  conclusive,  was  attacked,  according  to 
their  feelings  and  sympathies,  by  the  friends  of  the  parties  at 
home  who  obtained  access  to  them.  Every  care  was  taken 

to  analyse  the  testimony,  and,  where  possible,  to  set  it  aside. 

These  contradictions  must  have  made  the  controversy  impos- 
sible to  fathom. 

Whatever  the  hopes  formed  from  the  assumed  prosperity  of 

the  colony,  there  was  nothing  to  assure  its  ultimate  success. 
No  assistance  of  the  least  avail  could  be  sent  from  France. 

The  Indians  were  insolent  and  threatening,  repelling  all  effort 
to  control  them,  as  their  attack  on  the  Illinois,  the  allies  of  the 

French,  had  shewn.  The  attempt  to  bring  them  under  the 
influence  of  civilization  had  led  but  to  feeble  results.  There 

were  establishments  at  Lorette  and  Sillery  near  Quebec,  at 

La  Prairie  de  la  Madeleine,  above  Montreal,  and  at  the  moun- 
tain back  of  Montreal ;  the  Intendant  felt  that  it  was  a 

matter  of  congratulation  that  the  strength  of  these  settle- 
ments had  been  increased  by  two  hundred  and  seven  ; 

Acadia  was  ceasing  to  be  French,  passing  under  the  control 
of  New  England.  It  had  hitherto  been  of  little  account  in 

New  France,  and  was  without  any  organized  government. 

De  La  Valliere  was  not  even  commissioned  by  the  King.* 
To  get  rid  of  the  difficulty,  it  was  resolved  at  Versailles,  to 

change  the  whole  Government  of  Canada,  and  to  remove  the 

one  man,  whose  .subsequent  firmness  and  determination  proved 
that  he  eminently  possessed  the  qualities  to  fit  him  for  the 
emergency. 

The  Council  met  on  the  9th  of  October,  1682.  M.  de 

Laval  was  present,  with  him  the  Intendant,  the  six  Council- 

lors and  the  Attorney-General.  The  Governor  was  absent. 
He  had  attended  no  meeting  of  Council  since  the  23rd  of 

*  Documents  Colonial  History  State  of  New  York,  Vol,  IX.,  p.  168. 
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t, August  of  the  previous  year,  fourteen  months  back.  De 
Frontenac  must  have  been  well  aware  that  the  principal 

business  of  the  meeting  was  to  cnregister  the  appointment 
of  his  successor.  M.  de  la  Barre  was  in  Quebec,  possibly  a 

guest  at  the  Chateau,  and  it  could  not  but  have  been  known 
that  he  had  arrived  to  assume  the  Government.  The  des- 

patches from  France  were  opened.  Among  them,  were 
signed  letters  patent  with  the  great  yellow  .seal,  appointing 

M.  de  la  Barre,  Governor  of  Canada,  Acadia  and  Newfound- 

land, for  and  in  the  place  *  of  M.  le  Comte  de  Frontenac. 
The  letters  were  registered  ;  and  the  Council  proceeded  in 

a  body  to  M.  de  la  Barre,  and  accompanied  him  to  the 
Council  Chamber.  The  new  Governor  took  his  seat  and 

addressed  the  Council.  Mis  orders  were  to  establish  peace, 

and  to  re-unite  such  of  its  members  as  had  been  affected  by 
the  dissensions  of  the  chief  personages.  He  replaced  de 

Tilly  as  Councillor,  who  had  not  been  pre.sent  at  a  meeting 
since  the  23rd  of  February.  He  did  so  without  examination 

as  to  the  past,  and  de  Tilly  was  sent  for  and  there  reinstated. 
M.  de  la  Barre  then  placed  on  the  table  the  letters  patent 

appointing  M.  de  Meulles  Intendant.  From  the  presence  of 
M.  Duchesneau  at  the  meeting,  it  may  be  inferred  that  such  a 

change  was  totally  unlooked  for.  There  is  here  a  significant 

marginal  note  in  the  proceedings  :  "  M.  Duchesneau  retired. "-f- 
The  letters  were  registered,  when  M.  de  Meulles  was  admitted, 

the  minutes  being  signed  by  de  Villeray. 

Such  was  the  termination  of  de  Frontenac's  first  adminis- 
tration. Had  he  not  subsequently  returned  to  Canada,  we 

should  at  this  hour  entertain  an  indifferent  opinion  of  his 

political  abilities.  He  would  have  passed  in  the  panorama  of 

history  as  one  of  the  many  personages  who  have  held  exalted 

positions  'to  leave  not  a  rack  behind:'  consulting  only  his  own 
profit  and  emolument.  Calumny  has  heaped  upon  his  head 

many  an  epithet  of  wrong-doing,  arrogance  and  corruption. 
It  is  possible  that  to  some  extent  he  may  have  followed  in 

*  "  pour  et  au  lieu."     Cons.  Sou  v.,  p.  828. 
t  "  Monsieur  du  Chesneau  est  sorty,"     Cons.  .Souv.,  p.  S28. 
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the  path  of  nearly  every  official  in  public  life  in  French 
Canada,  up  to  the  last  days  of  the  surrender  at  Montreal,  and 
have  held  that  it  was  justifiable  to  engage  in  trade,  and  so 

supplement  his  narrow  and  insufficient  income.  De  Fron- 

tenac's  pay  from  the  crown,  as  Lieutenant-General  and 
Governor  did  not  exceed  12,000  livres,*  ̂ ^480  sterling  money, 
possibly  equal  to  a  modern  income  of  ̂ 1,500  sterling.  He  is 
not  to  be  judged  by  the  standard  of  a  century  later,  when  his 

place  was  held  by  a  liritish  General,  and  a  whisper  of  such 
conduct  would  have  been  a  reproach  in  no  way  to  be  explained 

away.  The  great  majority  of  officers  at  that  date,  and  in  the 
following  years,  made  money  by  trade  in  furs,  or  in  some 
form  or  other.  Charlevoix  tells  us,  that  the  Ursuline  nunsf 

had  re-established  their  convent  by  their  labours.  The 
Jesuits,  there  can  be  little  doubt,  had  greatly  added  to  their 
income  by  their  dealings  with  the  Indian,s.  The  fur  trade 
was  the  one  source  of  profit,  its  development  prompted  every 

attempt  at  discovery,  and  was  the  basis  of  every  adventure. 
There  were  no  mines.  The  fi.sheries  found  little  or  no 

market.  Scarcely  any  article  was  exported.  Thoughtful  men 

saw,  to  use  the  language  of  L'Escarbot,  that  the  best  mines 
of  the  country  were  to  be  found  in  corn  and  wine,  and  forage 

for  cattle  ;  all  of  which  could  be  turned  into  money,  while 
men  and  women  could  not  live  on  silver  and  gold.  There 

never  was  any  well  considered  plan  for  the  settlement  of 

the  land.  The  emigrants  sent  out  by  the  King  were  estab- 
lished in  the  neighbourhood  of  Quebec,  and  a  large  proportion 

*  "  Le  Comte  <le  Frontenac  maljjrc  scs  h.nuics  loiictidiis  de  (iouverneur  et 

Lieuteiiant-Gcneial  ne  toucliaiu  que  I2,ooo  livics."'  Notes  j)t)iir  scrvir  a  I'liistoire 
(le  la  Nouvslle  Krancc.      Hanisse,  p.  175. 

t  "  Lcs  Ursulinc.s  out  essuye  deux  incendies  .  .  .  nvec  cela  elles  out  si  peu 

lie  Konds,  &  les  Dots  (ju'on  revolt  des  I'illes  lic  ce  I'ays  sont  si  modiques  cjue  des 
la  premiere  fois  que  leur  Maison  fut  brulee  on  peiisa  a  les  renvoyer  en  France. 
Elles  sont  neanmoins  venues  a  l)out  de  se  retablir  toutes  les  deux  Fois,  &  Ton 

acheve  actuellenient  leur  I'^glise.  Klles  sont  jiroprenient  &  conimodement  logees  : 

c'est  fruit  de  la  bonne  odeur  qu'elles  repandent  dans  la  Colonic,  de  leur  feconomie, 
de  leur  sobriete  &  de  leur  travail  :  elles  ilorent,  elles  brodeni,  toutes  sont  utile- 

ment  occupees  &  ce  qui  sort  de  leurs  mains  est  ordinairement  d'un  bon  gout."' 
Charlevoix  Letters  to  La  Duchesse  de  les  Diguieres,  Letter  III.,  p.  75. 
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of  them  found  their  way  to  the  property  of  M.  dc  Laval. 
Land  was  taken  up  without  examination,  and,  if  the  result 

of  sowing  and  planting  was  not  immediately  successful,  aban- 
doned with  little  hesitation.  Charlevoix  points  out  that  the 

handful  of  French  who  first  came  to  Canada  destroyed  within 

a  century  all  the  fur  animals  within  their  reach.  It  would  be 

difficult,  he  says,  writing  in  1720,  "to  find  a  single  family 
enriched  by  the  trade.  Nothing  was  more  common  than  to  see 

people  dragging  out  in  misery  and  di.sgrace  an  old  age  of 

suffering,  having  often  been  in  a  position  to  make  for  them- 

selves an  honourable  place  in  society."  It  was  even  more 
mischievous  for  New  France  that  the  fur  trade  awoke  the 

reverse  of  patriotic  feeling,  for  the  coureur  de  bois  was  as 

willing  to  .seek  his  market  in  Albany  as  in  Montreal  or 

Quebec. In  this  atmosphere  de  Frontenac  passed  his  life  from 

1672  to  1682.  There  was  no  war  with  England.  The  King 

of  France  was  all-powerful  at  the  English  Court,  and  while  the 

last  Stuart  kings  were  on  the  throne  there  was  little  possi- 
bility of  war  for  the  possession  of  the  North  American 

Continent.  If  de  P>ontenac  had  only  the  Iroquois  to  con- 
tend against,  he  had  but  limited  means  of  asserting  his 

strength  ;  nevertheless  he  held  them  with  a  grasp  of  iron. 
Although  surrounded  by  difficulties,  he  was  not  prepared  to 

purchase  peace  by  giving  over  the  civil  government  to  M.  de 
Laval  and  the  ecclesiastics.  He  opposed  that  prelate  in  his 

policy  with  regard  to  the  Indian  trade.  He  firmly  repressed 
the  attempt  of  a  few  Sulpicians  to  take  possession  of  the 
government  of  Montreal.  The  quarrel  was  settled :  the 

Sulpicians  recognized  his  statesmanship  and  worked  harmoni- 
ously with  him.  Indeed,  to  this  day  the  Sulpicians  have  been 

remarkable  for  the  services  they  have  rendered  to  the  cause 
of  order  and  good  government.  The  settlement  at  Montreal 

was  carried  on  in  peace  and  without  molestation,  and  old  men 

who  recollected  former  days  could  not  fail  to  recognize  the 

strong  hand  of  de  Frontenac's  authority.  Such  memories 
even  were  of  greater  force  in  Quebec.    What  was  best  remem- 
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bcrcd  there,  was  the  Governor's  successful  interference  to  regu- 
late the  traffic  with  the  Indians  on  a  broader  basis  than  the 

Hishop  endeavoured  to  establish  by  his  ecclesiastical  power. 

The  firm  assertion  of  the  supremacy  of  civil  rule  in  civil  mat- 

ters raised  a^^ainst  de  Frontenac  powerful  enemies  who  endea- 
voured to  compass  by  intrigue  what  they  could  not  effect 

by  force.  The  records  of  the  Council  establish  the  systematic 

opposition  the  members  shewed  to  his  polic)',  to  the  extent  of 
indirectly  attacking  the  powers  which  he  possessed.  Until 

1680,  Colbert's  influence  exercised  some  restraint  on  what  was 

taking  place  in  Quebec.  His  retirement  gave  de  Frontenac's 
enemies  fresh  power.  We  have  no  means  of  penetrating  the 
hidden  influences  which  were  appealed  to,  in  order  to  gain 

support  for  the  calumnious  despatches  sent  to  France.  They 

would  read  strangely  to-day.  But  the  future  was  to  vindicate 
the  statesmanship  of  de  Frontenac.  In  less  than  six  years 

he  was  io  re-appear  as  the  saviour  of  French  Canada,  as  he 

is  called,  "the  second  founder  of  Quebec;"  while  his  pun}- 
opponent,  the  Intendant,  has  passed  out  of  mind,  to  be  known 
to  the  student  of  history  by  his  intrigues  alone,  and  with  little 

or  no  faith  given  to  the  statements  by  which  he  strove  to 
sustain  himself 
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CHAPTER  III. 

The  new  Governor,  Lc  Fcvrc  dc  la  Barrc,  had  passed  t. 

mature  age  of  sixty.  He  had  been  Intendant  of  the  l^oiir- 

bonnais,  west  of  the  Rhone,  and  had  tak(>n  part  in  de  Tracy's 
expedition  to  the  West  Indies,  and  was  appointed  Governor  of 

Cayenne.  Subsequently  he  returned  to  France.  On  war 
being  declared  against  Kngland,  in  1666,  in  support  of  the 

Dutch,  he  was  despatched  in  command  of  an  expedition, 
recovered  Cayenne,  and  took  Antigua  and  Montserrat.  For 

this  service  he  was  promoted  to  the  rank  of  Lieutenant-Gen- 
eral.  The  pertinacity  with  which  he  paraded  this  rank  was 

a  point  of  ridicule  with  his  contemporaries.*  He  is  accredited 
with  naval  successes  in  the  West  Indies  against  the  Engli'h. 
He  had  further  attracted  attention  as  the  author  of  two  w 

on  the  French  possessions  near  the  Ecjuator. 
De  la  Rarre  was  instructed  to  cultivate  commercial  rela- 

tions with  the  West  India  Islands,  and  to  exercise  strong  con- 
trol in  Canada  over  the  trade  in  furs,  and  not  to  issue  licenses 

to  traffic  with  the  Sioux  and  the  more  western  tribes.  As 

Chief  of  the  Council,  he  was  to  govern  by  reason,  rather  than 

by  authority,  and  not  to  follow  the  example  of  de  Frontenac 
in  threatening  arbitrarily  to  send  recalcitrant  members  to 
France.  In  dealing  with  the  emergencies  of  the  hour,  he  was 
directed  to  assemble  five  or  six  hundred  of  the  militia,  and  to 

appear  with  this  force  on  Lakes  Ontario  and  Erie.  Such  had 

been  de  Frontenac's  recommendation  ;  but  in  the  hands  of  de  la 
Barre  the  execution  of  the  programme  was  by  no  means  the 

*  "  .Sur  ces  eiitre  faites  iM .  le  (Jomte  est  rappelc  et  .i  pour  successeur  M.  le 

Fevre  de  la  Harre  premier  Intendant  d'Auvergne,  Capitaine  de  vaisseau  qui 
avoit  donne  un  l)eau  combat  aux  Isles,  et  se  fait  appeler  M.  le  Ge'icral.  M.  le 

General  commence  par  envoyer  trois  de  ses  gardes  avec  leur.'  casac|ues  aux 

Iroquois  leur  dire  de  le  venir  voir  au  printemps  a  Montreal  pour  faire  conseil." 
M.  I'Ahbe  Helmont. 
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37 same.  Under  pressintj  necessity  he  was  to  attack  the  Iro- 

quois, if  certain  of  finishin<j  the  war  promptly  and  advantage- 
ously. He  was  told  that  he  must  depend  on  his  own  resources, 

it  being  neither  convenient,  nor  the  intention  of  the  King,  to 

send  regular  troops  to  Canada.* 
The  Intcndant,  de  McuUcs,  was  directed  to  live  on  friendly 

terms  with  the  Governor-General.  Should  the  policy  fol- 
lowed by  the  latter  appear  inexpedient  to  the  Intcndant,  he 

was  to  place  on  record  his  expostulation,  and  not  further 
interfere  ;  allowing  the  Governor  to  act  as  he  saw  fit,  without 
contradiction.  It  was  the  duty  of  the  Intcndant  to  represent 

to  the  King's  Council  any  proceeding  which  he  held  to  be  pre- 
judicial to  the  state,  and  he  did  not  hesitate  to  avail  himself  of 

this  clause  in  his  instructions. 

One  of  the  last  acts  of  de  Frontenac  had  been  to  hold  a  con- 
ference to  consider  how  war  between  the  Illinois  and  Iroquois 

could  be  averted,  so  that  the  Ottawas  and  other  tribes  under 

French  protection  should  not  be  involved  in  hostilities.  The 

Superior  of  the  Jesuits  Bcchefer,  with  Fathers  Dablon  and 

Fremin,  had  been  of  opinion  that  the  :  oquois  should  be  sum- 
moned to  a  Council  at  Fort  Frontenac  the  I5ti:  of  June,  as 

at  that  date  the  hunting  expeditions  for  u.c  beaver  and  moose 
would  be  ended  ;  that  the  Governor,  in  order  not  to  wound 

Indian  susceptibility,  should  not  be  accompanied  by  more 
than  twelve  or  fifteen  canoes  of  four  men  each,  and  the 

presents  should  be  considerable,  both  to  chiefs  and  warriors. 
With  Uuchesneau  one  difificulty  had  been  the  expense 

which  such  an  expedition  would  involve.  His  orders  were,  not 

to  increase  the  ordinary  outlay  unless  war  was  declared  ;  he 

asked,  therefore,  that  the  smallest  possible  expenditure  should 

be  incurred.  Some  outlay  was  indispensable,  and  although  the 
Colony  was  not  involved  in  hostilities  with  the  English,  war 
had  been  commenced  against  their  Indian  allies.  He  would 

have  preferred  Montreal  as  a  place  of  meeting.  As  it  did  not 
appear  that  its  selection  was  attainable,  he  would  recommend 
Fort   Frontenac.     He  trusted  that  the  Governor  would  not 

*  Versailles,  lotli  May,  1682. 
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agree  to  a  locality  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  homes  of 
the  Iroquois. 

The  opinion  or  de  Frontenac  had  been  that  the  meeting 

should  decidedly  not  take  place  at  La  Famine,*  me  .spot  desig- 
nated in  the  letters  sent  him  :  it  would  be  a  departure  from 

the  personal  dignily  attached  to  his  office  to  accept  this 
change.  Acquiescence  in  their  request  in  this  respect  woulo 
be  misunderstood  by  the  Indians,  and  be  attributed  by  them 
to  want  of  strength  to  resist  their  demands.  Moreover,  in 

proceeding  to  this  place  he  would  require  a  strong  escort, 

causing  an  expenditure  which  in  France  it  might  be  difficult 
to  justify.  The  same  argument,  to  a  less  degree,  applied  to 
Fort  Frontenac,  where  an  escort  of  some  strength  would  be 

necessary,  which  might  awaken  Indian  suspicion.  He  con- 
sidered, therefore,  the  meeting  should  be  held  in  Montreal, 

between  the  15th  and  20th  of  June,  provisions  being  given 

to  the  Indians  during  their  descent  of  the  river,  and  that 

the  Iroquois  should  be  invited  to  send  two  or  three  deputies 

from  each  of  the  five  nations.  A  meeting  in  lune  would, 

however,  really  be  useless,  as  a  second  conference  would  be 

necessary  in  autumn,  after  the  arrival  of  the  ships,  when  the 

policy  approved  b)^  the  King  would  be  notified. 
The  fact  that  no  aid  could  be  looked  for  from  France  was 

strongly  fcit.  The  Iroquois  persevered  in  their  view  that  the 
meeting  should  take  place  at  Chouaguen  f  or  at  La  Famine. 
It  was  known  that  these  tribes  were  taking  steps  to  proceed 
to  attack  the  Illinois.  Both  de  Frontenac  and  Duchesneau 

saw  that  the  crisis  must  be  met  and  that  it  was  expedient  to 
place  Fort  Frontenac  in  a  condition  of  defence  ;  and  to  equip 

the  brigantinc  which  lay  there,  to  be  fit  for  service.  But 
the  negotiations  failed  and  no  meeting  took  place. 

The  Iioquois  were  inflated  with  their  successes  over  the 
unwarlike  tribes  of  the  Illinois.  In  1680,  they  had  returned 

with  several   hundred    prisoners  who  had  been   incorporated 

*  .Salmon  River,  Oswego  '.-ounty,  N'ew  York,  on  the  south  shore  of  Lake 

Ontrrio +  Oswego. 
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sliore  of  Lake 

into  their  tribe  in  accordance  with  Indian  policy.  By  these 
means  their  numbers  were  maintained  ;  while  their  arrogance 

had  been  increased  by  the  destruction  of  the  Illinois  villages, 
and  the  exercise  of  unresisted,  remorseless  cruelty. 

De  Frontenac  had  made  an  ostentatious  display  of  what 

force  he  could  command,  both  at  Quebec  and  Montreal.  He 

caused  provisions  to  be  collected,  and  endeavoured  to  shew 
that  he  was  thoroughly  on  his  guard  against  attack. 

In  1682,  the  Iroquois  were  irritated  by  grievances  which 

many  of  them  felt.  Black  Kettle,*  one  of  their  Chiefs,  com- 
plained of  the  injustice  which  he  had  received  from  Pcrrot. 

Other  Chiefs  had  suffered  from  what  they  held  to  be  wrong 
treatment  ;  and  one  of  them  had  been  killed  in  a  quarrel  at 

Michillimackinac.  The  feeling  of  the  tribe  had  been  incensed 

by  the  new  settlement  of  the  French  on  the  Illinois,  which 
they  regarded  as  an  interference  with  their  interests,  against 

which  they  were  entitled  to  make  reprisals.  They  com- 
menced pillaging  private  traders.  Three  parties  were  robbed 

at  Chouaguen.  A  barque  moored  at  the  discharge  of  the 
Niagara  River  was  seized,  the  pilot  bound,  and  sixteen 

thousand  livres'  worth  of  merchandise  abstracted.!  De  La 
Salle  still  remained  at  this  date  the  owner  of  Fort  I'Vontenac, 
which  was  under  the  command  of  Major  La  Forrest,  but  the 

place  contained  only  a  few  men.  The  Iroquois  plundered 
of  its  merchandise  a  barque  moored  there  ;  and  also  robbed 

a  canoe  proceeding  to  the  Senecas.  Complaint  was  made 
by  La  Forrest  at  the  Seneca  village  ;  but  he  could  obtain 
no  satisfaction  ;  the  Indians  were  even  unwilling  to  trade 
with  him  fcjr  what  goods  he  brought. 

The  threatening  aspect  of  affairs  was  apparent  to  de  hVon- 
tcnac.  He  was  without  men  or  money^  while  he  was  con- 

vinced that  some  decisive  efforts  were  necessary.  He  had 

asked  for  men  from  I'^'ance:  and  had  they  been  sent,  in  a  few 
months  he  would  have  established  sufficient  respect  for  his 
authority  to  have  overawed  the  most  warlike  of  the  Iroquois. 

*  l.a  Chaudieie  Noire, 

t  M.  I'Abbe  ile  Helinont. 
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The  establishment  of  do  La  Salle's  Fort  on  the  Illinois,  of 
all  their  grievances,  was  the  most  obnoxious  to  the  Senecas. 

While  they  looked  upon  it  as  a  threat  in  the  future,  it  had  ren- 
dered futile  their  expedition  of  1680  ;  and  in  1683  another 

French  fort  was  being  built  in  the  centre  of  this  territory 
which  they  had  determined  to  appropriate.  Around  it  were 
clustering  their  declared  enemies,  who  would  in  time  gain 
strength  to  retort  on  them  the  cruelties  which  they  had  inflicted. 

When  de  la  Barre  arrived  'n  Canada,  de  La  Salle  had 
returned  from  his  expedition  to  the  mouth  of  the  Mississippi, 

and  was  then  engaged  in  the  establishment  of  the  Fort  on  the 
Illinois.  De  Frontenac  would  have  seen  its  political  necessity, 

in  the  hold  which  it  would  have  given  of  the  country.  It  is 
questionable,  if  he  had  remained  in  Canada,  whether  it  would 
have  been  attacked  in  March,  1684.  There  was  a  prestige 
about  his  name  which  clung  to  it  to  the  last.  De  la  Barre  fell 
under  the  control  of  a  class  of  men  who  were  the  rivals  of 

de  La  Salle  in  trade,  and  they  could  see  in  the  creation  of 
French  power  on  the  Illinois  only  a  blow  to  their  own  interest, 

and  the  advancement  personally  of  de  La  Salle. 
A  circumstnncc  had  tended  to  throw  de  la  Barre,  on  his 

arrival  in  Canada,  within  this  influence.  He  found  the  lower 

town  of  Quebec  in  ruins  from  a  fire  which  had  taken  place  on 

the  previous  4th  of  August.  The  one  building  left  standing 
was  that  of  Aubert  dc  la  Chesnaye,  the  richest  merchant  in 

Quebec.  On  that  occasion  de  la  Chesnaye  opened  both  his 
house  and  his  purse  to  those  who  had  suffered  from  the  fire. 
His  beneficence  was  the  theme  of  general  praise,  and  is  still 

mentioned  with  respect.  He  thus  attracted  the  attention  of 
M.  de  la  Barre,  of  whom  he  may  be  said  to  have  been  the 

evil  genius.  According  to  de  McuUcs,  he  was  ihe  principal 
adviser  from  whom  de  la  Barre  took  counsel. 

De  la  Chcsnaye's  entry  into  the  Governor's  favour  re-acted 

on  de  la  Chesnayc's  friends.  From  this  clique  the  Governor 

received  his  impression  of  de  La  Salle's  labours,  and  from 
this  source  arose  the  strong  condemnation,  which  in  his 

letters  to  France  he  expressed  of  de  La  Salle's  career. 
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De  La  Salle,  seeing  the  unfriendly  course  taken  towards 

him,  resolved  to  proceed  to  Paris  to  submit  to  the  King  the 
true  character  of  his  late  expedition,  and  to  ask  the  aid  and 

support  of  the  Minister  for  his  future  operations.  He  first 

placed  his  Fort  on  the  Illinois  in  security,  and  reaching  Quebec 
in  the  autumn  of  1683,  he  sailed  for  France.  His  subsequent 

history  is  fully  related  in  another  place. 
When  M.  dc  la  Barre  assumed  the  Governorship,  his  Hrst 

duty  was  to  consider  in  what  form  he  would  meet  the  trying 
circumstances  in  which  the  countiy  was  placed.  Accordingly, 

the  day  after  he  was  sworn  in,  a  meeting  was  held  in  Quebec 
of  the  leading  personages  in  the  colony,  at  which  the 
Governor  submitted  the  account  of  an  interview  between  an 

Iroquois  deputation  and  de  Frontenac,  on  the  previous  12th 
of  September.  The  Iroquois  were  endeavouring,  according  to 
their  policy  of  promises,  and  a  show  of  submission,  to  cajole 

the  French,  while  their  Indian  allies  were  being  destroyed  in 
detail.  By  these  means  the  Senecas  hoped  to  control  the 
fur  trade,  so  as  to  carry  it  on  with  the  Engli.sh  and  Dutch 

satisfactorily  and  profitably.  The  consequence  would  have 
been  that  Canada  would  have  been  compelled  to  abandon 

the  western  depots  of  trade  at  Michillimackinac,  Sault  St. 

Mary,  and  on  the  Illinois  ;  her  territory  would  thus,  have 
been  limited  to  the  boundary  of  the  Lakes,  and  her  trade 

in  furs,  at  that  date  the  .sole  .source  of  wealth,  destroyed. 

Th'-.-iC  present  at  the  Council  expressed  the  opinion,  that  the 
English  and  Dutch  of  New  York  were  endeavouring  to  induce 
the  Iroquois  to  declare  war  against  the  French,  having 

encouraged  hostile  feelings  by  presents,  and  by  the  greater 
cheapness  of  the  provisions  and  merchandise  furnished  by 

them,  especially  of  guns,  powder  and  lead.  But  the  Iro- 
quois had  deemed  it  better  policy  first  to  destroy  the  Indian 

allies  of  the  French,  and  afterwards  the  Christian  Iroquois  at 

the  Sault,  leaving  future  events  to  determine  the  proceedings 

the\-  would  take  with  regard  to  the  French  themselves. 
The  facts  really  were  that  the  Senecas  were  as  jealous  of 

I'-iiglish  as  of  French  power.     At  an  early  date  they  saw  the 
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advantage  of  holding  the  balance  between  their  rival  preten- 

sions. Individual  traders  may  have  found  it  to  be  their 
interest  to  excite  the  prejudices  of  the  savage,  but  the 

unfriendly  feelings  of  the  Iroquois  towards  the  French,  to  the 
extent  of  declaring  war,  cannot  be  attributed  to  English 

intrigue  ;  indeed,  there  never  was  a  period  when  this  influ- 
ence was  .so  little  exercised,  as  the  events  of  the  two  follow- 

ing years  establi.sh. 
The  condition  of  Canada  exacted  a  firm  and  vigorous 

policy.  One  thousand  men  accustomed  to  life  in  the  woods 
could  be  put  under  arms  but  by  placing  them  in  the  field, 
all  cultivation  of  the  land  would  be  suspended  ;  and  it 

became  necessary  to  gather  supplies  to  support  the  expedi- 
tion. If  war  were  commenced,  it  was  felt  that  it  must  be 

pro.secuted  until  the  Senecas  were  utterly  subdued.  An 

appeal  to  the  King  was  suggested,  to  send  two  or  three 

hundred  soldiers  to  garrison  Fort  Frontcnac  and  La  Galette;* 
that  a  hundred  and  fifty  men  should  be  obtained  and  dis- 

tributed throughout  the  settlements  to  prevent  famine  ;  and 

that  barques  and  canoes  should  be  built.  Men  reasoned 
that  the  failure  of  aid  from  France  of  late  years  had  led  the 

Iroquois  to  undervalue  the  strength  of  the  Colony,  and  if 

they  were  made  to  know  that  the  Mother  Country  was 

again  sending  troops,  they  would  allow  the  Indian  allies  (jf 

I'^-ance  to  remain  in  peace,  and  war  would  be  averted. 
M.  de  la  Barrc  wrote  to  France  by  the  last  ships.  He 

described  the  threatening  aspect  of  affairs  ;  he  believed,  how- 
ever, that  with  a  little  assistance  he  could  defeat  the  Iroquoi.s. 

Later  he  appealed  to  the  King  for  men,  money,  arms  and 
ammunition.  He  reported  that  he  had  notified  the  Iroquois 

of  his  arrival,  and  had  called  upon  their  chiefs  to  meet  him 

in  spring.-j- Above  all,  it  was  necessary  that  there  should  be  accord 

and  unity  in  the  Colony.  Such  was  not  the  case.  The  men 

who  had  the  ear  of  the  Governor,  saw  the  opportunity  of 
*   I'rescott. 

+  4th  October ! 
121I1  November,  1684. 
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inflicting  serious  injury  on  de  La  Salle.  Some  of  their  own 
set  had  obtained  permits  to  trade  in  the  west,  and  during  1683 

the  Iroquois  were  notified  that  such  traders  as  did  not  hold 

permits  could  be  plundered  by  them.  A  form  of  the  docu- 
ment was  placed  in  the  hands  of  the  Indians,  and  they  were 

told  that  the  canoes  which  could  not  produce  such  a  paper 

were  without  protection  from  the  Governor.  Some  canoes 

belonging  to  de  La  Salle  were  captured.  De  la  Barre  was 

also  induced  to  seize  Fort  Frontenac,  with  the  property  it  con- 
tained, on  the  ground  that  it  was  insufficiently  garrisoned. 

He  sent  up  de  La  Chesnaye  and  Le  Ber  to  take  it  out  of 

the  hands  of  de  La  Salle's  Lieutenant,  La  Forrest ;  and  to 
complete  his  attacks  on  de  La  Salle,  he  shortly  afterwards 

despatched  an  officer  of  his  guard,  de  Baugis,  to  represent 
him  at  the  fort  on  the  Illinois,  and  to  assume  command. 

The  Montreal  and  Quebec  dealers  engaged  in  the  fur  trade 
had  placed  a  stock  of  goods  in  the  hands  of  the  men  who 

were  carrying  it  on,  and  a  large  and  valuable  amount  of  pro- 
perty had  been  stored  at  Michillimackinac,  the  principal  depot 

of  the  west.  The  prospect  of  immediate  war  threatened 
the  owners  with  ruin,  and  it  was  evident  that,  whatever  course 

had  to  be  taken,  it  was  first  necessary  to  ensure  the  safety  of 

this  property.  Charles  Ic  Moyne,  of  Montreal,  was  sent  to 
Onondaga  to  endeavour  to  mollify  that  tribe,  and  so  far  to  gain 

delay  that  some  chance  of  peace  might  be  obtained.  Delay 
was  equally  the  policy  of  the  Iroquois ;  accordingly  a  conference 

was  held  in  the  parish  church  at  Montreal,  as  yet  unconse- 
crated.  The  meeting  included  some  of  the  Seneca  chiefs 

with  the  other  Iroquois  tribes.  Many  Christian  Indians  of 
the  Hurons,  Ottawas  and  Algonquins  were  present.  The  first 

point  was  to  propitiate  the  Irocjuois  as  to  the  death  of  Han- 
nonsacha,  killed  in  a  brawl  by  an  Illinois  at  Michillimackinac. 

The  "  tears  were  to  be  wiped  away  "  with  blanket  coats,  shirts 
and  guns.  The  tomahawk  was  then  figuratively  thrown  into 

the  river.  The  power  of  pillaging  French  traders  not  possessi  'ig 
permits  was  taken  away.  The  Iroquois  asked  that  de  La  .Salle 

should  be  punished  for  having  placed  arms  in  the  hands  of  the 
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Illinois.  The  Governor  proceeded  to  acknowledge  as  his  chil- 
dren the  tribes  of  the  Hurons,  Ottawas  and  Algonquins. 

When  mention  was  made  of  the  Illinois,  Teganisorens,  the 

orator,  chief  and  interpreter  of  the  Iroquois,  haughtily  replied  : 

"  He  merits  death  ;  he  has  killed  me."  No  one  dared  reply.* 
We  learn  from  de  Belmont  in  the  next  sentence  of  his 

record,  that  de  la  Barre  sent  out  16,000  livres  worth  of  mer- 
chandise for  the  purposes  of  trade. 

In  November  three  companies  of  marine  infantry  arrived, 

each  company  consisting  of  two  officers  and  forty-three  rank 
and  file.  They  were  for  the  time  billetted  in  the  neighbouring 

parishes,  and  in  the  following  spring  they  were  sent  on  to 
Montreal  ;  a  detachment  of  the  force  was  despatched  to  Fort 
Frontenac.  De  la  Barre  ostentatiously  made  preparations  as 

if  for  war.  He  built  a  second  barque  at  Kingston,  the  Intcnd- 

ant  placing  on  record  that  the  first  was  being  used  for  pur- 
poses of  trade.  Perrot,  Governor  of  Montreal,  was  named 

Marechal  de  Camp  ;  he  could  not,  however,  agree  with  the 

principal  officers.  Considerable  difficulty  arose,  and  Perrot 

was  suspended  from  his  position.  Subsequently  he  was 

engaged  in  a  quarrel  with  Saint  Helene,  and  a  discreditable 

brawl  between  them  too^'  place  in  the  streets.  Perrot  was 
shortly  after  removed  from  his  governorship  to  be  appointed 
to  Acadia. 

In  March,  1684,  an  attack  was  made  by  the  Iroquois  on  1 
the  Fort  on  the  Illinois.  It  lasted  for  six  days,  and,  finding 

that  they  could  make  no  impression  on  it,  they  withdrew, 

after  losing  many  men.  Shortly  afterwards  they  met  some 
canoes,  with  a  crew  of  fourteen  Frenchmen  in  charge  of  thcm.t 

containing  valuable  cargoes,  which  the  Iroquois  plundered.] 

Writers  J  of  that  date  affirm  that  they  contained  the  furs  pur- 
chased with  the  16,000  livres  of  merchandise  of  M.  de  la 

Barre  and  his  associates,  and  that  the  loss  led  to  a  detcr- 

*  "  Pour  la  question  tie  I'lllinois  il  (lit  fi^vrement  :  il  merite  la  moit  ;  il  ma 

tue  ;  on  n'osa  point  iei)ondre."     De  Helinont. 
t  Charlevoix  gives  the  date  as  the  last  day  of  February,  1684.    Vol.  I.,  p.  485. 

+  M.  de  Belmont. 
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o  be  appointed  | 

mined  claim  made  for  restitution.     It  was  shortly  after  these 

events  that  Teganisorens,  who  had  represented  the  Iroquois 

at  the  Montreal  conference,  appeared  as  an  emissary  at  Que- 

bec.    He  was  immediately  arrested,  by  the  Governor's  order. 
The  latter  subsequently  explained  *  that  he  had  taken  the  step 
[to  assure  the  safety  of  the  missionaries.     Had  such  been  the 

lease  it  was  a  breach  of  good  faith,  even  if  de  la  Barrc's  declara- 
[tion  be  true  that  he  treated  his  prisoner  with  consideration.     It 
lis  impossible  to  resist  the  conviction  that  the  furs  .seized  by 
■the  Iroquois  had  more  weight  in  the  scale  of  his  opinions  than 
:arc  for  the  Jesuit  missionaries  who  were  with  the  tribe. 

It  was  when   irritated   by  the   losses   suffered   by  I'rench 
:onimerce,  that  de  la  Barre  assumed  an  attitude  of  hostility  in 

Idcfcnce  of  Canadian   interests.     Even  with  the  facts  as  we 

[po.sscss    them,   it   is  difficult    to  determine  whether  he   was 

[desirous  of  striking  a  decisive  blow,  or  simply  to  make  a  show 

[of  doing  .so,  in  the  hope  that  his  preparations  would  terrify 
the   Senccas   into   acceptance    of   his    condition.s.     There    is 
ground  for  belief  that  in  the  first  instance  the  expedition  was 

conceived  in  earnestness  of  purpose.     The  troops  at  his  com- 
mand were  well   di.sciplincd,  the  officers   full   of  spirit.     The 

j  Canadian  Militia,  now  they  were  in  the  field,  understood  that 
ithc  critical  condition  of  the  colony  made  the  expedition  a 

I  necessity,  and  there  was  nothing  to  be  desired  in  their  sentiment 
(or  bearing.     The  Inteiidant  de  Meulles,  felt  that  the  hour  of 

I  negotiation   was   pas.sed.      He  had,   nevertheless,   little    con- 
fidence in  de  la  Barre,  and  the  doubts  entertained  by  him  are 

fully  expressed  in  his  letters.     As  he  saw  the  delay  and  mis- 

management which  marked  the   Governor's  proceedings,  he 

felt  that  the  'General '  did  not  po.ssess  the  high  qualities  by 
I  which  victories  are  won.     The  expedition  was  characterized 

by  dilatoriness  and  absence  of   purpose.     The   necessity  of 

[  the  peace  afterwards  made  by  de  la  Barre  was  explained  by 
I  him  to  have  ari.sen  from  the  want  of  provisions,  and  the  sick- 

ness  which    affected    the    troops.     Both    might    have    been 
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avoided  by  prudence  and  generalship  ;  and  that  these  were 
not  exercised  was  the  fault  of  de  la  Barre. 

The  Governor  may  have  been  perplexed  by  the  contradic- 
tory orders  received  from  France,  for  the  rule  observed  in 

such  despatches  was  to  provide  for  the  chance  of  failure. 
The  instructions  were  so  worded,  that  if  success  arose  it  could 

be  appropriated  by  the  King  and  his  minister  :  if  failure 
resulted,  it  would  be  placed  to  the  account  of  the  unfortunate 

leader  of  the  expedition. 
As  a  rule,  the  letters  from  France,  whatever  the  capacity  of 

the  Governor,  must  have  caused  doubt  and  anxiety,  and  have 

paralysed  effort  by  the  distrust  which  they  created.  Early  in 

de  la  Barre's  government,  the  King  wrote  concerning  Hud- 
son's Bay.  At  a  time  when  the  country  was  threatened  with 

an  Iroquois  war,  and  the  extent  of  the  reinforcements  sent 
from  France  were  limited  to  three  companies  of  marine 

infantry,  the  King  called  upon  the  Governor  to  prevent,  as 

far  as  possible,  the  English  establishing  themselves  in  Hud- 

son's Bay,  of  which  the  French  had  taken  possession  several 
years  back.  While  giving  these  instructions,  he  informed 
de  la  Barre  that  Dongan,  the  Governor  of  New  York,  had 

received  precise  orders  to  maintain  a  good  correspondence 

with  the  French  Governor.* 
With  this  information,  de  la  Barre,  desiring  to  see  the  en- 

gagement enforced, f  suggested  that  Barillon,  the  French 
Minister  in  England,  should  obtain  an  order  from  Charles  H. 

prohibiting  Dongan  from  assisting  the  Iroquois  with  arms 
and  ammunition.  He  reported  that  he  had  determined  to 

attack  them,  giving  as  his  reasons  their  attempt  against  the 
Fort  on  the  Illinois,  and  the  seizure  of  the  canoes  with 

the  crew  of  fourteen  men.  The  King  replied  |  immediately, 
admitting  the  explanation  of  the  Governor,  and,  in  view  of 

hostilities  being  brought  to  a  rapid  termination,  he  informed 
him  that  a  reinforcement  of  three  hundred  men  had   been 

*  5th  August,  1683. 

t  5th  June,  1684. 

X  31st  July,  1684. 
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sent  by  the  ship  "  L'Emerillon,"  giving  him  instructions 
utterly  to  destroy  the  Iroquois.  These  troops  reached  Quebec 

the  following  year. 
While  the  King  thus  spoke  of  active  operations,  he  pointed 

out  the  miseries  arising  from  war,  and  told  de  la  Barre  that 

he  ought  to  prefer  peace,  which  would  restore  quiet  and 

increase  the  prosperit}-  of  the  colony.  Should  war  take  place, 

continues  the  King,  "As  it  tends  to  the  good  of  my  service 
to  diminish  the  number  of  savages,  who  are  strong  and 

robust,  and  will  serve  usefully  in  the  galleys,  it  is  my  pleasure 

that  you  make  as  many  of  them  as  possible  prisoners,  and 

send  them  to  France." 
In  1683,  Colonel  Thomas  Dongan,  who  had  been  appointed 

Governor  of  New  York,  arrived  to  assume  his  command. 

The  colon>'  had  been  eight  years  in  the  possession  of  the 

l'",nglish  after  having  been  held  by  the  Dutch  in  1674-5. 
Dongan  was  the  nephew  of  the  notorious  Dick  Talbot  of  that 
time,  afterwards  Eail  of  Tyrconnel.  He  was  a  Roman 

Catholic,  as  might  have  been  expected  of  any  one  who  pos- 
sessed the  favour  of  the  Duke  of  York,  especially  after  his 

public  profession  of  that  faith  on  the  death  of  the  first 
Duchess  in  167 1.  On  Dongan  taking  office,  he  had  been 

in.structed  to  give  the  Governor  of  Canada  no  cause  of  offence. 
His  career,  however,  was  marked  by  the  sincere  desire  of 

performing  his  duty.  Not  only  did  he  not  strain  these 
instructions  in  favour  of  the  French,  but  he  battled  un- 

shrinkingly for  English  interests,  with  zeal,  and  generally 
with  statesmanship.  As  he  had  served  in  France,  much  was 
looked  for  from  him  in  Quebec  from  this  fact,  and  from  his 

being  a  Roman  Catholic.  The  Duke  of  York's  sympathy 
with  French  interests  was  known,  and  owing  to  the  com- 

munication received  by  de  la  Barre  from  the  French  King,  he 

trusted  that  no  difficulties  would  be  created  by  the  Engli.sh 
Governor. 

One  of  the  earliest  steps  taken  by  Dongan  was  to  announce 
that  the  Duke  of  York  had  granted  the  establishment  of  two 

houses  of  representatives ;  an  Assembly  to  consist  of  eighteen 
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members,  with  a  Council  of  ten  :  both  elective.  The  laws 

passed  by  the  legislature  of  New  York  were  to  be  approved 

by  the  proprietor  ;  and  Dongan,  on  his  part,  endeavoured  in 

every  way  to  {^ain  the  confidence  of  tho.sc  living  under  his 

government. 
The  New  York  trader,  like  those  engaged  in  that  occupa- 

tion in  Canada,  now  began  to  experience  a  decrease  in  the 

beaver  furnished  by  the  Iroquois.  He  was  made  to  under- 
stand that  the  area  whence  the  furs  had  been  previously 

obtained  was  becoming  exhausted,  and  that  it  was  neces.sary 

to  proceed  to  fresh  hunting  grounds  to  obtain  them,  l^ven 

at  this  date,  many  of  the  traders  from  Albany  and  Schenec- 
tady had  joined  in  expeditions  to  the  West,  and  encouraged 

the  Iroquois  to  get  possession  of  and  control  the  trade,  so 
that  it  could  be  turned  to  New  York.  It  was  the  hope  of 

obtaining  fresh  hunting  grounds  which  had  led  the  Iroquois 
to  attack  the  Illinois,  and  they  likewise  desired  to  divert  from 
Montreal  the  peltry  which  the  Ottawas  were  obtaining,  in 

order  that  it  might  pass  through  their  hands  to  Albany.  It 
was  not  only  in  the  West  that  the  Iroquois  had  shewn  their 

activity.  They  had  penetrated  to  the  borders  of  settlement 
in  Maryland  and  Virginia,  causing  much  mischief,  .so  much 
so  that  a  Council  was  held  in  Albany  in  1683,  to  prevent  the 
recurrence  of  these  raids,  and  a  treaty  of  peace  had  been 
obtained. 

Counting  upon  Dongan  as  an  ally,  and  New  York  as  a 

power  easily  to  be  managed,  and  with  the  turn  for  bravado 

which  was  a  part  of  de  la  Barre's  character,  he  had  written  to 
Dongan  on  his  arrival.  In  April,  1683,  he  had  had  some  cor- 

respondence with  Captain  Brockholls,  then  administering  the 
Government.  De  la  Barre  had  expressed  the  hope  that  a  good 
understanding  and  friendship  would  prevail  so  as  to  maintain 

peace  and  tranquility.  He  had  been  told  in  reply,  that  it  had 
always  been  the  care  of  the  English  government  to  preserve 

peace,  to  prevent  and  hinder  the  spilling  of  Christian  blood 
and  to  hold  and  maintain  a  civil  correspondence  with  their 

neighbours. 
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De  la  Harre  infdrinccl  Uoiifjan  that  the  Scnccas  and 

Cayuf^as  had  committed  depredations  at  I''ort  I'Vontenac,  and 
seized  French  canoes  and  he  would  therefore  be  compelled  to 
chastise  them.  He  asked  that  the  New  York  Colonists  should 
not  be  allowed  to  furnish  arms  and  ammunition  to  these  tribes. 

It  was  an  opportunity  which  I)onji;an  could  not  let  pass.  He 
at  once  advanced  the  claim  of  Knj^land  to  the  country  south 
of  the  lakes  occupied  by  these  tribes.  Dealing;  with  the 

Iro([uois  as  subjects  of  his  sovereignty,  he  undertook  that  they 

should  make  restitution  for  any  wroiiff  which  they  had  com- 
mitted, and  he  called  upon  de  la  iiarre  not  to  violate  Entjlish 

territory ;  at  the  same  time  he  laid  the  complaints  made  by 
dc  la  Barre,  before  the  Indian  Council. 

The  occasion  was  one  when  ilelicate  diplomacy  had  to 

be  exercised  ;  nevertheless,  Dongan  made  the  mistake  of 

abruptly  alarming  the  jealousy  of  the  Iroquois.  They  were 
desirous  of  avoiding  French  dictation,  but  they  had  no  idea 

of  placing  themselves  under  ICiiglish  mastership,  however 

willing  they  might  be  to  accept  Dongan's  su|)port.  They 
still  remembered  de  Tracy's  chastisement  ;  and  war  was 
never  so  much  dreaded  as  when  carried  to  their  homes.  The 

protection  which  they  sought  for  was  as  a  free  people  to  he  in 

alliance  with  F'ngland.  Dongan's  true  policy  was  to  have 
alienated  them  from  F""rench  influence  without  awakening 
their  jealousy  ;  but  the  attempt  was  so  made  as  to  create 

Indian  distrust.  The  main  point  he  insisted  upon  was  that 

the  Senecas  should  make  no  treaty  with  the  l^'rench  without 
his  consent  ;  and,  as  a  material  mark  of  iMiglish  power,  he 
desinvl  that  the  arms  of  the  Duke  of  York  should  be  dis- 

played prominently  in  their  villages. 

To  effect  this  purpose,  he  sent  Arnold  Viele,  an  Indian  in- 

terpreter of  Dutch  descent,  to  take  steps  to  affirm  the  sove- 
reignty which  he  had  claimed.  Viele  proceeded  along  the 

Mohawk,  affixing  the  arms  in  the  villages  through  which  he 

passed.  F'inally,  he  came  to  that  of  the  Onondagas.  He 
found  there  two  representatives  of  de  la  Barre,  Charles 

le  Moyne,  of  Montreal,  and  the  Jesuit  F'ather  de  Lamberville. 
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Amon^  those  present  there  was  a  Chief  of  some  promin- 
ence known  as  la  (irande  Gueuic,  \\\g  Jaw,  entirely  in 

tlic  I'reiich  interest,  so  far  as  an  Iroquois  Chief  could  be. 
Without  difficult)'  he  was  incited  by  the  two  representatives 

of  dc  la  Barre  to  reply  to  iJon^Mn's  pretensions,  and  he  did  so 
with  .some  force.  He  refused  to  rcco}4nise  the  coat  of  arms 

as  capable  of  protecting  the  tribe  against  the  French.  On 

the  other  hand,  the  Iroquois  did  not  desire  to  embroil  them- 
selves with  Dongan,  and  they  jiroposeil  to  send  a  messenger 

to  him  to  learn  his  wishes.  The  proposition  was  opposed  by 

le  Moyne.  I'inally,  the  Onondagas  agreed  to  act  as  medi- 
ators between  the  French  and  Senecas  :  thus  meeting  the 

wishes  of  tlie  French  Governor,  who,  by  accepting  this  medi- 
ation, shewed  that  he  entertained  the  ilesirc  for  peace. 

During  July  and  .August,  16S4,  dc  Lainberville  wrote  con- 
stantly to  the  Governor.  He  describes  the  Onondagas  as 

peaceable,  but  the  Senecas  as  proud  and  insolent  on  account 

of  their  strength.  "  If  the  war  occurs,"  .says  the  Jesuit,  "all 
tho.se  who  have  houses  ajjart  from  fortified  places  must 

abandon  their  dwellings,  for  they  may  be  burnt,  and  many  of 

the  inhabitants  brought  awa\-  as  prisoners  to  be  tortured." 
He  saw  plainly  that  if  war  was  to  be  carried  on  it  should  be 

vigorousl)'  conducted  after  effective  preparation.  He  recom- 
mended a  fort  to  be  established  either  at  La  Galctte  *  or 

La  Famine,"!*  under  the  pretext  of  erecting  a  blacksmith's 
shop.  He  was  opposed  to  war  being  commenced  at  that 
season,  for  it  would  be  carried  into  Canada,  and  the  Senecas 

would  not  be  found  in  the-'r  vrll'Agcs.  They  felt  their  security 
to  lie  in  the  large  forests  in  their  rear,  towards  Maryland  and 

Virginia,  where  they  believed  that  none  would  dan-  to  f  ' 

them.  Thej'  affected  to  hear  of  war  with  joy  ;  •"  r  tb- 
would  see  how  hVench  flesh  tasted,  and  if  it  wi  ,4u; 

from  the  salt  they  swallowed.  De  Lambcrville  wa^  sing  his  .1- 
fluencc  with  the  Onondagas,  so  that  they  should  endcavc'  ir  to 
obtain   from   the  Senecas  satisfaction   for  the   injuries  which 

*  Prescott. 

t  The  iiKiiUh  (if  .'^;iliium  Rivci',  L.tkc  Ontario. 
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thoy  li.'ul  cominittccl,  as  had  been  su^^estcd  b\'  the  Christian 
Indians  of  the  Sault.  There  was  a  Council  held  at  ()nondaj;a 

i.n  the  i6tli  and  17th  of  Jul)-,  the  result  of  which  de  Laniber- 
villo,  the  following  day,  communicated  to  de  la  Harre.  At 

the  commciicemeiit  all  was  difficult)-  :  (uiall)  ,  the  Oiiondagas 
persuaded  the  Senecas  to  entrust  to  them  the  representation  of 

their  dissatisfaction,  with  the  undcrslandin<f  that  if  the)-  failed 
to  effect  a  peace  they  would  join  their  fortunes  with  the 

Senecas  in  war.  Mig  Jaw.  the  Jesuit  tells  us,  signalized  himself 

ill  the  negotiation.  It  was  after  the.se  proceedings  that 

l)(jngan's  einissars-  arriveil  on  his  bootless  errand. 
There  are  few  characters  in  Canadian  histor)-  on  whom 

censure  is  .so  unsparingly  heaped  as  on  M.  de  la  Barre.  l^ven 

the  kindly  de  Belmont  tells  us  dril)-  that  he  caused  himself  to 

be  called,  "  M.  le  General."  De  Callieres,  appointed  Governor 
(  r  Montreal,  on  his  arrival  wrote  to  thank  de  Seignelay  for 

the  appointment.*  He  had  arrived  after  de  la  Barre's  expe- 
iiilioii.  and  told  the  Minister,  that  the  most  intelligent  people 

in  the  Colony  felt  an)-  i)eace  to  be  most  unsatisfactory  until 
the  Illinois  were  left  undisturbed. 

De  Mculles,  the  Intendant,  has  written  concerning  de 

l.i  Harre  in  the  plainest  language.  There  was  no  quarrel  be- 

tween them  ;  their  relations  were  per.sonall)-  on  a  pleasant 
tooting  ;  there  is  not  a  single  entry  in  the  proceedings  of  the 

C^onseil  Souverain  to  betoken  misunderstanding,  'ihere  are 
two  letters  of  the  Intendant  before  anil  after  the  advance  : 

we  have,  therefore,  the  histor)-  of  the  campaign,  and  there  is 
110  ground  to  think  that  either  i^  marked  b)'  untruth.     No 

ideiice  is  extant  to  contradict  the  Intentlant's  statements  ; 
nd  certainly  no  tailure  short  of  defeat  could  have  been 

;reater  than  that  of  the  expedition  of  16.S4.  The  Intendant 

lells  us  that  at  the  date  of  his  writing-f  all  parties  had  entered 

willingl)-  into  the  war.  At  first,  there  had  been  dissatisfaction. 
The  war,  it  was  .said,  was  being  undertaken  to  preserve  the 

beaver  of  five  or  six  merchants  of  Quebec  who  monopolised 
•  9th  N 
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the  trade.  Complaints  had  been  freely  expressed  that  four 
or  five  hundred  persons  had  been  disj^atched  to  the  woods, 

besides  the  two  barques  sent  to  Hudson's  Bay,  each  with  a 
crew  of  from  thirty-five  to  forty  who  were  all  younj^j  men. 
In  consequence,  fathers  of  families  had  been  called  out  for 

active  .service.  "  Thourh  all  this  reasoning  is  true,"  added 
the  Intendant,  "  it  is  .-.iil'  of  the  greatest  consequence  not  to 

allow  the  people  the  liberty  of  expressing  their  opinion." 
He  then  represents  that  the  Governor  was  interested  in  the 

trade  combination,  in  which  from  ten  to  twelve  thousand 
crowns  had  been  divided  :  that  the  Governor  had  used  the 

barque  at  Fort  Frontenac  for  the  purpose  of  his  own  opera- 
tions, and  had  at  great  expense  constructed  a  second  vessel. 

That  he  was  the  partner  of  de  La  Chesnaye,  and  took  part  in 

sending  the  peltry  to  New  York.  Indeed,  that  the  corres- 
pondence which  had  been  carried  on  with  Dongan  had 

principally  this  end  in  view.  At  the  date  he  was  writing 

there  were  two  strangers  from  New  \'ork  present  at  Quebec. 
They  had  not  been  near  de  Meullcs.  The  hostile  attitude  of 

tie  la  Barre  had  been  taken  at  the  suggestion  of  the  mer- 
chants who  found  their  cargoes  liable  to  be  pillaged.  If  the 

attack  were  successful,  trade  hereafter  would  be  uninterrupted  ; 

if  peace  were  made,  the  furs  being  brought  in  by  the  canoes 
would  arrive  in  safety. 

The  Intendant  prophesied  that  there  would  be  no  war.  The 
Governor  would  go  to  Cataraqui,  send  for  the  Scnccas,  and 
conclude  peace,  making  fools  of  everybody,  including  the 
King,  if  he  were  allowed  to  say  so  with  due  respect.  He 

had  left  Quebec  with  two  hundred  men  on  the  10th  of  Jul}-, 
"  tete-(i-tcte  with  the  man  named  La  Chesnaye,  which  appeared 

very  extraordinary  to  the  Bishop,  the  Jesuits,  and  ever\- 

honest  man  in  the  country."  The  (jovernor  had  undertaken 
the  war  without  consulting  any  person,  and  he  would  conclude 

peace  in  the  same  way. 
If  it  was  not  established  that  '.hij  letter  of  the  Intendant  is 

genuine,  it  would  have  the  appearance  of  having  been  con- 
cocted after  the  event,  so  thoroughly  correct  did  its  anticipa- 
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tions  prove.  There  is  scarcely  an  event  in  Canadian  liistory 
more  discreditable  than  this  expedition,  and  throuijh  the 

imbecility  of  this  one  man,  "  the  general."  What  was  needed 
was  despatch,  vigour  and  hardihood.  The  blow  should  have 

been  struck  thoroughly  and  decisively.  It  was  a  crisis  in 

the  history  of  the  Colony  ;  the  commencement  of  a  struggle 

to  extend  over  three-quarters  of  a  century. 
Dc  la  Barre  knew  well  the  pretensions  of  Dongan  that  the 

southern  .shore  of  Lake  Ontario  was  regarded  as  English  .soil, 

and  at  that  date  New  York  was  ill  prepared  to  assert  the 

claim  by  force  of  arms.  On  the  other  hand,  it  could  have 

been  no  .secret  to  him  that  the  I'rench  King  possessed  remark- 
able power  in  the  English  Court,  and  that  the  decisions  of 

\'ersailles  never  wanted  abettors  in  London.  The  Saint 
Lawrence  was  far  from  European  influence.  No  great  effort 

would  have  been  required  to  satisfy  the  Duke  of  York 

with  regard  to  the  policj-  of  the  French  King  in  Canada. 
As  de  la  Barre  had  shown  his  hostile  feeling  to  the  Senecas, 

as  the  repr-'^entative  of  French  power,  there  was  only  one 
policy  for  him  to  follow.  The  Senecas  were  the  one  tribe  of 

the  Iroquois  who  had  acted  as  if  they  had  strength  to  defy 

iiis  authorit)-,  and  '  ad  an  attack  been  made  on  their  territory 
with,  spirit  and  good  generalship,  there  is  no  rca.son  to  think 

that  it  would  have  failed.  Had  it  been  followed  by  a  wise  and 

firm  assertion  of  strength,  the  destin)-  of  the  northern  conti- 
nent might  have  been  changed.  The  southern  shore  of  Lake 

Ontario  might  possiblj-  have  been  French.  The  polic)-  of  de 
la  Galli.s.soniere,  sixty  jears  later,  when  he  attempted  to 

take  pos.se.ssion  of  the  Valley  of  the  Ohio,  would  na\e  been 

aiitici[Kitcd  east  of  Niagara,  and  the  probabilit\'  is  thac  it 
would  have  been  successful.  When  the  effort  was  made  it  was 

too  late.  The  Mother  Country  had  embarked  in  the  struggle 

with  all  the  st.ength  she  could  put  forth,  while  the  Butish 

Colonies  had  so  increased  in  population  and  wealth  as  to 

prove  formidable  antagonists. 

Dc  la  Barre's  force  consisted  of  seven  hundred  French  and 

Canadians,  of   whom    one   hundred  and   fort)-   were   regular 
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troops.*  The  remainder  had  been  taken  from  the  .settlements, 
expert  in  handling  the  canoe,  inured  to  life  in  the  woods, 

knowing  the  character  of  Indian  fighting,  and,  when  well  led, 

were  an  effective  body  of  men.  Orders  had  also  been  sent 

to  Du  Luth  and  dc  la  Durantaye  to  gather  from  the  west  the 

coureurs  de  hois,  with  what  Indians  they  could  muster,  and  to 

conduct  them  to  Niagara,  to  await  de  la  Barre's  instructions. 
The  war  at  first  had  been  unpopular,  but  when  the  field  was 

taken  it  was  regarded  as  necessary.  Its  object  was  well 
understood,  to  inflict  such  a  blow  on  the  Senecas  that  their 

power  would  be  foi  ever  broken.  Every  b'rench-Canadian 
who  was  at  the  front  was  present  at  great  personal  sacrifice. 

He  had  left  his  family  on  his  farm,  the  cultivation  of  the  soil 

that  year  had  been  greatly  neglected,  antl  he  had  undertaken 

the  fatigues  of  the  campaign,  sustained  b\'  the  one  hope,  that 
from  the  blow  to  be  struck,  yfvars  of  prosperity  would  follow. 

He  received  no  pay  for  his  service. 

It  was  subsequently  stated  by  the  Governor  that  sufficient 

provisions  had  not  been  sent  forward,  an  accusation  against 

the  capacity  antl  zeal  of  the  Intcndant,  met  by  denial  on  his 

part.  De  Meulles  contended  that  the  suppl\-  was  ample,  and 
the  quantity  .sent  on  in  accordance  with  the  orders  of  the 
(iovernor. 

Dates  show  the  gross  blundering  of  (.Ic  la  Harro.  lie  left 

Quebec  on  the  9th  of  July,  and  peace  was  made  on  the  5th  of 

September.  He  dawdletl  away  ten  or  twelve  days  at  Mont- 
real, fourteen  or  fifteen  at  hV)rt  brontenac.  .At  La  Famine, 

from  the  sick:iess  of  his  troops,  and  his  inabinty  to  advance 

owing  to  an  insufficiency  of  jmn'isions  for  the  camj)aign,  such 

supplies  as  he  had  brought  were  consumed  during  this  period 

of  inactivity,  and  according!}'  de  la  Barre  felt  every  day 
lost  was  addnig  to  the  danger  of  his  ])()sition.  The  policy 

which  he  ought  to  have  followed  had  been  traced  by  his  pre- 

decessor. De  Frontenac  had  strongly  dwelt  on  the  inexpe- 

diency of  holding  any  meeting  with  the  Senecas  on  the  south- 
ern  shores  of  Lake   Ontario,  as  a  departure   from  personal 
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and  national  dignity,  which  the  savage  would  attribute  to  want 

of  power.  De  la  Barre's  duty  was  carefully  to  mature 

his  preparations,  and  to  collect  his  whole  force  at  I'^ort 
['"rontenac  ;  to  summon  deputies  of  the  Senecas  and  the 
other  Iroquois  to  attend  within  a  certain  date,  and  if  they 

failed  to  appear,  to  accept  the  fact  itself  as  a  casus  belli,  and 

then  unhesitatingly  carry  into  their  own  villages  the  desola- 
tion which  they  were  threatening  to  inflict  on  the  western 

friendly  tribes.  The  polic}'  had  its  difficulties  and  dangers, 
but  it  was  the  only  one  which  would  have  led  to  a  satisfiictory 

peace. Dc  la  Harre  has  himself  given  an  account  of  his  openition.s. 

He  was  in  Montreal  on  the  loth  of  June,  when  he  sent  seven 

Christian  Indians  to  the  Mohawks,  Oneidas  and  Onondagas. 
He  notified  Du  Luth  and  the  conrcus  dc  bois  to  meet  him  at 

Niagara.  Bourdon  he  ilespatched  to  Orange  with  a  message 

to  Dongan,  asking  him  to  unite  his  forces  with  the  French 

expedition,  to  revenge  the  death  of  the  twent\'-siN  English 
killed  in  Maryland.  On  the  20th  of  June  he  sent  carpenters 

to  Fort  Frontenac  to  repair  the  h'ort  as  could  be  best  done, 

lie  himself  left  Montreal  on  .St.  John's  day,  the  24th,  to  arrive 
at  Quebec  the  26th.  On  the  9th  of  July  he  left  for  the  fn^it. 

The  slowness  with  v\hich  he  moved  can  be  understood,  when 

we  learn  from  himself  that  on  the  first  of  .\ugust  he  was  in 

Lake  .Saint  I'^-ancis,  ;it  the  foot  of  the  Longue  Sault.  On  the 
9th  he  arrived  at  Fort  Frontenac.  On  the  10th  he  sent  the 

younger  i^'athcr  de  Lamberxille  to  the  Onondagas,  with  the 
message  that  he  would  prefer  their  mediation  to  war.  .\fter 

holding  a  review  of  his  force,  he  represents  that  it  consisted 

(if  thirty-three  officers  and  seven  hundred  and  eight}-two 

rank  and  file,  with  .some  non-combatants.  He  ren)ained  fif- 

teen days  encamped  at  h'ort  l-'rontenac.  He  makes  no  men- 
tion of  any  marked  sickness  from  fever,  although  he  states 

that  .some  of  his  men  were  left  behind.  On  the  21st  he  sent 

off  a  great  part  of  his  force  to  La  L'amine.  On  the  27th  he 
arrived  there,  and  tells  us  that  he  then  found  one  hundred 

and  fifty  attacked  by  fever. 
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Dc  la  Banc  now  felt  that  further  advance  was  impossible. 

Consequently,  he  .sent  one  of  the  Christian  savages  to  le 

Moyne,  who  was  with  the  Onondagas,  to  urge  upon  that 

tribe  to  come  immediateh*  with  the  j^roposals  of  peace  which 
they  had  undertaken  to  submit.  The  deputation  arrived  on 

the  3rd  of  September.  It  consisted  of  nine  Onondagas,  three 

Oneidas,  and  two  Cayugas.  The  conference  was  of  short 

duration.  On  the  5th,  the  terms  proposed  by  the  Onondagas 

were  accepted,  and  peace  was  made  on  terms  disgraceful  t" 
I'Vance.* 

Dc  la  Barre  aliandoned  his  Western  Indian  allies.  He 

undertook  not  to  attack  the  Senecas,  and  they  agreed  to 

make  restitution  for  the  injuries  committed  on  the  traders. 

The  Iroquois  with  haughtiness  asserted  their  right  to  destroy 

their  enemy,  the  Illinois.  "  I  am  at  war  with  the  Illinois," 

were  the  words  of  the  Iroquois,  "  we  .shall  die  fighting." 

"  Take  heed,"  was  the  ignominious  answer,  "  not  to  strike  the 
French  when  you  meet  them  in  your  path,  and  in  the  neigh- 

bourhood of  Saint  Louis."  The  Senecas  asked  for  their 
missionaries  to  be  restored  to  them.  It  was  promised  that 

they  would  be  sent  back  when  satisfaction  had  been  given  for 

the  wrongs  committed.  The  Senecas  recjuested  that  the 

Christian  Indians  should  be  prevented  from  coming  to  their 

villages,  as  the)-  "dismembered"  the  country.  The  evasixc 
answer  was  given  that  drunkenness  and  superstition  dismem- 

bered the  country,  and  that  there  was  libertj'  to  all  to  come 
and  reside  in  Canada.+ 

The  most  important  concession  in  a  political  point  of  view 
was  that  conferences  hereafter  .should  be  held  at  La  Famine, 

and  not  at  For*  Fr  ■  >tenac.  This  was  the  abandonment  of 

every  adv-untagc  possessed  by  the  French  ;  and  the  request  had 

been  matie  with  the  astuteness  which   marked   the  negotia- 

*  Cli.irlev()i.\  Vol.  I.,  p.  490,  suniinnrily  rejecl.s  the  assertion  that  Dongan 

offered  lo  assist  tiie  .Senecas.  "  II  iry  a  pourlaiit  aucun  lieu  <le  douter  (jue  si 

le  Ciilonel  llont^nii  s'en  fut  leiiii  k  ces  ofVres  elles  n'eussent  ete  acceptees  ;  et 

que  \l.  (ie  la  liarie  ne  se  fui  tiouve  dans  un  tres  jjrand  emharras." 
t  New  N'ork  Documents  l.\..  p.  239. 
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tioh.  of  the  Iroquois.  The  scene  of  future  discussion  was 

removed  to  the  enemies'  country,  transferrinj,^  to  the  side  of 
the  Indian  the  prcstij^je  of  supremacy,  in  so  far  as  the 

movements  of  the  Governor  of  Canada  had  been  made  sub- 

ordinate to  their  wishes  :  a  departure  from  the  standard  of 

strength  which  de  l-'rontenac  always  firmly  asserted,  and 
which  it  was  the  policy  of  Canada  to  maintain.  Moreover, 

at  Calara(]ui  there  was  a  fort,  and  the  Indians  encamped  in 

ihc  ncit^hbourhood  were  at  a  disadvantage,  compared  to  the 

I'rench  protected  by  its  walls.  The  demand  was  dictated  by 
no  necessit)'  on  the  part  of  the  Iroquois,  and  was  advanced  to 
test  the  .sense  of  strent^th  which  sustained  the  French  ;  and 

to  admit  it  was  an  acknowledj^ement  of  weakness,  which 

added  to  their  insolent  bcarint^. 

Uu  Luth  and  de  la  Uurantaj'c  had  L;athered  one  hundred 
and  fifty  coureurs  dc  bois,  and  five  hundred  and  fifty  Indians. 

They  had  to  be  notified  that  Peace  was  declared  ;  a  jjcace 

which  did  not  include  the  Western  Indian  tribes,  against 

whom  the  Inxpiois  would  take  their  own  time  to  exact 

\cnt;eance,  for  the  hostile  feeling  shewn  by  their  presence. 

Depressed,  and  with  a  .sense  of  the  danger  of  their  position, 

the  Western  Indians  returned  whence  they  came. 

On  the  6th  of  September,  the  morning  after  the  so-called 

i'cace,  dc  la  Barre  left  La  Famine.  He  describes  having 
cau.sed  his  sick  to  be  embarked  in  the  morning.  He  tells  us, 

tiie\'  filled  one  hundred  and  fifty  canoes  ami  twelve  bateau.x. 

1  le  himself  arrived  at  h'ort  Frontenac  in  the  evening,  having 
left  behind  one  hundred  and  ten  sick,  who  were  afterwards 

despatched  to  Montreal.  He  rapidly  descended  the  river, 

ti)  fiiul  at  Lachine  a  large  stock  of  flour,  which,  he  adds, 

would  ha\e  admitted  of  a  longer  stay  in  the  western  country 
had  it  been  sent  to  him. 

In  the  gloom  which  he  must  have  felt  was  gathering  round 

him,  the  (ioxernor  had  the  satisfaction  of  receiving  the  praises 

of  (Ic  Lamberville.  The  Jesuit  told  him  in  his  letters,*  that 

1j>'  his   peace   he   had   entitled   himself  to  the   name  of  the 

*  <itli  OcUiliei,  1684.     N.  V.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  263. 
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saviour  of  his  country.  .At  the  same  time,  he  w  rote  dolefully 

to  the  effect  that  the  .Senecas  were  unconquerable,  and  that 

they  would  have  destroyed  the  force  broujjht  a^fainst  them. 

Throui^hout  the  cc^lony  the  Peace  was  belil  to  be  disirracc- 

ful.  "  The  peace,  Mon.seigneur,"  wrote  de  Meulles,  "  has 
astonished  all  the  c)fficers  of  any  rank  in  the  army,  and 

the  men  who  compose  it,  who  entertain  such  deep  dis- 

pleasure, and  sovereign  contempt  for  the  General's  perso  , 

that  they  cannot  prevent  their  display."  The  Intendaiit 
denied  that  provisions  had  been  wanting.  He  had  for- 

warded them  plentifully  ;  and  the  quantity  left  at  Lachino 

had  been  placed  there  in  accordance  with  the  General's  own 
order.  The  original  arrangement  had  been  that  the  troops 

should  not  start  until  the  15th  of  August.  This  date  hail 

been  anticipated  by  a  month.  The  Intendant  described  the 

Onondaga  deputation  of  Indians  in  contemptuous  terms  : 

'  Big  Jaw '  he  described  as  a  buffoon  ;  the  (jthers,  as  eight 
or  ten  miserable  fellows,  who  had  fooled  the  (iovernor 

shameful  I)-. 
In  France  the  news  created  the  impression  that  might 

have  been  looked  for.  l)e  Seignelay  spoke  of  the  treaty  as 

'the  shameful  peace.'*  It  was  determined  to  recall  de  la 
Barre  immediately.  The  King  wrote  to  him,  that  his  years 

ilid  not  permit  him  to  fulfil  the  duties  of  his  office,  and 

consequently,  his  successor  had  been  named.  An  order 
was  added  that  he  should  at  o!ice  embark  for  France.  To 

de  Meulles  the  King  expressed  his  dissatisfaction  with  the 

treaty,  and  his  serious  displeasure  at  th(>  abandonmeiU  of  the 

Illinois  :  he  had  accordingly  recalled  M.  de  la  Barre,  send- 
ing Sieur  de  Denonville  as  his  successor,  with  power  to 

declare  war  or  continue  peace  as  he  should  deem  it  mo<t 

expedient. 
On  the  13th  of  August,  1685,  the  letters  patent  ap|)ointing 

M.  de  Uenonville  Governor  of  Canada  were  enregi.stered. 

To  the  last,  de  la  Barre  presented  a  deplorable  figure.  Me 

stated   that   the    King   had    in    no   way   notified   him   of  the 

•  la  pjiix  lionteiisi;. 
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(iovcrnor 

intention  to  recall  him.  Recognising  this  intention  in  the 

letters  read,  he  prayed  the  Council  if  they  had  complaints 
to  make  of  his  conduct,  to  do  him  the  favour  to  inform  him  if 
such  were  the  case. 

Writers  of  authority  have  regarded  the  te.stimony  of  the  Haron  La  I  Ionian  as 

reliable,  and  have  accepted  his  account  of  the  meeting  at  La  Famine  as  worthy  of 

credence.  There  is  difficulty  in  attaching  weight  to  his  narrative.  There  is  even 

evidence  to  shew  that  much  which  he  reports  could  not  have  happened.  His 

memoirs  were  published  in  1703,  at  a  period  when  he  was  in  disfavour  with  the 

French  Court,  and  they  are  dedicated  to  the  King  of  Denmark.  He  wrote  at  a 

time  when  the  rage  for  memoir  writing  was  in  full  strength,  when  the  (irst  desire 

was  to  make  the  reading  attractive  at  any  sacrifice  to  truth.  Indeed  there  are  few 

French  memoirs  of  the  lOighteenth  Century  which  have  not  to  be  read  with 

extreme  caution.  Without  an  explanation  from  Charlevoix  it  would  not  be  easy 

to  recognise  that  he  was  in  the  country  at  that  date,  for  his  name  does  not  appear 

in  the  list  of  officers  given  by  de  la  Barre  in  the  State  of  the  troops  reviewed  by 

him  at  Fcirt  Frontenac  previous  to  proceeding  to  La  Famine.  C^harlevoix  tells  us 

that  although  a  man  of  condition.  La  Hontan  came  to  Canada  in  the  ranks,  and 

that  subsequently  he  received  a  commission.  He  was  afterwards  sent  to  Placentia, 

in  Newfoundland  as  the  King's  Lieutenant.  When  in  that  position  he  became 
entangled  in  a  quarrel  with  the  Governor,  and  was  removed.  He  proceeded  to 

I'ortugal,  eventually  to  find  his  way  to  Denmark.  His  account  of  his  travels  to 
tlie  Mississippi  is  so  extravagant  that  even  if  he  actually  did  make  the  journey, 

ihey  belong  entirely  to  the  domain  of  fiction.  His  Kiviire  Longiie,  his  Tribes  of 

the  Essenapes  and  the  Guacsitares,  are  to  this  day  unknown  and  not  accepted  by  a 

single  person.  La  Hontan  gives  precise  dates,  so  does  Swift,  in  his  immortal 

Satire  of  Gulliver.  * 
It  is  La  Hontan  who  is  the  authority  for  the  calumny  that  the  young  female 

emigrants  sent  from  France,  between  1666 — 1672,  w.-re  characterless  women 
from  the  streets.  He  wrote  thirty  years  after  the  event  and  gives  no  ground  for 

his  opinion.  Indeed  it  is  impossible  that  he  could  have  had  special  knowledge  of 

the  subject.  All  evidence  is  directly  to  the  contrary.  The  number  was  under 

')ne  thousand.  Indeed,  in  1673,  the  who'e  population  was  but  6,700;  and  it  is 
ridiculous  to  affirm  that  France  could  not  furnish  ihat  number  of  well  conducted 

young  women  to  .send  to  Canada,  especially  when  great  care  was  taken  to  find 

young  girls  of  good  character.  In  all  societies  there  are  unfortunately  causes  foi 

scandal,  and  the  Mere  de  I'lncarnalifm  spoke  of  the  ivzwd/V/i' of  both  sexes  whi> 
caused  trouble.  Happy  the  community  where  no  sucii  tradition  can  b'j  traced. 
Applied  to  the  whole  number  the  description  given  by  La  I  loiitan  is  scandalously 
untrue. 

•  Gulliver  tells  us  :  "  I  accepted  an  advantageous  offer  from  Captain  William 

I'ritchard,  of  the  Antelope,  as  he  was  making  a  voyage  to  the  South  .Sea.  We 

set  sail  .May  4th,  1699.     Our  voyage  was  very  prosperous." 
I^  Hontan  started  on  the  24th  September,  1 688. 
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In  one  of  his  letters  La  Hontan  describes  the  altar  of  the  Jesuits'  Church. 
Quebec,  as  formed  of  four  columns,  each  of  one  block  of  black  porphyry.  Char- 

levoix, *  in  his  cjuiet  way,  laughs  at  this  description  as  pure  invention.  La  Hon- 

tan's  memoirs  were  put  on  paper  eighteen  years  after  the  events  had  taken  place. 
Of  the  Iroquois  language  he  knew  nothing,  and  under  the  most  favourable  cir- 

cumstances liis  narrative  must  have  lieen  based  on  the  report  of  third  parties.  It 
is  certain  that  de  la  Barre  could  never  have  uttered  the  words  attributed  to  him 

by  La  Ilontaii  ;  that  if  the  .Senecas  would  not  make  peace  he  would  be  obliged  to 

join  his  forces  to  those  of  the  Governor  of  New  York,  who,  by  order  of  the  King, 

his  master,  would  aid  him  to  burn  their  villages  and  destroy  the  tribe.  The 

Iroquois  knew  quite  well  the  impotence  of  such  a  threat.  They  had  been  brought 

face  to  face  with  Dongan,  and  knew  his  claim  to  the  country  on  the  part  of  the 

Duke  of  York.  La  Hontan  latinizes  the  name  of  the  Iroquois  "  Hig  Jaw,"  and 
calls  him  Garantula,  a  name  unknown  on  the  shores  of  Lake  Ontario.  The 

oration  which  he  is  represented  to  have  spoken  is  out  of  character  with  the  part  he 

assumed.  Moreover,  according  to  the  Abbe  de  Belmont,  the  orator  of  the  Iroquois 

was  Tegaiiissorens.  "  Hig  Jaw  "  was  not  the  defen<ler  of  the  rights  of  his  own 
tribe,  ile  was  an  intercessor  on  the  part  of  the  .Senecas.  We  iiave  also  the 

prods  verbal  of  what  did  take  place,  quite  antagonistic  to  the  melodramatic  de- 
clamation given  by  La  Hontan.  IJc  Meulles  t  writes  that  no  .Senecas  were  present. 

De  la  Barre  himself  .says  that  one  Seneca  only  attended,  the  others  not  having 

come,  in  order  not  to  displease  Dongan.  De  la  Barre  had  determined  to  make 

peace  at  any  cost,  so  there  was  no  occasion  for  any  very  forcible  appeal.  Indeed 

the  matter  had  already  been  arranged  Ijv  the  missionary  de  Lamberville  and 

Charles  le  Moyne,  of  Montreal. 

♦  Letter  iii.,  28th  October,  1720,  p.  76. 
+  New  York  Documents  ix.,  ]).  247. 
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CHAPTER   IV. 

In  the  autumn  of  1684,*  M.  dc  Laval  left  Canada  for  France. 
1  Ic  was  not  an  old  man,  beint^  but  sixty-one  ;  but  his  consti- 

tution was  broken.  He  had  shewn  great  personal  cnerg\', 
constantly  travcllinj^  in  summer  in  a  bark  canoe,  in  winter  on 

snow-shoes,  for  it  does  not  appear  that  at  that  date  dogs  were 

used  for  sleighs.  The.se  fatigues  for  twenty-five  years,  with 
the  personal  mortifications  which  he  had  often  to  suffer,  had 
told  their  tale.  The  last  meeting  of  the  Council  which  he 

had  attended  was  on  the  28th  of  August,  1684.  It  had  been  the 

scene  of  many  a  stormy  discussion.  One  cau.se  of  dissatis- 
faction entertained  by  the  French  Court  greatly  embarrassed 

him.  Difficulty  had  arisen  between  himself  and  the  Minister 

;it  Versailles  with  regard  to  the  permanent  position  of  the 

clergy  in  Canada.  To  the  last,  he  resisted  the  desire  of  the 

I'rench  Court,  that  the  secular  priesthood  .should  be  placed  in 
cures,  irremovable  by  the  Bishop.  The  political  power  which 
their  dependent  position  gave  him  was  well  understood. 
Adopted  by  his  five  first  succes.sors,  his  policy  has  been 

persevered  in  to  this  day.  At  the  time,  the  .system  as  laid 
down  by  M.  de  Laval,  was  regarded  with  disfavour  in  France, 

and  he  was  repeatedly  called  upon  to  give  greater  individual 
liberty  to  his  clergy. 

Previously  to  his  departure,  he  established  the  Chapter  of 

Quebec  Cathedral, :J:  its  revenue  being  ba.scd  on  the  Abbeys 

of  Maubec  and  d'Kstree,  in  France,  granted  by  the  King  for 
Its  support.  §  The  new  Chapter  consisted  of  twelve  Canons, 
and  four   Chaplains,    and   was    inaugurated    on  the    12th  of 

*  14th  November. 
t  He  w.is  born  30th  April,  1633. 

X  Ordinance  6th  November,  1684. 

§  Letter  of  the  King  to  Pope  Alexander  VIL,  28th  June,  1664.  "Nous 

avous  dcja  pourveu  a  I'entretien  dn  dit  evesque  et  ses  chanoines." 

■  M^ 
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November,  two  d;i)s  before  M.  de  Liival's  departure.  M. 
de  la  Barre  with  his  staff  attended  the  ceremony.  The 

religious  services  were  observed  with  all  possible  effect.  The 

bells  of  the  churches  ran<r  a  peal.  The  {^arri.son  fired  a  salute, 
and  the  whole  ptjpulation  of  Quebec  shewed  their  sympathy 
with  the  new  creation. 

Acc()rdinj4'  to  a  letter  frcnn  Rome  in  1679,*  M.  de  Laval 
at  this  date  first  made  an  attempt  to  establish  the  Chapter. 

Some  difficulty  arose,  owing  to  the  fact  that  no  ecclesiastic 

of  the  Quebec  diocese  had  taken  the  degrees  in  canon  law 

and  theology  necessary  in  such  ca.ses  ;  but  a  dispen.sation  was 

granted  b}'  Pope  Innocent  XL,  removing  the  objection. -f-  This 
was  a  matter  with  which  M.  Dudouyt  had  to  deal  when  in 

I'aris  in  l6<Si.  In  his  letters  he  urged  the  Bishop  to  continue 
his  efforts,  in  s])ite  of  the  obstacles  which  presented  them- 

.selves :  when  once  established,  the  Chapter  could  not  easil\- 
be  done  away  with.  By  the  correspondence  of  M.  Dudouyt 

three  years  later,  it  is  shewn  that  there  were  so  little  means 

available  to  carry  out  even  the  preliminaries  of  the  institution, 

that  money  had  to  be  borrowed  to  buy  the  albs  and  amices  of 
the  canon.s. 

The  day  following  the  ceremony,  the  Bishop  re-constituted 

the  Cure  of  Quebec,  re-uniting  it  to  the  Seminary,  placing  in 

that  body  the  right  of  presentation.  But  as  this  right  had 

been  suppressed  b\'  the  Pope,  the  proceeding  was  irregular. 
AL  de  Saint  Vallier  endeavoured  to  obtain  the  rectification  of 

the  arrangement  ;  but  it  was  some  years  before  it  was  legalh- 
adju.sted.  Until  1768,  the  Seminary  made  the  presentation, 

and  the  Bishop  recogni.sed  the  nomination. 

M.  de  Denoiiville  left  France  in  the  same  .ship  as  the 

Bishop-elect,  M.  de  Saint  Vallier.  A  vessel  with  reinforce- 
ments sailed  in  company,  with  five  hundred  soldiers  on  board: 

from  the  over-crowding  of  the  ship,  fever  broke  out,  antl 

one  hundred  and  fifty  died.  Of  the  two  priests  who  accom- 

panied the  force,  one  died  before  reaching  Quebec,  one  shortl}' 

*  23rd  March. 

t  23nl  Aufjusi,  1677. 
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afterwards.     Well  inij^ht  the  Bishop  write  that  he  was  affected 

1)V  tlicir  falc.     M.  de  Saint  V^allicr  describes  tlie  exemplary  con- 
duct of  the  Governor,  mucii  of  whose  time  was  passeil  in  reh- 

L;ious  studies.      He  was  an  imfailinj^f  atteiuhmt  at  ])rayers,  and 
was  even  present  at  the  faniihar  addresses  t^iven  in  the  form 

of  catechism.     M.  de  Saint  Vallier  places  in  a  strong'  lif^ht  the 

pious  deportment  and  .serious  turn  of  thou^dit  of  the  new  Gov- 
ernor.    M.  de  Denonville  was  at  this  date  a  Colonel  of  Dra- 

Ljoons,  and  had  seen  much  sen.  ice.     His  character  was  some- 

what speculative,  and  althous^h  personally  i)ossessin<r  coura<,rc, 

hf  shrank   from  responsibility  ;  and  this  feelint;-  led  him  to  be 

much   inlluenced   b)'  the  opinions  of  tliose   who  surrounded 

him.     During   his  sta}-  in  Canada   he  produced   many  State 

I'apers,  which  bear  more  testimony  to  his  industr}'  and  his 
desire  to  perform  his  dut)  ,  than  to  tiie  i^o.sscssion  of  a  stron<4, 

\i porous  mind.      He  was  not  shifted  with  that  self-reliant  deter- 

mination by  which  great  obstacles  are  oNcrcoine,  and   his  pol- 

icy was  not  that  of  a  man  of  action  who  made  himself  respected 

and  fearetl.     He  found  Canada  in  a  depressed  condition,  and 

his  irresolution  of  purpose  added  to  the  difficulties  which  he 

had  to  meet  ;  his  instructions  did  not  tend  to  fc-assure  him. 

I  [u  was  reminded  of  the  past  difficulties  between  Governors 

and  Intendants,  and,  althouLih  not  expressly  named,  the  cpiar- 

icl  of  M.  de  La\  al  with  his  predece-s.sors  was  sui^yested  by  the 

\cry  monition.     While  in  Canada  he  was  the  constant  friend 

of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier,  wlio  on  his  side  remained  the  steady 

ally  of  the  Governor.      I'he  polic\-  enforced  on  him,  was  by 
a  firm  peace  to  obtain  quiet  times  for  Canada  ;  and  in  order 

that  it  should  be  durable,  it  was  held  necessary  that  the  pride 

of  tlie    Irocjuois   should   be   humbled.      He  was  instructed  to 

.spare   no   effort    to    keep    a    j^ood    understandinjr    with    the 

l'm;4li.sh,  but  should  they  aid   the   Iroc[Uois  in  their  hostility, 

the)'  were  to  be  treated  as  enemies. 
No  .sooner  had  M.  de  Denonville  taken  his  seat  at  the 

Council,  than  he  drew  the  attention  of  its  members  to  the 

case  of  the  .Abbe  de  Saint  Vallier  appointed  Hishop  of 
( Hiebec.     The  Governor  stated    that   he   had   himself  invited 

r^v  ",^.1 
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his  attoiidaiicc,  but  M.  de  Saint  V^allicr,  not  possessing'  the 
Hrevet  of  his  apijointniciit,  had  declined  to  be  present.  On 
the  assurance  of  the  (iovcnior  that  he  hail  been  informeti  by 

the  Kin},'  of  the  nomination,  it  was  res(;l\ed  that  the  Bishop 
elect  should  be  invited  officially  to  attend.  At  the  next 

inectinjj;  a  deputation  was  appointed  to  wait  on  Matiaine 
de  Denonville  to  congratulate  her  on  her  safe  arrival  in 

Canada.  Madame  de  Champlain  had  been  present  only  for 
a  short  period  with  her  hus^.  md  during;  the  infancy  of  the 

Colony  :  Madame  d'.Ailleboust  had  also  participated  in  the 
honours  of  her  husband  ;  but  thirty-five  years  had  passed 

since  her  retirement.  The  presence  of  Madame  de  Denon- 
ville was,  therefore,  the  more  appreciated.  .She  was  the  last 

lady  of  French  birth  who  appeared  in  Canada  as  the  wife 

of  the  Governor  (iencral.* 

Throughout  de  Deiionvillc's  government,  extending  over 
four  years,  he  constantly  .sent  to  France  reports  on  the  state 
of  Canada  ;  the  first  being  made  a  tew  weeks  after  his  arrival. 

They  convey  the  impression  that  under  a  constitutional 
government,  in  tpiict  times,  when  there  was  little  to  call  forth 

his  statemanship  and  activity,  he  would  have  gained  a  respect- 
able reputation.  He  was  honest,  well  meaning,  in  noway 

given  to  his  ease,  but  the  crisis  in  which  he  was  placed  re- 

quired a  mind  more  vigorous,  and  a  determination  more  un- 
shrinking, than  he  possessed.  One  of  his  first  despatches  was 

to  point  out  the  unprotected  condition  of  Canada,  and  the 
danger  to  which  it  was  expo.sed  in  any  attack  from  the 

Iroquois.  He  recommended  that  the  French  should  be  mas- 
ters of  Lake  Ontario,  and  establish  a  post  on  Lake  Erie  so  as 

*  M.  de  Vautlreuil,  the  first  Governor  of  his  name,  married  Louise  Elizabeth 

Joyl)ert,  born  in  .St.  John,  Acadia,  grand(iaut;liter  of  Chartier  de  LotbiiiitTc. 
Her  father,  Pierre  de  Joy bert,  was  a  native  of  Soulanges  in  Champagne,  which 
name  he  afterwards  assiuneil. 

The  second  Vaiuheuil  was  not  married.  His  brother,  l^'ran^ois  I'ierre 
de  Rigaud,  married  Louise  Tiicrese  Kleury  de  la  Gorgendiere,  sister  of  Catharine 

de  la  Gorgendiere,  the  wife  of  the  third  and  last  Baron  de  Longueuil,  botli  grand- 

daughters of  JoUiet.  Madame  de  Vaudreuil  appears  to  have  presided  at  (jovern- 

ment  Hou.se  during  the  rule  of  her  brother-in-law. 
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to  command  the  trade  to  Michilimackinac.  He  felt  confident 
that  war  could  not  be  avoided  :  and  he  saw  that  the  Indians 

on  the  Western  Lakes,  hitherto  allies  of  the  French,  were  dis- 

contented, owing  to  the  course  taken  by  de  la  I^arre.  Accord- 
ingly he  endeavoured  to  conciliate  the  Illinois  and  the 

Ottawas.  He  strongly  recommended  the  purchase  of  New 

York,  and  remarked  "  The  most  certain  safeguard  against 
the  English  of  New  York  would  be  to  purchase  it  from  the 
King  of  England,  who,  in  the  present  state  of  his  affairs,  will 

doubtless  stand  in  need  of  the  King's  money.  The  King 
would  thus  be  master  of  the  Iroquois."  What  a  commentary 
on  the  relations  of  James  II.  to  the  French  King  that  a 
Colonial  Governor  should  place  this  estimate  on  his  patriotism 
and  honesty  ! 

M.  de  Denonville  describes  the  Canada  of  his  day.  The 

youth,  he  says,  are  so  badly  trained  that  the  moment  they 

are  able  to  shoulder  a  gun,  their  fathers  dare  not  speak  re- 
provingly to  them.  They  do  not  take  kindly  to  labour  ;  they 

prefer  the  life  of  the  coiireur  de  bois,  in  which  they  adopt  the 
habits  of  the  Indian  even  to  going  about  naked.  The  life 

had  great  attraction  for  them,  for  they  imitated  the  Indian  in 

all  things.  The  noblesse  of  Canada  were  in  a  condition  of 
extreme  poverty.  To  increase  their  number  was  to  multiply 

a  class  of  lounging  idlers.*  Against  this  statement  stands 

the  remark  of  the  Minister,  "  they  must   not   be  increased." 

*  "  La  Noblesse  ihi  Canada  est  ce  qu'il  y  a  de  plus  gueux,  et  en  en  augmentant 

le  nombre  c'est  multiplier  le  nombie  de  faineans.  Les  fils  de  Conseillers  ne  sont 
pas  plus  laborieux  tjue  les  auires  jeunes  gens. . .  .Les  Canadiens  sont  tics  grands, 

bien  fails,  rolnistes  et  vigoureux,  et  accoutuin<5s  k  vivre  de  peu.  Les  femnies  et 

les  filles  /  sont  assez  paresseuses  faute  de  menus  ouvrages."  [Archives  MS. 
Vol.  3.     1685-1687,  p.  62.] 

Resume  des  lettres  de  M.  de.  Denonville,  du  20  Aout,  3  Septembre,  12  No- 
vembre,  1685. 

I  do  not  conceive  that  the  expression  "  de  plus  gueux  "  can  be  interpreted  by 

the  modern  accepted  meaning,  "the  most  disreputable  vagabondism."  The 
words  used  in  the  text  may  claim  to  be  a  fair  translation.  At  this  date,  even  in 

Can.ida,  it  would  be  so  accepted  as  a  colloquial  phrase.  "Je  n'ai  jamais  ete 

si  gueux  que  je  le  suis  aujourd'hui,"  would  have  its  English  equivalent  in  "I 
was  never  so  perfectly  hard  up." 
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The  sons  of  the  Councillors  were  not  more  industrious  than 

the  other  youth.  The  men  were  tall,  well  made,  robust,  active, 
accustomed  to  live  on  little.  The  women  and  girls,  pretty, 

but  idle  from  v.-ant  of  occupation  in  the  minor  work  o'  the 
sex. 

He  found  English  dealers  in  Montreal  ready  to  buy  the 

beaver ;  but  "  they  returned  as  they  came."  The  English 
had  offered  to  buy  grain  at  Quebec.  The  proceeding  would 
be  useful  to  Canada,  as  it  would  raise  the  price  of  produce, 
but  he  had  had  no  orders.  Accordingly,  the  Jiabitant  had  to 
suffer  from  his  crops  being  held  at  a  less  value. 

There  were,  however,  establishments  in  Canada  which 

found  favour  with  M.  de  Denonville;  the  Jesuit  Missions  near 
Montreal  and  Quebec. 

It  is  not  difficult  to  form  an  opinion  as  to  the  source 
whence  these  views  were  obtained.  M.  de  Denonville  had 

been  but  two  months  in  the  country  when  he  gave  utterance 

to  them.  Personally,  he  rould  have  formed  no  such  general- 
izations from  his  own  observation,  nor  could  he  have  heard 

them  from  the  Council.  We  arc  told  by  a  writer,  at  a  critical 
hour  of  his  life,  that  it  was  from  the  Jesuits  only  that  the 

General  took  counsel.*  The  picture  may  be  traced  to  their 
inspiration,  and  they  ootained  great  influence  during  the 

period  of  de  Denonville's  unfortunate  government. 
At  the  time  the  Governor  was  writing  this  picture  of  Ca.ia- 

dian  "fe,  the  liishop,  M.  de  Saint  Vallier,  gave  his  view  of 
the  situation.  Were  he  certain,  he  said,  that  his  letters  would 

tiot  be  seen,  he  would  enter  upon  matters  more  at  length. 
He  describes  the  whole  society  as  demoralized  ;  none  worse 
than  the  married  men,  whose  relations  with  the  squaws  were 

notorious.  His  reme  'v  was  simjile  •  to  establish  Jesuit  Mis- 
sions throughout  Indian  life.  One  proposition  made  by  him  is 

marked  by  good  sense  and  is  an  accepted  principle  in  modern 

times ;  that  an  establishment  should  be  formed  for  the  instruc- 

*  "  M.  le  General,  qui  en  confera  avec  les  Jesuites  qui  paraissaient  les  seuls 

c?-^  son  consti'i."     Reecuil  'le  ce  qui  s'esl  passe 
Quel-^     Editi  ... 

depuis  1682,   p.  22. 
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tic  ■  of  school  teachers,  the  expense  of  bringing  them  from 

PVance  being  great.  The  poor,  h_^  described  as  destitute  to 
the  last  degree,  ovcruhelming  him  with  applications  for 
relief.  From  want  of  clothes,  the  children  could  not  leave 

their  houses  in  winter.  They  were  growing  up  in  perfect 

ignorance, 'frightful  irregularities'  resulting  from  this  condition. 
M.  de  Saint  Vallier  did  not  always  write  in  this  strain  of 

disapproval.  On  his  first  arrival  in  Canada,  he  visitgd  the 
country  east  and  west  of  Quebec  where  churches  had  been 
constructed,  and  in  1686  he  proceeded  to  River  du  Loup, 
the  limit  to  which  the  straggling  settlements  had  extended. 
Ascending  River  du  Loup  to  the  portage  at  the  height  of  land 
and  following  the  river  running  to  the  south,  he  reached  the 

River  Saint  John,  which  he  partially  descended,  and  turned 
to  the  east  to  Miramichi.  Thence  he  went  to  Richibucto  and 

Shcdiac  ;  from  the  last  named  place  he  passed  over  to  Prince 
Edward  Island,  then  known  as  He  Saint  Jean,  and  returned 

through  the  Gut  of  Canso  to  Chedabucto.  In  the  heat  of 

summer  he  crossed  the  country  to  the  Bay  of  Fundy  to 

Beaubassin,  Mines  and  Port  Roj'al.  Me  went  back  to 
Quebec  by  the  way  of  Perce.  In  November,  he  embarked 

for  I'Vance.  He  remained  a  year  there,  to  be  consecrated  the 
second  Bishop  of  Quebec  at  St.  Sulpice  in  Paris,  on  the  25th 

of  January,  1688,  and  returned  to  Canada  on  the  8th  of  August 
of  the  same  year. 

When  in  Paris  he  published  a  work  on  the  condition  of 

Canada  and  the  Church.*  The  population  of  Canada  and  of 
.\cadia  is  there  described  as  the  most  virtuous  and  pious  of 

humanity  ;  models  of  religious  zeal  and  austerity  ;  proud  of 

their  priests  as  their  priests,  who  by  their  lives  proved  them- 
selves worthy  to  minister  to  such  a  people,  were  proud  of  them. 

Prominent  in  this  roll  of  virtue,  M.  de  Denonville  and  his 

wif-:  are  named.  The  latter  had  a  worthy  associate  in  her 
good    works    in    MachuTie    de    Champigny,    the  wife    of  the 

*  Estat  present  de  I'Eglise  ct  <le   la   Colonic    Fiancaise  ilans    la    Nouvclle 

France  par  M.  I'lCvique  ile  (  ̂icbec.     Roliert  !'epie,  Paris,  1688. 
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Intendant,  who  was  equally  commended  for  his  zeal  and 

piety.  It  was  the  golden  period  of  concord  between  the 
Governor  and  the  higher  Ecclesiastics. 

Previous  to  the  arrival  in  Canada  of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier, 

M.  de  Laval  had  returned  to  Quebec,  relieved  from  the  bur- 
dens and  honours  of  the  ecclesiastal  duties  which  for  thirty 

years  he  had  performed,  from  his  own  standing-point,  with 

rare  ability,  courage  and  unbendi'.ig  determination.  He 
arrived  on  the  15th  of  August,  1688,  and  took  up  his  abode 
at  the  Seminary  which  he  had  founded,  where  he  remained 

nearly  until  his  death,  on  the  6th  of  May,  1708. 

Among  many  of  his  countrymen,  his  memcry  is,  to  this  day, 

honoured  as  that  of  a  saint.  Those  who  believe  that  the  hap- 
piness and  advancement  of  mankind  are  to  be  encouraged 

by  freedom  of  thought,  a  liberal  ;;ystem  of  education  and 
constitutional  government,  will  see  little  to  admire  in  narrow, 

arbitrary,  self-asserting  ecclesiasticism,  even  when  sustained 
by  a  strong  will,  marked  ability  and  by  private  personal 
worth  ;  such  as  these  must  remain  outside  that  class  who 
continue  to  reverence  his  name. 

M.  de  Denonville  proceeded  to  Cataraqui,  where,  in  accord- 

ance with  the  royal  instructions.  La  Forrest  had  been  estab- 

lished on  the  part  of  de  La  Salle.  In  de  La  Salle's  inteiest 
La  Forrest  had  asked  leave  to  proceed  to  the  Illinois,  and  as 

the  Governor  had  been  instructed  to  consider  favourably  any 

such  request,  permission  was  granted,  and  d'Orvilliers  was 
placed  in  charge  of  the  Fort.  When  in  Cataraqui  M.  dc 

Denonville  heard  that  the  Iroquois  wei'^  still  intractable  and 
were  unceasing  in  their  attacks  on  the  Illinois.  It  was  a 

fact  to  suggest  that  amity  with  them  could  in  no  way  be 
counted  upon.  As  time  advanced  this  opinion  was  confirmed, 
and  he  formed  the  conviction,  that  in  view  of  the  safety  of 
the  Canadian  settlers,  it  was  necessary  to  destroy  the  Senecas, 
or  to  strike  such  a  blow  at  their  power  that  they  could  no 

longer  be  mischievous.  IMany  of  the  settlers  were  deaf  to 
these  considerations,  and  continued  to  establish  themselves 

on  holdings  at  wide  intervals  apart  ;  and  the  danger  to  which 
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as  individuals  they  were  exposed,  was  increased  accordingly. 
There  were  other  considerations  of  almost  equal  importance. 

The  fur  trade  was  threatened  by  their  attitude.  The  English 
and  Dutch  from  Albany  were  pushing  their  way  to  the  west, 

and  with  the  aid  of  the  Iroquois  were  endeavouring  to  estab- 
lish themselves  at  Michilimackinac. 

As  early  as  May,  1685,  de  Denonville  proposed  the  esta*^- 
lishment  of  a  stone  fort  at  Niagara,  in  which  he  could  place 

a  garrison  of  five  hundred  men.  By  such  means  the  upper 

Lakes  would  be  closed  to  the  English,  and  at  the  same  time 
the  French  would  exercise  control  over  the  trade  of  the  Iro- 

quois at  Albany.  The  two  forts  of  Cataraqui  and  Niagara 
would  dominate  Lake  Ontario,  and  the  Iroquois  would  be 

forced  into  relationship  with  Canada. 
To  meet  the  expense,  de  Denonville  proposed  to  confer 

exclusive  privileges  of  trade  on  those  occupying  the  post.  So 
profitable  did  the  scheme  appear  to  a  knot  of  Quebec  traders, 

duit  they  agreed,  if  a  lease  of  nine  years  were  granted  them, 

to  furnish  the  merchandise  required  for  the  trade,  and  to  pay 
an  annual  rent  of  30,000  livres. 

When  M.  de  Denonville  arrived  in  Canada  he  courteously 
announced  the  fact  to  Dongan.  It  was  the  commencement 

of  a  correspondence  whi<^H  continued  until  Dongan's  recall. 
The  English  Governor  replied  with  civility.  lie  spoke  of  the 
bread  of  the  King  of  France  which  he  had  eaten,  and  his  desire 

to  prevent  umbrage  to  his  rc-presentative.  He  told  de  Denon- 

ville of  Mon.  .  :)Uth's  execution,  and  expressed  his  desire  for 
friendly  relations.*  The  same  tone  was  observed  by  de 

Deiionville.-f-  As  he  knew  Dongan  was  a  Roman  Catholic, 
he  asked  protection  for  the  Jesuit  missionaries  from  Quebec, 

who  were  at  that  date  in  the  territory  of  the  S^^necas,  claimed, 
it  must  be  remembered,  by  Dongan  as  being  English  territory. 

Dongan  was  willing  enough  to  sustain  the  Fathers  in  their  reli- 
gious character,  but  politically  he  had  no  desire  for  their  pre- 

sence.    What    peculiarly    apjjealed    to   the    susceptibility  of 

•  I3rh  October,  1688. 
t  6th  June,  J 086. 
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Dongan  was  the  intelligence  brought  by  the  coiireurs  de  bois 

of  de  D^nonvillc's  intention  to  build  a  Fort  at  Niagara. 
Dongan  immediately  protested  against  its  establishment  :  he 

could  not  believe  that  the  French  Governor  "would  follow  the 
steps  of  Mons.  Labarr,  and  be  ill  advised  by  some  interested 

persons  in  your  government  to  make  disturbance  between  our 

masters'  subjects  in  those  parts  of  the  world  for  a  little  pel- 
trie."  De  Denonville  denied  that  such  was  his  intention,  and 

traced  the  story  to  the  "  rogues,  vagabonds  and  thieves  who 

desert  us  and  seek  refuge  with  you."  Dongan  thanked  de 
Denonville  for  his  letter,  comparing  him  favourably  with  de  la 

Barre,  "  who  was  so  furious  and  hasty  and  very  much  addicted 
to  great  words,  as  if  I  had  bin  to  have  bin  frighthened  by 

them."  He  promised  to  protect  the  Jesuit  fathers  and  to  give 

up  "  runawayes."  All  this  civility,  nevertheless,  but  superfi- 
cially covered  feelings  of  suspicion  and  dissatisfaction  arising 

from  the  opposite  interests  each  represented.  De  Denonville 
wrote  that  the  French  traders  still  found  a  refuge  in  Albany. 

He  taunted  Dongan  with  furnishing  rum  to  the  Indians,  and 

Dongan  retorted  that  it  did  as  little  hurt  as  dc  Denonville's 
brandy,  and,  in  the  opinion  of  Christians,  was  much  more 
wholesome. 

In  the  autumn  of  1685  news  reached  Quebec  that  two 
Frenchmen  had  made  their  way  from  the  southern  waters 

of  Hudson's  Bay,  having  ascended  the  River  Abbitibbi  to 
the  height  of  land,  and  thence  had  followed  the  River 
Ottawa  to  the  Saint  Lawrence.  This  intelligence  suggested 

the  feasibility  of  an  expedition  by  this  route,  to  obtain  pos- 
session of  the  northern  sea,  and  to  drive  out  the  English 

garrisons.  In  a  succeeding  chapter  an  account  is  given  of 
the  event,  which  was  marked  by  full  success.  Mention  is 
made  of  the  expedition  in  this  place  simply  that  it  may  be 

chronologically  recorded.  During  the  winter  the  prepara- 
tions were  completed,  and  at  the  opening  of  the  navigation 

in  1686,  the  project  was  carried  out. 
The  event  attracted  the  attention  of  Quebec  and  Montreal : 

but  the  country  was  disquieted.     On  all  sides  it  was  felt  that 
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the  peace  made  by  M.  de  la  Barrc  was  insecure,  and  an 
Indian  war  inevitable.  During  the  summer  the  Iroquois 

attacked  the  Ottawas  of  Michilimackinac  when  hunting 

on  the  eastern  shores  of  Lake  Huron.  The  missionary 
Pere  de  Lambcrvillc  attributed  this  hostility  to  the  influence 

of  Dongan.  The  latter,  the  Jesuit  reported,  had  called  a 

meeting  of  the  Iroquois  at  Albany,  and  had  informed  the 

Scnecas  of  de  Denonville's  intention  to  attack  them.  More- 
over, Dongan  had  encouraged  the  Iroquois  to  attack  the 

French  and  their  allies  wherever  they  found  them,  as  the 

French  were  not  in  expectation  of  being  assailed. 

Whatever  disposition  de  Dcnonville  had  to  commence 

hostilities,  he  was  restrained  by  the  small  force  at  his  disposal. 

He  wrote  to  de  Seignelay  that  there  were  but  nine  hundred 

troops  in  Canada.*  He  had  to  wait  for  reinforcements.  A 
few  weeks  later  he  again  wrote,  that  before  June  of  the  fol- 

lowing year  he  hoped  to  be  on  Lake  Ontario  with  two  thou- 
sand Frenchmen  and  six  hundred  Indians.  His  one  thought 

was  to  prepare  for  the  war,  and  he  did  so  with  the  greatest 
secrecy. 

Pere  de  Lamberville  was  sent  again  on  his  mission  to  the 

Scnecas.  On  his  arrival  he  found  them  agitated  in  anti- 
ripation  of  being  attacked  by  the  FVench  ;  and  they  were 
preparing  for  hostilities  when  de  Lamberville  appeared.  His 

first  effort  was  to  remove  these  impressions.  He  was  emi- 
nently qualified  to  do  so  by  his  own  pleasing  manners,  and 

from  the  influence  which  he  had  gained  during  his  previous 
residence  among  them.  He  was  charged  with  presents  to  the 
Chiefs,  and  as  the  FVench  had  been  careful  to  give  no  cause 

of  personal  offence,  he  was  the  more  successful  in  allaying 
suspicion.  During  the  summer  months  an  endeavour  was 

made  by  the  French  to  create  a  more  general  feeling  of  amity  : 

one  of  the  consequences  was  that  several  Hurons  and  Ottawas 
descended  tc  Cataraqui. 

Early  in  the  autumn  de  Lamberville  was  again  in  Quebec, 
with  the  report  that  the  Onondagas  had  surrendered  their 

•  6tli  June,  1686. 
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prisoners  ;  but  the  Senecas  had  declined  to  do  so,  assigning 

as  a  reason  that  the  captives  did  not  wish  to  return  to  Canada. 
M.  de  Denonville  did  not  act  towards  de  Lamberville  with 

frankness  and  candour.  Although  his  feeling  was  strong  that 

no  satisfactory  result  could  be  gained  by  treaty,  he  simply 

expressed  disappointment  at  Ihe  failure  of  the  negotiation, 
and  the  Missionary  left,  uninformed  of  the  determination  of 

the  Governor  to  prepare  for  hostilities.  De  Denonville  wrote 

to  de  Seignelay  *  an  acccount  of  the  difficulties  in  which  he 
was  placed.  He  represented  Dongan  as  encouraging  French 
deserters,  and  that  he  was  obliged  to  treat  them  gently  until 

he  had  the  power  to  chastise  them. 
In  1686  de  Meulles,  the  Intendant,  was  recalled  and  his 

place  taken  by  M.  de  Champigny,  now  principally  remem- 
bered by  his  treacherous  conduct  to  the  Indians  at  Cataraqui 

the  following  year.  There  was  an  independence  of  character 
in  de  Meulles,  which  made  him  unacceptable  to  the  Governor 

and  his  knot  of  advisers.  But  he  was  popular  in  the  Colony  : 

he  is  mentioned  as  admirably  performing  his  duty,  as  extend- 
ing justice  to  all  who  applied  to  him,  and  firm  in  repressing 

crime.-j-  Equally  he  received  the  praise  of  La  Hontan  ;  praise 
which  to  many  may  suggest  his  want  of  favour  with  de  De- 

nonville. The  ground  of  his  removal  was  that  he  was  inte- 
rested to  some  extent  in  trade.  There  is  no  mention  of  his 

acting  unjustly  to  the  exclusion  of  others  ;  but  it  formed  the 
ground  on  which  de  Denonville  asked  for  his  removal.  The 

Governor  himself  throughout  his  career  in  Canada  remained 

free  from  suspicion  of  such  associations.  Of  his  high  personal 
character  there  can  be  no  question. 

It  was  de  Meulles  who  drew  the  attention  of  the  French 

Court,  to  the  wisdom  of  opening  up  some  career  in  the  French 

service  to  the  cadets  of  good  family  in  Canada.  On  his 

recommendation,  the  King  ordered  that  anr.jally  two  com- 
missions should  be  given  to  the  youth  of  the  Colony,  who 

proved   themselves   fitted  for  the  duty.     It  was  also  by  his 

*  8th  November,  16S6. 

+  Histoire  de  I'Hotel  Dieu. 



1 686] ALBANY   ENTERPRISE   IN   THE  WEST. 

73 

representation  that  it  would  be  to  the  public  interest,  that 
members  of  the  noblesse  should  be  encouraged  to  enter  into 
trade,  even  to  sell  by  retail  without  detracting  from  their  rank. 

The  determination  of  de  Denonville  to  attack  the  Senecas 

led  to  an  event  which,  to  a  great  extent,  aided  "  assuring 
French  power  in  the  West.  During  the  winter  ol  1686,  mes- 

sengers had  been  sent  to  assemble  as  many  as  possible  of  the 
coureurs  de  bois  scattered  over  the  territory,  between  Lake 

Michigan  and  the  Mississippi,  and  on  the  opening  of  the 
navigation  to  muster  them  at  Michilimackinac.  One  of  those 

so  engaged  was  Nicolas  Perrot.  Efforts  were  likewise  made 

to  obtain  the  co-operation  of  the  Indian  tribes  with  which  the 
Iroquois  were  at  enmity.  Many  presents  were  given.  Every 
inducement  was  offered  to  the  Chiefs  to  attend,  and  it  was 

hoped  that  a  large  force  would  be  gathered  of  Ottawas, 
Miamis,  and  Illinois. 

The  claim  which  Dongan  had  put  forth  to  the  southern 

shore  of  the  Lakes,  and  to  the  right  to  trade  on  Western 

waters,  was  not  mere  idle  pretension.  The  support  given  by 

him  to  these  views,  had  induced  a  party  in  the  summer  of  the 
year  to  leave  Albany,  to  proceed  on  an  expedition  to  the 

W'est,  with  a  cargo  of  merchandise.  There  is  no  record  of 
the  route  they  followed.  There  is,  indeed,  but  one  means  of 

gaining  the  Lakes  by  water  from  Albany  ;  to  ascend  the 
Mohawk,  to  what  is  knov/n  as  Rome,  and  by  a  portage  of  six 
miles  to  gain  the  creek  which  discharges  into  Lake  Oneida  ; 
thence  by  the  River  Oneida  to  the  River  Onondaga,  and  in 

about  thirty-seven  miles  descend  to  Oswego.  The  expedition 
of  1686,  which  consisted  of  seven  English  traders,  had  proved 

highly  successful.  But  it  had  not  been  without  mishap. 
On  their  return  they  had  been  attacked  and  seized  by  a 

band  of  Miimis,  vvho,  when  carrying  off  their  prisoners, 

had  been,  in  their  turn,  assailed  by  a  strong  force  of  Iroquois. 
The  English  thus  released  made  their  way  homewards.  The 

Iroquois  proceeded  to  the  Miamis  village,  destroyed  it,  and 
carried  away  two  hundred  captives,  mostly  women.  In  their 

march  they  were  met  by  the  Miamis  in  force,  who  recovered 
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many  of  the  captives  and  killed,  according  to  de  Belmont, 

one  hundred  and  twenty-seven  Iroquois.  There  is  evidently 
some  mistake  in  this  number. 

In  mentioning  these  expeditions  from  Albany,  some  modern 
writers  describe  them  as  having  been  led  by  French  deserters. 

For  many  years  the  coureurs  de  bois  had  traded  with  Albany. 
During  this  period  we  constantly  hear  of  English  and  Dutch 
traders  ;  and  to  take  this  view  is  to  suppose  that  they  remain  ̂ d 

stationary  at  Schenectady.  The  fact  really  is  that  at  this  date 
the  trapper,  as  he  was  afterwards  called,  had  greatly  widened 
his  field  of  operations.  Step  by  step,  he  had  extended  his 

journeys  to  the  Upper  Lakes.  In  the  correspondence  with 
de  Denonville,  and  in  the  negotiations  with  the  Pere  Valiant, 

the  pretension  is  not  made,  that  the  Albany  traders  had  been 

conducted  by  the  French  to  the  Lakes,  where  they  were  taken 

prisoners. 
The  Albany  traders  to  whom  allusion  has  been  made, 

arrived  at  the  Hudson  to  shew  a  profitable  return  for  their 

enterprise.  They  had  a  good  stock  of  furs.  Those  with 
whom  they  had  traded,  were  pleased  with  their  new  friends, 

and  every  encouragement  had  been  given  to  continue  the 
traffic.  In  the  autumn  of  that  year  plans  were  laid  for  its 

systematic  development.  Major  Patrick  McGregor  was  com- 

missioned as  Captain  and  Chief*  His  instructions  were  to 
overtake,  and  travel  in  company  with  the  party  which  had 

preceded  him.  Unfortunately  for  the  enterprise  the  canoes 
were  separated.  The  two  detachments  together  would  have 
been  a  formidable  force,  and  the  value  of  the  property  entrusted 

to  them  would  have  been  a  spur  to  their  courage.  As  it  hap- 
pened, from  their  having  been  separated,  they  were  powerless 

when  attacked. 

In  the  meantime  many  of  the  Indians  to  the  north  of  the 
Illinois  had  been  gathered  together  at  Michilimackinac,  to 

co-operate  with  de  Denonville  in  his  projected  attack  on  the 
Senecas.     Those  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  Fort,  had  been 

*  He  is  spoken  of  as  MacGregory,  His  commission,  dated  4th  December, 
1686,  shews  this  name  to  be  incorrect.     N.  Y.  Documents,  IX.,  p.  318. 
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won  through  the  good  services  of  the  missionary  Engclran. 
The  more  distant  tribes  bordering  on  the  Mississippi  had 
answered  to  the  appeal,  and  attended  the  summons.  It  was 
an  unwieldy  mass  of  diverse  and  discordant  elements,  difficult 

to  manage  ;  but  if  it  was  possible  to  control  them  by 

discipline,  no  men  more  capable  of  effecting  this  result  than 
de  la  Durantaye  and  du  Luth  could  have  been  found. 

While  making  preparations  for  their  departure  from  this 
spot,  news  came  that  some  strange  canoes  were  approaching. 
They  were  those  of  the  first  party,  under  a  trader  named 

Roseboom,  consisting  of  twenty-nine  English  and  Dutch  and 

five  Indians.  De  la  Durantaye's  force  included  one  hundred 
and  fifty  Canadian  courcurs  de  hois,  with  the  numerous  canoes 

of  his  Indian  allies.*  They  proceeded  at  once  to  the  attack. 
There  could  be  no  resistance  under  such  circumstances.  The 

English  party,  in  heavily-laden  canoes,  were  outnumbered  five 
to  one,  independently  of  the  Indians.  They  could  neither 

fight  nor  escape.  They  were  carried  prisoners  to  Michili- 
mackinac,  while  the  merchandise  and  rum  proved  a  rich  prize 
to  the  captors. 

All  of  this  mass  of  savages  who  could  be  organized  and 
placed  under  control,  now  left  Michilimackinac,  carrying  the 
prisoners  with  them.  They  descended  Lake  Huron,  where 

they  found  Tonty.  Tonty,  placing  twenty  French  in  the  Fort, 
as  a  garrison,  left  the  River  Illinois  on  the  17th  of  April. 

He  started  with  sixteen  P'rench  and  one  hundred  and  sixty Indians.  He  took  two  hundred  hours  to  reach  the  mouth  of 

the  Detroit  River,  most  of  the  journey  having  been  made 

over  land.  At  the  Detroit  River,  Tonty  constructed  canoes 

and  proceeded  to  the  Fort,  not  far  distant  from  the  spot  where 
the  present  City  of  Detroit  stands.  On  the  arrival  of  de 

la  Durantaye,    Tonty  formed   his  men  into-  two  lines,   and 

*  My  estimate  of  the  numbers  is  based  en  the  fact  that  one  hundred  and 
eighty  coureurs  de  bois  were  present  at  Niagara.  Sixteen  of  this  number  with 

Tonty  joined  the  force  at  Detroit.  There  was  also  the  small  party  which  had 

been  left  at  that  place. 
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received  the  Michilimackinac  contingent  with  their  prisoners 

with  military  honours.* 
he  united  French  expedition  was  proceeding  down  Lake 

Erie  to  Niagara,  where  further  orders  were  to  be  obtained, 

when  McGregor  and  his  party  were  met.  They  consisted  of 
thirty  Albany  traders.f  They  were  bringing  with  them 
several  Ottawa  and  Huron  captives,  who  had  been  taken  by 
the  Iroquois  to  be  restored  to  the  tribes  at  Michilimackinac, 

as  a  mark  of  the  amity  felt  towards  them  by  the  Governor  of 
New  York.  This  was  the  first  attempt  of  the  English  to  make 
a  settlement  on  the  Western  Lakes  and  so  demands  attention. 

The  means  taken  were  altogether  too  insignificant  to  attain 

success  ;  even,  what  little  strength  was  put  forth,  was  not 
concentrated.  It  may  be  said,  however,  that  it  could  never 
have  been  contemplated,  that  there  would  have  been  a 
national  muster  of  the  coureurs  de  bois  at  Michilimackinac 

under  leaders  like  de  la  Durantaye  and  du  Luth,  both  devoted 

to  French  rule.  The  force  from  Albany  was  considered  to  be 

equal  to  any  ordinary  emergency.  The  coureurs  de  bois 
individually  had  no  objection  to  the  trade  with  Albany.  Their 

co-operation,  under  such  circumstances,  to  some  extent 
might  even  be  looked  for.  The  attempt,  however,  was  made 

at  a  period  when  failure  was  certain,  for  the  numbers  gathered 
at  Michilimackinac  made  success  impossible. 

The  expedition  descending  to  Niagara  in  its  full  strength 

of  one  hundred  and  eighty  French  and  four  hundred  Indians, 

at  once  overpowered  the  thirty  men  of  McGregor's  party ;  no 
resistance  indeed  could  be  attempted.  Their  seizure,  while  of 
immense   advantage   to  the  French,  gave  a  serious  blow  to 

•  The  narrative  of  Tonty  says  [p.  25]  that  de  la  Durantaye  arrived  with  three 
hundred  prisoners,  "  Je  fis  border  la  haye  aux  Franijais  et  aux  Sauvages,  et  apres 
que  le  Sieur  de  la  Durantaye  nous  eut  saluez  nous  lui  rendismes  le  salut.  lis 

avoient  avec  eux  trois  cents  Anglois  qu'ils  avoient  pris  dans  le  lac  Huron." 
According  to  M.  Harrise,  Tonty  wrote  execrable  French  in  bad  handwriting. 
Mr.  Harrise  gives  a  letter  of  the  14th  of  August,  1686,  as  an  example.  The 
mistake  must  have  been  that  of  the  amanuensis  or  copyist.  No  doubt  the 
numerals  30  originally  used,  have  become  300. 

t  Tonty. 
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Knfjlish  prestige.  Tonty  remarks  that  "without  those  two 
strokes  of  good  luck,  we  would  have  been  much  embarrassed. 
We  were  at  war  with  the  Iroquois,  and  by  the  eau  de  vie  and 
merchandise  brought  by  these  parties,  our  allies  would  have 
been  gained,  and  we  should  have  liad  all  the  savages  and 

English  against  us." This  event  gave  the  French  the  preponderance  on  the  Upper 
Lakes,  and  was  the  main  cause  that  no  attempt  from  Albany 

was  repeated  in  that  direction.  From  that  date  to  the  Con- 
quest, the  northern  waters  remained  in  the  possession  of  the 

French.  The  struggle  was  to  take  place  in  the  Valley  of  the 
Ohio,  on  the  .southern  shore  of  Lake  Ontario  and  on  the 

western  shores  of  Lake  Champlain. 
One  misfortune  of  1686  must  not  be  omitted  from  the 

record.  In  October,  the  Ursuline  Convent  was  a  second 

time  destroyed  by  fire  ;  the  first  disaster  of  this  character 
happened  in  1650.  The  nuns  were  at  mass,  which  was  being 

performed  by  M.  I'Abb^  d'Urfe  ;  they  had  difficulty  in  sav- 
ing themselves,  .so  rapidly  the  flames  gained  the  ma.stery.  In 

two  hours  everything  was  destroyed,  including  the  Church 
and  Chapel  built  by  Mme.  de  la  Pcltrie,  and  a  small  portion 

of  the  premises  only  was  saved.  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  obtained 

for  the  rcligieuscs  a  temporary  home  with  the  Hospital  Nuns. 
Great  sympathy  was  shewn  with  these  now  homeless  ladies. 

Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier,  always  open-handed,  with  M.  de 
Denonville  headed  the  appeal  for  public  aid  with  liberal 
subscriptions.  On  all  sides  it  was  responded  to,  and  in  a  few 
months  the  building  of  the  new  convent  was  recommenced. 
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CHAPTER  V. 

The  first  step  of  de  Denonville  was  to  place  Fort  Fronte- 

nac  in  security,  and  ;  ■-^collecting  that  the  failure  of  de  la  Barre 
had  been  attributed  to  want  of  provisions,  his  determination 

was  to  obtain  a  sufficient  supply,  and  to  have  at  his  disposal 
the  means  of  moving  it  with  facility  to  the  objective  point. 
There  were  three  barques  lying  at  Cataraqui  in  bad  condition. 

They  were  repaired  in  a  way  to  attract  as  little  attention  as 

possible,  and  the  summer  of  1686  passed  without  any  sign 

that  provisions  were  being  gathered,  so  as  not  to  awaken  the 

caution  of  the  Senecas.  The  whole  arrangements  were  com- 
pleted during  the  winter  ;  the  troops  were  then  organized. 

Throughout  the  parishes  the  men  fit  for  service  were  enrolled, 

and  the  necessary  preparation  made.  As  spring  came  and 
the  navigation  opened,  the  men  reached  Montreal,  and  were 

encamped  on  Saint  Helen's  Island,  opposite  to  the  city. 
Flour  was  sent  to  Cataraqui,  and  the  farmers  were  urged  to 

sow  their  grain  as  early  as  possible.  De  Champigny,  the 
Intendant,  after  having  passed  some  days  with  the  troops, 

proceeded  to  Cataraqui.  As  he  ascended  the  river  he  invited 
such  Iroquois  as  he  met  to  attend  a  feast  at  that  place,  and 
on  his  arrival  he  extended  his  invitation  to  those  who  were  in 

the  neighbourhood  of  the  Fort. 
He  at  once  set  carpenters  at  work  and  prepared  a  series  of 

"  stocks,"  such  as  in  former  times  were  used  for  the  punish- 
ment of  vagabonds  and  drunkards.  As  the  Indians  arrived 

they  were  seized,  and  each  one  placed  in  this  confinement,  to 

the  number  of  ninety-five.  There  was  a  picket  in  the  rear, 
to  which  each  prisoner  was  bound  by  a  strong  cord,  his  arms 

being  also  tied  closely.  Their  wives  and  daughters  were 

trusted  to  bring  them  food.  Here  they  remained  and  sang  their 
songs  of  death.     It  was  afterwards  explained,  that  the  object 
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of  this  outrage  was  to  prevent  these  Indians  joining  the 
Senecas  and  taking  part  in  the  campaign  ;  more  especially  to 
check  information  being  carried  across  the  lake.  At  the  end 

of  the  campaign,  these  men,  with  some  others,  were  sent  to 

the  galleys  in  France.  Many  of  the  women  died  from  a  con- 
tagious disease  which  broke  out  among  them  ;  no  few  from 

grief  and  hardship.  After  the  performance  of  this  exploit  M. 
de  Champigny  hurried  towards  Montreal. 

In  the  meantime  M.  de  Denonville  was  engaged  in  the 

organization  of  his  sm.all  army.  The  Jesuit  Father  Engel- 
ran  was  at  his  side,  acting  as  his  principal  adviser.  It  was  the 
Order  to  which  M.  de  Denonville  gave  his  full  confidence,  and 

their  counsel  was  sought  on  all  occasions. 
M.  dc  Vaudreuil  at  this  time  arrived  from  France  in  the 

King's  ship  L Arc  en  Ciel,  in  the  unusual  time  of  thirty-three 
days.  He  brought  the  news  of  the  arrival  of  the  reinforce- 

ment of  eight  hundred  men.  Their  presence  led  to  th-  num- 
ber of  Canadians  who  had  been  called  out  being  reduced, 

many  being  sent  home.  Some  money  and  supplies  likewise 
arrived,  and  generally  speaking,  an  encouragement  unusual  in 

I'rance  had  been  given  to  the  expedition. 
M.  de  Vaudreuil  assumed  command  of  the  troops,  made  up 

to  the  full  complement  of  thirty-five  companies.  Three  of 
the  captaincies  had  been  left  to  be  filled  in  Canada  :  St.  Ours, 

Duguay,  and  de  la  Durantaye  were  appointed  to  the  vacan- 
cies. De  Belmont  describes  the  new  troops  as  mostly 

recruits. 

The  force  left  Montreal  on  the  1 3th  of  June.  M.  de  Denon- 
ville undertook  the  direction  of  the  expedition  with  M. 

de  Vaudreuil  as  Commander-in-Chief  of  the  King's  forces, 
fulfilling  the  duties  of  what  in  modern  times  would  be  called 

Chief  of  the  Staff.  The  Royal  troops  were  under  the  com- 

mand of  de  Callieres  ;  the  Canadian  militia  under  Duguay, 

with  Berthier,  de  la  Valterye,  Granville,  and  le  Moyne 

de  Longueuil  as  battalion  officers.  The  whole  force  num- 
bered sixteen  hundred  men  with  two  hundred  and  sixty 

Indians  from  th°  Christian  Missions  of  the  Sault  now  known 

^.%  <ij 
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as  Caughnawaga,  those  of  the  Mountain  at  Montreal,  and  of 

Lorette.     Some  Abenaquis  and  Algonquins  were  present. 

As  the  troops  were  leaving,  four  well-known  Iroquois  Chiefs 

arrived  at  Montreal.  They  were  arrested.  One  of  the  num- 
ber, Horchouasse,  was  afterwards  sent  a  prisoner  to  France. 

The  troops  were  in  high  spirits.  Their  numbers,  the  popu- 
larity of  the  war,  the  abundance  of  provisions,  gave  them 

confidence  and  promised  success.  To  add  to  the  general 
feeling  of  satisfaction  a  canoe  brought  the  news  that  de  la 

Durantaye,  Tonty  and  du  Luth,  were  on  Lake  Erie,  proceed- 
ing to  Niagara,  with  their  little  army  of  coureurs  de  bois,  and 

their  Indian  allies  of  the  west,  and  that  they  were  carrying 
with  them  the  sixty  English  and  Dutch  prisoners  taken  in  the 
two  detachments  on  Lakes  Huron  and  Erie. 

The  vessels  in  the  ascent  consisted  of  three  hundred  canoes 

and  flat-bottomed  boats,  organized  into  battalions.  They 
moved  forward  in  order  and  with  military  regularity.  In 
ascending  the  dangerous  rapids  of  the  Cedars  two  bateaux 
were  lost.  Six  days  were  taken  to  reach  Lake  Saint  Francis ; 

at  this  spot  four  Iroquois  were  brought  in  prisoners,  one  of 

whom  had  the  unfortunate  reputation  of  having  ill-treated 
Father  Corbeil.  They  were  sent  to  join  the  other  prisoners. 
Two  men  only  are  recorded  as  having  been  drowned  in  the 
ascent. 

By  the  first  of  July  the  troops  arrived  at  Cataraqui.  The 
canoes  were  unloaded,  and  the  provisions  placed  in  the 

barques,  one  of  which  was  destined  for  Niagara. 
During  the  ascent,  when  near  Ogdensburgh,  the  expedition 

was  joined  by  de  Champigny.  He  reported  his  disgraceful 

proceedings  at  Cataraqui,  and  proceeded  onwards  to  Mont- 
real. Unfortunately,  in  the  history  of  every  country,  there 

is  much  to  condemn  ;  but  a  more  scandalous  act  of  treachery 
on  the  part  of  a  Christian  nation  is  scarcely  to  be  found. 

Every  contemporary  writer  has  raised  his  voice  against  it. 

"  It  is  pitiable  that  Indians  under  our  protection  were  thus 
seized,  pillaged  and  chained,  seduced  under  the  bait  of  a 

feast ! "  writes  de  Belmont.     "  It  was  the  more  blamed,"  he 

It 
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adds,  "  as  it  was  not  sustained,  and,  if  in  the  beginning  we 

were  too  violent,  we  were  too  weak  and  humble  at  its  close." 
The  canoes  which  had  brought  the  provisions  to  Fort 

Frontenac  carried  the  Indian  captives  to  Quebec.  It  remained, 

however,  for  de  Denonville  to  take  further  proceedings  in  the 
same  direction.  A  detachment  was  organized  under  Pere, 

which  proceeded  to  Quinte,  twenty-five  leagues  above  the 
Fort,  to  seize  what  Indians  he  could  find  in  the  villages.  At 
Fort  Frontenac  de  Denonville  had  definite  intelligence  of  the 

western  contingent.  La  Forest  arrived  to  inform  him  of  its 
safe  arrival  at  Niagara. 

De  Denonville  had  carefully  concealed  his  design  of  attack- 
ing the  Senecas,  and  what  gave  a  colour  to  the  belief  that  he 

had  no  such  intention,  was  that  the  missionaries,  uninformed 

of  his  purpose,  remained  at  their  post.  It  was  a  successful 

piece  of  stratagem,  for  it  was  in  consequence  of  their  assur- 
ance that  peace  would  be  continued,  that  war  was  not  declared 

by  the  Iroquois.  De  Denonville  expresses  himself  clearly 

on  this  point :  he  acknowledges  "  the  care  and  ability  of 
the  Reverend  Father  de  Lamberville,  who  by  his  shrewd- 

ness averted  the  storm,  that  was  the  more  dangerous,  as  we 

were  unprepared  to  protect  ourselves  against  their  incursions." 
So  long  as  the  missionaries  were  present,  the  Senecas  felt 

.safe  from  attack,  and  the  Fathers,  living  their  usual  life,  inno- 
cently aided  in  the  deceit.  De  Denonville  must  have  known 

thai;  he  was  staking  the  lives  of  these  two  men  on  the  issue. 

He,  however,  in  no  way  hesitated  in  carrying  out  the  policy 

he  had  formed,  and,  according  to  Char»'-;v'oi.x,  they  narrowly 
escaped  paying  the  penalty  of  their  apparent  treachery. 
Charlevoix  relates  that  even  de  Lamberville  ov/ed  his  life  to 

the  magnanimity  of  some  of  the  chiefs.  They  told  the  Father 

that  they  were  sure,  from  his  past  life  and  loyalty  to  them,  that 

he  was  in  no  way  a  party  to  the  deceit  which  had  been  prac- 
tised. They  instructed  him  at  once  to  leave,  and  furnished 

him  the  means  of  escape  ;  and  by  the  aid  of  guides  he  was 
enabled  to  join  the  advancing  force  of  de  Denonville. 

This  story  is  not  sustained  by  the  facts.     The  force  did  not 
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leave  Montreal  until  the  13th  of  June.  On  the  29th  it  reached 

La  Galette.*  De  Dcnonville  states  that  de  Lamberville  joined 

him  on  that  day,  "  whom  I  had  sent  for  under  the  pretence 
of  bringing  the  most  influential  of  the  Iroquois,  to  consult  as 

to  the  means  of  settling  differences." 
The  2nd  of  July  was  given  to  rest  and  preparation  for  the 

advance.  Moreover,  dc  Denonville  had  to  wait  for  the  party 
sent  out  under  Pere,  which  only  returned  early  in  the  morning 

of  the  3rd,  having  seized  eighty  persons,  including  women 

and  children.  "  The  prisoners,"  adds  de  Dcnonville,  "  now 
consisted  of  fifty-one  able  men,  and  one  hundred  and  fifty 

women  and  children."  It  had  been  his  intention  to  embark  in 
the  afternoon,  but  the  wind  was  high,  and  it  was  considered 

advisable  to  defer  the  departure  until  the  morrow  at  day- 
break. 

However  carefully  de  Denonville  had  endeavoured  to  con- 
ceal his  purpose,  the  destination  of  the  troops  became  known, 

and  the  Senecas  were  enabled  to  take  steps  for  their  defence. 

A  prisoner,  watching  his  opportunity  when  freedom  of  move- 
ment could  not  be  denied,  jumped  from  the  walls  of  the  Fort, 

sixteen  feet  high.  The  alarm  was  at  once  given,  but  the 

prisoner  had  reached  the  woods,  and  managed  to  gain  the 
Seneca  country  to  inform  his  tribe  of  the  danger  threatening 
them. 

The  loth  of  July  was  named  as  the  time  for  meeting  at  the 

spot  selected. f  De  Denonville  had  calculated  on  the  journey 

being  made  in  seven  days.  They  were  troubled  with  bad 
winds  and  rough  weather.  Nevertheless,  they  reached  their 
destination  without  accident.  As  de  Denonville  was  arriving 

at  the  rendezvous  he  observed,  with  every  feeling  of  satis- 
faction, that  the  Indians  of  the  West,  with  the  coiireurs  de  bois, 

were  at  the  same  time  approaching  the  spot.     The  spectacle 

*  Prescott. 

t  Now  known  as  Irondeciuoit  Bay,  on  Lake  Ontario,  to  the  south  of  the  City 
of  Rochester.  Following  llie  coast,  with  short  tr.iverses,  it  is  about  one  hundred 
.111(1  twenty  miles  from  Kingston,  and  something  more  than  eighty  miles  from 

Ningara. 
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of  the  junction  of  the  two  forces  attracted  the  admiration  of 
the  contemporaries  who  record  these  events.  They  speak  of  it 

ill  glowing  language.  There  was  the  headquarter  staff  of  the 
(ieneral,  with  the  Royal  troops  of  France,  the  Canadian 

militia,  the  three  barques  at  the  entrance  to  the  Bay,  with  a 

noisy  crowd  of  Indians  of  different  tribes — some  of  them 
Christian,  some  almost  naked,  painted,  with  horns  on  their 
heads,  and  tails  to  their  backs,  many  armed  with  bows  and 

arrows,  all  full  of  vigour  and  activity. 
A  Fort  was  immediately  constructed,  in  which  a  guard  of 

four  hundred  men  was  placed  for  the  protection  of  the  ba- 
teaux, canoes  and  provisions.  Preparations  were  made  for 

the  advance.  It  commenced  on  the  12th,  each  man  carrying 

thirteen  days'  provisions.  On  that  tlay,  three  leagues,  seven 
and  a  half  miles,  were  made.  On  the  following  morning  the 
inarch  was  continued.  De  Calliercs  was  in  front.  The  ad- 

vanced guard  consisted  of  the  force  of  courenrs  dc  bois  and 

volunteers,  led  by  de  la  Durantayc  and  du  Luth  ;  Tonty 
commanded  the  Illinois.  The  Ottawas  and  Hurons  followed. 

.At  mid-day,  the  party  halted  from  thirst  for  it  was  in  the 
commencement  of  the  hottest  season  m  Canada.  While 

they  were  searching  for  water  the  trail  of  a  large  body  of  men 
was  .seen.  De  Calliercs  immediately  sent  an  officer  to  the 

rear  to  report  the  discovery  to  de  Denonville,  who  lost  no 
time  in  coming  to  the  front.  The  advance  was  now  made 
with  caution,  for  there  were  two  known  defiles,  at  which  an 

attack  might  be  looked  for.  liut  they  passed  through  them 

unopposed.  There  was  a  third  spot  thick  with  alders,  a 

stretch  of  low  ground,  through  which  a  somewhat  rapid 
stream  ran  in  marshy  ground,  and  from  which  some  hills 
abruptly  ascended.  The  place  had  been  made  known  to  de 
Denonville,  and  he  had  determined  to  reach  it  and  pass 
the  night  there.  The  heat  was  extreme.  The  men  suffered 

much  from  fatigue  and  thu'st,  and  from  the  weight  of  their 
accoutrements  and  the  provisions  that  they  were  carrying. 

.About  three  o'clock  they  received  the  first  intimation  that  the 
enemy  was  immediately  in  their  front. 

..^  i 
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The  Senecas  had  divided  their  forces.  They  had  posted 

one  party  along  the  stream  running  between  two  of  the 

ascents,  in  a  grove  of  beech.  The  remaining  force  they  am- 
buscaded in  the  thick  alders.  Their  plan  of  campaign  was  to 

allow  the  troops  to  pass  between  these  two  bodies,  and  then 

make  the  attack  in  front  and  rear.  De  Callieres,  accompa- 
nied by  his  small  staff,  had  advanced  some  distance,  and  what 

was  actually  the  advance-guard  moved  forward.  The  Senecas, 
holding  it  to  be  the  main  body,  poured  a  fire  into  its  ranks. 

When  the  attack  was  made  the  majority  of  the  Western  Indi- 
ans gave  way:  the  Christian  Indians  however  fired  two  volleys 

with  but  little  effect.  The  steadiness  of  the  French  retrieved 

the  disorder,  and  the  French  Indians,  gaining  courage, 

returned  to  the  attack.  The  main  body  was  now  brought  up. 
There  was  what  appeared  to  be  a  small  fort  on  an  adjoining 

height,  which  it  was  determined  to  silence.  On  the  attack 

being  made,  the  Berthier  militia  fell  into  a  panic,  but  Varennes 

and  Dugu  ly  coming  up  with  the  rear-guard  of  the  Montreal 
corps,  enabled  them  to  rally,  De  Denonville  was  in  his  shirt 
sleeves.  He  gave  orders  to  fire  constantly  and  to  beat  the 

drums,  even  when  no  enemy  was  seen  ;  and  the  roll  of  the 
drum  was  as  much  feared  as  the  fire  of  the  musketry.  The 
Senecas,  seeing  the  large  number  brought  against  them,  lost 

heart.  They  had  themselves  fallen  "nto  the  snare  that  they 
had  prepared  for  the  French.  Thcv  1:  id  directed  their  on- 

slaught against  the  advance-guard,  believing  it  to  be  the  main 
body,  and  they  found  themselves  unexpectedly  attacked  by  a 
mass  of  men,  the  existence  of  which  they  had  not  suspected. 
They  abandoned  the  ground  and  fled.  Six  French  and  five 

Indians  were  killed,  and  eleven  men  wounded — among  thorn 
Pere  Engelran.  The  French  Indians  pursued  the  retreaiing 
Senecas  and  brought  back  fourteen  scalps. 

The  action  was  not  long,  de  Denonville  reported,  but  the 

firing  was  heavy.  Twenty-seven  Senecas  were  left  dead  on 
the  field.  The  fatigue  of  the  day  had  been  great.  There 
was  no  knowledge  of  the  route  which  had  to  be  followed,  and 

no  guide  would  take  the  responsibility  of  leading  the  way. 
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Accordingly,  the  troops  bivouacked  on  the  scene  of  the  action. 

The  following  day,  the  14th,  it  rained  till  nearly  noon,  so  the 
halt  was  continued.  The  advance  was  then  made.  The 

village  of  the  Senecas  was  reached,  but  it  had  been  burned  ; 

another  village,  less  than  two  miles  distant,  was  al.so  deserted. 
Some  corn  was  found,  which,  with  that  under  cultivation 

was  destroyed.  Nothing,  the  Abbe  de  Belmont  tells  us,  was 

to  be  seen  in  the  village  but  the  cemetery  and  .some  graves, 
with  snakes  and  animals.  There  was  a  large  mask,  with 

teeth  and  eyes  of  bright  copper,*  covered  with  bearskin,  under 
which  the  Indians  performed  their  jugglery.  It  was  calculated 
that  the  French  destroyed  one  hundred  thousand  minots  of 

corn,  and  one  hundred  and  fifty  thousand  minots  of  the  crop 

iti  the  ground,  in  addition  to  the  pigs  that  were  slaughtered 
and  the  beans  obtained  and  made  valueles.s.  Sixty  persons 
were  reported  as  killed.  There  is  no  doubt  that  the  Senecas 

received  a  serious  blow  to  their  prosperity  and  strength  ; 
but  it  is  impossible  to  resist  the  conviction  that  the  extent 

of  the  damage  inflicted  has  been  exaggerated. 

De  Denonville  remained  until  the  23rd,  laying  waste  every- 
thing that  he  found,  which  he  could  not  appropriate.  There 

was  no  resistance.  The  Senecas  fled  before  the  storm.  Four 

of  their  villages  were  burned,  and  the  grain  under  cultivation 
was  rendered  worthless.  On  the  26th,  de  Denonville  set  out  for 

Niagara.  Owing  to  contrary  winds,  it  took  four  and  a  half 
days  to  reach  the  head  of  Lake  Ontario,  where  he  halted  and 
commenced  the  construction  of  a  Fort.  After  carrying  on 
the  work  to  a  sufficient  extent,  on  the  2nd  of  August  he  sent 

home  the  militia.  On  the  3rd  he  himself  embarked,  leaving 

de  Vaudreuil  to  complete  the  Fort.  In  a  few  days,  de  Vau- 
dreuil  descended  Lrdiz  Ontario,  following  the  north  shore, 

placing  de  Troycs  in  command  with  a  detachment  of  one 
hundred  men. 

It  may  be  here  remarked  that  the  Fort  was  abandoned  the 

following  year  on  the  15th  of  September.  There  had  been 
much  sicknes.s.     De  Troyes,  the  leader  of  the  expedition  to 
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Hudson's  Bay,  died  there  from  dysentery,  a  complaint  which 
made  great  ravages  among  the  garrison.  De  Belmont  attrib- 

utes this  disease  to  the  excessive  use  of  fresh  pork  and  beans, 
lie  relates  that  upwards  of  one  hundred  of  the  soldiers 

died  during  the  season.  It  was  found  impossible  to  furnish 
another  garrison  and  to  maintain  the  Fort.  When  abandoned, 
it  was  under  the  command  of  Dcsbergeres,  who,  according  to 

his  instructions,  destroyed  the  fortifications,  but  left  many  of 

the  buildings  standing.  A  prods  verbal  of  the  proceeding 

was  drawn  up  by  the  Chevalier  de  la  Mothe,  with  the  view  of 
establishing  that  possession  had  been  held  by  the  French 
of  the  territory  at  that  time.  The  buildings  are  described 
as  consisting  of  a  bakehouse,  five  cabins  or  huts,  a  frame 

house  and  storehouse,  all  inhabitable.* 
There  is  a  saying  attributed  to  a  Christian  Itidian  named 

Louis  Atarhea.  As  the  campaign  was  about  to  commence 
he  remarked  to  de  Denonville  that  the  enterprise  was  a  .serious 

one,  and  that  if  he  did  not  closely  follow  up  the  affair  he 

would,  perhaps,  meet  the  experience  of  one  who  would  attack 

a  wasp's  nest.f  and  that,  unless  he  found  means  to  kill  all 
the  wasps  at  once,  he  ran  the  risk  of  being  stung. 

The  e.xpedition  had  been  so  far  successful  that  serious 

damage  had  been  inflicted  on  one  branch  of  the  Iroquois — the 
Senecas.  But  it  was  at  the  season  of  the  year  when  the 
suffering  fell  the  lightest.  Their  villages  had  been  burned,  their 

corn  destroyed,  and  a  few  of  their  people  killed.  Here  the 

injury  had  ended.  It  was  plain  that  whatever  ravages  had 
been  committed,  to  have  been  thoroughly  effective  in  their 

consequences,  they  should  have  been  followed  up  by  a  vigor- 
ous and  active  campaign,  until  a  recognized  peace  had  been 

obtained.  The  expedition  returned  to  Montreal  in  August. 

Ill    October,   the   Iroquois,  to  the   number  of  two  hundred, 

•  Col.  Hist.  N.Y.  IX.,  p.  386. 

+  "  Que  son  eiUreprise  lui  paraissait  grande,  que  s'il  r.'y  prenait  garde  de  pres 
qu'il  ferait  peut-etre  comtne  celui  qui  va  fourgailler  un  nid  de  guepes,  qu'a  moins 
qu'il  ne  trouve  moyen  de  les  t5craser  toutes  a  la  fois,  il  court  risque  d'en  recevoir 
des  piqflres."     Recueil,  &c.,  pi  16. 
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attacked  the  upper  part  of  the  Island  of  Montreal,  where 
they  burned  five  houses  and  killed  six  luxbitants.  The 
consequence  was  that  de  Callicrcs  caused  a  redoubt  to  be 

constructed  in  each  Seigneury,  so  that  the  troops  quartered 

there  and  the  inhabitants  could  find  refuge  in  the  hour  of 

attack.  A  contemporary  writer  says  that  there  were  twenty- 
eightsuch  Forts  in  the  government  of  Montreal.  A  corps  of 

one  hundred  and  twenty  men  picked  from  the  courcurs  dc  bois 

was  placed  at  Lachine.  More  troops  were  asked  for  from 

I'Vance,  and  the  plan  of  the  next  campaign  was  to  advance 

w  ith  two  columns  in  distinct  expeditions  against  the  Iroquois. 
The  possession  of  New  York  by  the  French,  as  a  des.rable 

acquisition,  was  advocated  by  the  leading  men  in  Canada 
more  than  ever. 

On  Lake  Ontario  five  hundred  Iroquois  threatened  Fort 

Frontenac.  They  were  first  seen  some  distance  from  it,  by 
men  of  the  fort,  three  of  whom  were  seized.  The  fort 

was  besieged  for  a  month,  but  the  extent  of  damage  was 
limited  to  sinking  some  canoes.  At  La  Galette  nine  canoes, 

containing  provisions  and  stores,  were  taken.  Chambly  was 
attacked,  and  a  soldier,  his  wife  and  child  carried  away. 
Vcrcheres,  below  Montreal,  also  suffered  from  assault,  and 

eighty  head  of  cattle  were  killed. 
The  year  1688  was  unfortunate  for  Canada.  The  scurvy 

devastated  Fort  Frontenac.  Upwards  of  one  hundred  men  died 
there.  Niagara,  as  has  been  related,  was  abandoned  owing  to 
the  sickness  which  prevailed.  Even  Saint  Helene,  on  his 

descent  of  the  Saint  Lawrence  with  a  party  of  eighty  soldiers 

from  Cataraqui,  was  attacked,  with  a  loss  of  four  men  killed, 

and  one  taken  prisoner.  The  Mohawks  now  interfered  in  the 
quarrel,  and  some  of  their  emissaries  found  their  way  to  the 
Christian  settlements.  They  so  far  influenced  those  of  the 
tribe  at  Sault  St.  Louis,  that  thirty  men  and  twenty  women 
left  the  mission. 

Early  in  June  some  peace  negotiations  were  commenced,* 
and  three  of  the  Iroquois  tribes  signed  a  declaration  of  neu- 

*  isth  June,  1688. 
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trality.  The  proceeding  was  not  looked  upon  in  Canada  as 

one  promising  a  satisfactory  conclusion,  and  events  soon 

proved  that  this  estimate  was  correct. 
While  the  campaign  of  dc  Denonville  was,  in  Canada, 

regarded  as  an  efficient  step  towards  humbling  the  insolence 
of  the  Senccas,  in  Albany  it  was  felt  to  be  a  menace  to  English 
interests.  The  erection  of  the  fortress  of  Niagara  was  looked 

upon  as  nothing  less  than  a  breach  of  the  treaty  of  amity 
communicated  from  England.  Dongan,  however,  was  in  this 

position,  that  he  felt  that  he  could  look  for  but  little  support 

from  James  II.  Conduct,  on  his  part,  marked  by  deter- 
mination and  enterprise,  could  be  so  represented  by  the  Court 

of  France  as  to  lead  to  his  recall.  On  the  other  hand,  while  all 

moral  encouragement  was  given  to  de  Denonville,  he  had 
been  reinforced  by  whatever  troops  the  European  demands  on 

the  French  King  permitted  him  to  send.  The  despatches 
from  Canada,  recommending  that  French  influence  should  be 

exercised  to  obtain  Dongan's  recall,  furnish  the  highest 
tribute  to  his  patriotism  and  .sense  of  duty. 

A  Treaty  of  perpetual  peace  had  been  made  in  1686,  and 

owing  to  the  proceedings  taken  in  Hudson's  Bay  the  same  year 
by  the  French,  the  Treaty  had  been  supplemented  by  a  con- 

ference in  London.  I  will  record  more  fully  what  took  place 

on  this  occasion,  when  the  events  in  connection  with  Hudson's 
Bay  are  related.  The  conditions  of  the  Treaty  only  tended 
to  fetter  the  English  governors  in  America.  With  the 

F^rench  authorities,  the  resolutions  that  were  communi- 
cated to  them  were  justly  regarded  as  little  more  than  waste 

paper.  There  is  no  trace  in  the  history  of  those  times,  that 

they  had  the  slightest  influence  on  French  policy  on  the 
American  continent. 

Dongan  felt  the  blow  struck  at  the  Senecas  to  be  one 

directed  against  his  government.  Accordingly,  he  summoned 
the  Chiefs  to  Albany,  and  asked  them  to  receive  no  more 

Jesuit  missionaries,  and  to  recall  the  members  of  their  tribes 
established  in  Canada.  He  forbade  them  to  make  treaties 

with  the  French  without  the  consent  of  the  Governor  of  New 
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York,  and   he  called  upon   the    Iroquois  to  unite  with  the 

Ottawas,  and  to  make  an  effort  to  bring  their  trade  to  Albany. 
He  had  already  addressed  de  Denonville  on  the  subject  of 

the  two  parties,  seized  by  de  la  Durantaye  on  Lake  Huron 
and  Lake  Erie,  and  had  demanded  the  immediate  surrender 

of  the  prisoners.  The  request  was  refused  by  de  Denonville, 
on  the  ground  that  he  regarded  the  presence  of  the  men 

where  they  were  taken,  as  an  invasion  of  French  territory,  and 

a  breach  of  the  treaty  of  peace.  He  declared  that  he  would 

keep  the  prisoners,  and  also  taunted  the  English  Governor 

with  giving  aid  and  comfort  to  the  Senecas.  Dongan  retorted 
that  it  was  the  French  who  had  invaded  luiglish  territory. 
With  his  usual  spirit,  he  expressed  the  hope  that  their  masters 

at  home  "  will  suffer  us  to  do  ourselves  justice  on  you,  for  the 

injuries  and  spoyle  you  have  commited  on  us,"  and  if  leave 
were  given  him,  he  added,  "  I  will  be  as  soon  at  Quebeck  as 

you  shall  be  at  Albany."*  He  denied  that  he  had  furnished 
arms  to  the  Senecas  until  after  the  advance  of  the  6th  of 

August.  He  had  then  given  powder,  lead,  and  arms,  and  had 
united  the  Five  Nations  together.  He  had  sent  no  men,  and 

he  adds  that  there  were  only  four  hundred  Senecas  who 
opposed  the  French  advance.  Finally,  he  demanded  the 
release  of  all  the  Christian  and  Indian  prisoners  who  were 

subjects  of  the  King  of  England. 

In  November,  1687,  letters  were  received  from  England 

authorising  the  protection  of  the  Iroquois  by  Dongan  as 
Governor  of  New  York.  Possessing  this  additional  power,  he 

was  placed  in  a  totally  different  position,  and  had  the  sup- 
port from  London,  necessary  to  the  policy  that  he  was 

desirous  of  carrying  out.  Hitherto  he  had  acted  from  his  own 
impulses,  with  no  assurance  that  his  conduct  would  not  be 
disavowed.  This  support  was  the  more  necessary  to  him,  as 

there  were  constant  threats  that  the  French  were  contemplat- 
ing an  attack  upon  Albany.  He  reported  in  the  spring  of 

1688,  that  such  an  attack  had  been  looked  for  during  the 

winter,  and  that  he  had  kept  under  his  orders  at  Albany  four 

•  9th  September,  1687. 
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hundred  an'l  fifty  infantry  and  fifty  horsemen  with  eight 
hundred  men.  Of  all  the  governors  of  New  York,  he  was  the 

first  clearly  to  see  the  policy  which  should  be  followed  by  the 
English  colonies,  that  the  country  to  the  west  should  be 

occupied  and  forts  constructed  "as  ye  French  doe" — otherwise 
that  the  trade  could  not  be  maintained.  The  political  troubles 
in  Great  Britain  at  this  date  had  mounted  to  their  height. 

The  battle  at  home  was  to  be  fought  for  personal  and  religious 

liberty,  and  when  Dongan's  letter  reached  England  the  lead- 
ing public  men  were  busy  in  their  negotiations  with  William 

of  Nassau  to  intervene  with  an  armed  force  for  their  rescue. 

The  invitation  to  the  Prince  of  Orange  to  appear  in  England 

as  their  deliverer  was  dated  the  30th  of  June,  16S8,  and  for 

twenty-eight  months,  England  was  engaged  in  quieting  the 
complications  on  her  own  soil.  It  was  only  on  the  30th  of 

October,  i6go,  that,  by  the  Treaty  of  Limerick,  peace  was 
obtained  in  Ireland,  while  on  the  Continent  war  with  France 

was  raging.  As  early  as  March,  1690,  Marlborough  had 
started  with  ten  thousand  troops  to  join  the  Dutch  forces  on 
the  Continent.  For  the  succeeding  years  until  the  Treaty  of 

Ryswick,  Great  Britain  was  engaged  in  a  struggle  for  existence. 

The  quarrel  in  America  was  left  to  be  fought  out  by  another 
generation.  Dongan,  however,  has  the  merit  of  standing  forth 

among  the  first  to  advise  the  policy,  which,  from  the  English 

standing  point,  should  have  then  been  followed  against  Lhc 
French. 

In  the  correspondence  which  took  place  between  the  Gov- 

ernors after  the  campaign  of  1687,*  de  Dcnonville  wrote  Don- 
gan, that  he  had  been  instructed  to  live  on  good  terms  with 

him  ;  he  had,  however,  cause  of  complaint,  that  Dongan  had 

hired  sixty  Mohawks  to  make  a  foray  on  New  I'^ance  ;  never- 
theless, he  would  send  back  McGregor  and  his  party,  to 

shew  his  desire  for  amity.  Dongan  denied  that  he  had  been 

the  cause  of  Iroquois  aggrecsion.  He  protested  against  the 
invasion    of   English    territory,  and  the  construction  of   the 

•  2nd  October,   1687. 
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Fort  at  Niagara.  He  suggested  that  an  agent  should  be  sent 

to  Albany  to  confer  with  him.* 

After  the  return  of  McGregor,  Dongan  expressed  his  thanks-f- 
to  de  Dcnonville  for  the  kind  treatment  shown  to  the  prisoners. 
Nevertheless,  he  asked  satisfaction  for  the  merchandise  seized, 

and  repeated  the  demand  that  the  Fort  on  Lake  Ontario 

should  be  destroyed,  and  the  Indians  who  had  been  seized 
and  sent  to  France,  should  be  released,  to  be  restored  to  the 

English  embassy  at  Paris,  or  to  the  Secretary  of  State  at 
London.  McGregor  was  sent  to  Quebec  with  the  letter.  He 
arrived  there  on  the  3rd  of  December,  and  was  well  received. 

De  Dcnonville  acknowledged ij:  the  letter,  stating  that  it  was 

his  intention  to  comply  with  Dongan's  suggestion,  and  he 
would  send  Father  Valiant,  accompanied  by  Dumont  as  inter- 

preter, to  confer  with  him. 
The  two  proceeded  to  Albany.  On  their  route  they  were 

attacked  by  Iroquois,  and  some  property  taken  from  them. 

The  matter  was  brought  to  the  notice  of  Dongan,  §  who 

expressed  his  deep  regret  for  what  had  happened,  and  under- 
took to  make  restitution  for  the  injury.  He  informed  the 

Father  that  the  King  of  England  was  himself  sending  Roman 

Catholic  missionaries  among  the  Iroquois,  and  repeated  the 

demands  he  had  alreadj'  made. 
There  is  a  critical  remark  in  this  letter  worth  preserving. 

Dongan  pointed  out  that  the  word  " sauvuge"  was  used  by  the 
French  without  the  word  Indian,  "not  soe  in  the  English 
where  the  words  Wild  Iiuians  are  employed  to  distinguish 

thoes  who  have  submitted  themselfs  under  govern'  and  thoes 

who  have  not." 
A  series  of  papers  were  now  exchanged  between  Dongan 

and  Valiant.  Dongan  commenced  with  a  protest  against 
the  arrest  of  McGregor  and  Roseboom,  renewing  the  demands 

which  had  been  made  to  Quebec.    Valiant  demanded  repara- 

•  2Sth  October,  1687.     f  3lst  October,  1687. 
X  28th  December,  1687. 

§    17th  February,  1688. 
II    13th  February,  1688. 
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tion  for  the  injuries  he  had  received.  Dongan  repeated  his 
promise  to  give  satisfaction  for  the  wrong  ;  he  asked  to  be 
told  on  what  authority  it  had  been  asserted  that  the  outrage 

was  committed  by  his  orders,  and  desired  the  author  might 
be  made  known,  expressing  his  disbehef  in  the  statement 

itself  Vah'ant  confined  himself  to  the  general  rejoinder 
that  McGregor,  when  taken  prisoner,  was  acting  in  con- 

travention to  the  treaty,  and  had  no  right  to  be  where  he  was. 

The  dispute,  he  suggested,  should  be  left  to  the  determination 

of  the  two  Kings.  He  complained  that  McGregor  had  threat- 
ened to  run  a  captain  through  the  body.  Dongan  spoke  of 

the  general  good  conduct  of  McGregor.  Meeting  Valiant's 
remark,  he  pointed  out  that  the  Ottawas  were  not  French 
Indians,  and  that  McGregor  had  the  right  to  travel  among 

them.  The  correspondence  was  leading  to  no  result.  Don- 

gan finally  said,  "  If  the  sheep's  fleece  be  anything  in  the  dis- 
pute, pray  let  the  King  of  England  have  some  part  of  it, 

especially  by  the  owner's  consent."  To  which  Valiant  an- 
swered that  he  should  have  the  whole  fleece,  if  the  most 

Christian  King  were  willing. 

What  Father  Valiant  was  desirous  of  effecting  was  a  treaty 

of  peace,  directly  with  the  Senecas.  Dongan's  influence  was 
given  to  prevent  that  tribe  treating  directly  with  France. 
Since  the  expedition  against  the  Senecas  in  the  summer  of 

1667,  Canada  had  been  kept  in  continual  ferment.  To  use 

the  Indian  simile  of  the  wasp's  nest  :  the  nest  had  been 
destroyed,  but  the  wasps  could  yet  sting.  Great  injury  had 
been  suffered,  not  simply  from  the  positive  devastation  caused 
by  the  inroads  of  the  Iroquois,  but  by  the  unsettled  feeling 
which  dread  of  them  occasioned.  While  de  Dcnonville  was 

anxious  to  obtain  quiet  times,  he  was  not  willing  to  purchase 

them  on  Dongan's  conditions.  Dongan  was  constantly  ap- 
pealed to  from  Quebec  as  a  Roman  Catholic  ;  but,  in  spite  of 

his  faith,  he  distrusted  the  Jesuits  acting  in  the  French 
interests.  He  was  sufficiently  zealous  for  his  religion,  but  he 

did  not  desire  to  consult  its  interests  at  the  expense  of  what 

he  held  to  be  his  duty.     Father  Valiant  borrowed  from  the 
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tactics  which  had  prospered  in  London,  for  it  was  understood 
in  Canada  how  supreme  Louis  was  in  the  English  Court. 

Dongan  himself  was  not  without  experience  in  that  direction. 
Xcvertheless  he  would  not  recognize  the  advisability  of 

Valiant's  proposition  for  the  re-establishment  of  the  mission- 
aries, and  immovably  persevered  in  the  view  which  he  had 

expressed. 
The  mission  of  Father  Valiant  proved  a  failure.  De 

Dcnonville  shewed  his  (disappointment  in  his  letters  to  Don- 
gan and  continued  to  accuse  him  of  being  the  instigator  of 

the  Iroquois  attacks.  There  was  no  ground  for  the  charge. 
What  Dongan  did  assert  was,  that  the  Iroquois  were  claimed 

as  subjects  of  England,  and  that  he  had  been  instructed  to 
give  satisfaction  for  any  injuries  which  they  had  committed. 
It  is  established  that  on  occasions  he  rescued  prisoners  from 

the  Iroquois.  Mdllc.  d'Alonne,  seized  near  Cataraqui,  was 
restored  uninjured,  no  doubt  at  his  instigation.  De  Dcnon- 

ville wrote  specially  to  thank  him  for  his  conduct :  "  I 

have  only  to  assure  you,"  he  said,  "  that  the  whole  Colony 
feels  the  most  perfect  gratitude  for  the  good  offices  which 

\'ou  and  your  people  shewed  to  these  poor  unfortunate 

captives." The  efforts  of  the  French  Governor,  and  those  subordinate 

to  him  to  obtain  the  removal  of  Dongan  at  length  met  with 
success.  Louis  XIV.,  through  his  ambassador,  Barillon,  asked 
for  his  recall  and  Dongan  was  summoned  home. 

He  was  succeeded  by  Sir  Edmund  Andros,  who  arrived  in 
1688,  and  at  this  time  a  change  was  made  in  the  Constitution 

of  the  hLnglish  Colonies.  New  England,  New  Jersey,  and 
New  York,  were  formed  into  one  government,  and  Andros 

was  placed  at  its  head.  Dongan  did  not  fail  to  impress  on 
his  successor  the  necessity  of  continuing  the  policy  which  he 

had  followed.  Shortly  after  the  arrival  of  Andros  a  corre- 
spondence took  place  between  him  and  de  Denonville.  It 

commenced  with  an  interchange  of  courtesies,  but  the  new 

Governor  soon  fell  into  the  track  of  Dongan,  and  repeated 

the  demands  which  had  been  made  by  him.     The  change  of 
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f    ! Governors  did  little  for  French  interests,  and  de  Denonville 

wrote  bitterly  on  the  subject  to  de  Seignelay. 

The  great  requirement  of  Canada  was  an  assured  peace. 
The  alarm  arising  from  the  threatened  attacks  of  the  Iroquois 
had  told  equally  on  commerce  and  agriculture.  The  whole 
condition  of  the  colony  had  been  affected,  for  the  activity 
of  the  Senecas  had  closed  the  avenues  of  trade.  The  coureiirs 

de  bois  had  been  collected  together  in  1686;  from  that  date 

all  passage  of  furs  from  the  West  had  been  impeded,  and 

this  trade  was  the  one  means  of  support  to  the  populr*:ion. 
For  personal  protection  the  inhabitants  of  the  seigneuries, 

especially  those  who,  living  a  greater  distance  from  settlement, 
were,  owing  to  their  isolation,  more  exposed  to  attack,  took 

refuge  in  the  forts.  The  inhabitants  of  Montreal  were  virtually 

confined  to  the  picket  enclosure,  which  de  Callieres  had  con- 

structed in  1687.*  It  was  the  same  at  Three  Rivers.  More- 
over, it  was  a  season  of  unusual  sickness.  It  has  been  stated 

to  what  extent  the  garrisons  of  Fort  V  intenac  and  Niagara 
suffered.  Food  too  was  insufficient,  for  the  tillage  had  been 

checked  by  the  events  of  the  past  months. 

In  this  dilemma  de  Denonville  appealed  to  the  King,  to 
send  back  to  Canada  the  prisoners  who  had  been  seized  at 

Cataraqui.  It  was  the  first  step  towards  peace.  His  force 

had  been  reduced  by  death  and  disease  to  fourteeii  hundred 
men.  He  had  accepted  the  policy  which  de  Callieres  had 

submitted  to  attack  New  York,  unless  obtained  by  negotia- 
tion, and  de  Callieres  was  sent  to  France  to  submit  his  plan 

of  operations.  It  was  held  to  be  the  onl)'  means  by  which 

Canada  could  be  preserved  to  the  French.  De  Callieres'  view 
was  to  advance  by  Lake  Champlain  and  Lake  (George  with 
thirteen  hundred  soldiers  and  three  hundred  Canadians,  with 

the  declared  purpose  of  attacking  the  Mohawks.  Arrived 
in  their  territory,  he  was  to  state  that  the  real  object  of  the 

campaign  was  against  the  English.  It  was  not  expected  that 

Albany  would  make  much  resistance.  The  town,  surrounded 

by  pickets,  had  but  three  hundred  inhabitants,  and  its  small 
*  De  Iklmoiit. 
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fort,  indifferently  constructed,  contained  but  one  hundred  and 

fifty  men.  New  York,  with  four  hundred  inhabitants,  would 
also  prove  an  easy  conquest.  France  would  then  obtain  the 

fine  port  of  New  York,  open  at  all  seasons  of  the  year,  one  of 
the  best  in  America.  The  dissatisfaction  of  the  Dutch 

devoted  to  the  Prince  of  Orange,  was  also  counted  upon,  and 
it  was  considered  advisable  to  anticipate  them  in  their  effort 

to  be  free  from  Eny^lish  rule.  The  treat}-  of  neutrality  pa.'^sed 

in  London  did  not  stand  in  de  Callieres'  way,  for  he  held 
that  it  had  been  violated. 

De  Denonvillc  had  likewise  a  project  to  attack  the  Iroquois, 
and  a  reinforcement  of  four  thousand  men  was  asked  from 

I'Vance.  On  a  previous  demand  in  which  eight  hundred  were 
named  as  the  number  required,  three  hundred  had  been  the 

number  sent.  But  Louis  XIV.  was  too  much  occupied  in 

luirope  to  .send  troops  to  Canada.  He  was  bu.sy  insulting 

and  defying  the  Pope  in  his  own  city,  on  the  question  of  the 
right  of  sanctuary.  He  offensively  persisted  in  claiming  this 

privilege  for  the  locality  attached  to  his  embassy,  when  for  the 

well-being  of  Rome  Innocent  desired  to  do  away  with  it,  as  the 
source  of  crime  and  disorder.  The  King  of  France  was  the 

only  Catholic  monarch  who  would  not  give  ear  to  the  Pope's 
rc[)re.sentation.s.*  Louis  was  also  endeavouring  to  obtain  the 
election  of  Cardinal  Furstembcrg  to  the  Archbishopric  of 
Cologne.  With  this  view  he  had  advanced  his  forces  to  attack 

rhilipsburg,  and  to  seize  Worms,  Metz,  Treves  and  Bonn.  His 

thought  was  mainly  given  to  the  establishment  of  the  Rhine 
frontier,  save  when  it  was  diverted  to  the  persecution  of  the 

Protestants.  De  Seignelay  wrote  recognizing  the  wi.sdom  of 

the  proposition  ir''de  by  de  Denonville,  but  there  were  no 
troops  to  be  spared  to  carry  it  out  Until  they  should  be  sent, 
de  Denonville  was  to  enrol  the  inhabitants,  and  fight  as  best 
he  could.  At  this  date  the  census  records  the  population  of 
Canada  at  11,562  souls. 

Thus  de  Denonville  was  unprepared  for  active  operations. 

There  were  neither  men  nor  provisions  for  a  campaign.     The 

*  The  ilispule  is  suinniarizcd  by  Macaulay  Vol.  II.,  chapter  IX. 
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colony  was  so  unsettled  that  the  cultivation  of  the  fields  above 
Three  Rivers  was  attended  with  danger.  The  Iroquois  were 

alienated  from  France,  for  the  judgment  and  diplomacy  of 

Dongan  on  every  side  had  ended  with  being  successful.  In 

de  Denonville's  desire  to  obtain  peace  he  turned  his  attention 
to  the  Eastern  Iroquois,  and  sent  back  to  them  the  slaves  held 
by  the  Christian  Indians.  The  prisoners  were  delivered  to  the 

Onondaga,  Cayuga  and  Oneida  tribes.  He  was  much  assisted 
by  Pere  de  Lamberville,  who  had  retained  his  influence,  and  was 
busy  in  endeavouring  to  establish  negotiations  with  Quebec. 

Prominent  among  the  chiefs  was  Big  Jaw,  who  had  been 
present  at  the  conclusion  of  the  peace  at  La  Famine  with 

de  la  Bar^'e.  By  his  aid  a  deputation  was  named  to  proceed 
to  Quebec  to  confer  with  de  Denonville  ;  and  their  first  step 

was  to  cross  to  Fort  Frontenac  to  explain  their  claims.*  They 
were  received  with  every  mark  of  respect,  and  an  officer  with 

some  men  was  appointed  to  accompany  them  to  Montreal. 

Not  many  leagues  from  Cataraqui  the  descending  party  was 

joined  by  a  fleet  of  canoes.  At  Lake  Saint  PVancis  they 
were  met  by  an  equal  number,  and  we  are  told  that  twelve 

hundred  Iroquois  were  present,  a  number  scarcely  possible,  as 
the  Senecas  and  Mohawks  were  not  included.  The  fact  is 

not  authenticated  by  de  Belmont  who  describes  the  embassy 
as  consisting  of  several  Indians. 

The  basis  of  peace  was  that  Fort  Niagara  .should  be  aban- 
doned, that  the  Ottawas  should  be  compelled  to  preserve 

peacc.i"  and  that  ninety-one  slaves  held  at  the  Sault  and  at 
the  Mountain  at  Montreal  should  be  restored.  The  treaty 

signed  on  the  part  of  the  tribes  was  one  of  neutrality  ;  when 

signing  it  the  Iroquois  added  the  affirmation,  that  they  were 
neither  French  nor  English,  never  having  been  conquered 

by  either. 
During  this  lull  de  Denonville  reinforced  and  re-victuallcd 

Fort  Frontenac.  A  convoy  of  a  thousand  men  under  dc 

Callieres  formed  the  expedition,  so  dangerous  were  the  attacks 

*  New  York  Colonial  Documents  IX.,  p.  390. 

+  "  On  ote  la  hache  aux  Ottawas." 
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of  the  Iroquois.  The  outrages  continued  on  the  Saint  Law- 
rence :  Sorel  and  Boucherville  were  burned.  The  negotiations 

for  peace  were,  however,  continued,  and  progress  was  so  far 
made  that  it  was  agreed  tliat  deputies  should  attend  to 

discuss  the  conditions,  when  an  unexpected  incident  destroyed 
further  negotiations. 

The  Huron  Ottawas  had  among  them  a  chief  named  Kon- 

diaronk,  "Le  Rat."*  He  had  at  one  time  acted  in  the  interest 
of  the  English,  and,  with  some  effort  on  the  part  of  the  French, 
had  been  induced  to  join  them.  Peace,  he  knew  well, 

would  prove  destructive  to  the  Huron  tribe.  Unprotected  by 

the  French  or  the  New  York  Governor,  they  would  fall  a  \'ic- 
tim  to  the  Iroquois,  in  revenge  for  the  part  which  they  had 
taken  in  the  expedition  against  the  Senecas.  His  own  fate  was 

involved  in  that  of  his  tribe.  He  was  at  this  period  engaged 

with  a  party  in  enterprises  against  the  Senecas,  when  he  heard 

that  it  was  hoped  that  a  peace  would  be  concluded  with  the 
Five  Nations.  He  learned  that  some  Senecas  were  immedi- 

ately to  proceed  to  Montreal  to  discuss  the  terms  on  which  it 

could  be  obtained.  In  his  view,  the  only  salvation  of  his  tribe 

was  in  the  continuance  of  the  Iroquois  war  with  the  French. 

Making  a  pretext  of  returning  home,  he  left  Cataraqui  and 

proceeded  to  La  Famine,  and  placed  himself  in  ambush.  He 

waited  for  some  days  until  the  Seneca  embassy  arrived.  They 
were  leisurely  hauling  their  canoes  ashore  and  preparing  to 

encamp,  when  they  were  attacked  by  "Le  Rat"  and  his  party. 
The  Huron  force  was  the  stronger.  The  Senecas  were  taken 

l)\-  surprise  ;  some  were  killed,  others  wounded.  One  of  the 

leading  Seneca  Chiefs,  Teganissorens,  reproached  "  Le  Rat" 
for  what  had  taken  place  and  threatened  that  he  would  have 
to  answer  for  his  conduct  to  the  Governor-General. 

"  Le  Rat"  coolly  replied  that  it  was  the  Governor-General 
who  had  notified  him  of  their  approach,  and  had  suggested  the 

*  Charlevoix  gives  the  detail  of  what  took  place.  It  is  aiiiuled  to  by  de  Bel- 

mont, who  has  ]ireservud  the  phrase  "J'ai  tue  la  ]iaix."'  The  writer  of  the  "Rela- 
tions des  Evenements  de  la  (nierre"  speaks  of  "Le  Rat"  having  killed  one  of  the 

deputation  and  made  prisoners  of  the  other  three. 
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attack.  When  he  wa.s  told  that  the  Chiefs  were  procccdiiii; 

to  Montreal  to  di.scu.ss  terms  of  peace,  he  affected  the  greatest 
surprise,  and  expressed  extreme  regret  for  what  had  happened. 
Me  declared  that  hereafter  he  would  no  longer  trust  the 

I-'rcnch  Governor.  He  immediately  gave  his  prisoners  their 
liberty,  although  he  was  at  war  with  them,  adding  that  he 

would  feel  satisfied,  only  when  he  had  revenged  on  the  Go\er- 
nor  the  unworthy  action  the  latter  had  committed  by  his 
deceit. 

The  Iroquois  acted  precisely  in  the  manner  "Le  Rat"  had 
anticipated.  They  abandoned  all  negotiation,  and  returned 
home  to  relate  the  outrage,  with  the  firm  resolution  to  take 

steps  to  revenge  the  supposed  wrong.  "  Le  Rat "  com- 
placently told  those  about  him  that  he  had  killed  the  peace. 

But  the  diplomacy  of  "  Le  Rat "  was  not  ended.  He  had 
lost  one  of  his  men  in  the  fray,  and,  according  to  custom,  he 

had  supplied  his  place  by  a  captive  Iroquois.  Arrived  at 
Michilimackinac,  the  prisoner  was  given  over  as  having  been 
taken  in  war,  and  was  condemned  to  be  shot.  In  vain  the 

unfortunate  prisoner  narrated  the  true  circumstances  of  his 

presence  there.  His  story  was  set  down  to  cowardice  and  fear 

of  death.  No  sooner  was  the  sentence  executed  than  "  Le 

Rat  "  took  steps  for  the  death  to  be  known.  He  held  an  Iro- 
quois slave,  whom  he  set  free,  and  sent  to  the  Indian  villages 

to  relate  what  he  had  seen,  and  to  tell  how  all  the  efforts 

of  "  Le  Rat "  to  save  the  prisoner  had  been  in  vain. 
The  efforts  of  "  Le  Rat  "  to  create  discord  were  successful. 

The  treachery  of  the  French  was  on  all  sides  believed,  and  the 
narrative  was  circulated  through  the  Iroquois  villages.  There 

was  no  hope  of  safety  for  the  future  but  in  war,  and  a  war  of 
extermination.  A  terrible  act  of  revenge  and  slaughter  was 

resolved  upon.  In  the  meantime  the  Hurons  remained  un- 
harmed. They  were  accepted  friends  of  the  French,  but  the 

Iroquois  exerted  themseh^cs  to  obtain  their  friendship,  ii; 
accordance  with  the  policy  of  Dongan. 

If  ever  a  nemesis  followed  an  act  of  treachery,  it  was  seen 

in  the  consequences  which  arose  from  the  conduct  of  de  I)e- 
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^'OO-.     He  ,vas  Icindly  received  f'  ''""'  '""'  "'='e  t°'d  his 

-  'he  bearer  of  cxpl.^^'-.^^'t^-'  had.  to  the  Senec, 
expre.,s,ons  of  sorrow  for  wha^'hld  h  ""'  "*''■''  ̂ "o"? 
however,  regarded  the  rac   l'  "'"=""''•     ̂ hc  Iroquois 

;--pt  to  renew  ..goZS  Z^"  if  "'^  "™''-     '^-y' 'eahzed  were  given  of  Indian  a»™  ""''  "^^e''  'o  be 
"ere  renewed  again,  to  be  tole„     ̂ ,"1 "'  Q'"*=^-     ̂ hey 
■"■eason  that  Andros  would  not' a„     ̂'""'■'"^ '''^'■g"ed  as 
eonvention.     Months  pass  d  Zy      lu'""  '"  ""^""  "'>' 
ccrtanity     The   early  weeks  Tf        ■         "'^'^  ̂ oubt  and  un- 

""ff'-bed  by   outr^.e.     S umLT'''"''  '""'"""'  ̂   "'"ter 
■■"■d  heat,  and  the   qufct  wa  T.I    ,      "°  "'"'   ''^  ™"»hine 
"e-vs   which  disturbed  Caada       .;:'""■      '^   °"^    >'""   "[ 
"589.     The   Revolution    in    £,1    m  '!;' k  "^   '*"'  "' l"'-- 
accomplished.     James  II  .vata t"  ■  ''°°"  '^"ecessful ly 

'■"d 'here  was  now  war  bet   e    'uw    "  ''  ̂"■"'  Germain's, 
On  Wednesday  the   , «       r  ,    ,     "'°  eountries. 

:^'-y  -re  proclaim  d  Ki  1°  „d  o"^^''  "''''  ̂ ^■"■-  -" 

^--"eharm.c:----rSSttf 

'4! 
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Knp;land  and  New  York  the  change  of  dynasty  was  accepted 

within  a  brief  period,  A  few  years  only  were  to  pass,  before 

the  effect  of  this  momentous  change  was  felt  on  this  Con- 
tinent. Until  the  Treaty  of  Ryswick,  England  could  make 

but  moderate  efforts  for  the  preservation  of  her  Transatlantic 

possessions.  Nevertheless,  a  more  determined  attitude  was 
at  once  taken  in  the  English  Colonies.  Erum  this  date  the 

rulers  of  New  Erance  felt  that  their  strength  must  not  lie  in 

intrigue  only,  but  that  a  bold,  determined  policy,  was  neces- 
sary to  the  preservation  of  Canada  as  a  Erench  possession. 

Erom  this  period  may  be  traced  all  that  we  possess  of 
liberty  in  the  British  Empire  :  freedom  of  religious  thought, 

of  speech,  of  political  belief,  of  personal  action,  of  individual 

liberty.  In  Great  Britain  personal  government  came  to  an 
end.  There  have  since  been  periods  when  parliaments  have 

been  corrupt  and  obsequious,  when  they  have  included  place- 
men whose  votes  were  to  be  purchased.  But  the  principle 

of  good  government  was  established,  to  be  developed  it  is 

true,  slowly  and  gradually,  often  evolved  in  effort,  pain 

and  sorrow.  Still  the  progress  has  been  certain  and  con- 
stant, and  true  liberty  has  never  receded.  There  has  been  no 

return  to  the  uncontrollable,  despotic,  irresistible  will  of  one 
man.  There  is  no  Canadian  in  the  Dominion,  of  whatever 

race  he  may  be,  that  has  not  to-day  cause  to  bless  the  memory 
of  this  Revolution,  from  the  workings  of  which  he  enjoys  the 

full  liberty  that  he  possesses.  He  can  worship  God  accord- 
ing to  the  dictates  of  his  conscience,  and  has  his  share  in  the 

responsibilities  and  duties  of  government  ;  no  slight  boon  if, 
as  individuals,  men  will  remember  that  they  always  obtained 

the  governments  they  deserve.  A  ministry  can  be  regard- 
less of  their  trust  and  obligation  only  when  the  constitu- 

encies abandon  their  rights  and  duties.  It  is  the  people  who 

form  the  institutions  under  which  they  live  ;  and  institutions 

are  good  or  bad  as  men  make  them.  That  in  this  land  we 

have  this  power,  is  owing  to  what  we  may  still  truly  call  the 

glorious  Revolution  of  1688. 
M.  dc  Belmont  relates  that  a  Christian  Indian  in  July  had 
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been  seized  by  some  Iroquois  on  the  Island  of  Montreal. 
They  took  possession  of  his  bracelet  and  shirt.  They  told 
him  they  would  give  him  his  freedom,  if  he  would  persuade 
the  Indians  dwelling  on  the  settlement  to  leave  it,  and  return 

to  the  Iroquois  ;  that  the  French  were  lost.  The  man,  in 

making  his  report,  declared  it  to  be  true  ;  "  but,"  remarks  the 
Abbe,  "  neither  we  nor  anybody  else  were  willing  to  be- 

lieve so." 
News  was  brought  that  an  unusually  large  expedition  had 

left  Onondaga,  with  many  women  disguised  as  men.  On  the 

alarm  being  given,  orders  were  sent  for  the  garrisons  to  keep 

within  the  forts.  Pere  de  Lamberville  and  Le  Moyne  de 

Longucuil  were  sent  on  an  embassy,  to  quiet  if  possible  the 
hostile  feeling  of  the  Senecas.  But  they  failed  to  meet  any 
of  the  chiefs. 

There  were,  indeed,  indications  enough  that  mischief  was 

brewing.  The  insufficient  precautions  taken  shew,  that  the 
magnitude  of  the  danger  was  not  contemplated.  There  was 

little  vigilance.  No  preparation  v/as  made  for  an  extraordi- 

nary emergency.  Even  while  the  Senecas  were  on  their  wa\' 
to  assail  Lachine,  there  was  no  anticipation  of  an  assault 
differing  from  the  forays  of  the  past,  by  which  the  Colony  had 
suffered  :  an  attack  which  was  to  terminate  in  the  most  ter- 

rible massacre  recorded  in  our  annals. 

It  was  the  night  of  the  4th  and  5th  of  August,  1689.  One 

of  the  severe  hail-storms,  experienced  at  this  season,  raged  on 
Lake  Saint  Louis.  The  Iroquois,  whose  numbers  have  been 
set  down  at  fifteen  hundred,  cautiously  advanced  and  landed 

above  Lachine.  They  silently  grouped  themselves  in  parties 
round  each  house.  In  the  early  night,  when  all  had  retired 

to  rest,  the  signal  was  given,  which  passed  along  the  whole 
line.  Dc  Frontenac  reported  after  his  arrival  in  the  autumn 
of  the  year,  that  the  devastation  extended  over  three  leagues, 
seven  and  a  half  miles.  Houses  had  been  burned  up  to  the 

gates  of  Montreal.  The  first  intimation  of  the  danger  wa  ,  the 

Indian  war-whoop,  only  too  well  known.  The  massacre  of  the 
unfortunate  inhabitants  followed.     Outrages  were  committed, 
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which  can  only  be  recorded  with  pain.  Women  whatever  their 
condition  were  not  spared.  There  were  three  stockade  forts 
at  Lachine  :  Remy,  not  far  from  the  church  ;  RoUand,  and 
La  Presentation,  on  a  small  island  above  the  settlement. 

There  was  also  a  fortified  camp,  containing  two  hundretl  sol- 
diers, about  four  and  a  half  miles  above  Montreal,  on  the  road 

to  Lachine,  from  which  aid  when  recjuired  miijht  be  obtained. 
It  was  under  the  command  of  de  Subercase.  The  Indian 

named  Atarhea,  the  one  who  had  stated  that  to  get  rid  of  the 

wasps'  nest  it  was  necessary  to  destroy  the  wasps,  had  waited 
on  the  Governor,  and  had  foretold  that  the  attack  was  to  be 

made.  M.  de  Denonville  had  spoken  on  the  subject  t(j  the 

Jesuits,  "the  only  councillors  he  accepted."  As  they  described 
Atarhea  to  be  unworthy  of  credence,  no  notice  was  taken  of  the 

information.  The  Governor,  however,  had  proceeded  to  Mont- 
real, and,  on  his  arrival  being  known,  the  principal  officers  had 

gone  thither  to  pay  him  their  respects.  Of  this  number  was 
M.  de  Subercase. 

An  officer  belonging  to  the  camp  tells  us*  that  at  four  in  the 
morning  his  attention  was  awakened  by  the  report  of  a  gun. 
It  was  an  intimation  that  something  unusual  had  happened, 

and  he  reported  the  event  to  de  Galifet,  in  command  during 
the  absence  of  M.  de  Subercase.  The  men  were  ordered 

under  arms.  Shortly  after,  the  news  arrived  that  Lachine 
was  in  flames. 

"  I  asked,"  says  the  writer,  "  for  twenty  men  to  advance  and 
repel  the  enemy.  In  fact,  I  did  stop  them,  but  the  Command- 

ant sent  me  orders  not  to  go  further.  I  entrenched  myself 
at  the  spot  where  I  was,  but  I  was  out  of  range,  and  in  our 

very  sight  I  saw  the  Iroquois  empty  the  houses  and  go  away 

loaded  with  clothes." 
The  news  reached  Montreal,  carrying  consternation.     The 

*  "  Recueil  de  ce  qui  s'est  passe  en  Canada  au  siijet  de  la  guerre  tant  les 

Anglois  que  des  Iroquois,  depuis  I'annee  1682."  This  work  has  been  attributed  to 
M.  Gedeoii  de  Catalogue.  It  records  the  events  to  1 7 12.  It  has  been  puljlisheil 

by  the  Historical  Society  of  Quebec,  and  likewise  appears  in  the  Quebec  Uocu- 
ments  I.,  p.  551. 
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S^'atcs  were  closed.  The  officers  away  from  their  posts  started 
to  rejoin  them,  and  those  on  duty  at  the  upper  part  of  the  island 

experienced  great  difficult)'  in  returning.  M.  de  Subcrcasc 
went  immediately  to  the  camp  of  which  he  was  in  com- 

mand, and  with  the  fcjrce  at  his  disposal  unhesitatingly  ad- 
vanced to  attack  the  Senecas.  He  was  joined  by  one  hundred 

volunteers.  The  troops  from  the  upper  forts  were  added  to 
this  body,  and  the  whole  proceeded  onwards.  As  the  men 
pas.scd  by  the  burning  houses,  and  looked  upon  several  of  the 

inhabitants,  each  tied  to  a  stake  and  burned,  they  became 
more  desirous  of  meeting  antl  puinshing  their  enemy,  whose 
l)ath  was  thus  marked  by  blood  and  destruction.  From  a 

surgeon  who  had  escaped,  de  Subcrcasc  learned  diat  the  Sene- 
cas had  established  themselves  in  a  wood,  half  a  league  to 

the  west.  Placing  the  volunteers  as  scouts  on  his  wings,  for 

there  was  some  woody  land  to  pass  through,  de  Subercase 
pressed  forward.  He  had  proceeded  but  a  short  distance, 

when  the  order  was  passed  from  the  rear  to  the  front  to  halt. 

De  Subercase  treated  the  command  with  contemi)t,  and 

was  hurrying  his  advance,  when  he  was  joined  by  de  Vau- 
dreuil.  Unfortunately,  the  best  soldier  of  high  rank  in 

Canada  was  ab.sent,  de  Callieres  ;  and  it  i.'-  in  an  hour  of 
emergency  like  this,  that  the  presence  of  a  commanding 

intellect  is  felt  in  its  full  worth.  De  Callieres  was  in  h'rance, 
urging  his  project  for  the  conquest  of  New  York.  The  posi- 

tion which  he  would  have  filled  was  taken  by  M.  de  Vaudrcui'. 
M.  de  Vaudreuil  joined  de  Subercase  with  an  order  from 

de  Denonville  that  nothing  was  to  be  risked,  and  the  halt 

was  commanded.  De  Subercase  was  indignant  ;*  still  there 
was  no  course  but  to  obey.  During  the  halt,  an  officer  with 

;i  small  part)'  pushed  forward  into  the  woods.  They  found 
some  of  the  Iroquois  stupefied  with  drink.  They  learned  the 
nc.vt  night  from  a  hixlntant,  who  had  been  a  prisoner  and  who 

had  escaped,  that  three-fourths  of  them  were  dead-drunk 
from  the  brandy  which  they  had  stolen.  Had  they  been 
attacked,    their  destruction  would    have   been  certain.     The 

*   "  lis  en  vinrent  an  gros  mots."     Recucil  p.  23. 
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retreat,  however,  was  ordered,  and  the  column  returned  to  the 

flyin<,f  camp.  So  little  provision  had  been  made  against  any 
serious  attack,  that  there  was  hut  little  powder  in  the  camp, 

and  two  barrels  had  to  be  obtained  from  the  magazine. 
At  ten  in  the  morning  the  Iroquois  took  to  their  canoes. 

They  landed  near  to  Fort  Presentation,  and  passed  before 

it  within  range.  "  Four  hundred  men,"  says  the  writer, 

"  would  have  scattered  them,  but  nothing  was  done."  De 
Subercase  proposed  a  sortie,  and  a  hundred  volunteers 
marched  out  under  the  command  of  St.  Jean.  They  advanced 
towards  the  bush,  where  some  Iroquois  were  established,  and 

some  shots  were  exchanged.  During  the  skirmish,  a  party 
of  fifty  Frenchmen  and  thirty  Indians  which  had  left  Fort 

Remy,  endeavoured  to  join  the  detachment.  They  were 

vigorously  attacked  by  a  large  body  of  Iroquois,  and  defeated 
in  the  presence  of  the  French  force  ;  orders  having  been 

imperatively  given  that  no  advance  beyond  a  certain  point 
should  be  made.  No  aid  was  given  them,  and  they  were 

overpowered  without  the  slightest  effort  to  rescue  them.  The 

Commandant,  de  la  Robeyre,  was  taken  prisoner  and  was 
afterwards  burned.  The  Christian  Indians  fought  desperately. 
Most  of  them  were  killed.  The  Baron  de  Longueuil  had  his 

arm  broken,  and  was  carried  back  to  Fort  Remy.  Some 
few  of  the  most  active  escaped  by  distancing  their  pursuers, 

but  the  majority  were  killed  or  taken  prisoners,  and  ̂ ne  small 
force  was  annihilated. 

No  attack  was  made  on  Montreal,  or  any  of  the  forts  in 

the  neighbourhood.  But  the  Iroquois  devastations  extended 

as  far  as  Point  aux  Trembles.  Finall)',  the  Iroquois  took 

thei.-  departure.  They  embarked  in  their  canoes  and  crossed 

to  the  opposite  shore  to  Chateauguaj'.  /\s  the}-  were  leaving 
they  gave  ninety  yells,  to  denote  the  number  of  the  captives 

they  had  taken,  one  for  each  prisoner.  They,  however,  suc- 
ceeded in  seizing  one  hundred  and  twenty  of  those  whom 

they  had  attacked.  The  fires  were  seen  from  Lachinc,  where 

the  unhappy  prisoners  were  tortured  and  burnt.  There  were 
rive  thus  sacrificed  in  view  of  their  countrymen  ;  sufficient  to 
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a[)pcasc  Iroquois  rage  and  malii:;nity,  and  the  remainder  were 

carried  away  to  be  distributed  amon<j  the  confederates. 
The  record  also  exists  that  some  children  were  roasted  and 

eaten.  As  the}'  were  leavinsr  the  Canadian  shore  they 

shrieked,  "  Ononthio,  you  cheated  us  ;  now  we  cheat  you." 
The  estimate  has  been  made  that  during  this  terrible  night 

two  hundred  were  killed.* 
The  canoes  paddled  homeward  on  the  following  day  ;  and 

for  weeks  the  Iroquois  parties  hung  about  the  island.  Their 

canoes  were  constantly  threatening  attack.  In  one  of  these 

expeditions,  they  were  met  in  the  Lake  of  the  Two  Moun- 
tains by  du  Luth,  who  had  been  sent  out  to  reconnoitre  the 

River  Ottawa.  There  were  twenty-seven  men  in  his  canoes. 
The  Iroquois  consisted  of  about  the  .same  number,  and  the  sun 
was  in  their  eyes.  Du  Luth  ordered  his  men  to  make  no 

attack,  and  they  continued  steadily  to  paddle  towards  the 

enem\'.  The  Iroquois  commenced  firing  unsteadily,  hence 
without  effect.  Du  Luth  still  advanced,  until  his  canoes 

were  within  easy  range.  Every  man  in  his  party  deliberately 
covered  an  individual  enemy,  and  the  whole  fired.  They 

killed  or  wounded  the  whole  of  the  Iroquois,  and  those  who 

fell  into  the  river  were  drowned.  Two  only  escaped  with 

life.  Both  were  seized.  One  was  landed  and  immcdiateh' 

burned,  while  the  other  met  the  same  fate  in  Montreal  b\- 
the  order  of  de  Denonville. 

This  was  the  one  act  of  prowess  to  cheer  M.  de  Frontenac, 
when  he  returned  to  Canada  in  the  autumn  for  his  second 

governorship,  as  the  recall  of  de  Denonville  had  been  de- 

tL'rniined  on.  Even,  with  the  support  which  M.  ilc  Denon- 

\  illc  had  recei\-ed  from  the  ecclesiastics,  his  government  had 
proved  in  every  respect  unfortunate,  and,  what  more  imme- 

diately affected  him,  was  so  considered   in  h^ance.     Me   hml 

*  'riii;  exprcs'-'iiii  is  ])ieseive(l  by  ile  Ik-liuoiit  :  'on  nous  .i  tmni]K>,  Onon- 

thio ;  on  te  trompos  aussy.'  The  Icini  'Oiuiiilhio'  w.is  applicil  to  the  (iovornois 
of  Canada  from  liie  days  of  de  MontmaLjny.  The  Iro(|uois,  leaniint;  lliat  the 

name  niL';uit  '(.iieat  Mountain,'  translate!  it  into  their  own  lanL;iiaf;e  as  'Onon- 

thio,' and  the  word  was  long  retained  by  them,  to  he  ai)|)hed  to  every  Governor. 
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seen  Canada  brought  to  the  verge  of  ruin.  So  demoralized 

was  the  power  of  M.  de  Denonvillc,  that  he  ordered  Fort 

Cataraqui  to  be  abandoned,  and  the  buildings  to  be  destroyed. 
The  Bishop  to  the  last  could  only  see  in  him  an  able  and 
virtuous  administrator.  M.  dc  Denonville  was  prepared  to 
do  all  the  Bishop  demanded,  to  extend  to  the  ecclesiastics  full 
consideration,  to  constitute  them  his  advisers,  and  to  increa.se 

their  number.  The  difficulty  of  the  crisis  in  which  he  was 

placed,  was  to  be  met  in  another  way  than  by  personal  de- 
votion. His  conduct,  with  that  of  Intcndant  de  Champigny. 

stands  out  in  the  annals  of  French  Canada  as  the  greatest  act 

of  treachery  to  the  Indians,  committed  by  the  King's  repre- 
sentative. A  few  years  of  such  policy,  with  English  Gover- 

nors of  the  ability  of  Dongan,  supported  by  the  Court  of  St. 

James,  and  New  France  would  have  ceased  to  exist.  Never- 
theless, his  conduct  was  approved  and  justified  by  his  ad- 

visers in  Canada.  On  the  other  hand,  if  his  administration 

was  condemned,  personally  he  lost  no  prestige ;  for,  on  his 
return  to  France,  he  was  appointed  governor  to  the  young 
Dukes,  for  which  duty  he  was  fitted  by  the  respectability  of 
his  life.  No  Governor  ever  left  the  Colony  so  little  regretted 

by  the  soldier  who  defended  it,  by  the  habitant  who  culti- 
vated the  soil,  and  the  merchant  who  conducted  its  com- 

merce. 

There  is  one  historical  question  in  connection  with  this  mas- 
.sacre.  Did  it  originate  at  the  dictate  of  English  authority  ? 

Was  it  in  any  way  fostered  by  the  Government  at  Albany? 
It  has  been  pretended  that  such  was  the  case.  Those  who 
advance  this  opinion  do  so  simply  on  surmise,  and  all  evidence 

is  against  it.  The  attack  on  Lachine  was  dictated  alone  by 
the  love  of  revenge  which  marks  the  Indian.  The  seizure  of 

the  Iroquois  at  Cataraqui,  with  the  attack  on  the  Seneca  depu- 

tation at  La  Famine,  attributed  to  the  Governor's  treason, 
exercised  n,  powerful  influence  on  savage  thought.  The 
main  cause  of  hate,  however,  lay  in  the  attack  on  the 

Seneca  villages  in  August  of  1C87.  Great  injury  was  suf- 
fered, but  the  blow  was  not  of  sufficient  force  to  strike  terror 
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and  repress  all  future  self-assertion.     It  went  no  further  than 
to  awaken  hatred. 

The  great  argument  against  such  an  expedition  having  been 
countenanced  by  the  Engli.sh  of  New  York  was  its  political 
inexpediency  in  every  point  of  view.  Its  failure  would  have 

humbled  the  Senecas,  and  have  caused  them  to  seek  an  inde- 
pendent peace  with  the  French.  Its  success,  by  increasing 

their  sense  of  power,  would  have  added  to  their  arrogance  in 

their  relations  with  New  York.  It  could  bring  no  advantage 
of  any  kind  to  the  Government  at  Albany.  There  was  no 

personal  ill-feeling  between  the  Governments  of  Quebec  and 

New  York.  There  was  no  wrong  calling  for  an  avenging  retali- 

ation, no  venomous  spite  to  gratify  on  either  side.  The  inter- 
ests of  New  York  were  in  every  direction  against  the  expedi- 

tion. No  benefit  could  arise  from  it  for  the  English  Colonies. 
When  the  hour  of  declared  hostility  came,  the  attack  was  not 

treacherously  made,  no  slight  argument  in  considering  this 
event.  The  conquest  of  Canada  was  attempted  directly  and 

openly.  The  attempt  failed  in  i6go,  and  again  in  171 1.  But 

these  expeditions  establish  that  Great  Britain,  in  endeavour- 
ing to  seize  Canada,  counted  on  success  by  other  means  than 

on  an  Indian  war  of  extermination  on  outlying  settlements. 
It  remained  for  de  Frontenac  and  his  successors  to  endeavour 

to  drive  back  British  advanced  settlement  in  this  form  ;  the 

policy  which  is  the  blot  on  the  escutcheon  of  France,  which 
in  Languedoc  crushed  the  Protestant  in  ruin  or  death  on 

acc'-unt  of  his  belief,  and  turned  the  Palatinate  into  a 
wilderness. 
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CHAPTER  VI. 

There  are  few  events  in  Canadian  history  more  difificult  to 

describe,  than  the  closing  scenes  of  de  La  Salle's  life.  He 
has  himself  left  no  narrative  of  what  happened.  Both  the 

purpose  that  he  had  in  view,  and  the  proceedings  he  took 

to  effect  it,  arc  covered  with  mystery.  The  documents  which 
remain  from  his  hand  were  written  for  special  purposes,  to 

attain  the  end  of  the  moment,  and  cannot  be  accepted  as  un- 

questionable evidence.  De  La  Salle's  whole  career  estab- 
lishes that  he  was  unable  to  form  effective  combinations,  and 

that  he  was  incapable  of  enforcing  the  quiet  but  firm  discipline 

indispensable  to  success.  It  is  difficult  to  discover  the  true 

policy  he  had  in  view,  in  his  voyage  to  the  Gulf  of  Mexico. 
In  every  previous  effort  of  his  life,  one  dominant  principle  is 

apparent :  it  was  to  obtain  peltry  in  exchange  for  French 

goods,  and  to  sell  the  furs  profitably  in  Fra^^ce.  Was  he 
actuated  by  a  higher  principle  in  his  last  expedition  ?  It 

may  be  affirmed  that,  in  its  inception,  his  first  descent  of  the 
Mississippi  had  no  other  origin  than  this,  that,  as  the  territory 

hitherto  worked  for  furs  ceased  to  yield  the  advantages  of 

former  days,  it  became  necessary  for  de  La  Salle  to  extend 

his  operations  to  more  distant  fields.  It  is  difificult  to  assign 
any  other  object  for  his  first  explorations,  except  the  desire 

to  obtain  a  knowledge  of  the  localities  to  which  his  trade  rela- 
tions might  penetrate.  The  recall  of  de  Frontcnac  had  great 

influence  on  de  La  Salle's  fortunes,  and  the  inference  is,  that 
if  no  change  of  Government  had  then  taken  place,  his  career 

might  have  been  less  embarrassed  and  less  unfortunate. 
No  such  adverse  circumstances  can  be  traced  in  his  mari- 

time expedition  to  the  mouth  of  the  Mississippi  as  those  by 
which  he  suffered  in  Canada.  The  course  followed  by  him 

was  the  uncontrolled  suggestion  of  his  own  deliberation  and 
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purpose.  No  one  but  himself  can  be  held  responsible  for  the 

consequences. 

Whatever  admiration  we  may  feel  for  de  La  Salle's  nobler 
qualities,  we  look  in  vain  for  statesmanlike  views  '^r  for  the 
genius  which  conceives  a  wise  and  sound  policy.  On  the  con- 

trary, all  that  is  recorded  of  his  life  is  vague,  marked  by  un- 
certainty and  hesitation.  His  want  of  success  cannot  wholly 

be  affiliated  to  misfortune.  There  is  nothing  to  suggest  that 

he  had  any  conception  of  a  result  desirable  to  attain.  We 

are  forced  to  recognize  the  reckless  pursuit  of  aji  unde- 
fined object.  Whatever  the  courage  and  fortitude  shewn  by 

him,  they  were  unaccompanied  by  the  forethought  and  wis- 
dom that  the  exigencies  of  his  desperate  position  should 

have  called  forth.     All  was  confusion  and  want  of  purpose. 

De  La  Salle,  when  he  had  reached  the  mouths  of  the  Mis- 
sissippi on  the  9th  of  April,  1682,  and  had  taken  possession  of 

the  country  by  his  proclamatfbn  to  the  two  score  of  men  and 

women  standing  by  his  side,  reascended  the  river.  They  had 
but  little  provision,  and  had  to  live  as  they  were  best  able. 

Alligators'  flesh  to  some  e.vtcnt  furnished  them  food.  As  occa- 
sion offered,  they  obtained  corn  from  the  tribes  friendly  to 

them  ;  but  the  Indians  generally  shewed  themselves  to  be  hos- 
tile. By  the  time  they  reached  Fort  Prudhomme,  de  La  Salle 

was  so  ill  that  he  was  unable  to  proceed  ;  doubtless  from  the 

depressing  fever  and  ague  caused  by  the  miasma  in  the 
undrained  countries  of  those  latitudes,  especially  near  rivers. 

.Accordingly,  Tonty  was  despatched  to  Michilimackinac, 
whence  he  was  to  forward  the  news  to  Canada,  announcing 
what  was  then  called  the  discovery  of  the  mouths  of  the 

Mississippi,  and  is  so  spoken  of  to  this  day. 

De  La  Salle  remained  at  Fort  Prudhomme  until  Septem- 
ber, attended  by  Father  Membre.  From  the  latter  we  learn, 

that  at  that  date,  de  La  Salle  expressed  the  determination  of 

forming  .settlements  near  the  mouth  of  the  river.  On  his 

recovery  he  proceeded  to  Michilimackinac,  where  he  found 

Tonty,  whom  he  despatched  to  the  Illinois,  with  what  men 
could  be  collected  to  construct  a  fort,  naming  as  the  site  a 
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rock  on  the  south  side  of  the  river  which  had  previously 

attracted  his  attention.*  De  La  Salle  had  formed  the  opinion 
on  this  occasion,  that,  if  defended  by  a  few  resolute  men,  it 

was  impregnable.  It  so  proved  in  March,  1684,  when  for  six 
days  it  was  attacked  by  the  Iroquois.  Dc  La  Salle  himself 

was  preparing  to  leave  for  Montreal,  when  news  reached  him 

that  an  attack  from  the  Iroquois  on  the  Miamis  was  threat- 
ened. Considering  his  own  men  to  be  involved  in  the  danger 

he  retraced  his  steps  to  the  Illinois,  personally  to  direct  the 
work,  and  in  a  few  weeks  the  fort  was  placed  in  a  condition 

capable  of  defence.  One  of  the  consequences  of  its  construc- 
tion was,  that  the  tribes,  threatened  by  the  hostility  of  the 

Iroquois,  established  themselves  in  its  neighbourhood.  The 
garrison  consisted  of  twenty  Frenchmen  and  Canadians. 
De  La  Salle  afterwards  represented  that  twenty  thousand 
Indians  had  been  gathered  there,  with  four  thousand  warriors  ; 

evidently  an  exaggeration,  or  a  statement  to  be  explained 
as  including  the  population  of  the  surrounding  territory. 

There  could  have  been  no  means  of  feeding  so  many  Indians, 

always  exacting  and  shiftless  ;  but  there  was  doubtless  a 

large  number  attracted  by  the  presence  of  the  French. 
The  fort  was  finished  in  March,  1683,  when  de  La  Salle 

heard  that  his  friend  and  protector,  de  Frontenac,  had  left 
Canada.  He  therefore  addressed  himself  to  the  new  Gov- 

ernor, de  la  Barre,-|-  asking  for  countenance  and  support.     He 

*  Mr.  P.irkman  specially  visited  the  River  Illinois  and  examined  the  ground, 
in  order  to  ideiuify  the  spot  where  Fort  St.  Louis  was  constructed  in  1682.  He 

describes  the  locality  as  a  rock  on  the  south  side  of  the  Illinois  at  the  junction  of 

the  River  Vermilion,  with  a  narrow  plateau  on  the  summit  rising  to  the  height 

of  one  hundred  and  twenty-five  feet  on  a  length  of  four  miles,  precipitous  and 
inaccessible,  except  by  an  ascent  from  the  east.  The  village  of  Utica  on  the 

north  side  is  opjiosite  to  the  eastern  end  of  this  rock.  The  present  River  Vermil- 

ion is  she\vn  on  l'"rench  maps  as  the  Aramoni. 

Spoken  of  by  the  French  as  "  Le  Rocher,"  in  modern  times  the  place  is 
known  as  the  "  Starved  Rock,"  from  the  tradition  that  after  the  Indi.m  war  with 
Pontiac  in  1764,  some  Indians,  who  had  taken  refuge  on  the  summit,  were 

beseiged  by  the  I'ottawatamies,  and  starved  to  death. 
[France  and  England  in  North  America,  III.,  p.  22j.] 

+  2nd  April,  1683. 



round, 
He 

ption  of 

height 
■us  and 

I  on  the 

'ermil- 

(ace   is 

\iV  with 
were 

1683] 
I)E   LA    BARRE'S   opposition. I  I  I 

reported  the  success  of  his  expedition,  and  dwelt  on  the 

necessity  of  establishing^  colonists  along  the  route  which  he 

had  opened,  a  policy  which  he  had  commeiiced  to  carry  out; 
and  earnestly  asked  that  such  of  his  men,  as  were  sent  by 
him  to  Montreal  for  supplies,  should  not  be  arrested.  In  his 
second  letter  he  speaks  of  the  threatened  Iroquois  attack, 
and  again  asks  that  his  men  should  not  be  detained,  as  he 
was  in  need  of  reinforcements  ;  likewise,  that  no  seizure 

of  his  property  in  Montreal  should  be  permitted,  as  he  was  in 
want  of  munitions  and  supplies.  He  represented  that  he  had 

but  twenty  men  a  id  only  a  hundred  pounds  of  powder. 

It  was  evidently  the  duty  of  de  la  Barre,  if  the  Illinois 
settlement  was  to  be  maintained,  either  to  permit  de  La  Salle 

to  procure  the  means  of  defence  that  he  was  endeavouring 
to  obtain,  or  to  take  the  fort  from  his  possession  and  hold  it 

under  Royal  authority  with  an  efficient  garrison,  and  sufficient 
provisions  and  material  of  war.  M.  de  la  Barre  had  other 
views,  for  he  had  connected  himself  with  a  clique  in  the  colony, 

intent  on  the  monopoly  of  the  western  fur  trade.  He  be- 
lieved in  their  representations,  that  by  acting  with  them  he 

would  be  enabled  to  obtain  large  profits.  The  principals  in 

this  arrangement  were  de  la  Chesnaye,  Le  Ber,  and  Le  Moyne. 

Seeing  matters  as  these  parties  represented  them,  the  Gover- 

nor could  only  look  on  de  La  Salle  as  a  rival.  Accordingl}-, 

he  endeavoured  to  make  de  La  Salle's  -uccess  impossible  and 

to  destroy  his  prestige.  M.  de  la  Barre's  official  position  gave 
him  extraordinary  power,  and  he  availed  him.self  of  it  to 
denounce  de  La  Salle  to  M.  de  Seignelay. 

One  point  could  always  be  urged  with  Louis  XIV.,  who, 
permitting  nothing  to  be  done  without  his  authority,  would 

be  struck  by  an  appeal  for  its  enforcement  in  au}'  direction. 
The  King  had  expressed  the  desire  that  men  should  remain  on 

their  farms  and  patiently  cultivate  them,  remaining  side  by 

side,  as  much  in  the  east  of  Canada  as  possible,  in  communi- 
cation with  France.  He  was  constantly  expressing  his 

opposition  to  widening  the  area  of  settlement.  M.  de  la  Barre 

represented  de  La  Salle  as  giving  false  reports  of    his  dis- 
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coveries  and  as  encouraging  all  the  bankrupts  and  roving 
spirits  of  the  country  to  join  hirn  in  building  up  a  power  in 
the  far  west.  The  first  effort  of  the  Governor  was  directed 

against  the  personal  credit  of  de  La  Salle  in  France.  If  this 
end  were  obtained,  he,  with  his  associates,  would  be  able  to 
ruin  de  La  Salle  in  Canada. 

At  this  date  de  La  Salle  had  no  reason  to  believe  that  there 

was  a  want  of  friendly  feeling  to  him  on  the  part  of  the  new 

Governor,  but  a  short  time  only  was  to  elapse  before  he  was 
made  fully  sensible  of  the  fact.  No  supplies  were  sent  him, 

and  his  men  were  made  prisoners  in  "  lontrcal  as  transgressors 
of  the  law.  M.  de  la  Barre  al.so  determined  on  the  seizure  of 

Fort  Frontenac,  on  the  pretence  that  the  conditions  on  which 

the  grant  had  been  made  had  not  been  carried  out.  In  1683 
he  sent  de  La  Chesnaye  and  Le  Ber,  who  took  possession  of 

it  by  Royal  authority.  They  were  willing  to  retain  the  ser- 

vices of  La  Forest,  de  La  Salle's  lieutenant,  if  he  would  act 
in  their  interest.  The  offer  was  declined,  and  La  Forest  left 

the  country.  De  La  Salle  subsequently  complained  that  his 
stores  and  property  had  been  seized  and  misappropriated. 
The  Governor  justified  the  proceeding  on  the  ground  of  the 

insufficiency  of  the  garrison  ;  an  irregularity  which  de  La 

Salle's  operations  elsewhere  might  have  been  considered  to 
condone. 

In  these  difficulties  de  La  Salle  determined  to  proceed  to 

France,  and  appeal  in  person  to  the  Minister.  He  had,  how- 

ever, to  experience  a  further  proof  of  de  la  Barre's  enmit}-. 
As  he  was  descending  the  Lakes  he  met  the  Chevalier  de  Bau- 
gis,  who  had  been  sent  up  by  the  Governor  to  take  possession  of 
the  fort  on  the  Illinois.  This  order  had  been  given  without  the 

garrison  being  strengthened,  and  it  had  only  in  view  the  re- 
moval of  de  La  Salle.  The  latter  saw  the  necessity  of  accepting 

the  situation,  and  wrote  by  the  Chevalier  to  Tonty,  telling 

him  to  receive  M.  de  Baugis  with  all  respect.  Tonty  and  de 

Baugis  passed  the  winter  together,  their  relations  being  per- 

fectly friendly.  Circumstances,  indeed,  called  for  cordial  co- 
operation.    They  were  constantly  expecting  attack.     In  the 
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spring  of  1680  a  large  band  of  IroqiKjis  did  besiege  the  fort. 
Tonty  tells  us  that  the  attack  lasted  for  six  days,  and  that, 

failing  to  make  any  impression,  the  besieging  force  withdrew. 
In  1684,  de  La  Salle  was  busy  in  France,  endeavouring  to 

find  support  for  the  projects  that  he  had  laid  before  the 
Minister.  The  hostile  attitude  of  Spain  greatly  assisted  him. 

The  city  of  Strasbourg  had  been  lately  seized  by  Louis  XIV. 
Alost,  a  small  town  between  Ghent  and  Brussels,  had  been 

likewise  claimed  arrogantly  from  Spain.  Luxembourg  had 
been  cannonaded  and  taken  ;  Genoa  had  been  bombarded  on 

the  ground  that,  the  Republic  had  engaged  to  furnish  galleys 

to  Spain,  and  had  accordingly  shewn  hostility  to  France.  All 
efforts  to  attain  redress  at  Versailles  having  failed,  Spain  was 

.so  carried  away  by  indignation  as  to  declare  war,  although  ill 

prepared  for  it.  Hostilities,  however,  were  not  long  continued, 
for  peace  was  made  on  the  1 5th  of  August,  1684,  by  the  truce  of 
Ratisbon.  It  has  been  made  a  reproach  against  de  La  Salle 

that  he  proposed  an  attack  on  the  Spanish  American 
Province  of  New  Biscay,  and  the  mines  of  St.  Barbe.  In  the 

actual  condition  of  war  such  an  expedition  was  perfectly  justi- 
fiable. The  graver  suspicion,  based  on  the  insufficient  means 

he  asked  to  be  furnished  him,  suggests  either  that  he  could 

not  have  been  sincere  in  making  the  proposal,  or  that  he 
counted  on  being  sustained  after  his  arrival  by  an  immediate 

and  powerful  reinforcement  of  men  and  material  of  war. 
It  was  not  the  first  time  that  France  had  made  pretensions 

to  the  country  in  the  Gulf  of  Mexico  ;  or,  in  other  words,  to 

establish  a  F^'ench  port  there.  As  early  as  1669,  Louis  XIV., 

had  addressed  a  letter  to  the  Comte  d'Estrees,  asking,  in  view 
of  the  good  of  the  service  and  the  advantage  of  his  subjects 
in  the  West  India  Islands,  whether  the  filibusters  should  be 

allowed  to  make  war  against  Spanish  ships.  In  1672,  Colbert 

threatened  reprisals  if  French  vessels  were  interfered  with  in 

the  Gulf.  In  1679,  the  Comte  d'Flstrees  presented  a  Memoir 
in  which  he  set  forth  that  it  would  not  be  difficult  to  seize  the 

prominent  positions  in  Spanish  America,  naming  especially 
Carthagena  and   Havana.     In   the  same  year  matters  were 
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brought  to  a  crisis.  In  the  month  of  July,  a  small  fri^^itc, 
commanded  by  Captain  Longchamps,  was  seized  by  the 
Spanish  squadron,  under  the  command  of  Ouintana,  who 
made  the  captain  and  crew  prisoners,  and  carried  them  to 
Porto  Bello,  on  the  ground  that  he  had  received  orders  to 

prevent  the  navigation  of  the  Gulf  of  Mexico  by  French 

vessels.  Accordingly,  M.  d'Estrecs  was  sent  out  with  a  force 
to  find  Ouintana,  and  to  compel  him  to  salute  a  vessel  of 

strength  inferior  to  his  own,  bearing  a  French  flag  ;  and,  as  it 
was  not  to  be  expected  that  he  would  obtain  full  satisfaction, 

to  find  grounds  for  fighting  him.  Further  he  was  everywhere 
to  declare  the  nature  of  the  service  on  which  he  was  engaged. 
In  1682  the  same  instructions  were  given  to  Gobaret,  who 

was  placed  in  command  of  three  vessels.  He  was  ordered  to 

observe  the  several  ports,  to  cruise  in  the  Gulf  of  Mexico, 
and  if  he  found  Spanish  ships  there  to  fight  them  ;  likewise, 

to  visit  all  foreign  ships  to  see  if  they  contained  French 
prisoners.  The  English  were  excepted  from  this  order.  No 
encounter  took  place,  for  the  vessels  of  Spain  and  France  did 
not  meet. 

About  this  date,  Comte  de  Pefialossa  appeared  in  Paris. 

He  was  a  Creole,  of  Spanish  blood,  born  in  Peru  in  1C24. 

He  was  of  good  family,  and  had  held  many  positions  of 
honour.  In  1661,  he  was  Governor  of  New  Mexico.  He 

himself  states  that  he  there  arrested  an  Inquisitor  who  had 

interfered  with  his  authorit)'.  Subsequently,  on  proceeding 
to  Mexico,  he  himself  was  arrested  by  the  all-powerful 

Inquisition.  For  thirty-two  months  he  was  kept  a  prisoner. 
His  property  was  seized  and  sold  for  a  fourth  of  its  value, 

the  sum  obtained  being  eighty-six  thousand  ecus.  He  was 

fined  fifty-one  thousand  ecus  ;  the  remaining  thirty-five 
thousand  were  also  withheld  from  him.  Accordingly,  he 

determined  to  go  to  Spain  to  appeal  for  justice.  Possibly,  it 
was  felt  that  at  Madrid,  he  would  be  more  thoroughly  in  the 

power  of  the  Inquisition,  and  that  his  arrest  on  his  arrival 
had  been  determined.  In  1668,  he  reached  Vera  Cruz.  Thence 

he  gained  Teneriffe,  where,  meeting  an   English  vessel,  he 

*iSth 

I'establissei Kivieie  ap; 
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sailed  for  London.  He  was  kindlj'  received  by  the  Duke  of 

York.  From  Lontlon  he  proceeded  to  I'ari.s,  where  he  found 
the  condition.s  of  hfc  .so  much  to  his  Hkin^  that  he  resolved  to 

renounce  his  Spanish  allegiance  and  become  a  subject  of 
I^'rancc. 

Like  all  men  who  had  undergone  this  revulsion  of  feeling, 

he  was  exceedingly  embittered  against  his  native  country, 

and  especially  against  the  Spaniards  of  Mexico.  On  several 

occasions,  he  accu.ses  them  of  treating  the  native  Spanish 

Mexicans  with  cruelty  and  injustice,  and,  having  his  own  in- 
juries to  avenge,  he  believed  that  he  was  acting  patriotically 

to  his  new  country,  by  proposing  an  attack  on  the  Mexican 

possessions. 
Ivirly  in  1682  he  addressed  the  French  Government  on  the 

subject.  In  this  Memoir*  he  proposed  the  conquest  of  the 
northern  province  of  New  Bi.scay.  He  argued  tliat  all  the 
Indians,  Metis,  Mulattos  and  Spaniards  born  in  America 

hated  the  Spaniards,  and  that  they  would  willingly  ally  them- 
selves with  the  French,  as  being  Roman  Catholics.  The  gold 

mines  of  San  Diego  and  the  lead  mines  of  Santa  Barbara 

would  prove  the  source  of  great  wealth.  He  asked  no  money, 

but  simply  de  Seignelay's  protection.  He  would  arm  eighteen 
hundred  buccaneers  of  San  Domingo,  and  with  this  force 

make  the  attempt.  The  population  of  that  island  was  then 
from  six  to  seven  thou.sand  Frenchmen,  with  seven  hundred 

women,  taking  no  account  of  the  Indians.  In  1684,  de  La 

Salle  was  in  Paris.  In  January  of  that  year  Peilalossa  presented 
a  second  Memoir.  He  suggested  two  modes  of  attack.  The 

first  was  to  proceed  to  Panuco  with  a  thousand  or  twelve  hun- 
dred filibusters,  and  one  Grammont  as  his  second  in  command. 

He  stated  his  willingness  to  be  hanged  on  the  first  tree  if  he 

gave  false  information,  or  failed  in  his  promises.  He  was  cer- 
tain of  success.     He  set  forth  that  it  was  only  with  difficulty 

*  iSth  January,  1682.  "Memoiie  pour  Mi;r.  le  Marquis  de  Seignelay  louchant 

restahlisseinent  d'une  nouvelle  colonic  dans  la  Florida,  dans  reinljouchiire  de  la 

Riviere  apjielee  Rio  Braso,  et  les  avantages  qu"en  peuvent  revenir  au  Roi  et  a  ses 

sujels." 
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that  .soldiers  cfuild  be  brou<jht  to  New  l^iscay.  The  mines 

would  yield  a  revenue  of  from  twenty  to  twenty-five  millions 
ecus,  and  would  in  themselves  repay  the  cost  of  the  enterprise. 
There  was  little  fear  of  opposition.  The  Governor  of  Mexico 

dared  not  leave  the  capital  for  fear  of  revolt,  and  if  troops 
were  despatched,  the  men  sent  forward  would  never  find  their 

way  to  the  place  attacked.  He  asked  the  (iovcrnment,  to  un- 
dertake the  assemhlajfe  of  the  filibusters  in  San  Dominj^fo, 

the  means  of  landing  them,  and  to  furnish  them  six  months' 
rations. 

The  second  scheme  was  to  ascend  the  Rio  Braso,  the  pres- 

ent Rio  Grande,  which  I'cHalossa  confounded  with  the  Mis- 

sissippi. De  La  Salle  had  lately  arrived  in  France.  I'cAalossa 
speaks  of  him  as  beiiifj;  in  possession  of  Fort  St.  Louis,  on  the 
Illinois,  held  by  a  French  garrison,  and  a  good  commandant, 

with  four  thousand  Indians,  armed  and  disciplined,*  and  as 
having  built  four  other  forts.  His  assistance  is  accordingly 

counted  upon  as  a  matter  of  course. 

i'enalossa  was  evidently  the  man  to  believe  what  he  wished. 
Me  speaks  of  the  arms  of  His  Majesty,  set  up  by  de  La  Salle 

in  localities  on  the  Mississippi,  as  Ining  held  so  sacred  by  the 
Indians  that  they  offer  sacrifices  to  them.  He  explains  that 

the  design  in  establishing  a  port  on  the  Gulf  of  Mexico,  was 

that  France,  at  the  first  rupture  with  Spain,  would  have  a 

basis  to  attack  her  Mexican  possessions.  De  La  .Salle's  co- 
operation was  therefore  necessary.  If  the  main  enterprise 

were  deferred  for  a  time,  de  La  Salle  could  proceed  to  the 

Gulf  of  Mexico,  and  place  matters  in  such  a  condition,  that 

the  project  in  view  could  eventually  be  carried  out. 

To  tho.sc  knowing  de  La  Salle's  Canadian  career,  these 
statements  read  strangely  untrue.  Until  he  had  met  Pcna- 
lossa  in  Faris,  such  theories  formed  no  part  of  his  project. 

He  had  descended  the  Mississippi,  with  the  design  of  extending 

the  operations  in  the  trade  of  furs  in  which  he  was  engaged. 
His  occupation  of  Fort  Frontenac  furnishes  full  evidence  that 

*  "  Et  quatre  mille  s.iuvages  qii'il  a  arnits  et  disciplinez  du  nombre  de  plus  de 
dix  liiiit  mil  persciniies  qui  se  sont  habituees  aux  environs  de  son  fort." 



l6S4] 
I)K    LA   SALLE'S    MtMOIRK. 

117 

he  had  ill  no  way  countenanced  an)-  i)lan  of  settlement ;  and  it 

is  most  probable  that  he  had  never  heard  of  the  I'rovince  of 
New  Biscay  until  this  date.  It  is  equally  evident,  that  Pefia- 
lossa  and  de  La  Salle  had  met,  and  were  actinjf  in  concert. 

The  Memoirs  given  by  both  show  the  reflex  of  the  other's 
influence,  and  that  each  was  rcactin<j  on  the  other  ;  each 

possibly  endeavouring  to  make  use  of  the  other.  It  was  upon 
the  information  that  Peflalossa  had  given  him,  that  de  La  Salle 

took  upon  himself  to  declare  the  enmity  to  Spain,  felt  by  the 

Mississippi  Indians  whom  he  had  met  in  his  descent,  and,  as 
a  consequence,  their  devotion  to  himself  Of  their  feelings 

in  this  respect,  personally,  lie  could  form  no  opinion  of  the 
least  value. 

There  was  something  plausible  in  all  that  was  said  by 

Pei'ialos.sa,  which  no  doubt  appealed  to  the  craving  for  power 
so  apparent  in  the  character  of  Louis  XIV.  Possibly,  if  a 

dash  had  been  made  for  Panuco,  the  expedition  might  have 
succeeded.  The  Abbe  Bcrnoii  .said  of  Peflalossa,  that  he  had 

never  found  him  guilty  of  falsehood  with  regard  to  what  he 

had  said  that  he  had  seen.*  At  this  period,  any  proposition 
for  expeditions  of  this  character  was  submitted  to  the 

Marquis  de  Seignelay.  His  father,  Colbert,  had  inculcated 

as  the  leading  principle  of  his  conduct  the  duty  of  pleasing 

the  King;  and,  excepting  his  pleasures,  and  the  interest  felt 

by  him  in  the  Royal  navy,  he  thought  of  little  beyond. 
No  doubt,  the  Abbe  Bcrnoii  expressed  the  general  view 

of  those  who  had  knowledge  of  the  objects  of  the  expe- 
dition :  that  de  La  Salle  should  proceed  to  the  spot  and 

establish  him.self,  and,  at  the  same  time,  make  the  necessary 

observations,  on  which  the  enterprise  could  be  carried  out 
without  fear  of  mistake.f 

Penalossa  does  not  appear  on  the  scene  after  de  Beaujeu 

returned  to  PVance  in  July,  1685  ;  he  died  in  1687. 

*  "je  lie  r.ii  trouve  meiiteiir  en  rien  de  ce  qu'il  dit  avoir  vu." 

t  "  Si  renterpiise  est  letartli-L- 11  persuadeia  d'autant  plus  aisement  les  iniiiislies 

de  la  necessite  (|u'il  y  a,  qu'il  aille  devaiit,  poui-  s'establir   et   pieinlrc    toutcs  les 
lumieres  necessaires  sur  lesquelles  on  pouria  tout  entreprendre  sans  crainte  de  se 

tiomper." 
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Whatever  the  influence  of  Peiialossa  on  the  tone  of  thought 

of  de  Seignelay,  which  de  La  Salle's  quick  powers  of  obser- 
vation led  him  to  discover,  certainly  de  La  Salle  on  his  side 

represented  matters  on  the  Mississippi  not  in  accordance 

with  their  true  condition.*  The  project  of  the  foundation  of  a 
colony  in  the  newly  discovered  Louisiana,  did  not  meet  general 
acceptance  in  France.  The  descent  of  the  Mississippi  to  the 
Gulf  of  Mexico,  which  he  had  accomplished,  was,  however, 

held  of  greater  importance,  and  obtained  for  him  credit  and 
consideration.  He  was  listened  to  by  de  Seignelay,  and  well 

received  by  the  King.  The  Merciirc  Galant  spoke  of  his 

labours  in  the  toncf  often  taken  by  himself  He  was  repre- 
.sented  as  the  victim  of  the  machinations  of  his  enemies  ;  his 

vessels  had  been  purposely  destroyed  ;  of  his  men  four  hun- 
dred in  number,  all  had  been  seduced  from  his  service  except- 

ing twenty-two  ;  but  he  had  forced  his  way  to  the  river 
mouth,  against  every  obstacle.  He  was  credited  with  knowing 
ten  Indian  languages,  so  that  he  could  judge  the  conditions 

and  feelings  of  the  tribes  he  had  met,  in  the  light  of  their 

devotion  to  himself  and  French  interests  ;  an  important  state- 
ment in  respect  to  his  representations  on  the  subject.  He 

had  discovered  and  pushed  his  expedition  to  the  confines  of 
Mexico.  Midway  he  had  built  a  fort  capable  of  containing 

fifty  men,  .so  the  temporary  entrenchment  above  the  Ohio  was 
described  ;  and  de  La  Salle  had  arrived  in  France  to  make 

his  report  to  the  King. 

In  his  Memoir  to  de  Seignelay  there  was  the  usual  insin- 

cere appeal  to  the  King's  weakness,  that  the  glory  of  God 
would  be  advanced  by  preaching  the  Gospel  to  these  tribes. 

De  La  Salle  set  forth  that  it  had  been  Colbert's  desire  to 
establish  French  .settlements  in  the  territory  where  the 
Spaniards  had  obtained  their  wealth.  He  proposed  to  build 

a  fort  sixty  leagues  above  the  mouth  of  the  river,  representing 

that  it  was  easy  to  found  a  colony  there,  on  account  of  th-?  fe?"- 
tility  of  the  soil,  and  the  temperate  climate.    He  dwelt  on  the 

*  Vide  (locuments  given  l)y  M,  Margiy,  p.  353,  Vol.  II.,  et  scq. 
■\  ̂:..y,  1684. 
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hatred  of  the  Indian  against  the  Spaniard,  describing  the 

tribes  as  devoted  to  himself,  ready  to  follow  him  in  any  enter- 

prise; and  he  counted  on  the  service  of  fifteen  *:housand  Indians, 
prepared  to  rally  round  him  in  his  proposed  undertaking.  He 
then  advocated  the  seizure  of  the  northern  Mexican  Province 

of  New  Biscay,  defended  by  four  hundred  indolent  and 
effeminate  Spaniards.  To  assist  him  in  this  project,  he  asked 
for  a  ve.ssel  and  two  hundred  men  :  not  regular  soldiers,  but 
artizans  who  could  work  and  be  made  soldiers.  He  dwelt 

earnestly  on  the  expediency  of  this  policy,  and  parenthetically 
speaks  of  the  demoralizing  influences  arising  from  the 

presence  of  regular  troops  in  a  country.  He  stated  that  he 
had  ascended  the  Red  River,  named  by  him  the  River 

Seignelay,  sixty  leagues,  some  one  hundred  and  fifty  miles  ; 
an  assertion  in  no  way  warranted. 

He  enlarged  on  the  necessity  of  cons'>.ructing  forts  at  well 
selected  points,  to  prevent  the  country  falling  into  the  hands 
of  the  English  or  Spaniards.  He  proposed  to  recruit  fifty 
buccaneers  at  San  Domingo  ;  to  bring  down  four  thousand 
Illinois  Indians  from  Fort  St.  Louis  ;  to  arm  fifteen  thousand 

Indians  on  the  Mississippi,  a'.d  to  seize  New  Biscay;  or  in 
other  words  Spanish  America,  for  to  this  the  proposition 
virtually  amounted. 

Under  the  system  of  personal  government  in  France  there 
was  no  one  to  make  the  inquiry  if  this  force  really  existed, 
and  in  what  form  its  services  could  be  made  available.  Slight 

consideration  of  de  La  Salle's  statements,  would  have  shewn 
them  to  be  purely  speculative.  The  project  of  arming  the  buc- 

caneers was  more  feasible,  and  dc  Seignclax'  wrote  to  dc  Cussy, 
Governor  of  He  Tortue,  to  assemble  as  many  as  he  could  col- 

lect, to  be  ready  to  start  in  October. 
We  read  the  disastrous  fate  of  the  expedition,  and  wonder  if 

the  statement  of  de  La  Salle  was  miscalculation,  or  misrepre- 
sentation. One  impression  it  is  impossiljlc  to  resist  ;  that  de 

La  Salle  did  not  understand  either  the  character  or  magnitude 

'  4tli  -March,  1684. 
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of  the  difficulties  which  lay  in  his  path,  and  that  he  was 
without  a  policy  to  overcome  tnem. 

Writers  favourable  to  dc  La  Salle  represent  that  the 

Mexican  scheme  had  no  serious  part  in  his  policy,  his  inten- 
tion beinjj^  to  hold  the  mouths  of  the  Mississippi,  and  colonize 

the  territory  in  the  mode  followed  in  later  years ;  and  that  he 
only  used  this  tone  of  argument  to  gain  the  attention  of 
the  Court,  which  otherwise  he  would  have  failed  to  obtain  ; 

that  likewise  he  looked  forward  to  the  early  termination  of  the 

war,  which  would  lead  to  the  abandonment  of  this  part  of  his 

scheme.  This  theory  can  only  be  admitted  on  the  supposi- 

tion, that  de  La  Salle  was  guilty  of  deliberate  misrepresenta- 
tion ;  advancing  for  his  own  purpose  a  project,  of  the  risk  of 

which  he  knew  nothing,  and  staking  on  the  game,  recklessly  and 

dishonestly  for  his  selfish  ends,  the  lives  of  gallant  men  and 
adventurous  women.  Blame  has  been  throwr;  by  him  upon 

every  one  but  himself.  But  it  is  impossible  to  resist  the  con- 
viction that  he  was  without  a  defined  .serious  policy.  He 

trusted  to  the  future  to  carr}-  out  some  successful  tour  deforce^ 
which  would  justify  his  departure  from  the  line  he  had  traced 

out,  and  his  self-reliance  was  unfaltering. 
His  project  obtained  favour  with  the  Government,  and 

sympathy  and  support  were  in  no  way  withheld.  He  received 
more  than  the  countenance  he  asked  for.  The  king  wrote  to 

dc  la  Barrc  and  to  the  Intendant  de  Meulles,  commanding 
them  to  make  restitution  to  de  La  Salle  for  the  injury  done 

him  in  seizing  Fort  Frontenac  and  Fort  Saint  Loui.s.  De  la 
Barre  was  instructed  to  replace  the  former  in  the  hands  of  de 

La  Salle's  lieutenant  La  Forest,  and  likewise  to  make  good 
the  loss  arising  from  his  property  having  been  taken  and 

appropriated. 
Orders  were  given  for  an  expedition  to  be  fitted  out  at  La 

Rochclle.  A  Royal  commission  was  given  to  de  La  Salic  as 
its  leader,  and  it  was  expected  that  it  would  shortly  leave 

France.  The  vessel  selected  was  the  'Joly'  of  thirty-six 
guns.  The  naval  commander  v.a.s  M.  de  Beaujeu,  and  it  is 
upon  his  name  that  censure  has  been   unsparingly  heaped. 
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No  character  in  the  French  history  of  Canada  has  been  held 

up  to  greater  reprobation.  It  is  my  duty  to  examine  into 

the  justice  of  these  accusations,  and  to  endeavour  to  deter- 
mine if  this  verdict  is  warranted  by  the  facts. 

De  Beaujeu  is  distinctly  named  as  the  principal,  indeed 

as  the  only  cause  of  de  La  Salle's  failure.  Doubts  have  been 
cast  upon  his  loyalty,  as  if  he  had  been  a  consenting  party 
to  conduct  designed  to  embarrass  future  operations,  and  had 

persistently  directed  his  efforts  to  mar  the  success  of  the  expe- 
dition. The  perusal  of  the  letters  of  M.  de  Beaujeu  justify 

no  such  view.*  While  the  expedition  was  fitting  out,  several 
objections  were  certainly  raised  by  him  ;  but  they  were  such 
as  prudence  suggested  on  his  part  as  an  experienced  seaman. 
He  was  Norman  by  birth,  and  more  than  once  alludes  to 

the  fact  in  explanation  of  the  opinions  which  he  expresses.-]- 
He  had  been  thirty  years  at  sea,  thirteen  of  which  he  had 
passed  as  captain  of  a  vessel.  Ht  was  extremely  susceptible 
about  the  consideration  which  he  considered  was  his  due, 

and  he  felt  that  the  powers  given  to  de  La  Salle  were 
not  in  accordance  with  the  personal  and  professional  courtesy 

he  had  the  right  to  e.xpect.  De  Beaujeu's  powers  were  not 
extensive  ;  he  was  held  responsible  only  for  the  navigation 
of  the  vessel,  and  was  bound  to  carry  out  all  that  in  other 

respects  de  La  Salle  might  desire.  He  had  not  been 

nominated  in  the  first  instance.  Captain  I'ingault  had  been 
appointed;:]:  but  the  change  had  been  made  at  an  early  period, 

for  de  Ik'aujeu's  instructions  are  dated  only  three  weeks  latcr.§ 
The  destination  of  the  expedition  was  concealed.  It  was  at 
first  reported  that  the  vessel  was  to  sail  for  Canada,  and 

mystery  on  the  subject  was  observed  for  some  weeks. 
After  two  months  had  elapsed  and  no  start  had  been  made, 

expostulations  were  earnestly  sent  on  the  subject  from  Paris. 

*  Mr.  Margry  has  published  these  letters,  italicising  many  passages  to  estab< 
lish)his  theory  of  M.  de  Beaujta's  antagonism  to  de  La  .Salle. 

t  "  Je  siiis  un  ben  gros  Normand,  cjui  ne  scay  qu'aller  mon  grand  chemin  et 
droit  ail  service."     Margry  II.,  p.  434. 

X  23rd  March,  1684.    §  I4lh  April,  1684. 
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Not  until  the  25th  of  May  did  de  Beaujeu  know  the 
nature  of  the  service  in  which  he  was  to  be  engaged,  and 

he  immediately  protested  against  sailing  on  such  an  expe- 

dition with  six  months'  provisions.  He  asked  for  nine  months', 
and  he  pointed  out  that  if  the  information  had  been  commu- 

nicated to  him  in  Paris,  he  would  have  recommended  the 

employment  of  a  larger  vessel,  "  Le  Pendant,"  in  every  way 
more  fit,  having  a  larger  hold,  with  the  capacity  of  embarking 

three  hundred  men,  whereas  the  "  Joly  "  was  limited  in"  her 
capacity.  "  Le  Pendant  "  would  have  cost  less  to  equip,  and 
there  would  have  been  no  danger  of  the  separation  of  the  ves- 

sels during  the  voyage.  At  the  same  time,  while  de  Beaujeu 
expressed  his  willingness  to  lend  assistance  in  every  form,  he 

complained  of  being  placed  under  the  orders  of  de  La  Salle, 
and  that,  in  case  of  the  death  of  the  latter,  Tonty,  then 

named  to  accompany  the  expedition,  was  to  take  comni:;nd. 
What  he  asked  was,  that  he  should  have  joint  authority,  and 

that  no  offensive  operations  .should  be  taken  without  his  con- 
sent. With  the  civil  and  commercial  relations  of  the  enter- 

prise he  desired  in  no  way  to  interfere.* 

De  Seignelay's  reply  was  really  a  rebuke.  He  called  upon 
de  Beaujeu  to  give  every  facility  possible,  and  in  no  way  to  feel 
aggrieved  in  the  matter  of  the  command,  otherwise  there  would 

be  nothing  so  likely  to  lead  to  failure.  Four  days  later  de 

Beaujeu  reported  the  "Joly  "  as  ready  for  sailing  ;  it  was  the 
matter  of  provisions  which  had  caused  the  delay.  De  Beau- 

jeu, even  at  this  date,  complained  of  the  unreasonable  charac- 
ter of  de  La  Salle.  One  condition  which  the  latter  was  desir- 

ous of  e.xacting  was  that  no  one  shcjuld  be  allowed  to  ascertain 

the  latitude.  It  appeared  to  de  Beaujeu  that  de  La  Salle  was 

preparing  against  failure  by  his  protests  against  the  Inten- 
dant,  in  which  he  complained  that  some  of  the  officials  were  in 

league  with  his  enemies.  De  Beaujeu  himself  therefore  de- 
sired special  instructions  how  to  proceed,  so  that  hereafter  he 

would  not  be  held  responsible,  in  ca.se  de  La  Salle  failed  to 

execute  all  that  he  had  promised.     De  La  Salle,  moreover, 

*  Letter  lO  ile  .Seignelay,  17th  June,  1A84. 
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demanded  the  full  command  of  the  troops  when  on  board 

ship.  De  Beaujeu  pointed  out  the  difficulties  which  would 
arise  in  certain  contingencies  from  such  an  arrangement.  His 

practical  experience  led  him  to  discern  clearly  the  insuffi- 

ciency of  de  La  Salle's  proceedings,  and  accordingly  he  asked 
that  throughout  there  should  be  a  definite  understanding,  so 
that  he  might  clearly  know  what  his  duty  was.  The  difference 
of  opinion  between  the  two,  was  on  one  side,  the  view  taken 

of  the  situation  by  a  man  bred  in  discipline,  and  on  the  other, 

by  one  who  had  no  experience  of  what  was  necessary,  and  who 

failing  to  understand  the  points  raised  by  de  Beaujeu,  attributed 
them  to  jealousy.  To  any  one  knowing  the  necessity  of  a 
clear  definition  of  duty  and  obligation,  in  such  a  recognized 

divided  authority,  it  is  evident  that  de  Beaujeu  desired  to 

provide  for  the  contingencies  which  he  foresaw  must  arise. 

De  Beaujeu  replied  to  de  Seignelay's  reproof  that  he  only 
desired  to  have  joint  authority  when  at  sea,  more  especially 
as  de  La  Salle  had  plainly  told  him  that  he  had  simply  charge 
of  the  sails  and  sailors,  and  could  exercise  no  control  over  the 

volunteers  and  soldiers.  The  point,  however,  had  made  no 

difficulty  between  de  La  Salle  and  himself,  and  it  had  been 

referred  to  the  Intendant.  He  had  not  found  it  possible  to 

comply  with  de  La  Salle's  request  to  embark  the  provisions, 
and  20,000  livres'  worth  of  merchandise  belonging  to  a  mer- 

chant named  Cochy. 

There  was  a  question  as  to  the  number  of  persons  to  be 

boarded  at  the  Captain's  table.  Naturally,  the  point  arose 
who  should  pay  the  expense.  Among  other  matters,  de 
La  Salle  demanded  that  a  sentry  should  be  kept  at  his  cabin 

door,  and  claimed  to  give  the  order  of  the  day,  on  the  ground 
that  his  commission  conferred  on  him  powers  equal  to  those 

possessed  by  the  Governor  of  Canada.  He  also  drew  up  a 

memorandum,  consisting  of  twenty-eight  articles,  which  he 
asked  de  Beaujeu  to  sign.  It  was  submitted  to  the  Inten- 

dant, who  was  again  the  peace  maker,  and  de  Beaujeu  signed 

it,  after  it  had  been  somewhat  modified.  "  You  will  judge," 
adds  de   Beaujeu,  "  the   character  of  de  La  Salle  better  by 
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this  proceeding  than  by  all  I  can  tell  you,  and  you  will  see 
that  it  is  not  I  who  am  making  the  difficulties,  but  it  is  he 

who  is  creating  them  for  himself.  For  I  grant  him  every- 
thing and  he  is  not  content.  I  have  done  more.  For  seeing 

him  here  embarrassed,  and  without  money,  I  offered  him  a 

hundred  pistoles,  *  which  he  took,  and  I  have  his  note  for 
them.  You  can  then  clearly  understand,  that  it  is  not  my 
desire  to  interfere  with  his  enterprise,  since  I  even  contributed 

my  money,  for  which  I  have  only  the  security  of  the  govern- 

ment of  Louisiana." 
The  absence  of  method  and  .system  in  de  La  Salle,  pro- 

duced the  effect  always  attendant  when  they  are  wanting. 
De  Beaujeu  wrote  plainly  to  the  Minister,  that  de  La  Salle 
had  undertaken  a  matter  of  which  he  was  not  certain,  and 

that  if  his  success  did  not  meet  the  expectations  which  he 

had  raised,  he  would  not  fail  to  cast  the  blame  in  all  direc- 
tions ;  predicting  what  in  modern  times  has  come  to  pass, 

with  the  writers  who  vindicate  de  La  Salle's  memory  at  de 

Beaujeu's  expense.  De  Beaujeu  gives  the  names  of  those  who 
had  had  opportunities  of  judging  what  had  taken  place,  and  he 
refers  to  them  for  the  expression  of  their  views  on  the  subject. 

This  was  no  underhand  statement,  but  an  official  communica- 
tion to  the  Minister,  and,  while  making  it,  de  Beaujeu  declared 

his  intention  of  so  acting  that  no  just  or  well-grounded 
reproach  could  be  made  against  him.  f 

Reports  had  been  carried  to  Paris  unfavourable  to  the  con- 
dition and  health  of  the  troops  enlisted,  .stating  that  many 

were  children  and  unfit  to  serve.  The  Intendant  requested 

de  Beaujeu  to  report  as  to  their  character.  T  solemnly  assure 

you,  Mon.seigneur,'  he  says,  '  that  I  have  never  seen  a  better 
troop.  It  is  true  that  there  are  youths  among  them,  but  they 

have  all  good  frames,  and  they  will  better  accustom  them- 
selves to  the  climate  where  we  are  going,  than  those  who  are 

older.'      He  explains   that  he  had  been  authorized   to   take 
*  One  thousand  livies. 

t  "  iSoyez  persuade  que  vous  n'en  auie/.  aucuiie  re|)roclie  au  uioiiis  qui  soil 

iusle  et  valahlc."' 
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ten  of  these  men  to  complete  the  crew  of  the  "  Joly"  to  eighty 
men  ;  but  as  this  step  would  raise  a  difficulty  between  dc  La 
Salle  and  himself,  he  preferred  to  keep  his  crew  to  sevcnty> 
and  not  claim  the  ten  men. 

There  arc  also  private  letters  of  de  Beaujeu  extant  which 

demand  our  attention,  and  give  a  favourable  view  of  his  charac- 
ter. Written  in  the  familiarity  of  friendly  relationship,  they 

are  marked  by  unusual  literary  ability,  and  are  in  every  way 
readable.  He  writes  with  perfect  fr;inkncss  with  regard  to  his 

feelings  during  this  crisis.  He  conv'^j\s  the  idea  of  being  any 
thing  but  unsympathizing  and  ungenial.  Certainly  he  was 

in  no  way  deficient  in  professional  knowledge  and  capacity  ; 
and  had  he  been  assigned  a  leading  part  in  the  expedition, 
and  a  larger  vessel  selected,  a  result  might  have  been  attained 

different  from  the  melancholy  sequel  which  has  to  be  chronicled. 
He  relaics  that  when  he  reached  La  Rochelle,  de  La  Salle 

had  not  arrived.  He  came  a  few  days  later,  and  found  the 

"Joly"  small;  somewhat  late  for  him  to  do  so.  He  early 
communicated  the  fact  that  he  was  not  bringing  Tonty 

with  him,  an  arrangement  which  remained  unaltered,  al- 
though attcm[)ts  were  made  to  modify  it.  It  was  not  long 

before  a  misunderstanding  arose.  Seeing  a  Memoir  of  his 
writing  in  the  hands  of  the  Intcndant  Arnoul  to  whom  it 

had  been  referred,  with  marginal  notes,  de  Beaujeu  remarks, 
that  dc  La  Salle  had  difficulty  in  containing  himself,  and 

made  use  of  language,  "which  led  me  to  reply  to  him,  that  I 
had  little  interest  in  his  affairs,  and  that  the  King,  who  had 

intrusted  to  me  matters  of  much  greater  importance,  and  like- 
wise his  vessels,  would  not  speak  to  me  as  he  had  done.  He 

came  back  and  apologized  to  me,  so  we  parted  good  friends." 
De  Beaujeu  was  asked  to  take  an  interest  in  the  venture,  but 
declined  to  do  so.  On  his  side,  de  La  Salle  complained  to 

Minct,  the  engineer,  that  he  had  made  many  advances  to  de 
Beaujeu  who  would  not  accept  them.  De  Beaujeu  mentions 
the  statement  with  surprise,  as  he  had  shewn  de  La  Salle 

unusual  friendship  and  kindness.     "  I  thought  him  an  honest 
*  2 1. St  May. 
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Norman,"  dc  Beaujeu  was  himself  from  Normandy,  "  but 
such  are  not  now  in  fashion.  To-day  it  is  one  thing,  to- 

morrow another,"  and,  he  adds  that  he  always  endeavoured 
to  agree  with  de  La  Salle  in  order  to  avoid  a  quarrel. 

In  the  meantime  de  La  Salle  still  kept  his  secret,  and  the 
destination  of  the  vessel  remained  unknown.  Be  Beaujeu 

felt  relief  that  such  was  the  case,  for  it  saved  him  from  respon- 
sibility. As  late  as  the  5th  of  June,  de  Beaujeu  writes  that 

dc  La  Salle  had  determined  to  proceed  by  way  of  Canada. 

It  was  not  until  the  question  of  pilotage  came  up,  that  light 
was  thrown  upon  the  future.  It  was  then  said,  that  the  pilot 

should  know  the  coast  of  San  Domingo,  as  they  might  go  from 

Canada  to  that  island,  where  they  would  be  the  forerunners 
of  others.  No  mention  was  made  of  the  character  of  the 

expedition  ;  evidently  the  reference  was  to  Penalossa.  Even 
this  slight  allusion  warrants  the  supposition  that  de  La 

Salle's  operations  were  not  intended  to  establish  a  commer- 
cial colony,  and  that  the  serious  design  entertained  against 

Spanish  America  was  to  be  sustained  by  a  second  expedition 

under  Penalossa.  On  this  theory,  much  of  de  La  Salle's 
vacillation  and  delay  can  be  accounted  for. 

By  the  middle  of  June  dc  La  Salle  stated  that  he  would 
pass  by  the  Gulf  of  Mexico,  and  de  Beaujeu  still  writes  that 
nothing  was  certain.  De  La  Salle  did  not  know  what  course 

to  take.  At  one  time,  he  feared  that  the  expedition  would 

be  entrusted  to  somebody  else  ;  as  if  Penalossa  would  appear 
to  take  command.  When  the  question  came  up  as  to  the 

additional  freight,  which  de  Beaujeu  declared  the  "  Joly  " 
could  not  take,  "  Why  did  you  not  tell  me  that  in  Paris  ?" 
said  de  La  Salle.  "  How  could  I,"  was  the  reply,  "  when  I 

knew  nothing  of  your  affairs  ?"  "  I  recognised  my  Pro- 
vince," *  remarks  de  Beaujeu.  It  was  not  even  from  de  La 

Salle  himself,  that  de  Beaujeu  first  knew  the  destination  of 

the  "  Joly;"  he  read  it  in  the  Gazette  de  Hollande. 
The  demand  of  de  La  Salle  that  a  sentry  should  be  placed 

at  his  cabin  door,  was  met  by  the  Intendant   suggesting  that 

*  "  |e  reconnai-.sai!>  la  Province." 



1 684] 
DE   LA   SALLES    DISSATISFACTION. 

127 

de  La  Salic  and  de  Beaujcu  should  each  have  a  sentry, 

"which,"  said  de  Beaujeu,  "I  do  not  require."  As  de  La  Salle 
also  desired  to  determine  the  word  of  the  day,  thus  making 
himself  the  first  person  on  the  vessel,  it  was  settled  that  on 

one  or  two  occasions  he  should  give  it,  and  then  refer  the 
order  to  de  Beaujeu. 

In  private  conversation  de  La  Salle  expressed  his  want  of 

confidence  in  de  Beaujeu.  He  was  suspicious  of  the  esteem 

in  which  Madame  de  Beaujeu  held  the  Jesuits.  He  .said  she 

was  governed  by  them  ;  and  the  inference  follows,  that,  in  his 

opinion,  her  influence  over  her  husband  made  him  inimical  to 

the  expedition.  The  Jesuits  at  this  date  were  the  fashion- 
able confessors  in  France.  No  doubt,  it  was  to  follow  the 

general  example,  that  Madame  de  Beaujeu  selected  a  Jesuit 
father  as  her  directeur.  As  a  woman  of  rank  and  fashion 

she  would  act  like  other  ladies  of  her  position ;  but  no  one  can 

read  the  letters  of  de  Beaujeu  without  recognizing  his  strong, 
clear  intellect,  and  that  he  was  the  last  man  to  commit  a 

wrong  under  the  sentimental  guise  of  religion. 

Do  La  Salle  unfortunately  distrusted  everybody:  de  Beau- 
jeu, the  Intendant  Arnoul,  the  staff  of  his  office,  his  own 

officers.  No  one  was  his  confidant,  and  even  with  his  subor- 
dinates he  was  unfriendly.  Tonty,  the  brother  of  his  trusted 

lieutenant  in  Canada,  he  refused  to  bring  with  him  ;  de  Vali- 
gny,  one  of  his  captains,  recommended  by  Morel,  an  official 
in  the  confidence  of  de  Seignelay,  was  dissatisfied.  Minet, 

the  engineer,  was  equally  .so.  La  Forest  did  not  desire  to 
return  to  Fort  Frontenac.  The  proverb  still  holds  good  that 

the  epitaph  of  anyone  who  has  taken  a  leading  part  in  the 

world's  history,  must  be  written  by  those  who  have  served  under 
him  in  the  humbler  and  less  rewarded  jjositions,  unconnected 

with  the  clique  whose  praise,  purchased  by  advancement  and 
emolument,  is  often  only  the  consequence  of  corruption. 

It  is  not  a  favourable  point  of  view  for  de  La  Salle's  char- 
acter to  be  judged  by. 
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CHAPTER  VII. 

All  hindrances  being  removed,  the  expedition  started  from 

La  RochcUe  on  the  24th  of  July,  1684.  It  consisted  of  four 

vessels  :  the  "  Joly,"  the  royal  frigate,  carrying  thirty-six 
guns  ;  the  "  Belle,"  a  barque  of  six  guns,  specially  given  by 

the  King  to  de  La  Salle ;  the  "  Aimable,"  a  store  ship, 
freighted  by  traders  in  La  Rochelle  interested  in  the  enter- 

prise ;  the  "  Saint  Francis,"  laden  with  provisions  and  stores ; 
a  ketch,  a  vessel  with  two  masts.  From  the  unequal  powers 

of  sailing  of  these  vessels,  the  chance  of  capture  was  increased, 
and  the  expedition  consequently  was  disadvantagcously 
constituted.  The  number  on  board,  independently  of  the 
crews  of  the  vessels,  is  given  by  the  engineer  Minet  as  one 

hundred  and  seventy-two  ;  *  one  hundred  soldiers,  three 

Sulpician  priests,  the  Abbe  Cavelier,  Messrs.  d'Ksmanville, 
and  Chedeville  ;  three  RecoUets,  Zenobc  Membre,  Anastasc 

Douay,  who  left  an  account  of  the  expedition,  and  was  one 
of  the  five  who  were  fortunate  in  reaching  the  Illinois,  and 

Maxime  Le  Clercq,  a  connection  of  the  historian  of  the 
Etablissenient  dc  la  Foi ;  five  officers,  De  Saligny,  Barbier, 

Marquis  de  la  Sablonniere,  and  Moranget,  a  nephew  of  de 

La  Salle  ;  nine  volunteers  ;  eight  merchants  ;  forty-four 
artisans  and  labourers.  There  were  also  some  emigrants, 

among  them  a  Canadian  family  named  Talon,  with  six  chil- 

dren, four  boys  and  two  girls,  with  some  young  girls,  -f-  who 
risked  their  fortunes  on  the  success  of  the  expedition. 

Among  the  volunteers  were  men  of  family  and  citizens  of 

respectability.  Of  the  former  was  young  Cavelier,  a  nephew 
of  de  La  Salle,  a  mere  boy,  who  passed  through  the  dangers 

*  Joiitel  names  the  number  including  the  crews  at  two  lumdred  and  eiyhiy. 
+  According   to    Couture,    who   received   his    information    from    the    Aijhe 

Cavelier,  there  were  five  women  and  young  girls.     Margry  III.,  p.  602. 
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and  privations  safely  to  reach  Canada.  Joutel  who  was  also 

of  the  expedition  liad  seen  some  service  in  the  royal  army; 

he  was  the  son  of  the  j,fardener  to  dc  La  Salle's  uncle,  and  in 
after  years  publishcil  an  account  of  the  expedition.  The 

leadinj^  events  after  the  departure  of  the  I'^rcnch  frit;ate  are 
preserved  for  the  most  part  in  his  Memoirs. 

The  ves.scls  had  been  but  a  few  hours  at  sea  when  the  bow- 

sprit of  the  "  Joly  "  broke.  They  put  back  to  Rochefort.  In 
a  few  hours  the  necessary  repairs  were  made,  and  on  the  1st 

of  Aut;[ust  the  vessels  again  sailed.  On  approachinrr  Madeira, 
de  Bcaujeu  desired  to  obtain  water  and  i)rovisions.  De  La 
Salle  objected  ;  he  had  the  constant  argument  to  sustain  his 

views,  that  what  he  opposed  was  contrary  to  the  King's 
wishes.  The  "Joly"  carried  two  hundred  and  forty  persons, 
crew  and  passengers.*  It  is  natural  to  suppose  that  an  experi- 

enced commander  like  de  Bcaujeu,  would  be  the  best  judge  as 

to  the  necessity  of  obtaining  additional  supi)lies.  De  La  Salle 

argued  that  the  vessel  hatl  been  but  a  few  days  out,  and  could 

not  require  them,  and  that  the  presence  of  the  vessels  in  the 
harbour  would  betray  the  character  of  the  expedition.  De 

La  Salle's  powers  overruled  the  desire  of  the  commander,  and 
the  voyage  was  continued.  There  was  some  disappointment 
among  those  on  board.  One  of  them,  Puget,  described  as  a 

passenger  and  a  Huguenot,  expressed  himself  somewhat  freely, 
but  we  are  told  he  apologized  for  his  language.+  The  \essels 

were  separated  by  a  storm,  and  they  again  met.  It  has  been 
said  that  as  they  were  approaching  the  Island  of  San  Domingo, 
de  La  Salle  desired  to  land  at  Tort  la  Paix,  and  that  this  wish 

was  ignored  by  de  Bcaujeu,  who  passed  by  the  place  in  the 
night.;):  There  was  a  fair  wind  on  the  25th  of  September,  and 

letters  of  dc  La  Salle  establish  that  it  was  by  agreement 

they  proceeded  to  I'etit  Goave,  on  the  western  side  of 

the  island.     The  "  Joly  "  had  far  outsailed  the  other  vessels. 

*  De  He.iujeu,  25th  October,  from  I'etit  Goave. 
t  D'Esnianville. 
X  The  fact  is  not  mentioned  l)y  the  RecoUet  Douay.  His  account  was  pub- 

lished in  1691,  within  three  years  of  his  return  to  ■  "anada. K 
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There  had  been  much  sickness  on  board,  and  de  La  Salle  was 

himself  a  sufferer.  Two  of  the  men  had  died  on  the  passage. 
One  cause  assigned  for  the  bad  health  of  the  crew  was  that 

the  mid-decks  were  filled  witl\  merchandise,  and  that  the  sol- 
diers and  sailors  had  been  forced  to  remain  on  deck,  exposed 

to  the  sun  and  rain. 

The  "  Aimable  "  and  "  Belle  "  soon  followed.  They  bn  ̂ nt 

the  painful  news  that  the  ketch,  the  "  St.  Francis,"  had  been 
taken  by  Spanish  cruisers.  The  captain,  apprehending  no  dan- 

ger, had  kept  no  watch,  and  in  a  perfect  calm  the  ship  was  sur- 
prised by  Spanish  pirogues.  She  had  entered  Port  la  Paix 

for  protection  during  the  storm,  and  it  was  on  leaving  that 

port  she  had  been  captured.  The  convoy  had  been  through- 
out imperfectly  observed,  and  owing  to  much  bad  weather  the 

vessels  had  been  little  together. 

At  Petit  Goave,  de  La  Salle  was  prostrated  by  sickness  ; 

it  was  under  these  circumstances  that  de  Beaujcu  reported 
the  arrival  of  the  vessels  to  the  Minister.  Whatever  the 

cause,  de  La  Salle  had  no  lieutenant  of  ability  or  char?  to 

supply  his  place  when  absent.     It  seems  incredible  th?  e 
should  have  been  such  a  lack  of  discipline  and  system.  1  nis 

defect  is  discoverable  throughout  his  career.  His  early  want  of 

training,  his  life  with  the  Indians,  his  uncertaint)'  of  purpo.sc, 
the  instruments  with  which  he  had  hitherto  acted,  had  tended 

to  develop  this  fault  in  his  character.  As  a  leader  he  was  defi- 
cient in  the  prudence  and  powers  of  combination  necessary 

to  success.  In  this  case,  the  absence  of  such  a  second  in  com- 

mand led  the  Sulpicians,  Cavclier  La  Salle's  brother,  and 
d'Esmanville  to  ask  dc  Bcaujeu  to  intervene.  At  first  de  Beau- 
jeu  declined  to  do  so  ;  subsequently,  the  necessity  of  the  case 

being  pointed  out  to  him,  he  named  one  of  dc  La  Salle's 
ofificers  to  superintend  the  distilbution  of  provisions  from  the 

"  Aimable."  He  had  also  ovens  constructed,  so  that  bread  and 
biscuit  could  be  baked  from  the  flour  and  he  gave  all  the 

co-operation  possible. 
One  would  expect  that  when  at  San  Pomingo,  the 

soldiers  would  have  been  trained  and  drilled,  to  fit  them  for 
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the  duties  which  they  had  to  perform,  and  that  they  would 

have  been  subject  to  firm  discipline,  to  render  them  efficient 

and  keep  them  under  control.  The  illness  of  de  La  Salle 

removed  every  check,  for  his  authority  was  personal  and  indi- 
vidual. The  men  passed  their  time  in  indulgence,  riot  and 

excess,  to  such  a  decree  that  with  many,  their  constitutions 

were  impaired,  and  when  the  hour  of  difficulty  and  trial  came 

the\-  were  unc(|ual  to  the  strain,  and  succumbed  to  it. 

The  a  sertioi'  that  de  La  Salle's  instructions  to  stop  at  Port 
la  Paix  were  if^nored  by  de  Heaujeu  is  in  no  way  tenable.  It 
would  have  been  a  proceeding,  so  utterly  at  variance  with  his 

instructions  and  with  his  duty,  for  dc  Beaujcu  in  so  important 
a  matter  to  have  opposed  the  wishes  of  de  La  Salle,  that  it 

would  have  subjected  him  to  be  sent  to  the  Bastile.  Neverthe- 
less, the  consequences  arising  from  the  loss  of  the  ketch  have 

been  attributed  to  the  disregard  of  dc  La  Salle's  instructions. 
The  official  report  of  the  capture  is  preserved,  but  no  such  state- 

ment is  hinted  at.  It  also  sets  forth  that,  owing  to  the  cap- 

ture, de  La  Salle  purchasei'  provisions  to  the  amount  of 

I  550  livres,  giving  a  Bill  of  1  '^hange  on  Rochefort.  M.  de 
Bcaujeu  also  obtained  provisio.  for  his  c,  jw,  proving  that  all 
that  was  wanted  could  be  purLi.ised  at  Petit  Goave.  Dc 

La  Salle  him.self  wrote  that  the  capture  was  the  fault  of  the 

captain  of  the  ketch.  This  "  certificate  "  was  asked  for  in  the 
presence  of  Begon  and  St.  Lawrence,  as  they  had  learned  that 

de  La  Salle  expressed  displeasure  against  tie  Bcaujeu.  The 

opposite  to  any  such  feeling  is  set  forth  in  this  letter.* 
Previous  to  starting  from  Petit  Goave  a  correspondence 

took  place  between  de  La  Salle  and  dc  Bcaujeu.  De  La  Salle 

expressed  his  determination  to  sail  in  the  "  Aimable,"  giving 
as  his  reason,  that  if  the  vessels  were  separated  and  the  "Aim- 

able  "  attacked,  he  could  direct  the  defence,  whereas  on  the 

"  Joly  "  he  would  be  useless.  He  stated  this  determination 
with  the  courtesy  he  knew  so  well  how  to  assume,  and  with 

the  expression  of  all  good  feeling  to  de  Bcaujeu.  The  latter 
answered  in  the  same  spirit,  approving  of  the  proceeding,  and 

*  25th  June,  16S5.     Coinmaivier  Si.  Lawrence  and  Begon,  "  certiticat.'' 
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dc  Bcaujcu  agreed  to  follow  the  "Aimable,"  that  vessel  carry- 
hv^  a  lif^ht  on  the  mast-head  by  nitjht. 

On  the  25th  of  November,  16S4,  the  vessels  left  the  island, 

in  a  few  days  to  reach  the  Gulf  of  Mexico.  France  had  never 

recognized  the  pretensions  of  Spain  that  it  w  ..i  a  "  Spanish 

sea,"  but  de  Beaujeu  was  well  aware  that  these  pretensions 
were  still  advanced,  and  he  sailed  onward  on  these  waters  with 

the  belief  that  he  might  be  attacked  at  any  hour.  Little  wvs 

known  of  the  navigation,  and  that  little  was  through  the  fili- 
busters of  San  Domingo. 

After  some  days  they  saw  land,  a  low  sandy  coast,  on  v.hicb 
the  landing  of  men  and  stores  would  have  been  difficult.  No 
trace  of  the  river  could  be  seen  and  the  weather  became 

rough.  The  "  joly  "  was  carried  out  to  .sea  ;  her  greater  draught 

required  more  .sea  room.  'I  he  "  Aimable  "  coasted  the  .shore. 
As  we  read  the  record  we  can  scarcely  imagine  a  less  efficient 

examination.  The  point  of  disembarkation  depended  upon 

the  decision  of  de  La  Salle.  It  was  he  onl}'  who  had  visited 

the  localit)',  and  his  was  the  examination  to  be  acted  upon.  It 
was  afterwards  said  that  on  the  6th  of  January  they  had 

passed  the  low  projecting  land  of  the  mouths  of  the  Missis- 
sippi, but  at  the  time  it  was  in  no  way  identified. 

Joutel  relates  day  by  day  the  progress  made.  According  to 
this  statement,  it  appears  improbable  that  de  La  Salle  could 
have  re.ichcd  Metagorda  Bay.  the  place  generally  accepted  as 

that  where  he  landed.  Indeed  it  is  an  injustice  to  his  memory 
to  suppose  such  to  be  the  case.  The  small  river.  La  Vaca, 

discharging  into  Metagorda  Bay,  is  named  as  the  locality 
where  he  constructed  his  more  permanent  fort ;  little  short  of 

four  hundred  and  fifty  miles  from  the  Mississippi.  Dc  La 
Salle  himself  professed  to  believe  that  he  had  landed  at  a 

branch  of  the  Mississippi  which  it  was  his  intention  to  follow  up. 
Few  men  had  had  more  experience  with  regard  to  the  courses 

of  streams  than  de  La  Salle.  They  had  frequently  influenced 
his  career,  and  he  was  not  likely  to  believe  that  a  river  would 
have  one  of  its  mouths  at  this  distance  from  its  main 

outlet.     From    the    mouth   of    the    Illinois    to   the   Gulf  of 
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Mexico  is  one  thousand  three  hundred  miles,  and  as  de  La 

Salle  was  descending  the  Mississippi,  he  could  not  fail  to 

remark  that  by  its  character,  it  was  not  possible  for  a  second 
mouth  to  be  at  the  distance  Metagorda  liay  in  modern  times 

is  known  to  be  from  the  spot  where  he  had  planted  the  Royal 
arms  of  France  on  the  9th  of  April,  1682. 

As  those  on  board  the  "  Aimable  "  perceived  the  changed 
direction  of  the  coast,  trending  more  to  the  south,  the  con- 

clusion was  formed  that  they  had  passed  the  river  mouths. 
Belief  was  then  expressed  that  the  land  seen  on  the  6th 

of  January  was  the  place  sought  for.  Shoals  had  been  plainly 

\-isible  on  the  6th  and  7th  when  the  vessel  was  at  anchor. 
On  the  8th  the  shore  was  examined.  De  La  Salle  went  to 

the  mast-head,  and  observed  the  two  points  of  a  bay,  which 
he  believed  to  be  that  of  Mobile,  then  known  as  the  Bay  of 

Saint  Esprit.  On  the  9th,  further  explorations  were  made,  and 
de  La  Salle  came  to  the  conclusion  that  they  were  in  the  I^ay 

of  Appalachi.  On  the  loth  his  observation  recorded  latitude 

29"  23',  which  suggests  that  he  was  in  one  of  the  baj's  west  of 
the  Mississippi.  On  the  iith  there  was  a  calm,  when  an 

exploration  was  made  by  the  pilot  and  the  master  of  the 

"Belle,"  but  they  could  see  little,  owing  to  the  fog.  The  master 
however  gave  the  opinion  that  there  was  a  river  within  the 

shoals.  Comment  has  been  made  upon  de  La  Salle  having 

been  deterred  from  a  personal  examination  bj'  the  pilot ;  but 
the  fog  would  have  equally  interfered  with  him,  as  it  did  with 
those  who  attempted  to  perform  the  duty.  Whatever  the 
cause,  de  La  Salle  determined  to  sail  to  the  south.  On  the  1 2th 

he  was  in  28''  50',  where,  owing  to  a  change  of  wind,  the  anchor 
was  dropped.  On  the  1 3th, finding  that  the  fresh  water  was  run- 

ning short,  a  party  was  sent  in  to  obtain  a  supi)l\'.  But  they 
were  unable  to  land.  Some  Indians  were  seen  on  shore,  two 

or  three  of  whom  swam  out,  and  were  taken  on  board  the 

boat,  but  nothing  could  be  made  of  the  information  which 

they  gave.  Towards  evening  the  wind  changed  and  the  vessel 
continued  her  course.  On  the  14th  there  was  a  calm,  when, 

by   observation    at    noon,  the)'   were   in    28"   51'.     Towards 
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evening  they  proceeded  on  their  route,  but  for  a  short  time.* 
The  anchor  was  cast  and  an  exploration  attempted  of  the 
shore,  but  a  storm  coming  on,  the  men  were  summoned  to  the 

ship  by  a  gun.  On  the  15th  there  was  a  change  of  wind 
and  the  vessel  was  navigated  until  morning  ;  the  observation 

recorded  was  28°  20'.  On  the  17th  the  route  was  continued 

to  the  south-west.  About  ten  o'clock  they  discovered  a  kind 
of  riverf,  and  a  party  of  ten  men  were  .sent  to  examine  it, 
but  they  could  find  no  fresh  water.  On  the  i8th  the  vessel 
continued  on  her  course.  The  w  ant  of  water  led  de  La  Salle 

to  return  to  the  river  seen  on  the  17th,  and  on  the  19th  they 
reached  the  spot  as  a  fog  came  on.  They  were  preparing  to 

steer  to  the  shore  by  compass  when  the  fog  cleared  away, 

and  they  saw  the  "  Joly  "  advancing  towards  them. 
The  lieutenant  the  Chevalier  d'Aire  came  on  board,  and  on 

the  part  of  de  Beaujeu  called  dc  La  Salle  to  account  for 

having  left  him  to  make  a  separate  reconnaissance,  the  ex- 
pense of  feeding  the  troops  in  the  interval  having  fallen  on 

the  stores  of  the  "  Joly."  De  La  Salle  explained  that  he  had 
been  following  the  coast  in  order  to  find  the  point  they  were 

in  search  of,  that  he  had  had  no  desire  to  act  independently, 
and  that  he  himself  had  been  anxiously  looking  for  the 

frigate.  The  question  arose  where  they  were  ;  some  thought 

that  they  were  too  far  south.  De  La  Salle,  however,  deter- 
mined to  disembark  the  troops,  and  sent  a  written  order  to 

de  Heaujeu  to  land  tliem.  The  weather  was  rough,  and  it 

took  eight  days  to  effect  the  landing.:^:  The  vessels  remained 
at  this  spot  until  the  4th  of  February.  The  situation  was 

one  of  danger,  as  the  vessels  were  exposed  unprotected  to  the 

influence  of  the  southeast  winds,  and  de  Beaujeu  wrote  im- 
patiently to  de  La  Salle  on  the  point,  after  having  been  kept 

in  these  trying  circumstances  ten  days.  I  lis  letter  is  not  extant ; 

but  we  know  from  de  La  Salle's  reply  §  that  he  asked  for 

*  "  mais  pour  peu  dc  temps." 

t  "  une  espece  de  riviere." 
t  Minet. 
g  3rd  of  Kebruary,  1685. 
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pilots  to  be  given  him  to  enter  the  river,  and  for  repayment 
of  the  provisions  furnished  by  him  to  the  soldiers  from 
his  own  stores,  during  the  period  that  the  ships  had  been 
separated.  De  La  Salle  replied  with  equal  acerbity.  On 
the  same  day  de  La  Salle  again  wrote  to  de  Bcaujeu,  to  the 
effect  that  the  want  of  water  forced  him  to  land  where  he 

was.  It  was  on  this  point  that  the  quarrel  arose  with  Minet 
the  engineer,  concerning  whom  on  the  6th  de  La  Salle  wrote 

from  the  "  Aimable  "  that  he  had  written  a  letter  n.ar!:cd  by 

impropriety.  Minet's  explanation  is  that  when  he  heard  that 
de  La  Salle  had  determined  to  send  his  forces  northward  by 
land,  to  obtain  a  better  location,  where  good  water  could  be 

obtained,  he  felt  it  his  duty  to  expostulate  with  him.  He 
pointed  out  that  there  were  many  openings  in  the  .shores  of  the 

bay  ;  no  water  ;  no  opportunity  to  hunt ;  that  there  was  the 
risk  of  attack  by  Indians  ,  without  taking  account  of  bad 
weather  which  would  drive  the  vessels  to  seek  sea  room  ;  that 

there  was  nobody  to  lead  them,  dc  La  Salle  having  deter- 
mined to  embark  on  one  of  the  vessels.  He  held  that  it  was 

better  to  re-embark  the  soldiers  on  the  "  Joly,"  and  to  give  to 
de  Beaujeu  the  provisions  necessary  to  feed  them,  and  to  pro- 

ceed in  company  with  the  "Joly"  in  .search  of  the  River. 
De  La  Salle  treated  the  rccommctidation  with  contempt. 

The  water  at  the  spot  where  they  disembarked  was  brackish, 
although  pools  here  and  there,  containing  good  water,  could 
be  found.  His  object  was  to  reach  some  stream  where  good 

water  would  be  plentiful.  The  force,  consisting  of  one  hun- 
dred and  thirteen  men,  started  by  land  on  the  4th  of  Feb- 

ruary.    The  ves.sels  left  on  the  9th  in  the  same  direction. 
Joutel  relates  that  he  was  placed  in  command,  and  that 

they  marched  for  three  days  along  the  shore,  when  they 

reached  a  "  great  ri\er,"  and  being  unable  to  cross  it,  encamped 
oi  its  banks.  They  remained  here  waiting  the  arrival  of  de 
La  Salle,  and  consuming  their  provisions.  As  their  supplies 

disappeared  and  the  vessels  did  not  arrive  to  replace  them, 
the  feeling  arose  that  starvation  was  before  them.  On  the 

I  ith  and  12th,  they  commenced  to  construct  canoes  to  pro- 

V.  1   '-    1 
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ceed  in  search  of  the  ships,  when,  on  the  13th,  they  saw  the 

"Joly"  and  "Belle"  approaching^.  Joutel  had  found  good 
water,  but  his  party  were  at  the  entrance  of  a  large  salt  water 

bay.  The  channel  was  visited  without  delay  by  de  La  Salle's 
directions  and  sounded  by  Barbicr.  According  to  this  exami- 

nation, de  La  Salle  notified  de  Beaujcu  that  there  was  a 
navigable  channel  of  from  sixteen  to  eighteen  feet  of  water. 

An  old  seaman  like  de  Beaujcu  was  not  prepared  to  act  on 
such  an  insufficient  exploration.  He  instructed  his  own  pilots 

to  make  the  examination,  and  they  reported  that  they  could 
find  but  eight  and  nine  feet. 

All  the  known  facts  establish  that  dc  lieaujcu  was  prepared 

to  continue  the  examination,  and  was  in  no  way  responsible 

for  landing  at  this  spot.  It  was  not  he,  but  de  La  Salle  who 

declined  to  proceed  further,  and  who  formed  the  determin- 

ation to  stay  where  he  was.  De  La  Salle's  own  account  of  his 
.selection  of  the  locality  and  of  his  landing  is  given  in  a  letter 

to  dc  Seignelay,  dated  the  4th  of  March,  1685,  from  the 
western  mouth  of  the  Colbert  (the  Mississippi).  He  states 
that  owing  to  the  advanced  condition  of  the  .season,  and 

"seeing  that  very  little  time  remained  to  carry  out  the  enter- 
prise with  which  I  have  been  entrusted,  I  have  resolved  to 

a.scend  this  channel  of  the  River  Colbert  rather  than  return 

to  the  main  channel,  distant  from  twenty  to  thirty  leagues  * 
from  here  to  the  north-east,  which  we  remarked  so  soon  as 
the  6th  of  Januar}%  but  of  which  we  were  unable  to  make  a 
reconnai.s.sancc,  believing  in  the  reports  of  the  pilots  of  His 

Majest}'  and  of  our  vessel,  that  we  had  not  passed  the  Bay  of 

Saint  Esprit. "f  He  added  that  he  had  accordingly  resolved 
to  ascend  the  river  by  this  channel. 

De  La  Salle,  in  his  letter  to  de  Beaujeu,  distinctly  states 

that  he  w  as  near  the  place,  that  he  was  desirous  of  reaching. 

On  the  1 8th,  dc  Beaujeu  wrote  :  "  There  was  no  river  visible 

but  a  large  bay,  and  he  would  not  risk  the  '  Joly '  across  the 
bar."     He  exprcs.sed  his  belief  that  there  was  a  river  discharg- 

*  From  60  to  70  miles, 

.t  Mol.ilc. 

*  Mip.et 
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xxY^  into  the  Bay.  He  advised  dc  La  Salle  to  proceed  to  the 

west,  and  not  to  trust  to  the  channel  for  the  "  Belle  "  to  enter. 
He  added  that  the  dangerous  position  in  which  his  vessel  was 
placed,  forced  him  to  leave  these  waters,  and  that  he  would 

return  if  de  La  Salle  would  give  him  the  provisions  to  enable 
him  to  do  so. 

There  was  difficult}'  in  unloading  de  La  Salle's  freight  from 
the  "  Joly."  In  modern  times  we  have  learned  something  of 
the  indifference  and  carelessness  shewn  in  English  dock-yards, 
in  placing  a  miscellaneous  cargo  in  government  ship.s.  De  La 

Salle's  property  had  been  deposited  in  the  lowest  depth  of  the 
hold.  De  Beaujeu  took  the  greatest  pains  to  obtain  the  iron 
that  de  La  Salle  recjuircd,  which  indeed  was  indispensable 

to  him.  He  had  to  disturb  the  whole  cargo  ;  his  vessel  was 

lying  in  an  exposed  offing  ;  the  weather  was  stormy,  and  his 

officers  represented  the  danger  of  the  proceeding.  He,  how- 
c\er,  persevered,  placing  six  of  his  guns  where  the  iron 

had  been,  to  act  as  ballast.  "  It  is  impossible,"  he  says, 
"  to  give  you  your  four  guns  and  your  shot.  But  that  fact 
cannot  hinder  your  establishment,  not  only  against  the 

Indians,  but  against  the  Spaniards  in  America,  who  are  not 

so  dangerous  as  people  make  them  out  to  be,  as  I  have  heard 

tell  several  times." 
Where  did  de  L.i  Salle  land  ?  With  this  record  of  the 

journey,  it  is  not  possible  to  recognize  that  between  the  after- 

noon of  the  9th  and  ten  o'clock  of  the  evening  of  the  17th  four 
hundred  and  fiftj-  miles  had  been  made.  There  could 
scarcely  have  been  seventy  hours  of  slow  na\igation,  and  from 
this  distance  the  return  march  travelled  by  the  force  of 

Joutel  and  Moranget  has  to  be  deducted  :  from  fifty  to  sixty 
miles. 

No  confidence  can  be  placed  in  the  recorded  observations;* 
what  we  have  to  guide  us  is  the  time  taken  in  navigating  the 

Gulf  of  Mexico.  It  appears  an  impossibilit)'  for  Metagorda 
Bay  to  have  been  reached.     Galveston   Bay  is  three  hundred 

*  Mip.et  remarks 

pour  la  preniire." 

"  .Sa  hauteur  n'est  [)as  juste,   n'ayaiu  uii  iii.irumeiu  bon 
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and  fifty  miles  from  the  Mississippi,  but,  while  this  distance 

appears  excessive,  the  description  of  the  Bay  answers  to  the 

locality.  Joutel's  narrative  was  written  by  a  third  party,  a 
quarter  of  a  century  after  the  event.  It  affects  to  give  a  map 

showing  the  routes  followed.  So  far  as  precise  geographical 

information  is  concerned,  it  is  of  no  account.  Minet's  map  of 
May,  1685,  has  been  considered  to  be  that  of  the  mouths  of 
the  Mississippi.  It  is  a  map  of  the  Bay  where  de  La  Salle 

landed  ;  but  it  is  unintelligible.  He  places  the  latitude  at 

31",  which  modern  geography  shows  to  be  an  impossibility. 
The  "  Joly,"  after  leaving  dc  La  Salle,  did  not  proceed  to  the 
mouths  of  the  Mississippi,  although  de  Beaujeu  received 
a  letter  from  de  La  Sail. ,  setting  forth  that  de  Beaujeu  would 

perform  a  great  service,  if  he  would  himself  go  in  search  of 

the  main  branch,  and  the  discovery  would  redound  to  his  cre- 
dit. In  his  letter  to  the  Minister,  of  the  4th  of  March,  de  La 

Salle  reported  having  made  this  request. 

De  Beaujeu  earnestly  pressed  de  La  Salle  to  be  deputed 
by  him  to  proceed  to  Martinique  to  obtain  for  him  provisions, 

sails  and  cordage.  If  necessary  he  would  purchase  them 

on  his  own  responsibility.  He  continues  to  say  "  It  would 
be  to  the  credit  of  M.  de  Scignclay  that  this  matter  should 

succeed.  Both  of  us,  therefore,  should  spare  no  effr  rt  to  attain 

the  desired  result.  You  have  but  to  speak.  If  j'ou  desire  it, 

I  will  go  on  board  your  ship  to  see  what  we  shall  do." 
De  La  Salle  declined  the  offer.  He  feared  to  engage  M. 

de  Seignelay  in  additional  expense  until  he  had  something 

tangible  to  offer  in  the  shape  of  success  ;  and  he  doubted  if 
the  Intendant  of  the  Isles  would  consent  to  the  demand. 

On  the  20th  of  February  the  attempt  was  made  to  bring 

the  "Aimablc"  into  the  inner  bay.  It  miscarried,  and  the 
ves.sel  was  wrecked.  Minet's  account  of  the  affair  is,  that 
de  Beaujeu,  the  pilot  and  himself,  warned  the  Captain,  Aigron, 
not  to  enter,  for  it  was  dangerous.  Aigron  replied  that  he  had 
received  an  order  in  writing  to  make  the  attempt  to  steer 

towards  a  fire  which  de  La  Salle  would  light,  and  it  was  the 

signal  to  be  given  for  him  to  start. 
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The  difficulty  of  navigating  the  "  Aimablc  "  was  serious. 
It  was  one  of  those  operations  which  ought  personally  to  have 
been  directed  by  de  La  Salle.  Even  if  he  were  deficient  in 
seamanship,  it  was  an  emergency  when  he  should  have  been 

by  the  side  of  the  Captain,  to  advise  and  to  observe.  When 

leaving  Petit  Goave,  he  had  changed  his  position  from  the 

"  Joly "  to  the  "  Aimablc,"  with  the  avowed  intention  of 
directing  the  defence  of  the  vessel  in  case  of  attack  from  the 

Spaniard.  He  had  since  sailed  in  her,  and  it  was  clearly  his 
duty  to  have  given  his  aid  and  countenance  on  this  occasion. 

Instead,  however,  of  concentrating  his  attention  on  the  import- 

ant attempt  of  steering  the  "Aimablc"  through  the  channel, 
and  keeping  his  force  in  compact  form,  he  sent  out  detached 

parties  to  execute  work  which  could  have  been  equally  well 
performed  a  few  hours  later.  Some  men  were  sent  to  cut 

down  a  tree  and  make  a  piroque.  *  In  the  midst  of  the 

operation  of  bringing  in  the  "  Aimable,"  he  was  informed 
that  the  Indians  had  carried  off  some  of  the  men  so  engaged. 

It  might  be  supposed  that  he  would  have  had  some  able 
and  confidential  subordinate  who  would  have  been  detached 

to  perform  the  duty  of  following  the  Indians.  His  future 

success  entirely  depended  on  landing  safely  on  shore  the 

stores  in  the  "  Aimable,"  and  to  preserve  the  ship  foi-  future 
service  ;  for  the  loss  of  the  ketch  had  rendered  the  cargo  the 
more  valuable.  De  La  Salle  acted  as  if  he  had  no  one  to 

send,  no  one  on  whom  he  could  rely.  He  went  himself  to 

the  Indian  wigwam.s,  some  miles  distant,  when  his  proper  place 

would  have  been  on  the  deck  of  the  "Aimable."  Could  his 
presence  there  have  averted  the  catastrophe  which  followed  ? 

The  "Aimablc"  drew  eight  feet  six  inches.  The  prods 
verbal  of  the  soundings  sent  to  the  Minister  by  de  Beaujeu 
affirms  that  there  were  but  eight  feet  of  water. 

Joutel  has  described  the  scene  at  the  Indian  camp  :  the 

half-naked,  ill-looking  men,  and  the  repulsively  ugly  women. 
Indian  life  was  new  to  him.  Not  so  to  de  La  Salle,  who 

knew  what  course  to  take,  and  walked  forward  with  his  old 

*  A  wooden  canoe. 
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Hetcnnination.  As  thcj-  were  passiny;  among  the  wif^wams  a 
gun  was  heard  from  the  sea.  The  Indians  were  as  terrified  as 

if  the  h'ghtning  was  casting  its  bolt  among  them  ;  they 
threw  themselves  on  the  ground.  The  "  Aimable "  was  in 
view  ;  she  was  seen  taking  in  her  sails  ;  it  was  plain  that  she 
had  struck. 

The  prisoners  were  given  up.  The  Indians  even  became 

friend]}-,  and  furnished  some  supplies,  smoked  buffalo  and 
dried  porpoise  ;  and  they  expres.scd  every  desire  to  live  in 

amity  with  the  new-comers.  De  La  Salle  returned  to  the 

shore,  to  find  the  "  Aimable "  a  wreck.  Nothing  could  be 
done  but  to  save  the  cargo,  as  far  as  possible,  and  the  loss 
was  serious. 

It  was  a  custom  of  de  La  Salle  to  attribute  his  misfortunes 

to  the  intrigues  of  his  enemies.  On  two  occasions  he  states 

that  he  was  poisoned,  and  only  cured  by  a  universal  antidote 
which  he  brought  from  France.  He  could  never  recognize 

that  his  plans  were  ill  conceived  and  imperfectly  carried  out. 

The  loss  of  the  "  Griffon  "  he  attributed  to  the  persecution  of 
tho.se  oppo.scd  to  him.  In  this  case,  he  came  to  the  conclusion 

that  the  loss  of  the  "  Aimable,"  which  arose  from  his  want  of 
judgment  and  prudence,  somewhat  allied  with  ill  fortune,  was 
the  deliberate  act  on  the  part  of  Aigron  to  cause  the  failure 

of  the  expedition.  The  supposition  is  perfectly  unwarrant- 
able. The  statement  has  been  repeated  by  Joutel  and  Le 

Clercq  without  any  evidence  to  sustain  it,  and  it  has  been  fol- 
lowed by  modern  writers.  It  is  manifest  that  the  attempt  to 

enter  the  channel,  should  not  have  been  made  in  the 

depth  of  water,  without  considerably  lightening  the  vessel,  and 
it  is  probable  that  the  attempt  to  save  this  labour  led  to 

her  destruction.  De  La  Salle  reported  to  the  Minister  the 
conduct  of  Aigron,  and  on  his  return  to  France,  according  to 

the  arbitrary  system  of  those  days,  the  unfortunate  captain 
was  imprisoned. 

The  Indians  were  not  slow  to  profit  by  the  confusion.  It 
was  soon  seen  that  articles  were  being  stolen  and  carried  off, 

and  a  part\'  under  Moranget  was  sent  to  regain  some  of  the 
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missiiii::^  property.  Moranc^ct  acted  without  judi^mcnt,  and  as 
he  could  not  find  what  he  was  in  search  of,  he  seized  some 

canoes  in  reprisal  ;  a  proceedint^  which  chantijed  the  pilfering 
Indians  into  declared  enemies.  The  men,  without  experience 

in  the  country,  were  unable  to  navigate  the  canoes  with  skill, 

consequently  their  progress  was  slow,  and  it  became  necessary 
for  them  to  encamp  on  the  shore  during  the  night.  Xo 

.sentinel  was  placed,  no  precautions  were  taken  to  assure  safety, 

while  the  camp  fire  was  a  guide  to  the  hostility  of  the  Indians. 
An  attack  with  a  shower  of  arrows  was  the  consequence.  A 

discharge  froin  a  musket  put  their  assailants  to  flight,  but 
their  assault  was  the  first  notice  of  their  presence.  Two  men 

were  killed,  Moranget  was  wounded.  The  attack  seems  to 

have  made  a  profound  iinpression  on  all  who  were  present. 
Two  of  the  principal  persons  declined  to  remain,  the  engineer 

Minet  and  the  Sulpician  d'Esmanville.  The  latter  states  that 
dc  La  Salle  informed  him  that  it  was  his  intention  to  attack 

the  Spaniards  ;  upon  this  the  Sulpician  replied  that  he  had 
been  sent  by  his  Superior  on  no  such  errand,  and  consequently 

should  return  home.  Alinct's  previous  quarrel  with  dc  La 
Salle  suggested  to  him  the  impossibility  of  remaining  in 
the  service. 

On  the  4th  of  March,  dc  La  Salle  wrote  to  dc  Beaujeu 

asking  him  for  the  "  Joly's  "  boat  ;  dc  Beaujeu  replied  that  he 
was  unable  to  give  it,  as  he  required  it  to  obtain  wood  and 

water,  w  hich  he  much  needed,  and  that  it  was  necessary  for  him 
immediately  to  sail  in  search  of  them.  I  le  felt  the  serious  risk  of 

staying  in  these  waters,  the  weather  being  occasionally  rough; 

and  as  there  was  no  protection  from  the  wind,  he  felt  that 

there  was  a  constant  danger  of  being  driven  ashore.  Having 

now^  landed  the  troops  and  all  the  stores,  except  the  guns, 
he  considered  that  he  had  fulfilled  the  trust  he  had  accepted, 
and  so  resolved  to  return  to  France.  He  again  offered  to 

proceed  to  Martinique  and  obtain  additional  provisions.  The 

Abbe  Cavelier,  Moranget  and  d'Esmanville  also  agreed  to 
join  in  the  responsibility  of  obtaining  them.  He  stated  that 

he  was  ready  himself  tcf'advancc  the  money,  and  also  offered 
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to  briiij;  back  an\'  small  boats  which  were  required.  "  I 

implore  you,"  he  added,  "  to  make  use  of  the  Kin^^'s  vessel 
while  you  have  her:  you  will  be  freed  from  responsibility  with 
rei^ard  to  events,  which  do  not  always  succeed  as  we  wish 

and  have  conceived  they  will  happen."  Dc  La  Salic  prom- 
ised to  send  news  to  de  Beaujeu  in  March  or  April.  If 

he  did  not  find  him  in  the  river  he  hoped  to  do  so  in  the  Ha)- 
of  Saint  Esprit,  and  he  asked  that  the  ̂ ams  and  shot  should 
then  be  f^iven  to  his  messenger. 

De  La  Salle  desired  to  retain  the  crew  of  the  "  Aimable," 
and  would  have  forced  them  to  remain  with  him  :  the\-  were 

received,  however,  on  board  the  "  Joly"  against  his  wish.  It 
was  de  Beaujeu's  feeling  that  they  should  not  be  contravened 
in  their  determination  ;  and  the  men  were  required  in  t'">c 
marine  service  in  France.  On  the  12th  of  March,  de  Beaujeu 
left  the  coast. 

His  official  report,  on  his  return  to  France,  was  to  the  effect 

that  he  was  met  by  contrary  winds,  and,  having  been 

in  want  of  water,  he  had  to  make  for  the  western  point  of 

Cuba,  Cape  St.  Antoine,  at  which  place  he  arrived  on  the 

30th  of  March  ;  sending  a  boat  in  for  water,  it  was  seized  bj^ 
some  buccaneers  almost  under  the  guns  of  the  vessel.  Two 

of  his  men  were  killed,  and  four  made  prisoners.  He  had  no 
means  of  chastising  these  pirates,  but  knowing  how  the 

Inquisition  kept  the  Spaniard  in  continual  terror  of  committing 

an  outrage  against  an  ecclesiastic,  he  sent  d'Esmanville,  the 
Sulpician  priest,  to  see  what  could  be  done.  It  was  only  by 
negotiation  that  he  obtained  the  release  of  the  men.  M. 

d'Esmanville  has  left  an  account  of  the  transaction.  The 
pirates  received  two  small  swivel  guns,  picrricrs,  ten  quintals 

of  powder,  two  hundred  ecus  and  two  barrels  of  can  de  vie. 
Dc  Beaujeu  subsequently  met  some  English  vessels  who 
assisted  him  with  water  and  provisions.  He  accompanied 

the.se  vessels  to  V^irginia,  and  thence  sailed  for  France. 
I  have  endeavoured  faithfully  to  narrate  the  circumstances 

of  the  landing  of  de  La  Salle.  It  is  plain  that,  in  all  instances, 

he  refused  the  advice  given  him.     He  cllone  decided  the  course 
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to  be  taken,  and  determined  it  from  his  own  standing  point The  facts  shew  that  dc  Hcaujeu  jravc  all  the  assistance 
possible,  and  even  made  the  offer  of  future  disinterested  co- 

operation. What  is  more,  he  understood  the  desi)erate  cir- 
cumstances in  which  the  cxpctlition  was  placed,  better  than 

de  La  Salle  himself  Ihit  when  de  La  Salle  asserted  that  he 
had  reached  one  of  the  channels  of  the  Mississippi,  it  was  not 
possible  for  de  Beaujeu  to  dispute  the  statement.  The 
knouledge  of  the  ̂ ^eo-raph)-  of  the  countrj-  by  which  they were  to  be  j,ruided  was  pos.sessed  bj-  de  La  Salle  alone,  and 
none  but  he,  had  a  voice  in  the  selection  of  the  place  for discmbarcation. 

There  must  have  been  man>'  sad  forebodint^.s  as  the  French 
ship  w  as  sailin-  out  of  the  sight  of  those  left^ behind.     It  was not  possible,  however,  for  much  time  to  be  given  to  grief  or doubt,  for  the  present  exacted  every  consideration.    Even  with 
tho.se   inclined   to  despond,    the    circumstances  of   the    hour 
were  sufficient  in  them.selves  to  drive  away  sad  thoughts  with 
regard  to  the  future.     There  had  already  been  some  attempt to  give  effect  to  the  expedition.     Muts  had  been  constructed 
and  the  propcrt)-  landed  from  the  ships  placed  under  protection and  a  reconnaissance  of  the  surrounding  countrv  was  at  once 
undertaken.     Joutel  was  left  in  command   of  the   buildin<rs 
sufficiently  exposed   in   ever\-  respect   to  attack.     The  com- 

munity  had    never   been    subjected    to   much  organi7ation  • 
Joutel  describes  himself  as  endeavouring  to  establish  di.scipline and  order.     Two  men  deserted  ;  one  man  was  hanged  ;  one  of 
the  principal  volunteers,  when  out  shooting,  was  bitten   by  a rattlesnake.     During  these  proceedings  a  plot  was  formed  to 
kill  Joutel,  but  it  was  revealed  in  time  for  the  mischief  to  be averted. 

In  following  the  career  of  de  La  Salle  from  the  date  of  his 
landing  to  his  death,  a  period  of  two  years,  it  is  not  possible 
precisely  to  define  the  end  he  had  in  vic^v.  He  st.ll  possessed 
the  "Belle"  barque.  Wh)-  did  he  not  himseK  proceed  by water  in  a  voyage  of  discovery  to  find  the  position  of  the 
Mississippi,   and    on    gaining   the    informatioi'    transfer   his 
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force  and  establish  himself  in  a  suitable  spot,  if  it  really 
was  his  intention  to  make  a  settlement  on  the  banks  of  the 

river?  He  had  in  an  inifierfect  \va>' observed  the  latitude* 
of  the  mouths  of  the  Mississippi,  but  the  longitude  had  not 

been  ascertained,  so  he  was  without  a  guiding  principle  to 

direct  him  to  the  spot  ;  and  it  was  only  by  exploration  and 
discovery  that  he  could  learn  where  he  w  as.  I  (e  a[)i)ears  to 
have  been  sensible  of  this  fact,  and  to  some  extent  to  have 

been  guided  by  it. 

De  La  Salle  remained  until  the  24th  of  March,  16X3.  gather- 

ing up  what  he  could  from  the  wreck  of  the  "  Aimable."  He 
likewi.se  placed  on  board  the  "  Belle"  much  of  his  own  bag- 

gage and  whatever  was  not  immediately  required.  To  some 
extent,  he  extended  and  protected  the  Fort  which  he  had 

built.  lie  formed  the  opinion,  however,  that  the  spot  was 

exposed  and  unfit  as  a  station,  and  accordingly  resolved  to 
seek  a  more  favourable  locality,  where  there  would  be  fresh 

water,  wood  and  good  land,  none  of  which  were  found  at 

the  entrance  to  the  bay.  On  the  24th  he  started  on  an  explo- 
ration, lie  was  accompanied  by  the  Sulpiciansand  Recollets 

and  forty-seven  men.  They  embarked  in  four  canoes  and  the 

boat  of  the  "  Hellc."  On  the  2nd  of  April  they  reached  the 
embouchure  of  a  river  fifteen  leagues  from  the  mouth  of 

the  Bay,  giving  the  Bay  an  extent  of  thirty-si.x  miles.  An 
attempt  was  made  to  find  a  favourable  location,  and  the  site 
for  a  ̂ }c\v  fort  was  eventually  established.  It  was  marked  by 
the  inconvenience,  that  the  barque  could  not  approach  within 

.some  le-.igues  of  the  place,  so  the  discharge  of  provisions  and 
stores  had  to  be  made  by  canoes.  De  La  Salle  endeavoured 

to  remed}'  this  difficulty  by  landing  the  cargo  at  the  nearest 

point,  a  league  distant  from  where  the  vessel  was  lyino-. 
On  their,  arrival  at  the  head  of  the  Bay,  those  t 

had    accompanied    de    La    Salle,  set  the    uUf 
construct  their  future  home.     For  the  t  .ii._ 

themselves  in  tents  and  huts,  and  an  at.     .ipt  wa 

*  De  La  Salle  xnameil  the  latitude  at  28"  18'  to  28'  20'. 

29°  05'  to  29^  10'. 
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inciwrc  the  -i-ouikI  for  the  siiniiner  crop.  Towards  mid- 
summer, Joutel  received  instructions  to  abandon  the  Inuldin^rs on  the  coast,  and  with  his  party  to  remove  to  tlie  new  location 

What  timber  had  been  used  in  the  earlier  fort  was  broui,dit  by 
the  "Belle"  for  the  new  structure.  It  was  not  lon^r  before a  mortal  sickness  came  upon  the  small  settlement.  The 
men,  new  to  this  semi-tropical  country,  with  fruit  plentiful 
around  them,  partook  of  it  to  an  extent  to  cause  fever  and 
disease;  while  the  previous  e.xces.ses  in  San  l)onnn-o 
of  most  of  those  pre.sent,  doubtless  contributed  to  this 
result  fn^n  the  maladies  contracted  tliere,  ami  man\-  deaths followed. 

These  proceedings  taken  by  de  La  Salle,  justify  the  opinion 
that  the  question  of  the  Mississippi  was  of  secondarx-  import- 

ance to  him.    Certainly  he  acted  as  if  his  intention  had  been  to 
form  a  settlement  on  Spanish  territory,  in  the  expectation,  as  he 
e.xplaincd  to  de  Heaujcu,  that  he  would  be  followed  b>'  another 
expedition.      lie  did  not  particularize  what  this  re-inforccment 
would  be  ;  but  it  is  plain  that  he  looked  for  the  presence  of 
Penalossa  with  the  buccaneers  of  San  Domin-o      With  the 
footin.c,^  on  the  soil  which  de  La  Salle  had  obtained,  the  new 
force  could  have  landed  without  difficulty,  and  after  recruiting for  a  few  days  have  started  for  Panuco  to  attempt  the  seizure 
of  the  northern  Mexican  Provinces.     De  La  Salle  well  knew 
that  any  settlement  on  the  Gulf  of  Mexico  was  frauoht  with 
danc^-er.    Spain,  althou-h  no  lont,rcr  the  power  it  had  been  of  the sixteenth  century,  still  had  ships  and  men.     No  portion  of  her 
empire  was  watched   with  orcater  jealousy  than   the  \\atcrs 
where  he  had  landed,      fn  spite  of  the  protests  of  France  the 
(n.lf    111  the  eye  of   the  rulers  at    Madrid,   was    held    to  be 
a    Spanish    sea.     In    proportion    as    the    settlement    became 
fiourishing,  it   would   be   the  more  expo.sed  to  danger,   and 
unless  sustained  by  a  powerful  armament  by  sea  and  land  the 
report  of  its  prosperity   would   have   led   to   its   destruction. 
Ihc  fatal   attempt  to  colonize    Daricn  in   1698  shews  what 
uould  have  been  its  fate.     In   1701  the  settlement,  in  itself 
a'     ost  broken   up    by   di.seasc    and  want,  was  visited    by  a 
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Spanish    fleet,   and    fourteen  days   given    to    the    settlers    to 
leave  the  spot. 

The  fort  was  at  Icnc^th  finished.  The  ground  was  a  pleasant 
ascent,  but  there  was  no  wood  or  water  within  two  or  three 

miles.  The  early  accommodation  of  huts  and  tents  was 

replaced  by  more  permanent  buildings,  and  the  whole  area 
was  surrounded  by  a  palisade.  Protection  in  this  form  having 
been  obtained,  on  the  last  of  October  dc  La  Salle  again 

started  with  fifty  men,  on  another  journey  of  exploration. 
Joutcl  was  left  behniu  i.:  charge  of  the  second  fort,  which,  we 

learn  from  him,  at  that  time,  contained  one  hundred  and  thirty 
souls.  Mis  instructions  were,  to  have  no  intercour.se  with 

the  Indians,  while  he  kept  the  inmates  employed  in  complet 

ing  and  developing  the  accommodation  of  the  place,  and 

throughout  he  acted  as  a  dc\'Oted  and  efficient  representati\'c 
of  his  chief. 

De  La  Salle's  design  was  to  explore  the  whole  extent  of  the 
Bay,  to  convince  himself  whether  the  waters  of  the  Mississippi 

discharged  into  it,  or  if  the  river  of  which  he  was  in  .search 

was  contiguous  to  the  Bay  ;  physical  facts  which  he  was 
desirous  of  establishing  before  he  passed  beyond  its  extent. 

The  men  marched  on  the  banks,  while  the  "Belle"  anchored 
in  the  Baj'  opposite  to  their  halting  places.  As  they  pro- 

ceeded onward,  the  Indians  were  found  to  be  inimical.  Minor 

attacks  frequently  took  place,  and  de  La  Salle  determined  to 

proceed  in  the  "  Belle "  to  inflict  chastisement  on  them,  in 
order  to  prevent  further  harassing  encounters.  During  this 

expedition  some  articles  were  obtained  having  the  charac- 
ter of  spoil  taken  by  the  buccaneers  from  the  Spanish  cities 

to  the  south.  He  was  eight  days  absent  on  this  enterprise, 
and,  on  his  return  to  the  camp,  he  found  many  of  his  men 
sick  from  eating  the  fruit  immoderately,  and  from  the  effect 

of  the  bad  water,  which  in  their  march  they  often  found  to  be 
brackish.  In  this  dilemma,  he  returned  to  the  fort,  while  a 

part)'  was  detached  to  take  soundings  in  the  bay,  by  which 
its  character  could  be  better  judged.  Again  misfortune  fol- 

lowed the  careless  neglect  of  precaution.     Shortly  afterwards 
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the  pilot  and  some  of  the  crew,  acting  with  the  want  of 

prudence  which  marked  nearly  every  one  connected  with  the 
expedition,  went  on  shore  to  sleep.  Failing  to  place  a  sentry, 

they  were  massacred.  Time  wore  on,  and  de  La  Salle  obtain- 
ing no  tidings  of  his  men,  went  in  search  of  them,  to  find 

their  mutilated  bodies.  De  La  Salle  now  determined  to  con- 

tinue his  explorations  by  land.  In  order  for  the  "Belle"  to 
be  available  for  future  operations,  he  sent  on  board  a  supply 
of  fresh  water,  and  the  better  to  secure  such  articles  of  dress 

as  he  did  not  require,  he  placed  them  with  other  propert)-  on 
board.  Other  members  of  the  expedition  acted  similarly. 
Tessicr,  one  of  the  pilots,  was  placed  in  charge  among  the 

volunteers.  The  Marquis  de  Sablonnierc  is  particularlj-  men- 
tioned for  his  misconduct.  At  San  Domingo  he  had  indulged 

in  his  pleasures,  not  only  at  the  expense  of  his  health,  but  also  of 
his  clothing,  which  he  had  sold  to  obtain  money.  His  excesses 

had  destroyed  his  health.  As  he  was  unable  to  march,  he  was 
sent  on  board  the  barque  to  assist  in  the  operations.  De 

La  Salle  started,  leaving  inscructions,  that  the  barque  should 
remain  moored  where  she  was,  and  wait  for  further  orders. 

Whether  the  cable  broke  or  was  cut,  the  "  Belle "  left  her 
moorings,  and  when  de  La  Salle  returned  she  was  absent,  and 
had  drifted  out  of  view.  The  party  that  he  sent  in  search 

of  her,  came  back  without  tidings  of  the  vessel,  and  this 

depressing  circumstance  was  accepted  by  de  La  Salle  as 

evidence  that  the  "Belle"  was  also  lost.  In  this  distressing 
extremity  he  saw  no  course  open  to  him  for  future  aid,  but  to 

proceed  to  France  b)'  wa\-  of  Canada.  It  was  the  24th  of 
March,  1686,  when  de  La  Salle  returned  to  the  fort. 

Such  is  the  account  given  in  the  pnurs  verbal  of  the  i8th 

of  A])ril,  1686,  attributed  to  de  La  Salle. 
During  this  expedition,  de  La  Salle  had  reached  a  wide 

river,  which  he  as.serted  to  be  the  Mississippi.  He  built  a 

temporary  fort  on  the  banks  of  this  stream,  in  order  to  leave 
some  men  in  possession  for  future  operations  There  is  no 

further  mention  of  the  fate  of  these  men,  noi  is  there  any 
narrative   of    explorations   having  been   made    to  determine 
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the  certainty  of  this  view.  The  opinion  was  ^^cnerally  en- 
tertained that  this  was  not  tlie  river  of  which  he  was  in 

search,  and  tlie  discovery  Iiad  no  influence  on  his  ultimate 

proceedings. 
Dc  La  Salle  had  at  this  date  been  a  year  in  the  second  fort 

where  he  had  established  himself,  and  in  this  time  his  position 

had  only  increased  in  difficulties,  l^ach  day  the}-  became 
more  desperate.  With  all  his  efforts  he  had  done  nothing 

towards  the  healthy  develoi^ment  of  the  enterprise  ;  even  the 
limited  attempt  that  had  been  made  to  cultivate  the  soil  had  not 
answered  expectation.  To  add  to  the  unpromising  situation 
which  on  all  sides  met  his  view,  de  La  Salle  was  seized  u  ith 

sickness,  and  m  the  dreary  hours  of  suffering  he  must  have 

felt  that  in  ever\-  respect  his  attempts  had  been  wanting  in 

success.  He  had  abandoned  all  hope  of  the  safet}-  of  the 

"  Belle,"  and  had  formed  a  resolution  to  force  his  way  to  the 
Mississippi,  to  ascend  that  river  to  the  Illinois,  and  thence 

reach  Canada,  whence  he  would  send  assistance  to  his  strug- 
gling colony.  It  was  the  one  remedy  which  de  La  Salle 

could  conceive,  and  even  if  that  desperate  effort  were  successful, 
months  must  intervene  before  the  relief  would  bo  available. 

The  Abbe  Cavelier  subsequenth'  explained  that  dc  La 
Salle  never  himself  intended  to  abandon  the  colony  ;  that  his 

design  was  simplj-  to  accompany  his  brother,  the  Abbe,  to 
the  Mississippi,  and  start  him  safely  on  his  journey  to  carry 
out  the  mission  entrusted  to  him,  and  that  dc  La  Salle  would 

then  have  returned  to  his  post.  This  theory  is  the  onl)-  one 
admissible  to  explain  the  pos.session  by  the  Abbe  of  the  let- 

ter which  contains  the  written  instructions  of  de  La  Salle, 

of  the  9th  of  January,  1687,  addressed  to  Tonty,  asking 
him  to  refund  to  Abbe  Cavelier  the  e.xpen.ses  of  the  voyage, 

and  to  place  property  in  his  hands  to  the  amount  of  2,652 
livres.  It  will  be  seen  that  Cavelier  obtained  this  property  on 
the  24th  of  March,  1688. 

On  the  22nd  of  April,  16S6,  dc  La  Salle  started,  with  the 

avowed  object  of  finding  the  route  to  the  Mississippi.  His 

party  consisted  of  twenty-eight.     Every  preparation  had  been 
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made  to  provide  those  associated  in  the  effort  with  clothnig  ; 

and  tlic  start  was  made  with  the  best  auspices  that  the  situa- 
tion permitted. 

In  this  crisis  we  may  trace  the  influence  which  throui,fhout 
his  Hfe  de  La  Salle  could  exercise  over  a  certain  class  of 

men.  There  arc  many  such  characters  in  the  world,  and 

those  who  are  not  subjected  to  the  fa.scination,  ask  in  vain  the 
source  of  this  power.  The  qualities  of  de  La  Salle  were  not 

those  of  a  large  and  noble  mind.  His  attempts  ended  in  fail- 
ure ;  he  accomplished  nothint^.  The  romance  which  hangs 

about  his  career  ;  the  devotion  of  many  of  his  followers  ;  his 

acti\-e  life  ;  the  prominent  part  which  he  played  in  the  history 
of  that  date  ;  his  commantling  presence  ;  his  courage  ;  his 
endurance  ;  his  patience  ;  his  stoicism  ;  his  misfortunes  ;  his 
murder  ;  have  given  to  his  name  the  charm  which  it  possesses. 

But  in  the  results  he  attained,  he  rises  only  to  a  slight  eleva- 

tion above  the  many  wilr'  spirits  who  in  those  days  lived 
an  adventurous  existence  in  the  woods.  He  was  capricious 

and  unjust  to  his  followers.  Even  Joutel,  personally  devoted 

to  him,  informs  us  how  he  was  led  by  disappointments, 

often  unreasonably,  to  ill-treat  those  about  him.*  His  cou- 
rage was  unfaltering  ;  he  was  never  appalled  by  danger.  His 

bold  nature,  with  undemonstrative  calmness,  was  undaunted 

by  the  most  cruel  reverses.  Hut  throughout  his  life  there  is 

the  same  feature  of  never  rising  above  the  spirit  of  adventure. 

I'^rom  the  want  of  an  end  ably  and  prudentl}-  followed,  every- 
thing he  undertook  collap.scd  in  ruin. 

It  was  not  long  before  the  news  of  the  wreck  of  the  "  Belle" 
was  confirmed.  All  but  eight  men  perished.  These  found 

their  way  to  the  fort  with  what  propertj-  the\^  managed  to 

save.  Their  only  chance  of  safety  now  la)-  in  the  hel|)  which 
de  La  Salle  could  obtain  from  Canada,  for  it  was  plain  there 
was  nothing  to  hope  from  France. 

Joutel  had  difficult)-  in  maintaining  his  position  in  the  fort, 
for  there  was  discontent,  as  there  well  might  be.    The  Indians 

'"   "  Lf  clux^'iiii  lid  .^L  de  La  .Salic 

gens  sduvent  a  coiitrcleni))s." 
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were  unfriendly,  and  a  person  named  Duhaut  was  marked  in 
his  contumacy.  He  was  destined  to  be  the  murderer  of  do 

La  Salle,  and  in  a  few  weeks  to  fall  himself  by  the  pistol  of  a 
desperado  dissatisfied  with  the  amount  of  plunder  which 

Duhaut  had  con.sented  to  give  him.  He  had  embarked  a 

large  sum  of  money  in  the  venture,  and  his  discontent  on 
.seeing  its  almost  certain  loss,  was  increased  by  the  haughty 
manners  of  de  La  Salle, 

The  surprise  must  h-^ve  been  great  at  the  fort  when  de 
La  Salle  returned  on  the  17th  of  October.*  Of  the  twenty- 
eight  men  who  had  accompanied  him,  eight  only  were  present, 
bringing  five  horses  with  them.  Four  had  deserted.  One 

Dumcsnil,  de  La  Salle's  servant,  had  been  seized  by  an  alligator 
as  he  was  swimming  a  stream.  The  remainder,  unable  to  con- 

tinue on  the  march,  had  been  left  behind  to  reach  the  fort  as 

they  were  able.  They  were  never  again  heard  of,  and  were  cither 
killed  by  the  Indians  or  died  of  starvation.  De  La  Salle  had 
been  absent  from  April  to  October,  six  months.  The  party 
had  passed  over  plains  where  the  buffalo  were  in  plenty  and 

easily  killed.  They  crossed  the  larger  rivers  on  rafts,  and 
threw  trees  across  the  smaller  streams.  They  met  Indians, 

apparently  friendly,  but  who  evinced  every  disposition  to 
destroy  them  for  the  property  they  possessed.  As  they 

advanced  northward,  they  were  kindly  welcomed  by  the  Cenis. 
Indians,  who  received  them  in  their  lodges  ;  and  it  was  from 

this  tribe  that  they  purchased  the  five  horses  they  brought 
back.  As  they  reached  one  of  the  streams,  de  La  Salle  and 
also  his  nephew,  Moranget,  became  ill,  and  they  remained  in 

consequence  encamped  on  its  banks  for  two  months.  By  this 

time  their  ammunition  was  almost  expended,  and  being  in  pos- 
session of  the  horses  obtained  from  the  Cenis  Indians,  de 

La  Salle  determined  to   return   to   the  fort   to  reorganize,  to 

*  Joulel  places  the  event  in  Aujfust.  Joutel,  however,  tells  us  (p.  94) 

"coninie  j'ay  [leniu  les  mC'nioires  que  je  fis  alors  &  que  ce  que  j'ecris  est  du 

fond  de  m.i  nienioire  je  iie  me  servirai  plus  de  dates  de  peur  tie  nianquer. " 
The  date  given  in  the  text  is  accoid.inj^  to  Douay. 
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obtain  fresh  stores  and  supplies,  and  to  procure  an  efficient 
outfit  for  their  journey  to  Canada. 

In  this  critical  situation  de  La  Salle  retained  that  equan- 
imity for  which  he  was  remarkable.  The  outlook,  indeed,  was 

gloomy  enough.  Of  the  one  hundred  and  seventy-three  per- 
sons, independently  of  the  women  and  children,  who  had  left 

France,  and  the  crew  of  the  "  Belle,"  forty-five  only  remained. 
Those  who  have  recorded  the  events  of  the  expedition  dwell 

upon  de  La  Salle's  courage  and  composure.  They  tell  us, 
he  still  spoke  words  of  comfort  and  pointed  out  the  re- 

sources they  could  yet  command,  and  that  his  intrepid  spirit 
never  shrank  in  view  of  the  dark  prospect  before  him  ;  to 

the  last  he  calmly  assured  those  who  were  with  him  that 
Heaven  would  aid  them  in  their  difficulties.  It  is  in  trials 

of  this  character  that  the  great  qualities  of  de  La  Salle  are 

apparent. 
One  hope  only  was  left  to  the  remnant  of  the  adventurers, 

who  had  sailed  from  France  with  such  high  expectation  nearly 

three  years  previously,*  relief  and  aid  from  Canada.  They 
had  nothing  to  expect  from  the  Mother  Country.  It  is  one  of 

the  most  disgraceful  passages  in  the  history  of  the  reign  of 
Louis  XIV.  that  he  abandoned,  without  thought  or  care,  those 
whom  he  had  encouraged  to  leave  their  native  land,  in  order 
to  develop  the  fortunes  of  a  territory  that  bore  his  own  name, 

and  whose  success  was  to  add  to  his  glory  and  '•enown.  He 
was  then  occupied  in  directing  the  policy  which  was  to  lead 

up  to  the  Revocation  of  the  Fdict  of  Nantes,  and  the  perse- 
cution of  the  Protestants.  The  lives  of  a  few  Frenchmen  on 

the  shores  of  the  Gulf  of  Mexico  were  a  small  matter  to  his 

ambition,  and  of  less  regard  to  his  ministers,  who  lived  on  his 
favour  as  on  the  light  of  Heaven. 

No  doubt,  to  the  last,  these  unhappy  exiles  turned  in  thought 

to  their  much-loved  France.  They  could  obtain  from  her, 

however,  neither  comfort  nor  relief  The  only  means  of  sal- 
\  ation  lay  in  a.ssistance  being  obtained  by  the  ascent  of  the 

•  1684. 
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Mississippi,  that*  '' fatalc  riviere"  to  use  the  words  of  Joutcl, 
and  this  course  was  a^^ain  determined  on. 

Tliere  is  much  which  is  touching  in  the  final  scene  of  this 

Colon}',  as  it  is  known  to  us.  It  was  resolved  to  leave  behind 
twenty  at  the  fort  under  the  charge  of  Barbier,  who  had  been 

the  leading  spirit  in  the  hunting  expeditions,  and  who  had 

married  one  of  the  young  women.  There  were  the  two 

Recollet  friars,  Membre  and  Lc  Clercq,  the  Sulpician  priest, 

Chedeville,  a  surgeon,  five  or  seven  women  and  girls,  five 

children  of  the  Talon  family,  and  about  eight  men,  -Dldiers 
and  artizans. 

Mass  was  performed  for  the  last  time.  I'i\e  priests  assisted 
at  the  ceremony,  and  doubtless  the  blessings  and  consolations 

of  religion  were  never  more  devoutly  and  earnestly  appealed 

to.  De  La  Salle  gathered  together  all  who  were  present,  and 

addressed  them  with  that  power  of  language  and  that  charm 

of  manner  which  were  alwax's  at  his  command.  They  were  all 
much  affected,  some  even  to  tears,  and  many  felt  that  they 

were  meeting  together  for  the  last  time  in  this  life.  Kverj- 
effort  had  been  made  to  patch  up  and  complete  the  clothing 

of  the  men  starting  on  the  expedition  ;  for  the  safet}'  of  those 
left  behind  depended  on  their  reaching  their  destination.  It 

was  but  too  well  known  that  the  journey  was  long,  marked 

by  hard.ship  and  danger  :  and  the  previous  attempt  which,  after 

months  of  ab.sence,  had  ended  in  a  return  to  the  starting  place, 

must  have  created  forebodings  of  failure  and  disaster.  But, 

to  the  last,  they  vv-ere  cheered  b}-  that  old  French  gaiety  of 
heart,  so  marked  a  feature  in  the  national  character. 

The  night  before  the  departure,  they  were  all  assembled 

together.  It  was  the  Fete  lies  Rois,  our  EnglLsh  Twelfth 

Night.  They  must  have  spoken  of  France,  of  home,  of  the 

future,  and  they  were  led  after  the  custom  of  old  days  to  pledge 

health  and  happiness  to  each  other.  Joutel  tells  us  how  the)- 

lifted  their  glasses  to  the  toast  of  "  Lc  Roi  Iwit."  There  was 
no  wine  to  mark  the  festivity.  But  hope  gave  its  undying 

zest  to  the  water  with  which  their  cups  were  filled,  as  they 
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were  triiKjiic  one  with  the  otlicr.  Those  whose  fate  it  has  been 

on  occasions  to  live  cast  away  from  civilizati(jn,  know  well  liow 

such  recollections  of  home  will  arise,  awakening  thoughts 

difficult  to  control,  recalling,  as  it  were,  the  whole  panorama 

of  the  past  as  a  passing  scene.  In  an  hour  like  this,  who  can 

tell  the  emotions  that  vibrated  through  each  heart  of  this 

band  of  men  and  women,  from  the  impossibility  of  resisting 

the  feeling  that  few  would  escape  the  fate  which  so  sternly 
threatened  them  ? 

On  the  7th  of  January,  1687,  the  expedition  started.  The 

baggage  was  placed  on  the  backs  of  the  five  horses  obtained 

from  the  Indians.  Their  departure  must  have  been  painfully 

watched  from  the  walls  till  they  were  out  of  sight.  There  were 

de  La  Salle  ;  his  brother  the  Sulpician  ;  the  two  nephews, 

Moranget  and  young  Cavcher";  Joutel  ;  the  Recollet  Douay  ; 
Duhaut  ;  Liotot,  a  surgeon  ;  de  Marie  ;  Tessier,  the  pilot  ; 

L'Archeveque,  a  servant  of  Duhaut  ;  Xika,  an  Indian  hunter 
who  had  been  long  attached  to  de  La  Salle  ;  a  Wurtemberger 

named  Miens,  who  is  also  spoken  of  as  "  English  Jem  ;"  Har- 

thclemy,  a  young  lad  from  Paris  ;  Saget,  de  La  Salle's  ser- 
vant, and  some  five  or  six  others. 

Before  recording  the  few  events  which  remain  of  de  La 

Salle's  life,  it  will  be  well  to  narrate  the  fate  of  the  colonv, 
a.s  known  to  us  by  Spanish  reports.  The  capture  of  the  ketch 

suggested  the  design  of  the  French  to  establish  a  colony  in 

the  Gulf  of  Mexico,  and  expeditions  were  sent  out  to  destroy 

it.  Jf)utcl  mentions  that  he  saw  a  Spani.sh  vessel  in  the 

distance,  in  April,  1685.  No  trace  of  the  settlement  was 

discovered  by  the  Spaniards  :  finally,  .some  intelligence  con- 
cerning it  crossed  the  Rio  Grande,  when  a  Spani.sh  expedition, 

consisting  of  five  hundred  men  was  organized  to  destro)-  it. 
The\-  found  the  Fort  without  a  trace  of  life,  in  ruin  and 
desolation.  Hearing  that  two  Frenchmen  had  cast  their  fate 

with  the  Indians  in  the  neighbourhood,  the  Spaniards  sent 

out  a  part}'  to  find  them.  Tiiey  were  I'Archcveque  and 
GroUet,  who.se  names  will  appear  in  the  subsequent  narration. 

The\-  were  seized,  and  eventually  sent   to    Mexico  ;    it  was 
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from  them  that  the  fate  of  the  inmates  of  the  Fort  became 

known.  The  Indians,  hearincj  of  de  La  Salle's  murder, 
of  the  subsequent  deaths  of  Duhaut  and  Liotot,  and  of  the 

departure  of  the  other  members  of  the  party,  openly  declared 

their  enmity.  They  obtained  entrance  into  the  Fort,  and 
destroyed  most  of  its  inhabitants.  The  children  of  the  Talon 

family  were  saved  by  an  Indian  woman.  A  woman  and 
a  child  who  were  taken  prisoners  were  afterwards  killed  by 
the  Indians.  The  woman,  represented  as  the  wife  of  an 

officer,  was  probably  the  younj^  girl  married  to  Barbier. 
A  second  expedition  of  two  hundred  men  was  sent  to  gain 

possession  of  these  children  known  to  be  with  the  Indians. 

They  found  Pierre  Talon  and  a  young  man  named  Fus- 
tache  Brement,  with  Pierre  Meusnicr.  Being  well  treated  by 
the  Spaniards,  Pierre  Talon  gave  the  information  by  which 

his  brothers  Jean  Baptistc,  Robert  and  Lucien  were  found. 
They  had  all  been  tattooed  as  Indians.  There  was  a  third 

expedition,  by  which  the  sister  was  given  up  by  the  Cenis, 
not  without  some  difficulty.  The  two  eldest  were  impressed 

into  the  Spanish  navy.  Seven  years  after  they  were  taken  by 

a  P^'cnch  ship  of  war,  and  so  regained  their  liberty.  The 
younger  children  were  carried  to  Spain ;  Brement  and  Meus- 
nier  to  Vera  Cruz. 

Such  was  the  close  of  dc  La  Salle's  attempt  to  colonize  the 
Mississippi.  There  was  never  the  least  gleam  of  good  for- 

tune promising  success,  if  indeed  the  prosperous  establishment 
of  the  settlement  was  ever  looked  for.  There  are  few  of  the 

minor  chapters  of  history  more  painful  to  read,  and  few  more 
discreditable  to  the  Mother  Country,  PVance,  than  the  neglect 
to  send  relief  and  aid  to  these  unfortunate  men  and  women  in 

the  hour  of  distress  :  for  the  fact  that  they  were  not  heard  of 

for  three  years  ought  to  have  suggested  disaster. 

It  was  on  the  7th  of  Januiiry,  1687,  that  de  La  Salle  and 

his  party  left  the  P^ort  and  proceeded  on  their  journey  to 
Canada.  On  the  5th  of  March  they  reached  the  river  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  the  villages  of  the  Cenis  Indians.  These 
two    months    of    travel    intensified    the    hatred    entertained 
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against  dc  La  Salle  by  several  of  his  men.  Duhaut  was 
the  leading  spirit  representing  this  jealousy  ;  he  had  embarked 

money  in  the  enterprise,  and,  as  has  been  said,  the  prospect 
of  its  certain  loss  was  keenly  felt  by  him.  There  was 

another  source  of  more  painful  dissatisfaction.  Duhaut  had 

a  younger  brother  who  had  been  missing  since  the  last  expe- 
dition. He  was  not  one  likely  to  de.sert,  to  .seek  a  home  with 

Indian  squaws.  Me  had  been  unable  to  keep  up  with  the 

party  on  their  return,  and  was  left  behind  to  find  his  way  to 
the  fort  as  he  was  able,  and  was  never  again  heard  of  His 
fate  must  have  been  death  from  starvation,  or  he  must  have 

been  killed  by  the  Indian.s.  Liotot  was  the  surgeon.  Tonty 
tells  us  that  Liotot  held  dc  La  Salle  directly  responsible  for 
the  death  of  his  brother,  under  similar  circumstances.  There 

is  no  mention  of  this  young  man  by  Joutcl,  whereas  the  loss 
of  the  younger  brother  of  Duhaut  is  recorded.  It  is  not 
impossible  that  Tonty  confounded  the  names.  Whatever 
the  cause,  Liotot  was  exceedingly  embittered  against  de  La 
Salle,  and  was  determined  to  be  revenged. 

Wanting  provisions,  de  La  Salle  despatched  some  of  his 
men  to  find  a  cacJie  which  he  had  established  on  his  former 

journey.  They  found  the  provisions,  but  they  were  spoiled. 
The  party  were,  however,  more  fortunate  in  shooting  a  buffalo, 
the  flesh  of  which  they  dried  and  smoked,  and  sent  word  to 
de  La  Salle  to  order  the  horses  to  bring  it  over  to  camp. 

Moranget,  de  La  Salle's  nephew,  and  de  Marie,  started 
with  the  animals.  Moranget  is  mentioned  as  having  been 
offensive  and  exacting,  and  a  serious  dispute  arose.  With  this 
state  of  feeling,  the  malcontents  resolved  to  consummate  their 

project,  doubtless  long  entertained  and  often  discussed,  of 

killing  de  La  Salle.  Of  those  present,  Moranget.  de  La  Salle's 
nephew,  Saget,  his  servant,  and  Nika,  the  Indian  hunter, 
who  for  years  had  followed  his  fortunes,  were  devoted  to  him, 
and,  with  the  others  of  the  party,  might  be  looked  upon  as 

prepared  to  resist  to  the  death  any  attempt  against  their 
chief  It  was  now  determined,  as  preliminary  to  the  attack 
on   de   La   Salle,  that    the   three   should   be   killed.     Besides 
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iJuh.'iut  and  IJotot,  Hicns  and  Tcssicr,  the  pilot,  were  present. 
The  latter  did  not  oppose  or  take  an  active  part  in  the  crime, 

and  may  be  looked  upon  as  a  passive  accomplice.  A  servant 

of  Uuhaut,  L'Archeveciue,  one  to  be  an  instrument  of  L^ood 
or  evil  as  he  was  led,  was  also  w  ith  his  master. 

The  three  first  hours  of  sentry  were  given  to  jMorangct, 

Saget  and  Nika.  As  the  third  man  w  as  relieved,  ami  wrapped 
him.self  in  his  blanket  for  sleep,  and  when  all  was  quiet,  the 
assassins  proceeded  to  act.  Duhaut  and  Hiens  held  their 

loaded  guns  ready  to  shoot  down  all  active  resistance,  while 

the  surgeon  stepped  forth  stcalthil}-,  and  struck  with  mortal 
blows  the  three  sleeping  men  in  succession.  Moranget  was 

the  onl}'  one  that  was  not  at  once  killed.  IJe  Marie,  who  was 
present,  was  forced  to  give  him  the  finishing  stroke,  that  he 
might  be  held  to  be  an  accomplice  in  the  crime.  The  other 
twt)  died  without  a  struggle. 

De  La  Salle's  camp  was  six  miles  distant.  Two  days 
passed,  and  Moranget  not  having  returned,  de  La  Salle,  accom- 

panied b}-  the  friar  Anastase  Douay,  and  two  Indians, 

pas.sed  over  to  Duhaut's  camp.  It  was  the  19th  of  March. 
Douay  relates  that  on  their  way,  de  La  Salic  was  more  than 

usuallj-  depressed.  The  circumstance  much  affected  the 
Recollet,  for  he  afterwards  rec(jrded  that  during  their  route 
the  conversation  became  ur.usually  seriou.s.  De  La  Salle  spoke 

of  grace,  predestination,  and  of  all  that  he  owed  to  the  pro- 

tection of  God's  Providence  in  the  many  perils  he  had 
passed  through.  Carried  away  by  these  thoughts,  for  a  few- 
seconds  he  seemed  to  be  overwhelmed  in  sadness  ;  but  his 

elastic  nature  rapidly  recovered  itself,  and  the  two  walked 
onwards.  As  they  came  near  the  camp,  de  La  Salle  noticed 

two  birds  of  pre}-  circling  in  the  air,  as  if  attracted  by  the 
carcase  of  an  animal,  or  by  a  human  corpse,  and  he  fired  off 

his  pistols  to  attract  the  attention  of  those  who  were  there. 
It  was  the  signal  for  his  own  death.  Duhaut  and  Liotot 

believing  the  shots  were  from  him,  placed'  themselves  in 
ambush,  crouched  in  the  long  grass.  L'Archeveque  proceeded 
onwards,  as  if  to  meet  de  La  Salle,  who,  on  seeing  him,  asked 
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ulicfc  Mor.'ui_i;ct  was.  The  man  replied,  in  a  tone  of  unusual 
insolence,  and  without  the  customary  salute,  that  Moranijet 

was  1)}'  the  river.  This  demeanour  angered  de  La  Salle,  and 

he  wa.s  advancini,^  toward.s  I'vXrchcveque,  apparently  to  chastise 
him,  when  two  shots  were  fired  from  the  ijrass,  one  of  which 

struck  de  La  .Salle,  and  he  fell  dead.  Douay  expected  a 

similar  fate;  but  the  v(m"cc  of  Duhaut  was  heard  from  his  lair 
tellini;;  the  friar  that  he  had  nothing;  to  fear. 

The  two  murderers  came  forward  from  their  hidinL,^  place. 
For  once,  Liotot,  in  the  presence  of  his  old  commander,  un- 

checked uttered  insultinj^f  words,  but  they  were  addressed  to 
the  corpse  of  the  man  before  whom  he  had  ever  quailed. 

The  botl)'  was  stripped  and  draL^L^cd  naked  into  the  bush,  a 
prey  to  the  wild  animals  and  birds  of  the  plain.* 

The  assassins  had  j^'lutted  their  revenge  ;  they  now  took 
steps  to  profit  by  their  crime.  They  passed  over  to  de  La 

Salle's  camp.  Cavelier  had  heard  of  his  brother's  death  from 
Douay.  When  the  murderers  entered  his  tent,  he  expected 
instant  death,  and  throwing  himself  on  his  knees,  asked  for 

half  an  hour's  delay  to  prepare  himself  for  his  fate.  There 
was  no  desire  for  further  Ijlood,  and  the  priests  were  spared. 

Joutel  had  been  seen  and  warned  by  I'Archeveque  not  to 
attempt  resistance,  so  he  accepted  the  situation.  He  speaks 

of  himself  as  desiring  to  avenge  de  La  Salle's  death,  but  he 
was  restrained  by  the  dead  man's  brother.  It  is  hard  to  see 
how  he  could  have  acted  differently. 

Duhaut  seized  the  property  in  the  camp,  on  the  plea  that  it 
belonged  to  him  ;  he  likewise  assumed  command,  and  his 

authority  was  accepted.  Like  all  criminals,  now  that  the 
crime  had  been  committed,  the  jierpctrators  felt  irresolute  as 
to  the  course  they  would  follow.  Cavelier  and  Joutel  desired 

to  continue  the  journey  to  Canada.  This  proceeding  appeared 
to  the  murderers  as  an  advance  to  certain  punishment.  They, 
ho\ve\er,  made  no  change  in  the  route,  and  kept  to  the  trail 

cl 

*  Couture  establishes  the  fact  that  de  La  Salle  was  shot  dead,  his  body 

stripped  and  left  a  prey  to  wild  animals,  lie  had  heard  the  narrative  from  (Jave- 
lier  at  the  Arkansas.     Margry  III.,  p.  603. 
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to  brinj;  them  to  the  Cenis  tribe  of  Indians.  On  their  arrival 

they  were  received  with  distinction.  To  their  astonishment, 
they  discovered  three  Frenchmen  with  the  Ccni.s  :  deserters 
from  dc  La  Salle,  who  had  adopted  the  dress,  life  and  manner 

of  the  Indiati,  and  were  in  no  way  reco^Miizable  as  Europeans. 
One  was  a  native  of  Provence.  The  other  two  were  sailors, 

by  name  Rutcr  antl  Grollet.  They  were  much  pained  at  hear- 
ing of  the  fate  of  their  old  commaniler  :  nevertheless,  they 

aided  their  countrymen  in  their  difficult  position.  Trade  and 
barter  were  commenced  for  the  purpose  of  obtaining;  corn. 

Outwardly  there  were  quiet  and  peace,  and  nothing  took  place 
to  awaken  susp.«.:on  :  but  Cavelicr  and  Joutel  expected  daily 
to  be  assassinated.  When  they  were  informed  that  Duhaut 
and  the  surgeon  had  changed  their  views  as  to  their  future 

movements  they  felt  more  than  ever  uncertain  as  to  their 

own  fate.  Shortly  after  de  La  Salle's  death  Duhaut  had 
expressed  his  intention  to  return  to  Fort  Louis,  in  the  Gulf 
of  Mexico,  and  there  construct  a  ship,  in  which  his  party 
could  reach  the  West  Indies.  Mad  they  been  able  to  effect 

their  purpose,  it  is  probable  that  they  would  have  become 
buccaneers,  and  have  followed  that  career  as  long  as 

they  were  able.  Pensonally  they  had  not  the  skill  to  build  a 
ves.scl,  and  there  was  no  one  remaining  who  could  undertake 

the  work.  Moreover,  they  had  neither  stores  nor  rigging  to 

fit  her  out.  Under  the.se  circumstances,  they  may  have  con- 
sidered that  the  only  course  open  to  them  was  to  seek 

an  a.sylum  in  Canada.  When  the  proposition  was  made 
in  the  first  in.stance,  that  they  should  all  return  to  the  Gulf  of 
Mexico,  Joutel  and  Cavelier  determined  to  continue  their 

iourncy  to  the  Mississippi  alone,  and  concealed  the  design 
under  the  pretence  that  they  desired  to  remain  some  time 
with  the  Ccni.s.  Ikit  their  intention  became  known  through 

the  indiscretion  of  one  of  the  French  deserters.  They  felt, 

therefore,  the  greatest  insecurity  to  themselves,  when  the 
change  of  plan  of  Duhaut,  that  the  whole  party  would  proceed 

to  Canada,  became  known.  They  feared  that  the  murderers 
would  never  carry  with  them  the  witnesses  of  their  crime,  and 
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tliat  all  who  were  not  compromised  in  dc  La  Salle's  murder, 
would  he  put  out  of  the  way  before  the  Mississippi  was  left. 

The  (juestion  was  settled  otherwise.  1 1  iens,  "  I'.nj^flish  Jem," 
claimed  a  share  of  de  La  Salle's  property.  Duliaut  curtly 
refused  the  demand.  The  quarrel  took  the  form  of  personal 
altercation,  and,  after  some  angry  words,  Hiens  drew  a  pistol 
and  shot  iJuhaut,  while  Rutcr,  one  of  the  French  deserters, 
shot  Liotot. 

Thf)se  who  remained  now  divided  into  two  parties.  The 

Abbe  Cavelier,  the  RecoUet  Douay,  Joutcl,  de  Marie,  Tessicr, 

the  younger  Cavelier,  and  a  youth  named  Harthelemy,  from 
Paris,  agreed  to  remain  together,  to  proceed  to  the  Mississippi, 

and  thence  to  Canada.  The  remainder,  about  six  French- 

men, joined  Hiens,  with  the  determination  of  domesticating 
themselves  with  the  Cenis  Indians.  Hiens  obtained  a  certifi- 

cate that  he  was  not  implicated  in  de  La  Salle's  murder.* 
Tessier,  who  accompanied  Joutcl  to  Canada,  likewise  obtained 
a  written  exoneration  from  Cavelier. 

Hiens,  although  he  strutted  about  in  de  La  .Salle's  scarlet 
coat,  behaved  with  generosit}'.  He  gave  those  from  whom 
he  was  separating  a  good  share  of  the  articles  of  trade,  .so 

the)'  could  make  their  waj'  among  the  Indian  tribes.  There 
appears  yet  to  have  remained  a  good  stock  of  merchandise. 

Hiens  and  his  followers  joined  a  party  of  the  Cenis  in  a  war 
expedition,  and,  owing  to  their  presence  with  firearms,  the 
tribe  returned  conquerors.  These  Frenchmen,  therefore, 

entered  upon  their  new  life  under  favourable  auspices,  and 
commenced  with  this  success  the  savage  existence  they 
embraced. 

Cavelier  now  became  the  recognised  leader  of  the  expedi- 
tion. Joutcl  obtained  guides  and  horses,  and  they  started 

onwards.  They  came  to  the  Red  River  and,  finally,  reached 

the  Arkansas.  Here  their  view  was  cheered  b}'  the  sight  of  a 
cross,  a  log  house,  and   two  men  in  European  dress.     They 

*  There  is  a  jiassage  in  Charlevoix  sugfjestive  that  Hiens  returned  eventually 

lo  France.  "  C'c>{  ])eui-etre  uniquement  sur  la  foi  de  cet  ecrit  (]ue  quelques-uns 
(lilt  ]nil)lii'>  qu'il  avail  eu  eflectivement  aucun  part  a  cet  attentat."    Vol.  II.,  p.  35. 
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were  two  of  the  party  left  by  Tonty;  Couture  and  de  Launay. 

Rude  as  the  spot  was,  it  was  the  one  siijn  of  civilization,  inde- 
pendent of  their  own  lives,  which  they  had  seen  for  three 

),cars,  and  never  was  the  abod(;  of  man  looked  upon  with 

more  joy  and  thankfulness. 
Here  the  news  was  obtained,  that  Tonty,  having  been  rein- 

stated on  the  Illinois,  and  hearing  some  vague  report  c-f  the  loss 

of  the  "  \imable,"  resolved  to  descend  to  the  m'-ith  of  the 
Pvlississippi  with  the  hope  of  succouring  his  chief  He  made 

the  journey  with  twenty-five  Frenchmen  and  five  Indians. 
He  arrived  in  -^pril,  [6(S6,  and  searched  the  coast  east  and 
west  for  some  thirty  leagues.  Not  finding  de  La  Sallc,  Tonty 

wrote  a  letter  which  he  gave  to  a  Chief  to  deliver,  who,  four- 

teen years  afterwards,  placed  it  in  the  hands  of  d'Iberville. 
As  the  expedition  was  returning  up  the  Mississippi,  some  of 

tho.se  present  volunteered  to  remain  at  the  mouth  of  the 

Arkansas  to  assist  de  La  Salle's  party  in  the  ascent  of  the 
river,  when  that  event  took  place.  These  were  the  men  seen 

by  Ca\elicr. 
The  journey  was  resumed  on  the  first  of  August  with  two 

less  in  number,  de  Marie  having  been  drowned  while  bathing 
in  the  Arkansas,  and  Barthelemy  having  been  left  behind  with 

Couture.  On  tlv  14th  of  September,  1687,  they  reached  Fort 

St,  Louis,  on  the. Illinois.  Tonty  was  absent.  His  lieutenant, 

Boisrondet,  received  the  party  with  all  hospitality.  The  new 

coiners  agreed  among  thcmsehcs  that  the\'  would  suppress  the 

news  of  de  T.a  Saile's  death.  Accordingly  they  represented 
thac  the)'  had  last  seen  him  at  the  Cenis  village,  the  whole 

of  the  fi\'e  being  parties  to  the  deception.  Douay  uiakcs  the 

"Tine  explanation  for  this  conduct,  that  it  was  tlieir  dr>*-y  to  give 
the  first  news  of  what  had  taken  place  to  the  French  Govern- 

ment. Cavclier  evident!)-  feared  that  if  he  reported  de 

La  Salle's  death,  he  would  not  be  able  to  obtain  aid  and 
money  for  the  order  which  he  presented  on  Tonty.  Consider- 

ing de  La  Sallc'  sudden  death  it  must  appear  extraordinar)- 
that  such  an  ordei  should  be  in  existence.  The  Abbe  Cavelier 

gave  the  only  explanation  possible,  that  dc  La  Salle,  when  he 
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reached  the  Mississippi,  intended  to  return  to  the  Gulf  of 
Mexico.  There  is  nothing  in  the  statements  of  those  who 

have  recorded  the  expedition,  Duuay  and  Joutel,  to  warrant 

this  view.  Was  the  order  a  forgery  ?  A  man  who  would 

deliberately  suppress  an  important  fact,  and,  on  his  misrepre- 

sentation, obtain  mono)'  upon  it,  would  not  shrink  from  further 
falsehood  to  carry  on  his  fraud.  Cavelicr  must  be  hela  entirely 

responsible  for  the  deceit  practised.  Joutel  had  been  bred  in 

the  Cavelicr  family  and  could  easily  have  been  made  to  b'^lieve 

in  the  necessity  o.'"  any  statement.  The  nephew,  young 
Cavelier,  was  even  then  a  mere  boy.  Tessier,  the  passive 

accomplice  in  de  La  Salle's  death,  had  Cavelier's  declaration 
of  his  innocence  in  his  pocket,  and  was  not  likely  to  create 

difficulty  in  which  he  would  be  involved  :  he  rather  wel- 
comed the  presence  of  the  Abbe  as  an  accomplice  in  the 

deception.*  It  was  not  until  1688  that  Tonty  learned  the 
truth,  when  Couture,  with  two  /Arkansas  Indians,  came  to  the 

Illinois  fort,  and  then  reported  the  facts  as  he  had  heard  them 
from  Cavelier. 

When  the  expedition  started  in  1684,  it  consisted  of  one 

hundred  and  seventy-three  persons,  without  taking  account  of 
tiie  women  and  children.  All  that  now  remained  of  it  were 

the  five  persons  seeking  refuge  at  Fort  St.  Louis  ;  the  Abbe 

Cavelier,  the  Recollet  Douay,  Joutel,  Tessier,  and  young 
Cavelier. 

Their  intention  was  to  proceed  to  France  with  all  possible 

haste.  Arriving  at  Fort  Saint  Louis  on  the  14th  of  Septem- 
ber, and  obtaining  canoes,  they  left  on  the  jSth,  and  reached 

Lake  Michigan  without  difficulty.  But  the  lake  was  rough,  and 

after  waiting  eiglit  days  for  fair  weather,  they  made  their  way 
back  to  the  Fort.  On  their  return  they  were  received  by 
Tonty.  It  was  the  7th  of  Octobc  r.  He  had  been  absent  on 
the  expedition  of  de  Denonville  against  the  Senecas.  He 
received  the  brother  of  his  chief,  as  he  would  have  de  La 
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Salle  himself.  Cavelier  was  a  Sulpician  priest,  Douay  a 

Kccollet  ;  one  might  have  hoped  that  they  could  have  risen 
above  the  personal  meanness  of  fraud  and  falsehood.  If  there 
was  one  man  in  the  world  to  whom  the  truth  in  such  circum- 

stances should  have  been  told,  it  was  Tonty,  whose  devotion 

had  withstood  every  trial  of  disaster,  public  disfavour,  the  dis- 
pleasure of  the  highest  authorities,  personal  loss  and  suffering  ; 

and  who  had  given  so  wonderful  a  testimony  of  his  unwaver- 
ing adherence  to  the  fortunes  of  de  La  Salle,  by  his  descent 

of  the  Mississippi,  in  his  endeavour  to  aid  his  chief  in  his 

supposed  misfortunes. 
Hut  the  fraud  was  continued,  the  written  order  produced, 

and  the  provisions,  the  furs,  the  means  of  descending  the 

Lakes,  obtained  from  Tonty,  as  if  de  La  Salle  were  alive  and 

prosperous. 
Although  the  Abbe  Cavelier  passed  the  winter  on  the  Illi- 

nois, the  true  story  remained  untold.  On  the  2 1st  of  March, 

1688,  he,  with  his  four  companions,  left  to  descend  to 

Quebec.  Thej'  reached  Lake  Michigan,  passed  through  the 
Straits  of  Mackinaw,  and  followed  the  Ottawa  to  Montreal, 

where  they  arrived  in  the  middle  of  July.  They  continued 

their  journey  to  Quebec,  where  they  lived  in  seclusion  till  the 

end  of  August,  when  they  eii. barked  for  France,  reaching 
La  Rochelle  in  October. 

In  France  the  secret  was  not  at  once  publicly  disclosed. 
On  the  arrival  of  the  Abbe  Cavelier,  he  retired  to  Saumur. 

After  a  short  period,  he  sent  a  letter  addressd  to  M.  de  Seig- 
nelay,  which  he  enclosed  to  M.  Tronson,  the  Superior  of  St. 

Sulpice  in  Paris.  The  latter  had  attentively  watched  the 

progress  of  the  expedition,  as  far  as  he  was  able.  In  1686, 

after  the  return  of  d'Esmanville,  he  wrote  to  de  Belmont,  the 

Superior  in  Montreal,  to  the  ef'ict  that  de  La  Salle  had  not 
discovered  the  mouth  of  the  river  in  27  or  28°  latitude.  He 
had  simpK-  found  a  great  lake  of  salt  water,  into  which  pos- 

sibly the  river  might  discharge.  He  had,  however,  received 
letters  from  the  ecclesiastics  who  remained  with  de  La  Salle, 

begging  him  to  suspend  his  judgment.    But  time  was  passing 
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away,  and  no  news  had  been  received.     D'Esmanville   had 
formed  an  unfav^ourable  opinion  of  the  expedition. 

De  Denonville  wrote  to  the  Minister  from  Canada,  in  reply 

to  his  desire  to  receive  some  information  of  de  La  Salic,*  that 

Tout)'  had  engaged  to  give  his  attention  to  the  search.  On 
the  8th  of  March,  1668,  the  King  expressed  his  surprise  to  de 
Denonville  that  nothing  had  been  heard  of  de  La  Salle,  and 

this  the  more,  as  a  report  had  reached  Paris  from.  Cadiz  that, 

aided  b\-  the  Indians,  the  French  had  defeated  eleven  hundred 
Spaniards.  The  King  did  not  consider  that  it  was  necessary 
to  organize  an  ex])edition  for  the  descent  of  i.  Mississippi, 
as  it  would  prove  a  matter  of  some  expense  :  it  was,  however, 

important  to  learn  in  some  cas}^  way  what  had  become  of 
de  La  Salle.  At  the  same  time  tn.e  grant  of  Fort  Saint 
Louis  on  the  Illinois  was  revoked. 

On  the  8th  of  August  de  Champigny  informed  de  Seigne- 

la\-  of  the  arrival  at  Quebec  of  the  Abbe  Cavelier,  who  was 
proceeding  to  France  to  report  what  had  taken  place.  With 

ever\-body  in  Canada,  he  was  ignorant  of  de  La  Salle's  death. 
He  also  stated  that  furs  were  plentiful  in  the  kjwer  part  of 

the  Mississippi,  and  the  fact  might  act  disadvantageously  on 
the  population  of  Canada. 

The  first  knowledge  in  Quebec  of  de  La  Salle's  death,  was 
from  the  report  sent  in  1688  to  the  Intendant  by  the  ecclesi- 

astic who  succeeded  AUouez  at  the  Illinois  mission,  as  he  had 

heard  it  from  Couture.  The  narrati\e  sent  to  France,  was 

based  upon  the  statement  of  Couture,  as  it  had  been  obtained 
from  Cavelier,  and  the  man  left  behind  at  the  ;\rkansas, 

Harthelem)',  whom  Cavelier  had  declined  to  bring  with  him, 

lest  he  should  speak  the  truth  of  de  La  .Salle's  fate.  Bar- 

i,  'emy's  exaggerations  on  the  subject  are  entirely  devoid  of 
credibility,  and  it  is  surprising  that  they  should  have  been 
entertained  for  one  moment. 

Kvcn  in  February,  1689,  four  months  after  Cavelier's  arrival, 
(le  Beaujeu  wrote  that  he  had  heard  that  the  Abbe  had  come 
back   to  complain  of  his  proceedings,  and  that  de  La  Salle 
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was  at  the  mouth  of  the  river,  sixty  Icatjues  to  the  east  of  where 
he  had  been  left.  In  June,  1689,  the  letters  of  M.  Tronson, 

and  he  was  a  person  of  influence,  shew  that  he  was  ignorant 

of  de  La  Salle's  fate,  and  that  it  was  only  on  the  ist  of  June, 
1690,  that  he  could  write  communicating  the  fact. 

In  1689,  however,  dc  Seignclay  communicated  the  result  of 
the  expedition  to  de  Uenonvillc,  and  ordered  the  arrest  of  his 

murderers,  if  they  appeared  in  Canada.  In  November,  de 

Champigny  replied  that  they  would  do  what  was  possible  to 
obtain  new:;,  and  that  had  not  Cavelier,  when  in  Canada,  ccn- 
ccalcd  the  death,  they  would  have  sent  parties  to  investigate 
the  facts. 

Thus  in  France  the  disastrous  result  was  for  the  time  sup- 
pressed. Public  men  of  the  school  of  dc  Scignclay,  they 

cannot  be  called  statesmen,  as  they  are  quick  to  profit  by 

the  .success  of  the  men  of  eminence  they  employ,  so  they 
shrink  from  the  truth  wh?n  there  is  failure  in  any  attempt 

which  the}'  have  authorized,  and  cover  the  mishap  with 
discreet  silence.  It  is  one  of  the  advantages  of  constitutional 

governments  that  this  reticence  is  impossible,  and  the  light  of 

enquiry  reveals  the  painful  history  of  incapacity,  blundering 

and  neglect,  when  unhappily  they  must  be  r*jcorded.  Men- 
tion of  the  failure  of  the  expedition,  was  felt  as  a  reproach 

against  the  Court,  the  atmosphere  of  the  salons  of  Versailles 

demanding,  that  every  enterprise  should  be  marked  by  the  flat- 
tering accompaniment  of  success.  The  facts,  therefore,  were 

suppressed  in  I'aris.  As  time  went  on,  by  degrees  they  be- 
came imperfectly  known  Eventually,  through  the  news  from 

Canada,  the  total  failure  of  the  expedition,  and  the  loss  of 

nearly  all  who  compo.sed  it,  could  no  longer  be  concealed. 

This  mystery  acted  unfavourably  to  de  La  Salle's  reputa- 
tion in  France.  As  Charlevoix  remarks,  "  What  is  most 

unfortunate  about  the  memory  of  this  celebrated  man,  is,  that 

he  has  obtained  the  pity  of  so  few."  * 

*  "Ce  qu'il  y  a  de  plus  iriste  pour  la  memoire  de  cct  liomme  cclebie,  c'est  qu'il 
a  t'tt;  plaint  tie  pen  de  per.sonnes."     Vol.  II.,  p.  26. 
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JOUTEL. 

Joutel  s  account  of  the  landing  of  the  troops  is  confused  and  at  variance  with 
what  .s  stated  m  the  correspondence  between  de  La  Salle  an<l  de  Heauieu  So 
far  as  I  ca.  understand  his  narrative,  he  relates  that  on  the  ,8th  of  January,  owing o  he  want  of  fresh  water,  de  La  Salle  resolved  to  return  to  the  spot  where  they had  been  on  the  ,7th,  and  to  land  a  sufficien.  number  of  men  to  make  what  dis covery  was  poss.ble  [p.  57].  On  the  ,9th  <le  La  Salle  reached  this  place,  and  was 
shortly  afterwards  jo.ned  by  de  Beaujeu's  ship,  the  "Joly."  Accord.ng  o"ou"l a  d.scuss.on  took  place  as  to  the  locality  .here  they  were,  and  de  La  Sal  e  pro- posed  to  return  to  the  shoals  seen  on  the  6th  of  January,  feeling  sure  that   t  was 

land.ng  should  be  made.  Owing  to  the  deficiency  of  provisions  on  the  "  Joly  ■' de  lieaujeu  demanded,  that  if  the  landing  of  the  troops  was  delayed,  and  the  1- ge  was  made  as  de  La  Salle  asked,  rations  for  his  crew  should  be  furnisTed 
from    he  stores  of  .le  La  Salle  and  not  be  taken  from  those  of  the  '^oly '-    Upon ius  the  latter  offered  fifteen  days' provisions,   all   that  he  could  gite,  Icing  also 

January.  De  La  Salle  also  expressed  his  inability  to  give  more  of  his  stores 
wu  out  d.sturbmg  his  vessel,  the  "  Aimab.e,"  ,0  the  bottom  of  th    hold   an     by 

arger  supply,  and  consequently  the  expedition  to  the  shoals  .seen  on  the  6th  of January  was  not  undertaken  ;  a  serious  matter  for  de  La  .Salle,  forcing  ht    to 
■sem,  k  ,  troops  at  a  spot  he  did  not  select,  and  the  weath  r  g's :  1  ° 11  took  several  days  to  put  them  ashore.  ^  Moimy, 
AH  that  Douay  says  on  this  .subject  is  [Shea's  Translation  -  n   ,,,l  <<  a 

v.s.ons  began  to  fail,  the  soldiers  had  already  landed  ''  '       ̂ ^  '  '''°" 

barkL;:'' ";;' ;ir:h';t  'z^^'^r'  °'.-^°"^'  °"  ''^  ̂"''^"^  °^  ̂̂^  ̂'-- 
the  ,ofh   nf  T  u  ''''''■'  '^'"'""''^  ̂ '  '^'^  fi^'''  landing-place  from the  .9th   of  January   to   the  9th  of  February,    when  no'hing  was  done      Th^ mpress.on  made  by  the  perusal  of  the  corresjLdence  betwee'.        L    Sa,le  Ld 
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Note  B. 

THE  H^OQUOIS  OR  FIVE  NATIONS. 

I  flo  not  consider  it  incumbent  upon  me  to  enter  into  an  account  of  the  Indian 

races  of  North  America.  The  subject  demands  much  attention,  and  to  be  under- 
stood in  the  view  of  race,  language  and  customs,  would  occupy  many  pages.  It, 

forms  a  special  field  of  enquiry,  and  is  totally  independent  of  the  History  of 

Canada,  except  so  far  as  it  beats  upon  the  -elations  of  the  European  and  Indian 
races.  I  have,  therefore,  in  these  pages  confined  myself  to  the  record  of  events, 

without  entering  into  ethnological  details,  considering  that  they  would  only  lead 
to  an  undesirable  interruption  of  the  narrative. 

The  Iro(|uois,  who  acted  so  important  a  part  in  the  events  of  the  seventeenth 

and  eighteenth  centuries,  must  to  some  extent  be  excepted  from  this  view.  They 

obtain  prominent  mention  from  the  days  of  de  Champlaiii  to  the  Treaty  of  Utrecht. 

To  the  English  of  New  York,  until  about  1720,  they  were  known  as  the  Five 

Nations  ;  to  the  French  as  the  Irociuoi"-.  .Several  attempts,  not,  however,  gener- 
ally accc]ited,  have  been  made  to  establish  the  etymology  of  the  name. 

The  main  tribal  divisions  were  differently  named  by  ihe  two  European 

races  : — 
By  the  English — Mohawks. 

Oneidas. 
Onondagas. 

Cayugns. Senecas. 

Hy  the  Fniich — Agniers. 
Onneyuts. 

Onnentagues. 

Goyogouins. 
Tsonnontouans. 

Their  territory  extended  from  the  Hudson  above  Schenectady  on  the  Mohawk 

to  Lake  Ontario,  to  within  a  short  distance  from  Niagara.  To  the  north  it  went 

proximately  to  Crown  Point  above  Ticonderoga,  as  is  shewn  by  de  Ch.^niplain's 
expedition  to  Lake  Chaniplain  in  1608. 

The  Irocjuois  attained  their  greatest  power  in  the  last  quarter  of  the  seven- 
teentli  century.  Their  numbers,  not  easy  to  estimate,  have  been  stated  as 

being  from  12,000  to  13,000  souls,  and  the  warriors  they  could  bring  into  the 

field  from  2,000  to  2,600.  They  constantly  increased  their  strength  by  the  adop- 
tion of  prisoners  taken  in  war,  but  first  tortured  and  burned  a  sufficient  number 

of  captives  to  satisfy  Indian  feeling,  were  it  pride,  hatred  or  revenge.  This  policy 
was  the  main  secret  of  the  continuance  of  their  strength. 

A  kindred  race,  the  Tuscaroras,  in  South  Carolina,  in  1 71 1  made  an 

attempt  to  destroy  all  the  white  settlers.  Assistance'  was  ol)tained  from  North 
Carolina,  and  they  were  defeated  by  the  forces  under  Barnwood  in  January,  1712. 

Peace  was  made  ;  but  war  broke  out  the  following  year,  and  in  March,  1 71 3,  the 

Tuscarora  fort  Nahucke  was  taken,  wilh  eight  hundred  prisoners,  all  of  whom 

were  given  over  to  the  Indian  allies  of  the  English.  Those  of  the  tribe  who  escaped 

made  their  way  to  New  York.  They  were  well  received  by  the  Five  Nations, 

and  allotted  lands  on  the  south-east  of  Lake  Oneida,  where  they  permanently 

established  themselves,  eventually  to  be  engraf  d  on  the  Irocjuois  family  as  the 

sixth  nation. 

From  this  date  the  Iroquois,  in  English  history,  are  known  as  the  "Six 

Nations."     In  1745  Sir  William  Johnson  received  an  appointment  as    "Colonel 
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of  the  Warriors  of  the  Six  Nations."  Peace  had  prevailed  between  France  and 
England,  from  the  Treaty  of  Utrecht  of  1713  to  the  events  of  1743,  which  led  to 

the  declaration  of  war.  This  commission  of  Johnson  may  be  looked  upon  as 

among  the  first  official  marks  of  recognition  of  the  "  Six  Nations." 
The  celebrated  Joseph  Brandt,  Thayendanega,  was  a  Mohawk  Chief.  At  thir- 

teen years  of  age  he  accompanied  Johnson  in  the  expedition  against  Crown  Point 

in  1755,  which  ended  in  the  defeat  of  Dieskau.  The  intelligence  shewn  by  the 

lad  was  the  cause  of  his  having  been  sent  to  school  at  Lebanon,  Connecticut.  In 

1759  he  left  his  studies  to  take  part  in  the  expedl'ion  against  Niagara.  The  rela- 

tions of  Johnson  with  "Molly,"  the  sister  oi  ilrandt,  determined  the  brother's 
career,  and  he  was  actively  employe<l  under  Johnson  as  Superintendent  of  Indians. 

In  the  Revolutionary  war  Brandt  was  an  active  partisan  of  the  British.  Campbell, 

in  his  ''Gertrude  of  Wyoming,"  heaped  every  species  of  poetic  indignity  on  his 
head. 

"  The  monster  Br,incU, 

AVith  all  his  howlinv;,  tlesolatiiig  bands." 

The  truth  is  that  Brandt  was  not  present  in  the  expedition.  In  after  life  the 

poet  acknowledged  the  injustice  of  his  accusations,  and  had  the  honesty  to  say, 

"  the  name  of  Brandt  therefore  remains  in  my  poem  a  pure  and  declared  character 

of  fiction."    This  retractation  is  inserted  in  the  later  editions  of  Campbell's  works. 

Brandt's  letters  yet  exist  in  the  Canadian  Archive  Department.  I  have  to 
acknowledge  my  obligation  to  the  Archivist,  .Mr  i5rymner,  for  directing  my 

attention  to  them.  They  are  written  in  clear  penmanship,  with  correct  spelling, 

and  evince  much  ability.*  It  was  Brandt  who  established  the  Mohawks  on  the 
Grand  River,  Ontario,  in  1783,  after  the  war  of  United  States  Independence. 

Except  the  Oneidas  and  Tuscarora.s,  generally  speaking,  the  Iroquois  left  the  United 

States  at  the  jjcriod  of  the  contest.  The  tribes  sulisei|uently  claimed  their  lands 

in  New  York,  protesting  that  it  was  beyond  the  powers  of  the  British  Govern- 
ment to  cede  Indian  territory.  A  portion  of  the  lands  passed  from  Indian 

possession  by  Treaty;  a  reservation  being  granted  to  the  Oneidas  and  Tuscaroras  ; 

and  some  of  the  latter  yet  remain  near  Niagara  in  the  .St.ite  of  New  York.  The 

territory  i)elonging  to  the  tribes  which  had  embraced  the  British  side,  was 

arbitrarily  taken  possession  of  by  the  United  States  (jovernment.  The  British 

Iroquois  were  established  in  Canada  at  the  Bay  of  Quinte,  Lake  Ontario ;  at  Grand 
River ;  and  cm  the  River  Thames  in  Ontario.  Tlie  French  Indians  who,  in  the 

Revolutionary  struggle,  had  mostly  taken  the  side  of  the  revolted  colonies, 

remained  at  Saint  Regis,  at  the  foot  of  the  Longue  Sault  Rapids  of  the  Saint 

Lawrence  ;  the  Lake  of  the  Two  Mountains  on  the  Ottawa  ;  and  at  Caughna- 
waga,  the  ancient  .Sault  St.  Loui.i  settlement  above  Moiureal,  in  the  Province 

of  Quebec.  We  have  in  these  localities  all  that  remains  in  Canada  of  this  once 
formidable  race. 

*  One  of  these  letters   was  lately  pul)lished   in  a   Report   to    Parliiment  on 
Indian  AtTairs,     Sessional  pipers,  1887,  No.  2ol>. 
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CHAPTER  I. 

It  was  during  the  first  period  of  service  of  dc  Krontenac,  that 
Acadia  obtained  direct  consideration  from  the  Government 

of  Quebec,  and  that  owing  to  this  more  immediate  control,  its 

history  becomes  interwoven  with  that  of  Canada.  Altliough 

possessing  her  own  Governor,  Acadia  was  dependent  on 

Quebec  for  her  defenders,  her  reh'gious  teachers,  and  for 
material  aid  in  an  emergency.  From  Quebec  also  were  to 
proceed  the  unfortunate  influences  which  operated  so  fatally 

to  the  disadvantage  of  her  inhabitants,  who,  at  a  later  period, 
without  education  and  political  knowledge,  became  the  dupes 

of  an  appeal  to  their  passions  and  religious  enthusiasm  to 
refuse  all  accommodation  and  acceptance  of  a  condition, 

which  they  could  resist,  but  could  in  no  way  modify.  Even 
after  the  Treaty  of  Utrecht  when  Nova  Scotia  u  as  ceded  to 

Great  Britain,  the  effort  to  regain  possession  of  the  ccnuitry 
never  ceased  ;  and  what  arms  coidd  not  effect,  it  was  hoped 

to  attain  by  intrigue.  A  [policy  to  bring  ruin  and  desola- 
tion on  the  unhappy  Acadians,  who  remained  the  firm, 

aggressive  enemies  of  the  power  which  treated  them  w  ith  a 

beneficence  and  consideration  without  a  parallel  in  the  history 
of  a  conquered  people. 
Whatever  romance  may  be  attached  to  much  of  the 

history  of  those  days,  it  has  little  connection  with  the  main 
course  of  the  events  which  followed.  In  tlie  first  years  of 
.Acadia,  the  settlements  were  scattered  and  unimportant. 

The  attempt  of  de  Poutrincourt  to  found  a  colony  at  Port 
Royal  had  been  brought  to  a  close  by  Argall  in  1613.  On 

Argall's  arrival,  dc  Poutrincourt  was  absent  on  a  friendly 
expedition  to  some  Indians,  and  his  son,  de  Biencourt,  was  in 

command.  The  few^  inhabitants  of  Port  Royal  were  engaged 
in  their  husbandry,  some  miles  uja    the    river.      The    place. 
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[1613-28 undefended,  was  taken  without  resistance,  sacked,  and,  as  far 

as  possible,  destroyed.  The  consequence  was  that  de  Pou- 
trincourt,  on  his  return,  finding  the  colony  ruined,  abandoned 

hope  of  its  re-establishment,  and  went  back  to  P'rance.  De 
Biencourt,  however,  remained  at  Port  Royal,  and  the  place 

afforded  a  precarious  existence  to  a  small  struggling  com- 
munity engaged  in  fishing,  and  in  trade  with  the  Indians. 

There  were  some  few  fishermen  in  other  localities  scattered 

along  the  coast,  but  as  a  political  community  Acadia  had  no 
existence. 

When,  in  161 3,  Argall  drove  the  French  from  Port  Royal, 
one  of  tho.se  present  was  Claude  Etienne  de  la  Tour,  a  French 

Huguenot,  it  has  been  said,  of  the  family  of  the  Duke  of 

Bouillon.  He  had  been  in  the  country  since  1609.  He  sub- 
sequently passed  over  to  the  Penob.scot,  from  which  location,  in 

1626,  he  was  driven  out  by  an  expedition  from  the  Plymouth 

colony.  His  son,  who  had  accompanied  him  from  F"rance, 
formed  a  friendship  with  de  Biencourt,  and  eventually  obtained 

from  the  latter  a  transfer  of  his  rights.  In  1623  the  son  mar- 

ried, and  his  wife,  "  Lady  de  la  Tour,"  of  whom  little  except 
one  passage  of  her  life  is  known,  remains  to  this  day  one  of 

the  most  venerated  names  in  Nova  Scotian  history.  Subse- 
quently, de  la  Tour  collected  the  few  French  who  remained, 

and  established  them  at  Cape  Sable.  From  this  place  he 
addressed  a  memorial  to  the  King,  asking  to  be  appointed  its 
Governor,  which  his  father  carried  to  France.  His  father, 

returning  with  provisions  and  stores  for  the  settlement, 

was  with  de  Roquemont's  fleet,  when  it  was  defeated  by  the 
Kirkes  at  the  mouth  of  the  Saint  Lawrence  in  1628,  and 

was  one  of  those  carried  prisoners  to  England. 
When  in  London,  the  elder  de  la  Tour  was  thrown  into 

communication  with  Sir  William  Alexander,  Lord  Sterling, 

whose  grant  of  Nova  Scotia  had  been  lately  ratified  by 
Charles  I.,  and  was  then  attracting  some  attention.  Etienne 

de  la  Tour  accepted  a  grant  from  Lord  Selkirk,  by  this  act 

transferring  his  allegiance  to  Great  Britain.  His  patent 

included  the  territory  from  Yarmouth  to  Lunenburg,  extend- 
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ing  fifteen  leagues  inward,  and  it  is  estimated  that  it  embraced 

four  thousand  five  hundred  square  miles.  In  November,  1629, 
he  was  made  a  Baronet  of  Nova  Scotia,  and  in  May,  1630,  his 

son,  although  he  was  at  Cape  Sable,  and  had  never  been  in 
England,  received  the  same  honour. 

In  1630,  an  expedition,  with  men,  arms  and  stores,  under 
the  command  of  the  elder  de  la  Tour,  sailed  for  Nova  Scotia 

with  the  design  of  establishing  a  Scotch  colony ;  and  it 
was  expected  that  the  son  would  recognize  the  powers  of 
the  father,  and,  accepting  the  new  order  of  events,  abandon 

his  allegiance  to  France,  and  cede  the  fort  at  Cape  Sable. 

But  Charles  de  la  Tour  absolutely  refused  so  to  act,  urging 
that  he  held  the  fort  only  for  the  French  King.  He  was 
able  to  resist  the  attempt  to  take  the  fort  by  force,  and  his 

father,  after  repeated  unsuccessful  efforts  to  shake  his  son's 
determination,  sailed  to  Port  Royal. 

In  the  same  year  a  French  expedition  started  from  Bor- 
deaux, under  Tufet,  for  Grand  Cibou,  the  entrance  to  the  Bras 

d'Or,  and  also  for  Cape  Sable.  From  him  Charles  de  la  Tour 
learned  that  Acadia  was  immediately  to  be  surrendered  to  the 

French.  He  lost  no  time  in  acquainting  his  father  with  the 
fact,  and  requested  his  father  to  come  to  Cape  Sable  to 

discuss  plans  for  the  future.  The  invitation  was  accepted,  and 
in  the  family  council  it  was  resolved  that  they  should  proceed 
to  the  mouth  of  the  Saint  John,  and  there  erect  a  fort.  This 

design  was  carried  out. 

The  Treaty  of  S^iiit  Gcrmain-en-Laye,  of  1632,  gave  the 
country  back  to  France.  From  this  date  until  the  close  of 
the  civil  wars  in  England,  in  1649,  Acadia  suffered  from  no 

hostile  attack  ;  nevertheless,  its  progress  was  slow,  and  little 
advance  was  made  towards  permanent  settlement,  although 

no  unfavourable  influence  was  exercised"  to  prevent  it  being 
made.  The  enterprise  of  England  was  directed  in  a  more 

southerly  direction,  but  at  the  same  time  settlement  ad- 
vanced along  the  coast  towards  Maine.  Steps  were  taken  in 

France  to  assure  possession  of  Acadia,  but  they  were  marked 

by   little   vigour.     Isaac  ae   Razilly  sailed    on    the    27th  of 
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[1632 March,  1632,  to  receive  the  territory  from  its  English  posses- 
sors, when  he  was  the  bearer  of  a  letter  from  Lord  Selkirk, 

directing  that  Port  Royal  should  be  given  up.  With  him 
arrived  Nicolas  Denys,  the  early  historian  of  Acadia,  and 

Charles  de  Menou  de  Charnisay,  accompanied  by  forty  families 
to  increase  the  settlement. 

Port  Royal  was  at  once  transferred.  The  small  colony, 
from  its  commencement,  had  greatly  suffered,  and  many  of  the 
inhabitants  gladly  returned  home.  The  few  Scottish  families 

which  remained,  were  in  one  generation  absorbed  in  the  l""rench 
population,  so  all  trace  of  them  is  lost.  De  Razilly  also 
erected  a  fort  at  Cape  La  Have,  where  he  made  a  settlement 
and  established  a  fishery. 

At  this  date  VVinthrop  was  Governor  of  New  England, 
where  the  news  of  French  occupation  was  unwelcome,  for 

dii'ficulties  were  foreseen,  and  it  was  not  long  before  they 
were  experienced.  Previously  to  de  Razilly's  arrival,  the 
French  drove  away  from  the  Penobscot  some  traders  from 

Plj'mouth  ;  and  in  the  following  \'ear  de  la  Tour  took  posses- 
sion of  a  small  settlement  on  the  coast,  with  a  declaration  that 

the  P'rcnch  King  claimed  the  country  from  Cape  Sable  around 

the  Bay  of  P'undy  ;  and  he  notified  those  whom  he  disjjlaced, 
that  if  he  found  parties  from  New  England,  trading  north  of 

Pemaquid,  he  would  seize  their  vessels  and  cargo. 
New  England  .settlers  had  again  established  themselves  on 

the  Penobscot,  so  de  Charnisay  was  .sent  to  dislodge  them  and 
drive  them  off  There  was  much  feeling  on  the  subject  in 
Boston  and  Salem,  and  there  was  an  ineffectual  attempt  to 

organize  an  expedition  to  resist  these  attempts.  The  new- 
comers agreed  among  themselves,  as  to  the  division  of  the 

territory  which  each  was  to  occupy.  De  Razilly,  with  de 
la  Tour  and  de  Charnisay,  exercised  control  over  the  west  of 

Nova  Scotia,  extending  along  the  shores  of  the  Bay  of  Fundy. 

Denys'  operations  were  confined  to  the  east  of  Cape  Breton. 
He  established  himself  at  Chedabucto,  where  Guysborough 

now  stands.  He  had  also  a  settlement  at  Saint  Peter's  in 

Cape  Breton,  and  constructed  a  road  to  the  Bras  d'Or  over 
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the  half  mile  of  isthmus  now  overcome  by  the  Saint  Peter's 
Canal,  by  means  of  which  road  he  hauled  his  vessels  across 
to  the  lakes;  thus  he  obtained  access  to  the  Atlantic  on  the 

north-cast  coast  of  Cape  Breton.  He  likewise  directed  his 

attention  to  Saint  Anne's  on  the  eastern  coast.  He  became 
actively  engaged  in  the  fisheries,  and  shewed  a  degree  of  enter- 

prise remarkable  at  that  date. 
De  Razilly  died  in  1636,  leaving  his  interest  to  his  brother; 

but  de  Charnisay  in  some  form  obtained  possession  of  the 

property.  There  now  remained  the  younger  de  la  Tour  with 
de  Ctiarnisay,  who  between  them  controlled  western  Acadia. 

De  la  Tour  established  himself  at  the  Saint  John  ;  de  Charni- 

say at  the  Penobscot,  the  F'rench  settlement  of  Pentegoet.  A 
quarrel  of  extreme  bitterness  arose  between  them.  Each 
desired  to  be  supreme,  each  to  control  the  fur  trade,  and 

finally  de  Charnisay,  by  his  representations  to  P'rance,  ob- 
tained an  order  to  send  de  la  Tour  home  a  prisoner. 

In  this  dilemma,  de  la  Tour,  who  was  at  the  same  time  ar 

English  Baronet,  applied  to  Boston  for  aid.  During  his 
absence  in  1647  de  Charnisay  attacked  the  fort  at  the  Saint 

John,  defended  with  many  romantic  incidents  by  his  wife. 
The  place  eventually  surrendered.  Three  years  later  de 

Charnisaj'  died,  in  1650.  Dc  la  Tour,  then  a  widower,  thought 
it  advisable  to  marry  the  widow  of  his  old  enemy,  trusting  by 
these  means  to  obtain  undisputed  possession  of  Acadia. 

But  there  existed  difficulties  unknown  to  de  la  Tour.  De 

Charnisay's  affairs  were  embarras.sed,  ard  among  his  creditors 
was  one  Emanuel  Le  Borgne,  of  La  Rochelle,  who  had  obtained 

judgment  for  the  whole  property  in  Acadia.  As  de  Char- 
nisay had  been  appointed  Governor  in  1647,  the  judgment 

had  wide  application,  and  armed  with  these  powers  Le  Borgne 
took  immediate  proceedings.  He  commenced  attacking  the 

property  of  Denys  to  the  cast,  and  at  Cape  Breton.  Me  seized 
the  settlement,  and  carried  Denys  himself  a  prisoner  to  Port 

Royal.  He  did  not,  however,  long  hold  Denys  in  captivity, 

who.  on  his  release,  sailed  for  P>ance.  When  in  P'rance 
Denys  was   able   to  obtain  a  grant  from  the   Crown,   from 
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Cape  Canso  to  Cape  Rosier,  and  he  returned  to  Acadia 

armed  with  this  power.* 
He  immediately  sent  a  messenger  to  Port  Royal  to  inform 

Le  Borgne  of  the  privileges  which  he  had  obtained,  with  the 

parchments  of  his  grant  and  his  commission.  Le  Borgne  was 
absent  ;  he  had  heard  that  dc  la  Tour  had  left  the  Saint  John 

to  proceed  to  Boston  to  obtain  provisions,  and  accordingly  had 

determined,  under  pretence  of  carrying  supplies,  to  proceed 
with  two  vessels  to  seize  the  fort,  when  the  news  arrived  of 

the  presence  of  Denys  in  Acadia,  under  the  favourable  cir- 

cumstances mentioned.-f-  This  intelligence  induced  him  to 
return  to  Port  Royal.  Events,  however,  had  taken  place 

which  prevented  the  further  prosecution  of  his  schemes. 

In  1654  Cromwell  had  sent  out  an  expedition  under  the 
command  of  Major  Sedgwick,  to  seize  Manhattan  from  the 

Dutch.  Massachusetts  had  been  called  upon  to  render  assist- 
ance; and  accordingly,  five  hundred  volunteers  were  furnished. 

As  peace  was  shortly  afterwards  made,  the  expedition  against 
Manhattan  was  no  longer  possible.  Impelled  by  what  he  had 
heard  in  Boston,  Sedgwick  directed  his  force  against  Acadia. 

With  scarcely  any  resistance,  he  drove  the  French  from  the 
Penobscot.  He  next  proceeded  to  the  Saint  John,  and  took 

possession  of  the  country  to  Jemseg.  Sailing  to  the  south, 
and  with  the  same  ease,  he  seized  Cape  Sable  and  La  Have. 

He  then  passed  upward  to  the  north,  and  presented  himself 
before  Port  Royal. 

Le  Borgne  had  .scarcely  reached  that  place  to  communicate 
with  the  messenger  of  Denys,  when  the  English  fleet  entereu 

the  basin.  He  replied  with  defiance  to  the  summons  to  sur- 
render ;  but  his  people  made  an  imperfect  resistance,  and  the 

place  capitulated.  La  Verdure,  the  commandant,  was  per- 
mitted to  return  to  France,  but  all  Acadia  now  passed  into  the 

*  Dated  30th  January,  1654. 
t  We  hear  of  Denys  in  1679.  He  was  then  at  Quebec.  He  is  spoken  of  as 

having  established  local  fisheries  in  New  France,  and  of  being  blind.  He  was  an 

applicant  for  the  office  of  Master  of  the  Forests  for  his  son,  aged  twenty-two. 
Denys  had  then  been  thirty  years  in  Canada.     Quebec  Doc.  I.,  p.  273. 
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hands  of  the  English,  and  John  Leverett  was  left  as  Governor 
of  Port  Royal. 

Although  the  French  still  advanced  their  pretensions  to  the 
territory,  Cromwell  did  not  abandon  his  hold  on  Acadia.  In 

the  Treaty  of  Commerce  which  Mazarin  entered  into  with 

England,  known  as  the  Treaty  of  Westminster,  of  the  2nd  of 

November,  1655,  a  claim  was  put  forward  by  the  French  to 

the  country  around  the  Bay  of  Fundy,  following  the  coast 
from  the  Penobscot  to  La  Have,  embracing  the  western  half 
of  Nova  Scotia;  and  the  forts  of  Penobscot,  the  Saint  John, 
Port  Royal  and  La  Have  were  specified  as  French  pos.ses- 
sions.  The  settlement  of  this  dispute  was  referred  to  com- 

missioners, but  in  spite  of  frequent  attempts  to  open  the 
question,  Cromwell  declined  to  enter  into  any  negotiations  for 
the  transfer  of  the  territory. 

De  la  Tour  now  appeared  in  a  new  character.  He  was  a 
Nova  Scotian  baronet ;  nevertheless,  he  had  resisted  all  the 

efforts  made  by  his  father  to  induce  him  to  accept  English  rule, 
and  had  defended  the  fort  at  Cape  Sable  against  the  attempt  to 
seize  it.  He  was  some  years  past  sixty,  and  he  proceeded  to 

England  with  the  determination  to  transfer  his  allegiance  from 
France.  Cromwell  did  not  fail  to  see  that  his  experience  and 
knowledge  of  the  country  would  be  useful  in  its  settlement. 

In  company  with  Thomas  Temple  and  William  Crowne,  de  la 
Tour  obtained  a  grant  including  the  country  from  Lunenburg 
in  Nova  Scotia,  following  the  coast  of  the  Bay  of  Fundy 
beyond  the  Penobscot  to  the  confines  of  New  England.  One 
of  the  conditions  of  the  grant  was  that  the  territory  was  to 
be  settled  by  Protestants  ;  a  condition  never  enforced. 

Temple  arrived  in  the  country  in  1657,  and  began  the  improve- 
ment of  his  possessions.  Shortly  afterwards  de  la  Tour  sold 

his  share  of  the  grant  to  Temple  and  Crowne.  He  disappears 
from  history  to  die  in  Acadia  in  1666. 

Cromwell  died  on  the  3rd  of  September,  1658.  During  the 
twenty-one  months  of  confusion,  trouble  and  almost  anarchy 
which  succeeded  in  England,  to  be  followed  by  the  Restora- 

tion, nothing  was   done   on  the  part   of  France  to  regain 
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Acadia  ;  but  in  1658  Le  Borgnc's  son  attempted  to  make  a 
settlement  at  La  Have.  He  was  repulsed,  captured,  and 

carried  a  prisoner  to  Boston.  Temple  in  the  meantime 
established  himself  in  possession.  His  chief  station  was  on 
the  Penobscot,  but  he  had  trading  forts  at  the  Saint  John  and 

Port  Royal.  He  also  made  a  settlement  at  Jemscg  up  the 

Saint  John  River,  forty-nine  miles  from  its  mouth,  the  river 
being  navigable  for  that  distance. 

The  Restoration  of  Charles  H.  in  1660  was  the  commence- 
ment of  much  of  the  trouble  which  afterwards  bore  down  on 

the  English  Colonies  in  North  America.  At  this  date  the 

French  in  Acadia,  as  a  nation,  were  scarcely  existent.  They 
were  .scattered  widely  apart,  numerically  too  unimportant 

to  be  considered.  Acadia,  with  ten  years  of  Cromwell's  life, 
would  have  become  an  English  settlement.  There  probably 

would  never  have  been  r  P^-ench  i\cadia.  No  sooner  was 
Charles  H.  on  the  throne  than  the  English  possession  of  it 

was  assailed.  Temple's  rights  were  successfully  called  in 
question  ;  he  was  compelled  to  pay  one  Elliot  the  annual  sum 
of  six  hundred  pounds,  in  order  to  settle  the  demands  which 

the  Council  of  State  justified.  A  new  Governor  was  even 
sent  to  Acadia,  but  Temple  proceeded  to  England  and 

obtained  his  recall.  Charles  H.  had  scarcely  been  a  year  on 

the  throne,  when  the  pretensions  of  France  to  possess  Acadia 
were  advanced,  with  the  confidence  derived  from  a  sense  of 

power  over  the  English  Court,  apparent  in  French  diplomacy 

in  this  di.sgraceful  period  of  our  history.*  The  French 
ambassador  asked  for  the  appointment  of  Commissioners,  in 

accordance  with  the  Treaty  of  Westminster,  and  in  1662  they 

were  appointed.  The  people  of  Massachusetts  were  strongl)' 
impressed  with  the  advantage  of  holding  Acadia,  and  they 

earnestly  protested  against  its  re-transfer  to  France.  At  one 
time  it  appeared  as  if  these  representations  would  have  weight, 
for  the  King  conceded  to  his  brother,  the  Duke  of  York,  the 

territory  from  the  Saint  Croix  to  the  Pemaquid,  extending 

back  to  the  Saint  Lawrence  by  the  Kennebec.     This  grant 

"The  ignobli;  leign  of Charles  II."     Earl  Stanhope. 
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included  land  contained  in  the  patent  to  Temple,  but  that  fact 

in  no  \v'a\-  interfered  with  the  assertion  by  the  Duke  of  York 
of  his  newly  acquired  right. 

Louis  XIV.  had  languidly  engaged  on  the  side  of  the 
United  Provinces  in  the  war  of  1665  between  England  and 

Holland,  in  the  hope  that  the  navies  of  these  two  maritime 

powers  would  be  so  crippled  that  France  would  become  mis- 

tress of  the  seas.  The  war  was  concluded  by  the  Treat)'  of 
Breda,  the  31st  of  July,  1667,  and  by  its  provisions  Acadia 
was  once  more  ceded  to  France. 

The  French  did  not  fail  to  assert  the  rights  which  thc\-  had 
acquired.  Morillon  de  l^ourg  proceeded  to  Acadia  with  a 
son  of  Le  Borgne,  known  under  the  name  of  de  Bcllcisle: 

and  commencing  at  La  ILive  and  following  the  coast,  they 

took  possession  of  Cape  Sable,  Port  Royal,  St.  John  and  Pen- 
tegoet.  Dc  Belleisle  had  been  appointed  Governor  of  Port 
Ro\^il.  Orders  had  been  sent  to  Temple  to  surrender  the 

Forts  of  Acadia  ;  he  declined,  however,  to  deliver  up  any 
places  but  La  Have  and  Cape  Sable,  on  the  ground  that  the 
other  localities  were  not  in  Acadia  but  in  Nova  Scotia. 

Shortly  afterwards  fresh  instructions  came  from  England, 

directing  him  not  to  give  up  possession.  The  respite  was  of 
short  duration,  for  in  March,  1669,  the  order  was  received  to 

cede  the  entire  territorj'. 

In  July,  1670,  Hubert  d'Aubigny  de  Grand-fontaine  arrived 
formally  to  receive  the  surrender.  He  established  himself  at 

the  Penobscot.  Temple  accordingly  left  the  country.  He 

afterwards  claimed  to  be  re-imbursed  his  expenditure  by  the 
Crown,  but  nothing  was  ever  paid  him. 

It  is  from  this  date  that  the  French  possession  of  Acadia 

can  be  dated.  Ceded  to  Great  Britain  by  the  Treat}'  of 
Utrecht  in  171 3,  the  French  occupation  lasted  forty-three 

j'ears.  Cape  Breton  was  conquered  in  1745,  but  was  restored 

to  P^rancc  by  the  Peace  of  Aix-la-Chapelle  in  1748,  again  to 
fall  into  British  power  ten  years  later.  Cape  Breton  therefore 

remained  a  French  dependency  forty-three  years  longer  than 
Acadia. 
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[1671 De  Grand-fontaine  was  a  man  of  ability,  and  did  all  that 
was  possible  to  perform  the  difficult  duties  assigned  him. 
The  settlements  were  mainly  fishery  stations,  and  for  the 

purposes  of  trade.  Pentegoet,  on  the  Penobscot,  where  he 
established  himself,  partook  of  the  character  of  a  fort.  We 
have  the  census  taken  by  him  in  the  year  of  his  arrival.  The 

population  consisted  of  three  hundred  and  ninety-nine  souls, 
with  a  garrison  of  twenty-five  soldiers  at  the  Penobscot.  Of 

this  number  three  hundred  and  fifty-nine  were  at  Port  Royal. 
The  remaining  population  of  Acadia  consisted  of  forty  souls. 

During  this  period  New  England  was  advancing  her  fron- 
tier to  within  a  short  distance  of  the  Penobscot.  It  was  in 

de  Grand-fontaine's  day  that  settlement  was  begun  at  Chig- 
necto,  followed  by  the  establishment  of  some  families  at  the 

Basin  of  Mines;  the  commencement  of  that  unfortip.iate  popu- 

lation known  to  history  as  the  "Acadians,"  half  a  century 
later  to  be  visited  by  the  painful  punishment  of  deportation. 

De  Grand-fontaine's  instructions*  were  to  avoid  awakening 
any  hostile  feeling  on  the  part  of  New  England,  but  on  the  con- 

trary, to  encourage  a  good  understanding  with  the  people. 
Nothing  was  to  be  done  in  the  way  of  interfering  with  her 

fishermen.  No  payment  of  duty  was  to  be  exacted  from 

French  fishermen  ;  the  English  were  to  pay  the  duty  which 
before  the  restitution  of  the  territory  had  been  exacted  from 

the  French.  He  was  to  repair  the  fortifications.  His  princi- 
pal duty  was  the  establishment  of  settlements  at  Port  Royal 

and  the  Saint  John,  and  along  the  coast.  He  was  informed 
that  Talon  had  been  instructed  to  open  a  communication  from 

Quebec  to  Acadia,  which  would  soon  be  completed.^  Thirty 
of  each  sex  would  be  sent  as  emigrants.  In  his  reports,  de 

Grand-fontaine  was  to  specify  the  population,  with  the  number 

of  marriages  and  births.     He  was  told  that  no  subject  in  con- 

•  nth  March,  1671, 

+  In  1676  this  connection  was  so  far  made  that  it  was  possible  in  eight  days  to 

pass  from  the  Chaudiere  to  Pentegoet :  a  journey  which  had  hitherto  exacted 
a  month  of  time.  Meraoire  sur  le  Canada,  1676,  Quebec  Documents  I.,  p.  240. 
But  the  road  had  no  result,  and  was  soon  abandoned. 
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nection  with  Acadia  was  looked  upon  with  such  interest  by 

the  King  as  the  increase  of  the  population. 

De  Grand-fontainc  remained  three  j'cars  in  Acadia.  He  was 
succeeded  by  dc  Chambly,  known  as  having  belonged  to  the 

Carignan-Salieres  Regiment,  whose  name  is  preserved  in  the 
fort  constructed  by  him  on  the  Richelieu,  at  the  foot  of  the 

rapids  above  the  Basin.  He,  like  his  predecessor,  established 
himself  at  Pentegoet.  In  1674  there  was  war  between  France 
and  Holland,  and  a  Dutch  privateer  found  its  way  across 
the  Atlantic,  to  attack  and  plunder  the  French  settlements  in 

Acadia.  Dc  ChambK-  attempted  some  resistance,  but,  seri- 

ousl)-  wounded,  he  was  forced  to  surrender.  The  place  was 
plundered  of  what  little  could  be  taken  from  it.  Jemseg  expe- 

rienced the  same  fate.  One  result  of  this  expedition  vvas,  that 

Pentegoet  was  ultimately  abandoned  by  the  French,  and  fell 

into  deca}'. 
Two  years  afterwards,  in  1676,  the  Dutch  returned  and 

occupied  Pentegoet,  as  if  with  the  intention  of  making  a 
permanent  settlement.  They  had  lately  been  driven  from 

New  York.  New  England  could  scarcely  see  with  compla- 
cency their  establishment  on  the  northern  frontier,  so  an 

expedition  was  sent  from  Boston  and  the  Dutch  driven  away. 

No  attempt  was  made  to  occupy  the  fortress,  and  it  was 
abandoned,  again  to  fall  into  the  possession  of  the  French. 

About  this  date  the  Baron  de  Saint  Castin  took  possession 
of  Penobscot.  He  was  a  native  of  Oleron,  in  the  Basses 

P)'renee.s,  to  the  south-east  of  Pau.  He  had  served  in  the 
Carignan  regiment,  and  had  formed  a  taste  for  savage  life, 
which  he  followed  with  zest,  as  if  it  were  his  natural  condition. 

He  accordingly  gained  extraordinary  influence  in  the  tribes 

with  whom  he  lived,  and  it  was  to  some  extent  through  his 

associations  with  them,  that  the  Indians  in  critical  periods, 

remained  faithful  to  I'rance. 
Acadia  was  commencing  to  attract  greater  attention  in  Que- 

bec. De  La  Valliere  had  arrived  there  from  Canada,  in  1676, 

to  make  a  settlement  at  Chignecto,  and  had  established  a 

fishery  at  the  Saint  John.    Shortly  afterwards  de  Chambly  was 
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succeeded  by  de  Soulatiffcs,  who  did  not  lont^  hold  his  position, 
for  he  was  removed  by  death,  upon  which  de  La  Vallicre  was 

named  Commandant  by  de  l''rontenac,  in  1678.  He  was  one 
of  that  numerous  class  of  men  who  have  principally  in  view 
the  advancement  of  their  own  fortunes.  Hitherto  there  had 

been  dissatisfaction  because  the  New  Kn^dand  fishermen  had 

been  permitted  to  follow  their  callinjf  on  the  Acadian  coast, 
and  a  strong  desire  had  been  expressed  to  exclude  them  from 

it.  De  La  Vallicre  had  no  such  feeling  ;  his  policy  was  to 

exact  that  each  vessel  should  pay  him  five  pistoles  for  a  fish- 
ing license,  and  he  permitted  the  New  England  fishermen  to 

come  and  go  as  they  saw  fit,  to  carry  on  trade  ;  the  only  con- 
dition being  that  they  should  trade  with  him.  Nevertheless, 

de  La  Vallicre  managed  to  obtain  the  praise  of  de  Mculles, 

even  to  the  extent  of  being  recommended  as  the  future  Gov- 

ernor.* A  new  Company,  formed  of  merchants  of  La  Rochellc  and 

Paris,  of  which  Herger-f*  was  head  in  1682,  obtained  a  conces- 
sion for  fishing,  drying  fish,  and  commerce.  They  commenced 

operations  at  Chcdabucto  Bay,  erecting  a  fort  where  Guys- 
borough  now  stands,  antl  bringing  with  them  a  force  sufficient 
to  carry  on  both  fishing  and  the  cultivation  of  the  soil.  In 

1683,  Berger  had  cleared  some  land,  and  had  sown  wheat, 

barley  and  rye;  he  also  planted  the  vine  and  several  fruit 
trees,  and  was  impressed  with  the  fertility  of  the  soil.  He 
reported  that  the  coast  fisheries  were  ruined  by  the  English 

fishermen,  and  he  threw  the  blame  on  the  licenses  granted  by 

de  La  Vallicre.  He  pointed  out  how  much  more  accessible 

the  coast  of  Acadia  was  than  that  of  Canada,  that  the  princi- 
pal commerce  must  be  its  fisheries,  and  that  the  situation  of 

the  country  was  in  every  respect  advantageou.s. 
The  concessions  of  de  La  Vallicre  to  the  foreigner  were 

exceedingly    distasteful    to    the   Company,  and    Berger    for- 
*  Quebec  Doc.  I.,  p.  239. 
t  His  name  has  generally  been  printed  l?ergier.  But  by  the  letters  patent 

granting  the  concession,  the  name  is  shewn  to  be  Berger.  Que.  Doc.  1.,  P-  304- 

Also  in  his  appointment  as  King's  Lieutenant,  I ith  August,  1684.  Que.  Doc. 
I.,  p.  322. 
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warded  a  Mcinorial  on  the  subject  to  France,  supporting;  his 
complaint  with  what  evidence  he  could  collect.  At  the  same 

time,  he  represented  that  acts  of  piracy  were  being  constantly 

committed  by  vessels  from  Salem  and  Boston.  These  fili- 
busters continued  their  incursions  along  the  coast  for  some 

years.  Port  Royal  was  the  main  sufferer,  and  on  one  occasion 
six  fishing  vessels  were  seized.  They  consisted  both  of 

English  and  French  desperadoes,  simply  pirates,  marked  by 
no  national  character.  One  of  the  leaders,  named  Carter, 

even  visited  the  establishment  at  Canso,  and  dined  with  the 

chief  person  there.  He  asked  permission  to  fish,  but  it  was 
not  granted.  Carter  informed  himself  of  the  condition  of 
four  vessels  in  the  harbour,  but  must  have  held  them  to  be 

too  strong  to  be  attacked,  for  he  sailed  away.  No  doubt, 
vessels  of  this  character  found  access  to  New  England  ports  ; 

for  the  presence  of  such  people  brings  profit  to  the  trader  ; 
it  is  nevertheless  certain  that  they  received  no  countenance 
from  the  Governor  of  Alassachusctts.  When  the  matter  was 

brought  to  his  notice,  he  expressed  his  readiness  to  punish  the 

perpetrators  of  any  outrage,  and  toKl  the  parties  sent  from 
Acadia  to  represent  the  case,  that  they  themselves  should  act 
in  the  same  way  if  they  seized  any  one  engaged  in  piracy.  Such 

an  instance  occurred  in  the  person  of  James  Tailer,  of  Boston, 
who  was  sent  a  prisoner  to  Quebec.  In  this  emergency,  an 

earnest  application  was  made  to  France  for  aid.  A  small 

frigate,  with  from  ten  to  twelve  guns,  was  asked  for,  to  prevent 

these  depredations,  and  the  Compatiy  offered  to  pay  the 
sailors  and  to  maintain  them  ;  they  also  desired  to  have 

authority  to  arrest  the  men  from  New  ICnglaiid,  wIkj  were 

carrying  on  a  trade  in  furs  and  who  were  fishing,  drying  their 
fish,  or  obtaining  coal.  At  that  date  there  were  si.x  English 

vessels  in  the  port  of  Canso,  while  two  others  were  bound  for 

the  Magdalen  Islands,  laden  with  provisions,  bricks,  plank, 

lime,  and  building  materials. 
The  arrival  of  this  Memorial  in  France  led  to  a  change  in 

the  Government  of  Acadia.  Pcrrot,  who  had  married  the 

niece  of  Talon,  and  had   obtained   notoriety  in  Canada,  was 
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named  Governor  in  1684  ;  the  office  was  to  be  held  for  three 

years.  Herger  was  appointed  King's  Lieutenant,  and  as 
Tcrrot  did  not  immediately  arrive,  Berger  assumed  authority. 
As  leading  member  of  the  Fishery  Company,  he  understood 

the  necessity  of  acting  with  energy  to  protect  the  interests 
confided  to  him.  During  the  summer,  he  seized  some  New 

England  vessels,  for  illegally  fishing  and  trading  on  the  coast, 
which  he  sent  to  France.  Two  of  them  were  acting  under 

de  La  Valliere's  license,  and  were  restored  ;  moreover,  Berger 
had  to  satisfy  the  owners  for  their  seizure.*  Six  vessels  were 
however,  confiscated.  Although  removed  from  his  official 

position,  de  La  Valliere  r'^'^aincd  in  Acadia,  establishing  him- 
self at  Chignecto.  His  son,  Beaubassin,  inherited  the  enter- 

prise of  his  father,  for  he  took  upon  himself  to  attack  one  of 

Bcrger's  settlements  in  Cape  Breton,  when  Berger,  who  was 
present,  narrowly  escaped  with  his  life. 

Berger  never  found  favoui  with  de  Meulles,f  who  asserted 

that  l^erger  was  a  Huguenot,  and  reported  on  his  appeal  to 
the  Governor  of  Canada  for  justice  against  de  La  Valliere, 
that  no  information  had  been  given  cither  to  the  Governor  or 

to  himself  of  Berger's  position,  that  accordingly,  de  La  Valliere 
had  received  no  instructions  to  recognize  him,  and  that  it 

would  have  been  injurious  to  the  public  service,  for  de  La 
Valliere  to  have  acted  otherwise  than  he  had  done. 

De  Meulles  in  this  letter  pointed  out  that  a  lead  mine  had 

been  reported  on  He  Percee,  with  the  remark  that  the  best 
mines  of  Canada  were  her  fisheries,  towards  which  he  had 

exerted  himself  to  turn  the  youth  of  the  country  ;  but  that 

the  Acadian  fisheries  were  mostly  in  the  iiands  of  New 

England.  The  Quebec  merchants  experienced  difficulty  in 
trading  with  Acadia  ;  a  communication  by  land  had  been 

opened  out  in  the  days  of  Talon,  but  was  no  longer  followed. 
As  a  consequence,  the  people  of  Acadia  were  thrown  into 

relationship  with  Boston  ;  and  it  was  proposed  to  establish 

*  Letter  of  tlie  French  Aiiilmssador,  Londni,  6th  November,  1C84.  (^ue. 
Doc.  I.,  p.  329. 

+  Que.  IH.e.  I.,]).  298,  I4ih  N<i\eniher,  16S3. 
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a  connection  with  Canada  by  giving  grants  of  land  in  small 
allotments,  so  that  a  continuous  route  between  Canada 

and  Acadia  would  be  obtained,  in  time  to  be  developed  into 
an  admirable  highway,  With  this  assistance,  trade  would  be 

established  between  Acadia  and  Quebec,  and  the  disadvan- 
tage, under  which  Acadia  laboured  in  this  respect,  would  be 

removed.  An  attempt  had  been  made  in  1676  to  encourage 

trade  relations  with  New  England,  when  it  was  proposed  to 

exchange  the  wine  and  brandy  of  France  for  dried  fish, 

masts,  and  other  products.  Xo  steps  were  taken  to  carry  out 
the  project. 

Acadia,  for  a  short  time,  was  to  exercise  an  evil  influence 

on  Canada.  The  courcur  de  hois  had  become  impressed  with 

the  feeling  that  it  was  a  good  field  for  his  labours.  Some  of 
the  number  who  had  gained  notoriety  by  following  this  life, 
turned  to  Acadia  as  the  spot  where  their  fortunes  could  be 

better  advanced.  Among  this  number  were  four  sons  of 

Damours,  of  the  Conscil  Souvcrain  at  Quebec.  They  estab- 
lished themselves  on  the  Saint  John,  and  commenced  a  trade 

in  furs  ;  an  example  which  found  its  imitators. 
Perrot  had  now  assumed  the  duties  of  his  office,  and  in 

Acadia  his  chan-'cter  remained  true  to  the  impulses  which  had 
marked  it  in  Montreal.  He  was  desirous  of  getting  posses- 

sion of  the  trade,  and  he  saw  that,  as  matters  stood,  much  of 

it  was  beyond  his  control.  The  Saint  John  River  was  occu- 
pied under  the  circumstances  related  ;  de  Saint  Castin  was  at 

Pentegoet  ;  de  La  Vallicre  at  Chignecto.  Perrot  established 

himself  at  Port  Royal  wiHi  "Lnirty  soldiers  quartered  on  the 
inhabitants.  He  became  dissatisfied  with  the  locality,  hold- 

ing it  unfit  for  his  purpose,  and  resolved  to  erect  an  establish- 
ment at  La  Have,  and  there  carry  on  extensive  operations. 

In  a  Memorial  addressed  to  the  Minister,  he  asked  that  the 

place  shoul  1  be  granted  him  as  a  seigniory,  and  that  a  cor- 
vette of  ten  guns  should  be  given  him  to  protect  the  fisheries. 

Among  his  requirements  were  a  pilot  and  a  missionary.  He 
undertook  to  build  a  fort  capable  of  defence,  with  a  house, 

stores  and  a  mill  ;  to  establish  a  village,  and  to  encourage  the 
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fisheries.  He  did  not  ask  for  the  exclusion  of  the  New  Eng- 
land fishermen,  but  proposed  that,  without  paying  any  tax, 

they  should  be  allowed  to  dry  on  the  coast  the  fish  caught  by 
them,  with  the  condition,  that  they  should  be  obliged  to 

exchange  their  fish  for  French  merchandise  at  fixed  prices. 
The  feeling  on  the  part  of  the  rulers  of  Acadia  towards 

New  England  had,  at  different  periods,  been  marked  by  dif- 
ference of  view.  There  was  a  close  relationship  between 

Boston  and  Port  Royal,  and  it  was  also  seen  that  it  was 

scarcely  possible  to  prevent  intercourse  of  trade,  which  at  one 

period  had  been  forbidden,  at  another,  encouraged. 
In  1670  an  ordinance  was  published,  forbidding  vessels  from 

New  England  taking  fish  on  the  coast,  but  little  notice  was 

taken  of  it.  De  La  Valliere-  even  gave  licenses  to  fish.  Hut 
such  licenses  in  no  way  permitted  the  holders  of  them  to  deal 
in  funs.  Two  vessels  were  seized  for  contravention  of  the 

law  ;*  and  it  was  declared  that  the  po.ssession  of  one  musk 
rat  skin  was  sufficient  to  cause  the  confiscation  of  a  vessel. 

The  Memorial  of  1685  sets  forth  that  the  New  Englanders 

had  establishments  throughcnit  Acadia,  at  the  Saint  John  and 

Port  Royal,  and  that  the  population  of  that  place,  consisting 
of  six  hundred  souls,  had  no  other  commerce  but  with  Hoston 

and  Salem,  places  described  as  peopled  with  fugitives  from 
England,  guilty  of  the  death  of  Charles  I.,  who  were  accused 

of  conspiring  against  Charles  II.+ 

Perrot's  irregular  proceedings,  and  the  memorial  sent  by 
him  to  Versailles,  led  to  his  recall.  He  was  replaced  by  de 
Meneval,  in  1687.  Hoth  de  Denonville  and  de  Champigny, 

in  a  joint  letter,  congratulated  the  Minister  on  this  nomina- 
tion, in  every  way  acceptable.  .^ 

De  Meneval's  instructions  assigned  the  Ouinibiqui,  eleven 
leagues  from  Pentegoet,  as  the  boundary  of  Acadia,  and  no 
h^nglish  settlement  was  to  be  allowed  east  of  the  Penobscot. 
He  was  desired  to  examine  into  the  irregularities  of  life  which 

*  Quebec  Doc.  I.,  p.  340. 
t  Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  340. 
It  6th  November,  1687. 
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existed  among  many  of  the  inhabitants,  and  of  which  com- 
plaints had  been  made  ;  to  control  the  concession  of  land 

which  the  King  had  taken  into  his  own  hand.  Xo  trade  was 

to  be  allowed  with  New  England,  either  on  the  part  of  the 

French  or  Indians  ;  no  foreigner  to  be  permitted  to  fish  in 
French  waters  ;  no  further  licenses  were  to  be  given.  The 

frigate  "  Friponnc,"  under  the  command  of  Beauregard,  was 
to  protect  the  French  coasts.  Pasquine,  an  engineer  from 

France,  also  accompanied  the  expedition  to  place  the  fortifi- 
cations in  proper  condition.  The  Sicur  de  Saint  Castin  was 

especially  named  for  his  irregularities,  and  the  Governor  was 
directed  personally  to  exhort  him  to  change  his  life  ;  and  de 
Saint  Castin  was  told  that,  on  his  following  a  line  of  conduct 

more  becoming  a  gentleman,  the  King  would  show  him  some 
mark  of  consideration. 

M.  de  Saint  Castin's  views  were  directed  to  the  material 
condition  of  Pentegoet,  which  he  was  desirous  of  placing  in 
a  condition  to  resist  attack,  rather  than  to  the  acceptance  of 

reproof  on  the  score  of  his  transgre.ssions.  He  accordingly 

applied  for  a  force  of  thirty  men  to  garrison  it,  engaging  to 
retain  four  hundred  Indians,  all  enemies  of  the  Knglish,  and 

having  entire  confidence  in  him. 
One  of  the  first  acts  of  de  Meneval  was  to  oblige  Perrot  to 

pay  his  soldiers  the  arrears  due  them.  He  reported  to  the 
Minister  that  a  large  trade  was  being  carried  on  with  Boston, 

protected  by  Perrot,  who  had  profited  by  it.  He  proposed  to 
reconstruct  the  fort  at  Pentcgoet  in  which  work  he  looked  for 

some  assistance  from  de  Saint  Castin  ;  and  he  pointed  out 

that  the  inhabitants  of  Port  Royal  were  in  great  poverty. 
Perrot  was  ordered  to  return  to  France,  and  there  is  a  letter 

e.xtant  in  which  he  i  .  pointedly  reproved  for  his  dealings  with 

New  England.*  He  had  quarrelled  with  de  Saint  Castin  ; 
the  latter  complained  to  de  Ucnonville  of  the  treatment  he 
had  received,  stating  that  he  had  been  kept  under  arrest  from 

the  2 1st  of  April  to  the  9th  of  June,  on  account  of  some 

irregularities    in   his  life.     "  It   was   not  this  which   was  the 

*  Tist  January,  i688.     Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  416. 
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trouble,"  he  proceeds  to  say  ;  "  I  do  not  think  that  there  is 
another  man  under  heaven,  whom  self  interest  can  make  com- 

mit more  ignoble  acts,  even  to  sell  in  his  own  house  before 

strangers,  a  pint  or  half-pint  of  can  dc  vie,  not  trusting  to  one 
of  his  servants  to  do  so.  I  sec  his  malady.  He  desires  to  be 

the  one  merchant  of  Acadia."  * 
From  the  date  of  the  Treaty  of  Breda,  there  were  constant 

disputes  as  to  the  boundary  line  between  New  England  and 
New  France.  So  far  as  priority  of  discovery  could  give  a 
title,  the  coast  had  been  visited  and  exnlorcd  by  de  Champlain 

before  New  England  had  any  existence.  Port  Royal  had 

been  the  scene  of  de  Poutrincourt's  labours,  to  be  destroyed 
by  Argall  in  161 3.  It  had  been  restored  in  an  imperfect  way 

by  de  Biencourt,  and  the  French,  however  slender  their  num- 
bers, still  clung  to  Acadia,  even  to  the  west  of  the  Bay  of 

Fundy,  along  the  coast  of  what  is  now  the  State  of  Maine. 
A  line  of  division  was  for  .some  time  arbitrarily  drawn  at  the 

River  Saint  George,  Quinibiquy,  its  inlet  offering  a  good  har- 
bour, between  the  Penobscot  and  the  Kennebec  ;  indeed,  this 

river  was  named  as  the  boundary.  The  close  of  what  is 

known  as  King  Philip's  war,  had  much  influence  in  determin- 
ing the  pretensions  of  New  England.  It  had  lasted  along  her 

borders  for  two  years,  accompanied  by  much  loss  and  suffer- 
ing, and  had  been  brought  to  a  close  in  1676  by  the  courage 

of  the  settlers.  To  the  south,  in  Massachusetts,  Plymouth 
and  Connecticut,  the  outbreak  had  been  earlier  subdued.  It 

had  been  the  fiercest  struggle  in  which  New  England  had  been 

engaged.  Several  actions  had  been  fought,  marked  on  both 

sides  by  desperate  determination.  It  was  said  that  there  was 
scarcely  a  family  in  New  England  which  did  not  mourn  a 
friend  or  a  relation,  and  to  the  last  the  conflict  had   brought 

*  "  Mais  ce  n'est  pas  cela  qui  luy  faict  de  la  peine,  et  coinme  je  ne  pense  pas 
qu'il  y  ayt  un  aultre  homme  soubs  le  ciel  a  qui  rinterest  fasse  faire  des  actions  plus 
basses  jusques  a  debiter  luy  mesme,  dans  sa  maison,  li  la  vue  des  estrangers,  la 

chopine,  et  le  demyar  d'eau  de  vie,  ne  se  fiant  pas  a  un  seul  de  ses  domestiques 
pour  le  faire.  Je  vois  bien  son  mal :  il  veut  estre  le  seul  marchand  de  I'Acadie." 
Le  2  juillet,  1687.     Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  400. 
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desolation.  Houses  and  villages  were  burnt,  and  it  was  com- 
puted that  six  hundred  of  the  colonists  had  been  killed  in 

action,  or  murdered  by  the  Indians.  Even  after  the  death  of 

Philip,  to  the  north  in  New  Hampshire  and  Maine,  the  Indians 
remained  unsubdued  ;  the  tribe  of  the  Abenakis  continued  in 

unceasing  hostility.*  They  had  been  brought  under  the  influ- 
ence of  the  French  missionaries,  and,  as  the  war  became  one  of 

extermination,  it  was  plain  that  the  English  settlements  could 
adopt  no  other  policy,  but  that  of  unceasingly  following  them 
until  their  power  was  broken,  and  their  strength  prostrated. 

The  Jesuit  missionaries  urged  them  to  pass  over  to  Canada, 
and  there  establish  themselves.  In  a  political  point  of  view, 
it  was  understood  how  the  devotion  of  these  tribes  would  be 

of  avail  in  the  struggle  against  the  Iroquois.  The  emigration 
commenced  in  1675,  under  the  direction  of  the  two  Jesuits, 

Jacques  Bigot  and  Vincent  Bigot.  The  Abenakis  were  estab- 
lished first  at  Sillery,  near  Quebec  ;  but  as  their  numbers  in- 

creased they  were  transferred  to  the  mouth  of  the  Chaudiere, 

six  miles  above  that  city,  on  the  south  shore.  One  of  the 

Bigots  even  went  to  the  neighbourhood  of  Boston,  to  influence 
such  of  the  tribe  as  still  remained  there,  to  join  the  Chaudiere 
mission. 

The    Abenakis   ever   remained   the   devoted  adherents  of 

*  The  Abenakis  were  a  tribe  of  the  great  Algonquin  family,  in  all  respects 
distinct  from  the  Iroquois  in  language  and  customs.  The  Algonquins  originally 

extended  over  the  eastern  portion  of  the  American  continent,  from  Virginia  to 

Canada.  They  had  crossed  the  Saint  Lawrence  and  were  established  at  Allu- 
mette  Island  on  the  River  Ottawa,  and  had  penetrated  to  the  neighbourhood 

of  the  Lakes.  Several  of  these  tribes,  in  great  numbers,  inhabited  New  England 

and  the  territory  north  of  Massachusetts.  Although  their  language  was  not 

identical  in  every  locality,  the  dialects  were  characterized  by  affinities  which 

established  a  common  origin.  The  country  along  the  course  of  the  Kennebec 

to  the  Atlantic  was  possessed  by  the  Abenakis  ;  the  Etchmins  occupied  north- 
eastern Maine  ;  the  Micmacs,  Nova  Scotia.  Thus  the  Abenakis  were  placed 

between  the  French  and  English  colonies.  Another  Algonquin  tribe  closely 

related  to  them  is  mentioned  as  the  Canabas.  The  hunting  grounds  of  the 

Abenakis  and  Canabas  were  chiefly  in  the  present  States  of  New  Hampshire  and 

Maine,  and  the  south-eastern  part  of  New  Brunswick.  A  few  scattered  tribes 
only  were  domiciled  between  Nova  Scotia  and  the  Saint  Lawrence. 
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France,  never  failing  to  appear  in  the  field  when  their  services 

were  asked.  They  never  forgot  that  they  had  been  driven 
back  from  the  lands  of  their  fathers  on  the  Atlantic,  which  they 

still  looked  upon  as  theirs.  The  sentiment  was  too  politically 

important,  for  it  in  any  way  to  be  permitted  to  be  weakened. 
Every  encouragement  was  given  at  Quebec  for  the  Abenakis 
to  transfer  their  allegiance  to  Canada,  for  such  virtually  was 

the  acceptance  of  the  asylum  offered  them,  and  one  of  the  last 
acts  of  de  Dcnonville  was  to  establish  this  mission.  In  a  letter 

to  the  Minister,*  he  acknowledges  his  obligations  to  the  Jesuits, 
in  bringing  the  Abenakis  under  French  influence,  especially  to 
the  two  Bigots ;  and  he  relates  that  it  was  by  their  endeavour 
that  the  tribes  had  been  excited  against  the  English,  and  that 

no  few  of  those  engaged  in  these  aggressive  expeditions  had 
left  the  missions  on  the  Saint  Lawrence,  having  been  supplied 
in  Canada  with  arms  and  ammunition. 

The  difficulties  of  which  de  Saint  Castin  had  complained 

did  not  lead  him  to  abandon  Pentegoet.  He  still  continued 
in  the  establishment  which  he  had  formed  ;  living  with  the 

Indians  as  one  of  them,  accepting  their  life,  taking  as  many 

temporary  wives  as  suited  him.  His  furs  he  generally  sold 
to  the  English,  but  while  he  was  willing  enough  to  drive  a 

profitable  trade  with  New  England,  his  sympathies  and  his 
feelings  remained  on  the  side  of  France.  No  more  devoted 
Frenchman  was  found  in  Acadia  ;  he  saw  the  only  salvation 

for  mankind  in  Roman  Catholicism.  With  all  the  irregulari- 
ties of  his  life,  he  had  courage  and  determination  ;  he  was 

likewise  an  experienced  trader,  able  to  turn  to  the  best  advan- 
tages the  opportunities  offered  him,  and  he  so  far  succeeded  in 

impressing  de  Dcnonville  that  he  was  recommended  by  the 

latter  as  a  successor  to  Perrot.-f-  From  time  to  time  he  visited 
Port  Royal,  where  he  made  himself  remarkable  by  his  attend- 

ance at  church,  and  by  the  liberality  of  his  gifts.  Nevertheless, 

Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier,  in  speaking  of  the  religious  require- 
ments of  Acadia,  and   the  number  of  missionaries  he  was 

*  January,  1690. 
t  Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  387. 
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desirous  of  sending  there,  thought  that  the  presence  of  a 
priest  at  Pentegoet  was  required  by  Saint  Castin  himself 

French  settlers  had  also  penetrated  to  Pemaquid.  In  1683 

they  were  notified  to  leave  the  place,  as  belonging  to  the  Eng- 
lish plantation  of  the  Duke  of  York.  Leave  was  given  to  those 

who  so  desired,  to  remain  conditionally  on  their  recognition 

of  the  English  government.  A  New  England  party,  consist- 
ing of  eighty  men,  took  possession  of  Pentegoet.  The  fact 

is  known  by  the  report  of  de  Saint  Castin  to  de  Denonville.* 

The)'  informed  de  Saint  Castin  they  were  proceeding  to  the 
Saint  Croix,  to  take  possession  of  the  country,  within  the  limit 

to  which  their  territory  extended.  De  Saint  Castin,  having 

recei\cd  no  orders  to  act  in  such  an  emergency,  simply  said 
that  he  was  a  private  person  ;  they,  on  their  side,  telling  him 
to  take  no  orders  from  the  French.  Thus,  although  the 

Treaty  of  Breda  had  restored  Acadia  to  France,  the  difficulty 
of  establishing  what  constituted  Acadia  remained  as  great 
as  ever. 

Andros  became  Governor  of  New  England  in  1688,  and,  on 

the  ground  that  de  Saint  Castin  was  on  English  territory, 
determined  to  take  possession  of  Pentegoet.  He  proceeded 

thither,  and,  as  de  Saint  Castin  augured  unfriendly  in- 
tention from  the  visit,  he,  with  his  .squaws,  abandoned  the 

place.  Andros  landed  without  opposition,  and  plundered  it 

of  all  he  could  lay  his  hands  on  ;  one  of  the  most  discredit- 
able proceedings  on  the  part  of  the  English  in  the  history  of 

those  days,  and  one  which  had  its  influence  in  creating  the 
nemesis  which  avenged  it. 

The  sense  of  injurj'  awoke  the  spirit  of  enterprise  by  which 
de  Saint  Castin  was  characterized,  ne\er  long  torpid,  and 

there  were  strong  influences  to  which  he  could  appeal.  An 
Indian  war  arose  along  the  northern  frontier  of  New  England, 
and,  to  whatever  extent,  it  was  attributable  to  the  attack  on 

Pentegoet,  that  event  certainly  added  to  the  hostile  feel- 
ing which  existed.  It  was  the  interest  of  the  French  to  drive 

back  the  advancing  settlements  of  New   England,  and  this 

*  2  juillet,  1687.     Quebec  Doc.  I.,  p.  399. 
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very  incident  was  used  to  justify  an  appeal  to  the  passions  of 
the  Indians,  and  in  support  of  the  policy  of  organizing  them  in 
bands  to  attack  every  outlying  dwelling,  and  to  destroy  its 
inmates.  M.  dc  Frontenac  has  been  accused  of  being  the  first 
to  introduce  this  mode  of  attack  ;  but  he  deserves  no  such 

unenviable  reputation.  On  his  arrival  in  Canada  for  his  second 
period  of  office,  he  found  this  war  on  settlements  in  full  vigour, 
directed  against  all,  of  whatever  age  or  sex,  who  had  advanced 

beyond  a  geographical  line.  Those  active  in  carrying  it  on 
were  priests  of  the  Roman  Catholic  church.  The  names  of 

the  two  Jesuits  the  brothers  Bigot,  aud  of  Father  Thury,  stand 
prominent  on  the  list.  The  latter,  a  priest  of  the  Quebec 

Seminary,  had,  in  1684,  been  sent  by  M.  de  Laval  to  com- 
mence, systematically,  the  establishment  of  the  church  in 

Acadia.  On  the  arrival  of  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier,  Thury 

returned  to  Quebec,  but  in  Acadia  he  had  shewn  such  evidence 

of  his  ability,  that  he  was  sent  back  there  with  additional 

powers.  M.  de  Saint  Castin  may  also  claim  participation  in 

this  form  of  hostility,  and  it  obtained  the  approval  and  sup- 
port of  M.  de  Denonville.  The  attacks  of  the  Abenakis  on 

the  outer  New  England  settlements,  commenced  in  the  fall 
of  1688. 

We  have  precise  knowledge  of  Acadia  in  1686.  'SI.  de 
Meulles  purchasv^d  a  barque,  for  the  purpose  of  thoroughly 
examining  the  country.  He  visited  all  the  settlements,  and 
a  census  was  taken  of  the  inhabitants.  The  population 
amounted  to  858  souls  ;  896  acres  were  under  cultivation. 

The  Bishop,  M.  de  Saint  Vallier,  also  visited  Acadia,  as 

stated  in  a  previous  chapter.  From  Miramichi  he  descended 
to  Richibucto  and  to  Shediac.  He  passed  to  the  Island  of 

St.  Jean  (Prince  Edward  Island),  returned  by  Cape  St.  Louis 

(Cape  Saint  George),  thence  by  the  Petit  Passage  and  Fron- 
sac  (Gut  of  Canso)  to  Chedabucto  (Guysborough),  whence  he 
examined  into  the  condition  of  the  fisheries.  From  thence 

he  crossed  over  to  Beaubassin  by  land,  greatly  annoyed,  as  he 
tells  us,  by  mosquitoes.  Here  he  found  one  hundred  and  fifty 
souls  ;  it  is  to  be  surmised  the  whole  population  of  the  country 

in ; 
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to  Chignccto.  Ten  years  had  elapsed  since  the  commence- 
ment of  this  settlement.  In  the  first  years  these  people  had 

suffered  many  hardships,  it  having  been  necessary  to  construct 

dykes  to  redeem  much  of  the  land.  They  had  now  large  pas- 
tures of  cattle,  and  raised  some  grain  ;  but  were  principally 

engaged  in  the  fisheries.  From  want  of  communication,  they 
had  been  unable  to  obtain  clothing,  and  in  their  necessity  had 
been  forced  to  make  coarse  cloth  for  their  own  use.  At  Port 

Royal  there  were  six  hundred  souls,  dispersed  four  or  five 

leagues  along  the  river. 
At  the  date  of  the  first  Abenaki  attack  there  were  supposed 

to  be  good  intelligence,  and  amity  between  the  courts  of 

England  and  France.*  Louis  and  James,  at  the  period  when 
these  events  took  place  in  Acadia,  were  held  to  be  the  most 
sincere  of  allies,  as  the  declaration  of  1687  had  set  forth.  In 

spite  of  this  outward  pretension,  hordes  of  French  Indians  were 
turned  against  the  unprotected  .settlers  and  their  families.  In 
some  cases  they  were  enclosed  within  palisades  ;  but  as  no 
attack  was  looked  for,  little  watchfulness  was  exercised.  We 

are  told  by  Father  Thury  that  some  of  the  Indians,  nomin- 
ally allied  with  the  English,  opened  the  gates  of  six  of  the 

forts  in  the  neighbourhood  of  Ouinibiqui,  so  the  Canabas  ob- 
tained easy  entrance  and  killed  all  they  met.  De  Denonville 

relates  complacently,  that  sixteen  of  these  "  forts "  were  so 
seized,  and  that  two  hundred  of  their  inmates  were  killed. 

Father  Thury  is  more  exact :  he  records  that  the  precise 

number  was  one  hundred  and  forty-two  ;  and  that  many 

cruelties  were  exercised.-|- 
The  authorities  at  Boston  .sent  troops  to  arrest  the  disaster. 

Andros  was  absent  when  this  step  was  taken,  and,  not  recog- 
nizing its  necessity,  expressed  his  disapprobation  of  it.  But 

the  emergency  forced  itself  on  his  attention,  and  he  personally 

proceeded  northwards  with  seven  hundred  men.  On  his  ad- 
vance the  Indians  retreated.     To  prevent  a  recurrence  of  such 

•  It  was  only  on  the  5th  of  November,  1688,  that  the  fleet  of  William   III. 
entered  Torbay  Harbour, 

t  Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  478. 
o 
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attacks  he  left  {jjarrisons  on  the  Saco,  at  the  Kennebec  and  at 

Casco  Ha)'. 
[ti  his  absence,  news  came  of  tlie  Kntjlish  RcvoUition,  which 

Hoston  at  once  accepted.  The  arbitrary  proceediiit^s  of 
Andros  had  on  all  sides  created  for  him  enemies  ;  the  people 

of  New  Kni^land,  therefore,  hailed  the  event  .as  one  by- 
means  of  which  they  could  resent  the  treatment  which 
they  liad  suffered.  There  were  but  two  companies  of 

regular  troops  in  New  Kngland.  The  greater  part  of  this 
small  force  was  at  Boston,  but  some  detachments  were  absent 

on  the  frontier.  The  revolution  was  asserted  by  public  feel- 
ing to  be  in  force,  and  there  was  little  resistance  to  its  general 

acceptance.  Andros'  adherents  were  seized,  the  forts  taken 
possession  of,  a  new  government  was  organized,  and  a  frigate 
in  the  harbour  captured.  On  his  return  to  lioston,  Andros 

found  that  his  government  had  ceased  to  be  ;  and  i)rejudice 
was  so  strong  against  him,  that  even  the  :jcant  justice  due  to 
him  was  denied.  He  was  held  to  be  acting  in  concert  with  the 

French  of  Canada,  and  it  was  as.serted  that  the  disposal  of  his 
troops  had  been  made  in  the  interest  of  his  own  government, 

in  league  with  the  French.  In  all  revolutionary  proceedings 

any  artfully  prepared  story,  however  improbable,  is  believed, 
and  in  this  case  its  inilucnce  cau.sed  the  garri.sons  established 

by  Andros,  in  some  instances,  to  be  looked  upon  as  unneces- 

sar\-,  in  others  to  have  been  placed  from  unpatriotic  motives, 
and  several  were  withdrawn.  In  other  places,  the  men 

rose  in  revolt  and  deposed  their  officers,  and  many  returned 
home.  These  proceedings  having  been  accepted,  and  no 

remedy  having  been  applied,  much  suffering  followed,  for  the 
frontier  was  undefended. 

The  Indians,  on  the  other  hand,  were  desperate  and  organ- 
ized ;  and,  seeing  the  defenceless  condition  of  the  country,  they 

returned  to  the  attack.  Houses  were  assaulted.  The  stock- 

ades had  few  defenders,  so  they  could  not  be  maintained,  and 
the  inmates  were  killed.  Prominent  in  these  assaults  was  the 

attack  on  Cocheco,  now  Dover,  in  New  Hampshire.  Two 

squaws  came  to  the  enclosure  and  asked  for  lodging.     They 
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were  admitted,  and  in  the  iiij^ht,  when  all  were  asleep,  thej- 
opened  the  ̂ ate  to  the  Indians,  who  lay  in  ambush  in  the 

neighbourhood.  The  owner,  Major  VV'aldron,  a  man  of  eight)-, 
defended  himself  as  best  he  could,  but  was  killed  with  those 

about  him.* 
The  attack  of  Pemaquid  followed.  This  place  was  a  regu- 

larly constructed  fort,  with  cannon,  built  on  a  point  of  land 

between  the  Penobscot  and  the  Kennebec,  strategetically  im- 
portant from  its  position.  It  could  not  be  avoided  by  the 

Indians  when  passing  north  and  south  in  their  canoes,  on 

which  occasions  it  was  necessary  to  keep  in  close  proximit)' 
to  the  shore.  Its  existence  was  looked  upon  b)-  the  Abcnakis 

with  extreme  jealous)-  ;  and  from  being  accepted  b)'  them  as 
a  material  proof  of  New  I'.ngland  power,  its  destruction  was 
equally  desired  by  the  French.  It  was  defended  by  a  Lieu- 

tenant \Veems,-f-  a  regular  officer,  nominally  with  a  garrison 

of  thirty  men.  The  force  which  had  been  placed  there  b)- 
Andros  had  consisted  of  one  hundred  and  fift\--six  men,  but 
the  greater  part  had  been  withdrawn.  The  Indians  left  their 

villages  on  the  9th  of  August,  and  .sent  .scouts  to  examine  the 

fort.  On  learning  its  undefended  state,  owing  to  the  weak- 
ness and  the  carelessness  of  the  garrison,  an  attack  was 

resolved  upon. 

The  Indians,  having  concealed  their  canoes  in  a  bay  above 

the  fort,  were  enableil  to  advance  through  the  woods,  unper- 

ceived.  As  the)-  were  approaching  the  fort,  they  surprised 
three  settlers  living  in  the  neighbourhood,  from  whom  the)- 
endeavoured  to  obtain  information.  The  men  thus  seized 

.strove  to  mislead  them,  ma'>nif\-ing  the  strcnLrth  of  the  <jnv- 

rison,  for  which,  no  doubt,  they  paid  the  penalt)-  of  their  lives. 
Before  making  an  attack  on  the  cluster  of  houses  which  had 

grown   up  close  to  the  fort,  a  religious  service  was  held,;]:  after 

*  Belknap  says,  Vol.  I.,  p.  142-5,  that  this  attack  was  an  act  of  retaliation, 
for  the  treachery  with  which  Waldron,  umler  a  show  of  friendsiiip,  iiad  seized 

some  Indians  whom  he  had  recognized  as  having  taken  part  in  King  Philip's  war. 
t  So  written  ;  doubtless  of  the  family  of  Wemys. 

t  "  lis  lirent  la  priere  en  commun."' 

it 
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which  the  Indians  rushed  on  the  building's,  killin^j  all  they 
met.  At  the  same  time,  with  a  dash,  they  surprised  some 

outiyinff  sheds  ;  and  others  placed  themselves  behind  a  rock, 
from  which  they  kept  up  a  continual  fire. 

The  place  was  defended  until  the  following  day,  when  it 
surrendered.  VVeems,  with  thirteen  men  and  some  woinen, 

marched  out.*  Andros  gives  the  number  as  eighteen  having 
been  present.  Although  the  strength  of  the  fort  was  said  to 

be  thirty  men,  many  were  absent.  According  to  this  account, 
five  men  were  killetl  in  the  attack.  Thury,  who  was  present, 

has  left  a  record,f  that  seven  corpses  were  found  in  the  ditch. 
He  relates  that  the  women  were  not  insulted,  and  that  there 

was  no  drunkenness,  and  that  the  Indians  massacred  such  as 

they  desired,  without  taking  a  single  scalp. 

leather  Thury  mentions  the  number  of  the  settlers  taken  by 
surprise  outside  the  fort,  killed  and  captured,  at  fifty,  but  thinks 
that  it  may  have  been  greater.  There  was  a  fort  on  an  island 

opposite  Pemaquid,  to  which  some  fishermen  had  retired. 
Some  of  the  party  desired  to  attack  it,  but  the  project  was  not 
entertained.  The  Indians  must,  however,  have  visited  the 

island,  for  they  returned  with  two  boats,  having  killed  those 
who  were  in  them.  Pemaquid  was  taken  on  the  day  of  the 

Assumption,  the  15th  of  August. 
Such  had  been  the  course  of  events  in  Acadia,  when,  in 

1689,  de  Frontenac  returned  from  France.  The  population 
was  small,  scattered,  and  in  extreme  poverty,  with  imperfect 
union  with  Canada,  owing  to  difficulty  of  communication  ; 
with  an  undefined  boundary,  the  dcbateable  land  constantly 

the  scene  of  aggressive  war  and  suffering  ;  New  England  still 

urging  on  settlement  northwardly  ;  the  French  endeavouring 
to  check  it  by  Indian  attack  and  massacre.  In  spite  of  the 
difference  of  nationality,  and  the  obstacles  which  had  arisen, 

commercial  relations,  in  an  irregular  way,  had  sprung  up 
between   New  England    and   Acadia,  almost  inevitably  the 

*  "  II  sortit  du  fort  quatorze  hommes,  y  compris  le  Gouverneur,  et  quelques 

femmes,  portant  chacun  un  paquet  sur  le  dos." 
t  Quebec  Documents,  I.,  p.  479-81. 
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rcsuit  of  their  gco[,'raphical  situation.  But,  to  New  Kiifjland, 
Acadia,  backed  by  France,  was  a  perpetual  cause  of  anxiety, 
and  that  this  condition  was  attached  to  its  existence  as  a  com- 

munity, was  understood  nowhere  more  fully  than  in  Boston. 
It  was  this  sentiment,  so  powerfully  entertained,  which  in  the 

following  years  led  to  the  efforts  of  the  English  Colonies 
against  Canada;  efforts  carried  out  with  spirit  and  energy,  but 

with  imperfect  organization,  and  entrusted  to  men  who  neither 
understood  the  difficulties  to  be  overcome,  nor  possessed  the 

experience  and  capacity  to  cope  with  them.  On  the  other 
hand,  they  were  directed  against  a  well  disciplined  force, 

under  the  command  of  a  professional  soldier  of  experience 
and  unconquerable  determination,  who  selected  his  leaders 

for  their  ability  and  capacity.  The  emergency  was  one  in 

every  way  to  tax  de  Frontenac's  powers,  but  he  gathered 
together  what  slender  strength  he  could  command,  and  with 

skill  and  judgment,  unchecked  by  a  scruple,  he  rendered 
abortive  the  sacrifices  so  resolutely  made  by  New  England; 

sacrifices  which  were  futile,  owing  to  the  military  incapacity  of 
the  leaders,  who  would  neither  enforce  discipline,  nor  skilfully 

place  in  the  field  the  brave  and  hardy  population  called  out 
to  serve  their  country.  Under  able  generals  the  record  would 
have  been  of  a  different  character. 
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CHAPTER  II. 

The  selection  of  de  Frontcnac  as  the  Governor  was  dictated 

by  the  events  which  had  taken  phice  in  England  at  the  close 

of  1688.  There  was  war  between  the  two  countries.  Every 
principle  which  the  French  Kinj^  cherished  had  been  violated. 
The  divine  riijht  to  reign,  with  other  religious  dogmas  of 

Louis,  had  been  assailed,  and  he  foresaw  that,  without  a  recur- 

rence of  the  dependence  of  an  b^nglish  King  on  French  sup- 
port, the  power  of  England,  which,  in  the  last  Stuart  reigns, 

he  had  been  able  to  nullify,  vould  in  its  full  strength  be  turned 
against  France.  Should  he  succeed  in  getting  possession  of 
Northern  America,  and  making  it  entirely  a  French  province, 

he  would  strike  a  blow  at  the  prestige  of  his  enemy,  and  so 

add  to  his  own  strength  and  power  as  to  make  him  irresistible. 

Accordingly,  Louis  gave  his  attention  to  de  Callicre's  plan 
for  the  subjugation  of  New  York,  and  in  looking  round  for 

one  capable  of  carrying  it  out,  his  choice  fell  on  de  Frontcnac. 
lie  had  ever  been  a  bold,  detcimir.cd  soldier,  and  at  the 
saine  time  knew  Canada  well.  The  faults  attributed  to  him 

during  his  former  government,  wc  e,  to  some  extent,  indicative 

of  the  qualities  called  for  in  the  cmergenc)'.  He  had  self- 

assertion,  will,  capacity,  all  of  account  in  carrj'ing  out  the 

royal  policy.  Since  his  return  to  T'rance  he  had  remained 
about  Versailles  without  employment,  among  a  crowd  of  men 

seeking  to  distinguish  themselves.  M.  de  I^^-ontcnac  was  now 
si.\ty-nine  years  old,  but  as  ready  as  in  carl\-  youth  to  accept 
any  duty  ;  he  was  a  devoted  hrenchman,  and,  like  his  con- 

temporaries, was  dazzled  by  the  splendour  of  his  master's 
reign  ;  and  at  that  date  Louis  had  been  almost  universally 

triumphant. 
Money  could  not  be  found  for  an  expedition  such  as  de 

Callicres  first  conceived  ;  the  plan  of  campaign  was,  accord- 
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ingly,  altered.  Sixteen  hundred  men  were  to  advance 
rapidly  from  Canada,  and  seize  Albany,  descend  the  Hudson 
and  attack  New  York.  Two  large  ships  of  war  were  to  cruise 
(jff  the  harbour  of  that  city,  and,  on  being  signalled,  were  to 

sail  in  and  join  the  Canac'ian  force.  The  duty  of  carrying 

out  this  scheme  was  assigned  to  de  Frontenac.  The  under- 
taking was  to  be  kept  secret,  and  the  blow  to  be  sudden  and 

unexpected. 

Two  ships  were  placed  in  commission,  "  Ic  Fourgon  "  and 
"  I'Embuscade,"  and  every  step  necessary  taken  to  carry  DUt 
the  enterprise.  Plans  were  laid  down  for  the  treatment  of  the 
conquered  colony.  Protestantism  was  to  be  uprooted,  and 
Catholics  who  would  take  the  oath  of  allegiance  could  remain. 
All  men  of  wealth,  officials,  merchants,  officers  of  rank,  were 

to  be  thrown  into  prison*;  but  they  were  to  be  permitted  to 
obtain  their  freedom  by  paying  a  large  sum  of  money  to  the 

King.  All  the  lands,  and  all  the  property, private  as  well  as  pub- 
lic, were  to  be  seized.  The  Roman  Catholics  of  whose  fidelity 

there  could  be  no  doubt  were  alone  to  be  permitted  to  take 

the  prescribed  oath,  and  to  remain  undisturbed.  The  King 

of  France  was  to  enter  upon  the  ownership  of  the  country,  of 
which  he  would  make  grants  to  such  officers  and  soldiers  as  he 

thought  deserving  of  his  favour,  and  the  remainder  of  the  land 

was  to  be  sold.  Able-bodied  men,  mechanics  anil  others, 

were  to  be  kept  at  convict-labour  at  the  fortifications,  or  as 
the  commanding  officer  saw  fit.  The  inhabitants,  men,  women 

and  children  not  in  this  class,  were  to  be  seized  and  dispersed 

along  the  coast  of  New  iMigland  and  Pennsylvania,  and  gen- 

erally scattered  in  <)ther  places,  so  that  they  could  not  com- 
bine and  be  mischievous.  In  order  that  there  should  be  no 

troublesome  neighbours  to  the  north,  the  settlements  of  New 

I'-ngland  in  too  near  neighbourhood  to  the  new  possessions, 
were  to  be  destroyetl.  One  jioint  especially  insisted  upon  was 

that  all  the  French  fugitives  of  the  pretended  Reformeil  religion 

were  to  be  .sent  to  I'rance  to  share  the  fate  (jf  their  brethren.* 

:.v,.' 

;m 

f     '  1  i 

•  Instructions  a   Mons.    do   Fronten.ic   sur    rcnterprise   coiUre    les  Anglais. 
7  juin,  1689.     <Jiie.  Dnc.  I.,  p.  455  461. 
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The  vessels  left  France  late  in  the  season  under  the  command 

of  de  la  Coffin iere.  They  experienced  a  stormy  passage. 

The  repairs  necessary  to  "  I'Embuscade,"  one  of  the  vessels 
selected,  delayed  the  expedition  twentj'-seven  days  in  La 
Rochelle,  and  the  duty  of  escorting  merchantmen,  for  the  most 

part  bad  sailers,  had  prolonged  the  period  of  the  voyage.  The 

destination  was  Nova  Scotia,  whence  de  Frontenac  was  to  pro- 
ceed to  Canada,  and  complete  the  necessary  organization  for 

the  advance  by  land.  The  vessels  did  not  arrive  at  Chedabucto 

until  the  12th  of  September,*  and  at  that  late  season  the  diffi- 
culties of  organizing  the  expedition  were  greatly  increased. 

With  de  Callieres,  who  had  returned  with  him  from  France,  de 

Frontenac  took  passage  in  a  merchant  vessel  for  Canada.  On 

his  departure,  he  inc*-ructcd  de  la  ,  Coffiniere  after  escorting 
one  of  the  vessels  to  Port  Royal,  to  seize  any  English  ship 
he  should  meet ;  but  to  avoid  any  engagement  with  armed 

vessels.  He  was  then  to  proceed  to  New  York,  and  cruise 
about  the  port  until  the  loth  of  December  ;  if  at  that  date, 

he  was  not  communicated  with  by  de  Frontenac,  by  signal  or 

otherwise,  he  was  to  return  to  France  bj'  the  way  of  Port 
Royal. 

At  lie  Pcrcee  de  P'rontcnac  heard  from  the  Recollet  mis- 
sionaries of  the  Indian  attack  on  Lachinc.  He  hurried  on  to 

Quebec  to  ascertain  the  truth,  and  reached  the  city  on  the 

1 5th  of  October. -f-  He  was  received  with  acclamations  of  wel- 
come. All  parties  vied  in  paying  him  attention.  He  had 

brought  back  with  him  from  P>ance  the  Iroquois,  thirteen  in 

number,  who  had  survived  the  punishment  of  the  galleys  ;  to 
an  Indian,  of  all  human  beings,  possibly  the  most  severe  and 

depressing.  Among  them  was  a  chief  of  the  Cayugas,  Oureou- 
hare.  During  the  voyage,  dc  Frontenac  had  shewn  him  much 
consideration  in  the  hope  of  winning  his  confidence,  trusting 

that  he  might  be  useful  in  future  negotiations. 
De  Frontenac  remained  but  three  or  four  days  at  Quebec, 

when  he  ascended  the  river  to  Montreal.    Although  advanced 

*  Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  466. 

+  Que.  Doc.  I.,  p.  466. 
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in  life,  he  retained  his  energy  and  elasticity  of  character.  He 
arrived  in  Canada  in  the  period  of  the  after  summer,  when  the 

weather  is  still  pleasant  and  agreeable.  He  reached  Montreal 

at  the  end  of  October,  to  pass  over  the  scenes  of  the  massa- 
cre, and  has  left  a  record  of  the  desolation  which  he  looked 

upon.  No  evidence  of  the  deplorable  condition  of  the  colony 

could  have  been  more  convincing,  and  it  was  in  a  crisis  of  this 

character  that  he  had  arrived,  in  order  to  carry  war  to  New 
York,  furnished  with  no  one  requisite  for  the  enterprise.  He 
called  out  and  inspected  the  troops,  and  examined  into  the 
moans  of  defence  at  his  disposal.  One  piece  of  intelligence 

was  particularly  distasteful  to  him.  After  the  massacre  at 

Lachine,  de  Denonville  had  looked  upon  Fort  Frontenac  as 

in  danger  of  being  surprised.  Having  bcon  unable  to  send 

assistance  to  it,  and  perhaps  having  felt  that  the  troops  sta- 
tioned there  would  be  of  greater  use  in  Montreal,  he  had  sent 

up  Repentigny  de  St.  Pierre  with  orders  that  the  place  should 
be  vacated,  and  that  the  stores  which  could  not  be  brought 

avvay  should  be  destroyed.  The  policy  was  in  every  respect 
repugnant  to  de  Frontenac,  while,  at  the  same  time,  there  was 

possibly  .some  personal  sentiment  to  bias  his  judgment.  The 
fort  had  been  built  at  his  recommendation,  and  had  been  one  of 

the  grounds  on  which  his  reputation  had  been  attacked.  In 

reality,  de  I'rontcnac's  opinions  were  dictated  by  higher  views  ; 

he  considered  the  fort  to  be  indispensable  to  F"rench  interests 
on  the  Saint  Lawrence,  and  especially  necessary  as  a  point 

iVappiii  in  an\'  operations  against  the  Iroquois  ;  and  it  was 
plain  to  him  that  if  j)eace  was  not  attainable  by  diplomacy, 
it  must  be  obtained  by  force. 

The  first  effort  of  de  Frontenac  was  the  organization  of  an 

expedition  to  Cataraqui,  to  prevent  the  destruction  of  the  fort. 
He  assembled  what  canoes  were  at  his  disposal,  and  despatched 
three  hundred  men  with  counter  orders  for  its  preservation, 
but  he  was  not  in  time  to  save  it.  A  few  hours  after  their 

departure,  de  Valrcnncs,  the  commandant,  arrived  with  the 

garrison,  consisting  of  forty-five  men.  All  that  he  could 
carry  away  had  been  loaded  on  his  canoes.     He  had  scuttled 
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the  three  vessels,  and  they  were  under  water  ;  the  cannon  he 

had  thrown  into  the  lake,  and  he  had  burned  everything  he 

could  destroy  by  fire.  The  walls  he  mined,  and,  leaving  slow 

matches  burning  in  the  charges  of  powder  placed  beneath 
them,  and  in  the  powder  magazine,  he  abandoned  the  fort. 
At  a  league  distant,  he  heard  the  report  of  the  explosion,  by 
which  he  knew  that  the  fort  was  destroyed.  It  attracted  also 

the  attention  of  the  Iroquois.  A  contemporary  writer*  tells 
us  they  visited  the  place,  to  find  one  of  the  bastions  uninjured, 

and  to  obtain  arms,ammunition,  and  provisions  which  remained 

fit  for  use.  As  .some  counterpoise,  du  Luth's  successful  skir- 
mi.sh  up  the  Ottawa  was  reported  to  the  Governor,  but  it  in 

no  way  prevented  further  Iroquois  outrage.  On  the  13th  of 

November,  during  a  snow-storm,  a  party  attacked  La  Chen  aye, 
a  settlement  on  the  main  shore,  north  of  the  channel  by  Isle 

Jesus,  about  four  miles  east  of  the  present  village  of  Terre- 
bonne. The  attack  was  made  in  the  night  by  one  hundred 

and  fifty  Iroquois,  and  twenty  people  were  killcd.-f* 
As  it  was  an  impossibility  to  Cfirry  out  the  project  of  the  inva- 

sion of  New  York,  the  dnsign  was  abandoned,  and,  early  in 

November,  de  Frontenac  returned  to  Quebec.  He  was  in  that 

city  when  the  attack  was  made  on  La  Chenaye  ;  the  disaster 

made  him  more  painfully  feel  the  ex|)oscd  situation  of  the 

colony,  and  the  necessity  of  directing  his  endeavours  to  the 
establishment  of  peace.  He  saw  that  the  colony  required 
rest,  in  order  to  obtain  the  strength  which  gives  confidence 
and  self-assertion.  He  had  had  this  result  in  view,  in  the 

expedition  which  he  had  organized  to  iu^rt  Frontenac.  .\t 
that  time  he  sent  back  some  of  the  Iroquois  prisoners  he  hail 

brought  with  him  from  France,  to  be  delivcrctl  to  the  West- 
ern villages,  and  they  were  instructed  to  inform  the  tribes  of 

the  arrival  of  the  rest  of  their  people.  / 

vards The  conduct  of  de  Frontenac  tow; Oureouhare  had  led 

•  Recueil  de  ce  qui  .s'est  passe  en  Canada,  &c.,  p.  26.  "  Uii  bon  magaziii 
d'armes  et  de  munitions  de  bouche  et  de  guerre  dans  la  redoute  qui  n'avait  point 

saute." 

t  N.  Y.  Doc.  IX.,  431. 
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the  latter  to  entertain  strong  feelings  of  regard  towards  the 

Governor,  and  de  Frontcnac  hoped,  by  this  chief's  interven- 
tion, to  insure  the  friendly  disposition  of  his  tribe.  The 

released  prisoners  were  charged  with  a  message,  that  Oureou- 
hare  would  also  be  sent  back  if  his  freedom  were  applied  for. 

De  Frontenac  also  despatched  a  Christian  Iroquois  to  announce 
his  own  arrival  in  Canada.  The  communication  was  referred 

to  an  Indian  Council,  and  messengers  were  despatched  to 

Albany,  to  ask  the  attendance  of  those  in  authority  there 
at  the  deliberations.  Only  an  interpreter,  however,  attended. 
The  Council,  consisting  of  eighty  chiefs,  characterized  by 

the  peculiar  features  of  Indian  oratory  and  ceremony,  met  on 
the  22nd  of  January,  1690.  The  advice  from  Albany  was 

not  to  make  peace,  and  not  to  lay  down  their  arms.  The 

presence  of  the  missionary  priest,  Milet,  was  not  looked  upon 

as  favourable  to  Flnglish  interests.  He  had  been  taken  pris- 
oner in  1^89,  and  had  been  adopted  into  the  tribe  and 

elected  a  chief  The  request  had  been  made  that  he  should 

be  .sent  to  Albany  ;  but  the  Iroquois  declined  to  accede  to 

this  proposal,  from  the  feeling,  that  he  would  be  able  to  aid 
them  in  communicating  with  de  Frontcnac.  Nevertheless, 
the  conclusions  of  the  Council  were  not  favourable  to  the 

hopes  of  immediate  peace  entertained  by  the  French,  but 
the  decision  at  which  they  arrived,  opened  the  way  for  future 

negotiation.  It  was  rcsolve-^?  to  ask  for  the  return  of  Ourcou- 
hare  before  any  offer  of  negotiation  could  be  considered,  and 
the  French  were  informed  that  peace  had  been  made  by  the 

Iroquois  with  the  tribes  of  the  western  lakes. 
At  this  time,  news  arrived  at  Quebec  from  the  West,  which 

threatened  serious  complications.  The  post  of  Michili- 
mackinac  was  under  the  command  of  de  la  Durantaye  ;  the 

Missionary  was  Feather  Carheil.  The  news  of  the  attack  on 
Lachine  had  arrived  there,  sensibly  to  affect  the  feelings  of 
the  Western  Indians.  The  Ottawas  and  Hurons  had  become 

strongly  convinced  that  they  had  to  choose  between  the 
Iroquois  and  the  French,  and  it  seemed  to  them  that  the 
protection     of    the    latter    had    lost    much    of    its    strength. 
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[1690 Accordingly,  they  had  resolved  to  accept  an  alliance  with  the 

Iroquois,  and  to  break  definitely  with  Quebec  and  Montreal- 
De  la  Durantayc  in  this  crisis  sent  a  messenger  to  Quebec, 

to  point  out  the  difficulties  of  his  position  ;  but  it  was  winter 
when  he  arrived,  and  nothing  could  be  done. 

It  was  evident  to  de  Frontenac  that  the  emergency  was  one 

requiring  vigorous  and  resolute  action  ;  and  that  no  policy 

would  more  forcibh-  impress  the  Indian  mind  than  an  ex- 
hibition, on  the  side  of  Canada,  of  strength  and  power. 

De  Frontenac  was  never  scrupulous  in  gaining  his  end  ;  he 

held  any  course  to  be  justifiable  to  do  .so,  and  that  there  was 
one  con.sequence  only  to  be  considered,  its  success.  He  had 

become  impressed  with  the  necessity  of  striking  a  blow,  to  re- 
gain for  New  France  the  prestige  of  former  days,  without  giving 

a  moment's  thought  to  any  suffering  he  might  cause.  In  judg- 
ing de  Frontenac  with  regard  to  the  events  which  followed,  the 

condition  in  which  the  Colony  was  placed,  and  hi^  responsi- 
bilities in  the  crisis  must  be  kept  in  view.  We  must  remember 

the  barbarous  principles  on  which  war  was  conducted,  and  the 
ruthless  spirit  of  the  age  in  the  treatment  of  an  enemy,  when 
thought  of  his  privations  and  misery  was  unknown,  and 

his  destruction  was  the  one,  and  main  end.  Mercy  was  a  word 
seldom  heard,  and  if  ever  mentioned  by  Louis  XIV.  it  was  for 
mere  theatrical  effect.  To  record  that  de  Frontenac  was 

mo\cd  by  feelings  of  this  character,  is  only  to  say  that  he  was 

no  better  than  his  contemporaries.  Insensibility  to  suffering 
was  a  characteristic  of  the  period.  Must  it  not  so  remain  in 
the  hour  of  warfare,  when  the  prominent  consideration  will 

always  be,  to  attain  the  objects  of  the  campaign,  be  the  cost 
what  it  may  ?  Actuated  by  feelings  of  this  character,  de 
Frontenac  organised  three  parties.  One  was  to  start  from 
Montreal,  one  from  Three  Rivers,  and  one  from  Quebec  ; 
each  on  a  mission  similar  in  character,  but  the  three  distinct 

and  unconnected  with  each  other.  Their  object  was  to  strike 
terror,  and  to  create  the  feeling  that  de  Frontenac  had  brought 
with  him  from  France  the  power  necessary  to  vindicate  every 

claim   he   might  put   forth  ;    and   that  war  would    bring  the 



1690] 
ATTACK    ON    SCHENECTADY. 

205 

Sternest  retribution  on  those  awakening  his  vengeance.  The 

expedition  from  Montreal,  efficiently  organized,  was  directed 
against  the  English  settlements  on  the  Mohawk. 

The  party,  consisting  of  two  hundred  and  ten  men,  eighty 

Christian  Indians,  sixteen  Algonquins,  with  one  hundred  and 
fourteen  French  and  Canadians,  was  under  the  command 
of  Saint  Helenc  and  dc  Manteht  ;  their  lieutenants  were 

d' Iberville,  who  had  returned  from  Hudson's  Bay  the  previous 
autumn,  and  Repentigny  de  Montesson.  They  left  Montreal 

towards  the  end  of  January  and  reached  the  fort  at  Chambly. 
There  was  a  second  fort  at  Saint  Therese,  some  seven  miles 

farther.  From  that  point  to  the  Mohawk,  the  country  was 
without  settlement.  But  it  could  not  be  called  a  wilderness,  in 

the  sense  of  a  rugged  impenetrable  territory  that  had  never 
been  passed  over.  The  route  had  been  constantly  in  use,  as 
the  main  line  of  communication  between  the  Richelieu  and  the 

Mohawk.  It  had  been  followed  by  de  Courcelles  in  January, 
1666,  and  when  de  Tracy  made  his  celebrated  advance  in 

October,  he  had  taken  the  water-way  to  Ticonderoga,  the 
portage  to  Lake  George.  Thus,  the  route  was  established. 

Water  was  everywhere  to  be  found,  and  there  was  "the  bush" 
for  a  shelter  at  night  where  the  camp  could  be  made. 

The  utter  want  of  caution  shewn  at  this  date  at  Sche- 

nectady, on  the  Mohawk,  the  frontier  town  of  the  English 

settlements,  north-west  of  Albany,  is  difficult  of  explanation. 
The  tradition  of  the  earlier  winter  expeditions  could  not  have 

died  away.  To  men  leading  active  lives,  careless  in  their 
fancied  security,  hardy,  practised  and  experienced  woodsmen, 
in  full  strength  and  vigour,  it  must  have  been  known  that 

the  journey  from  the  Saint  Lav/rence  to  reach  them  in  the 
winter,  though  a  demand  upon  endurance  and  determination 

of  the  highest  character,  was  nevertheless  perfectly  feasible. 
There  was  war  between  England  and  France ;  even  men 

living  quietly  and  remotely  on  the  Mohawk,  could  not  but 
be  sensible  that  they  were  affected  by  it,  to  the  extent  of 

life  and  property.  Their  reckless  abandonment  of  every 
precaution    can    only   be   attributed    to   the    contemptuous 
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[1690 feeling,  that  the  French  were  too  prostrate  to  make  any 
such  attempt  against  them.  If  they  held  this  view,  they  paid 

dearly  for  their  belief 
The  distance  froin  Saint  Therese  to  Schenectady  is  about 

two  hundred  miles,  in  ordinary  circumstances  about  fifteen 

days'  march  on  snowshocs;  the  provisions  being  drawn  on  the 
toboggan.  When  the  expedition  had  been  engaged  in  the 
advance  six  days,  and  had  j)robably  reached  Ticonderoga,  the 
Indians  desired  to  be  informed  of  its  destination.  The  place 
to  be  attacked  had  not  been  nained  when  the  start  was  made, 

and  no  one  k,  cw  whether  the  assault  was  to  be  directed  again.st 

the  Iroquois,  or  against  the  New  York  settlements.  The 

leaders  explained  that  they  hoped  to  take  Orange  *  b)'  sur- 
pri.sc  ;  they  were,  however,  without  positive  orders,  and  were 

to  be  guided  b}'  circumstances.  The  Indians  knew  the  diffi- 
culty of  the  undertaking,  and  considered  the  force  too  weak 

for  such  an  enterprise.  With  some  surprise,  they  asked  the 

French  how  long  it  was  since  they  had  become  so  bold.  The 
recollection  of  the  unavenged  slaughter  at  Lachine,  of  only  six 

months  before,  was  present  to  the  Indian  mind.  The  French 
answered,  that  the  present  effort  was  to  retrieve  their  honour, 
or  they  would  perish  in  the  attempt. 

No  decision  was  made,  and  the  advance  was  continued 

along  the  route,  common  to  both  places.  When  they  arrived 

at  the  spot  where  the  trails  diverged,  that  leading  to  Schenec- 
tady was  followed.  Fight  days  had  been  passed  before  this 

point  was  gained,  and  nine  additional  days  were  taken  to  reach 

Corlaer,  the  name  b)'  which  Schenectady  was  then  known. 

The  march  has  been  described  as  marked  bj-  unusual  difficul- 
ties, the  men  having  been  obliged  on  occasions  to  wade  up  to 

their  knees  in  water. 

At  length,  about  four  o'clock  in  the  afternoon,  they  came 
within  five  miles  of  Schencctad)-.  There  was  an  Indian  wig- 

wam at  the  spot,  which  contained  four  squaws,  who  were 
forced,  or  agreed  to  pilot  them  to  the  village.  There  was  a 
small  fire  in  the  wigwam,  over  which  they  warmed  themselves *  All)aiiy. 
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as  they  could.  One  of  the  Christian  chiefs,  known  as  the 

"  Grand  A^nier,"  *  of  much  influence,  addressed  the  Indians 
present,  and  ur^ed  his  hearers  to  wash  out  in  blood  the  injuries 
they  had  received  from  the  Kn^lish  and  Dutch.  Scouts  were 

sent  forward,  who,  in  a  short  time,  returnctl  to  report  that  all 

was  quiet  ;  the)'  had  seen  no  one.  No  watch  was  kept  in  the 
doomed  settlement.  The  ori^nnal  intention  had  been  to 

advance  at  two  in  the  morning.  Hut  it  was  stormy,  "  snowing 
thick."  The  cold  was  intolerable.  No  fire  could  be  lit,  from 
fear  of  announcing  the  presence  of  the  attacking  force,  and 

action  became  necessary  to  their  strained  nerves.  It  was 

resolved,  accordingl)',  to  make  the  attack  without  delay. 
Schenectady  is  about  fifteen  miles  from  Albany.  It  was 

then  a  village  of  some  few  hou.ses,  protected  by  a  palisade  ;  at 

the  eastern  end  there  was  a  block-house,  and  there  were  gates 
which  opened  to  the  east  and  west.  It  contained  a  hardy, 

bold  i)opulatio!i  of  Dutch,  who,  having  no  fear  of  Indian 
attack,  thought  no  other  danger  possible.  Discipline,  in  the 

sense  of  guarding  against  a  po.ssible  danger,  was  not  under- 
stood. All  such  exertion  was  looked  upon  as  unprofitable 

labour.  Lieutenant  Talmage,  with  nine  men  of  the  Connecti- 

cut Militia,  occupied  the  block-house,  but  no  watch  was  kept, 
and  there  was  no  sentinel. 

It  was  the  9th  of  February,  the  night  was  piercing  cold,  and 
there  was  a  snow  storm,  which  doubtless  added  to  the  sense 

of  security  ;  the  place  was  left  perfectl}'  exposed.  The 
western  gates,  which  were  wide  open,  were  pointed  out  by  the 

squaw.s.  Saint  llelcne  and  dc  Manteht  remained  at  that 

entrance.  D'Iberville  and  de  Montes.son  made  a  circuit  to 
get  po.sscssion  of  the  eastern  gate  ;  but  difficulties  prevented 
them  from  reaching  it.  Vhcv  returned  and  entered  the  western 

gate  with  Saint  llelene.  The  advance  to  the  opposite  gate 

was  made  as  silentl)-  as  possible.  The  assault  was  com- 
menced by  the  attack  of  Dc  Manteht  on  the  block-house^ 

where  the  men  placed  in  its  charge,  rushed  resolutely  to 

its  defence.      The  block-house  gate  was  burst  in,  the  building 

*  The  name  of  Agtiias  was  given  by  the  Frencli  to  the  Mohawks. 
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[1690 set  on  fire,  and  those  clcfcnclin^  it  were  overpowered  .-ind 
killed.  The  sij^nal  for  attack  had  been  followed  by  a  jjjcneral 
assault  on  the  houses,  and,  where  necessary,  the  doors  had  been 
burst  open.  For  two  hours  the  massacre  continued.  In  some 

instances  the  defence  was  desperate  ;  it  was  the  mere  assertion 
of  individual  couraj^e  aj^ainst  overwhelming  numbers.  The 

main  character  of  the  attack  was  simply  that  of  killing 
unarmed  and  surprised  men  and  women,  rushing  out  of  their 

houses  to  learn  the  cause  of  the  uproar.  One  only  of  the 
assailants  was  wounded  ;  a  Frenchman  and  an  Indian  were 

killed.  The  number  of  those  massacred  was  thirty-eight  men 
and  boy.s,  ten  women,  and  twelve  children.  There  was  a 
desire  to  save  the  Minister,  Peter  Tasscmakcr,  for  it  was 

believ("('  that  valuable  information  could  be  obtained  from 
him  ;  but  he  was  killed  before  he  was  recognized.  Some  few 

escaped  through  the  gates,  eventually  to  reach  Albany. 
When  the  morning  came,  the  attacking  force  crossed  the 

river  to  the  house  of  Major  Glen,  whom  the  French  describe 
under  the  name  of  Coudre.  He  had  fortified  his  house,  and 

taken  steps  to  defend  it.  D'Ibcrvillc,  and  the  "Grand  Agnier," 
promised  immunity  to  himself,  his  people  and  property,  in 
memory  of  the  good  treatment  the  French  had  received  at 

his  hands  in  former  days,  and  his  property  was  left  untouched. 
With  the  exception  of  the  building  where  de  Montigny  was 

lying  wounded,  and  a  house  of  Glen's,  the  whole  village  of 
Schenectady  was  burnt.  The  place  was  entirely  destroyed, 

and  its  population  exterminated  or  carried  into  captivity. 
After  the  first  fury  of  the  attack,  the  lives  of  some  fifty  old 

men,  women,  and  children  were  spared.  There  were  also  some 

thirty  Iroquois  Indians  to  whom  freedom  was  given,  to  shew 
that  the  enmity  was  not  against  the  Indians,  but  against  the 

English  and  Dutch.  Twenty-seven  persons  were  carried 

away,  with  fifty  horses. 
When  the  attack  commenced,  one  of  the  inhabitants  was 

able  to  throw  a  saddle  on  a  horse,  and,  although  wounded,  to 

gallop  to  Albany.  He  arrived  at  early  dawn.  Cannon  were 
fired  to  alarm  the  neighbourhood.     The  soldiers  were  called 
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out,  and  the  inhabitants  mustered.  A  party,  consisting  of  some 

horsemen  and  Mohawk  Indians,  started  for  Schenectady. 
The  Indians  had  undertaken  to  go  forward  and  give  the  alarm 

in  the  Indian  bourgades,  and  in  force  pursue  the  assailants. 

But,  appalled  by  the  sight  of  the  burned  village  and  the 
numerous  corpses,  for  a  time  they  would  not  leave  Schenectady. 

The  feeling,  however,  passed  away,  and,  after  the  interval  of 

forty-eight  hours,  the  news  of  the  attack  was  carried  onward 
to  the  other  Iroquois  villages.  The  Mohawks  now  willingly 
offered  their  services,  and  a  large  force  of  them  was  obtained; 

they  were  joined  by  fifty  volunteers  from  Albany,  and  the 

pursuit  commenced. 
The  retiring  force  was  encumbered  by  their  prisoners,  and 

there  were  wounded  men  to  carry.  Nearly  all  the  Indians 

and  many  of  the  French  were  loaded  with  plunder,  for,  before 

they  burned  the  place,  they  laid  hands  on  all  that  they  could 

carry  off ;  nevertheless,  they  hurried  forward  as  fast  as  they 
were  able.  They  were  short  of  provisions.  As  necessity 

exacted,  they  killed  a  horse  for  food,  and,  of  the  fifty  of  these 
animals  taken,  sixteen  only  reached  Montreal.  When  they 
arrived  at  the  north  of  Lake  George,  the  Indians  separated  to 

hunt,  for  provisions  were  short.  D'Iberville  and  Du  Chesne, 
with  two  Indians,  pushed  forward  to  Montreal  in  advance  of 

the  column,  to  report  the  result  of  the  enterprise,  while  the 
French  and  Canadians  continued  the  retreat  with  somewhat 

less  haste,  leaving  the  Indians  in  the  rear.  Some  few  of  the 

main  body,  conceiving  themselves  protected  by  having  the 
Indians  between  themselves  and  a  pursuing  party,  if  such 
existed,  loitered  behind,  overcome  with  fatigue.  They  never 

rejoined,  although  the  force  waited  for  them  on  the  follow- 

ing day  until  eleven  o'clock.  They  were  destroyed  by  the 
Mohawks.  Two  hours  afterwards,  forty  men,  without  the 

commandant's  leave,  left  the  main  body  and  marched  away  in 
one  party,  leaving  the  more  fatigued  by  themselves.  The  lat- 

ter were  pursued  by  the  Mohawks  to  the  neighbourhood  of 
Montreal.  The  loss  of  the  expedition  is  stated  as  seventeen 

French  and  four  Indians.     Of  this  number,  two  only  were 

'i 

1  h 

  i-'-^r- 

ivj,i|: 



210 THE   HISTORY  OF  CANADA. 

[1690 Three  p^cnch  prisoners  were  seized  and 

Their  depositions  were  taken,  and  have 

killed  in  the  attack, 

carried  to  Albany, 

been  preserved. 
This  event  is  remarkable  as  the  occasion  when,  in  Canada, 

the  I*"rcnch  first  deliberately  adopted  as  a  policy  the  Indian 
system  of  war,  devastation  ;  the  destruction  of  every  thing 

living  which  lay  in  their  path,  to  create  the  prestige  of  irresisti- 
ble power.  It  was  the  counterpart  of  the  raids  in  Maine  and 

New  Hampshire  by  the  Abcnakis,  instigated  by  the  French 
missionaries  ;  but,  at  which,  excepting  the  priests,  neither 

French  nor  Canadians  had  been  present.  Writers  have  at- 
tempted to  justify  the  Schenectady  massacre,  on  the  ground 

that  arms  and  ammunition  having  been  obtained  from  the 

English  and  Dutch  traders,  they  were  responsible  for  the  con- 
tinued inroads  of  the  Iroquois.  All  traders  furnished  to  the 

Indian  what  he  required,  arms,  powder,  can  dc  vie,  utensils, 

clothes.  It  had  become  the  only  mode  by  which  the  Indian 

trade  could  be  carried  on  ;  money,  a  recognised  counter  of 

value,  passing  unchallenged  from  hand  to  hand,  the  product 
of  a  higher  civilization,  was  unknown  to  the  Iroquois.  But  we 

may  L-arch  the  records  of  those  days  in  vain,  to  find  a  parallel 
in  the  annals  of  New  York  or  New  England,  of  war  being 

declared  against  women  and  children,  in  the  ruthless  spirit 
where  mercy  is  unknown.  From  this  date  to  the  Conquest,  it 

was  the  policy  which  marked  the  operations  of  the  French, 
in  their  endeavour  to  obtain  new  territory,  or  to  defend  that 

which  they  possessed. 
We  are  not  to  judge  the  military  ethics  of  the  seventeenth 

century  by  the  more  humanising  laws  which  prevail  in  our 
day.  Until  the  reign  of  James  II.,  the  professional  soldier  had 

been  but  little  known  in  England.  The  persecutions  of  the 

Covenanters  under  Claverhouse,  and  by  Kirke,  of  the  rebels 

after  Scdgemoor,  form  the  exceptions  of  military  ferocity  in 
our  history.  There  were  then  few  regular  officers  in  the 
American  Colonies.  Neither  they,  nor  the  Colonial  officers 

were  over-burdened  by  delicacy  of  scruple ;  but  no  record  has 
come  down  to  us  of  any  man  countenancing  such  remorseless 
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attacks  as  those  made  against  women  and  children  under  the 
orders  of  dc  Frontcnac  at  Schenectady,  and  in  Maine. 

I  reserve  for  another  occasion  the  account  of  the  expeditions 

from  Three  Rivers  and  Quebec,  as  they  belong  to  the  his- 

tory of  Acadia.  They  were  directed  against  Sahnon  I''alls 
[Herwick]  and  Fort  Loyall  [Porthmd].  They  will  be  described 
in  the  narrative  of  the  events  which  happened  in  the  struggle 

with  New  England.  They  were  marked  by  atrocities  similar 
to  those  on  the  Mohawk.  In  the  case  of  Fort  Loyall,  which 

surrendered  after  a  defence  not  characterized  by  great  deter- 

mination, the  prisoners,  with  a  few  exceptions,  were  aban- 
doned to  the  Indians.  The  attack  on  Salmon  Falls  was  the 

surprise  of  an  unarmed  village,  which  the  attacking  j)arty 
burned,  killing  and  carrying  away  the  inhabitants. 

Such  policy  was  in  no  way  repelling  to  the  French  otnc  jr, 
bred  under  the  hard,  stern,  cruel  policy  of  Louis  XIV.,  w  ? 

principle  was  that  everything  was  to  beheld  subordinate  to  the 

glory  of  France.  In  the  six  years  de  Frontenac  had  been 
absent  from  Canada,  he  had  seen  the  Protestants  persecuted 
for  their  faith,  and  human  life  held  as  cheap  as  the  clothes 
with  which  it  was  covered.  He  had  seen  whole  communities, 

embracing  men  of  the  highest  virtue  and  genius,  driven  from 
France,  on  account  of  their  creed ;  the  Palatinate  turned  into  a 

desert.  The  one  theory  of  the  King's  generals  was  that  noth- 

ing was  to  stand  in  the  way  of  their  master's  so-called  glory. 
De  Frontenac  was  not  cruel  ;  and,  although  in  the  hour  of 

trial  he  was  remorseless,  hard,  unflinching  in  his  purpose, 
naturally  he  was  frank  and  genial.  It  is  justice  to  him 

to  suppose  that  he  held  the  Iroquois  raids  in  Canada  to 

have  been  fomented  from  Albanj'  and,  also,  that  he  may  have 
attributed  to  the  same  influence  the  attack  on  Lachine,  the 

disastrous  consequences  of  which  he  had  himself  seen.  What 

he  felt  to  be  indispensable,  was  to  establish  that  the  day  of  the 
imbecility  of  his  predecessor,  which  had  brought  Canada  to 
the  brink  of  ruin,  had  passed  away.  All  this  may  be  said  for 
him,  and  the  argument  tells  powerfully  in  his  favour;  but  these 
attacks   of   1690  on   the   frontiers   of  New   York  and    New 
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[1690 England,  leave  a  stain  on  his  name,  which  it  is  impossible  to 
remove.  A.l  that  can  be  Uiged  is  that  it  was  the  doctrine  in 

France  of  the  Court,  Creed,  and  Camp,  to  show  no  mercy  to 

enemies,  and  to  so-called  heretics  of  any  sex  or  age,  and  he 
ruthlessly  carried  out  the  { recepts  of  that  school,  so  far  as 

his  enemies  were  concernod.  With  regard  to  his  religious 
feeling  de  Frontenac  w  as  certainly  not  a  persecutor  on  account 
of  his  faith. 

The  success  of  the  expedition  encouraged  de  Frontenac  in 

the  belief,  that  he  could  approach  the  Iroquois  with  success, 

and  availing  himself  o'  the  influence  which  he  had  obtained 
over  Oureouhar^,  he  again  sent  envoys  to  them.  Oureouhard 

had  fallen  entirely  under  the  mental  control  of  de  Frontenac, 

and  consequently  consented  to  accredit  four  Indians  with  a 
message  to  his  tribe,  expressing  his  surprise  that  no  deputation 

had  appeared  to  ask  for  his  release,  and  calling  upon  them  to 

act  without  delay.  De  Frontenac  sent  with  them  the  Chevalier 

d'Aux,  a  retired  officer,  and  three  persons  known  in  the  colony, 

with  an  interpreter.  The  duty  of  d'Aux,  was  to  obtain  what 
information  he  could  of  the  condition  of  the  tribe,  to  endeavour 

to  conciliate  Indian  good  will,  and  to  point  out  the  advantages 
which  would  result  from  the  French  alliance.  His  orders 

verc  to  proceed  to  Onondaga.  His  reception  was  different 
from  what  he  looked  for;  he  himself  was  attached  to  a  post  to 

be  burned,  but  was  rescued  by  some  Dutch  traders  and  taken 

to  Albany.  Of  those  who  accompanied  him.  La  Chauvignerie 

was  given  to  the  Oneida  Indians  ;  young  Bouat  died  of  the 
small  po.x  ;  La  Blaussierc  and  Colur,  the  interpreter,  were 
burned.  The  embassy  was  entirely  ignored.  Nevertheless, 

de  Frontenac  persevered  in  his  policy  of  conciliation.  Any 

prisoners  taken  by  the  French,  he  sent  back  with  presents, 
even  when  he  heard  that  the  Iroquois  had  ill  treated  their 

Canadian  prisoners  ̂ ndeed,  the  difficulties  of  his  situation 

were  so  great,  that  it  was  hard  for  him  to  know  what  course 
to  follow. 

While  it  had  been  the  belief  of  de  Frontenac,  that  the  ex- 
hibition of  vigour  which  he  had  displayed  on  the  frontiers  of 
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New  York  and  of  New  Eni»l,„H  ,. '  '  ^'^ 
communities  whicl,  i,ad  suffe  Id  7  u*'  ''""'  ''"'°  *= 

more  immediate  expectation ''■°'"  J"'"' ''' '"«'  '^^"  "is 
-spect  for  I,i3  power'  .0  "due  th?  f"  ''"  ">=  '™<'''°- 
w.th  the  French,  by  vhich  pubL  t  '°.,'=™<=l"de  a  peace 
-ould  be  re-established.  He  feltMT^-''''^  ̂ "^  '"''"='0' 
.rai»rtance  to  give  confidence  to  the  r  'T  °^""= '""°»' 
that  the  Province  would  re™ in  L  ̂"*'''""  ''""'*'"".  ̂ ° 
these  means  he  sought  to  ZZythlfT  '"'  "'^"'y-     % 
wh,ch  he  considered  had  h.^erto  h  """"  °^  ̂''^  '^°i 
the  Iroquois  i„  .heir  attack  all!"  "r'^"''  to  encourage 

■n  the  west.  To  the  ea  he  lool^  d'f  "=  °"™^^  ̂ ^  ""no^^ 
°f  stopping  the  encroachments  of  --""J"  "■' P''^^*'"'^ 
advancing  her  frontier  on  w^at  he  cL"'!!      "^''"'''  ̂'"^'^'^ 
•00-;  with   these  results,  he^'lu""'"  '°  "^  "-"=>•  'err,^ 
assertion  and  courage  wherel,  JLi  .  ""'"  ~"fidence,  self- 

absence  of  hope.    Ma^;  of  hese  mo  T  ''""^"■°"  -'"  «-l 
He  gave  strength  and  Wgou    to  !h"r,       '  '"'^  ̂'  "'"  °'"a.n. 
Western  Indians  in  the'a,  an"' wi  h  ̂    ""°"«™ed  the 
he  stayed  the  northern  advance  oN^"'' "'"'  '^ '"™<^ 
most  desired,  the  most  weigh"v  o?  hf      ̂"^'""'''    ̂ "'  'he 
obta,„.     The  effect  of  histttTcK        ̂ u^P"'""  ''^  bailed  ,0 
attended  by  .'ndiscriminat   ma  fac-sTo       ■  5"^"*  "'°"'«. of  striking  terror  and  oara^,'       ""'^'' "■•* 'he  object 

»f  his  e.,:p=ctations        "^       ̂""^  °PP°^'"™.  -as  the  revirse The  communities  nf  M„     t-     . 

f-d  fron,  their  :r^nt=:ct"pt"oiT''  '^^^  ̂ °*.  -hen todefend  their  homes  and  frontier  hh         '''''"""' '"  ""=  "'=''' 
and  skilled  officers  who  wou  d  ?,att    T?"''^'^''  'Retrained 
mand  in  such  emergencies    Th'"^  ̂ ""^  assumed  com- 

'»  te  formed  by  th'e  ev^^s  l^^St '""' ''"' '°  ̂"- »«" 
"  ey  were  tc  be  created  by  the  telhin.'' ■"'"''  '^'"'"S  Part; 
The  soldiers  drafted  on  th.T^"lTT^  '"  '"""ntest 
duty,  that  they  were  thereto  mT,?       ff  ""^h  sense  of 
and  w,th  difficulty  were  made  to  conf    """"  ""'  ""derstand, 

They  consisted  of  hardy  cul.iva.o"  IfTn      '  f ''"  *'^^'P''"- 
of  mechanics,  possessing  thd?  fLrshLl  of°"'  °'  ''"""'"'■ 

snare  of  courage.     They 
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w^re  marked  by  no  abstract  opinions  which  they  desired  to 
propagate,  but  they  had  been  reared  in  the  individualism  of 
free  institutions.  There  was  scarcely  one  so  engaged,  but 
had  more  or  less  been  taught  to  feel  that  he  was  a  member  of 

the  state,  and  that  its  safety  depended  on  him  and  those  who 

lived  near  him.  For  aggression,  for  conquest,  such  a  popula- 

tion can  never  possess  the  strength  of  a  people,  whose  senti- 

ments and  thoughts  on  every  matter  of  public  policy  are  con- 

trolled by  irresponsible  power.  But  when  a  sense  of  self- 
preservation  is  awakened,  a  wave  of  feeling  passes  through 

the  community,  sweeping  away  doubt  and  hesitation.  The 
appeal  to  the  necessity  of  effort  for  the  common  defence  and 

well-being,  then  becomes  the  one  commanding  sentiment. 
The  assault  on  Schenectady  was  of  a  character  to  turn 

men's  minds  in  this  direction  :  a  community  attacked  and 
destroyed,  ̂ or  no  purpose  but  to  convey  a  sense  of  power.  In 
Massachusetts,  the  surprise  at  Salmon  Falls  and  its  disastrous 

consequences,  and,  now  that  it  was  known,  the  slaughter  of 
the  captives  after  the  surrender  of  Fort  Loyall,  awoke,  not  fear 
and  doubt,  but  the  desire  for  revenge.  It  called  forth  the 

determination  to  chastise  the  power  which  had  authorized 

the  outrages.  The  courage  and  spirit  of  the  northern  Eng- 
lish colonies  had  been  fiercely  appealed  to  ;  and  it  was  resolved 

that  steps  should  be  taken  for  the  assertion  of  their  strength, 

and  the  security  of  their  possessions. 
The  Iroquois  themselves  had  learned  a  lesson  from  the  policy 

of  the  French.  De  Denonvillc's  expedition  against  them,  in 
July,  1687,  their  own  devastating  attack  on  Lachine  the  pre- 

vious autumn,  their  continued  foray  upon  Canada,  led  them 

to  believe  that  there  must  be  eternal  enmity  between  the 
French  and  themselves.  On  their  side  they  formed  views 

similar  to  those  entertained  by  de  Frontenac;  that  they  would 

have  no  permanent  peace  until  the  French  were  driven  from 
Canada,  or  .so  far  forced  back  in  their  settlements  as  to  be 

powerless  to  injure  them.  Whatsoever  the  origin  of  the  attack 

on  Canada  at  that  date  by  the  English  colonies,  it  had  its  mo- 
tive, not  in  a  desire  to  obtain  increa.se  of  territory  to  the  north, 
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but  to  deprive  the  French  of  the  power  of  attacking  their 
settlements,  and  to  obtain  neighbours  possessing  interests  in 
common  with  themselves. 

A  Congress  was  held  in  New  York  in  May,  1690,  when  the 

invasion  of  Canada  was  proposed.  The  programme  was,  that 
a  land  force  was  to  advance  from  Albany  by  way  of  Lake 
Champlain,  while  Massachusetts  and  the  maritime  New 

England  colonies  were  to  equip  a  fleet,  and  sail  up  the  Saint 
Lawrence  and  attack  Quebec.  It  was  the  plan  of  campaign 

followed,  even  up  to  the  time  of  the  revolutionary  war,  by 
both  nations.  The  advance  by  Lake  Champlain  was  known 
to  be  the  only  feasible  route  by  which  either  Montreal  or 

Albany  could  be  attacked.  It  became  the  battle  ground 
between  Montcalm  and  the  British  sixty  years  later ;  and,  in 
the  attempt  to  retain  hold  of  the  revolted  colonies,  a  similar 

expedition  was  made  from  Canada  under  the  incompetent 

Burgoyne.  During  this  period  no  other  means  of  access 
presented  itself.  East  of  this  passage  was  the  wilderness, 
then  unknown  and  untravelled  but  by  the  trapper  and  the 
Indian,  while  the  route  by  Lake  Champlain  in  summer  offered 

great  facilities  for  the  movement  and  provision  of  troops. 
The  expedition  was  to  be  formed  of  four  hundred  men  from 

New  York.  Massachusetts,  Connecticut  and  Plymouth  were 
to  furnish  three  hundred  and  fifty  men,  and  the  whole  force 

of  the  Iroquois  was  to  be  included.  The  proposed  attempt 
was  not  without  embarrassment  to  Massachusetts.  The 

colony  was  engaged  in  the  project  against  Port  Royal  and 
Acadia.  Her  resources  were  limited,  and  great  calls  on  her 

treasury  and  population  were  being  made.  Had  wisdom  pre- 
vailed in  this  conference,  the  result  of  the  expedition  against 

Port  Royal  would  have  been  allowed  to  develop  itself. 
Acadia  would  then  have  been  colonized,  and  have  become 

British,  for  there  was  little  at  that  time  to  prevent  this 
result,  and  the  events  of  the  next  century  would  have  been 

anticipated.  New  England  in  possession  of  Nova  Scotia,  the 

Treaty  of  Ryswick  would  have  distinctly  recognized  the  terri- 
tory to  be  within  English  limits.     Waiting  the  result  of  these 
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operations,  New  York,  would  not  have  entered  into  an 

engagement  to  join  in  an  expedition  against  Montreal,  unac- 
quainted with  the  magnitude  of  the  obligation  she  was 

assuming,  and  without  the  necessary  preparation.  The  colony 
would  have  remained  for  a  time  on  the  defensive,  to  discipline 

her  forces,  and  to  increase  her  strength  to  repel  attack.  The 

postponement  of  the  expedition  would  have  led  to  its  being 
undertaken  at  a  future  date  more  carefully,  and  being  more 

efficiently  organized.  It  would  not  have  degenerated  into 
the  mere  raid  which  it  proved  to  be,  when  the  advance  took 

place.  No  such  wise  counsels  prevailed.  It  was  resolved 
without  delay  to  attack  Canada. 
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No  suspicion  of  these  designs  crossed  de  Frontenac's  mind. 
In  the  early  spring  he  had  been  engaged  in  taking  steps  to 
meet  the  difficulties  threatening  his  government  at  the  western 

lakes  ;  before,  however,  he  could  leave  Quebec,  it  had  been 
necessary  to  determine  the  course  he  would  pursue  with  regard 
to  his  attendance  at  the  Council. 

Since  the  registration  of  his  patent  as  Governor-General,  de 
Frontenac  had  not  been  present  at  a.iy  other  meeting.  The 
Council  was  constituted  much  as  it  had  been  during  his 

difficulty  with  its  members  six  years  previously.  There  was, 

however,  another  Bishop  of  Quebec,  another  Intendant,  and 
circumstances  were  no  longer  the  same.  War  had  been 

declared  between  France  and  England,  and  in  the  interval 
Canada  had  suffered  severe  reverses.  Whatever  were  the 

personal  feelings  of  the  members  of  the  Council  towards  the 

Governor,  there  was  full  confidence  in  his  courage  and  soldier- 
ship to  ward  off  the  perils  threatening  the  colony.  The 

success  at  Schenectady,  and  the  activity  shewn  in  the  other 

expeditions,  were  accepted  evidence  of  his  power,  and  no  one 
member  was  inclined  to  offer  any  opposition  in  civil  life. 

At  the  meeting  of  the  20th  of  February,  1690,  the  subject 

of  the  Governor's  attendance  was  discussed.  The  Attorney- 
General  reported  that  both  the  Intendant  and  himself  had  fre- 

quently invited  him  to  be  present,  and,  as  Attorney-General, 
he  had  been  deputed  to  see  the  Governor  and  learn  his  wishes. 

The  reply  of  M.  de  Frontenac  was,  that  the  Council  knew  the 

duty  its  members  had  to  perform,  and  that,  when  the  King's 
service  required  his  attendance  at  the  Council,  he  would  be 

found  there.  The  Attorney-General  continued,  that  he  had 
formed  the  opinion  that  the  Governor  looked  for  some  personal 

act  of  courtesy  from  the  members  asking  his  attendance.     At 
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Saint  Louis,  but  at  the  palace  of  the  Intendant.  The  Attorney- 
General  pointed  out  that  there  was  no  recognized  ceremony 

with  which  the  Governor  should  be  received,  and  it  was  advi- 
sable that  some  rule  should  be  established.  He  suggested 

that  a  deputation  should  wait  upon  the  Governor  and  submit 

the  form  they  proposed  to  adopt,  and  ask  if  it  met  his 
approval.  The  matter  was  discussed  and  precedents  sought ; 
finally  it  was  resolved  that  four  Councillors  should  proceed  to 
the  Chateau  to  learn  the  sentiments  of  M.  de  Frontenac.  Prom- 

inent in  the  number  was  his  old  antagonist,  M.  de  Villeray. 

The  result  of  the  interview  was  reported  at  the  meeting  of 

the  27th  of  February.  The  spokesman  of  the  deputation  had 
been  M.  de  Villeray.  To  save  the  dignity  of  the  Council,  he 

pointed  out,  not  only  that  there  was  no  rule  for  the  reception 
of  the  Governor,  but,  likewise,  there  was  none  for  that  of  the 

Bishop  and  Intendant.  M.  de  Villeray  stated  that  the  Gov- 
ernor had  expressed  his  astonishment  at  the  forgetfulness 

of  the  Council,  who  should  have  remembered,  that  it  was 

for  them  to  propose  how  he  should  be  received  ;  and  then 
he  would  take  into  consideration  what  he  would  do.  He 

thanked  the  deputation  for  their  visit.  The  result  was  that 
the  matter  was  considered,  and  de  Villeray  waited  upon  the 

Governor  to  notify  him  that  the  Council  were  prepared  to 

render  him  all  possible  honour,  that  four  Councillors  would  be 

deputed  to  receive  him  at  the  upper  step  of  the  Palace 

entrance,  and  conduct  him  to  his  seat.  The  Govc'rnor 

replied  that  it  was  not  the  course  adopted  in  "the  "  Cours 
Souverains"  of  the  Kingdom.  De  Villeray  answered  that  they 
had  obtained  the  best  information,  but  nothing  was  positively 

determined  ;  they  only  desired  to  meet  his  wishes.  Upon  this 
de  Frontenac  suggested  that  they  could  learn  from  the 

Bishop,  and  from  others  who  had  knowledge  on  the  subject, 
what  was  customary.  It  was  resolved,  accordingly,  that  the 

Bishop  should  be  asked  to  attend.  The  next  meeting  took 
place  on  the  6th  of  March.  The  Bishop  was  not  present,  but 

sent  a  communication,  stating  that  he  did  not  know  what  was 
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the  proper  course  to  follow  for  the  reception  of  the  Governor. 

M.  de  Villeray  was  again  reqi'.csted  to  wait  upon  M.  de 
Frontenac,  and  to  propose  that  four  Councillors  should  proceed 
to  the  Chateau^  and  accompany  him  to  the  Council,  when  he 
had  determined  to  be  present.  To  this  proposal,  the  Governor 

replied,  that  having  heard  that  the  proceedings  which  had 
taken  place  had  been  recorded,  he  desired  to  read  what  had 
been  written.  Moreover,  he  wished  to  be  informed  how  he 
would  be  received  after  his  first  visit. 

The  Intendant  must  have  felt  that  it  was  time  to  show 

some  self-assertion,  for  he  expressed  his  opinion  that  the 
Council  had  made  the  most  courteous  proposals  to  the 
Governor,  and  that  he  considered  that  nothing  should  be 

changed  with  regard  to  the  custom  observed  towards 

Governors  on  ordinary  occasions.  It  was  then  proposed  that 
on  subsequent  visits,  two  Councillors  should  receive  him  on 

the  landing  of  the  stairca.se,  near  the  entrance  of  the  Council 
room. 

On  the  13th  of  March  De  Villeray  reported  that  every  thing 
was  satisfactorily  arranged.  The  Governor  had  seen,  that  the 
Council  had  recognised  what  was  due  to  his  position.  He  had 

remarked,  that,  had  they  made  propositions  exceeding  the 
limit  of  the  consideration  to  which  he  was  entitled,  he  would 

not  have  accepted  them  :  the  honour  of  the  Council  being  of 

the  more  importance  to  him,  as  he  was  its  Chief  Thus,  in  a 

general  Way,  he  revived  his  pretensions  of  seven  years  back,  in 
an  uncontradicted  .sentence.  He  would  have  allowed  nothing 

to  derogate  from  the  dignity  of  the  Council.  These  offers 
were  accepted.  The  members  were  thanked  ;  and  he  notified 
them  that  he  would  attend  after  Easter. 

De  Frontenac  did  not  make  his  appearance  at  the  Council 

until  Tuesday,  the  27th  of  March,  1691.  His  presence  was  then 

called  for,  owing  to  a  duel  with  swords  having  taken  place  be- 
tween two  Captains  of  the  Marine  Forces,  de  Lorimier,  and  de 

Noyau,  in  which  both  were  wounded.  On  the  7th  of  April 
they  were  punished,  by  a  fine  of  fifty  livres  each,  half  payable 

to  the  Hotel  Dieu,  and  half  to  the  poor.     On  this  occasion  de 
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Frontenac  was  also  present.  It  is  plain  that,  after  what 

happened  with  regard  to  the  Council,  he  might  confidently 
look  forward  to  little  personal  opposition  or  contumacy 
from  its  members. 

On  the  opening  of  navigation,  de  Frontenac  proceeded  to 
Montreal.  He  had  resolved  to  recall  de  la  Durantaye  from 
the  command  at  Michilimackinac.  The  causes  which  led  him 

to  take  this  course  have  not  been  explained.  Charlevoix 

suggests  that  de  la  Durantaye  lived  in  too  good  intelligence 
with  the  Missionaries,  and  his  government  was  conducted  in 

subservience  to  their  views.  The  assertion  is  without  proof; 
indeed,  no  one  could  have  rendered  more  efficient  service  than 

he  had  done.  It  had  been  principally  by  the  exertions  of  de  la 

Durantaye  that  the  Indian  contingents  had  been  obtained  for 
the  expeditions  of  de  la  Barre  and  de  Denonville  ;  and  his 

record  was  that  of  an  excellent  officer.  It  is  painful  to  read 
that  his  last  years  were  passed  amid  privation  and  poverty. 

He  was  not  again  employed  in  any  position  of  importance. 

Towards  the  close  of  his  life  he  was  named  to  the  "  Conseil 

Superieur,"  and  the  small  stipend  he  there  obtained  was  his 
only  iiieans  of  support.  At  his  death  he  left  a  large  family 

without  provision.* 
The  expedition  despatched  by  de  Frontenac  to  the  Western 

Lakes  consisted  of  one  hundred  and  forty-three  Canadians 
with  six  Indians.  Nicholas  Perrot  accompanied  it,  being 
charged  with  a  message  to  the  Ottawas,  by  which  they  were 
called  upon  to  resume  their  friendly  feelings  towards  France, 
and  they  were  warned,  that  if  they  failed  to  do  so,  chastisement 

would  follow.  As  the  party  ascended  the  Ottawa,  they  came 
across  a  party  of  Iroquois,  whom  they  defeated.  The  dead  they 

.scalped.     They  also  carried  a  prisoner  with  them  to  Michili- 

*  "Olivier  Morel  de  la  Durantaie  ne  k  Notre  Dame  de  Game,  Nantes,  etait 
capitaine  dans  le  regiment  de  Carignan-Salieres.  ...  II  mourut  laissant  sa 
famille  dans  la  pauvrete.  Ses  descendants  dans  la  ligne  masculine  sont  encore  en 

grand  nombre,  et  il  n'est  pas  rare  de  recontrer  sous  un  toit  fort  humble,  de  nobles 
cultivateurs  qui  portent  le  nom  de  Morel  de  la  Durantaie."  M.  I' Abbe  Ferland, 
II.,  p.  208.  The  writer  once  met  a  member  of  the  family,  a  handsome  young  girl, 
as  servant  at  a  small  tavern  up  the  Ottawa. 
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mackinac.  The  force  was  of  too  much  strength  not  to  com- 
mand respect  ;  accordingly,  on  their  arrival  they  were  received 

with  outward  marks  of  satisfaction.  The  Ottawas  gave  them 

a  welcome  in  their  savage  way,  by  the  firing  of  guns,  and  a 
general  tumult  of  shouts  and  jubilation;  and  the  French 
landed  among  their  countrymen,  being  received  with  a  cordial 
expression  of  satisfaction  at  their  presence,  which  removed 
fears  long  felt. 

The  interest  of  the  French  lay  in  creating  a  breach  between 

the  Indians  of  the  West  and  the  Iroquois,  and  there  could  be 

no  surer  way  of  attaining  it  than  by  causing  the  Ottawas  to 

burn  the  prisoner,  and  by  establishing  that  the  act  was  attribu- 
table entirely  to  them.  The  Ottawas  had  outwardly  given 

their  adherence  to  the  renewed  alliance.  Their  chief  was 

Kondiaronk,  "  Le  Rat,"  who,  in  the  days  of  de  Denonville, 
had  killed  the  peace  ;  and,  under  his  advice,  they  asked  for  the 

prisoner,  promising  to  burn  him.  The  tribe  had  in  reality,  no 
desire  to  commit  themselves  in  this  way  with  the  Iroquois,  and 
no  such  step  was  taken.  Accordingly,  the  jealous  feelings  of 

the  Hurons  were  appealed  to.  They  were  told  that  the  Otta- 
was were  endeavouring  to  act  independently  of  the  other 

Indians  to  their  own  profit.  The  Hurons,  consequently,  took 

the  opposite  side.  They  contended  that  the  prisoner  should 
be  killed  and  eaten.  Pere  Corbeil,  or  a  father  acting  by  his 
instructions,  was  busy  in  the  intrigue,  and,  if  writers  on  the 

subject  are  to  be  credited,  the  missionaries  plainly  said  that 

the  French  desired  that  the  man  should  be  put  into  the  cal- 

dron,* and  that  if  the  Indians  would  not  take  this  course,  the 
French  themselves  would  carry  out  the  sentence.  The  man 

was  tied  to  a  stake  and  tortured,  but,  as  he  shewed  signs  of 
weakness,  was  shot. 

The  Ottawas,  still  desiring  to  avoid  proceeding  to  extremi- 
ties with  the  Iroquois,  determined  to  send  an  embassy  to 

disavow  the  prisoner's  death.  But  by  means  of  presents^ 
persuasion  and  diplomacy,  the  chiefs  were  led,  one  by  one,  to 
agree  that  no  embassy  should  start.     Thus,  for  the  time,  the 

*  "  A  la  chaudiere."     The  figurative  expression  for  burning  a  prisoner. 
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Ottawas  and  Hurons  were  again  compromised,  and  gained  to 
the  side  of  France. 

At  the  end  of  July  de  Frontenac  left  Quebec.  Prevost  was 
placed  in  charge  of  the  fortifications,  and  the  duty  was  assigned 
him  of  completing  the  lines  of  defence,  according  to  the 

plans  which  had  been  traced.  The  report  of  the  frequent 
Iroquois  raids,  and  the  disasters  arising  from  them,  had  no 
doubt  suggested  to  de  Frontenac  that  his  presence  might 
check  them.  The  narrative  which  we  receive  of  these  events 

is  frequently  marked  by  exaggeration,  but  undoubtedly 

great  ravages  were  committed.  They  had  all  the  char- 
acteristic of  a  settlement  taken  by  surprise,  without  means  of 

organized  resistance.  The  attacks  were  as  rapidly  made  as  they 
were  injurious  in  their  effects  ;  being  mostly  directed  against 
localities  which,  from  their  isolated  situation,  could  not  guard 

against  sudden  attack.  One  narrative  specially  calls  for  men- 

tion, the  occasion  when  the  Indian  chief,  the  "Grand  Agnier," 
met  his  death.  The  story  related  is,  that  de  Tilly,  a  captain 

on  half  pay,  four  Frenchmen,  and  a  party  of  Christian  Indians 
from  the  Sault  and  the  Mountain,  left  Montreal  on  the  i8th 

of  May.  On  the  26th,  they  came  upon  two  wigwams  of  Iro- 
quois, the  occupants  of  which  they  seized.  Guided  by  the 

information  they  obtained,  they  surprised  an  English  fort, 

killed  four  men  and  two  women,  and  made  forty-two  prisoners, 
of  whom  eight  were  English  women.  As  Schenectady  was 

the  only  outlying  village  from  Albany,  and  had  been  burnt  to 
the  ground  on  the  8th  of  February,  three  months  previously, 
the  story  will  not  bear  the  test  of  examination,  because  there 

was  no  place  answering  the  description,  where  it  could  have 

happened.  What  did  occur,  however,  was  that,  hearing  that 
a  large  body  of  Iroquois  was  approaching  them,  the  party 
retreated,  and  on  the  4th  of  June  reached  Salmon  River, 
which  falls  into  Lake  Champlain.  A  party  of  Algonquins  and 

Abenakis  had  left  Three  Rivers  on  a  war  excursion.  Early 

in  the  morning,  coming  suddenly  on  this  force,  they  mistook 

them  for  Iroquois,  and  attacked  them,  killing  two  and  wound- 

incf  ten  of  the  number.     One  of  the  killed  was  the  "Grand 
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Agnicr 
Mis  death  was  a  serious  loss  to  the  French,  for  he 

was  devoted  to  them,  and  possessed  great  influence  with 

his  tribe  as  a  man  of  ability  and  enterprise. 
There  was  an  affair  at  Pointe  au.\  Trembles,  below  Montreal. 

A  party  of  Irocjuois  canoes  descending  by  the  river  Des  Prai- 
ries, w  hich  runs  north  of  the  island,  were  seen  by  a  surgeon 

named  Jallot.  The  /inlniants,  to  the  number  of  twenty-five, 
turned  out  to  meet  them.  A  retired  captain,  Sieur  de  Colombct, 
took  command,  and  they  placed  themselves  in  ambush  for 

attack.  Unfortunately,  the  Iroquois  greatly  outnumbered 

them,  and  of  the  gallant  little  band  twelve  were  killed,  includ- 
ing their  leader,  de  Colombet.  The  Iroquois,  however,  lost 

twenty-five  men,  and  the  check  which  they  had  received  led 
them  to  retreat.  A  raid  was  also  made  on  the  settlements  on 

the  river  Becancour,  opposite  Three  Rivers,  when  the  Iroquois 
carried  off  several  women  and  children.  Parties  started  in 

pursuit,  and,  as  the  unhappy  prisoners  could  not  proceed 
quickly  enough  for  their  captors,  the  Iroquois  with  their  usual 

brutalit)',  killed  them,  and  advanced  rapidly  to  leave  their 
pursuers  behind. 

Scouting  parties  were  ordered  to  patrol  the  south  side  of 

the  Saint  Lawrence.  The  Chevalier  de  la  Mothe  passed 
between  Longueuil  and  Sorel,  while  de  Clermont  went  over 

the  ground  east  of  Lake  Saint  Peter  to  the  Becancour,  feel- 
ing the  country  towards  Quebec.  On  one  of  the.se  occasions, 

the  latter  recovered  some  children  carried  off  from  Sorel. 

Four  of  the  part)'  engaged  in  the  raid  were  left  dead,  de  Mon- 
seignat  tells  us,  and  among  them  a  magistrate  from  Orange, 
with  his  commission  in  his  pocket.  The  statement  is  not  au- 

thenticated, and  cannot  be  accepted.  There  is  no  record  of 

the  English  from  Albany  joining  parties  of  the  Iroquoi.s,  for 
the  purpose  of  devastating  French  settlements.  The  evidence 
that  they  did  so  in  this  case  is  strained  and  improbable. 

With  the  knowledge  of  these  onslaughts,  de  Frontenac 
must  have  heard  with  anxiety  the  news  contained  in  a  letter 

of  the  1 8th  of  August,  from  Captain  de  la  Chassagne  com- 
mrnding  at  Lachine,  that  one  hundred  canoes  were  descend- 
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No  other  opinion  could  be  formed,  but  that  Lachine  was  again 

to  be  attacked,  and  that  an  assault  would  be  made  on  Mont- 
real. No  conjecture  could  be  formed  of  what  the  force  was 

composed.  Meas'"-  -  were  at  once  taken  for  defence  ;  alarm 

guns  were  fired  ;  rcops  called  ''n  and  concentrated,  and 
preparations  made  co  meet  the  formidable  emergency.  These 

feelings  rapidly  passed  away,  to  be  succeeded  by  joy  and  sur- 
prise. They  were  the  canoes  of  the  Western  Indians  of 

Michilimackinac,  from  Lake  Huron  and  Lake  Michigan. 

The  news  was  brought  by  Tilly  de  I'lsle,  accompanied  by 
four  Ottawa  and  Huron  chiefs.  The  following  day  the  canoes 

descended  the  Saint  Louis  rapids  and  reached  Montreal  with 

a  rich  cargo  of  furs ;  an  arrival  important  in  every  respect. 
For  eight  years  there  had  been  no  such  traffic.  To  Montreal 

it  was  a  promise  of  the  return  of  the  old  trade,  which,  during 
the  late  troubles,  had  died  away;  and  at  the  same  time  it  was 

a  token  that  the  C  *^awas  and  Hurons  had  abandoned  their 
connection    with  Iroquois   at    Albany,   to    renew   their 

relationship  with  .  ■>  France.  To  dc  Frontenac  the  intelli- 
gence was  in  every  way  gratifying,  for  it  assured  him  of  the 

success  of  his  policy  on  the  Lakes,  and  that  his  lieutenants, 

de  Louvigny  and  Perrot,  had  efficiently  carried  out  his 
instructions. 

A  council  was  held  two  days  afterwards*.  The  Ottawas 
who  were  present  expressed  their  desire  to  be  furnished 

cheaply  with  the  articles  they  required.  The  Hurons, 

by  their  Chief,  "  Le  Baron,"  expressed  perfect  devotion  to 
de  Frontenac,  and  asked  for  arms  and  ammunition,  demand- 

ing that  the  war  might  be  carried  on  equally  against  the 

Iroquois  and  the  English.  The  chief  of  the  Nipissings 

desired  to  know  the  Governor's  pleasure,  only  that  he  might 
conform  to  it.  Trade  commenced  the  following  day.  Years 

had  passed  since  Montreal  had  seen  such  commercial  activity, 
and  business  was  carried  on  with  unusual  energy  and  satisfaction. 

During  this  interchange  of  commodities,  intelligence  was 

*  On  the  22nd  of  August. 
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received  which  caused  anxiety.    .An  Indian,  named  La  IMaque, 
hail  returned  from  a  scouting  expedition  in  the  neighbourhood 
of  Lake  Champlain.      He  had  reached  Lake  George,  and  liad 

there  observed  a  large  party  of  Irocjuois  engaged  in  making 
canoes,  and  he  drew   the  inference  that  an   expedition  was 

being  organized  against    Montreal.      .Although   La   I'laque's 
story  was  illustrated  by  feats  of  his  own  powers  and  enterprise, 
the  character  of  the  man   for   courage  and  honesty  led   his 
statement  to  be  believed,  and  steps  were  taken  to  meet  the 
attack  should  it  be  made.     The  Western  Ottawas  and  Hurons 

were  induced  to  prolong  their  stay,  and  one  of  the  means  of 
inducing  them  to  remain  was  to  invite  them  to  a  feast  and  a 

conference.     The  banquet  consisted  of  two  oxen  and  six  dogs 
stewed  with  prunes,  two  barrels  of  wine,  and  tobacco. 

Previous   to   the    feast,   dc  Frontenac    addressed    them ;    a 

precaution  necessary  with  men  whose  habit  at  a  symposium 
was    to    gorge    themselves    to    stupidity.      There  was  much 

personal  digin'ty  in  de  Frontenac,  and  he  possessed  a  natural 
eloquence,  which  suggested  the  precise  word  necessary  to  the 
occasion.       He    told    the    Western    Indians    that    he   should 

prosecute  war  until  the  Iroquois  should  sue  for  peace.     Those 
who  we.e  present  had  heard  that  the  enemy  was  sending  an 

army  to  ravage  New  France.      All  that  was  necessary  was,  to 
determine  whether  they  would  advance  to  meet  the  danger, 
or  wait  to  receive  it.     After  this  address  de  Frontenac  took  the 

hatchet  in  hand,  sang  the  war-song,  and,  as  a  portion  of  the 

ceremony  included  the  rapid  movement  called  the  war-dance, 
he  must  have  participated  in  it.       It  was  the  visible  sign  that 
he   placed     himself  at    the   head    of    his   hearers,    that   he 

was  their  chief  ;  and   no  argument    could   have  been   more 

powerfully  addressed  to  those  who  followed  him.     Many  of 
the  French  officers   imitated  his    example.      The   Christian 
Indians  of  the  Sault,  of  the  Montreal  iMountain,  the  Ottawas, 

the  Hurons,  the  Nipissings,  with  some  Abenakis  from  Quebec, 
all  gave  e.xpression  to  their  devotion  and  resolution ;  and  the 

war-dance  was  gone  through  in  its  mazes  with  an  enthusiasm 
rarely  e.xceeded. 
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[1690 A  scouting  party  under  dc  Clermont  was  sent  forward  to 
Lake  Champlain,  and  the  discovery  was  made  that  a  party 
of  the  enemy  in  force  was  in  the  field.  The  fact  was  known 
on  the  29th  of  August. 

The  expedition  organized  for  the  attack  of  Canada  from 
Albany  thus  became  known  to  the  French.  Its  history  is 
marked  by  much  of  the  irresolution  characteristic,  at  that  and 
at  a  later  date,  of  the  efforts  in  which  New  York  and  the  other 

colonies  bore  part.  The  Englisn  colonies  appeai  laiely  to  have 

understood  the  necessity  of  making  personal  feeling  subordin- 
ate to  the  requirements  of  the  enterprise  before  them,  and  it 

was  with  difificulty  that  the  different  governments  could  be  led 
to  act  in  union.  Questions  arose  which,  under  proper  discipline, 
or  controlled  by  a  commanding  mind  having  the  power  to 
settle  them,  would  never  have  obtained  consideration.  In  the 

New  York  contingent  were  to  be  found  two  parties,  one  sup- 
porting the  revolution,  the  other  discountenancing  it ;  at  least 

in  the  form  which  it  had  assumed.  The  raids  on  the  northern 

frontier  of  New  England  had  alarmed  Connecticut,  and  that 

province  had  withdrawn  a  portion  of  her  contingent  for  the 

protection  of  her  ( iwn  settlements.  Winthrop,  of  Connecticut, 
had  been  appointed  Commander  of  the  force.  Even,  if  all  had 

been  concord,  it  was  not  possible,  in  two  months,  to  have  given 

to  a  number  of  men,  gathered  in  different  localities  from  their 
daily  occupations,  that  concrete  character  which  is  cemented 

by  discipline.  Unlike  the  population  of  Canada,  the  men 
of  New  York  were  unaccustomed  to  service  ;  there  was  no 

call  upon  their  activity,  even  for  defensive  operations.  The 
force  had  assembled  at  Albany  ;  but  the  attempt  to  obtain 

provisions  had  not  fully  succeeded,  and  there  was  a  want  of 
canoe.s.  The  Iroquois  had  not  joined  the  expedition  to  the 
extent  looked  for.  Amid  these  unfavourable  circumstances 

the  smallpox  broke  out,  causing  suffering  and  death ;  and  its 
presence  becoming  known  to  the  more  western  tribes  of  the 

Iroquois,  prevented  their  attendance.  Winthrop,  accordingly, 

had  resolved  not  to  persevere  in  the  expedition.  But  he 

allowed  himself  to  be  persuaded  by  Captain  John  Schuyler  to 
countenance  a  raid  into  Canada. 
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JOHN  SCHUVLER'S  ATTACK. 

fPeah  of  sixteen  hundred  En^hT  '"^  ̂-'=1'^.     One  writer 

-S  to  the  Ne„.  York  amount  '    I™    "''.^""''"    ■'^="^''- 
t"enty.nine  Christians  "and   n      ?P'='"«°"  -^""^i^cd  of 

'"d'ans  ;  this  nu,„ber  w";  subseonr.    ""'""    '"'"    '™"y 
'••""«.  and  five  Indians,  .1^!^^  ''','"?""''  ̂ ^  "">'-" 
seventy-two  fighting  m„,     jh!  ̂   ""^""^  '"'"''■•ed  and 

'I-  Hudson  to  VVoo"d's  C    elc  bythe"?  "?"  ""^^'^"^'^  f™'" 
^-es,  the  present  ChamptL^t  J  h'     r"'''  "'  '"°*™ 
The  party  followed  the  creek  to  Laf    rl  '"=™  ™"»"ncted. 
■nenced  the  descent  of  the  lake  ̂-      ,       '-^'""l'''''".  and  com- 

-Mth  of  August.     They  c»  h ,u;d  ̂   l'^'  ''"""'  "'"'"'  ""  ''- 

!■«.    and  the  appearance  of  a,    ex  ,''",■  ""'^  '°  *^  ̂iche- 
»"<h  ,s  recorded  as  having  bc^^ol^  ™d  d""'" ""''""  '"  "- 
ichuyler  describes   his  arrivaH                 "'■"'«""='■■•  ̂ yajje 

ankofChantbly."     tL   ;      UtVe"''"  "'"'^  ""--"<' 
•he  parly  of  Canadians  >vh,ch  han  h"       ''"'  •""  '■'=P°«<''''  'I"' 
Accordingly,  pacing  thei    c\  oe -7"  "■■■"'^'''  '^^  ̂ 'ncd. 

Schuyler  and  his  pa'rty  p  oct  de"    "       '^'T""™"  '■"  -^'X 
l-a.r,e.o„  the^nd  of  Se'^.teXr  ,t  "uM  '^'  '"""''^  '°  ̂a- the  sottness  of  the  clay.   As  thev  -.dl^       .      "'"=  '''"^^"'^  f'om 

«  hearing  heavy  fiig.     Ke^^  r''"f^"=--'o„isl,ed 
•hen-  arrival,  thev  sent  o.ts,^"^  "'emselves  concealed  on 

;;ho  returned  with  the  info-l C ™  ̂  !°"°'"'"'  ™°™"ff. 
he  fort  to  reap  the  corn.      T  "    i  ,           "■°°'"  """= '«» ing 
fo'ccfrom  the  fort,  but  the  Tdi      """,'/""  ""^"""f"« 
o'dcr  of  assault,  and  comme  ce  1               '  ""'  "■■"'  <"<>■■  "'e 
■9  prisoners  and  took  0  sc^"                 ''''"'''■     "They  made 

fo"--."*    Oneofthepri  o!c"e"V""°"«  "■'''■^''  "<=-  4  «o,ne„ 

-"sed  by  the  Governor  ,      in;'':r     "'' ','"  "^'"^  "-' ''-" 
»'"'    ='sht   hundred    men    and    H       ""^' ""='''>' I"-'="<»'»ly 

•"-'<ets.      Schuyler    the,  '  W ',    ,  ,  ";^"   '"-''■'"■^'■"g   the.r 
  _______^^^^IJVo„    the  cattle,  killed  one 
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[1690 hundred  and  fifty  head  of  oxen  and  cows,  and  set  fire  to  all 

the  houses,  barns  and  hay,  and  birned  ̂ very  thing  which 
would  take  fire.  Schuyler  relates  that  he  was  desirous  of 

attacking  the  fort,  but  that  the  Indians  refused  to  aid  him. 
It  was,  no  doubt,  fortunate  for  him  that  such  was  the  case. 

The  probability  is  that  he  would  have  been  met  by  over- 
whelmmg  numbers,  and  would  have  had  to  fight  his  way 
through  them,  or  have  been  annihilated.  The  fort  fired  alarm 

guns  which  were  replied  to  by  Chambly  and  Montreal. 

Schuyler,  accordingly,  departed  with  his  prisoners.  On 
their  route  to  the  Richelieu,  two  of  the  wounded  French 

prisoners,  unable  to  keep  up,  were  killed  by  the  Indians.  As 
they  sat  down  to  eat,  Schuyler  records  that  during  their 
meal  they  thanked  the  Governor  of  Canada  for  his  salute  of 

heavy  cannon.  On  the  3rd  of  September  they  reached  the 

Richelieu,  and,  taking  to  their  canoes,  started  for  Albany, 

where  they  arrived  on  the  lOth  of  September.* 
These  operations  may  have  been  looked  upon  by  the 

English  of  New  York  as  being  justifiable  reprisals  for  the 

assault  on  Schenectady  of  the  preceding  F'ebruary,  for  they 
took  place  only  a  few  months  later  in  the  same  year,  and  when 
that  terrible  outrage  was  fresh  in  the  public  mind.  But  it  was 

a  poor  satisfaction,  and  extended  neither  credit  nor  dignity  to 
those  who  conceived  it,  nor,  in  spite  of  its  boldness,  to  those 

who  executed  it;  the  very  act  .seemed  to  cast  ridicule  on  the  end 

originally  proposed — the  invasion  and  conquest  of  Canada — 
which  thus  terminated  in  a  miserable  raid,  without  result.  If 

the  attack  can  in  the  least  degree  be  pallia^^cd,  it  is  by 
attributing  it  to  the  memory  of  the  massacre  at  Schenectady, 
and  the  desire  of  avenging  the  horrors  of  that  night. 

One  fact  shews  the  uncertainty  of  the  chances  of  war  ; 

Schuyler's  advance  was  known  and  steps  had  been  taken  to 
guard  against  it.     Dc  la  Brucre,  an  officer  despatched  by  de 

*  .Schuyler  narrates  that  on  the  26th  they  were  at  "the  little  Stone  Fort," 
whence  they  sent  men  to  Alhany  in  a  canoe  with  the  news.  He  mentions  that 

they  reached  Wood's  Creek  on  the  28th.  It  is  difficult  to  establish  the  locality  of 
ihis  stone  fort. 
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Clermont,  had  learned  that  the  expedition  was  on  Lake 

Champlain.  The  surmise  had  been  that  an  advance  would  be 
made  on  Laprairie,  and  a  large  force,  consisting  of  regulars 
and  militia,  had  been  gathered  together  to  oppose  it.  A  review 
had  been  held  of  these  troops  on  the  1st  of  September,  the  day 

previous  to  Schuyler's  march  across  the  country.  Four  scouts 
were  sent  out  to  learn  if  there  were  signs  of  the  invasion, 

but  they  went  no  furthe  •  than  Chambly,  and  it  must  have  been 

the  trace  of  this  party  upon  which  Schuyler's  scouts  came. 
On  their  report  that  there  was  no  sign  of  danger,  the  troops 
and  the  militia  were  sent  to  gather  in  the  harvest.  It  was 

against  these  meq,  in  no  way  expecting  attack,  that  the 
onslaught  of  Schuyler  was  made. 

The  Iroquois  assaults  still  continued  in  other  parts  of  the 
Province.  The  commandant  of  Chateauguay,  des  Marais,  was 

killed  not  far  from  the  fort.  An  attack  was  made  upon  some 
French,  on  one  of  the  islands  at  the  entrance  to  Lake  Saint 

Peter,  in  which  they  lost  nearly  twenty  men.  Montreal  was 

constantly  agitated  by  alarms,  most  of  which,  happily,  proved 

fa'.se.  De  Frontenac  still  remained  in  that  place,  waiting  for 
the  arrival  of  the  canoes  from  the  west.  Dc  la  Durantaye 
appeared  on  the  ist  of  October,  accompanied  by  fifty  canoes 
laden  with  valuable  furs,  the  property  of  the  traders  in  the 

neighbcurhood  of  Michilimackinac,  and  he  confirmed  by  his 
statements  the  truth  of  the  allegiance  of  the  Indians.  The 

Governor  had  now  resolved,  in  company  with  the  Intendant, 

to  proceed  to  Quebec  ;  while  undecided  as  to  the  daj'  when 
he  would  leave,  a  letter  from  his  lieutenant.  Major  Prevost, 

gave  him  intelligence  which  caused  his  immediate  departure, 
for  it  informed  him  of  the  threatened  invasion  of  New  France 

by  Massachusetts. 

When  the  project  of  the  maritime  expedition  against 
Quebec  was  first  mooted,  as  has  been  sdid,  Massachusetts  had 

not  immediately  accepted  the  proposition.  There  were  serious 

considerations  which  led  the  province  to  hesitate  before 

taking  the  step.  But  Phips'  success  in  Acadia  had  awakened 
the  popular  enthusiasm,  and  all  doubts  as  to  the  consequences 
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[1690 which  nrtight  follow  passed  away.  I  will  relate  in  their  place 

the  events  of  that  expedition,  which  forms  a  portion  *  of  the 
History  of  Acadia,  and  has  no  direct  relationship  with  that 
of  Canada. 

Phips  returned  to  Boston  the  30th  of  May,  a  victor,  with 
the  prisoners,  and  the  booty  which  he  had  obtained  at  Port 

Royal.  His  good  fortune  gave  such  an  impulse  to  the  enter- 
prise that  its  success  was  held  to  be  assured ;  and  on  all  sides 

the  expedition  was  looked  upon  as  feasible.  In  this  state  of 

feeling,  a  swift-sailing  vessel  was  sent  to  England  to  ask  for 
aid  and  money.  The  crisis  was  one  when  neither  could  be 

granted  by  the  home  government.  There  was  a  French  force 
in  Ireland,  and  civil  war  was  raging  there.  On  the  Continent, 
Great  Britain  had  to  range  herself  on  the  side  of  her  allies, 

against  the  power  of  France,  to  prevent  the  battle  for  national 

life  being  fought  in  Devonshire  and  Kent.  It  is  not  impro- 
bable that  to  William  III.,  in  the  existing  state  of  events,  the 

claims  of  Canada  on  P"rance  were  not  looked  upon  entirely  as 
a  disadvantage,  as  New  France  absorbed  some  of  the  strength, 

vigour  and  money,  which  otherwise  might  have  been  di- 
rected against  himself  in  Europe.  England  was  unable  to  grant 

aid  to  any  transatlantic  project.  Even  the  Hudson's  Bay 

Company,  all  powerful  in  London,  with  the  King's  strong 
desire  to  gratify  the  wealthy  corporations,  could  obtain  no  aid 

from  the  Crown  until  1693,  ̂ o''  the  rc-conquest  of  the  forts 
taken  in  1686. 

Sustained  by  the  feeling  that  help  would  be  given,  and  from 

the  elation  caused  by  Phips'  success,  the  preparations  were 
vigorously  urged  forward.  Every  engine  of  influence  was 
appealed  to.  While  it  was  stated  that  the  plunder  from  the 

enterprise  would  pay  its  expenses,  the  religious  machincr\'  at 
the  command  of  New  tlngland  was  not  lost  sight  of  The 

people  were  urged  to  repentance.  A  public  fast  was  held,  and 
the  pulpits  resounded  with  appeals  to  patriotism  and  national 

duty.  There  was  a  scarcity  of  mon  "y,  therefore  subscriptions 
were  asked,  but  with  no  great  effect ;  vessels  were  impounded 

*  For  Phips'  operations  in  Acmlia,  I  refer  tlie  reader  to  Book  VI.,  ciiapter  I. 
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for  the  service  of  the  State  ;  volunteers  were  called  for,  but  as 

only  a  limited  number  of  responses  was  made  to  the  appeal, 
it  was  resolved  to  have  recourse  to  impressment,  which  was 
unflinchingly  enforced.  As  money  failed,  a  further  loan  was 

obtained.  Thirty-four  vessels  were  to  be  manned,  the  princi- 

pal of  which  was  a  frigate  of  forty-four  guns,  called  the  "  Six 
Friends,"  which  in  some  form  had  been  on  service  in  the  West 
Indies.  Phips  was  appointed  commander  of  the  expedition, 
while  Walley,  who  was  a  resident  of  Barnstable,  with  the  rank 

of  major,  was  placed  in  command  of  the  land  forces.  The 

officers  were  taken  from  civil  life  ;  substantial  citizens  engaged 

in  various  pursuits,  men  working  their  farms,  ship-masters, 
traders,  lawyers,  the  higher  class  of  mechanics.  The  total 
number  of  men  in  the  expedition,  including  sailors  and  the 

land  force,  was  about  twenty-two  hundred. 
The  success  of  the  expedition  depended  on  the  blow  being 

struck  suddenly,  when  preparations  were  least  made  to  meet 

it ;  and  those  charged  with  its  organization  must  have  enter- 
tained this  feeling,  for  great  activity  was  shewn  by  them. 

The  conduct  of  Sir  William  Phips,  the  leader,  does  not 

suggest  that  he  was  impressed  with  this  view.  There  was  a 
period  of  the  year  when  the  enterprise  could  have  been  best 

undertaken,  and  no  consideration  should  have  led  to  its  post- 
ponement. The  dispatch  of  the  vessel  to  England  asking  for 

aid,  caused  loss  of  time,  and  was  in  every  sense  unfortunate. 

Opportunity  was  given  for  the  defences  of  Quebec  to  be  made 
more  complete,  and  for  de  Frontcnac  to  excrci.se  his  great 
qualities,  in  centralizing  the  force  at  his  command,  and 

awakening  general  confidence  and  effort. 
On  his  arrival  in  Canada,  de  Frontenac  had  particularly 

busied  himself  in  fortif)'ing  Quebec  on  its  exposed  side  to 
the  west.  During  the  winter  timber  had  been  cut,  and,  on 

the  approach  of  spring,  placed  on  the  ground.  Dc  Frontenac's 
original  idea  was  probably  to  give  security  to  the  inliabitants 

against  Indian  attack.  Judged  by  after  events,  the  course 
taken  by  him  might  be  regarded  as  providential.  The  rock 
fronting  the  St.   Lawrence,  turning  to  the  north  along   the 
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St.  Charles,  gave  security  that  no  surprise  could  take  place 
in  that  direction,  except  at  the  two  practicable  ascents, 

now  known  as  Hope  and  Palace  gates.  De  Frontcnac 
had  commenced  a  picket  enclosure,  following  a  line  from  the 

Intendant's  palace  to  the  St.  Lawrence,  to  include  what  then 
existed  of  the  upper  town  to  the  west  of  Mont  Carmel,  on 
which  a  mill  stood. 

De  Frontenac  had  left  Quebec  in  July,  having  placed  Major 

Prevost  in  command  to  complete  the  fortification.s.  He  was 

engaged  in  this  duty  when,  early  in  October,  an  Abenaki 

Indian  arrived  over  land,  with  the  intelligence  that  thirty-four 
ships  had  sailed  from  Boston,  on  their  way  to  capture  New 
France,  being  confident  of  success,  from  the  ease  with  which 
the  conquest  of  Acadia  had  been  achieved.  As  the  expedition 

against  Port  Royal  had  become  known  in  Canada,  such  an 

attempt  seemed  probable  to  Prevost,  and  he  immediately  for- 

warded the  report  to  de  I'rontcnac.  The  Governor,  on  its 
receipt,  started  for  Quebec  without  delay ;  and  while  on 
his  way  he  was  met  hy  another  canoe  bringing  a  second  report 
that  the  Massachusetts  fleet  was  within  sixteen  leagues  of  the 

city,*  and  that  a  barque  and  a  boat,  sent  from  Quebec  to  gain 

information,  hiid  been  captured.  On  first  receiving  Prevost's 
news,  de  Frontenac  had  ordered  two  hundred  men  to  accom- 

pany him  ;  he  now  sent  back  orders  to  de  Calliercs  to  collect 
all  the  men  he  could  gather,  and  to  follow  him  with  the 

utmost  dispatch,  and,  as  he  passed  down  the  river,  to  call 

out  the  liabitixnis  who  belonged  to  the  militia.  Hurrying  for- 

ward with  all  possible  haste,  de  I'rontenac  arrived  at  Quebec 
on  the  14th  of  October.  His  presence  gave  new  heart  to  the 
inhabitants,  for  it  was  the  promise  of  a  resolute  defence,  and 

he  was  greeted  with  every  mark  of  satisfaction  and  delight. 
His  first  thought  was  to  examine  the  means  taken  to  defend 

the  city.  Prevost  had  constructed  a  line  of  palisades  along 

the  River  Saint  Charles  to  the  Intendant's  Palace,  the  point 
where  the  works  projected  by  himself  had  been  commenced. 

There  was  a  batter}^  of  eight  guns  where  Durham  Terrace 

*  Thiity-eiglit  miles. 
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now  stands  ;  one  of  three  guns  at  Sault-au-Matelot,  and  some 
heavy  guns  were  placed  in  the  lower  town  along  the  water. 

The  fleet  left  Xantasket  on  the  20th  of  August,  and  reaching 

the  Saint  Lawrence  had  worked  its  way  up  the  river  without 

pilots.  In  an  effort  of  this  character  the  persevering  energy 
of  Phips  was  of  good  account.  In  other  respects  he  had  no 
idea  of  the  magnitude  of  the  task  which  he  had  undertaken. 
It  is  questionable  even  if  he  counted  upon  resistance,  and  his 

conduct  suggests  that  he  had  formed  the  opinion,  that,  even  if 

it  were  experienced,  it  could  be  without  difficulty  overcome. 
From  the  preparations  made  by  him,  he  must  have  thought  it 

not  im.possible  that  he  would  be  welcomed  as  a  deliverer,  and 

if  he  did  not  hold  these  views,  his  conduct  is  inexplicable. 
He  brought  with  him  Father  Trouve,  whom  he  had  taken 

prisoner  at  Port  Royal,  and  some  other  Acadians,  in  order  to 
avail  himself  of  their  assistance  when  in  possession  of  the 
country.  If,  in  accordance  with  the  plan  of  attack,  a  force 

strong  enough  to  cause  anxiety,  had  advanced  against  Mont- 
real, de  Frontenac  would  have  remained  there  to  defend  the 

cit)-.  With  despatch  and  energy  on  the  part  of  the  New 
England  fleet,  Quebec  would  have  been  reached,  when  the 

place  would  have  been  found  in  an  exposed  condition  ;  cer- 
tainly on  the  west  of  the  city.  But  there  was  no  attack 

directed  against  Montreal,  and  time  was  given  to  Quebec  for 

making  preparations  to  receive  the  invading  fleet. 
As  Phips  ascended  the  river,  he  had  seized  a  small  barque 

proceeding  to  the  Mingan  Islands.  The  vessel  contained  the 

wife  and  mother  of  Jolliet,  who,  with  Marquette,  had  first 
descended  the  Mississippi  from  its  northern  waters.  The 
information  which  he  obtained  confirmed  Phips  in  his  views. 

He,  however,  remained  at  Tadousac  three  weeks,  a  delay 

which  has  not  been  explained,  for  during  this  period  the  wind 
was  favourable.  If  there  was  a  point  on  which  Phips  should 
have  had  no  doubt,  it  was,  that  his  success  depended  on  his 

taking  Quebec  by  surprise,  and  if  he  held  any  hope  of  his 

presence  being  welcome  to  the  Canadians,  it  was  rapidly  dis- 
pelled.   Whenever  a  boat  approached  the  shore,  it  was  received 
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by  a  volley  from  parties  concealed  in  the  bush.  Great  hostility 
was  everywhere  shewn  ;  the  whole  country  was  alive,  and 

prepared  to  resist  the  invaders. 
On  the  morning  of  Monday,  the  i6th  of  October,  the  fleet 

sailed  into  the  basin  in  front  of  Quebec.  Between  nine  and 

ten  o'clock,  a  boat  was  sent  from  the  admiral's  .ship,  bearing  a 
white  flag.  Four  canoes  immediately  left  the  city  to  intercept 
it.  The  boat  carried  a  major,  bearing  a  letter  to  de  Frontenac. 
He  was  taken  on  board  one  of  the  canoes  and  landed  at  the 

wharf,  where  he  was  received  by  Prevost.  The  latter,  placing 

a  bandage  over  the  eyes  of  the  emissary,  conducted  him  to  de 

Frontenac's  presence.  Half  a  century  later,  a  writer*  described 
a  scene  of  the  envoy  being  taken  over  masses  of  rubbish  and 
made  to  ascend  and  descend  obstructions  ;  how  his  passage 

was  rendered  painful  to  him  and  ridiculous  to  the  bystanders, 

the  women  laughing  and  jeering  at  him,  crying  out  that  it  was 

a  game  of  "  Colin-Maillard."  f  The  story  is  not  mentioned 
by  contemporary  French  writers,  and  is  in  itself  incredible. 
There  could  have  been  little  inclination  at  that  trying  hour  for 

iest  and  laughter.  Women  would  not  have  been  allowed  to 

approach  the  escort.  There  was  no  call  for  such  wit,  and  it 
would  have  been  mischievous.  All  men  who  have  served 

know,  that,  where  abatis  are  placed,  some  means  is  left  of 

passing  through  them  with  ease. 

The  envoy  was  led  to  the  Chateau,  and  received  bj*  de 
Frontenac,  surrounded  by  his  staff  The  room  was  crowded 
with  officials  and  the  leading  ecclesiastics  of  the  colony. 

Doubtless  among  them  was  Bishop  dc  Laval,  then  in  Quebec. 

That  hour  of  trial  may  have  done  more  to  change  his  feelings 

towards  his  old  antagonist,  than  years  of  attempted  reconcilia- 
tion. We  may  be  assured,  that  no  one  present  felt  greater 

indignation,  or  was  more  prepared  to  resist  to  the  last  the 
attempt  upon  the  city. 

*  La  Swiir  Juchereau  de  .St.  Ignace.  Histoire  de  I'Hotel  Dieu  de  Quebec. 

Montauhan,  1751,  p.  323.  M.  I'Abbe  Latour  is  known  to  have  corrected  the 
M.S.  of  this  work  :  of  all  writers  in  Canada  the  most  unreliable. 

t  Ulindman's  buff. 
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After  the  usual  courtesies,  the  letter  was  presented  with  due 
politeness.  It  has  been  preserved.  It  recapitulated  that  war 
existed  between  the  two  countries  ;  that  the  attacks  of  the 

French  and  Indians  on  the  inhabitants  of  New  England, 

without  provocation,  had  "  put  them  under  the  necessity  of 

this  expedition  for  their  own  security  and  satisfaction  ;"  that 
there  was  a  desire  to  avoid  shedding  blood.  Phips  concluded 
by  demanding  the  surrender  of  the  fort  and  its  stores,  with 

their  persons,  "  upon  the  doing  whereof  you  may  expect  mercy 
from  me  as  a  Christian,  according  to  what  shall  be  found  for 

their  Majesties'  service  and  the  subjects'  security."  Otherwise, 
he  was  resolved  to  avenge  all  wrongs  by  force  of  arms.  An 
answer  was  demanded  in  an  hour. 

The  paper  was  read  and  translated,  upon  which  the  New 

England  Major  took  a  watch  from  his  pocket.  It  \vas  passed 
to  the  Governor.  De  Frontenac  .scarcely  looked  at  it.  Upon 

which  the  envoy  remarked  that  it  was  now  ten  o'clock,  and 
he  asked  an  answer  to  be  given  by  eleven  precisely.  There 

was  a  general  cry  of  indignation  present,  especially  among 
the  officers  around  dc  Frontenac.  It  was  afterwards  said 

that  some  cried  out  that  Phips  was  a  pirate,  and  that  his 
lieutenant  ought  to  be  hanged.  The  probability  is  against 

the  fact.* 

Dc  Frontenac's  reply  was  in  every  way  characteristic. 
"  I  will  not  make  you  wait  so  long  a  time.  Tell  your 

General,  that  I  in  no  way  recognize  King  William.  The 

Prince  of  Orange  is  an  usurper  who  has  violated  the  most 

sacred  rights  of  blood  in  endeavouring  to  dethrone  his  father- 

in-law.  King  James  is  the  only  sovereign  of  England  whom 
I  recognize.  Your  General  should  in  no  way  feel  surprise  at 

the  warlike  operations  carried  on  against  the  colony  of  Mas.sa- 

*  "The  next  morning,  alter  the  fleet  arrived,  Sir  William  sent  a  summons 
ashore.  If  it  was  too  pompous,  the  answer  was  too  insolent.  The  English  were 

called  heretics  and  told  that  if  it  had  not  been  for  the  revolution,  New  England 

and  Canada  would  have  been  all  one.  The  French  say  the  Major  who  carried 

the  summons  was  threatened  with  a  gibbet  and  had  like  to  have  swooned.  No 

notice  is  taken  of  this  in  the  English  journals,  and  it  is  not  likely  to  be  true." 
Hutchinson  Hist.  Mass.,  1765,  I.,  p.  400. 
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he  might  expect  that  the  King,  my  master,  having  received 
the  King  of  England  under  his  protection,  His  Majesty 

would  order  me  to  carry  the  war  into  those  countries  and 

against  the  peoples,  who  had  revolted  against  their  legitimate 

Prince."  The  Governor-General  paused  and  looked  around 
the  room,  with  his  hand  drawing  attention  to  the  officers 

near  him."  He  continued.  "  Even  should  your  General  have 
offered  me  more  easy  conditions,  and  I  were  ready  to  accept 
them,  does  he  believe  that  so  many  brave  men  would  consent, 
and  would  counsel  me  to  trust  to  the  word  of  a  man,  who  had 

not  observed  the  capitulation,  which  he  had  made  with  the 

Governor  of  Port  Royal  ;  ̂ nd  of  a  rebel  who  was  wanting  in 
fidelity  to  his  legitimate  sovereign,  in  order  to  take  the  side  of 

a  prince,  who,  in  the  effort  to  make  it  appear  that  he  is  desirous 
to  be  the  liberator  of  England,  and  the  defender  of  the  faith, 

destroys  the  laws  and  privileges  of  the  kingdom,  and  over- 
turns the  English  religion  ?  It  is  this  which  the  Divine  justice, 

appealed  to  by  )'our  general  in  his  letter,  will  not  fail  to  punish 

with  severity." 
The  Envoy,  as  is  usual  in  such  cases,  asked  for  the  reply  to 

be  given  in  writing.     De  Frontenac's  answer  was   immediate. 
"  It  is  by  the  cannon's  mouth,  and  by  musket  shot,  that  I 

will  send  my  answer.  It  is  not  by  the  means  which  have 
been  taken  that  a  man  like  myself  is  to  be  summoned.  Let 

him  do  his  best,  as  I  will  do  mine." 
Phips  had  now  to  carry  out  the  threats  which  he  had  made. 

From  a  prisoner,  or  from  a  deserter,  he  had  obtained  intelli- 
gence that  the  town  could  be  attacked  from  the  plains  above, 

and  that  it  was  at  this  point  the  fortifications  could  be  forced. 

The  plan  was  not  entertained.  The  .5ame  spot  was  adopted 

by  Wolfe,  in  1759,  as  the  point  of  attack,  and  it  is  remarkable 
that,  at  the  period  of  the  later  struggle,  the  contingency  was 

not  recollected,  and  more  carefully  guarded  against.* 
It  docs  not  appear  that  any  map  was  possessed  by  Phips,  or 

*  At  thai  date  the  fact  may  only  have  heen  preserved  in  the  New  England 

MS,     Hutchinson's  history  was  not  published  until  six  years  later. 
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that  he  had  any  knowledge  of  the  country.  There  was  no 

plan  of  campaign  ;  and,  excepting  the  slight  provision  of 
bringing  the  Port  Royal  prisoners  as  interpreters,  no  course  of 

action  had  been  determined  as  to  the  mode  of  taking  posses- 
sion of  the  country,  which  the  leader  of  the  expedition  at  one 

time  supposed  he  could  so  easily  conquer.  The  impression  is 
forced  upon  us,  that,  if  at  this  date  Phips  had  succeeded,  he 
would  have  contented  himself  with  plundering  the  town  and 

carrying  back  his  booty  to  Boston  ;  probably  bringing  with 

him  the  principal  personages  as  hostages.  Phips  had  no  deli- 
cate notions  of  the  line  of  conduct,  which  he  ought  to  follow  at 

any  time.  He  was  influential  with  the  lower  stratum  of  the 
population.  The  one  point  to  present  to  them  was  success, 

and  he  was  more  likely  to  be  guided  b)'  the  advantage  which 
any  course  of  action  would  bring  to  himself  and  New  England, 
than  to  consider  with  the  eye  of  a  statesman  the  policy  w  isest  to 
follow.  One  cannot  but  contrast  the  crude,  unformed  theories 

which  prevailed  in  Boston  with  regard  to  this  attempt,  and  the 

clearly  defined  views  of  the  French  Court  with  regard  to  de 

Callicres'  scheme  for  the  conquest  of  New  York.  Louis  would 
have  made  the  country  a  LVench  colony,  at  whatever  cost  of 

life.  He  was  prepared  to  disregard  every  form  of  suffering,  to 
root  out  Protestantism  and  Protestants,  as  had  been  done  in 

France,  and  to  consign  to  misery  all  who  opposed  him.  We 
must,  nevertheless,  concede  that,  whatever  the  character  of  his 

views,  they  were  based  upon  policy.  Phips  had  not  even  a 
plan  of  operations.  His  conduct  throughout  was  marked  by 
irresolution,  and  he  acted  from  hour  to  hour  as  he  held  to  be 

expedient,  trusting  alone  to  chance.  His  dogged,  unflinching 
New  England  courage  was  the  sole  admirable  quality  he 

possessed  ;  and,  whatever  the  faults  of  the  expedition,  it  was 
not  disgraced  by  cowardice :  the  one  word  of  praise  to  be 
said  for  it. 

Many  great  soldiers  have  been  placed  in  positions  of  danger 
and  trial,  and  they  have  called  a  council  of  war  to  discuss  the 

emergency.  Experience  has  shown,  that  it  is  those  only  that 

have  trusted  to  their  own  genius  and  desperate  determina- 

\ 
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[1690 tion,  who  have  risen  superior  to  the  difficulties  which  threat- 
ened their  destruction.  A  council  of  war  may  present  facts 

and  theories  in  a  new  light ;  it  has  rarely  given  a  bold  solution 
to  the  enigma  of  the  hour.  In  such  a  period  of  trial,  true 

genius  asserts  itself,  and  when  the  victory  has  been  achieved, 

it  is  then  understood  what  dangers  have  been  overcome  by 
wisdom  and  fortitude. 

Any  leader  fitted  for  command,  sending  a  declaration 

marked  by  the  insolence  of  that  of  Phips',  would  at  once, 
on  the  defiant  reply  of  dc  Frontenac,  have  taken  steps  to 
shew  that  he  was  a  man  of  action.  IJut  nothing  was  done. 

The  ships  gave  no  sign.  The  one  proceeding  was  that  a  coun- 
cil of  war  sat  to  deliberate  on  the  future.  So  passed  the  day. 
The  discussion  ended  in  the  determination  to  land  a  force 

at  Bcauport.  The  troops  were  to  advance  to  the  Saint 
Charles,  to  ford  the  river  at  low  water,  and  pass  to  the  rear  of 
the  town.  Had  the  attempt  been  made  on  the  receipt  of  de 

Frontcnac's  reply,  there  was  at  least  some  prospect  of  success, 
Quebec  contained  only  the  few  troops  which  had  been  left 

under  the  command  of  Maj(jr  Prevost,  with  a  portion  of  the 

two  or  three  hundred  men  who  had  accompanied  de  Fron- 
tenac. Some  troops  had  been  sent  to  Beaupre,  Bcauport  and 

the  Island  of  Orleans  ;  also  to  Point  Levis,  and  around  these 

detachments  some  habitans  had  gathered.  On  the  day 

previous  to  the  arrival  of  Phips,  Sunday,  the  1 5th,  de  Vau- 
dreuil  had  been  detached  with  one  hundred  men  to  keep  the 

ships  constantly  in  sight,  and  to  give  notice  of  their  arrival. 

He  had  returned  at  three  in  the  morning,  with  the  intelli- 
gence that  the  ships  were  close  at  hand,  his  men  greatly 

harassed. 

noon  of  the  first  day,  and  had 

h  operations,  it  is  by  no  means 
ailed,  although  he  would  have 

l)ponent,  who  would  have  spared 
iicn  would  have  been  inspired  with  the 
lu-ral.     It  was  the  one  chance  which  was 

Had  Phips  made  n  '^T^b he  been  the  mar 

certain  f^tt  h^ 
had  befc         an  i, 

no  effort,     :id  thr 
couratie  of  their 

ird' open  to  Phips  and  he  let  it  escape. 
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On  the  evening  of  that  day  de  Callicres  arrived  with  what 

troops  he  had  been  able  to  collect.  The  force  consisted  of 

eight  hundred  regular  troops,  with  a  large  body  of  volunteers, 
courcurs  dc  bois  and  habitans,  accustomed  to  the  use  of  arms. 

Every  strong  feeling  they  possessed  u  as  appealed  to,  and  all 
were  ready  to  do  their  duty  in  the  struggle. 

Tuesday,  the  17th,  was  stormy.  The  river  was  too  rough 
to  land  the  troops,  and  the  day  was  passed  in  inactivity.  One 
of  the  small  vessels,  with  Captain  Savage,  who  was  second  in 

command  under  VVallcy,  moved  towards  the  licauport  shore 
to  reconnoitre.  The  receding  tide  left  the  vessel  firm  in  the 

mud.  The  troops  from  the  shore  kept  a  continual  fire  on  her, 
and  it  would  have  been  possible  to  board  her  by  wading  to  the 

middle;  but  those  who  were  in  the  vessel  felt  their  desperate 
condition,  and  the  fire  kept  up  by  them  was  so  continuous, 
that  no  such  attempt  was  made.  With  the  tide  she  floated, 

and  returned  in  safety. 

On  Wednesday,  the  i8th,  the  landing  was  made  on  lieau- 

port  shore,  under  Major  W^alley.  The  land  force  of  the  expedi- 
tion* was  between  twelve  hundred  and  thirteen  hundred  men. 

The  embarcation  had  been  watched  from  the  fort,  and  as 
the  destination  of  the  boats  was  understood,  the  Montreal 

and  Three  Rivers  militia  "  considered  the  most  alert,"  with 
some  habitans,  were  sent  forward.  They  were  about  three 

hundred  in  number.  The  ground  was  uneven,  covered  with 

boulders  and  brushwood.  The  men  were  kept  in  small  squads, 

and  fired  on  the  advancing  force.  Eventually  they  were  with- 
drawn, a  battalion  being  advanced  to  cover  their  retreat. 

*  This  amount  is  given  by  Hutchinson,  and  he  had  .^ccess  to  dftici.'vl  docu- 
ments. The  number  is  also  established  by  the  subsequent  pay  rolls  of  the  troops. 

The  force  has  been  stated  by  French  writers  to  be  more  numerous.  De  Monseignat 
speaks  of  two  thousand.  Walley,  in  his  short  memoir,  is  precise  ;  he  writes 

'"between  twelve  and  thirteen  hundred  men."  Writers  of  later  date  need  not  be 
named.  The  landing  was  made  in  order  and  successfully.  Walley  remarks, 

"considering  how  far  many  of  our  vessels  were  from  the  shore,  and  the  helps  we 

had,  never  more  men  were  landed  in  less  time."  The  force  "had  to  wade  up  to 
the  knees  and  to  the  wastes  to  tlie  flats  skirting  the  shore.''  There  was  some 
opposition  to  the  advance,  "from  a  village  over  a  creek  to  the  right,  a  party  gauled 

us  considerably." 
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[1690 Walloy  had  landed  with  order  and  ret];ularity,  his  troops 

wading  throuL,^h  the  slime  of  the  flats.  They  advanced  with 
steadiness,  causin^j  the  skirmishers  to  retire  towards  the  River 
Saint  Charles,  with  the  design  of  fording  it  when  the  signal 

from  the  ships  should  direct  that  movement.  None  being 

given,  the  attempt  was  not  made.  Walley,  accordingly,  com- 
menced to  establish  himself  in  the  neighbourhood,  for  the 

night's  bivouac.  Two-thirds  of  the  force  took  up  their  stand 
by  a  creek,  where  there  was  a  house  and  shelter  ;  the  re- 

mainder were  pushed  on  in  reconnaissance  a  quarter  of  a  mile 
nearer  the  shore,  the  better  to  keep  up  communication 
with  the  vessels.  In  the  house,  the  men,  with  the  hay  and 

straw  found  in  the  barns,  wer-^  in  comfort. 
The  Canadians  lost  two  officers  in  the  skirmish.  Juchcreau 

dc  St.  Denis,  the  Seigneur  of  Beauport,*  in  command  of  the 
militia  of  that  place,  received  a  bullet  by  which  his  arm  was 
broken.  There  were  ten  or  twelve  of  the  force  w  ounded,  one  of 

whom  died.  Walley's  casualties  were  set  down  by  himself  as 
four  killed,  and  about  sixty  wounded.  He  thought  that  he 

had  killed  from  twenty  to  thirty  of  the  Frcnch.-f"  According 
to  the  plan  determined  upon,  the  vessels  wo'e  to  approach  the 
Saint  Charles,  and  under  cover  of  their  fire,  the  /iver  was  to  be 

forded  and  the  attack  made.  Phips  did  not,  however,  bring 

his  ships  before  the  city  until  late  in  the  afternoon.  Three 
vessels  having  guns  of  large  calibre  ranged  thcmseK^.  higher 
up  the  stream,  and  the  firing  commenced.  The  ships  mostly 

directed  their  shot  against  the  upper  town.  The  batteries 

replied.  One  young  man  only  is  named  as  having  been 
killed,  and  at  eight  the  firmg  on  both  sides  ceased, 

Thursday,  the  19th,  found  the  ships  in  the  same  position. 

The  firing  was  commenced  at  early  dawi'  from  the  forts,  and 

*  This  fiimily  still  remains  in  Canad.i.  Its  jircseiit  representative  is  Lieu- 
tenant-Colonel Theodore  Uuchesnay,  of  the  Active  Force,  formerly  of  H.M.  looth 

Regiment. 
t  Tilt  French  account  is  that  Walley's  loss  was  one  hundred  pnd  fifty,  accord- 
ing to  the  report  of  one  of  the  habilans,  who  visited  the  tleld  miring  the  nitjiit. 

The  statement  is  not  substantiated. 
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continued  vigorously.  The  ships  accomplished  nothing. 
There  was  rapid  firing,  but  without  effect.  Many  of  the  shots 

struck  the  rock,  and  so  insufficient  was  the  calibre  of  the  guns 

that,  when  stone  buildings  were  hit,  they  received  but 

little  damage.  On  Friday,  the  20lh,  the  cannonade  was  con- 
tinued. The  lower  town  batteries  of  he.ivy  guns  during 

the  two  days'  fire  caused  great  damage  to  the  ships.  One 

shot  cut  away  the  admiral's  flag-staff,  bearing  his  ensign  of  the 
red  cross.  It  fell  into  the  water,  and  was  drifted  by  the  tide 

to  the  north  shore,  and  taken  possession  of  by  the  I'rcnch. 
The  shot  from  the  heavy  guns  had  told  so  severely  on  the 

ships,  that  they  were  forced  to  retire.  The  Admiral  was  not  the 
first  to  discontinue  the  contest.  One  of  the  large  vessels  above 

the  town  was  compelled  to  haul  off.  Phips'  vessel  shortly 
followed  her  example.  She  cut  away  her  cable,  leaving  her 

anchor  behind.  It  was  the  signal  for  the  remainder  to  aban- 
don their  positions,  and  to  drift  down  with  the  tide  out  of 

range  of  the  shot.     At  five  o'clock  the  firing  had  ceased. 
Walley  had  in  the  meantime  remained  in  the  neighbourhood 

of  the  Saint  Charles.  In  his  report  to  France,  de  Frontenac 

wrote  that  he  endeavoured  to  decoy  him  to  an  assault.  So 

Walley  was  left  untouched.  Dc  I'Vontenac's  own  words  are  : 
"  My  principal  aim  was  to  induce  them  to  cross  a  little  river 
which  they  must  necessarily  pass  to  reach  the  town 

becau.se  I  was  then  putting  it  in  their  rear  .  .  .  and  could 

r-'ach  them  in  order  of  battle,  and  drive  them  to  it  without 
their  being  able  to  reach  their  boats,  left  half  a  league  from  the 

point  at  which  they  woukl  have  crossed,  and  they  would  have 

had  to  wade  knee-deep  in  the  bed  of  the  river."  *  He  pointed 
out  that  by  attacking  them  he  would  have  placed  himself 

at  a  like  disadvantage.  It  was  de  I'Vontenac's  belief  that 
during  the  cannonade,  the  assault  would  have  been  attempted. 

Every  preparation  had  been  made  to  receive  it.  There  were 

now  three  thousand  fighting  men  in  the  city,  one-third  of 
them  regular  troops,  and,  had  Walley  made  the  attempt,  the 
result  must  have  be  m  disastrous.     After  the  first  hours  of 

*  As  translated.     New  York  Docuineiils  1\.,  p.  460. 
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[1690 Monday,  he  could  not  at  any  time  have  made  a  forward 
movement  with  success. 

During  the  attackWalley  had  been  left  in  his  bivouac  uncared 
for.  Indeed,  there  were  no  orders  to  give  him.  The  weather 

was  wet  and  cold,  and  the  small-pox  had  appeared.  The  men 
were  falling  sick,  and  unfit  for  service.  Even  the  necessary 

supplies  were  not  available.  Instructions  had  been  given  for 
provisions  to  be  sent,  but  on  Wednesday  and  Thursday  the 
whole  force  on  the  ships  was  engaged  in  the  cannonade.  On 

Thursday  night  six  field  pieces,  with  ammunition,  were  sent 
on  shore.  As  there  were  no  horses  to  move  them,  they  could 

be  used  only  in  the  spot  where  they  were  landed.  An 
insignificant  quantity  of  biscuit  had  been  sent,  with  sixty 

gallons  of  rum. 
On  the  morning  of  Friday,  the  20th,  Walley  advanced 

nearer  to  the  town.  He  found  buildings  which  furnished 

better  shelter,  and  an  attempt  was  made  to  make  the  place 
defensible.  In  this  emergency,  with  short  rations,  and  without 

orders,  Walley  determined  to  visit  the  Admiral's  ship,  and 
gave  his  lieutenant  orders  to  move  forward  in  the  direction 
of  the  ford. 

The  column  advanced,  and  after  a  time  the  commander 

became  aware,  that  a  force  was  in  position  in  its  front.  The 

attack,  commenced  by  the  French  sharpshooters,  soon  in- 
creased to  a  sharp  skirmish,  in  which  the  New  England 

troops  somewhat  suffered.  On  the  side  of  the  French,  St. 

Helene,  in  command  of  a  Canadian  detachment,  fell  mortally 
wounded.     As  night  came  on  both  sides  withdrew. 

Walley  returned,  having  obtained  permission  to  re-embark 
his  mer  ,  and  on  the  night  of  the  20th  boats  were  sent  from 

the  ships,  but  Walley  was  not  prepared  to  place  his  men  on 
board,  so  the  boats  were  sent  back,  and  the  operation  was 
delayed  until  the  following  night. 

It  was  Saturday,  the  21st.  Now  that  the  cannonade  had 

ceased,  Walley  looked  to  be  attacked,  and  he  took  the  pre- 

ca.'tions  which  the  emergency  suggested.  He  sent  out  three 
companies  to  feel  the  country  lying  before  them.     Meeting  a 
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small  herd  of  cattle,  the  men  killed  some  of  the  animals  and 

cooked  the  carcases.  They  again  advanced,  and  were  met  by 
the  French  pickets,  whose  object  was  to  molest  and  impede 

the  advance,  as  skirmishers  availing  themselves  of  every  pro- 
tection they  could  find.  De  Frontenac  never  risked  his  troops 

unnecessarily.  He  was  not  scrupulous  in  destroying  his 
enemies  ;  his  own  men  he  could  not  replace,  and  the  lives  of 
his  soldiers  had  to  be  cared  for.  His  constant  instructions 

were  not  to  attempt  hazardous  enterprises.  His  parties  were 

to  harass,  to  devastate,  to  destroy,  but  not  to  risk  defeat. 
The  first  condition  of  attack  was,  that  a  favourable  occasion 

of  making  it  should  be  sought,  and  the  enemy  taken  by  sur- 

prise. This  policy  was  fully  apparent  during  Phips'  abortive 
attempt.  De  Frontenac  desired  to  drive  away  the  expedition, 
but  with  as  little  loss  to  the  French  as  possible.  He  would 

risk  nothing  ;  he  had  certainly  twenty-seven  hundred  men. 
The  New  England  forces,  landed  on  the  Beauport  shore,  were 

suffering  from  cold,  many  from  sickness,  disheartened,  ill-fed. 
There  is  no  doubt  de  Frontenac  over  estimated  their  num- 

bers, and  writers  of  that  date  speak  of  them,  as  from  two  to 

three  thousand.  Phips  himself  was  still  a  formidable  enemy; 

he  had  hauled  off  to  refit  and  repair  damages.  His  firing 
had  been  ridiculously  ineffective.  Nevertheless,  he  might 
return  the  next  day,  and  place  his  vessels  in  a  position  nearer 
tlic  city,  and  again  attempt  a  more  effective  attack.  De 

Frontenac  countenanced  no  effort  at  Beauport  beyond  check- 

ing Walley's  advance.  His  policy  was  to  wait  for  an  im- 
prudent attack  made  west  of  the  Saint  Charles  River,  while 

he  patiently  made  his  dispositions  to  annihilate  those  who 
should  attempt  it. 

As  evening  approached,  Wallej'  retired  to  make  prepara- 
tions to  re-embark.  He  had  sent  the  boats  back  on  the  night 

of  the  20th,  because  he  feared  that  he  might  be  surprised  by 
the  early  dawn ;  and  that  from  want  of  proper  arrangement  the 
men  would  .so  crowd  together,  as  to  lead  to  some  unfortunate 

result.  During  the  day  he  had  kept  his  position,  sending  out 

scouts  to  watch  the  enemy.     He  records  that  in  these  opera- 
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[1690 tions  four  men  were  wounded,  one  of  whom  died,  and  that  a 

drummer  left  his  drum  on  the  field.  As  evening  came  on, 

the  advanced  parties  were  withdrawn,  ai  J  the  troops  retreated 

to  the  river,  when  the  re-embarkation  took  place.  Several  of 
the  houses  and  barns  were  fired.  There  was  great  irregu- 

larity in  returning  to  the  ships.  Walley  tells  us  that  he  did 
his  best  to  establish  order.  The  sailors  in  the  boats  refused 

to  take  any  but  the  men  who  belonged  to  their  own  vessels, 
while  the  men,  wearied,  discouraged,  without  rations,  pressed 
forward  to  enter  the  first  boats  available.  Finally,  all  the 

men  found  place  in  the  boats,  but  the  guns  were  left  behind. 
With  precaution  and  efiort  they  could  have  been  brought 

away,  for  there  was  no  attempt  to  disturb  the  embarkation. 
Instructions  were  given  to  the  master  gunner  to  see  to  their 

transport,  but  he  neglected  his  orders. 
The  want  of  attention  to  a  matter  so  slight  and  so  easy  of 

accomplishment,  establishes  the  depression  felt  on  the  ships 
being  regained  ;  it  must  have  been  extreme,  for  no  one 

intervened  to  prevent  these  trophies  falling  into  the  enemies' 

hands.* Phips  again  shewed  his  want  of  resource,  and  how  destitute 
he  was  of  the  ability  called  for  in  these  trying  circumstances. 

He  fell  back  on  the  panacea  he  resorted  to  in  every  difficulty. 
He  called  a  council  of  war.  It  was  resolved,  that  another 

landing  should  be  attempted  after  a  few  hours'  rest.  But  the 
weather  was  against  the  scheme,  if  it  ever  was  seriously  enter- 

tained. Quebec  remained  in  doubt  and  anxiety  for  forty-eight 
hours,  when  Phips  floated  down  with  the  tide  about  four 

leagues  below  the  Island  of  Orleans.  He  there  repaired  his 

vessels.  As  he  was  preparing  to  leave,  one  of  his  prisoners, 
Madame  de  la  Lande,  asked  if  he  desired  to  take  her  captive 
to  Boston,  and  proposed  that  there  should  be  an  exchange  of 

•  Walley  thus  sums  the  causes  of  unsuccess  : 

"  The  land  army's  failing,  the  enemy's  too  timely  intelligence,  lyeing  3  weeks 
within  3  ilays'  sail  of  the  place,  by  reason  whereof  they  had  opportunity  to  bring 
in  the  whole  strength  of  their  country,  the  shortness  of  our  ammunition,  our  late 
setting  out,  our  long  passidge,  and  many  sick  in  the  army  ;  these  may  be  reckoned 

as  some  of  the  reasons  of  our  disappointment." 
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prisoners.  There  were  sixteen  prisoners  in  all  ;  Madame 

Jolliet  and  her  mother,  Madame  de  la  Lande,  with  the  crew  of 
the  vessel,  Grandville  and  his  men,  the  priest  Father  Trouve, 

taken  at  Port  Royal  with  other  Acadians.  Madame  de  la 

Lande  was  sent  on  parole  to  propose  the  exchange.  The  offer 

was  accepted.  The  English  prisoners  were  women  and  chil- 
dren, including  the  two  daughters  of  Clarke,  killed  at  Casco, 

and  Captain  Sylvester  Davis,  who  had  been  brought  prisoner 
from  that  place. 

This  rescue  of  women  and  children  from  captivity  consti- 
tuted the  one  honourable  feature  in  the  expedition.  Their 

limited  number  revealed  the  painful  fact,  that  the  prisoners 
carried  off  from  Salmon  Falls  and  Fort  Loyall,  had  been 

murdered,  or  were  kept  in  captivity  by  the  Indians.  They 
had  never  reached  Quebec,  and  had  therefore  been  left  to 
the  mercy  of  the  Abenakis.  But  few  months  had  passed 
since  the  events  had  taken  place.  The  fact  that  of  the  many 

prisoners  made,  the  few  specified  alone  remained,  is  undenia- 
ble proof,  that  those  who  were  missing  had  been  abandoned 

to  the  Indians.  It  cannot  be  set  aside,  but  must  remain 

with  its  indelible  disgrace. 

The  exchange  made,  the  New  England  fleet  sailed  away. 

Some  anxiety  was  felt  with  regard  to  the  three  French 

ships  k»own  to  be  ascending  the  Saint  Lawrence.  They  had, 

however,  been  notified  of  the  presence  of  Phips'  ships,  and 
for  safety  had  sailed  up  the  Saguenay.  They  were  seen 

by  Phips,  but  fog  and  snow  storms,  joined  to  the  lateness  of 
the  season,  prevented  him  from  seizing  them.  After  five 

days'  attempt  to  reach  them,  he  sailed  away. 
They  arrived  at  Quebec  safely  on  the  15th  and  17th  of 

November.  They  were  the  "  Saint  F'ran^ois  Xavier,"  the 
"  Fleur  de  Mai,"  and  the  "  Gloricux."  They  brought  the 
annual  supplies  to  the  colony  and  a  large  amount  of  money, 
and  would  have  proved  a  rich  prize  to  Phips,  had  they  been 
taken. 

Late  as  the  season  was,  one  of  the  vessels  returned  to 

France  to  carry  the  intelligence  of  Phips'  discomfiture. 
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CHAPTER  IV. 

The  news  came  with  redoubled  force  to  Versailles,  accom- 

panied with  de  Frontenac's  assertion,  that  the  conquest  of 
Boston  and  New  York  was  indispensable  to  the  success  of 

French  rule  in  Ameri(  i.  What  gave  this  feeling  greater 
weight,  was  the  sea  fight  of  the  previous  29th  of  June,  when 

de  Tourville  had  successfully  engaged  the  luiglish  and  Dutch 
fleets  off  Beachy  Head.  Evcrtsen,  the  Dutch  Admiral,  fought 

with  singular  gallantry  and  courage  ;  the  English  imperfectly 
and  without  honour.  The  Dutch,  unsupported  by  their  allies, 
had  to  withdraw,  and  the  fleets  retreated  along  the  southern 

coast.  Had  the  French  Admiral  shown  more  enterprise  in 

following  up  his  advantage,  it  was  possible  that  he  might  have 
inflicted  serious  damage  on  the  fleets.  The  English  ships, 

however,  liad  been  engaged  in  so  limited  a  degree,  that  had 

the  attempt  been  made,  the  fleet  might  have  retrieved  its 
honour,  tarnished  in  this  action  owing  to  the  imbecility  and 

the  want  of  good  faith  of  the  English  Admiral.  The  news 

of  Phips'  repulse  before  Quebec,  therefore  gave  the  more 
intense  satisfaction  to  the  French  Court.  For  a  few  weeks 

Louis  had  the  right  to  believe,  that  the  English  sailors  were 

no  longer  what  they  had  been,  and  that  the  hour  had  come 
for  him  to  be  dominant  on  the  ocean,  as  he  was  powerful  on 
land. 

At  Quebec  all  was  joy  and  congratulation.  Although,  as 

we  read  the  events  to-day,  it  is  evident,  with  the  dispositions 
taken  by  de  Frontenac,  that  Phips  had  little  chance  of  success, 
and  that  his  attack  was  deficient  in  every  element  of  conduct 

excepting  courage,  in  the  city  the  feeling  was  general,  that  a 
great  peril  had  been  averted.  It  was  felt  that  there  had  been 
an  escape  from  surprise,  when  the  place  was  without  troops, 

and  with  only  insufficient  means  of  defence.     Even  when  the 
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force  was  gathered  together,  there  was  an  inadequate  supply 
of  provisions  to  meet  the  emergencies  of  a  siege.  To  the 
authorities  and  to  the  inhabitants,  the  week  must  have  been 

one  of  intense  anxiety  ;  and  with  the  prospect  of  the  continu- 
ance of  the  attack,  there  must  have  been  grave  and  an.xious 

forebodings.  The  lower  town  had  been  abandoned,  except 
by  its  defenders.  The  upper  town  was  crowded  with  the 
women  and  children,  and  with  men  from  the  adjoining 

country.  According  to  a  narrative  of  the  day,*  hunger  had 
already  commenced  to  be  sensibly  felt.  Every  thing  in  the 

shape  of  food  was  brought  into  requisition,  and  to  a  great 
extent,  consumed.  There  was  also  a  deficiency  of  wood. 

Little  damage  was  cau.sed  by  the  artillery  of  Phips  ;  the 

population,  as  usual,  proceeded  to  church  during  the  bom- 
bardment, to  offer  fervent  prayers  for  deliverance.  The 

anxiety,  however,  was  not  of  long  duration,  and  with  the 
exchange  of  the  captives  disappeared. 

Unrestrained  rejoicing,  gratulation,  bonfires,  and  public 
processions  followed.  Heaven  was  believed  especially  to 

have  protected  the  true  faith,  and  to  have  scattered  the  here- 
tics in  confusion.  The  Virgin  was  held  to  have  wrought  the 

miracle,  and  became  the  object  of  special  adoration.  Her 

image  was  solemnly  carried  the  round  of  the  ;,i  itches.  The 

flag  of  Phips,  picked  up  from  a  canoe,  with  tin  r'ag  brought 

by  de  Portneuf  in  his  capture  of  P'ort  Loyall,  when  the 
prisoners  were  abandoned  to  the  Indians,  were  solemnly  hung 

up  in  the  Cathedral,  and  a  "  Te  Dcum  "  sung  with  all  the 
pomp  of  which  the  service  of  the  Roman  Catholic  Chu/ch 

is  capable.  Fe/ix  de  joie  of  musketrj'  were  fired.  Cannon 
rc-cchoctl  the  triumph.  Among  the  frequent  reports,  was 
prominently  heard  the  repealed  discharge  of  the  five  pieces, 
left  behind  at  Reauport,  as  if  taking  part  in  the  common  joy 

at  the  defeat  of  the  force  to  which  they  had  belonged. 

One  monument  of  this  feeling  remains  to  this  day  :  the 

church  in  the  lower  town  of  Quebec  known  as  Notre  Dame 

*  Lfs  Ursuliiies  lie  Quebec  I.,  p.  469.  Narrative  of  .in  Ursuline  nun,  describ- 
ing the  events  of  the  siege  os  experienced  in  the  convent. 
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[1690 des  Victoires,  in  the  old  Market  Square.  It  had  been  com- 
menced some  years  previously  on  the  site  of  an  old  warehouse 

of  the  Company  of  the  "  Cent  Associes."  The  proposal  was 
made  to  complete  it  by  subscription,  and  to  dedicate  it  for 

ever  as  a  memorial  of  the  protection  of  Heaven.  In  record- 

ing the  fact,  de  Monscignat  adds,  "  had  the  enemy  used  as 
much  diligence  as  they  might  have  done,  and  had  they  not 

been  detained  by  the  winds,  they  would  have  arrived  at  Que- 
bec to  have  taken  the  city  unprepared,  and  would  certainly 

have  overpowered  it,  as  the  place  w^as  unprovided  with  any 
force."  To  this  remark  the  historian  must  add,  other  conditions 
were  essential.  The  attacking  force  should  have  been  com- 

manded by  a  more  capable  leader,  and  the  rude  elements  of 
which  it  was  composed,  required  to  be  cemented  by  discipline, 

and  its  courage  directed  and  made  efficient  by  able  officers.* 
The  discomfiture  of  Phips  was  continued  by  the  elements. 

The  weather  became  unusually  stormy,  and  the  season  was 

marked  by  a  severity  of  temperature  not  generally  experienced 
until  a  later  date.  The  fleet  was  scattered  by  tempests  ;  some 
of  the  ships  were  driven  to  the  West  Indies,  one  vessel  was 
wrecked  on  Anticosti,  two  of  them  were  never  heard  of 

Small-pox  broke  out  among  many  of  the  crews,  while  fever 
added  its  desolating  influence.  The  loss  of  life  was  serious, 
and  the  number  of  deaths  has  been  stated  at  two  hundred. 

Phips  sailed  to  Boston  himself  to  bring  the  news  of  his 

defeat.  The  government  was  entirely  unprepared  for  so 
disastrous  a  return  of  the  force.  There  never  had  been  the 

slightest  doubt  of  the  success  of  the  expedition,  and  as  the 

prevalent  opinion  had  been  that  the  "  enemy's  treasure  "  would 
pay  the  cost  of  its  equipment,  so  its  failure  and  repulse 
caused  the  most  bitter  disappointment. 

*  Wlialever  shortcoininys  .are  lr.iceal>le  in  I'liips  as  leader  of  the  expedition, 
his  qualities  as  a  sailor  stand  in  marked  contrast  to  the  want  of  professional 
capacity  shewn  by  the  incompetent  Sir  Hovenden  Walker  in  the  unfortunate 
expedition  of  171 1.  Phips,  unacquainted  with  the  navigation  of  the  river,  without 
pilots,  carried  his  ships  safely  up  the  Saint  Lawrence,  and  brought  them  safely 
back.  The  losses,  subsequently  experienced,  were  owing  to  the  great  gales  which 

met  the  vessels  on  their  return.  It  is  impossible  not  to  recognize  I'hips'  excellent 
seamanship  on  the  occasion,  while  his  courage  was  unquestionable. 
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The  soldiers,  who  remained  unpaid  and  were  disbanded, 

were  ready  for  mutiny.  It  was  not  possible  to  borrow  the 

money  required,  or  to  levy  it  by  tax,  in  time  to  satisfy  the  men, 
impatient  to  receive  it.  Massachusetts  had,  therefore,  recourse 

to  "the  first  bills  of  credit  ever  issued  in  the  colonies  as  a 

substitute  in  the  place  of  money."  The  notes  ranged  from 
two  shillings  to  ten  pounds.  Although  taken  for  taxes  by 
the  State,  the  notes  would  not  pass,  even  from  the  first,  at 
face  value.  Phips  is  said  to  have  exchanged  a  large  sum 

at  par  to  give  them  currency.  Nevertheless,  the  soldiers 
could  obtain  for  them  only  from  twelve  to  fourteen  shillings  in 

the  pound,  a  discount  of  more  than  one-third.  As  the  period 
for  the  payment  of  taxes  drew  near,  the  value  of  the  notes 
advanced.  The  government  eventually  allowed  a  premium  of 
five  percent,  to  tho.se  paying  their  taxes  in  notes,  so  for  that 

purpose  the  is.suc  obtained  a  higher  value  than  specie,  an  ad- 

vantage in  no  way  benefitting  the  original  holder,  the  soldier.* 
Sir  William  Phips,  after  remaining  a  few  weeks  at  Boston, 

proceeded  to  England  to  appeal  to  the  Government  to  under- 
take a  well  organized  expedition  against  Canada,  and  the 

Massachu.sctts  Council  entrusted  to  him  an  address,  in  which 

they  dwelt  upon  the  urgent  necessity  of  persevering  in  an 

aggressive  policy. 

The  winter  in  Canada  which  followed  Phips'  attack  was 
one  of  privation.  The  tillage  of  the  country  had  not  been 
equal  to  its  necessities,  for  the  Iroquois  attacks  had  made  it  a 

matter  of  danger  to  work  in  the  fields,  and  the  crops  had 

been  limited.  The  provisions  which  had  reached  Quebec  by 
the  autumn  vessels,  had  not  been  sufficient  for  the  public 

requirements  ;  several  ships  having  been  taken  at  the  mouth 

of  the  Gulf  by  the  English  war  vessels  and  privateers.  Owing 
to  the  shortness  of  provisions,  the  troops  were,  to  a  great 

extent,  quartered  upon  the  inhabitants.  During  the  winter,  on 
both  siaes,  there  was  a  cessation  of  hostilities.     The  expedition 

*  It. was  the  commencement  of  a  regular  issue  of  such  bills,  continued  until 
1749,  when  the  system  w.as  abolished.  Hutchinson  at  that  date  saw  a  five  shilling 
note  of  1690,  and  its  value  was  eight  pence. 
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af^ainst  Quebec,  with  Schuyler's  advance  from  Albany  to 
Canadian  territory,  imperfect  as  the  attempt  was,  conveyed 

an  idea  of  the  power  of  the  Knjjlish  Colonies,  which  de  Fron- 
tenac  could  not  but  recognise.  At  least,  it  shewed  that  on 

the  Hudson  they  were  prepared  for  hostilities,  and  that  the 
frontier  of  New  York  was  not  as  accessible  to  Indian  attack 

as  that  of  New  Eni^land. 

In  Canada,  April  is  the  period  when  winter  passes  away. 

Fre(iuently  sprinj,^  moves  forward  with  rapidity,  for  all  traces 
of  snow  and  cold  at  once  disappear,  and  it  was  at  this  season 
that  the  Indian  winter  huntinj^  parties  were  broken  up,  and 

the  tribe  leathered  together.  In  this  year  the  Iroquois  had 
established  themselves  on  the  waters  of  the  River  Ottawa, 

where  the  stream  divides  itself  to  wind  round  Isle  Jesus  and 
the  Island  of  Montreal.  From  this  camp  parties  were  sent  out 

to  ravage  the  country.  Point-aux-Trembles,  ten  miles  below 
Montreal,  was  one  of  the  places  first  attacked,  thirty  houses 
were  burned,  and  such  of  the  inhabitants  as  fell  into  the  power 
of  the  Iroquois  were  killed.  The  mission  at  the  foot  of  the 

mountain,  north  of  Montreal,  was  assailed,  and  thirty-five  of 
the  Christian  Indians  carried  away  captives.  At  Repentigny, 

to  the  north  of  Isle  Jesus,  the  Iroquois  experienced  a  serious 
check.  On  the  news  of  these  outrages,  dc  Vaudrcuil  gathered 

together  a  party  of  one  hundred  and  twenty  men,  and 

patrolled  the  country  in  order  to  defend  it  f''om  such  assaults. 
The  scouts  he  had  sent  out,  shortly  returned  A'ith  the  news  of 
the  presence  of  a  band  of  Iroquois,  upon  wliich  the  French 

cautiously  advanced  in  canoes  to  the  plarc  where  the  Indians 
were  reported  to  be.  The  spot  was  one  where  many  waters 
meet  around  the  islands,  and  approach  to  it  was  not  difficult: 

at  one  in  the  morning  the  French  landed,  and  silcntK-  pro- 
ceeded to  the  attack.  The  Iroquois  were  off  their  guard; 

some  of  them  were  in  the  house  which  they  had  seized,  others 

lay  on  the  ground  outside  of  it.  At  that  season  of  the  year 

fires  must  have  been  burning,  and,  some  twenty  paces  from 
the  door,  the  Indians,  wrapped  in  their  blankets  and  furs, 

were  sleeping  around  them.     De  Vaudreuil's  party  crept  up  as 
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close  to  the  place  as  they  prudently  could,  and  deliberately 
fired.  Every  Iroquois  was  killed.  The  alarm  thus  ̂ iven, 

those  within  the  house  prepared  immediately  for  defence. 
Three  of  them  rushed  out,  but  no  sooner  appeared  than  they 

were  shot  dead.  The  remainder  kept  up  a  fire  from  the  win- 
dows. It  was  determined  to  burn  the  house,  which  was 

thatched.  In  the  .ittack,  de  Bienville,  a  son  of  Le  Moyne, 
was  killed,  with  four  of  the  Canadians.  The  flames  rapidly 
increa.sed,  and,  when  the  house  became  no  lonjjer  tenable 

those  within  it  made  a  desperate  rush  to  break  through  the 

attacking  lines.  One  only  succeeded.  Five  were  taken  pri- 

soner; the  remainder  were  killed.  Of  the  party,  or'-^inally 
forty  in  number,  one  only  found  his  way  back  to  his  tribe  to 
tell  the  story.  Of  the  prisoners,  one  was  burned  at  the  place 
where  he  was  taken  ;  one  sent  to  Point  nux  Trembles,  the 

scene  of  the  late  outrage  ;  one  to  Bouchcrville  to  suffer  the 
same  fate  ;  one  was  given  to  the  Ottawas,  and  one  to  the 
Sault  Indians,  as  slaves. 

In  the  middle  of  June,  do  Cuurtemanche  returned  from  an 

expedition  to  Michilim.ackinac.  He  had  been  sent  by  de 
Frontcnac  to  the  Indians  of  the  upper  lakes,  to  relate  the 

impotent  attempt  of  Phips  on  Quebec.  His  mission  had  been 
to  convey  a  sense  of  French  power,  and  to  create  the  feeling 
that  it  was  the  interest  of  the  Ottawas  and  Hurons  to  adhere 

to  P" ranee.  He  had  e.xhorted  them  not  to  cease  in  their 
attacks  on  the  Iroquois,  and  had  received  their  assurance,  that 
their  parties  had  continuously  harassed  the  Senecas  in  their 

hunting  and  fishing  grounds.      Mis  mission  was  successful. 

On  their  side  the  Irotjuois  lost  no  opportunity  in  endeav- 
ouring to  detach  the  Indians  of  the  Sault  above  Montreal 

from  the  French  interest.  They  called  on  Atoriata,  to  whom 

the  King  had  stood  god-father,  to  return,  and  also  on  Taniour- 
atoua,  of  the  Mountain  bourgade,  threatening  them  with 

vengeance  if  they  failed  to  do  so.  Their  appeal  was  reported 

to  the  P'rench.  Their  inroads  were  also  continued,  but  on  no 
large  scale.  Their  attacks  were  made  on  dwellings  which 
their  small  parties  could  surprise,  and  where  opposition  was 

f         \ 
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unlookcd  for:  the  unfortunate  inmates  were  killed  or  made 

prisoners,  and  much  trouble  was  caused. 

On  the  1st  of  July,  1691,  the  fri^^ate  "ieSoleil  d'Afrique  " 
arrived.  She  had  cleared  the  entrance  of  the  river  of  the 

privateers  which  had  been  cruising  in  search  of  prizes,  and 

twelve  days  afterwards  the  fleet  of  du  Tast,  consisting  of  six- 
teen vessels,  reached  Quebec.  The  country  had  seriously 

suffered  from  the  extreme  scarcity  of  provisions.  The  people 

were  represented  to  the  King  as  being  in  the  greatest 

poverty :  in  consequence  of  the  war  the  cost  of  living  had  so 
increased,  that,  in  some  instances,  families  were  without 

bread,  and  the  distress  had  caused  many  to  crowd  into  the 
towns.  The  fear  likewise  remained  that  another  attack 

would  be  made  from  New  England,  and  the  experience  of  the 

past  year  be  repeated. 
The  appearance  of  these  vessels  gave  new  heart  to  Canada ; 

and  at  the  same  time,  some  Seneca  canoes  arrived  bringing 

sixteen  chiefs.  They  had  proceeded  to  Montreal  in  the  hope 
of  finding  de  Frontenac,  but  failing  to  do  so,  descended  to 

Quebec.  Their  object  was  to  obtain  the  necessaries  they 
required,  but  they  were  dissatisfied  with  the  high  prices  asked, 
and  were  desirous  that  they  should  be  reduced.  They  were 

hospitably  entertained,  and  were  impressed  by  what  they  saw. 

The  ships,  the  movement  of  the  sailors,  the  roar  of  the  can- 
non, the  bonfires,  the  illuminations,  the  /eux  de  Joie,  and  the 

general  rejoicing,  much  astonished  them.  News  had  ar- 
rived of  the  capture  of  Mons,  and  the  event  was  celebrated 

by  de  Frontenac  with  difete.  Thirty  of  the  handsomest  women 
in  Quebec  were  desired  to  shew  all  possible  courtesy  to  the 

Senecas,  and  what  particularly  struck  the  chiefs,  was  the 
varied  colour  of  the  glasses  in  which  refreshments  were 

offered.  Every  effort  was  made  to  awaken  feelings  of  friend- 
liness, and  they  were  dismissed  with  presents,  and  many 

marks  of  attention. 

The  fears  with  regard  to  a  repetition  of  the  events  of  1690, 

were  not  entirely  groundless,  although  the  operations  were 

not  of  a  character  to  threaten  serious  disaster.    They  degener- 
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ated  into  a  mere  raid,  as  if  in  retaliation  for  the  destruction 

of  Schenectady,  for  no  political  result  could  have  been  looked 
for  from  the  expedition.  The  enterprise  was  determined 

upon  at  Albany,  and  an  envoy  was  sent  to  the  Iroquois,  ask- 
in^'  them  to  take  part  in  it.  The  Irociuois  complained,  that 
it  was  they  who  hitherto  had  been  led  into  danger,  and  they 

plainly  told  the  envoy  that  the  time  had  come  when  the 

Elnj^lish  should  take  the  foremost  place,  and  if  they  went 

forward  the  Iroquois  would  follow  them.  The  profframme 
of  the  ex[)cdition  was  laid  down,  that  the  English  force  should 

advance  by  Lake  Champlain,  the  more  western  tribes  de- 
scending the  Saint  Lawrence.  Events  so  happened  that  the 

latter  part  of  the  programme  could  not  be  carried  out.  Major 

Peter  Schuyler,  then  Mayor  of  Albany,  was  placed  in  com- 
mand. John  Schuyler  had  led  the  attack  of  the  previous 

year.  His  force  consisted  of  one  hundred  and  twenty  luiglish 

and  Dutch,  with  one  hundred  and  forty-six  Mohawks  and 

Mohcgans  ;  *  they  foUowcil  the  route  so  often  described,  by 
Lake  Champlain,  and  reached  the  head  of  the  first  rapids  of  the 

Richelieu,  the  site  of  the  town  of  Saint  John's,  The  advance  of 
the  Albany  party  had  become  known  in  Canada.  Dc  Hertel, 
with  some  Indians,  scouting  along  the  Richelieu,  had  seized 
a  Mohawk,  from  whom  he  learned  that  the  expedition  had 

started.  De  Calliercs  immediately  sent  a  force  of  soldiers  and 
militia  from  Montreal  to  Chambly,  under  command  of  de 

Valrenne.  It  consisted  of  one  hundred  and  eightyi*  Erench 
and  Canadians,  with  about  one  hundred  and  twenty  Indians, 

and  orders  were  given  to  impede  the  advance  of  the  enemy. 
De  Callieres  was  of  opinion  that,  if  the  English  did  not  march 

on  Chambly,  an  attempt  would  be  made  on  Laprairie. 
De  Callieres  had  taken  post  at  the  latter  place  with  from 

seven  to  eight  hundred  men,  occupying  the  fort  and  the  country 

*  Major  Peter  Schuyler's  Journal  of  his  Expedition  to  Canada.  Col.  Doc, 
N.Y.,  III.,  p.  800, 

t  A  contemporary  writer  states  the  force  at  three  hundred.  "  II  en  envoya 
un  detachement  de  trois  cents  tant  soldats,  Canadiens,  et  sauvages,  commandes 

par  M.  de  Vallerenne."  Recueil  de  ce  qui  s'est  passe  en  Canada  .  .  .  . 
depuis  I'annee  1682,  p.  42. 
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adjoining.  Not  far  from  hi.s  encampment,  there  was  a  small 
stream  of  water,  on  which  a  mill  stood.  Here,  the  militia 

were  posted  with  some  Ottawa  Indians,  but  they  weie  not 

provided  with  tents.  The  regular  troops  were  quartered  at 
the  fort.  De  Callieres  at  the  time  \s  suffering  from  lever, 
and  was  confined  to  his  bed. 

On  the  evening  of  the  loth  of  August  it  commenced  to 
rain.  The  night  v,  us,  dark.  The  militia  had  piled  arms,  and, 

for  the  most  part,  sought  in  the  mill  protection  from  the 

weather.  There  was  but  an  imperfect  watch  kept.  De  Bel- 
mont says  that,  including  the  habitants  who  were  assembled 

on  the  opposite  side  of  the  fort,  twelve  hundred  men  were 
present.  Had  there  been  the  least  caution,  such  a  surprise  as 
followed  would  have  been  impossible.  We  are  told  that  the 

sentry  was  sleeping,  and  that  a  great  deal  of  brandy  had  been 

drunk.*  Just  before  dawn,  the  Indians  forming  the  advance 
guard  of  Schuyler  came  upon  the  sleeping  Canadians.  Kill- 

ing the  .sentinel,  they  rushed  forward  upon  the  militia,  A 
general  attack  followed,  when  the  militia  were  driven  back 

into  the  fort.  On  this  alarm,  a  sortie  was  vigorously  made  with 

the  troops  which  could  be  rallied.  Three  superior  officers 

were  immediatcl}^  placed  hors  de  combat:  St.  Cirq.who  was  mor- 

tally w  ounded,  to  die  in  a  few  hours ;  d'Hosta,  who  was  killed ; 
and  d'Escairac,  who  died  the  following  day  :  u'ith  fifty  men 
killed  and  wounded.  Another  detachment  was  equally  unfor- 

tunate, one  of  those  in  command,  Captain  Domergue,  and 
twelve  men,  were  killed.  The  troops  made  another  attack, 

which  Schuyler  repulsed.  Seeing  that  the  force  was  greatly 

in  excess  of  his  own,  and  that  no  permanent  advantage  could 
be  hoped  for,  he  withdrew  ;  his  retreat  from  Laprairie  being 

unmolested.  As  he  retired  Schuyler  destroyed  the  crops  as 

far  as  he  was  able,  and  he  was  engaged  in  this  effort,  when  a 
scout  arrived  to  inform  him  of  his  own  peril.  His  loss  up  to 
that  time  had  been  five  killed  and  thirty  wounded. 

De  Valrennc  had  received  orders,  if  Schuyler  did  not  pro- 
ceed by  way  of  Chambly,  but  should  advance  on  Laprairie, 

•  Ue  Uelmont. 
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to  follow  in  Schuyler's  rear,  so  that  the  English  force 
would  be  taken  between  the  two  detachments.  The  French 

scouts,  some  hours  after  Schuyler  started,  had  given  in- 
formation of  his  movements.  De  Valrennc  lost  v.o  time  in 

following  the  English  trail.  There  was  a  road  from  Montreal 
to  Chambly,  which  had  been  opened  by  de  Courcelles,  easily 

travelled.  The  country  between  Chambly  and  Laprairie, 
except  in  their  inimcdiate  neighbourhoods,  was  for  the  most 

part  uncleared  forest ,  but  there  was  a  trail  between  the  two 

places,  along  which  surprise  was  easy.  Schuyler  marched  as 
hastily  as  he  could  with  caution  ;  the  scouts  sent  out  by  him 
soon  met  those  of  de  Valrenne,  and  their  cries  denoted  that 

the  forces  were  face  to  face.  De  Valrenne,  with  much  judg- 
ment, had  taken  a  position  on  a  slight  ascent  on  w  hich  several 

fallen  trees  were  available  as  abatis,  to  gi^f  the  place  the 
character  of  an  entrenchment.  Schuyler,  not  believing  that 

there  was  so  strong  a  force  in  his  front,  clashed  at  the  [position. 

The  French,  protected  b}- the  trees  and  partially  concealed  by 
the  thick  bush,  received  the  English  with  a  volley  at  close 

range,  which  told  with  deadly  effect.  Their  o\\  n  attack  made 

but  little  impression,  the  French,  on  their  approach,  having 
thrown  themselves  on  the  ground,  but  Le  I3er  du  Chesne,  in 
command  of  the  Canadians,  fell  mortally  wounded.  The 

English  again  desperately  charged  the  French,  to  force  them 

from  their  cover,  and,  after  a  stout  resistance,  the  French  gave 

way  and  abandoned  their  temporary-  entrenchment.  The 
combat  was  now  continued  on  both  sides  with  a  determination 

seldom  recorded  in  Canadian  history.  The  ground  was  fought 

for  inch  by  inch.  De  Frontenac  reported  it  as  the  most  hotly 

contested  affair  which  he  had  known.*  The  English  were  in 
desperate  position ;  to  be  driven  back,  and  be  taken  in  rear  by 
the  Laprairie  garrison,  was  po.ssibly  extermination  ;  and  in 
front  they  had  to  battle  with  the  obstacle  before  them  in 

the  form  of  the  opposing  force.  The  effort  of  the  French 

was  to  hold  them  where  they  were,  until  Schuyler's  rear  would 

*  "  Depuis  I'l'lablif^sement  ile  la  coloi.ie  il  ne  s'est  lien  passe  en  Canada  d'aussi 
fort  ni  de  si  vigouicux."     M.  de  Frontenac  au  Ministre.     20  octobre,  1691. 
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be  assailed ;  or  to  drive  the  invaders  back  to  Laprairie, 
scattered  before  the  Canadian  advance.  Some  of  the  Mohecjan 

Indians  fled.  The  English  and  the  Mohawks  desperately 

continued  the  contest.  Before  the  attack,  Schuyler's  men  had 
disencumbered  themselves  of  their  knapsacks,  in  order  to  fight 

more  freely.  At  length  the  English  broke  through  the  French, 

and,  facing  about,  charged  upon  them,  and  were  able  to  prevent 

pursuit*  They  continued  their  march,  carrying  their  wounded 
with  them,  the  French  not  undertaking  to  disturb  them  ;  but 

the  knapsacks  and  one  flag  remained  behind  in  the  hands  of 
the  French  as  a  memento  of  the  struggle.  The  English  left 

forty-three  dead  on  the  field.  Schuyler's  report  of  the  missing 
men  is  twenty-one  whites,  sixteen  Mohawks,  and  six  Mohegans. 

Schuyler  had  left  twcnty-seven  men  to  guard  his  canoes, 
which  he  reached  without  further  trouble.  After  waiting  some 

time  for  stragglers  to  join,  he  embarked  his  men.  As  his 
force  in  the  skirmish  could  not  have  exceeded  two  hundred 

and  twenty  men,  he  lost  every  fifth  man. 

Had  pursuit  been  earlier  made  from  Laprairie,  Schuyler 

could  not  have  escaped.  The  'elay  may  be  explained  by  the 
illness  of  de  Callieres,  which  prostrated  him,  and  the  loss  of 

his  principal  officers.  When  the  advance  was  mace,  the  fight 

was  over,  and  Schuyler  was  at  the  Richelieu.  The  Christian 
Mohawks  also  started  in  pursuit,  but  they  failed  to  reach  the 

retreating  force.  There  was  an  avoidance  on  their  part  to 

engage  the  New  York  Indians  ;  for  the  Mohawks  vv'ho  were 
with  Schuyler,  in  many  cases,  were  their  own  relatives,  and 
there  Vv^as  no  desire  to  come  to  blows  with  them.  The  French 

in  the  two  affairs  had  sixty  killed  and  sixty  wounded. 

The  canoe  bringing  M.  d'Escairac  to  Montreal,  mortally 
wounded,  carried  the  first  news  of  tu  ■  attack.  From 
the     account    given,     Duplessy,    who    commanded     in    the 

•  Schuyler's  description  of  the  danger  he  escaped  is  deserving  of  permanent 
record,  "  We  broke  through  the  middle  of  their  body  until  we  got  iiito  their 
rear,  trampling  upon  their  dead,  then  faced  about  upon  them  and  fought  them 
by  strength  of  arm,  four  hundred  paces  before  us  ;  and  to  say  the  truth,  we  were 

all  glad  to  see  them  retreat."     N.  Y.  Col.  Doc.  HI.,  p.  800. 
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absence  of  De  Callieres,  considered  that  the  result  had 
been  disastrous,  and  he  formed  tlie  conclusion  that  the 

force  had  been  entirely  defeated.  Without  authority,  he 

despatched  a  canoe  to  de  Frontcnac  at  Three  Rivers,  re- 
porting such  to  be  the  fact.  De  Frontenac  and  de  Vaudrcuil 

were  at  a  ball  when  the  messenger  arrived.  The  intelligence 

caused  general  consternation.*  Fortunately,  an  officer  who 
was  present  in  the  action  had  written  to  his  wife,  then  at 
Three  Rivers,  an  account  of  what  had  taken  place.  His 

letter  was  the  means  of  somewhat  reassuring  de  Frontenac ; 
nevertheless,  tht  ext  morning,  he  ordered  de  Vaudreuil  to 
Montreal  with  a  hundred  men.  On  his  ascent  de  Vaudrcuil 

met  a  messenger  from  dc  Callieres,  carrying  a  letter  to  the 
Governor,  which  informed  him  how  matters  stood  ;  De 

Vaudrcuil,  notwithstanding,  continued  his  journey. 

The  raid  of  Schuyler  could  only  have  had  in  view  the  hope 

of  creating  alarm  in  Canada,  and  o\  causing  an  uneasy  feeling 

as  to  the  future.  It  was  mere  partisan  warfare  to  which,  for  a 

time,  the  struggle  was  reduced.  Doubtless  one  of  its  main 
objects  was  to  reclaim  the  hold  of  New  York  on  the  Irocjuois. 
It  had  become  necessary  to  make  them  feel  that  the  English 

of  Albany  had  courage  and  enterprise,  and  that  they,  on  their 
side,  could  carry  into  Canada  the  desolation  which  they 

thcmsei  /cs  had  experienced  on  the  Mohawk,  and  show  that  the 
homes  of  the  destroyer  were  not  safe.  Considered  from  this 

point  of  view,  the  expedition  was  a  success  ;  but  its  only  con- 
sequence was  to  make  the  French  more  active  and  vigilant. 

De  Seignelay,  who  had  acted  as  Minister  since  the  death  of 
his  father,  Colbert,  died  in  November,  i6go,  at  the  early  age 

of  thirty-nine.  He  was  succeeded  by  the  elder  dc  I'ontchar- 

tr;u"n,-|-  who  kept  possession  of  power  for  nine  years.  He  was 
a  connection  of  dc  Frontenac,:J:  and  his  presence  as  Minister 

*  "  La  consteniaiion  fut  gener.ile."     Recucil  de  ce  qui  s'est  p.issc,  etc.   p.  44. 
t  I.ouis  Phelype.iux,  I.  111  29th  March,  1643. 

i  Saint  Simun  in  his  Memoirs  ineiUiDiis  the  relationship.  "  .M.  de  l-rontenrc 

s'appeloit  Buade  ;  son  grand  pere  avoit  ete  gouverneur  de  Saint  Germain  premier 
maiire  d'iiotcl  du  roi  et  chevalier  de  I'ordre  de  1619."   [11.,  192.]    "  II  avoit  marie 
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[1691 directing  the  colonies  was  of  great  importance  to  the  Gover- 
nor of  Canada,  and  intervened  to  protect  him  from  unfavour- 
able influences.  It  was  to  de  Pontchartrain,  from  this  date, 

that  the  despatches  were  addressed. 

The  polic)'  of  obtaining  possession  of  New  York,  and  New 

l^ngland,  was  firmly  fixed  in  dc  Frontenac's  mind.  He  dis- 
covered in  the  political  constitution  of  those  colonies,  the 

danger  to  French  rule,  which  hereafter  was  to  work  its 
consequences.  At  the  same  time  he  totally  underrated  their 

strength.  He  was  led  to  do  so  by  the  success,  with  which  a 

few  hundred  Abcnakis  kept  in  a  ferment  the  northern  frontier 
of  New  England.  These  operations  will  be  duly  narrated 
when  I  treat  of  Acadia.  His  successful  onslaught  on 

Schenectady  had  not  impressed  him  with  the  power  of 

defence  possessed  by  New  York,  and  consequently  e\'ery  plan 
proposed  by  him  was  inadequate  to  attain  the  results  he 
hoped  to  accompli.sh.  The  force  which  he  named  as  necessary 

to  carry  out  his  purpose,  might  have  marched  into  the 
country  ;  but  such  as  escaped  would  have  left  it  only  as 

prisoners. 
An  event  took  place  in  New  England  which  must  have  had 

some  influence  on  de  Frontenac's  views.  After  Andros  had 
been  deposed,  Bradstrcet,  then  eighty-six  years  of  age,  had 
been  chosen  Governor,  and  through  him,  Massachusetts 
addres.sed  a  proposition  to  de  Frontenac,  that,  although  war 

existed  between  England  and  France,  neutrality  should  pre- 
vail between  Canada  and  New  England.  The  question  was 

complicated  by  what  took  place  at  sea.  New  England  sent 

out  swarms  of  privateers  to  prey  on  French  commerce,  and 
many  such  vessels  hovered  around  the  entrance  to  the  Saint 

Lawrence,  to  seize  French  merchantmen  freighted  with  valu- 
able cargoes.    France  had  no  soldiers  in  Acadia.    War  against 

sou  fils  a  une  fille  <le  Kayniond  I'lielypeaux  secretaire  d'Elat  apr-'s  son  pere  et 
son  frere,  nyant  etc'  auparavant  tresorier  de  I'cpargne.  Cela  fit  de  Frontenac  ]xie 

du  gouverneur  de  Canada  lie.ui  frere  de  M.  M.  d'Hiimieres  et  d'lIuxcUes.  II 
falloit  ]M)urtant  qut  ce  ne  fiit  pas  grande  chose,  car  on  trouve  avec  les  memos 

nom  et  amies  un  Roger  de  Biiade  hui'>sier  de  I'ordre  en  1641,  Sieur  de  Cussy. 

[V.,  122.] 
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New  Enj:jland  advanced  settlements,  was  carried  on  by  the 
Abenakis  and  Micmacs,  ever  on  the  watch  to  surprise  some 

unsuspecting  locality.  De  Saint  Castin  did  not  fail  to  point 
out  that  the  object  of  the  proposal  was  to  detach  the  Abenakis 
from  the  French  alliance,  which,  in  other  words,  was  entirely 

to  take  from  France  the  strength  possessed  by  her  in  Acadia. 
De  Frontenac  gave  an  evasive  answer  to  the  proposal,  and, 

although  not  a  refusal,  it  partook  of  that  character.  He 

declined  to  treat  on  any  matter,  while  French  prisoners  were 
detained  in  Boston,  and  in  this  category  he  desired  to  include 
the  Indians. 

The  condition  of  Canada  in  1691  was  deplorable.  Above 

Three  Rivers,  the  Iroquois  continued  their  depredations, 
described  by  writers  of  that  date,  under  the  term  la  petite 

guerre.  Those,  engaged  in  the  harvest,  were  protected  by 
troops  as  much  as  possible.  There  was  great  want.  The  fear 
of  attack  was  always  present,  and  whole  families  took  refuge 

in  the  forts.  The  loss  of  many  heads  of  families  had  caused 
much  distress.  With  the  widows  and  fatherless  children, 

there  were  those,  whose  wounds  and  sickly  condition,  made 
them  incapable  of  working.  The  war  was  a  serious  burden 

on  the  Canadian  hab'tnnt.  He  was  liable  to  be  called  upon  to 
join  in  any  expedition  ;  he  served  without  pay;  but  obtained 
.some  clothes,  accoutrements  and  arms,  with  snowshoes  or 

canoes.  The  money  to  carry  on  the  campaign  was  sent  from 
France,  rarely  without  complaints  from  the  King.  The  colony 

had  no  mone}'  to  give  towards  the  defence  of  the  countrj'. 
What  the  French-Canadian  could  offer  he  readily  risked  ;  his 

lif':  and  his  blood.  Some  few  of  the  leading  traders  made 
moiey,  but  the  general  condition  of  Canada  was  wide-spread 
poverty. 

Under  these  unfavourable  circumstances,  it  was  resolved  to 

develop  the  fortifications  of  Quebec,  and  at  this  date  the 
defensive  works,  which,  in  their  completion,  have  created  the 

fame  of  the  city,  were  commenced.  The  habitants  in  the  neigh- 
bourhood were  drafted  to  work  at  them,  with  almost  as  little 

pay  as  was  given  to  the  Egyptians  at  the  construction  of  the 
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Pyramid  of  Cheops.  Nevertheless,  the  expenditure  for  the 
colony  was  large  in  the  aggregate  ;  that  of  each  year  being 

greater  than  the  last,  while  Louis'  resources  to  meet  it  were 

becoming  less  and  less.  The  King's  difficulty  in  finding 
money  to  carry  on  the  war  led  to  desperate  expedients,  but 

the  demand  for  money  increased  and  was  increasing.* 
The  confidence  personally  felt  in  de  Frontenac  encouraged 

Canada  in  these  trying  circumstances.  The  possibility  of  a 

united  attack  from  the  English  colonies  seemed  always  im- 
minent, but,  in  reality,  no  such  event  was  threatened.  At  this 

date  the  whole  population  of  British  America  must  have  been 
two  hundred  thousand  souls ;  but  except  in  New  P^ngland  and 

New  York  no  feeling  on  the  subject  of  Canada  existed,  and 

even  in  these  provinces,  it  was  languid  and  confined  to  a  few. 

The  population  of  Canada  was  about  twelve  thousand.  There 
were  not  more  than  twelve  hundred  soldiers  in  the  country, 

and  on  a  desperate  emergency,  the  militia  and  the  coKreiirs  de 

bois  could  furnish  three  thousand  more  men.  This  force  pos- 

sessed good  officers,  and  was  under  organized  control,  centred 
in  one  person.  Hence,  there  was  unity  of  purpose,  and  what 
strength  could  be  brought  into  the  field,  could  be  directed  by 

the  judgment  of  the  supreme  authority. 
In  the  English  colonics  there  were  disunion,  jealousy,  want 

of  concord  ;  and,  while  there  was  no  absence  of  courage,  there 

was  no  desire  for  war.     The  sword  was  never  precisely  turned 

*  De  Pontchartrain,  honest  in  private  life,  was  unscrupulous  in  the  King's 
interest.  He  thought  little  as  to  the  means  by  which  he  could  obtain  money,  and 

of  the  influence  of  his  policy  on  the  welfare  of  the  people.  His  reckless  audaci*y 
for  a  time  passed  as  genius.  He  created  a  multiplicity  of  offices,  many  of  them 

hereditary,  which  he  sold.  He  re-established  the  sale  of  taxes.  He  caused  a 

re-coinage  of  money,  raising  it  ten  per  cent,  in  current  value.  It  was  said  of  his 

system,  that  France  went  back  three  centuries  to  revert  to  the  maltntUr  of  the  middle 

ages.  Many  of  the  offices  held  in  the  time  of  Mazarin,  which  had  been  suppresseil 

were  recreated ;  some  of  them  ridiculous,  as  those  of  the  Royal  barber  and  the  King's 
o-  ster-opener.  Nevertheless,  they  found  purchasers.  The  love  of  distinction, 
with  the  middle  order  of  Frenchmen,  assured  certainty  of  payment  for  this  grati- 

fication of  the  national  vanity.  De  Pontchartrain's  cynical  explanation  to  the 
King  of  his  financial  policy  was  contained  in  the  words,  "  Toutts  les  fois  que 

voire  Majeste  criie  un  office,  Dieu  crce  un  sot  pour  I'acheter." 
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into  the  pruning  hook,  but  it  was  ahva}-s  unwillingly  brought 
down  for  use.  The  implement  of  industry  was  always  pre- 

ferred. When  it  became  necessary  to  take  the  field,  the  Eng- 
lish colonist  shewed  dogged  courage  and  unflinching  resolution. 

But  there  were  few  officers  capable  of  command,  and  there 

was  no  effective  discipline.*  One  particuL-u-  pursuit  the  New 
Englandcr  readily  followed,  that  of  privateering  ;  and  not 
only  ei.Lcrprise,  but  conduct  and  capacity  were  found  on  the 

part  of  those  engaging  in  it. 
In  Canada  there  were  love  of  adventure,  and  readiness  to 

embark  in  any  undertaking  for  the  defence  of  the  country,  or 

the  punishment  of  the  enemy.  In  the  English  northern  colo- 
nies, there  was  neither  the  inclination  to  enter  into  aggressive 

war,  nor  money  to  meet  its  cost.  The  organization  was  invari- 
ably imperfect ;  occasionally  men  came  to  the  front,  marked 

by  capacity  and  judgment,  who,  if  opportunity  had  been 
given  them  to  learn  the  duties  they  were  undertaking,  would 
have  become  distinguished.  But,  from  the  want  of  oneness  of 

purpose,  nearly  every  effort  made  was  pre-doomed  to  failure- 
Without  the  intervention  of  Great  Britain  in  the  crisis  of  half 

a  century  later,  the  British  colonies  would  never  have  succeeded 
against  New  France.  This  was  not  from  want  of  numbers  or 

want  of  courage ;  but  because  the  exacting  character  of  the 
situation  would  never  have  been  accepted  as  a  matter  of 

national  faith,  so  as  to  lead  to  the  extraordinary  efforts  neces- 
sary to  success.  Neither  New  York  nor  New  England  ever 

understood  the  magnitude  of  the  task  which  they  discussed  in 
their  council  chambers,  or  the  resources  which  the  French 

possessed,  in  their  condition  and  form  of  govern ment.-f- 

*  The  military  inexperience  of  the  New  England  generals  may  be  described  in 
the  words  of  Marius  when  he  speaks  of  the  Roman  forces  sent  against  Jugurtha 

previous  to  his  assumption  of  the  command  :  "  Ac  ego  scio,  Quiriles,  qui  post- 
quam  Consules  facli  sunt,  acta  majoruni  et  Grrecorum  militaria  pra;cepla  legere 

cteperint ;  homines  prxposteri."     .Saliust  Jugurtha,  Ixxxv. 

t  La  plus  griinde  faute  que  faisoient  alors  les  Anglois  dans  leurs  Colonies,  c'est 

que  pour  I'ordinaire  ils  choisissoient  mal  ceux,  h.  qui  ils  confioient  le  Commande- 

ment  soit  des  Postea  particuliers  soit  des  Provinces  entieres.  C'ttoit  presque 

toujours  des  Hommes  de  fortune,  qui  ne  s^avoient  point  la  guerre,  qui  nc  I'avoient 
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The  year  1692  had  been  marked  by  many  of  the  attacks 
I  have  named.  Towards  the  close  of  1 691,  some  Christian 

Indians  had  been  attacked  when  hunting.  The  news  being 
brought  to  the  Sault  above  Montreal,  a  force  was  organized  in 

pursuit  ;  the  Christian  Indians  overtook  the  Iroquois,  released 
the  prisoners,  and  killed  or  made  prisoners  their  assailants, 

four  of  whom  only  escaped.  On  another  occasion,  the  report 

reaching  Montreal  that  a  strong  body  of  Iroquois  was  in  the 

field,  an  expedition  was  formed,  consisting  of  one  hundred 
and  twenty  French  and  two  hundred  and  five  Indians.  With 

this  large  force  they  met  a  band  of  fifty  Iroquois,  and  totally 
destroyed  all  who  composed  it. 

At  the  opening  of  the  navigation  the  lower  part  of  the 
Ottawa  was  so  beset  by  the  Iroquois,  that  parties  making  the 

attempt  to  ascend  the  river  found  it  more  prudent  not  to  pro- 
ceed, and  returned  to  Montreal.  The  route  to  the  upper  lakes 

was  thus  almost  barred.  Some  Algonquins,  accompanied  by 

thirty-six  French,  were  surprised,  and  suffered  the  loss  of 
twenty-one  French  killed  and  carried  away  prisoners.  De 

Vaudreuil  was  more  fortunate.     In  July,  with  a  force  oi"  some 
meme  jamais  faite,  &  dont  le  merite  dtoit  cl'avoir  amasse  <Iu  bien  par  cies  voyes 
qui  ne  supposent  point  les  qualites  necessaires  pour  soutenir  le  rang,  oil  on  les 

elevoit,  &  que  dcs  Cens  de  cette  sorte  n'acquerent  jamais. 

iJ'autre  part  les  Colons  Anglois  melts  avec  les  EtranL;ers  de  toutes  sortes  de 

Nations  s'ai)p)iquoient  uniquement  .a  la  culture  des  Terres  &  a  leur  commerce  ;  ce 
qui  les  rendoit  peu  propres  pour  la  guerre  ;  dela,  le  mopris  qu'avoient  pour  eux 
les  sauvages,  dont  une  poignee  a  tenu  longtems  en  echcc  les  plus  peuplces,  &  les 

plus  florissantes  de  leur  Colonies.  Toute  leur  ressource  ctait  dans  not  re  )egerte, 

dans  noire  inconstance,  dans  notre  negligence  cS:  dans  le  peu  de  concert  des  nos 

Commandans,  &  c'est  par-li  qu'ils  sont  demeures  Maitres  de  tant  de  Postes 
importans,  dont  nous  les  avions  chasses,  autant  de  fois  que  nous  les  y  avion^ 

attaques. 
Charlevoix,  II,,  Liv.  xvi,  ])p.  197-8. 

The  readers  of  this  history  are  themselves  capable  of  judging  the  truth  of 

Charlevoix  concluding  remark.  No  such  posts  at  that  time  were  on  the  Cana- 
dian Lakes.  The  attacks  in  Acadia  had  been  directed  against  exposed  settlements 

taken  by  surprise  ;  except  in  the  cases  of  I'emaquid  and  Fort  Loyall.  Both  were 
abandoned  by  the  French  ;  the  former,  however,  was  rebuilt  by  New  England 

and  retaken  by  a  large  force  under  d'Iberville  in  1696.  On  the  other  hand,  Port 
Royal,  when  Charlevoix  wrote,  had  been  caken  from  the  French,  and  as  Anna- 

polis, has  permanently  remained  in  British  possession. 
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Strength,  he  came  upon  the  Iroquois  above  Long  Sault  on  the 
Ottawa,  and  severely  chastised  them. 

Early  in  1693,  dc  Frontenac  determined  to  strike  a  blow  in 
the  homes  of  the  Iroquois.  He  brought  together  one  hundred 

soldiers,  four  hundred  picked  men  of  the  militia,  experienced 

in  the  woods,  all  inured  to  fatigue,  accompanied  by  two  hun- 
dred Indians  ;  the  whcjlc  under  the  command  of  dc  Alantcht, 

deCourtcmanche,  and  dcLanouc.  Their  final  organization  was 

completed  at  Laprairic,  which  they  left  on  the  25th  of  January ; 
they  marched  on  snow  shoes,  drawing  their  provisions  on  long 
sleighs,  following  the  now  known  route  of  Lake  Champlain,  to 

arrive  on  the  evening  of  the  i6th  of  February  at  the  Mohawk 

villages,  within  thirty-six  miles  of  Albany.  They  had  eluded 
discovery.  Some  French  and  Indian  scouts  approached  the 

village.  They  found  the  Indians  entirely  off  their  guard  ; 
some  of  them  were  singing.  As  there  was  movement  in  the 

place  the  attack  was  deferred.  Watch  was  kept,  until  silence 
shewed  that  all  in  the  bourgadc  were  asleep.  A  second  village, 
about  two  hundred  rods  from  the  one  first  seen,  was  similarly 

observed.  The  main  body  of  the  assailants  advanced  in  two 

divisions,  and  the  attack  at  the  two  points  was  simultaneously 
made.  Both  villages  were  protected  by  an  enclosure  of 

palisades.  In  each  instance,  they  were  scaled,  and  the  gates 

opened.  It  was  short  work  to  enter,  and  take  possession  of 
both  places.  Indeed  no  resistance  was  offered.  The  smaller 

place  was  burned,  and  the  ;")risoners  carried  to  the  second 
village.  On  the  following  night  an  attack  was  made  on  a 
village  between  fifteen  and  sixteen  miles  distant,  which  was 

likewise  destroyed. 

The  order  had  been  given  by  dc  Frontenac  to  kill  the  men, 
but  to  seize  the  women  and  children  in  order  to  establish 

them  in  the  Christian  villages.  But,  owing  to  little  resist- 
ance having  been  made,  out  of  eighty  fighting  men  only 

eighteen  or  twenty  had  been  killed.  The  women  and  children 
amounted  in  number  to  two  hundred  and  eighty.  The  Sault 

Indians  were  also  unwilling  to  destroy  their  countrymen  in 
cold  blood.     They  well  understood  that  the  instructions  of 
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de  Frontenac,  if  carried  out,  would  make  further  reconcilia- 
tion impossible.  The  Christian  Iroquois,  at  this  date,  acted 

as  if  they  desired  to  retain  their  independence  of  the  French, 

so,  that  in  the  event  of  a  serious  quarrel  with  the  authorities 
in  Canada,  they  would  be  able  to  return  to  their  villages  on 
the  Mohawk. 

The  French  force,  encumbered  with  their  prisoners,  moved 

slowly.  After  two  days'  march,  they  were  approached  by 
some  Mohawks  whose  families  had  been  carried  away,  and 
who  desired  to  communicate  with  their  relatives. 

Among  tho.se  who  had  left  Canada  in  the  expedition  was  a 

man  named  Van  Epps,  of  Dutch  extraction.  At  that  time 
he  was  prisoner  with  the  Sault  Indians,  and  he  had  been 

brought  with  them,  to  perform  their  work  as  a  slave.  He 
had  watched  his  opportunity  and  had  escaped,  and  by  his 
information,  the  expedition  became  known  at  Albany.  The 
news  of  the  assault  of  the  Mohawk  villages  followed.  A 

party  was  organized  in  pursuit  of  the  Canadian  force,  and 
scouts  were  sent  on  to  inform  the  Canadians,  that  the  object 

of  the  advancing  column  from  Albany  was  not  to  attack,  but 

to  negotiate,  as  peace  had  been  declared  in  Europe.  Xo 

attention  was  paid  to  the  statement,  and  the  French  con- 
tinued to  press  forward  on  their  route,  as  fast  as  was  possible 

with  their  prisoners.  But  the  Indians  declined  to  proceed; 

they  expressed  their  intention  to  remain,  to  hear  what  should 

be  proposed,  for  they  saw  the  possibility  of  re-establishing 
friendly  relations  with  their  countrymen  on  the  Mohawk  ; 
and  they  resolved  to  await  the  arrival  of  those  whose  presence 
was  looked  for,  so  that  peace  might  be  assured,  and  no 
reprisals  would  follow.  The  French  were  greatly  dissatisfied 

v.'ith  this  determination,  but  they  could  only  submit. 
The  available  force  which  had  left  Albany,  on  the  appeal 

of  the  Mohawks,  had  been  placed  under  the  command  of 

Peter  Schuyler.  At  Schenectady  their  number  had  been 
increased,  and  on  his  advance  he  had  bet..:  joined  by  some 
Oneidas.  His  force  now  amounted  to  between  five  and  six 

hundred    men.      On    the    23rd,    intelligence   of    the   pursuit 
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reached  the  French  leaders.  They  desired  to  wait  in  ambush, 
and  to  attack  the  column  on  its  march.  Their  progress  had 

been  impeded  owing  to  their  prisoners,  and  they  feared  that,  if 
their  own  advance  were  delayed,  they  must  suffer  from  want 
of  provisions.  They  considered,  also,  that,  as  attacking  party, 
the  advantage  would  lie  with  them.  Their  design  was  to 

attempt  a  surprise  on  the  English  column  at  a  spot  favourable 
for  attack.  The  French  Indians  would  in  no  way  listen 
to  the  proposal.  They  held  that  it  was  better  to  entrench 
themselves  in  the  Indian  form  and  await  events  ;  so  trees 

were  felled  and  by  these  means  protection  obtained. 

The  Canadian  force  remained  in  this  position  two  days 

before  Schuyler's  party  appeared.  The  French  expected  an 
immediate  attack,  but  Schuyler's  Indians  were  led  to  act 
similarly  to  those  with  the  French.  They  fortified  themselves 
behind  fallen  trees,  and  the  two  parties  remained  near  each 

other  in  this  form.  Both  parties,  however,  were  not  equally 

favoured.  Schuyler  looked  forward  to  obtain  provisions  from 
Albany;  every  hour  increased  the  difficulties  of  the  French  by 
reducing  the  limited  amount  of  their  rations.  The  French 
accordingly  resolved  on  an  attack.  It  was  not  successful,  and, 

although  repeated,  it  again  failed.  Schuyler  by  this  time  saw 

how  the  chances  stood  in  his  favour,  and,  trusting  to  the  situa- 
tion, did  not  himself  become  the  assailant.  He  believed,  like- 

wise, that  the  French  would  have  difficulty  in  getting  across  the 
Hudson,  as  the  ice  was  then  commencing  to  break  up.  His  own 

provisions  were  also  exhausted  ;  he  had  started  with  but  little 

preparation,  and  additional  supplies  were  to  follow  him.  A 

heavy  snow-storm  came  on,  and  the  French  saw  that  it  offered 
them  the  chance  of  escape.  The  Indians  themselves  began 

to  understand  the  danger  to  which  they  were  exposed,  and 
consented  to  march.  The  movement  was  concealed  by  the 

falling  snow,  and  the  French  left  cautiously  at  ten  in  the  day. 

Schuyler,  never  looking  for  such  a  retreat,  was  surprised  to 
learn  at  a  late  hour  that  the  Canadian  camp  was  deserted. 
Xo  sooner  did  his  scouts  inform  him  of  the  fact,  than  he 

urged  his  Indians  to  follow  in  pursuit.     But  they  were  suffer- 
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ing  from  scarcity  of  food,  and  declined  to  move.  It  was  the 
28th  of  March  when  the  French  commenced  their  retreat,  but 

it  was  not  until  the  ist  of  April,  when  provisions  reached 

Schuyler's  force,  that  the  pursuit  was  renewed. 
On  the  Canadian  force  reaching  the  Hudson,  they  found  the 

floating  ice  moving  down  stream,  and  it  appeared  as  if  it 

wou'd  be  impossible  for  them  to  cross  the  river.  Fortunately, 
an  ice-jam  formed  a  temporary  compact  mass,  to  which,  in 
their  desperate  circumstances,  they  had  to  trust  themselves. 

They  were  thus  enabled  safely  to  reach  the  eastern  bank. 
They  followed  the  portage  to  Lake  George.  There  they  found 
that  the  ice  would  not  bear  them,  and  they  had  to  force  their 

way  along  the  rugged  shore,  cumbered  with  ice,  boulders  and 
tangled  brushwood,  and  it  must  have  proved  one  of  the  most 

trying  and  exacting  marches  ever  made. 
Schuyler  pushed  forward,  and  was  rapidly  gaining  on  those 

he  was  pursuing.  The  French,  hearing  of  his  continued 
advance,  sent  back  word  that,  if  the  pursuit  were  continued, 

they  would  kill  their  prisoners,  and,  leaving  their  corpses 

behind,  would  alone  make  their  way  rapidly  to  Lake  Cham- 
plain.  The  threat  told  successfully  on  the  Mohawks  and 
Oneidas.  They  declined  to  follow  on  the  march  which  was  to 
cause  the  death  of  their  relatives  and  near  connections,  some 

of  them  even  the  wives  and  children  of  those  present  with 

Schuyler.  The  pursuit  was  necessarily  abandoned  ;  many  of 
the  prisoners,  however,  managed  to  escape. 

The  French  hoped  at  Lake  Champlain  to  obtain  the  provi- 
sions which  they  had  stored,  but  they  were  spoiled  and  utterly 

unfit  for  use.  The  remainder  of  the  march  was  made  under 

great  privation,  the  men  on  occasions  suffering  from  positive 
famine.  Some  of  the  strongest  of  them  pushed  forward  to 

obtain  supplies,  which  were  at  once  forwarded.  But  many  died 
owing  to  the  suffering  they  had  passed  through.  The  party  did 
not  reach  Montreal  until  the  i6th  and  17th  of  March.  Some 

of  the  sick  were  left  behind  at  a  temporary  enclosure  con- 
structed for  their  protection.  There  is  no  record  that  they  were 

interfered  with,  and  eventually  they  were  able  to  reach  Montreal. 
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De  Frontenac  treated  the  enterprise  as  a  success.  The 

expedition  had  returned  with  prisoners,  and  a  blow  had  been 
struck  to  convey  to  the  Iroquois  the  sense  of  French  power. 
But  no  permanent  efTect  from  the  expedition  could  be  looked 
for.  There  had  been  much  in  the  conduct  of  the  Sault  Indians 

to  cause  disquietude.  Their  conduct  had  created  the  impres- 
sion they  could  only  be  partially  relied  upon  to  attack  their 

countrymen  on  the  Mohawk.  The  tribes  there  were  equally 

averse  to  taking  part  against  the  Christian  Indians.  The  hope 
never  failed  that  the  quarrel  might  be  accommodated,  and  that 

the  Mohawks  would  form  one  body,  when  the  question  of  pre- 
dominance was  settled  between  the  rival  European  nations. 

The  events  of  the  year  had  shewn  what  ravages  each  country 
could  commit  on  the  territory  of  the  other.  Both  must  have 
felt  of  what  little  account  such  raids  were,  and  that  equally  on 

the  banks  of  the  Mohawk,  and  the  Saint  Lawrence  no  perma- 
nent advantage  could  be  derived  from  them. 

!  ■    "  ! 
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CHAPTER  V. 

pi    i 

During  this  period,  the  furs  stored  at  Michilimackinac  had 
increased  to  a  large  quantity ;  and  owing  to  the  River  Ottawa, 

the  route  followed,  having  been  continually  beset  by  parties  of 
Iroquois,  it  had  not  been  possible  to  take  them  to  Montreal. 
The  possession  of  these  furs  was  of  great  importance  to  the 

traders  of  that  place,  for  they  formed  the  wealth  of  the 

country.  A  large  force  was  necessary  to  escort  the  cargoes  in 
security ;  but,  on  the  other  hand,  the  constant  danger  of 

Iroquois  incursions  made  it  inadvisable  to  reduce  the  garri- 
sons on  the  Saint  Lawrence. 

There  were  at  least  two  hundred  French  and  Canadians  at 

Michilimackinac,  and  in  the  neighbouring  territory,  roaming 

about  as  coureurs  de  bois.  De  Frontenac,  accordingly,  deter- 
mined to  avail  himself  of  the  service  of  these  men,  and  form 

them  into  a  body  to  escort  the  furs  to  Montreal.  The 
Commandant  de  Louvigny  was  selected  for  the  duty  ;  and 

d'Argenteuil,  and  eighteen  French,  were  despatched  to  the 
west,  to  notify  these  adventurers,  and  assemble  them  together. 
This  small  body  of  men,  being  held  insufficient  to  cope  with 

the  Iroquois  bands,  known  to  be  in  possession  of  the  lower 
Ottawa,  the  force  was  increased  by  twenty  volunteers  under 

de  la  Valterie,  and  a  party  of  the  Sault  and  Mountain 
Indians.  The  ascent  of  the  river  was  made  without  molesta- 

tion. D'Arrcntcuil  reached  the  locality  held  to  be  free  from 
likelihood  of  attack,  but,  on  the  return  of  the  escort  under 
de  la  Valterie,  they  were  surprised  near  the  island  of  Montreal 

by  a  large  body  of  Iroquois.  De  la  Valterie  and  three  of  his 
men  were  killed  in  the  skirmish ;  and  with  this  loss  the 
remainder  reached  the  city. 

D'Argenteuil  arrived  safely  at  Michilimackinac.  According 
to  his  instructions,  de  Louvigny  gathered  all  the  Canadians 
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he  could  assemble,  leaving  only  men  sufficient  to  garrison 
the  place.  With  this  force,  he  escorted  safely  to  Montreal 

two  hundred  canoes,  laden  with  furs.  The  news  of  his  suc- 
cessful descent,  reached  Quebec  on  the  17th  of  August,  1693, 

as  de  Frontenac  was  preparing  to  ascend  the  Saint  Lawrence. 
The  arrival  of  these  furs  was  of  the  greatest  advantage  to 

Canada.  Every  effort  had  been  made  to  bring  down  as  large 

a  quantity  as  possible,  and  those  Indians  who  had  no 

canoes  of  their  own,  were  aided  by  the  French  in  the  transport 
of  their  property.  The  public  joy  was  loudly  expressed,  for 
the  country  was  almost  bankrupt.  A  writer  of  that  day  thus 

describes  the  public  feeling  :  "  For  several  years  Canada  had 
been  impatiently  waiting  for  this  prodigious  quantity  of  beaver 

.  .  .  .  The  merchant,  the  farmer,  the  rest  of  the  popula- 
tion, were  perishing  of  hunger,  although  possessing  property 

which  they  were  unable  to  enjoy.  Credit  was  exhausted,  and 
there  was  a  general  fear  that  these  furs,  the  last  resource  of 

the  country,  would  be  seized  by  the  enemy  during  their  descent 
to  Montreal.  Accordingly,  there  was  no  language  too  strong 

to  praise,  and  to  implore  blessings  on  him,  by  whose  care  the 

property  had  reached  them.  '  Father  of  the  People,'  '  Pre- 
server of  the  Country,'  titles  which  for  the  last  four  years  had 

been  so  much  used,  now  appeared  wanting  in  force.  Those 
who  could  not  find  words  to  express  their  feelings  showed 

their  gratitude  by  the  joy  visible  on  their  countenances,  and 

which  was  deeply  felt  in  their  hearts."* 
De  Frontenac  arrived  at  Montreal  on  the  28th  of  August. 

He  had  been  met  at  Three  Rivers  by  the  most  prominent 

chiefs,  who  had  gone  thither  to  pay  him  this  mark  of  respect. 
At  Montreal  he  held  a  Council  with  the  Indians  who  were 

present,  and  the  usual  ceremonies  were  observed.  They 
informed  de  Frontenac  that  they  had  come  down  in  obedience 

to  his  orders,  to  hear  his  voice,  and  they  wished  to  obtain  more 
favourable  terms  of  trade.     The  Hurons  assured  him,  that,  in 

*  Autre  relation  de  ce  qui  s'est  p.nsse  de  plus  remarqu.ible  en  Canada  depuis 

Septembre,  1692,  jusqu'au  depart  des  vaisseaux  en  1693.  I^re  Sdrie  MS., 
Vol.  v.,  p.  105.     Attributed  to  M.  de  Callieres. 
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accordance  with  his  instructions,  they  were  prepared  to  carry 

on  war  against  the  Iroquois.  There  was  one  piece  of  unfa- 
v^ourable  intelligence.  The  Miamis  had  received  presents 
from  the  English  through  the  Mohegans,  and  it  was  a  matter 

of  anxiety  to  know  to  what  extent  this  intercourse  would  tell 
on  the  Indian  trade.  The  chiefs  were  entertained  in  turn  at  the 

Governor's  table,  and  there  was  a  general  feast  on  the  6th  of 
September.  A  few  days  later,  the  canoes  returned  homewards. 
To  prevent  further  tampering  with  the  Miamis  by  the 
English,  de  Frontenac  determined  to  establish  a  fort  on  the 
Kalamanzoo,  in  Michigan,  to  which  Perrot  was  sent. 

The  expedition  of  Phips  had  established  in  de  Frontenac's 
mind  the  possibility  of  its  repetition,  and  the  Schuyler  raids 
from  New  York,  had  shown  the  country  to  be  accessible  to 
attack  from  the  Hudson.  Reports  were  constantly  reaching 
him  from  Acadia,  of  movements  which  foreboded  hostilities. 

De  Frontenac  did  everything  possible  to  guard  against  sur- 
prise; he  extended  the  fortifications  of  Quebec,  and  placed 

the  forts  of  Sorel  and  Chambly  in  a  condition  of  strength,  to 

impede  the  advance  of  an  invader.  De  Callieres  likewise 

strengthened  Montreal  by  a  fort  to  the  east,  on  some  high 

ground,  where  Dalhousie  Square  now  stands. 
Serious  alarm  had  been  felt  in  Montreal  by  the  reported 

appearance  on  Lake  Saint  Louis,  below  the  Cascades,  of  eight 

hundred  Iroquois ;  some  scouts  even  reported  that  they  had 

seen  their  camp.  De  Frontenac  immediately  despatched  de 
Vaudreuil,  with  five  of  the  companies  then  at  work  at  Quebec, 

and  one  hundred  and  fifty  of  the  newly-arrived  recruits.  It 
was  a  serious  interruption  to  the  progress  of  the  fortifications 

of  the  ':ity.  De  Callieres,  on  his  side,  raised  eight  hundred 
militia,  and  went  as  far  as  the  Cascades.*  He  saw,  however, 
no  sign  of  an  Iroquois  force,  and  it  is  questionable  if  any 
such  large  number  of  hostile  Indians  had  been  present.  But 

the  movement  of  the  troops,  was  in  itself  a  demonstration  of 

strength,  and  had  the  good  effect  of  warning  the  Iroquois  that 

*  The  last  rapid  before  entering  Lake  St.  Louis. 
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preparations  had  been  made  to  receive  them,  and  did  not 
fail  to  influence  them. 

A  greater  difficulty  was  threatened  from  Boston. 

From  the  period  of  Phips'  failure,  Massachusetts  had  con- 
tinually urged  upon  the  home  government  the  policy  of  send- 

ing out  an  expedition  for  the  conquest  of  Canada,  to  be 
supplemented  with  land  forces  raised  in  New  York  and  New 

England.  It  was  resolved,  in  1692,  to  comply  with  the 

request,  and  the  expedition  was  organized.  Early  in  winter, 
a  fleet  sailed  to  the  West  India  Islands,  under  Sir  Francis 

Wheeler.  Its  first  duty  was  to  reduce  Martinique  ;  that  ser- 
vice being  performed,  the  ships  were  to  proceed  to  Boston, 

and  receive  the  New  England  militia,  to  be  commanded  by 

Sir  \\'.  Phips,  and  it  was  anticipated  that  they  would  arrive 
at  Boston  by  the  end  of  May,  or  the  middle  of  June  at  the 
latest.  This  design  entirely  miscarried.  The  force  was  too 

weak  for  the  reduction  of  Martinique.  The  fleet  likewise  suf- 

fered from  sickness.  Sir  P^rancis  Wheeler,  the  Commander- 
in-chief,  arrived  on  the  22nd  of  June,  his  force  so  \vcakened  in 

strength,  that  the  prosecution  of  the  expedition  was  impos- 
sible. Of  two  thousand  one  hundred  sailors,  he  had  buried 

thirteen  hundred,  and  of  two  thousand  four  hundred  soldiers, 

eighteen  hundred  had  died.  Wheeler  expressed  his  readiness 
to  proceed  with  what  force  he  had  brought,  and  asked  the 
Governor  and  Council  of  Massachusetts  if  they  considered  it 

of  sufficient  strength.  They  gave  a  negative  reply.  The  land 
forces  might  have  been  recruited.  The  sailors  it  was  not 

possible  to  replace.  Further,  the  vessel,  which  he  had  sent 
forward  to  give  news  of  his  approach,  had  been  driven  back 
by  adverse  winds  and  did  not  arrive  until  July,  some  weeks 

after  himself;  consequently,  no  preparation  for  the  expedition 
had  been  made  in  Massachusetts. 

The  disease  brought  by  the  fleet  was  communicated  to 

Boston,  and  proved  more  malignant  than  any  previously 
known  ;  so  much  so,  that  many  families  left  the  city. 

A  plan  for  a  future  campaign  was  agreed  upon,  which  gave 
promise  of  success.     Two  thousand  soldiers  were  to  be  raised 
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in  England,  two  thousand  in  Massachusetts.  The  fleet  was 
to  rendezvous  at  Canso  by  the  first  of  June,  and  to  be  joined 

there  by  the  colonial  forces.  The  ships  were  then  to  sail  for 
the  Saint  Lawrence.  The  forces,  having  ascended  the  river, 
were  to  divide  ;  half  to  remain  to  conduct  the  operations 

before  Quebec  ;  half  to  follow  the  river  and  proceed  to  the 

attack  of  Montreal.  It  was  hoped  that,  by  making  the  rendez- 
vous at  Canso,  the  expedition  would  be  kept  secret,  for  Cape 

Breton  was  without  inhabitants  ;  and  that  Quebec  might  be 
surprised.  The  difficulty  at  this  date  in  British  America  did 
not  lie  in  the  want  of  plan,  but  in  the  absence  of  men  to 

conduct  enterprises  of  pith  and  moment,  and,  with  few  excep- 
tions, in  the  incompetence  of  the  superior  officers  sent  from 

England  in  command. 
The  winter  of  1693  was  marked  by  an  event  which,  although 

without  immediate  results,  silently  worked  important  influ- 
ences. It  was  to  determine  whether  ecclesiastical  power  was 

to  be  supreme  in  Canada,  and  if  excommunications  were  to  be 

pronounced  regardless  of  all  law.  In  events  of  this  character 

it  is  no  uncommon  argument  to  adduce  the  personal  respect- 
ability of  the  ecclesiastic,  as  if  it  were  a  ground  for  condoning 

the  wrong  which  arbitrary  power  inflicts.  Such  considera- 
tions must  be  secondary  in  any  fair  consideration  of  the  event. 

De  Frontenac's  strong  intellect  was  not  to  be  bewildered 
by  this  pretension.  No  passage  of  his  life  was  more  marked 

by  sense  and  self-control.  There  was  no  ebullition  of  that 
temper  with  which  it  is  the  practice  to  accredit  him,  and, 
throughout,  he  shewed  unwavering  firmness  and  judgment. 

The  Council  at  this  date,  almost  as  a  body,  embraced  the 

side  of  the  Bishop,  no  one  being  more  distinguished  by  his 
partisanship  than  the  Intendant.  M.  de  Champigny,  then  the 
incumbent  of  the  office,  will  ever  hold  an  unenviable  place  in 

Canadian  history  for  his  treacherous  seizure  of  the  Iroquois  at 

Cataraqui  in  1687,  in  the  operations  of  M.  de  Denonville.  M. 

de  Champigny  had  shared  in  the  cavalier  treatment  which 
the  Council  received  from  dc  Frontenac,  when  the  question  of 
his  attendance  at  their  meetings  had  been  considered.     But, 
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whatever  may  have  been  the  dissatisfaction  felt  by  him,  in 
common  with  the  members  of  the  Council,  it  found  no  ex- 

pression ;  all  discontent  having  been  silenced  by  the  brilliant 
services  of  M.  de  Frontcnac  in  the  repulse  of  Phips.  Owing 

to  the  public  alarm  created  by  this  expedition,  the  fortifications 

of  Quebec,  Three  Rivers,  and  Montreal,  were  extended  and 
made  more  defensible,  with  the  view  of  assuring  protection 

against  future  attacks.  The  great  cost  of  this  work,  with 
its  constant  absorption  of  money,  was  the  cause  of  frequent 

expostulation  on  the  part  of  the  French  King,  directed  both 

against  de  Frontenac  and  de  Champigny  :  and  the  Intendant 
felt  that,  while  he  was  subjected  to  censure  on  account  of  the 

operations  of  the  Governor,  he  had  scarcely  any  voice  in 
determining  the  character  of  the  expenditure;  a  position  of 
which  he  complained  bitterly  in  his  letters. 

De  Champigny  had  no  desire  to  shew  hostility  openly  to 
de  Frontenac,  and  was  studiously  courteous  to  him.  But 

he  regarded  de  Frontenac  as  wanting  in  consideration  to  him, 
and,  in  the  contentions  with  the  Bishop,  he  not  only  withheld 

his  support  from  the  Governor,  but  threw  the  weight  of  his 

influence  against  him.  In  his  letters  to  the  Minister,  he  ex- 
pressed his  sense  of  the  difficulty  of  his  position,  from  the 

disregard  which  de  Frontcnac  shewed  of  his  official  rank.  He 

had  been  the  friend  of  the  Jesuits  in  the  time  of  de  Denon- 
ville,  and  he  continued  to  entertain  sympathy  with  them. 

De  Frontenac  had  no  illusions  with  regard  to  the  feelings  of 

de  Champigny,  and  in  his  despatches  to  France  represented 
the  Intendant  as  acting  in  concert  with  the  party  unfriendly 
to  him  in  the  Council,  who  were  sustaining  the  pretensions 

of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier.  He  well  knew  that  the  old  charges 

against  him  of  arrogance  and  wrong-doing  were  being  revived 
in  France.  De  Frontenac,  however,  could  appeal  to  the 
disasters  which  had  befallen  the  Province  during  the  six 

years  of  his  absence,  in  the  government  of  his  two  predeces- 
sors. He  was  well  aware  of  the  extent  of  ecclesiastical 

pretension  to  uncontrolled  political  power,  and  he  informed 

the  minister  how  the  clergy  described  as  impious  all  those 
T 
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who  felt  themselves  called  upon  to  resist  extreme  measures 
having  their  origin  in  the  passions  and  interests  of  the  clergy. 

The  quarrel  led  to  much  ill-feeling,  and  with  a  full  know- 
ledge of  all  he  risked  in  the  contest,  de  Frontenac  in  no  way 

shrank  from  the  responsibilities  and  hazards,  which  opposition 
to  this  influence  was  certain  to  create. 

The  year  had  been  one  of  unusual  prosperity,  especially  at 
Quebec.  The  cargo  of  furs  which  had  arrived  during  the 
season  had  given  to  the  citizens  money,  with  relief  from  their 

embarrassment,  and  it  was  expected,  that  there  would  be  a 
continuance  of  the  same  prosperous  times.  The  society  of 
the  officials  of  Quebec  was  always  marked  by  gaiety  and  good 

manners.  Its  characteristics  in  this  respect  are  especially 

named  by  Charlevoix  twenty  years  later.*  Several  enter- 
tainments were  given  in  the  interchange  of  hospitality  ; 

and  among  the  amusements,  two  plays,  "  Nicomede "  and 
"  Mithridate,"  were  performed.  Like  all  amateur  theatricals, 
the  performances  were  declared  to  be  a  perfect  success. 
The  circle,  of  which  de  Frontenac  was  the  centre,  expressed 

their  entire  appreciation,  and  the  winter  was  passed  in  a 
round  of  pleasant  amusements.  In  the  month  of  January, 

a  report  was  started  that  the  amateurs  were  studying 

Molicre's  "  Tartufife,"  the  principal  part  to  be  taken  by  Sieur 
de  Mareuil,  a  half-pay  lieutenant  of  the  marine  corps,  who 
had  distinguished  himself  in  the  previous  performances. 
There  is  not  a  sentence  extant  to  shew,  that  such  an  idea 

was  seriously  entertained.  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier,  and 

tnai.y  of  the  clergy,  were  not  popular  with  the  set  attached 
to  the  CMteau.  There  had  been  frequent  unpleasantness  on 

matters  of  public  policy,  and,  as  we  read  the  letters  of  that 
day,  the  officers  conceived  that  they  had  not  been  treated  with 

the  consideration  due  to  them,  and  there  was  little  relation- 

ship with  the  clergy,  beyond  what  took  place  at  church 
ceremonies. 

Another  point  of  disagreement  arose  in  the  matter  of  liquor 

*  "  On  a  trouvc  un  petit  monde  choisi  ou  il  ne  manque  rien  de  ce  qui  peut 
former  una  society  agreeable."     (Letter  III.,  28th  October,  1720.) 
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being  used  in  the  trade  with  the  Indians.  The  consideration 
of  the  morality  of  the  traffic  was  again  being  mooted,  to  the 
dissatisfaction  of  men  engaged  in  the  practical  duties  of  life, 

who  with  responsibilities  to  face  and  with  obligations  to  meet, 

could  only  regard  it  from  the  standing  point,  of  the  keen 
competition  of  commerce,  and  the  influences  against  which 

they  had  constantly  to  contend. 

The  "Tartuffe"  report,  whether  true  or  false,  was  precisely 
of  a  character  to  cause  annoyances.  The  very  suggestion  was 

aggressive,  and  was  so  accepted  by  the  Bishop  and  ecclesi- 
astics, v.  hen  the  difficulty  is  considered  of  putting  the  play 

on  the  stage,  such  an  intention  may  well  be  doubted.  Of  all 

the  comedies  of  Moliere  the  "  Tartuffe  "  is  the  most  exacting 
in  its  production.  The  character  of  Ehnire  can  only  be  taken 

by  an  artist  of  great  power,  and  even  the  subordinate  parts 
call  for  finished  and  careful  acting.  In  after  years  the 
author  of  the  life  of  M.  de  Laval,  Abbe  de  la  Tour,  made  a 

positive  statement,  that  the  play  was  acted  to  ridicule  the 
clergy  ;  and  that  de  Frontcnac  was  desirous  of  repeating  the 

performance  in  the  religious  houses,  with  the  full  accessories 
of  dancing  and  stage  effect.  The  story  is  pure  invention. 
Such  a  disregard  of  decency,  could  not  have  escaped  the 

notice  of  de  Frontenac's  many  enemies.  There  is  a  guarantee 

of  its  imoossibility  in  the  statesmanship  of  the  man,  who,  by' 
so  gratuitous  an  insult  to  the  Bishop,  would  have  placed  him- 

self in  the  wrong,  and  have  excited  the  whole  Episcopate  of 
France  against  him. 

It  is  stated  on  the  authority  of  de  Champigny,  the 
Intendant,  that  the  Bishop  paid  de  Frontenac  one  hundred 

pistoles,*  not  to  play  the  piece;  that  iii  his  presence  the 
offer  was  made  and  accepted  ;  and  that  the  money  was 

received  and  given  by  de  Frontenac  to  the  hospitals.     If  the 

*  "  II  prit  I'occasion  que  j'etais  avec  M.  de  Frontenac  pour  le  prier  de  ne  pas 
faire  jouer  cette  piece  s'offrant  de  lui  donner  cent  pistoles,  que  M.  de  Fronter.ac 
ayant  accepte,  il  lui  en  fit  son  billet  qui  fut  paye  le  lendemain." 

De  Champigny,  27th  October,  1694.     Parliamentary  MS.,  Vol.  VII.,  p.  108. 
One  hundred  pistoles  were  equal  in  value  to  one  thousand  livres. 
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Story  were  not  so  positively  statcl,  it  would  be  difficult  of 
belief.  After  events  shew  the  determined  attitude  of  de 

Frontcnac  in  the  dispute.  He  acted  with  an  independence  of 

spirit,  and  firmness  remarkable  even  in  a  man  of  his  character, 
totally  inconsistent  with  any  such  episode. 

The  first  attack  upon  the  CJuUcau,  arising  from  the  circum- 
stances which  have  been  narrated,  took  place  on  the  loth  of 

January,  when  a  sermon  was  preached  in  the  Church  of  the 

Lower  Town  by  the  Cur^,  M.  Glandelct,*  against  stage  plays 

generally.  On  the  i6th,  it  was  followed  by  a  mandcuic)it-\ 
from  the  Bishop  against  impious,  scandalous  conversation,  in 
which  the  Sicur  de  iMarcuil  is  especially  named  as  having  acted 
to  make  Heaven  blush,  and  in  which  he  is  likewise  interdicted 

from  the  Sacraments.  On  the  same  day  a  Pastoral  was  issued 

by  the  Bishop,  in  which  all  plays,  even  when  free  from  licence 

of  language,  are  condemned ;  and  especial  cen.sure  is  directed 
against  comedies,  described  as  being  impious,  impure,  or 

hurtful  to  one's  neighbours.  The  "Tartuffe"  is  distinctly 
specified,  and  attendance  at  all  such  places  is  forbidden.  It 

was  followed  by  a  manifesto,  "  Explanations  with  regard  to 

Comedy  -^'X  a  document  written  with  moderation,  and  evidently 
addressed  to  the  class  not  remarkable  for  extravagance  of 

religious  view.s.  It  consisted  of  authorities  cited  from  the 

Fathers,  from  St.  Cyprian  to  Saint  Francois  de  Salles,  and  from 
all  Councils  of  the  Church,  on  the  subject  of  the  theatre, 

presenting  pages  of  general  condemnation  of  it ;  with  the 
argument,  that  all  plays  are  included  in  the  renunciation  made 
at  Baptism  of  the  devil  and  his  works. 

On  the  1st  of  February,  1694,  the  Bishop  brought  the  conduct 
ofde  Marcuil  before  the  Council.  He  stated  that  frequently, 

through  persons  of  authority,  he  had  called  upon  de  Marcuil  to 
amend  his  manners  and  speech,  which  had  been  impious  and 

*  La  Motte  Cadillac,  28  sept.,  1694. 
t  Mandements  Lettres  Pastorales  et  Circulaires  des  fiveques  de  Quebec, 

I.,  p.  302.  Le  sieur  de  Mareuil  .  .  .  continue  a  tenir  des  discouis  en  public, 
et  en  particulier  qui  seraient  capables  de  fair  rougir  le  oiel. 

+  Eclaircissement  touchant  la  Comedie,     lb.,  p.  304. 
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scandalously  impure  againt  God,  the  Virgin,  and  the  Saints, 
during  the  period  he  had  been  in  the  country.  Accordingly, 
he  had  publicly  denounced  de  Mareuil,  in  order  to  lead  him 
to  return  to  his  duty.  The  matter  was  now  directly  brought 
to  the  notice  of  the  Council,  in  the  hope  that  the  Council 

would  act  in  the  spirit  of  other  Parliaments,  and  suppress  these 

disorders.  The  Attorney-General  followed  in  the  same  strain. 
If  there  was  a  place  where  scandals  of  this  kind  should  meet 

chastisement  it  was  in  Canada,  where  the  dogmas  of  faith 

could  be  attacked,  and  manners  corrupted.  These  impurities 
were  worse  than  the  Protestant  religion  ;  and  crimes  of  this 

character  should  not  pass  unpunished.  On  the  part  of  the 

King,  he  desired  to  know  what  the  words  were.  The  matter 

was  referred  to  the  first  Councillor  de  Villeray,*  for  his  report. 

There  was  so  far  ground  for  reproof  that  about  two  j'ears 
previously,  at  a  private  meeting  of  young  officers  and  other 

young  men,  late  in  the  evening,  when  wine  had  been  plenti- 

full)-  drunk,  de  Mareuil  had  sung  a  Chanson  Grivoisc,  of  a 
somewhat  pronounced  character.  The  circumstances  had 

been  brought  to  the  attention  of  De  Frontenac,  who  reproved 

*  At  one  of  the  meetings  of  the  Council  de  Frontenac  gave  great  offence  by 

saying  that  it  was  useless  to  think  of  establishing  a  butchers'  market,  when  so 
many  travelled  through  the  settlement  to  buy  meat.  The  remark  was  held  to  have 

personal  application  to  M.  de  Villeray.  L^pon  which  a  writer  remarks:  "  Vou 
have  only  to  entiuire  if,  in  the  country,  there  be  a  greater  huckster  than  he  [de 
Villeray] ;  if  he  does  not  resell  butter,  bread  and  meat,  after  having  run  through 
all  the  settlements  to  buy  them  ?  .  .  Is  it  not  a  disgrace  to  see  M.de  Villeray, 

the  first  Councillor,  keep  a  meat  market  in  his  house,  and  make  his  serving-man 
deal  out  the  meat,  and  Madame  his  wife  receive  payment  for  it.  Give  yourself 
the  trouble  to  enquire  into  the  matter.  .  .  .  It  is  a  strange  country  ;  you 

ought  to  know  well  what  it  is,  from  the  time  you  have  received  intelligence  regard- 
ing it.  Men  of  honour  and  of  ability  have  no  standing  in  it.  It  is  only  fools  and 

the  slaves  of  clerical  domination  who  arc  able  to  live  here." 
I  give  the  original  French  of  this  sentence  : 

"  C'est  un  etrange  pays  que  celui  ci,  vous  devez  bien  le  connaitre,  depuis  le 

temps  que  vous  en  recevez  de  la  lumiere,  on  n'y  saurait  souffrir  ni  les  gens  d'hon- 
neur  ni  les  gens  d'esprit,  il  n'y  a  que  les  sots  et  les  esclaves  de  la  domination 
ecclesiastique  qui  le  peuvent  habiter." 

La  Motte  Cadillac,  2S  sept.,  1694.     Parliamentary  MS.,  VII.,  15-58. 
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de  Mareuil.  But  there  is  no  record  to  shew  that  de  IMareuil's 
general  life  and  conduct  were  discreditably  irregular. 

On  the  8th  of  February,  dc  Frontenac,  duly  escorted,  took 

his  seat  at  the  Council.  He  well  knew  the  Bishop's  preten- 
sions ;  and  he  was  in  his  place  to  protect  the  civil  rights 

of  Canada,  assailed  by  ecclesiastical  authority  outside  the 
domain  of  spiritual  duty.  The  assault  was  more  dangerous 
because  this  assumption  of  power  was  sustained  by  a  clique 

of  narrow-minded,  self-seeking,  inferior  men. 
The  petition  of  Jacques  de  Mareuil  was  presented.  He 

prayed  that  a  copy  of  the  Bishop's  mandement  should  be  con- 
sidered ;  and  appealed  against  it  on  the  ground,  that  the 

Bishop  had  exceeded  his  powers,*  and  that  it  should  be 
declared  null,  the  formalities  of  the  Church  and  the  Canons 

not  having  been  observed.  The  Canons  forbid  a  person  being 

publicly  denounced,  without  having  been  admonished  several 
times,  in  the  presence  of  two  witnesses.  This  course  had  not 

been  followed.  The  petitioner  set  forth  that  he  had  per- 
formed his  Easter  duties,  that  he  had  attended  Divine  scrvice,f 

and  had  acted  as  a  good  Christian.  He  asked  that  those  who 

had  made  reports  unfavourable  to  his  conduct  should  be  con- 
fronted with  him  ;  that,  if  found  guilty,  he  should  be  punished  ; 

if  innocent,  his  calumniators  should  suffer.  He  protested 

against  being  accused  in  .secret,  for  any  one  so  proceeded 

against,  v/as  without  power  to  justify  himself  To  act  on 
such  grounds,  was  establishing  an  institution  worse  than  the 
Inquisition,  which  had  never  been  recognized  in  the  Kingdom 

of  France.  The  petition  was  referred  to  the  Attorney- 

Genera', 

On  Monday,  the  Sth  of  March,  dc  Frontenac  again  at- 
tended. Councillor  de  Peiras  had  read  a  petition  from  de 

Jordi,  to  which  allusion  will  hereafter  be  made,  and  the 

Attorney-General  was  about  to  address  the  Council  when  the 
Governor  placed  a  paper  on  the  table  and  requested  it  be 

read.     It  ran  :  "  Before  we  continue  the  examination  and  dis- 

*  "  Appellant  comme  d'abus." 
t  "  Assiste  les  jours  d'obligation  au  Service  Divin." 
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cussion  of  the  matter  of  the  Sieiir  de  Mareuil,  I  am  unable, 

gentlemen,  to  restrain  myself  from  testifying  to  the  Council 

my  surprise  on  learning,  by  indefinite  and  uncertain  public 

report,  the  conclusions  formed  by  the  King's  Attorney- 
General,  pnd  the  Minute  which  the  Council  rendered  in  con- 

sequence of  it.  I  never  would  have  believed  such  was  the 

case,  if  I  had  not  examined  the  minutes  of  the  meeting  at 

which  I  was  not  present."  He  then  asked  that  a  copy  of  the 
proceedings  should  be  produced.  The  Attorney-General,  on 

his  part,  applied  for  a  copy  of  the  Governor's  remarks.  With 
regard  to  the  petition  of  de  Mareuil,  the  Attorney-General 
was  instructed  to  obtain  explanation  from  the  liishop  on 
the  subject. 

There  was  a  meeting  on  the  15th  of  May;  dc  Frontenac 
said  that  it  was  not  extraordinary  that  de  Mareuil  desired 

that  his  case  should  be  adjudicated  on  without  delay,  for  it  was 
painful  to  him  to  be  deprived  of  the  sacraments,  and  to  be 

considered  by  everybody  as  an  infamous  scoundrel,  held  up  to 
general  horror  and  detestation.  Justice  demanded  that  it 

should  be  determined,  whether  or  not  he  was  guilty,  and  Com- 
missioners should  be  appointed,  to  examine  into  the  case.  The 

Attorney-General  explained  that  the  depositions  were  not 
completed.  De  Frontenac  answered  that  he  had  no  know- 

ledge of  any  evidence  against  de  Mareuil  ;  but  he  had  cer- 
tainly heard,  that,  for  several  days  parties  had  been  working 

night  and  morning  to  obtain  it.  As  Governor-General,  he 
was  more  zealous  than  any  other  person  for  the  punishment 

of  vice  and  scandal  ;  he  recominended  the  Attorney-General 

to  use  despatch,  and,  should  he  see  neglect  on  dc  Froiitcnac's 
part  as  Governor-General  and  Chief  of  the  Council,  the 

Attorney-General  should  call  upon  him  to  fulfil  the  duty 

exacted  by  his  position.  The  Attorney-General  had  the 
audacity  to  say  that  he  did  not  acknowledge  the  Governor  as 
Chief  of  the  Council  ;  it  was  a  title  which  the  King  had 
decided  he  should  not  take  ;  and  that  the  Intcndant  should 
not  assume  the  title  of  President.  De  Frontenac  drew  atten- 

tion to  the  fact  that  the  remonstrance  made  by  him  eight  days 
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back  had  been  inserted  in  the  register,  in  accordance  with 

custom,  although  the  Attorney-General  had  given  the 
opinion  that  the  registers  should  not  contain  useless  matter. 

The  Attorney-General  made  a  humble  apology,  for  having 
objected  to  what  the  Governor  had  claimed  to  be  within  his 

authority.  He  now  asked,  that  the  Council  should  proceed  to 
its  ordinary  business,  and  that  a  report  should  be  made  on  a 

future  occasion.  The  Intendant  begged  the  Governor  not  to 

renew  the  old  discussions  as  to  his  position  in  the  Council ; 
the  King  had  determined  the  question  on  the  29th  of  May, 

1680.  As  these  proceedings  would  delay  the  course  of  justice 
in  the  cases  to  be  submitted,  it  would  be  necessary  to  name 

special  days  to  consider  the  case.  He  asked  the  Governor 
not  to  have  placed  on  record  what  had  been  said.  De 

Frontenac  judged  differently,  and  persevered  in  his  request, 

that  the  record  should  be  made,  and  it  was  entered  upon  the 
minutes. 

On  the  24th  of  March  it  was  resolved  that  all  that  had 

taken  place  should  be  submitted  to  the  King ;  and  the 

Attorney-General  made  the  request,  that  the  Governor  should 
abstain  from  being  present;  when  the  paper  which  on  that 
occasion  he  presented,  was  being  discussed.  On  the  29th  of 

March,  the  matter  again  came  up.  The  Governor  required 
explanations  with  regard  to  the  minute  of  the  24th.  He  did 
not  see  that  it  sufficiently  explained  his  own  position,  whether 
he  should  continue  to  act  as  judge  in  the  case  of  de  Mareuil ; 

moreover,  it  was  indefinite  on  the  subject  of  the  plays  which 

had  been  acted,  and  with  regard  to  the  course  proposed  to  be 
taken  by  the  Council.  The  Council  explained,  that  there  was 
no  intention  to  ask  the  Governor  to  abstain  from  acting  as 

judge,  and  that  there  was  no  desire  that  he  should  not  be 

present. On  the  19th  of  April  there  was  a  recess;  all  business  was 

adjourned  so  that  the  year's  crop  could  be  sown  ;  and  from  the 
20th  of  April  there  was  no  meeting  until  the  nth  of  June,  when 
de  Frontenac  attended.  He  expressed  himself  on  this  occasion, 

as  he  usually  spoke,  with  firmness  and  unmistakeably.     He 
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considered  that  the  cases  of  de  Mareuil,  of  Madame  D6bryeux, 

and  of  de  Joidi,  together  with  the  demand  for  full  informa- 
tion on  the  disorders  and  scandals,  said  to  have  taken  place  in 

the  representation  of  stage  plays,  were  sufficiently  important 

to  be  laid  before  his  Majesty.  It  was  necessary  to  determine 
whether  in  this  case  the  Bishop  had  not  passed  the  limit  of 

his  authority,  and  infringed  upon  the  jurisdiction  of  the 
King,  and,  therefore,  everyone  should  personally  place  his 
vote  on  record. 

The  Attorney-General  considered,  that  as  this  proposition 
established  a  new  procedure  in  the  Council,  the  register  should 

be  examined  to  learn  what  hitherto  had  been  the  practice. 
On  the  23rd  of  June  a  petition  was  presented  by  de  Mareuil, 
complaining  that  three  months  and  a  half  had  passed  since 

his  first  petition  had  been  sent  to  the  Attorney-General. 
He  asked  that  it  should  be  reported  upon  without  delay,  and 

that  he  should  have  honest  and  immediate  justice.  On  the 

2Sth  of  June,  the  Attorney-General  reported  upon  the  disorders 
and  scandals,  said  to  have  arisen  from  the  performances  given 

by  the  Governor  during  the  Carnival.  The  Bishop  had  not 

protested  in  any  extraordinary  manner  against  the  plays 

which  had  been  performed,  but  against  those  it  was  announced 
were  about  to  be  performed  ;  and  it  was  the  latter  he  had 

described  as  impious  and  impure.  These  matters  could  (^"'.y 
be  made  to  apjjear  of  real  importance,  by  the  part  which  the 
Governor  had  taken ;  for  the  Council  would  not  fail  to  oppose 

an\-  attempt  of  the  Bishop,  if  he  desired  to  exceed  his 
authority,  to  the  prejudice  of  that  of  the  King.  On  the  point 

of  the  record  of  the  vote  being  taken  by  names,  the  Attorney- 
General  was  of  opinion,  that  it  would  be  contrary  to  custom, 
but  recommended  that  the  matter  should  be  submitted  to 

France.  On  the  5th  of  July  the  Bishop  attended,  and 
dcmr.iided  to  be  furnished  with  copies  of  the  proceedings. 

The  Council  adjourned  on  the  30th  of  August,  until  the 

harvest  should  be  gathered. 

The  meetings  re-commenced  on  the  iith  of  October, when 
the  Bishop  was  present.     He  stated  that  he  was  desirous  of 
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giving  expression  to  his  views,  but,  as  neither  the  Governor 
nor  the  Intendant  was  in  his  place,  he  would  defer  so  doing. 

He  would,  however,  ask  to  be  informed  of  the  opinion  of  the 
Council,  as  it  was  his  intention  shortly  to  proceed  to  France. 

On  the  Intendant  entering,  it  was  agreed  that  the  Bishop 
should  make  his  explanation  in  writing.  The  document  is 

not  recorded.  At  the  next  meeting,  the  14th  of  October, 

Dupont  reported  this  paper  had  been  placed  in  the  hands  of 
the  Governor,  who  had  replied  he  had  nothing  to  say  further, 

than  that  he  was  surprised  the  Intendant  and  the  Council 
having  heard  it  read,  had  done  so  without  comment. 

Later  on  the  same  day,  the  Bishop  attended,  and  expressed 

the  opinion  that,  after  his  departure  for  France,  the  Governor 
would  shew  his  displeasure  in  his  treatment  of  the  Cures.  He 
asked  the  Council  to  take  into  consideration,  what  he  had 

written  for  the  protection  of  himself  and  the  clergy,  and  to 
order  that  the  whole  case  should  be  submitted  to  the  King; 

while  at  an  extraordinary  meeting  *  of  the  same  date,  the 
arrest  of  de  Mareuil  was  ordered.  Dc  Villeray  was  named  as 
a  Commissioner  to  conduct  his  examination.  On  the  attempt 

being  made  to  follow  out  this  course,  de  Mareuil  protested 

against  it,  on  the  ground  that  in  October  of  the  last  year  de 

Villeray  had  complained  to  the  Governor,  that  de  Mareuil  had 
struck  one  of  his  servants.  A  quarrel  had  arisen  through 

de  Villeray's  man  having  attempted  to  interfere  with 
some  horses  belonging  to  M.  dc  Frontcnac.  De  Mareuil 

stated,  that  the  man  had  impudently  remarked,  that,  neither 
he,  nor  his  master,  cared  for  the  Governor,  and  he  had  chasti-sed 

him.  De  Mareuil  had  been  accused  of  saying  that  the  master, 

as  well  as  the  man,  deserved  the  cudgel.  The  Council  over- 
ruled the  objection,  and  de  Villeray  was  directed  to  continue 

the  investigation  of  the  case. 

On  the  15th  of  November  the  extreme  course  was  taken 

by  the  Attorney-General,  of  recommending  that  de  Mareuil 
should    be   refused   communication    with   any   person  ;    and 

*  "  le  Conseil  assemble  extraoulinairement."     Con.  .Souv.  HI.,  p.  ̂ )2i. 
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shortly  afterwards  he  was  transferred  to  the  palais,  and  held 
in  close  custody. 

On  the  29th,  the  Governor  attended  with  a  petition 

addressed  to  him  by  de  Mareuil.  He  demanded  that  it 

should  be  registered.  Some  feeble  objections  were  made. 

The  Attorney-General  remarked,  that  the  Council  could  not 

prevent  what  the  Governor-General  insisted  upon.  It  was, 
however,  his  duty  to  let  the  King  know,  that  he  had  no 

part  in  the  proceeding,  more  especially  as  the  petition  was 
replete  with  statements  in  opposition  to  the  truth.  He  asked, 
therefore,  that  the  document  should  be  submitted  before  its 

registration ;  but  de  Frontenac  summarily  closed  the  dis- 
cussion. He  ordered  the  registration  both  of  the  petition, 

and  his  own  memorandum  accompanying  it ;  and  the  papers 

could  then  be  referred  to  the  Attorney-General.  After  this 
he  retired. 

« 

The  petition  of  de  Mareuil  set  forth  the  whole  case  at  issue. 

In  the  month  of  January,  1694,  a  report  was  spread  that  the 

"Tartuffe"  was  to  be  acted,  and  that  de  Mareuil  was  to  play  the 
principal  part.  The  idea,  even,  of  this  proceeding  threw  the 
Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  into  such  a  passionate  rage,  that  after 

the  sermon  of  the  17th  of  January  he  condemned  all  comedies 
and  tragedies  as  bad  in  themselves ;  and  he  forbade  every  one 

to  be  present  at  the  performance  of  the  "  Tartuffe,"  under  the 
penalty  of  excommunication,  for  having  committed  a  mortal 

sin.  At  the  same  time  the  Bishop  published  another  inaiide- 
incnt,  by  which  he  interdicted  de  Mareuil  from  entry  into 
a  Church,  and  from  use  of  the  sacraments,  on  account  of  his 

impieties  and  blasphemies  against  God  and  his  Saints, 
which  the  sanctity  of  the  place  did  not  permit  him  to  repeat. 

This  proceeding  had  been  taken,  without  previous  admoni- 
tion having  been  addressed  to  him.  The  case  had  been 

broug'it  before  the  Council,  and  all  his  petitions  for  justice  had 
been  eluded.  He  had  been  led  to  hope,  that  the  matter  would 

be  accommodated,  and  with  this  end  in  view,  no  specification 
had  been  made  of  his  crime. 

De  Mareuil  boldly  accused  the  Attorney-General  of  having 
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joined  the  cabal  against  him,  and  of  acting  illegally  in  not 
having  seen  that  the  forms  of  law  had  been  observed.  He 
likewise  complained  that  de  Villeray,  actuated  by  private 

enmity,  should  have  been  deputed  to  make  the  examination 

of  his  case;  consequently,  he  had  refused  to  answer  the  ques- 
tions addressed  to  him.  He  protested  against  his  unjust 

imprisonment.  No  specification  of  his  crime  had  been  com- 
municated to  him.  He  had  sent  a  petition  through  the 

Attorney-General,  which  had  only  after  delay  been  submitted 
to  the  Council.  He  appealed  personally  to  de  Frontenac,  as  to 

the  truth  of  the  grounds,on  which  he  had  challenged  deVilleray 

as  reporting  Commissioner  in  his  case.  He  protested  against 
the  course  taken,  as  contrary  to  law  and  justice.  He  pointed 
out  that  the  Bishop,  having  issued  the  mandcmcnt  against 

him,  could  not  be  accepted  as  his  accuser;  that  his  crime,  as 
it  was  set  forth,  did  not  come  within  the  competence  of  the 

Bishop  as  judge ;  that  the  papers  had  not  been  submitted  ;  and 
that  it  was  plain  that,  if  the  niandemcnt  had  been  made 
without  previous  denunciation,  and  on  information  which 
could  not  be  produced,  it  must  be  considered  as  absolutely  false, 

and  be  pronounced  to  have  been  improperly  and  calumniously 

presented  and  published. 

He  accused  the  Attorney-General  of  endeavouring  to  cover 
the  false  step  of  the  Bishop  by  the  ruin  of  the  petitioner,  and 
he  charged  him  in  addition,  with  having  gone  among  those 
who  had  known  him  for  years,  to  endeavour  to  find  evidence 

as  to  his  life  and  manners.  He  declared  that  the  Attorney- 

General  had  kept  a  witness  in  prison,  in  order  that  by  intimi- 
dation, he  might  obtain  the  desired  evidence.  On  the  ground 

that  some  injury  had  been  done  to  the  Bishop's  windows, 
other  persons,  who  were  thought  to  have  knowledge  of  the 

matter,  had  been  called  upon  to  testify,  and  they  had  been 
threatened  to  be  chastised,  and  driven  from  the  city,  if  they 

failed  to  give  evidence  on  points,  which,  they  had  been  told, 
were  known  to  be  within  their  cognizance. 

He  appealed  to  the  Governor-General  for  justice.  He  set 
forth,  that  he  would  suffer  much  by  his  detention  as  a  prisoner. 
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He  set 

M-isoner, 

should  his  confinement  continue,  until  the  Council  obtained 

the  information  they  desired.  He  asked  for  the  appointment 

of  another  Commissioner  to  investigate  his  case,  and  con- 
cluded by  a  prayer  for  his  release,  on  his  engaging  hereafter 

to  present  himself  immediately,  on  the  demand  by  the 
Governor  for  his  appearance. 

The  memorandum  of  de  Frontenac  is  as  remarkable  as 

the  petition,  which  must  strike  every  one  who  reads  it,  by  the 
boldness  and  ability  with  which  it  is  written.  It  can  be  well 

understood  how  the  Council,  with  the  Attorney-General,  were 

opposed  to  the  registration  of  such  a  paper.  It  was  not  sim- 
ply an  appeal  to  the  highest  authority  in  France;  it  was  a 

record  by  which  posterity  can  judge,  what  little  protection 
there  was  for  the  individual,  in  the  system  of  that  day, 

except  in  the  loyalty  and  devotion  to  duty  of  the  King's 
representative. 

Dc  Frontenac  told  the  Council,  that  the  affair  of  the  Sieur  de 

Marcuil  had  been  marked  by  so  extraordinary  and  irregular 
a  commencement,  that  less  astonishment  must  be  felt  at 

what  had  followed.  He  had  hoped,  that  on  the  remon- 
strance made  by  him  on  the  8th  of  March,  the  Council 

would  have  given  some  reflection  to  the  duties  which  they 

had  to  perform,  without  inflicting  a  wound  on  the  authority' 
of  the  King,  and  on  public  liberty.* 

He  had  no  desire  to  screen  de  Mareuil  in  any  fault  he 
might  have  committed,  and  he  pointed  out  that  it  was  his 

Captain  of  the  Guard,  who  had  been  the  means  of  de  Mareuil's 
arrest ;  that  every  influence  had  been  exercised  to  lead  the 

latter  to  escape,  disguised  as  a  sailor,  but  it  was  known  that 
the  attempt  would  have  drawn  down  his  indignation.  For  if 
de  Mareuil  had  committed  the  fault  with  which  he  was  charged, 
he  ought  not  to  remain  unpunished ;  and  he  himself  would  be 
wanting  in  what  he  owed  to  the  public  weal  if  he  did  not 

intervene.     The  Council  were  evidently  carried  away  by  their 

*  "Mais  seulement  que  La  perquisition  s'en  fit  d'vue  maniere  qui  fut  dans  les 
formes  et  qui  Ne  pust  donner  aucune  atteinte  a  lautorite  du  Roy  et  a  la  liberie 

Publique."     Con.  Souv,  III.,  p.  952. 
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partisanship.  They  were  neglecting  both  form  and  practice, 
and  were  led  by  their  private  passions  ;  evidently  hating  the 
man  more  than  his  crime. 

"  Thus,  gentlemen,"  he  concluded,  "  I  have  come  to  declare 
to  you,  that  I  ought  not,  and  that  I  cannot  suffer  the  Sicur 
de  Marcuil  longer  to  be  detained  in  prison  ;  that  I  shall  at 
once  release  him  on  the  offer  he  has  made  to  me  ;  with  my 
assurance  to  replace  him  in  his  present  position,  when  his 

appeal  to  the  Courts  against  your  judgment,  and  when  the  will 

of  the  King  shall  be  made  known." 
That  day  week,  de  Frontenac  sent  down  the  Captain  of  his 

Guard,  and  released  the  prisoner. 

This  was  not  the  only  difficulty  which  arose  from  the  preten- 
sions of  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  to  dominate  over  the  private 

lives  of  men,  and  to  claim  for  his  clergy  a  supremacy  in  their 

parishes,  in  every  relation  of  life,  certainly  at  no  time 
possessed  by  the  clergy  in  France.  On  the  23rd  of  March 
the  Governor  brought  before  the  Council  the  case  of  the  wife 

of  Jean  Debryeux.  The  Cure  of  Batiscan,  M.  Foucault,  had 
interdicted  her,  and  on  her  entering  a  petition  against  the 

proceeding,  the  Cure  from  his  pulpit  had  stated  that  all  those 
who  had  given  testimony  in  her  favour,  were  false  witnesses. 

He  threatened  with  prison  one  Sans-Quartier,  a  corporal  of 

de  Vaudreuil's  company,  who  still  kept  up  his  good  feeling 
towards  Madame  Debryeux ;  and  a  man  who  had  sung  a  song 
displeasing  to  the  Cure,  was  told  that  he  should  be  tied  to  a 

post,  and  whipped  by  little  boys,  to  whom  prunes  and  sugar 
plums  would  be  given  for  what  they  did. 

In  July,  Madame  Debryeux  herself  lodged  a  petition 
against  the  treatment  she  had  received ;  but,  the  influence  of 

the  clergy  was  so  powerful,  that  she  could  not  find  any  one 
who  would  act  as  her  attorney. 

On  the  same  day  a  petition  *  was  presented  by  Francois 
de  Jordi,  half-pay  Captain  of  Marine,  against  Messrs.  Fou- 
quet  and  Bouquin,  Cures  of  Champlain  and  Batiscan,  asking 

that  they  should  declare  the  reasons,  for  which  they  had  inter- 

*  Appel  d'abus. 
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dieted  the  churches  to  him,  and  praying  to  be  informed  on 

what  ground  the  viandeincnt  on  the  subject  had  been  obtained 
from  the  Bishop. 

Acting  on  common  report,  without  any  scandal  having 
called  for  their  interference,  these  ecclesiastics  had  assumed 

that  an  intrigue  was  being  carried  on  by  the  proscribed  par- 
ties. In  the  course  taken  by  them,  they  had  to  some  extent 

acted  at  the  dictation  of  the  Bishop.  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  had, 

in  the  first  instance,  represented  <^he  matter  to  M.  de  Vau- 

dreuil,  and  on  de  Jordi's  having  been  ordered  away  to  Sorel, 
the  Bishop  undertook  to  leave  the  matter  unnoticed ;  but  it 
became  known  that  Captain  de  Jordi  had  again  visited  these 

parishes,  and  the  two  Cur^s  had  considered  it  necessary  to 
interdict  him,  and  the  supposed  erring  lady,  from  the  church 
and  the  sacraments. 

During  the  summer.  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  had  visited 
Sorel.  From  this  place,  in  a  private  letter  to  de  Frontenac, 

the  Bishop  reported  that  three  officers  were  absent  from  the 
mass  of  the  Sexagcsima.  Two  of  them  he  named,  de  Jordi 

and  Bourgchemin,  as  presenting  a  bad  example.  De  Fronte- 
nac, as  every  gentleman  would  do,  considering  that  no  private 

communication  should  be  received,  where  the  character 

of  an  officer  was  at  stake,  placed  the  letter  in  the  hands  of 

those  implicated,  and  asked  for  an  explanation.  The  officers 

easily  established  the  fact,  that  they  were  constant  attendants 

at  church.  De  Champigny,  in  recording  the  fact,*  evidently 
thought  it  perfectly  justifiable  for  the  Bishop  to  make  an 

underhand  report,  and  could  not  understand  de  Frontenac's 
loyalty  of  character,  in  declining  to  receive  it  in  that  form. 

These  petitions  were  referred  to  France.  An  extraordinary 
proceeding  on  the  part  of  the  Bishop  was  his  attack  on  de 
Callicres.  Like  de  Frontenac,  he  was  a  friend  of  the  Recollets, 
and  it  was  their  services  which  he  attended.  On  an  occasion  of 

the  admission  of  some  novices,  de  Callieres,  then  Governor  of 

Montreal,  was  officially  present.  The  position  taken  by  him 

in  the  church  was  displeasing  to  the  Bishop,  who  was  per- 

*  Pari.  MS.,  Vol.  VII.,  page  no. 
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forming  the  ceremony.  De  Callicres  was  kneeling  at  his  Prie- 
Dieu  when  the  iJishop  approached  him,  antl  told  him  that  he 

was  occupying  a  place  uiiich  belonged  only  to  M.  dc  Fron- 
tenac.  De  Callicres  claimed,  that  as  Governor  of  Montreal 

he  had  the  right  to  be  where  he  was.  The  Bishop  indignantly 

answered  that  if  de  Calli^-res  retained  the  position,  he  would 
himself  retire.  De  Callicres  remarked,  that  he  could  do  as  he 

saw  fit,  upon  which  the  Bishop  angrily  left  the  church,  and 
the  superior  of  the  Rccollets,  Father  Joseph,  completed  the 
ceremony. 

The  Bishop  ordered  the  Prie-Dicn  to  be  removed.*  De 
Callicres  had  it  replaced,  and  marched  a  guard  to  the  church 

to  protect  it.  The  Bishop  laid  the  church  under  edict.  The 
matter  not  being  accommodated,  the  church  was  opened  by 

the  Rccollets  on  their  own  authority.,  The  Intendant 
endeavoured  to  effect  some  compromise;  but,  failing  to  do  so, 

he  pointed  out  that  he  was  held  by  his  instructions  to  support 
the  Bishop,  and  that  the  Rccollets  risked  losing  the  favour  of 
the  King.  The  church  remaining  open,  two  monitions  were 

given  after  service  in  the  Montreal  parish  church,  and  the 

interdict  on  the  Rccollets'  church  was  continued. 
Mention  of  de  Callicres'  name  had  been  introduced  into 

the  monition,  in  which  allusion  was  made  to  him,  as  having 

improper  relations  with  the  siste>"  of  the  Superior  of  the 
Rccollets,  Madame  de  la  Naudiere.  De  Callicres  was  not 

the  man  to  submit  to  this  indignity ;  he  drew  up  a  statement, 
which  he  ordered  a  Major  of  his  Staff  to  publish  by  beat  of 
drum  and  affix  to  the  church  door  during  vespers,  and  he  placed 

a  sentry  to  prevent  any  interference  with  it.  De  Callicres, 
in  this  proclamation,  declared  that  the  statement  introduced 
into  the  monition  with  regard  to  himself  was  a  calumny,  of 
which  the  Bishop  wished  to  avail  himself,  in  order  to  authorize 

*  De  Champigny  reports  this  matter  as  if  de  Callicres'  seat  had  been  removed 
for  the  sake  of  convenience.  "II  fit  oter  le  banc  de  M.  de  Callicres  pour  placer 

le  sien,  parce  qu'il  se  trouvait  i  la  gauche,  et  avance  vers  I'autel,  a  cause  que  I'eglise 

est  fort  petite." 
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his  pretended  interdict  aj^ainst  the  Rccollcts' Church,  contrary 
to  their  privileges,  and  that  he  had  [)rcscnted  a  petition  to 
the  Conseil  Souverain,  asking  that  reparation  should  be  made 

to  his  honour.* 
The  matter  came  up  in  the  Council  on  the  13th  of  Decem- 

ber, 1694.  De  Callicres  petitioned  that  certain  monitions  and 

mnndcnicnts  should  be  declared  null,  and  reparation  be  made 

him  by  the  Bishop  and  ecclesiastics.  On  his  side,  M.  de 
Saint  Vallier  expressed  his  astonishment  that  de  Callicres, 

b)'  beat  of  drum,  should  have  published  a  libel  in  front  of 
the  church  during  Divine  service,  and  have  affi.xed  it  to  the 

church-porch,  placing  a  sentry  to  protect  it.  The  matter  was 
referred  to  the  King. 

The  French  Governors  of  Canada,  at  the  close  of  the 

seventeenth  century,  were  not  held  back  from  their  purpose, 

by  a  few  written  words  from  an  ecclesiastic  pronounced  ex 
cathcdrA,  when  they  felt  that  these  utterances  were  without 
warrant,  and  unjust. 

D'Auteuil  made  a  report  of  the  proceedings  to  France. 
Mis  statements  are  marked  by  bad  faith,  and  want  of  respect 

towards  M.  de  Frontenac.  In  order  to.  create  prejudice 

against  the  Governor,  he  alluded  to  the  events  of  1678-79-80, 
when  disputes  arose  as  to  the  relative  position  of  the  chief 

officers  of  the  Council  ;  and  he  went  so  far  as  to  say  that 
when  de  Frontenac  desired  a  particular  course  to  be  followed, 

he  allowed  no  liberty  of  action,  and  imputed  to  disobedience 

and  want  of  respect  any  difference  of  opinion  with  his  views. 
That  those  who  did  differ  with  him  incurred  his  resentment; 

they  were  deprived  of  the  favours,  the  King  allowed  the 
Governor  to  dispense,  and  were  exposed  to  contempt, 
insults  and  menaces,  and  even  blows,  from  persons  placed 
near  the  Governor,  who  were  sustained  by  him.     Such  results 

*  "  E^t  comme  le  nom  de  M.  de  Ci.lliere,  se  troiive  cwh  dans  une  de  ses  moni- 
tions \  cause  du  commerce  prelendii,  dont  il  est  .accuse  depuis  lonj;  temps  avec  la 

meme  .Sneur  du  Supeiieur  des  Recollets."  De  Cliampigny  au  Ministre  27  octobre, 
1694.     I'ar  MS.  VII.,  p.  107. 
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had  taken  place,  and  would  a^ain  happen  unless  the  autho- 
rities in  France  saw  fit  to  intervene.* 

It  was,  however,  all  in  vain.  The  papers,  when  read  at  the 

Court,  must  have  impressed  those  authorized  to  i)ass  judg- 
ment on  them,  in  the  same  way  as  they  have  affected  the 

historical  student  of  modern  days.  There  could  be  no 

misconception  of  the  unwise  and  mischievous  pretensions 
of  M.  de  Saint  Vallicr.  He  was  himself  in  France,  to  hear 

the  expressions  of  dissatisfaction,  which  these  ecclesiastical 

pretensions  had  called  forth  in  Canada,  and  to  offer  his 

explanations  on  the  subject. 
The  form  in  which  the  dispute  was  settled  was  so  far 

efficacious,  that,  although  it  had  threatened  at  one  time  to  lead 

to  serious  complications,  the  peace  of  the  colony  was  not 
further  disturbed.  But  dc  Frontcnac  did  not  obtain  ju.stice  ; 
neither  his  service,  nor  his  age,  nor  the  stronger  arguments  of 
the  undoubted  equity  and  political  sagacity  of  his  views,  nor 

the  judgment  and  moderation  with  which  he  had  acted  in  sub- 
duing the  cabal  against  him,  received  proper  recognition.  He 

was  generally  sustained  in  the  course  he  had  taken,  but  at 
the  same  time  he  was  warned  hereafter  to  avoid  quarrels;  an 

exhortation,  as  meaningless  as  offensive,  if  he  was  to  perform 

his  duty  in  defending  the  prerogatives  of  his  position,  and  to 
obtain  justice  for  those  of  humbler  rank,  from  whom  it  had 
been  withheld.  De  Champigny  was  called  to  account,  in 

language  amounting  to  censure,  for  not  sustaining  the  Gov- 
ernor :  and  was  instructed  to  notify  de  Villeray  that  his 

conduct  was  displeasing  to  the  King.  This  censure,  de 

Villeray,  from  the  littleness  of  his  character,  would  ever 

retain  stamped  on  his  memory.  The  Attorney-General  was 
summarily  reproved.  He  was  ordered  to  apologise  to  the 

Governor,  and  told  that  a  repetition  of  the  course  which 
had  marked  his  conduct  would  lead  to  his  dismissal.  Dc 

Callieres  was  desired  not  to  interfere  in  the  disputes  between 

the  Bishop  and  the  Recollets.     His   brother  was  a  man  of 

*  26  October,  1694.     Par.  MS.  VII.,  p.  99. 
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innuciicc  at  Court,  and,  no  doubt,  obtained  the  car  of  dc 

I'ontchartrain.  * 

We  may  trace  in  these  proccedinjjs  the  consequences  gen- 
erally observable  under  arbitrary  t:^overnmcnt.  In  trying 

circumstances,  only  the  success  of  a  measure,  taken  to  meet 
an  emergency,  is  considered.  The  sacrifice  of  the  individual, 
or  the  determination  to  uphold  him,  often  depends  on  the 
hidden  influences  of  personal  favour  and  intrigue.  No  act  of 

de  Frontcnac's  life  redounds  more  to  his  honour,  than  his  beha- 
viour on  this  occasion,  distinguished  by  judgment,  moderation 

and  firmness.  He  unselfishly  incurred  responsibility  in  oppos- 
ng  the  unjust  treatment  of  a  man  without  personal  weight, 

by  a  swarm  of  political  gad-flies,  who  sought  every  hour  to 
sting  him  to  irritation.  His  conduct,  it  is  true,  was  approved, 

but  the  approval  was  accompanied  by  the  unjust  and  offensive 
recommendation  of  the  necessity  of  avoiding  quarrels. 

Independently  of  the  disputes  I  have  recorded,  M.  dc  Saint 
Vallier  was  engaged  in  a  quarrel  with  the  Quebec  Seminary, 

which  led  to  much  unfriendliness  of  feeling.  The  Seminary 
went  so  far  as  to  represent  to  the  French  Court  that  the  Bishop 

•  \Vu  obtain  a  glimpse  of  what  took  ])lace  in  France  relative  to  this  dispute 
from  the  Report  of  M.  Tremhlay,  of  the  (Quebec  .Sen-:,iary  : — 

"Ce  qu 'il  y  a  eu  de  facheux  est  que  les  officiers  ont  fait  inettre  dans  les 
gazettes  d'hollande  et  de  flandre,  que  M.  I'Evesque  estoit  repasse  en  franca  a  cause 
des  differens  qui  s'estoint  eslevez  entre  lui,  le  Gouverneur  les  officiers  et  quelques 
Communanlez  regulieres  et  qu  'il  venoit  remeltre  son  Evesche  cntre  les  mains  du 
Roy  ;  vous  ne  doutez  point  que  du  caractere  d'esprit  dont  11  est  cela  ne  I'ait  porte 
a  se  roidir  davantage  contre  ces  faux  bruits  et  a  ]irendre  la  resolution  et  la  publier 

partout  qu'a  quelque  prix  que  ce  soit  il  retoumera  en  Canada." 
"  On  ne  pent  estre  plus  descrie  qu  il  I'a  esle  a  la  cour  par  des  bruits  repandus 

par  ces  officiers,  on  a  sur  tout  relev<5  les  cent  pistolles  donneez  pour  empescher  la 
comedie  du  Tartuffe,  Chacun  en  parloit  selon  son  caprice.  On  ressembloit  votre 
iiiterdit  celui  des  Recollets  et  de  ces  officiers.  On  disoit  sur  cela  plusiers  choses 

mesme  fausses  qu  'il  vaut  mieux  ensevelir  dans  I'oably  que  les  escrire  ;  Mais  ce  qui 
estoit  plus  fascheux,  C'est  qu'on  prenoit  de  la  occasion  de  descrier  la  devotion  el  les 
devots  c  j»nme  gens  incommode  et  avec  qui  il  est  impossible  de  vivre  en  paix,  et  les 

personnes  mesme  les  plus  sages  en  prenoint  occasion  de  dire  qu'il  valoit  beancoup 
mieux  dofiner  les  Eveschez  a  des  gens  qui  neussent  pas  tant  de  piete  apparente  et 

plus  de  bon  sens  qu'a  ces  devots  indiscrets,  qui  mettent  tout  en  trouble  et  en  com- 

bustion." 
Can,  Arch.,  pp.  Ixxvi-viii. 
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was  unfit  for  his  position.  *  We  may  infc  that  it  was  owing 
to  this  cause  that  he  proceeded  to  France  in  1694.  Pere 
la  Chaise  was  at  that  time  confessor  to  Louis  XIV.,  and  in 

full  power  at  Versailles.  One  cause  of  the  disaccord  is  trace- 
able to  the  request  of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  in  the  days  of  M. 

de  Seignelay,  that  all  the  missionaries  sent  from  France  should 

be  directly  placed  under  his  authority,  and  that  the  appoint- 
ment of  Vicars  Apostolic  by  Rome  should  be  revoked,  f 

The  dispute  had  been  settled  in  1792  by  a  commissio;v  con- 

sisting of  Archbishop  de  Noailles  and  Pere  la  Cha:?'*^-,on  a 
petition  presented  by  M.  Brisacier,  Superior  of  the  Seminary 

of  F^oreign  Missions,  representing  the  Seminary  of  Quebec. 
The  pretensions  of  the  Bishop  seem  to  have  been  gen  .rally 

sustained.:):  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  so  far  obtained  control  over 

the  appointments  made  by  the  Seminary,  that,  to  be  valid, 

they  had  to  be  submitted  to  him  ;  and  the  Superior  and 
Directors  were  limited  to  five  in  number,  their  proceedings 

fettered  by  the  necessity  of  obtaining  the  Bishop's  authority. 
The  views  entertained  by  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  on  the  subject 

of  the  cures  were  sustained,  and  he  obtained  recognition  of  the 
rank  which  he  had  claimed  for  his  Grand  Vicaircs. 

The  extent  of  the  dissatisfaction  of  the  Seminary  is  on 
record.  On  the  arrival  of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  at  Paris,  he  was 

desirous  of  taking  up  his  residence  eit  the  Seminary  of  Foreign 
Missions.  Pere  Tremblay  was  then  the  agent  of  the  Quebec 

Seminary  at  Paris,  and  we  have  from  him,  the  Report  of  what 
took  place.  4J 

*  Mandements,  Lettres  Pastorales  et  Circulaires  ties  fiveques  de  Quebec, 

I.,  p.  162. 
t  Mandements.     Memoire  without  dat";,  I.,  p.  292. 

X  Edits  et  Ordonnances,  I.,  pp.  265-269. 
§  Tliis  impoitant  document  appears  on  the  Archives  Report  of  1S77.  The 

literary  world  is  again  indebted  to  "  Laval  "  for  its  publication.  Pere  Tremblay 
arrived  in  Quebec  in  16S7.  In  1692,  owing  to  his  abilities,  he  was  named  agent 

of  the  Seminary  at  Paris  ;  and,  it  is  said,  equally  from  the  dislike  of  the  Bishop, 

who  did  not  find  him  sufficiently  pliable.  He  held  this  office  until  1728,  when  he 

resigned,  f>wing  to  his  total  loss  of  sight.  He  died  in  1 741.  The  good  intelligence 
between  himself  and  the  Bishop,  in  1695,  was  certairly  not  remarkable. 

n  est  J) 
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M.  de  Saint  Vallicr  on  his  arrival,  while  declaring  that  he 

had  returned  to  France  owing  to  his  disputes  in  Canada  with 
M.  de  Frontenac,  announced  his  entire  reconciliation  with  the 

Seminary.  To  confirm  this  statement,  he  desired  to  take  up 

his  abode  at  the  Seminary  of  P'oreign  Missions.  The  pro- 
position was  avoided,  and  his  representative,  M.  dc  la  Palliere, 

was  asked  to  dissuade  the  Bishop  from  making  the  request. 
On  some  former  occasion  the  Bishop  had  said  that  the  members 

of  the  Quebec  Seminar}-  were  not  worthy  of  the  honour  of 
his  living  with  them,  and  the  expression  was  now  remembered. 

M.  de  Saint  Vallier  accordingly  took  up  his  residence  at  the 
Petit  Scminaire  de  St.  Sulpicc. 

There  was  at  this  time  in  Canada  no  relaxation  on  the  part 
of  the  Quebec  Seminary  in  their  opposition  to  M.  de  Saint 
Vallier.  A  letter  of  M.  de  la  Colombiere  was  laid  before  the 

King,  which  plainly  stated,  that  neither  in  France  nor  Canada, 
Monseigneur  should  undertake  the  duties  of  a  Bishopric,  which 

he  was  not  fit  to  t^overn.* 
According  to  Pcre  Trcmblay,  Archbishop  de  Noailles  and 

Fere  la  Chaise,  formed  the  opinion  that  it  was  necessary  to 

rewiove  M.  de  Saint  Vallier,  and  they  succeeded  in  impress- 

ing the  King  with  this  view.  The  Bishop,  however,  inti- 

mated his  purpose,  "  to  return  to  Canada  at  any  cost."  If 
this  unfavourable  opinion  ever  prevailed,  it  was  not  persevered 

in  ;  for  in  1697,  ]\I.  de  Saint  Vallier  returned  to  Canada  in 

charge  of  his  diocese.  The  only  records  obtainable  shew 

that  the  quarrel  did  take  place,  but  the  narrative  of  the  recon- 
ciliation has  yet  to  be  given  to  the  world. 

Although  matters  quietly,  and  unremarked,  reverted  to 

their  old  course,  these  disputes  left  their  influence  on  men's 
minds.  M.  de  Saint  Vallicr  remained  Bishop  of  Quebec  until 

1727.  He  was  accordingly  in  that  position  when  Charlevoix 
visited  Canada  in  1720.  The  Jesuit  historian  gives  a  pleasing 
picture  of  the  society  at  that  date  ;  and  it  was  not  marked  by 

*  "  II  [Pere  la  Chaise]  a  fait  tout  lattcntion  possible  surtout  a  lavis  qui  ycsl  que 

Mgr.  soil  en  France  soit  en  Canada  ne  doit  point  se  charger  d'uu  Eveschc  qu'il 
n'est  pas  propre  a  Gouveriier.'     Pure  Tremhlay,  Archives,  1887,  p.  l.xxvi. 
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austerity.  Of  M.  de  Saint  Vallier  himself  he  conveys  a 
favourable  impression.  He  lived  in  the  Hospital  as  Almoner, 
and  rented  his  palace  for  the  profit  of  the  poor.  Charlevoix 
describes  the  .society  of  Quebec  as  being  as  distinguished  as  in 

any  other  city.  They  played  games  of  chance  ;  arranged 
parties  of  pleasure  in  summer  in  calcc/ie,  in  winter  in  sleighs. 

Skating  was  in  vogue.*  There  was  no  great  variety  of  news 
in  the  country  to  discuss.  The  intelligence  from  Europe 

came  all  at  once  to  attract  attention  for  a  great  part  of  the 

year.  They  conversed  on  the  politics  of  the  past,  and  formed 
conjectures  for  the  future.  Science  and  the  beaux  arts  had 
their  share  of  attention.  The  Canadians,  that  is  to  say  the 

"Creoles  of  Canada,"  at  their  very  birth  1:  r-eathe  the  air  of 
liberty,  which  makes  them  exceedingly  agreeable  in  the  inter- 

course of  life.  "  Nowhere,"  wrote  the  Father,  "do  they  speak 

purer  French  ;  no  accent  can  be  remarked." 
It  is  evident  that  the  events  of  1694  were  not  lost  on  M. 

de  Saint  Vallier  for  society  was  not  again  convulsed  with 
the  unhappy  disputes  of  those  days. 

*  "  L'hiver  en  traine  sur  la  niege,  ou  en  patiiis  sur  lii  glace."     Letter  III. 
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CHAPTER  VI. 

De  Frontenac,  a  man  of  true  ability,  had  no  illusions  as  to 

the  aggressive  strength  of  the  Province  he  governed  ;  it  was 
not  from  insolence  that  his  expeditions  were  undertaken  :  his 

policy  was  dictated  by  the  end  he  had  in  view.  As  a  states- 
man he  knew  that  peace  was  assured  by  strength  to  resist 

attack,  and  it  was  peace  he  was  desiious  of  obtaining,  without 
uncalled  for  sacrifices,  and  on  the  conditions  desired  ;  he  was, 

therefore,  constafitly  ready  to  entertain  any  advances  from  the 

Iroquois  in  this  direction.  Consequently,  when  in  June  an 
Oneida  Chief  named  Tareha  came  to  Quebec,  he  was  kindly 
received.  He  was  of  the  tribe,  in  which  Father  Milct  had  been 

held  a  prisoner,  subsequently  to  be  elected  a  chief  In  this 
position  Milet  had  used  his  influence,  to  create  friendly  feelings 
towards  Canada,  and  one  of  the  results  he  attained,  was  the 

embassy  sent  to  Quebec.  De  Frontenac  asked  that  deputies 
from  each  tribe  should  attend  in  order  to  confer  with  him. 

Tareha  earned  back  this  proposal  to  his  people,  but  it  did  not 
find  favor  ;  nevertheless,  the  negotiations  were  not  closed. 

It  is  not  possible  to  believe,  that  anj'  hope  of  success  sug- 

gested the  offer  subsequently  submitted  to  de  I'rontenac. 
Tareha  with  other  chiefs  returned  to  Quebec  in  October,  to 

propose  that  a  meeting  should  be  held  in  .\lban}',  where  the 
terms  on  which  peace  would  be  obtained,  could  be  discussed. 

De  Frontenac  summarily  rejected  the  offer,  and  gave  the 
Chiefs  to  understand,  that  as  they  had  not  accepted  his 

propositions  when  kindly  made,  he  possessed  the  power  to 
enforce  his  own  policy.  The  Oneidas  thanked  the  Governor 

for  the  courtesy  they  personally  received,  and  were  dismissed 

with  presents.  The)'  had  been  accompanied  by  an  Indian 
woman,  no  longer  young,  Susanne,  who  had  always  protected 
French  prisoners.     Her  desire  had  been  to  see  de  Frontenac; 
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and  she  was  likewise  the  recipient  of  his  bounty.  But  the 
attempt  to  obtain  peace  failed. 

It  was  still  the  hope  of  de  Frontenac  to  detach  the  Iroquois 
from  the  English  alliance.  He  had  this  view  constantly 

before  him,  and  his  efforts  were  directed  to  obtain  its  con- 
summation. Garagontie  remained  at  Onondaga,  the  devoted 

friend  of  the  French.  Decanisora  was  of  the  same  feeling  ; 

Oureouhare,  who  had  domiciled  himself  among  the  Indians  of 

the  Montreal  Mountain,  visited  frequently  the  bourgade  of  his 

tribe,  and  strove  to  create  a  feeling  friendly  to  France. 
Nevertheless,  it  was  not  possible  to  overcome  the  sentiment, 

that  the  natural  alliance  of  the  Iroquois  was  with  Albany. 

On  their  part,  the  Iroquois  exercised  their  diplomacy  in  an 
astute  endeavour  to  create  a  situation  favourable  to  them- 

selves ;  in  which  they  might  profit  by  friendly  relations  with 

both  European  powers,  without  cost  to  their  own  position. 
In  1694  two  Onondaga  chiefs  came  to  Montreal  to  inquire  of 

de  Callicres  if  ambassadors  would  be  received  by  de  Frontenac. 

As  the  reply  was  in  the  affirmative,  Decanisora  with  eight 

deputies  arrived  at  Quebec  in  May.  They  were  received  in  the 
Chamber  of  the  Conseil  Souverain  with  every  mark  of  respect, 

the  leading  officials  of  the  colony  being  present.  The  calumet 

was  smoked  by  the  Iroquois  ambas.sadors,  and  the  chiefs  of  the 
Christian  Indians,  and  wampum  belts  were  given.  The  orator 

was  Decanisora,  whose  personal  appearance  has  come  down 

to  us  ;  it  has  been  represented  that  his  features  resembled 
those  of  the  bust  of  Cicero.  He  was  dressed  in  a  military, 

gold-embroidered,  scarlet  coat,  the  gift  of  the  Governor  of  New 
York.  Claiming  to  return  in  safety  if  peace  were  not  obtained, 

he  pointed  out  that  the  war  had  been  commenced  by  his  pre- 
decessors; for  his  own  part  he  desired  peace,  and  that  war  with 

its  injuries  should  be  forgotten.  He  spoke  on  the  part  of  the 
Five  Nations,  as  well  as  for  the  Mayor  and  Commandant  of 

Orange.  He  asked  that  all  prisoners  belonging  to  their  tribes, 
who  were  desirous  of  rejoining  them,  should  be  allowed  to  do 
so,  while,  on  their  side,  the  Iroquois  would  send  back  all  the 

French,  who  were  willing  to  return  to  Canada.    The  Governor 
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replied,that  he  likewise  desired  peace, but  the  peace  must  include 
the  Upper  Indian  tribes.  It  was  his  wish  that  Father  Milet 

should  accompany  the  next  embassy.  He  also  called  upon 

them,  within  eighty  daj's  of  their  departure  from  Montreal,  to 
send  back  all  prisoners  without  exception,  men,  women,  and 

children,  belonging  to  the  F"rcnch,  to  the  Indians  established 
in  Canada,  and  the  upper  nations,  his  allies;  "I  pledge  you  my 

word,"  added  de  Frontenac,  that  I  will  grant  full  liberty  to  any 
Indians  who  may  desire  to  return  with  }-ou,  and  that  I  will 

surrender  all  prisoners."  He  told  them  that  the  English 
and  the  Dutch  had  nothing  whatever  to  do  with  the  war 

between  him  and  the  Indians,  and  that,  if  the  Iroquois  desired 

to  make  further  proposals  within  the  eighty  days  named,  any 
person  authorized  by  them  to  negotiate,  would  be  received  in 

Canada  ;  but  he  would  listen  to  no  proposal  to  include  the 
English  in  the  peace.  He  warned  them  against  the  poison 

which  the  English  and  Dutch  would  instil  to  counteract  the 
good  disposition  of  their  minds.  The  ambassadors  were  kept 

at  Quebec,  under  the  pretence  of  being  present  at  a  series  of 
ceremonies,  the  real  motive,  however,  was  to  gain  time  in  the 

interval  so  that  the  crops  could  be  harvested.  Treated  with 
distinction,  the  chiefs  were  dismissed  with  such  gifts  as  they 
looked  for.  Xo  result  was  obtained,  but  de  Frontenac  hoped 

that  it  was  a  step  in  the  direction  of  obtaining  peace  in  the 
future. 

Fletcher  was  then  Governor  of  New  York.  A  separate 

treaty  of  peace  between  the  Iroquois  and  Canada  was  in  no 
way  to  be  desired  by  the  English  Colonies  ;  and,  hearing  of 

the  negotiations,  he  summoned  a  Council  at  Albanj-,  to  con- 
sider what  was  reported  to  have  taken  place,  Commissioners 

from  New  England  and  New  Jersey  attended,  with  the  lead- 
ing Chiefs  of  the  Iroquois.  Decanisora  related  what  had 

happened  at  Quebec,  in  the  interview  with  de  Frontenac. 

Fletclier  put  the  pertinent  question,  if  the  negotiations  were 
in  themselves  to  be  considered  to  be  in  the  interest  of  peace. 

The  answer  of  the  Iroquois  was,  that  they  could  not  carry  on 
the  war  unless  they  received  assistance.     He  had  described 
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What  did  the the    negotiations  as   they  had    taken    place. 
Governor  think  of  them  ? 

Fletcher  replied  that  he  was  not  himself  opposed  to  peace, 

but  any  answer  as  to  its  final  acceptance  was  beyond  his 
authority.  The  King,  his  master,  alone  had  the  power  to  give 
his  consent  to  its  establishment.  He  recommended  the 

Iroquois  on  no  account  to  permit  the  reconstruction  of  Fort 
Frontenac.  He  perfectly  understood  the  importance  to  the 
French  of  this  foothold  on  Lake  Ontario,  and  he  warned  the 

Iroquois,  that  it  would  lead  to  their  servitude  as  a  race,  if  they 

allowed  the  Fort  to  be  restored  and  re-occupied ;  he  could 
only  regard  their  failure  to  resist  this  step,  as  an  abandon- 

ment of  the  English  alliance.  He  promised,  that  if,  in  such 

an  emergency,  the  Iroquois  were  drawn  into  hostilities  owing 

to  their  endeavour  to  prevent  its  re-establishment,  he  would 
march  at  the  head  of  his  troops  to  aid  them.  He  called  upon 
them  not  to  enter  into  separate  negotiations,  and  urged  upon 
thcin,  that  the  policy  they  favoured  should  be  agreed  upon, 

and  be  debated  at  Albany.  The  Iroquois  pleaded  their 

weakness  ;  they  were  unable  to  make  head  against  the 
French,  who  were  constantly  receiving  new  soldiers.  They 

needed  allies,  and  the  question  was  :  Would  the  New  \'uvk 
authorities  help  them  in  the  contest  ? 

Whatever  may  have  been  Fletcher's  opinion  as  to  the 
wisdom  of  aiding  the  Iroquois,  he  was  powerless  to  adopt 
such  a  policy.  There  were  but  four  companies  of  regular 
soldiers  in  New  York,  imperfectly  officered  and  disciplined. 

In  every  attempt  he  was  thwarted  by  the  Legislature.  The 

people  had  no  disposition  for  war,  the  cost  of  which  would 
fall  upon  themselves,  hlctcher  wrote  that  there  were  people 

enough  to  drive  the  French  from  Canada,  but  "  the>-  were 

crumbled  into  little  governments,"  and  so  disunited  that  they 
hatl  scarcely  afforded  any  assistance  to  each  other,  and  "  now 

seem  iti  a  much  worse  disposition  to  do  it  for  the  future."  His 
position  as  a  royal  governor  was  regarded  with  jealousy ;  he 
could  obtain  no  vote  of  money  to  maintain  troops.  His  own 

view  was  that  five  hundred  men  from  the  colony  were  neces- 
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sary  for  the  protection  of  the  frontier.  In  1694  the  Assembly 
consented  to  grant  him  one  hundred  and  seventy  men.  In 

the  position  in  which  he  was  placed,  he  felt  that  it  was  the 

true  policy  to  give  a  spirited  support  to  the  Iroquois,  and 

prevent  the  re-appearance  of  the  French  at  Cataraqui,  and,  if 
necessary,  to  send  a  well  equipped  expedition  to  Canada. 
The  Iroquois,  at  this  date,  had  no  desire  for  amicable  relations 
with  the  French,  but,  unsupported  by  Albany,  they  had  no 

alternative  but  to  consider  de  Frontenac's  readiness  to  make 
peace  on  his  own  terms. 

From  the  first  day  of  de  Frontenac's  return,  he  had  set  his 
heart  on  the  re-possession  of  Fort  Frontenac  at  Cataraqui. 
He  was  more  than  ever  convinced  of  its  importance,  and,  in 

his  interview  with  the  Indians,  he  had  slipped  in  a  phrase,  that 

he  was  glad  to  see  they  desired  the  "  replanting  of  that  beau- 
tiful tree,  under  the  shfide  of  which  you  formerly  smoked  in 

such  peace,  and  transacted  such  good  business."  This  was 

Fort  F'rontenac,  and  he  proceeded  to  say,  that  he  would  set 
about  the  work  as  soon  as  possible.  The  Indians  perfectly 
understood  his  meaning;  they  saw  that  he  was  bent  on  the 

restoration  of  the  fort.  With  this  purpose  in  view,  in  1694  he 

had  organized  an  expedition  to  ascend  to  Lake  Ontario. 
Workmen  were  engaged  to  execute  the  necessary  repairs  ; 

munitions  and  provisions  had  been  collected,  and  troops 
detailed  to  form  a  garrison.  The  organization  was  complete, 

even  to  the  choice  of  a  leader,  the  Chevalier  de  Chrisasy.  As 
the  force  was  on  the  point  of  being  despatched,  de  Frontenac 
received  orders  from  France  to  furnish  a  detachment  to  de 

Serigny  and  d'Ibervillc,  in  an  expedition  to  Hudson's  Bay 
against  Fort  Nelson.  I  will  give  the  history  of  this  expedition 
in  a  subsequent  chai)ter,  when  I  attempt  to  relate  the 

events,  which  took  place  in  Hudson's  Bay.  It  is  enough  to 
mention  here,  that,  in  order  to  prevent  delay,  and  that  the 

expedition  should  start  that  season,  one  hundred  and  twenty 

volunteers  were  detached  from  the  Cataraqui  expedition,  and 
transferred  to  the  force  of  de  Serigny.  A  body  of  the  Indians 
of  the    Sault   was   likewise   drafted    for    this    service.      The 
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remainder  of  the  force  detailed  for  Cataraqui,  being  insufficient 

to  carry  out  the  original  design,  the  men  were  for  the  time  sent 
to  their  homes. 

The  remark  of'  de  Frontenac, which  Decanisora  had  reported 
to  Fletcher,  had  been  accepted  by  the  latter  in  its  full  signifi- 

cance, without  power  to  prevent  the  execution  of  the  project- 
As  the  Iroquois  had  obtained  from  the  English  Governor 
mere  vague  promises  and  words  of  advice,  and  felt  their 
position  to  be  one  of  danger,  with  only  their  own  resources  to 

rely  upon,  they  called  a  Council  at  Onondaga,  to  consider  the 
situation,  in  evciy  way  threatening  to  them.  The  Indians  of 

the  Western  Lakes,  the  Ottawas  r."  d  the  Hurons,  were  becom- 
ing directly  under  French  influence,  and  the  furs  of  Michili- 

mackinac  were  being  safely  sent  to  Montreal.  De  Frontenac 
had  found  the  true  mode  of  bringing  them  there;  by  an 

escort  strong  enough  to  protect  them.  The  western  hunting 
expeditions  of  the  Iroquois  had  even  been  harassed  by  the 
Ottawas  and  Hurons  ;  and  the  demonstration  of  dc  Callicres 
and  de  Vaudreuil  near  the  Cascades  had  made  them  feel  that 

there  was  a  large  force  in  the  field  to  withstand  any  hostility 

from  their  side.  Their  only  opportunity  lay  in  raids  on 
remote  dwellings,  in  attacks  on  small  parties  ascending  the 

Ottawa,  and  in  assaulting  some  ill-protected  place,  when  its 
inhabitants  did  not  look  for  hostilities. 

It  was  manifest  to  them  that  their  true  interest  was  to  drive 

the  French  back  to  the  east  of  Three  Rivers ;  and,  as  that  was 

now  impossible,  to  prevent  further  advance  westward.  To 

permit  the  re-cstablishmcnt  of  Fort  Frontenac  was  in  every 
way  detrimental  to  them.  Their  interests,  sympathies,  and 

feelings  were  with  the  English  ;  and,  had  they  been  able  to 
recognise  that  a  determined  effort  would  be  made  at  Albany 
to  drive  the  French  from  Montreal,  they  would  have  cast  their 
fortunes  on  the  English  side,  and  have  unhesitatingly  marched 
forward  with  such  a  force.  But  New  York,  if  not  unequal  to 
such  an  enterprise,  was  certainly  indifferent  with  regard  to  it. 

Fletcher  was  without  power  to  enforce  the  views  he  enter- 
tained ;  and  in  not  giving  assistance  to  the  Iroquois  he 

abandoned  them  to  circumstances. 
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The  propcsals  of  de  Frontcnac  were  discus.sed  at  the  Indian 
Council.  The  Cayugas  and  a  strong  party  of  the  Senecas 
advocated  their  acceptance,  with  the  reservation  that  peace 
should  be  made  with  the  French  alone,  and  that  it  should  not 

include  the  Western  Indians;  their  objection  to  the  re- 
establishment  of  Fort  Frontcnac  was  likewise  decidedly 

expressed.  They  remembered  that  it  was  from  this  place  that 
the  expeditions  of  de  la  Barre,  and  de  Denonville  had  started, 
and  that  it  had  been  the  scene  of  the  treason,  by  which 

numbers  of  their  tribe  had  been  seized  by  de  Champigny,  and 
sent  to  the  galleys  in  France.  It  was  resolved,  that  another 

deputation  should  be  sent  to  Quebec  to  discusss  these  several 

points. 
Among  those  who  were  included  in  the  mission  was  Ourcou- 

harc,  who  had  returned  to  his  tribe  in  the  hope  of  influencing 
the  discussions  for  peace.  The  deputation  had  to  use  dispatch 

in  reaching  Quebec,  for  only  three  weeks  of  the  time  allowed 
by  de  Frontcnac  remained.  The  Iroquois  carried  with 

them  thirteen  prisoners,  including  two  of  the  brothers  de 
Hertel.  Among  the  Senecas  was  Joncaire,  who,  when  a 

French  captive,  had  married  a  squaw,  and  had  become  a  chief 
His  name  was  hereafter  prominently  to  appear  in  the 
history  of  those  days.  Some  of  the  deputation  arrived  on  the 
1st  of  September.  On  the  loth,  Ourcouhare  with  other  chiefs 
followed.  De  Frontcnac  met  them  on  the  22nd  at  Montreal ; 

Ourcouhare  was  the  spokesmen.  He  stated  that  they  had 

brought  back  the  prisoners ;  and  that  the  other  three  nations 

had  proceeded  to  Orange  to  consult  on  the  terms  of  peace, 

that  the  prisoners  were  being  collected ;  and  considering  that 

the  Governor  might  be  impatient,  he  had  arrived  in  advance 
with  the  assurance  that  Decanisora  would  shortly  follow. 

They  warmly  exhorted  de  F^rontenac  to  continue  in  senti- 
ments of  peace,  and,  in  their  figurative  language,  asked  him  to 

overturn  the  big  caldron  suspended  in  the  air,  so  long  kept 
boiling. 

The  embassy  being  without  powers  to  conclude  a  treaty, 

no  result  was  attained.     De  Frontcnac,  on  his  part,  adhered 
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to  the  conditions  he  had  named,  and  the  chiefs  returned  home. 

A  month  later,  Tarcha  arrived  with  the  Jesuit  father  Milet, 
who  had  been  nine  years  with  the  Oneidas.  There  had  been 

at  least  this  advantage  gained,  that,  during  the  negotiations, 

the  country  had  remained  undisturbed,  tillage  had  been  unin- 
terrupted, and  many  of  the  Western  Hurons  and  Ottawas, 

without  interfcrcnce.had  arrived  at  Montreal  for  the  purposes  of 
trade.  The  extent  to  which  their  interests  had  been  consulted 

by  de  Frontcnac  had  been  diligently  impressed  upon  them. 
They  had  been  assured  that  he  would  make  no  peace  in  which 
they  were  not  included.  These  Indians,  on  leaving  Montreal 

for  the  West,  were  accompanied  by  several  Frenchmen, 
among  whom  was  La  Mottc  Cadillac,  on  his  way  to  take 

charge  of  the  fort  at  Michilimackinac.  It  is  from  his  pen 
that  we  have  the  account  of  the  Indian  negotiations,  and 

he  relates  with  ability  and  justice  the  policy  of  de  Frontenac. 
No  man,  he  tells  us,  better  understood  the  temper  of  the 

Indians ;  in  the  midst  of  hostilities,  he  obliged  to  sue  for  peace, 

with  every  token  of  submission,  an  unfriendly  nation  which 

had  never  taken  this  step  with  a  French  Governor.  In  old 
days  the  tribes  had  offered  two  belts,  one  of  war,  one  of  peace, 

with  the  proposition  :  "Choose;  it  is  one  to  us.  They  now 

use  different  language.  It  is  :  Grant  us  peace;"  a  course  this 
proud  nation  would  not  have  followed,  if  it  had  not  suffered 
serious  loss,  and  felt  itself  on  the  brink  of  ruin.  At  the  same 

time  de  Frontenac  had  not  been  lulled  into  security;  his  forts 

had  been  strengthened  and  were  better  guarded,  while  the 
measures  taken  by  him  to  bring  down  the  furs  from  the  upper 

country  had  given  prosperity  and  happiness  to  Canada  :  a 

contemporary  view  that  history  must  confirm. 

Nevertheless,  de  Frontenac's  policy,  not  only  did  not  obtain 
credit  in  France,  but  to  some  extent  was  looked  upon 

unfavourably.  His  desire  was  to  encourage  the  French  to 

more  activity  among  the  Western  Indians,  to  build  up  a 

power  at  Michilimackinac,  to  re-establish  Fort  Frontenac, 
and  generally  to  assert  French  authority  west  of  Montreal. 
The   Bishop,    M.  de   Saint   Vallier,   and  the   Intendant,  de 
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ChampijTny,  di.sat,frccd  with  this  view.  The  Hishop  looked 
with  extreme  disfavour  on  the  life  of  the  coiirciu  dc  bois.  The 

Iiitendant,  a  man  of  narrow  mind,  who  had  entertained  the 

opinions  of  M.  de  Denonville,  ranged  himself  on  all  occasions 

on  the  Bishop's  side.  M.  de  Ponchartrain  had  now  been  five 
years  in  power,  but  his  financial  operations  at  home  made 
Canada  a  subordinate  consideration.  As  de  Frontenac  had 

his  enemies  in  the  colon)',  we  may  be  assured  that  many 
private  letters  were  written  to  France,  in  which  his  bold, 
statesmanlike  policy  was  subjected  to  unfriendly  criticism, 
and  the  true  situation  kept  out  of  view. 

The  opinion  had  become  strong  at  Versailles,  that  the 
negotiations  undertaken  by  the  Iroquois  were  insincere,  and 
that  their  object  was  to  lead  to  the  postponement  of  the 

expedition,  which  they  believed  was  being  organized  against 
thein.  De  Frontenac  was  blamed  because  he  had  allowed  an 

attempt  on  the  part  of  the  Iroquois  to  detach  the  Western 
Indians  from  the  French  alliance.  It  was  known  in  France 

that  if  the  Iroquois  did  not  precisely  mistrust  the  English, 
they  had  not  full  confidence  in  their  power  to  sustain  them  ; 

and  the  opinion  was  expressed,  that  the  true  policy  for  the 
French  in  Canada  was  to  wage  war  against  them  by  invasion 

or  by  harassing  forays;  and  the  proposed  re-establishment  of 
Fort  Frontenac  was  condemned  as  a  diversion  of  funds 

required  for  more  useful  operations. 

Later,  the  King  addressed  a  despatch  to  Canada,  expressing 

his  astonishment  that  time  had  been  spent  in  vain  negotia- 
tions, and,  as  they  had  not  succeeded,  he  peremptorily  urged 

the  continuance  of  the  war.  __^ 

The  political  events  in  New  York  had  now  assumed  a 

character  to  give  fresh  courage  to  the  Iroquois.  In  June, 
1695,  a  session  of  the  Legislature  had  been  held,  when 

Fletcher  sent  a  message  to  the  effect,  that  all  the  colonies  had 

been  called  upon  to  contribute  to  the  expenses  of  the  war, 
and  that  the  Five  Nations  were  to  be  sustained  in  their 

struggle  against  the  French.  The  intelligence,  conveyed  to 

the    Iroquis   bourgades,  re-animated   their  courage,  and,   as 
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peace  was  not  concluded,  the  attacks  harassing  the  French 
settlements  were  re-commenced. 

It  was  plain  to  de  Frontenac  that  the  situation  was  assum- 
ing another  character,  and  that  more  active  operations  were 

necessary  to  sustain  his  policy.  The  key  to  such  an  enter- 

prise, he  felt  to  lie  in  the  re-establishment  of  Fort  Frontenac. 
He  was  aware  of  the  objections  which  were  being  urged 

against  his  design,  and  he  determined  to  carry  it  out  before 

he  received  express  orders  to  abandon  it.  I'rominent  in  this 
opposition  was  dc  Champigny,  whose  memoir  *  against  its 
re-construction  shews  that  he  entirely  misunderstood  every 
argument,  that  could  be  advanced  to  sustain  the  project. 
He  contended  that  the  fort  would  be  useless  in  time  of  peace, 

as  the  Iroquois  would  carry  their  peltry  to  the  English,  who 

gave  more  for  it  than  the  French ;  and  that  the  trade  which 
the  fort  would  encourage  was  in  opposition  to  the  principles 

on  which  the  colony  should  be  governed.  Men  should  not 
seek  the  beaver.  The  beaver  trade  should  seek  the  colony,  to 

be  exchanged  for  the  necessaries  of  European  manufacture 

required  by  the  Indians.  He  dwelt  particularly  on  the  diffi- 
culty of  sending  provisions  from  Montreal  to  sustain  the  gar- 

rison; it  never  entered  his  mind  that  settlers  could  be  grouped 
round  the  fort  to  produce  corn  and  meat.  As  a  frontier  post, 

he  contended  that  it  was  dangerous  and  expensive  to  hold, 

and  would  exact  a  large  force  to  garrison  it. 

In  1695,  disregarding  the  arguments  which  had  been 
advanced  against  his  policy,  de  Frontenac  raised  one  hundred 
and  ten  men  in  the  governments  of  Quebec  and  Three 

Rivers.  He  increased  his  force  by  thirty-six  officers,  fifty  men 
of  the  militia,  two  hundred  soldiers,  and  two  hundred  Christian 

Indians;  and  the  expedition  placed  under  the  command  of  the 

Chevalier  de  Chrisasy,  started  towards  the  end  of  July. 
No  enterprise  could  have  been  more  satisfactorily  carried 

out.  De  Chrisasy,  after  having  accomplished  all  that  was 

required,  returned  to  Montreal  in  twenty-six  days,  without  the 

*  Col.  Hist.,  N.  Y.,  Vol.  IX.,  pp.  591-4.  .Memoir  concerning  Fort  Catara- 
couy,  6th  November,  1695. 

expc 

He the 
sout 

Dcno 
villa 

the] 

Wl 
did  m 

intere 

place, 

men, 

men charac 

I    1^ 



^m&m^m mtrm 
wmnmi 

trried 
was 

lit  the 

:atara- 

1695] 
RESTORATION    OK    FORT    KRONTENAC. 

305 

loss  of  a  sin^^'lc  man.  He  fouiul  that  the  mines  had  made  five 

breaches  in  the  walls.  Gathcrin^f  the  old  mortar  taken  from 

the  ruins,  he  re-mi.xcd  it,  atldinjr  to  it  some  clay  to  increase 
its  volume.  By  these  means  he  was  enabled  solidly  to  rebuild 
and  restore  the  masonry.  Timber  recjuircd  for  the  construction 
of  the  new  outhouses  and  for  firewood,  were  cut  and  hauled  to 

the  fort.  The  whole  buildini^  was  placed  in  good  condition  in 

ei[,dit  clays.  Leavintj  a  garrison  of  forty-eight  men  in  the 
restored  fortress,  capable  for  a  limited  period  of  resisting  an 

organized  attack,  de  Chrisasy,  with  his  main  force,  descended 
the  Saint  Lawrence.  The  expedition  had  been  kept  secret, 

having  been  planned  and  carried  out  with  celerity ;  the  first 

news  which  the  Iroquois  had  of  the  event  was,  that  Fort 
Frontenac  was  again  in  a  condition  to  threaten  them,  as  in 
old  time. 

When  the  despatch  from  France  arrived  which  set  aside 
the  recommendation  of  de  Frontenac  for  the  reconstruction 

of  Fort  Cataraqui,  he  was  enabled  to  make  the  plain  state- 
ment that  the  work  had  been  completed  at  little  cost  in  a  few 

days  without  loss.  He  reported  with  regard  to  his  future 

operations,  that  it  was  not  his  intention  this  year  to  act 
hostilcly  against  the  Onondagas,  for  he  was  without  sufficient 
force,  and  he  did  not  consider  it  advisable  to  leave  Montreal 

exposed  to  an  attack  of  the  English,  by  the  way  of  Chambly. 
He  saw  little  advantage  in  burning  a  number  of  wigwams;  for 
the  Indians,  with  their  wives  and  families,  would  retire  farther 

south  into  the  forest.  He  instanced  the  expedition  of  de 

Denonville,  as  a  proof  that  the  destruction  of  the  Iroquois 

villages  and  with  the  supplies  they  contained,  did  not  remove 
the  power  of  attack  by  those  who  had  inhabited  thern. 

When  Fletcher  was  informed  of  de  Frontenac's  success  he 
did  not  fail  to  see  how  threatening  the  step  was  to  English 
interests,  and  he  felt  great  anger  that  the  restoration  had  taken 

place.  The  Iroquois  asked  for  the  assistance  of  five  hundred 

men,  and  proposed  to  attack  the  fort.  Fletcher  had  not  the 
men  at  his  command,  and  there  is  little  indication  that  his 

character  possessed  the  spirit  of  enterprise  to  undertake  such  an 
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expedition.  He  might,  at  an  earlier  stage,  have  despatched 
an  engineer  officer  with  a  party,  to  destroy  entirely  the  walls 

as  they  then  stood,  so  thai  its  rc-occupatioi.  would  have  been 
impossible  without  rcbuilJing  the  structure ;  a  work  of 
exiDcnse  and  danger. 

The  re-occupation  of  the  fort  was  regarded  by  the  Iroquois 
as  a  renewed  declaration  r,C  hostilities,  and  they  returned  to 
their  aggressive  expeditions,  which  they  undertook  when  they 
could  do  so  with  safety.  Men  were  carried  off  and  killed  at 

La  Prairie,  Boucherville,  and  Cap  St.  Michel.  In  the  west 

they  endeavoured  to  establish  a  firm  alliance  with  the  Ottawas 

and  Hurons.  At  Quebec  there  was  constant  distrust  with 

regard  to  these  Indians,  for  it  was  strongly  felt  that  their 
alliance  with  the  French  was  only  imperfectly  accepted,  and 

was  always  in  danger  of  being  abandoned.  It  could  only  be 

kept  in  force,  by  the  able  men  dc  Frontcnac  sent  up  to  Michili- 
mackinac,  by  incessant  care  and  watchfulness,  and  by  means 

of  the  conreiirs  dc  <^(?w, wandering  over  the  country.  Owing  to 

their  intimate  relations  with  the  several  t."ibes,  they  were 
enabled  to  maintain  v  kindly  feeling  to  the  French,  in 

many  cases  affirmed  by  the  domestic  character  of  the  con- 
nection. After  the  unsuccessful  expedition  of  McGregor  and 

the  Albany  traders  in  the  time  of  Dongan,  to  obtain  a  foot- 
hold on  the  shores  of  Lakes  Huron  and  Michigan,  no  similar 

attempt  had  been  made  ;  the  country  had  been  left  entirely 
to  Canadian  control.  The  high  price  demanded  for  the  articles 
the  French  furnished  to  the  Indians,  remained  a  constant 

source  of  complaint,  and  in  the  deputations  which  waited  on 

de  Frontcnac  it  was  brought  prominently  to  his  notice  as  a 

serious  ground  of  dissatisfaction.  One  of  the  .strong  argu- 
ments advanced  by  the  Iroquois  to  induce  the  Western 

Indians  to  form  an  alliance  with  them, was  the  more  efficient, 

and  profitable  manner  in  which  goods  could  be  furnished  from 

New  York.  Some  of  these  tribes  at  one  period  hi-t/.  resolved 
to  establish  themselves  on  the  Wabash.  They  had  been 

led  to  that  step  by  the  threats  of  the  Sioux;  for,  as  the 

more    Western     Indians    came    within    the    operations    of 
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French  enterprise,  the  complications  in  deaHng  with  them 
increased. 

One  of  the  Huron  chiefs,  Le  Baron,  had  not  only  little 

friendly  feeling  to  the  French,  but  was  ever.'  desirous  of  enter- 
ing into  cordial  relations  with  the  Iroquois;  he  did  not,  how- 
ever, openly  avow  his  feelings,  and  even  went  down  to  Quebec 

with  a  deputation,  as  if  devoted  to  French  interests.  At  this 

very  time  his  son  was  engaged  in  a  mission  to  the  Scnecas. 

"  We  come,"  was  the  purport  of  the  mission,  "  to  make  peace 
with  you.  The  chief  at  Michilimackinac  has  told  us  lies;  he 
has  made  us  kill  one  another.  Our  father  has  betrayed  us,  we 

will  listen  to  his  voice  no  more."  The  Senecas  sent  ambas- 
sadors to  Michilimackinac,  and  again  affairs  assumed  a 

threatening  attitude.  But  La  Motte  Cadillac  met  the  emer- 
gency with  ability.  He  decried  the  power  of  the  Iroquois,  and 

opened  his  stores  to  sell  his  goods  cheaply,  and  in  some  cases 

with  the  promise  of  future  payment.  By  this  time  the  French 
had  obtained  such  an  influence  over  the  Indian  mind,  that  so 

long  as  men  of  ability  conducted  the  negotiations,  their  power 
was  assured,  and  could  not  be  disturbed. 

Nevertheless,  the  Ottawas  and  Hurons  were  constantly 

agitated  by  these  opposite  fc.lings.  On  the  one  side,  there 
was  the  cheapness  of  the  goods  from  Albany,  while  the 
ictivity  of  the  French  officers  at  Michilimackinac  threw  a 

greater  weight  in  the  opposite  direction.  There  was  a  Jesuit 

Mission  at  this  place,  v/ith  several  stores  and  many  Indians 
established  there,  a  fort  with  a  respectable  force,  and  the 
constant  presence  of  the  couretirs  dc  bois.  All  of  this  did  its 
work  in  affirming  French  power. 

The  policy  adopted  by  the  French  was  to  destroy  every  Iro- 
quois who  visited  the  post ;  for  it  was  held  that  their  presence 

was  caused  by  the  hope  of  successful  negotiation  for  an  al- 
liance with  the  Five  Nations.  The  policy  was  not  simply  to 

make  such  overtures  a  matter  of  danger  to  all  engaged  in 

them,  but  to  render  negotiations  impossible  by  the  enmity 
which  the  French  trusted  to  create  between  the  tribes  to  the 

west  of  Michilimackinac  and  the  Iroquois. 
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On  occasions  of  this  character,  it  was  frequently  the  French 

who  themselves  took  the  initiaL've  in  the  torture  of  the  pr'son- 
ers,  they  determined  should  be  burned.  There  was  no  hesi- 

tation on  their  part  in  the  adoption  of  this  cruelty;  and  making 

every  allowance  for  the  difficulties  of  their  position,  the  in- 
difference on  all  occasions  shewn  by  them  to  human  suffering 

is  a  stain  on  their  rule  not  to  be  obliterated.  The  advantages 

of  an  alliance  with  the  Iroquois  were  being  well  considered  by 
the  western  tribes,  in  comparison  with  that,  with  the  French. 

If  it  had  been  believed  by  the  Ottawas  and  Hurons  that 

France  could  not  cope  with  Iroquois  strength,  the  weight  of 

their  support  would  have  been  thrown  upon  the  English  side. 
The  threatened  combination  was  to  be  broken  up  only  by 

creating  suspicion,  distrust  and  the  desire  for  revenge.  The 
destruction  of  every  Iroquois  arriving  at  Michilimackinac, 
promised  to  attain  this  result,  as  well  with  the  tribes  of  those 

who  suffered  the  wrong,  as  with  the  men  who  were  induced 
to  commit  it. 

There  had  been  a  proposition  on  the  part  of  the  Chiefs  who 
had  not  confidence  in  the  French,  that  an  English  post  should 
be  established  on  Lake  Erie,  and  there  had  been  mention  of 

a  Council  to  be  held  at  Detroit,  to  consider  with  the  Iroquois 
what  course  was  the  best.  The  authorities  in  New  York 

were  unable  in  any  way  to  understand  the  situation.  If 

at  that  day,  a  well  organized  force  had  taken  possession  of 

a  trading  post  on  Lake  Erie,  so  that  it  could  not  have  been 
attacked  except  by  a  powerfully  constituted  expedition,  the 
western  Indians  would  have  rallied  to  its  support.  With  the 
limited  resources  which  de  Frontenac  had  at  his  command, 

he  would  have  been  compelled  to  remain  quiescent,  without 

mak'ng  an  attempt  against  it,  for  the  effort  would  have  been 
beyond  his  strength. 

No  such  considerations  prevailed  at  Albany.  Those  who 

saw  the  exigencies  of  the  situation  failed  in  obtaining  atten- 
tion to  its  reauirements.  The  policy  by  which  it  should  iiavc 

been  met  was  neglected,  and  this  inactivity  led  both  the 
Hurons  and    Ottawas  to  remain   under  the  control  of  the 
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of   the 

French.  A  few  years  later  the  Five  Nations,  which  until  the 

government  of  de  Callieres,  had  been  found  on  the  English 

side,  ceased  to  maintain  the  alliance.  They  accepted  an 
independent  treaty  with  the  French,  and  refused  to  assist 
in  attacks  upon  Canada. 

What  de  Frontenac  specially  felt,  was  the  necessity  of 
destroying  in  the  mind  of  the  Western  Indian,  all  belief  in  the 
prowess  of  the  Five  Nations.  The  necessity  of  striking  such 

a  blow,  and  the  positive  instructions  of  the  King  to  commence 
hostilities,  determined  him  to  hasten  the  expedition.  His 
first  intention  was  to  carry  on  his  operations  in  winter,  in 
the  hope  that  the  women  and  children  could  be  seized,  and 

held  as  hostages  to  force  the  Onondagas  to  accept  his  terms. 
Preparations  were  accordingly  commenced  in  the  autumn  of 

1695.  But  snow  fell  early  in  the  winter  of  1695 -1696,  in 
unusual  quantity,  to  the  depth  of  seven  feet  near  Cataraqui, 

weather  rarely  experienced  ;  and  it  was  resolved  to  defer 

the  expedition  until  summer.  Th^  preparations  were  there- 
fore not  commenced  until  spring,  and  by  June  they  were 

completed. 

The  final  organization  was  made  at  Isle  Perrot.  The  whole 

of  the  troops  had  been  gathered  together  by  the  Cth  of  July, 
and  the  order  of  march  determined.  The  Indians  were  five 

hundred  in  number.  A  large  force  of  them  formed  the 
advance  guard,  which  further  consisted  of  four  battalions  of 

regulars;  four  hundred  men.  The  bateaux,  manned  by  Cana- 
dians, conveying  the  baggage  and  provisions,  followed.  De 

Callieres  was  in  command  of  the  advance-guard.  He  had 
with  him  two  field  pieces  and  mortars  on  bateaux.  The 

main  body  consisted  of  de  Frontenac  with  his  staff,  and  four 
battalions  of  Canadian  Militia  of  which  de  Ramezay  was  in 

command.  They  were  of  greater  strength  than  the  regulars. 

The  rear-guard,  under  de  Vaudreuil,  was  composed  of  two 
battalions  of  regulars  and  some  Indians.  The  whole  force 

was  between  twenty-two  and  twenty-three  hundred  men. 
On  the  9th  of  July  the  Cedars  rapids  were  passed,  on  the 

13th   the  expedition  had  reached   the  water  above  the  Long 
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[1696 Sault,  on  the  i6th  it  arrived  at  La  Galette.*  On  the  i8th 
the  troops  were  at  Fort  Frontenac.  They  remained  here  until 

the  26th,  when  the  advance  was  continued.  Twenty-six  men 

were  left  behind,  owinj^  to  injuries  received  in  ascending  the 
rapids.  On  the  28th,  the  force  came  to  the  mouth  of  the 

Onondaga  River.  Scouts  were  immediately  sent  along  the 
banks  on  both  sides.  The  ascent  of  the  stream  was  attended 

with  difficulty.  Marching  from  dawn  to  dark,  the  column 

only  made  five  leagues  in  two  days  ;  something  over  twelve 
miles.  On  the  first  portage  being  reached,  de  Frontenac, 

in  his  seventy-sixth  year,  who  cheerfully  bore  all  the  priva- 
tions of  the  expedition,  had  commenced  to  march  with  the 

troops,  when  fifty  Indians  placed  him  in  a  canoe,  and  with  yells 
of  joy  carried  him  across  the  distance.  On  the  ist  of  August 
the  troops  arrived  at  the  Oneida  river,  when  they  had  drearily 

to  wade  knee  deep  in  mud  over  some  stretch  of  ground.  The 
stream  narrowed  as  Lake  Onondaga  was  approached.  At 
this  spot  they  discovered  an  Indian  picture  on  birch  bark, 

showing  the  advance  of  the  force,  with  two  bundles  contain- 
ing 1434  cut  rushes,  to  denote  the  number  of  warriors  ready 

to  defend  the  country.  Dc  Callicre.s  moved  along  the  west 
shore  of  the  lake  in  regular  order  of  battle,  de  Vandreuil 

passed  to  the  east,  and  finally  the  junction  of  the  two  was 
made.  There  was  no  opposition  to  landing;  and  Levesseur, 
the  engineer  officer,  traced  out  a  fort,  to  which  timber  had  to 

be  drawn  a  mile.  The  scouts  reported  that  they  had  come 

upon  trails  leading  to  the  Cayuga  and  Oneida  bourgades  ; 
from  which  it  was  inferred  that  the  women  and  children  had 

retired  thither,  and  that  those  tribes  were  in  the  field  to  help 

the  Onondagas,  One  hundred  and  forty  militia  and  regulars 

remained  to  guard  the  fort.  Among  the  Indians  of  the 

expedition  were  two  Senecas  previously  taken  prisoners  who 

had  been  domiciled  at  the  Christian  Missions.  The\-  both 

deserted  ;  and  through  them  the  Onondagas  had  full  know- 
ledge of  the  presence  of  the  French. 
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On  the  night  of  the  2nd  of  August,  a  bright  flame  had 
been  seen;  whether  an  accidental  fire,  or  the  wilful  destruction 

of  the  village,  could  only  be  surmised.  The  army  encamped 

near  the  well  known  salt-springs.  "  They  produced  enough  of 

salt,"  writes  the  chronicler,  "  to  make  us  wish  that  they  were 
near  Quebec  ;  the  cod  fishery  would  then  be  very  easy  in 

Canada."  On  the  4th,  at  sunrise,  the  order  of  battle  was 
formed.  De  Callicres,  on  horseback,  according  to  one  au- 

thority, commanded  on  the  left,  de  Vaudreuil  on  the  right. 
The  centre  consisted  of  two  battalions  of  militia.  Two  bat- 

talions of  regulars  composed  the  wings.  De  Frontenac, 

carried  on  a  litter,*  preceded  the  guns,  which  were  kept 
between  the  two  divisions.  The  formation  was  two  deep.  By 

the  evening  the  village  was  reached ;  as  had  been  surmised,  it 
was  found  to  have  been  burned. 

In  the  morning  two  squaws  with  a  child,  who  had  escaped 

nine  days  previously,  joined  the  French.  They  belonged  to  the 

Montreal  Mountain  Indians.  An  old  woman  was  also  cap- 
tured by  the  scouts ;  as  the  poor  creature  could  not  march, 

she  was  killed.  Two  days  afterwards  a  young  Frenchman 

appeared ;  he  had  been  seven  years  a  prisoner.  He  reported 
that  the  families  of  the  Senecas  were  ten  leagues  off;  that 
scouts  were  on  the  watch,  and  that,  on  the  advance  of  the 

French,  the   Indians  would  retire  farther  back  into  the  forest. 

The  Indian  corn-fields,  which  extended  two  leagues  from 
the  fort,  were  entirely  destroyed;  all  the  grain  and  property 
found  in  the  caches  were  seized  or  rendered  useless.  Qne  old 

man  was  taken  prisoner,  and  the  Indians  determined  to  burn 
him.  De  Frontenac,  never  cruel  but  from  policy,  tlesired  to 

save  the  prisoner ;  perhaps  there  was  some  sympathy  of  age, 
but  he  was  unable  to  intervene  between  the  Indians  and  their 

prey,  without  creating  discontent  which  might  have  proved 
embarrassing.  They  were  intent  upon  burning  the  old  man ; 

the  Christian  Indians  equal!}^  with  the  others.  The  prisoner 
met  his  death  like  a  stoic.  Not  a  murmur  escaped  him,  and 

his  tortures  were  extreme.     "  Learn  ye  French  dogs,"  he  cried, 
*   nuuniciuet. 
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[1696 "  and  ye  Indians,  dogs  of  dogs,  what  you  may  have  to  endure, 

and  when  you  arc  placed  in  the  same  position,  remember  me." 
On  the  9th,  de  Vaudreuil  returned  from  the  Oneida  country, 

where  he  had  been  absent  for  two  days  and  a  half  on  a  recon- 
naissance with  six  hundred  men.  As  he  reached  the  fields  of 

Indian  corn  of  the  first  Oneida  village,  he  was  met  by  deputies 

of  the  tribe.  They  asked  him  not  to  destroy  their  crops ;  and 

they  undertook  to  keep  in  good  faith  the  promise  that  they 
made  to  de  Frontenac,  through  the  messengers  sent  on  the  5th 

to  obtain  peace.  De  Frontenac  had  acceded  to  the  demand, 
on  condition  that  their  families  would  settle  in  Canada ; 

further  telling  them,  that  if  they  were  not  ready  immediately 
to  proceed  thither,  to  send  five  hostages;  and  if  they  failed 
to  do  so,  he  would  force  them  to  submit  to  his  conditions. 

It  was  owing  to  this  embassy  that  the  expedition  of  de 

Vaudreuil  had  been  undertaken.  De  Vaudreuil's  answer  to 
the  request  to  spare  their  crops  was,  that  if  they  came  to 
Canada  they  would  not  require  them,  and  he  set  his  men  to 
work  at  their  destruction. 

While  in  this  place  he  heard  that  the  Mohawks,  accom- 
panied by  three  hundred  English, were  advancing  to  assist  the 

Onondagas.  De  Vaudreuil  prepared  for  the  emergency,  but 
no  attack  was  made.  After  destroying  the  crops  and  the 
village,  he  returned  to  de  Frontenac,  bringing  with  him  four 

French  prisoners  and  thirty-five  Oneidas.  An  unfortunate 
Mohawk,  who  had  deserted  from  the  French,  was  also  dis- 
coxered  ;  he  was  burned.  Some  of  the  Indians  who  had 

remained  behind  for  plunder,  were  attacked,  three  of  them 
were  killed,  but  they  could  not  be  scalped. 

The  object  of  the  expedition  had  been  attained,  and  the 

return  march  commenced.  The  Fort  constructed  for  the  pro- 
tection of  the  canoes  was  razed.  On  the  12th  of  August 

Lake  Ontario  was  reached  ;  on  the  15th  the  force  was  again 

at  Cataraqui.  De  Frontenac  had  availed  himself  of  this 

opportunity  to  increase  the  accommodation  of  Fort  Frontenac. 

He  constructed  a  building  containing  a  chapel  and  officers' 
quarters  ;  a  bakery  ;  some  stores  in  which  he  placed  provisions 
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for  eighteen  months.  On  the  20th  the  expedition  arrived  at 
Montreal. 

The  only  loss  experienced  was  by  the  overturning  of  some 

bateaux  in  descending  the  rapids,  when  three  of  the  militia 
were  drowned. 

In  New  York  nothing  had  been  done  for  the  protection  of 
the  threatened  Iroquois.  As  early  as  July  the  proposed 

advance  was  known,  and,  had  Fletcher  been  animated  by  the 

spirit  of  Dongan,  it  is  probable  that  de  Frontenac's  expedition 
might  have  assumed  a  different  character,  and  have  attained  a 

less  favourable  result.  It  mu.^-t  be  remembered,  that  the  claim 
had  been  preferred  to  this  territory  as  belonging  to  England, 
and  news  was  received  that  it  was  threatened  with  invasion. 

The  course  taken  by  the  colonial  authorities  of  New  York  is 
a  proof  of  the  indifference  felt  with  regard  to  the  Mohawk 

valley  and  the  country  west  of  it,  and  establishes  their 

incapacity  to  understand  the  political  consequences  of  the 

events  that  were  taking  place.  The  period  was  but  sixty- 

three  )'ears  before  the  final  conquest,  and  there  was  no  policy 
entertained  by  the  British  Colonists  in  relation  to  the  northern 

portion  of  the  continent,  which,  so  long  as  it  was  held  by  the 
French,  imperilled  their  lives  and  fortunes,  and  even  placed  in 

danger  their  national  existence.  Massachusetts  was  compelled 

to  take  some  action,  owing  to  her  population  pushing  forward 
northern  settlement,  and  from  the  check  it  experienced  from 

time  to  time  by  the  attacks  of  the  Abenakis.  Her  expedition 

against  Canada  had  been  made  in  vindication  of  her  rights  on 

the  Atlantic  coast,  and  had  been  called  forth  by  the  destruc- 
tive raids  of  the  earlier  part  of  the  year  1690.  The  effort  was 

one  for  self-defence ;  and  in  the  assault  of  Quebec,  she  had 
alone  in  view  the  safety  of  her  frontier. 

There  was  no  union  among  the  colonies,  and  to  the  last  the 

conduct  of  Pennsyk-ania  led  to  disastrous  consequences. 
The  want  of  united  effort  paralyzed  every  operation,  and  it 

was  only  by  the  earnest  intervention  of  the  Mother  Country 
that  this  want  of  concord  was  overcome.  There  always 

remained  a  strong  feeling,  that  the  contest  with  Canada  for 
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[1696 any  possession  of  territory  was  a  question  regarding  which, 

the  individual  Province  was  without  responsibih't}' 
On  the  20th  of  July,*  the  subject  was  brought  before  the 

Council  in  New  York.  Fletcher  asked  for  four  hundred  men. 

The  minute  runs:  "The  Council  doe  approve  thereof,  but  affirm 
the  impossibility  for  want  of  money,  the  Revenue  lessened  by 
the  decay  of  trade,  and  great  backwardness  in  bringing  in 

the  taxes."  Their  neighbours  also  had  denied  assistance.  A 
.second  Council  was  held  on  the  7th  of  August;  the  report 
of  the  invasion  was  confirmed.  IVIr.  Allen,  of  Connecticut, 

had  heard  the  news  from  a  French  prisoner,  and  Colonel 

Ingoldsby  had  sent  from  Onondaga  notice  of  the  French 
attack.  The  Governor  gave  his  opinion  that  their  force  should 

be  sent  to  Onondaga  to  cover  the  frontier,  and  to  "  shew  our 
zeal  for  the  preservation  of  the  Onondagas,  which  will  give 

them  encouragement."  The  Council  again  objected.  Xo 
men  had  been  sent  from  the  neighbouring  colonics;  only  a 

small  sum  of  money  from  Virginia  and  Maryland.  It  was 

harvest  time,  "  it  would  be  grievous  to  take  the  people  from 
their  labour;  and  there  was  no  money  to  answer  the  charge 

thereof."  The  conclusion  reads  like  a  mockery:  "  Do  there- 
fore advi.se,  that  a  letter  be  wrote  to  the  Indians  to  give  them 

encouragement,  and  to  acquaint  them  the  King  of  England 

has  sent  them  some  presents,  and  desire  them  to  be  watchful." 
On  the  1 2th  of  August,  the  Governor  stated  that  the 

Indians  had  asked  for  assistance.  Again  there  was  no  money. 
As  the  Council  were  of  opinion  that  men  could  be  found, 

each  of  the  four  members  personally  undertook  to  raise  two 
hundred  pounds. 

On  the  3rd  of  September,  Fletcher  officially  reported  the 
termination  of  the  affair  to  London.  He  stated  that  neither 

Connecticut  nor  New  Jersey  would  send  a  man,  and  tliat  it 
had  been  resolved  to  supply  the  Onondagas  and  Oneidas  with 
corn.  In  August  Fletcher  arrived  at  Albany;  calling  together 

his  Council,  he  proposed  that  an  expedition  should  be  sent  to 

Thtf  dates  given  arc  according  to  the  new  style  of  1752. 
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the  Indian  territory,  but  the  Council  considered  that  as  the 

French  had  retreatod,  it  would  be  an  unnecessary  charge. 
It  was  agreed  that  the  Onondagas  should  be  informed,  that 

on  the  news  of  the  invasion  the  Governor  had  proceeded  to 

Albany,  and  on  his  arrival  had  heard  that  the  enemy  had  de- 
parted. They  recommended  that  an  Indian  Council  should 

be  called  to  meet  within  two  months,  and  it  was  resolved  to 

supply  the  Onondagas  and  Oneidas  with  corn  at  the  charge 
of  the  Government. 

The  Meeting  took  place  at  Albany  on  the  9th  of  October, 

the  "  covenant  chain  "  was  renewed,  and  presents  were  given. 
The  Onondagas  spoke  out  plainly,  that,  if  the  King  would  not 

send  forces  to  destroy  Canada,  they  must  make  peace  for 
themselves.  Commissioners  were  named  to  treat  with  them, 

and  all  Fletcher  could  do,  was  to  promise  to  represent  their 
views  in  London,  and  endeavour  to  obtain  a  favourable  reply 
from  the  King.  He  closed  his  remarks  in  a  way  certainly 

agreeable  to  them.  "  I  now  take  my  leave  of  you,  "  he  said, " 
and  give  each  of  you  a  keg  of  rum  for  a  dram,  to  comfort  you 

on  the  way  home,  and  a  coat  t©  keep  you  warm  in  the  winter." 
The  Assembly  met  on  the  27th  of  October.  Fletcher  told 

the  Council  "that  he  expected  Albany  to  have  been  attacked 
by  the  French  Governor,  but  he  contented  himself  with  a  poor 
insult  over  our  naked  Indians  and  retired.  Yet  he  destroyed 
the  castles  and  corn  of  those  two  nations,  who  must  perish 

this  winter  unless  relieved  by  us.  You  all  know  that  they 

have  been  true  to  his  Matye's  (Majesty's)  interest  in  joyning 
with  the  Province  against  our  common  enemy  the  French,  and 

unless  encouraged,  may  be  compelled  by  poverty  to  make 

their  peace  with  them."* 
Some  thoughtful  inen  in  the  Province,  may  have  six  years 

later,  remembered  Fletcher's  words  when  the  Five  Nations 
made  a  separate  peace  with  de  Callieres  at  Montreal,  aban- 

doning their  political  relationship  with  the  English  of  Xew 
York  on  the  Hudson  and  the  Mohawk. 

*  Viile  Doc.  Ilist.  N.Y.  I.,  pp.  323-355.  "  Fionten.ic's  Exi>editii)n,  1696." 
A  nanative  of  the  proceedings  taken  by  the  Province  of  New  York  on  this  occa- 

sion is  given  in  some  detail. 
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CHAPTER  VII. 

De  Frontenac  had  determined  to  follow  up  his  operations 

with  another  blow,  but  there  was  a  scarcity  of  provisions.  The 

operations  of  the  previous  year  had  interfered  with  the  tillage 
of  the  soil,  and  there  had  been  but  scanty  crops.  The  price 
of  food  was  excessive,  so  there  was  difficulty  in  obtaining 

rations  for  the  troops.  They  were  consequently  scattered 
throughout  the  country  in  quarters,  in  order  that  they  might 

be  fed.  De  Frontenac  also  had  received  instructions,  to  pre- 
pare for  an  expedition,  concerning  which  precise  orders  would 

be  sent  to  him  ;  in  consequence,  he  kept  his  troops  so 

distributed,  that  they  could  be  immediately  assembled.  In 

September  1697,  the  arrival  of  a  war-ship  informed  him  that 
the  design  had  been  abandoned. 

A  powerful  fleet  had  sailed  from  La  Rochelle,  under  the 
command  of  the  Marquis  de  Nesmond,  with  the  object  of 
attacking  Boston.  It  consisted  of  ten  large  ships  of  war,  a 

barque  and  two  fire-ships.  The  scheme  was  complicated  by 

de  Nesmond's  instructions  to  proceed  to  Plaisance,  in  New- 
foundland, there  to  meet  the  English  fleet,  which  might  be 

looked  for  to  be  present  in  those  waters,  in  order  to 

re-establish  the  Newfoundland  settlements,  destroyed  by 

d'Iberville  in  1696.*  Should  no  vessels  be  present,  de  Nes- 
mond was  to  cruise  in  search  of  them.  As  it  was  expected 

so  commanding  a  force  would  meet  with  little  opposition,  the 

programme  was,  that  on  the  destruction  of  the  English  fleet, 
assumed  as  a  consequence,  he  was  to  proceed  to  Pentegoet, 

and  there  receive  a  detachment  of  fifteen  hundred  troops 
sent  from  Canada;  regulars,  militia  and  Indians. 

The  French  had  obtained  correct  plans  of  Boston,  owing  to 

the  residence  there  of  de  Meneval  and  the  Chevalier  d'Aux 

*  D'lberville's  operations  are  given  in  another  place. 
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when  prisoners.  At  that  time  the  city  had  seven  thousand 
inhabitants.  During  the  summer,  most  of  the  young,  vigorous 
men,  engaged  as  mariners  and  fishermen, were  absent;  and 
the  conclusion  was  formed,  that  at  this  season  there  were  not 

more  than  eight  hundred  able-bodied  men  present,  mostly 

untrained  and  unaccustomed  to  war,  from  whom  only  imper- 
fect resistance  could  be  anticipated,  if  any  were  offered.  No 

doubt  was  entertained  that  an  attack  on  the  city  with 
sufficient  force  would  meet  with  immediate  success. 

Boston  in  the  possession  of  the  F"rench,  the  country  north- 
ward was  to  be  occupied  by  the  Canadian  troops ;  all  the  places 

were  to  be  plundered  and  destroyed,  settlement  was  to  be 
entirely  uprooted,  and  all  trace  of  the  rule  of  Massachusetts 

annihilated.  The  country  was  to  be  reduced  to  a  state  of 
nature.  If  time  permitted.  New  York  was  to  be  attacked,  and 
possession  taken  of  the  country. 

Before  starting,  de  Nesmond  also  received  instructions  to 

aid  de  Villebon,  then  besieged,  it  was  thought,  at  Naxouat. 
Moreover,  when  de  Nesmond  arrived  at  Plaisance,  a  quick 

sailing  vessel  from  France  brought  him  additional  intelligence 

and  instructions.  He  was  informed  that  "eighteen  English 
vessels,  loaded  with  salt,  had  left  Portugal  for  Newfoundland, 
and  de  Nesmond  was  not  to  allow  them  to  escape.  It  was 

further  suggested  to  him  that,  if  he  destroyed  the  English 
fleet,  before  leaving  Newfoundland,  he  might  sail  up  the 
eastern  coast,  and  burn  all  the  English  trading  vessels  which 
he  met. 

Delays  in  leaving  France,  and  contrary  winds  prevented 
the  arrival  of  de  Nesmond  at  Plaisance  until  the  24th  of  July. 

There  was  no  English  fleet  and  no  tidings  to  be  obtained  of 
it.  A  council  of  war  was  called.  It  was  considered  inadvis- 

able to  proceed  to  Boston,  in  ignorance  of  the  movements 
of  the  English  fleet,  and  that,  as  no  junction  could  be 
made  with  de  Frontenac  before  the  first  days  of  September, 

and  there  would  be  then  but  fifty  days'  provisions  remaining, 
it  would  not  be  possible  to  carry  out  the  operations  as  they 
were  laid  down. 
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[1698 Dc  Ncsmond  accordingly  ordered  M.  des  Ursins  to  proceed 

to  Quebec  in  command  of  the  Canadian  ships  which  the  fleet 
had  convoyed,  and  to  communicate  to  M.  de  Frontenac  the 
determination  which  had  been  formed.  M.  de  Nesmond, 

with  his  ships,  returned  to  France  without  having  accom- 

plished any  one  of  the  objects  which  he  started  ̂ <^  attain. 
Early  in  May  1698,  Richard  Coote,  Lord  li  ont,  who 

had  been  appointed  Governor  of  the  Provinces  .  New  York 

and  Massachusetts,  arrived  at  the  city  of  New  York.  Being 
an  Irish  peer,  he  had  obtained  a  seat  in  the  English  House  ot 

Commons,  where  he  had  gained  the  character  of  an  honour- 
able and  independent  man,  and  had  obtained  general  respect. 

He  immediately  addressed  M.  de  Frontenac  and  announced  his 

appointment,  informing  him  that  peace  had  been  proclaimed 
in  October  of  the  previous  year.  His  journey  had  been 
tedious,  he  having  been  driven  by  contrary  winds  to  Barbadoes. 
He  informed  the  French  Governor  that  he  was  sending  back 

the  French  prisoners  in  his  possession,  and  would  give  orders 

for  similar  treatment  of  those  held  in  cap'^'vity  by  the 
Indians,  and  if  necessary  would  despatch  ther  ler  escort  to 
Montreal.     He  said,  he  did  not  doubt  that  de  :;nac  would 

order  the  release  of  the  King's  subjects  both  Christian  and 
Indian,  so  that  friendly  correspondence,  unrestricted  trade, 
and  all  the  results  of  peace  would  be  secured.  The  bearers 

of  this  communication  were  Delius,  the  Minister  at  Albany, 

and  John  Schuyler,  who  have  left  a  report  of  their  journey. 
They  arrived  at  Montreal  on  the  1 5th  of  May,  carrying  with 

them  twenty  French  prisoners,  whom  they  delivered  into  the 
hands  of  de  Calli^res,  and  there  they  heard  that  six  Iroquois 
Indians  were  in  prison.  A  short  time  previous  a  skirmish 

had  taken  place,  in  which  twenty-four  of  the  Iroquois  were 
killed  ;  the  six  prisoners  had  been  wounded  in  the  fight  and 

taken  to  Montreal  ;  bchuyler  asked  for  their  release,  de  Cal- 
lieres  declined  to  liberate  them  without  an  order  from  de 

Frontenac  ;  moreover  he  told  Schuyler,  that  he  was  expecting 
deputies  from  the  Iroquois  to  sue  for  peace,  who  would 

themselves  bring  back  their  French  captives.     Schuyler  con- 
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tended  that  the  Irocjuois  were  the  King  of  Kngland's  subjects, 
and  that  they  could  not  make  peace.  Some  conversation  took 

place,  in  which  both  parties  persevered  in  their  views. 
Two  days  later  the  envoys  left  for  Quebec,  arriving  there 

on  the  fourth  day.  They  were  received  respectfully  and 

kindly  by  de  Frontenac,  the  officials,  and  the  clergy.  The 
Superior  of  the  Seminary  stated,  that  at  an  early  date  it 
was  his  intention  to  go  to  Albany,  and  to  send  missionaries 

among  the  Iroquois.  He,  however,  received  the  reply,  that 
the  Five  Nations  were  in  religious  matters  under  the  direction 

of  the  Minister  of  Albany,  who  was  taking  care  of  them,  and 
had  instructions  from  the  Lord  Bishop  of  London,  to  whose 
diocese  they  bclongctl. 

The  Albany  envoys  demanded  the  release  of  both  Christian 

and  Indian  prisoners,  with  the  establishment  of  reciprocal 

trade.  De  Frontenac  readily  consented  to  set  free  all  Etig- 
lish  and  Dutch  prisoners.  The  Indians,  he  said,  he  could  not 

liberate,  until  their  deputies  had  presented  themselves  to  make 

peace,  in  accordance  with  the  promise  made  by  their  envoys 

at  Quebec.  Schuyler  repudiated  the  idea  that  the  Indians 
who  had  arrived  at  Qi.  bee  should  be  held  to  have  represented 

the  Five  Nations.  Dt  ''"rontenac  contended  that  the  Iroquois 

had  been  always  under  "rench  ru  e  ;  while  Schuyler,  on  his 
part,  put  forth  the  claim  iii.tL  the  English  had  always  possessed 
control  over  them.  De  Frontenac  closed  the  argument  by 

saying  that  it  was  evident  that  he  and  the  Earl  of  Bellomont 
would  never  agree,  and  that  the  matter  must  be  reported  to 

the  King.  Schuyler  then  demanded  the  release  of  the  six 

wounded  Iroquois  at  Montreal,  but  de  Frontenac  refused  com- 

pliance. He  had  contrary  orders  from  the  King  on  the  sub- 
ject, and  if  the  Iroquois  did  not  arrive  to  make  peace,  it  would 

be  his  duty  to  go  to  their  villages  and  to  make  them  peaceable. 

Schuyler  replied  that  if  de  Frontenac  did  not  feel  disposed  to 

satisfy  de  Bellomont,  he  would  not  answer  for  the  incon- 
veniences which  would  arise.  We  are  told  also  in  this  report 

that  when  the  English  prisoners  were  called  upon  to  appear, 
they  unanimously  refused,  with  the  exception  of  two  or  three. 
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[1698 to  return  to  Albany.  Many  of  them  had  been  led  to  adopt 

Roman  Catholicism,  and  this  feeling  was  doubtless  strongly 

appealed  to.  No  Protestant,  known  to  be  such,  could  obtain 
toleration  under  French  rule  anywhere.  For  the  Fnglish 

prisoners  to  have  remained  in  Canada,  they  must  have  aban- 
doned their  creed  and  their  country. 

Schuyler  gives  an  account  of  Quebec.  The  envoy  did  not 

find  the  fortifications  extraordinary,  nor  was  he  much  impressed 
with  the  place.  Mc  thought  that,  were  it  not  for  the  convents, 

the  seminary,  the  Bishop's  house,  and  other  religious  edifices, 
it  would  scarcely  merit  the  name  of  a  town.  The  mounted 

guns  did  not  exceed  forty.  There  were  two  bishops.  The 
Jesuits,  secular  priests,  the  Recollets,  and  lay  brothers, exceeded 
two  hundred  in  number.  He  formed  the  opinion  that  the 

inhabitants  were  not  wealthy,  and  the  only  currency  was  paper 
money. 

The  envoys  were  the  bearers  of  a  letter  from  de  Frontenac 

to  Bellomont  dated  the  8th  of  June,  which  stated  that  he  had 

not  received  official  confirmation  of  the  peace  from  France; 

nevertheless,  he  would  deliver  up  the  Dutch  and  English 
prisoners.  With  regard  to  the  release  of  the  Iroquois,  it  was 

a  question,  which,  in  the  form  it  was  submitted,  he  could  not 
understand.  Last  year,  they  themselves  had  appeared  to 

negotiate  peace  with  him,  and  it  was  unnecessary  for  Lord 
Bellomont  to  interfere  in  the  matter.  The  Iroquois  had  formed 

a  part  of  the  King's  dominion,  before  the  English  had  taken 
New  York  from  the  Dutch.  The  French  missions  from 

Canada  had  been  established  there  for  forty  years.  His  own 

orders  on  the  subject  were  precise,  and  he  could  not  act  in 

opposition  to  them. 
On  the  24th  of  A'jgust,  Lord  Bellomont  again  addressed 

de  Frontenac.  He  said  that  he  had  returned  from  the 

frontier  of  the  Five  Nations,  and  they  had  professed  fidelity  to 
the  English  Crown.  Moreover,  they  had  complained  of  the 
outrages  committed  on  them  by  the  French,  and  that  since  the 

peace,  ninety-four  of  their  people  had  been  killed  and  carried 
off.     Lord    Bellomont    expressed   his   astonishment  that  do 
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Frontcnac  desired  to  continue  war  with  the  Indians,  since  it 

was  an  infraction  of  the  treaty,  and  that  for  his  part  he  would 

not  suffer  the  French  to  treat  them  as  enemies.  "  I  have, 

therefore,"  adds  Lord  Bellomont,  "  given  them  orders  to  be 
on  their  guard,  and,  in  case  they  be  attacked,  to  give  no 

quarter  cither  to  Frenchmen  or  Indians,  having  promised 
them  assistance  each  time  they  require  it.  Moreover,  to  place 
them  in  a  condition  to  defend  themselves,  and  to  repel  those 

who  will  attack  them,  I  have  furnished  them  with  a  quantity 

of  arms  and  munitions  of  war."  Lord  Bellomont  called  upon 

de  I^'rontcnac  to  forbid  his  missionaries  interfering  with  the 
Indians,  who  had  represented  to  him  that  they  were  over- 

whelmed and  tormented  by  them  against  their  will.  "  If  you 

do  not,"  he  said,  "  cause  acts  of  hostility  to  cease,  you  will  be 

held  responsible  for  any  consequences  which  may  follow." 
The  Indians  were  willing  to  place  in  his  ha;ids  a  hundred 

prisoners,  on  condition  that  they  were  assured  of  the  libera- 
tion of  their  own  people.  Lord  Bellomont  alkulcd  to  the 

attack  of  the  Indians  on  the  15th  of  July  on  men  engaged  in 
their  harvest,  who  had  been  scalped.  He  asked  de  Frontcnac 

if  it  were  true  that  the  French  Indians  were  to  receive  fifty 
ecus  for  each  scalp. 

On  the  22nd  of  August  he  again  wrote,  informing  de 

Frontcnac  that  he  had  learned  from  the  Onondagas.  two  rene- 
gades of  the  Mohawks  had  been  with  them  to  say  that,  if  they 

did  not  proceed  to  Canada  in  forty  days,  "  to  solicit  peace 
from  you,  they  may  look  to  see  you  marching  at  the  head  of 
an  army  to  constrain  them.  I,  on  my  side,  do  even  this  day 

send  my  Lieutenant-Governor  with  the  King's  regular  troops 
to  join  the  Indians  to  oppose  any  hostilities  you  will  attempt, 
and  if  need  be,  I  will  arouse  every  man  in  the  Provinces  under 

my  government,  to  repel  you  and  to  make  reprisals." 
To  prevent  any  mi.scarriage  of  his  letters,  and  any  misun- 

derstanding with  regard  to  the  ground  he  had  taken,  Schuyler 

was  again  despatched  to  Quebec  in  September,  to  insure 
their  delivery. 

The  old  dispute  as  to  the  Iroquois  therefore  remained  unad- 
w 
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justed  by  the  peace,  to  cause  further  complications.  "My  lord 
threatens  me,"  said  de  Frontcnac,  "  but  I  am  not  afraid.  My 
lord  Bellomont  claims  the  Five  Nations  of  Indians,  which  is 

none  of  his  due."  He  asked  the  strength  of  Lord  Bellomont's 
government,  which  included  New  England  and  New  York. 

Schuyler  replied :  "  By  common  report,  my  Lord  could 
raise  one  hundred  thousand  men ;  ye  Count  said  he  alwayes 

understood  the  same." 
On  the  23rd  of  September,  the  day  for  the  proclamation  of 

the  peace,  Schuyler  dined  with  de  Frontenac.  In  July,  when 

de  Frontenac  was  in  Mo'iireal,  he  had  received  tidings  of  the 

Treaty  of  Ryswick,  with  instructions  for  a  "  Te  Deum  "  to  be 
sung,  and  it  was  now  the  ceremony  took  place.  The  pro- 

minent personages  at  Quebec  were  present  at  the  Governor's 
banquet ;  the  higher  clergy,  the  officers  of  rank,  the  chief 
officials.  De  Frontenac  proposed  the  health  of  King  William 

the  Third  and  Queen  Mary  ;  Schuyler  proposed  the  health 
of  the  French  King  ;  de  Frontcnac  then  gave  the  health  of 

Schuyler. 

Peace  was  formally  proclaimed  "  with  all  ye  acclamacons  of 
joy  imaginable,  ye  castles  and  ye  shippcs  in  ye  road  discharg- 

ing all  their  cannon  ;  ye  night  ended  with  illuminacons  and 

other  demonstrations  of  joy." 
Two  days  later,  Schuyler  left  for  Albany,  Hearing  that 

the  Iroquois  had  sent  envoys  to  Montreal  to  treat  for  peace, 
he  proceeded  to  that  city  to  learn  if  such  were  the  fact ;  he 
found  the  report  untrue,  so  he  returned  homeward. 

He  was  the  bcjirer  of  a  letter  from  de  Frontenac  dated  the 

2istof  Septemb'?!'^  1698,  which  informed  Bellomont  that  com- 
missioners had  been  appointed  to  determine  the  limits  of  the 

countries,  and  that  the  Indian  question  was  one  entirely  dif- 

ferent from  that  of  ♦^he  peace.  He  was  perfectly  well  informed 
of  the  sentiments  of  the  Iroquois ;  not  one  of  the  Five  Nations 

pretended  to  be  under  the  dominion  of  England,  nor  desired 

to  be  so.  "  Therefore,  sir,"  he  continued,  "  am  I  determined 

to  pur^  ie  unflinr'lingly  my  course,  and  I  request  you  not  to 
attempt  to  thwart  it,  by  what  would  turn  out  in  )     ;r  case 
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to  be  useless  efforts.  All  the  protection  and  aid  you  have 
declared  to  me  you  have  already  afforded,  and  will  continue 

to  give  to  the  Iroquois,  in  opposition  to  the  terms  of  the 
treaty,  will  cause  me  no  great  alarm,  nor  oblige  me  to  alter 

my  plans.  They  would  rather,  on  the  contrary,  engage  me 
the  more  to  prosecute  them.  You  will  be  responsible  in  the 

face  of  Heaven  and  the  King,  your  master,  for  whatever 

unfortunate  result  may  follow,  for  you  will  be  the  sole  cause 

of  the  bloodshed  that  will  ensue."  * 
This  letter  may  be  described  as  the  last  important  act  of  de 

Frontenac's  life.  On  the  25th  of  October,  he  joined  de  Cham- 
pigny  in  a  despatch  to  the  King,  in  which  a  narrative  is  given 
of  the  correspondence.  He  there  said  that  no  step  would  be 
taken  by  which  the  treaty  would  be  infringed,  and  that 
everything  would  be  held  in  readiness  to  execute  the  orders, 
which  he  asked  should  be  sent  him. 

De  Frontenac  was  now  in  his  seventy-eighth  year,  when  he 
was  attacked  by  severe  illness.  If  he  had  in  any  way  been 

suffering  from  indisposition,  there  was  no  expectation  that  it 
would  be  attended  by  danger.  There  were  those  about  him, 

who  hoped  to  succeed  him  in  his  office,  and,  had  there  been 
indications  of  a  fatal  termination  of  the  attack,  the  news 

would  undoubtedly  have  been  sent  to  France  by  the  last  ships. 

The  dangerous  nature  of  his  malady  must  have  declared  itself, 

after  the  letter  written  jointly  with  de  Champigny.  There  are 

no  details  of  his  complaint,  and  we  do  not  know  its  name  or 

character.  From  the  rapidity  with  which  it  advanced  to  end 

in  death,  it  is  not  impossible  that  it  was  a  general  break-up  of 
his  constitution. 

On  the  22nd  of  November  he  knew  death  was  upon  him 

and  dictated  his  will.  Except  fifteen  hundred  livrcs,  which, 

he  bequeathed  to  the  RecoUets  for  masses  for  himself  and 
Madame  de  Frontenac  after  her  death,  he  left  all  that  he 

was  worth  to  his  wife.  His  heart  he  desired  to  be  placed  in 
a   leaden    or  silver  case  to  be  sent  to   her,  in  order  to   be 

*  1st  Series  MS.  Documents  Archives  Department,  V.,  p.  513. 
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[1698 deposited  in  the  family  vaults  of  the  Church  of  Saint  Nicolas 
des  Champs. 

During  his  illness  he  had  become  reconciled  with  the 

Intendant  de  Champigny,  and  had  given  him  a  crucifix.  He 

left  a  rcliquaire  to  Madame  de  Champigny.  He  was  attended 

in  his  last  hours  by  the  Recollet  Father  Goyer,  "  in  a  Christian 

spirit  receiving  the  last  sacraments."  He  died  at  three  o'clock 
in  the  afternoon  of  the  28th  of  November,  in  the  perfect 

enjoyment  of  his  faculties,  with  quiet  composure. 

According  to  his  direction,  he  was  buried  in  the  Recollet 
Church,  not  in  the  Cathedral  :  a  preference,  which  after 

years  showed  offended  some  of  the  clergy.*  Bishop  de  Saint 
Vallier  attended  to  perform  the  leading  part  in  the  ceremony. 

The  Recollet  Father  Goyer  preached  the  funeral  sermon  to 

a  large  congregation,  dwelling  on  the  great  qualities  of  de 
Frontcnac,  and,  whatever  adverse  criticism  may  advance,  they 

were  indisputable. 
His  death  made  a  profound  impression  on  the  whole 

community,  not  the  least  striking  feature  of  which  was  the 
suddenness  with  which  it  had  come  to  pass,  for  it  could  not 

have  been  apprehended  three  weeks  earlier.  The  poor 
especially  bore  evidence  to  his  charity  and  generosity  ;  those 
who  had  intimate  communication  with  him  must  have  felt  that 

they  had  lost  a  friend  not  to  be  replaced.  His  last  hours  had 

evoked  only  feelings  of  charity,  while  the  undoubted  service 
which  he  had  rendered  the  country  must,  now  that  he  was  no 

more,  have  every  where  found  recognition.  Peace,  it  is  true, 

had  been  proclaimed,  but  there  were  other  difficulties,  which 
the  higher  officials  knew  well  had  to  be  met,  when  his  ability 
would  be  missed.  The  sorrow  shewn,  when  his  remains  were 

placed  in  the  church  vault,  was  as  genuine  and  as  deeply  felt 
as  in  every  sense  it  deserved  to  be. 

De  Frontenac's  character,  looked  at  with  the  breadth 
that  history  admits  of,  cannot  fail  to  command  respect  from 

nearly  every  point  of  view  at  which  it  may  be  regarded.     His 

*  I  allude  to  the  offensive  commentary  on  his  funeral  sermon  in  MS.  attributed 
to  M.  I'Abbe  de  la  Tour. 
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memory  has  been  assailed  by  the  admirers  of  the  men  he 

opposed,  and  by  those  who  favour  the  ecclesiastical  pretensions 
and  school  of  theology,  which,  de  Frontenac  neither  in  his 

personal,  nor  official  relations  would  countenance.  Their  cen- 
sure takes  the  form  of  assailing  characteristics  held  secondary 

in  the  career  of  a  public  man.  He  has  been  accused  of  extrava- 

gant pretensions  to  power,  of  the  adoption  of  a  policj-  for 
his  private  ends,  of  violence  of  temper,  and  of  an  exaction  of 

personal  consideration  without  true  dignity.  Even  if  these 

faults  be  conceded,  he  still  stands  forth  the  most  prominent 

of  French  Governors.  If  he  personally  exacted  what  was 

due  to  his  position,  it  was  in  accordance  with  the  feeling  of 
his  time,  and  sprang  equally  from  the  conviction  of  its 

political  necessity.  Personally,  he  had  no  exaggerated 
theories  of  his  own  dignity.  It  is  also  urged  that  he  was 
unscrupulous  in  pursuit  of  his  objects.  It  was  not  an  age 

delicate  on  points  of  conscience,  but  his  whole  career  fur- 
nishes the  proof,  that,  in  the  policy  followed  by  him,  it  was 

not  his  private  interest  he  consulted.  The  great  stain  against 

his  name  is  the  ruthless  massacres  which  he  authorized.* 
His  conduct  on  these  occasions  in  no  way  sprang  from  a 

cruel  or  revengeful  nature;  it  was  calculated  on  the  cmer- 

genc}'  which  he  had  to  meet,  and  may  be  attributed  to  the 
school  in  which  he  was  reared,  the  maxim  of  war  then  recog- 

nized being  that  anything  whatever  that  caused  disaster  to  an 

enemy  was  permissible. -f  His  nature  was  genial  and  kindly. 

\\'ith  those  who  served  under  him,  there  was  implicit  confi- 

*  It  is  an  act  of  justice  to  de  Frontenac's  memory  to  point  out,  that  tiiis  system 
of  destructive  war,  was  at  that  date  a  recognized  principle  of  inflicting  injury  on 

an  enemy.  Thus,  the  great  Duke  of  Marlborough,  in  no  way  marked  by  cruelty, 

and  whose  humanity  in  the  care  of  the  wounded,  was  a  strong  feature  in  his 

ch.iracter,  a  few  days  previous  to  the  crushing  defeat  of  the  French  and  Bavarians 

at  Blenheim,  wrote  to  his  wife  on  the  30th  July,  1704  :  "  We  send  this  morning 

three  thousand  horse  to  his  [the  Elector  of  Bavaria's]  chief  city  of  Munich,  with 
orders  to  burn  and  destroy  all  the  country  about  it.  This  is  so  contrary  to  my 

nature,  that  nothing  but  absolute  necessity  could  have  obliged  me  '  )  consent  to  it, 

since  these  poor  people  suft'er  for  their  master's  ambition." 
Bohn's  Coxe's  Marlborough  I.,  p.  183. 

t  "  Tout  ce  qui  nuit  a  I'ennemi." 
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[1698 dcnce  in  his  conduct,  courage,  and  consideration  of  their  just 
rights.  There  was  never  doubt  or  hesitation  when  he  was 

present,  and  the  success  of  his  government  may  be  attributed 
to  his  own  energy  and  ability.  He  was  invariably  affable. 
He  had  the  happy  faculty  of  always  saying  what  was  right 

and  proper.  There  is  in  his  correspondence  a  dignity  of 

language  well  worthy  of  imitation,  and  in  the  justification  of 

his  acts  and  policy,  he  always  writes  with  modesty  and  force. 
He  found  Canada  on  the  verge  of  ruin.  For  nine  years,  in 
the  midst  of  war,  with  feeble  resources,  with  limited  assistance 

from  France,  embarrassed  often  by  impracticable  schemes 

which  had  their  origin  at  Versailles,  he  upheld  the  power  con- 
fided to  him,  and  retrieved  the  Province  from  the  calamities 

threatening  to  overwhelm  her,  and  even  obtained  a  prestige 
over    the  rival 

English 
colonies    in  excess   of  the  strensrth 

which  he  could  bring  into  the  field.  He  did  not  gain  this 

result  at  the  expense  of  the  system  of  Government  which  he 

administered.  Property  was  secured,  justice  rendered  between 
man  and  man,  law  enforced,  and  no  one,  whatever  his  position, 
was  allowed  to  oppress  the  people. 

His  second  government  had  a  different  character  from  that 

of  his  first  term  of  office.  On  the  first  occasion,  his  position 

and  authority  as  G'^vernor  were  disputed  by  Duchesncau  the 
Intendant,  sustained  in  his  efforts  by  M.  de  Laval.  The  mem- 

bers of  the  Council  were  encouraged  to  act  in  opposition  to 
him.  The  antagonism  which  he  experienced  from  the  Abbe 
de  Fenelon  and  M.  Perrot  forced  him  into  the  assertion  of  his 

position.  In  the  .second  period  of  his  office,  no  such  personal 
difficulties  presented  themselves.  The  disagreement  with 

Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  had  its  origin  in  de  I-^rontenac  inter- 
vening to  prevent  the  undue  exercise  of  ecclesiastical 

authority,  at  variance  with  the  laws  of  France.  He  had  no 
personal  interest  in  the  controversy ;  from  the  desire  alone  of 

protecting  an  individual,  whom  he  held  to  be  unjustly  assailed, 

and  from  the  conviction  that  the  course  pursued  by  the  Council 

was  dangerous  as  a  precedent,  he  assumed  responsibilities 
which  common  natures  would   have  avoided.     The   records 
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establish  the  ability  and  judgment,  joined  with  moderation, 
which  he  showed  on  the  occasion. 

Whatever  the  Intendant  might  write  to  France  concern- 
ing the  Governor,  dc  Champigny  treated  him  with  habitual 

courtesy  and  deference.  One  point  at  issue  between  them 

arose,  with  regard  to  the  policy  to  be  observed  as  to  the  Indians 

of  the  West.  De  Frontenac's  view  was  to  hold  possession  of 
the  country  by  courcjirs  dc  bois ;  he  looked  upon  their  presence 
as  a  confirmation  of  French  authority.  He  knew  that  the 
French  laboured  under  the  disadvantage  of  selling  goods 
dearer  than  the  English,  and  likewise  that  the  Indians  were 

sensible  of  the  fact.  Accordingly,  he  desired  to  sec  the 
station  at  Michilimackinac  well  attended,  so  that  the  trade 

would  be  more  general,  and  more  advantageous  to  the  Indian. 

His  theory  was  to  extend  the  number  of  such  posts.  The 
Intendant  would  have  limited  them  to  Michilimackinac  and 

Saint  Joseph,  and  only  have  permitted  a  certain  number  of 
French  to  reside  there  ;  none  of  whom  were  to  be  allowed 

to  trade  on  their  own  account,  and  he  desired  to  regulate 

everything  from  Quebec. 

De  Frontenac's  main  policy  was  to  exclude  the  Albany 
traders  from  all  relationship  with  the  Western  Indians.  A 

large  force  of  courcnrs  dc  bois  on  an  emergency  could  be 
gathered  to  prevent  such  traders  obtaining  any  foothold.  For 

any  expedition  from  Albany  to  have  succeeded,  it  must  have 
been  formed  on  so  extensive  a  scale,  as  to  have  almost  made 

it  impossible.  These  wanderers,  on  their  appearance  at 
Montreal,  were  a  troublesome  population.  De  Calliores,  who 

had  seen  much  of  them  under  their  worst  features,  was  desir- 
ous of  reducing  their  number,  and  to  some  extent  supported 

the  views  of  the  Intendant.  De  Champigny  was  much  influ- 
enced in  his  opinions  by  the  missionaries,  who  saw  in  the 

presence  of  these  men  interference  with  their  own  labours.  One 

of  his  arguments  was,  that  they  injured  the  cause  of  religion. 

De  Champigny  was  invariably  the  supporter  of  the  Bishop's 
opinions,  whatever  form  Uiey  assumed.  He  was  desirous  of 
seeing  a  firm  hold  gained  by  the  Church  on  the  government, 
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[1698 and  the  tone  of  life  of  the  community,  at  whatever  cost  to  its 

general  policy. 
It  is  the  misfortune  of  humanity,  from  time  to  time,  to  find 

in  every  creed  extravagant  pretensions  to  control  much,  which, 
if  ecclesiastics  are  wise,  they  will  only  reprove,  when  called  upon 

by  circumstances  justifying  the  attitude  they  may  assume  ; 
when  acting  in  the  spirit  of  right  they  make  contradiction 

difficult.  The  majority  of  men,  certainly  those  who  have  been 
students  of  history,  will  not  accept  an  impossible  standard  of 

life.  They  see  little  to  be  commended,  in  the  reproof  of  that 
which  is  in  itself  but  gaiety  and  lightheartcdness,  and  they 
experience  a  revulsion  of  feeling  when  ordinary  events  and 

duties  are  complicated  by  religious  observances.  There  is  al- 
ways a  recoil  from  these  extravagances,  and  there  are  few  acts 

in  public  life  which  more  tend  to  make  the  judicious  grieve. 
In  the  French  Canada  of  that  date,  some  of  the  religious 

authorities  claimed  to  be  all  dominant.  The  power  of  the 
ecclesiastics  was  great,and  few  risked  the  penalty  of  the  weight 

of  their  displeasure.  The  obloquy  cast  on  de  Frontenac's  name 
has  arisen  from  his  vindication  of  a  sound  public  policy  freed 

from  this  influence.*  De  Frontcnac  sincerely  believed  in  the 
truth  of  the  creed  which  he  professed.  As  the  Recollets  con- 

fined themselves  to  their  religious  ministrations,  and  were 

marked  by  no  political  aspirations,  their  order  was  the  one  to 

*  A  contemporary  writer,  La  Motte  Cadillac  [Vol.  VII.,  MS.  Par.  Lib., 

pp.  56-67],  28th  September,  1694,  speaks  of  de  Frontenac,  viewed  from  this 

standing  point  ;  "  He  would  have  had  less  difficulty  if  he  had  not  abolished 

a  "hieriche,"  a  house  constructed  by  the  Seminary  of  Montreal  to  imprison 
young  girls  of  profligate  life  ;  if  he  had  permitted  them  to  take  soldiers, 
and  assign  them  officers  to  tear  away  at  midnight  wives  from  the  side  of  their 

husbands  on  account  of  their  having  been  at  a  bal  or  masque,  and  in  this  "hieriche" 
to  scourge  them  (fesser)  till  blood  came;  if  he  had  in  no  way  protested  against  the 
cures,  who  went  their  rounds  with  soldiers  to  oblige  women  and  girls  to  go  to 

their  homes  at  nine  o'clock  ;  if  he  had  been  willing  that  there  should  be  a  prohi- 
bition against  wearing  lace,  and  if  he  had  said  nothing  when  the  communion  was 

refused  to  women  of  quality  for  wearing  a  "  Fontanges ;  "  if  he  had  not  opposed 
the  exconununicaiions  which  were  scattered  broadcast  ;  if  he  had  only  appointed 
his  officers  in  accordance  with  the  views  of  the  communities  ...  he  would 

soon  have  been  on  the  list  of  saints,  for  they  are  cheaply  canonized  in  this  country." 



I'ar.   Lib., 
fioin  this 

I  abolished 

inipiison 
soldiers, 

|e  of  their 

j'hieriche" 
Igainst  the 
Is  to  go  to 

le  a  prohi- 
lunion  was 

It  opposed 

lappointed 
he  would 

country." 

1G98] 
CANADA  UNDER   BE   FRONTENAC. 

329. 

which  he  gave  his  confidence  and  support.  His  own  view  was, 

that  government  required  a  strong  hand,  but  it  should  be 

that  of  the  State  ;  such  was  the  character  of  his  own  adminis- 
tration. There  was  no  pohtical  representation  ;  legislation 

emanated  from  the  authorities.  The  Council  acted  as  a  Court 

to  adjudicate  on  matters  submitted  to  them.  The  powers  of 
the  Governor  in  fact  really  depended  upon  the  will  of  the  King; 

but  any  ordinance  issued  by  the  Governor,  until  disallowed  by 
the  monarch,  was  supreme.  The  promulgation  of  a  law 

constituted  its  legality.  All  police  regulations  were  matters 
of  proclamation.  There  was  restriction  in  every  direction  of 
life.  Xo  one  could  leave  Canada  without  a  pass  ;  no  one 

could  proceed  from  one  locality  to  another  in  the  Colony 

without  a  permit.  Men  were  liable,  on  every  occasion  of 

necessity,  to  be  drafted  from  their  farms,  to  serve  on  an  expe- 

dition without  pay,  being  allowed  only  their  rations,  and  fur- 
ni.shcd  to  some  extent  with  clothing  and  with  arms.  There 

was  no  specie  ;  all  payments  were  made  in  paper.  There 
was  little  of  individual  freedom  ;  men  were  ordered  arbitrarily 

to  support  their  parents  and  to  pay  sums  of  money  to  younger 
brothers  and  sisters  ;  families  were  forbidden  to  sell  a  gun, 

unless  every  member  of  the  family,  including  the  son  of  four- 

teen years  old,  and  their  servants  pos.sessed  fire-arms  ;  a 
serwint  leaving  a  family  in  which  he  had  engaged  to  serve,  or 

who  failed  to  show  proper  respect,  was  compelled  bare-headed 
and  on  his  knees  to  ask  pardon  for  his  trespass  ;  the  value  of 

gold  coins  was  established  by  ordinance ;  men  placed  in 
offices  of  position  had  to  undergo  an  examination  as  to  their 

lives,  manners  and  orthodox}'  ;  judges  were  ordered  to  visit 
the  mills  constantly  to  note  if  there  were  proper  scales  and 

weights  ;  the  price  of  bread  was  determined,  each  loaf  had  to 
be  marked  with  its  weight  ;  there  was  a  regulated  price  for 

wine  ;  pigs  found  running  loose  in  Quebec  were  confiscated 
to  the  rcligicuscs  of  the  Hotel  Dieu. 

In  a  system  of  government  of  this  kind,  the  character  ot 

the  Governor  must  ever  be  the  important  feature,  to  control 

both  social  and  political  events.     During  the  second  period 
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[1698 of  dc  Frontenac's  rule,  the  country  was  beset  by  danjjer  and 
difficulty.  In  every  trial  de  Frontenac  successfully  coped 
with  the  perils  he  had  to  meet ;  keeping  the  Province  in  its 

integrity  uninjured,  even  extending  its  limits;  dispensing  to 
the  inhabitants  as  much  security  as  it  was  possible  to  give, 

while  he  successfully  defended  Canada  from  outward  attack. 

It  is  impossible  not  to  recognize  the  commanding  ability, 

patriotism,  and  even  genius,  which  marked  his  career. 

Charlevoix  has  left  his  epitaph  in  a  few  words,  "After  all, 
New  France  owed  to  him  all  that  she  was  at  the  time  of  his 

death,  and  the  people  soon  perceived  the  great  void  he  had 

left  behind  him."* 

*  "Apr6s  tout,  la  Nouvelle  France  lui  devoit  tout  ce  qu'elle  etoita  sa  mort,  et 
Ton  s'aper9Ut  bieiuOt  du  grand  vuide  qu'il  y  laissoit."     Liv.  II.,  >' VII.,  p.  237. 
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I  have  now  to  describe  the  events  which  took  place  in 

Acadia,  from  the  date  of  de  Frontcnac  entering  upon  his 

second  government  in  1689.  His  operations  were  not  confined 
to  Canadian  interests  ;  he  saw  Hkewise  the  importance  of 

shewing  activity  in  Acadia,  to  retain  the  Micmacs  and  Aben- 
akis  in  their  allegiance  to  France,  and  to  confirm  them 

irreconcilably  in  their  enmity  to  New  England. 
I  have  stated  that  early  in  1690  three  expeditions  were 

organized  by  him.  One  from  Montreal  to  Schenectady  has 
been  described.  I  have  to  relate  those  which  left  Three 

Rivers  and  Quebec.  The  destination  of  both  was  Acadia. 

The  party  which  left  three  Rivers  was  not  numerically  large. 

It  consisted  of  fifty-two  men,  half  of  whom  were  French;  the 
remainder  with  the  exception  of  five  Algonquins  were  Aben- 
akis,  and  were  under  the  command  of  Francois  de  Kertel  ; 

three  of  his  sons  served  under  him.  The  party  was  two 
months  on  the  march  before  reaching  the  spot  attacked. 
The  leaders  started  with  no  particular  destination  in  view; 

tl.^  .  mission  was  to  destroy,  and  they  were  to  trust  to  some 

fav  Durable  opportunity  which  should  offer.  In  the  territory 

which  they  were  approaching,  every  Abenaki  Indian  they  met 
was  a  friend,  and  a  foe  to  those  against  whom  they  were 

advancing.  The  Abenakis  had  been  confirmed  in  this  senti- 

ment by  Father  Thury  and  the  two  Bigots  ;  consequently, 
the  French  expedition  wa;:  certain  of  receiving  intelligence  of 

any  movement  unfavourable  to  it,  in  time  to  guard  against, 
or  avoid  its  evil  influence. 

Surprise  must  be  felt  at  the  conduct  of  Massachusetts  in 

this  emergenc}'.  Years  were  required  for  her  people  to  learn 
chat  war  is  an  art  to  be  studied,  and  to  b ,  conducted  accord- 

ing to  acknowledged  principles ;  that  it  is  a  condition  in  which 
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[1690 
caution  should  never  slumbcr.and  where  prudence  and  foresight 

will  often  supply  the  place  of  numbers ;  and  that  without  disci- 
pline and  well  considered  combinations,  great  qualities  lead 

only  to  the  sacrifice  of  those  distinguished  by  them.  On  the 
American  continent  this  estimate  of  military  capacity  is  still 

far  from  being  generally  recognized.  Twelve  months  had 
not  passed,  since,  from  want  of  ordinary  precaution,  Fort 
Pemaquid  had  been  taken,  and  the  memory  of  the  disaster 
at  Dover  was  yet  fresh.  Nevertheless,  the  opinion  prevailed 

that  mere  courage,  or,  in  some  cases,  the  affirmation  of  its 
possession,  was  sufficient  to  constitute  a  soldier.  Disaster 

upon  disaster  happened  to  New  England,  owing  to  this 
unfortun.ite  belief;  and  it  was  on  these  occasions  that 
the  best  and  bravest  of  her  sons  were  sent  forward  to  be 

slaughtered. 
After  long  wandering  about  in  search  of  a  locality  where 

an  attack  could  be  safely  made,  de  Hertel  heard  that  Salmon 

Falls  was  open  to  attack.  The  place  is  now  known  as 
Berwick  in  New  Hampshire,  seven  miles  from  the  present 
town  of  Portsmouth,  then  called  Piscataqua  from  the  river  of 
that  name,  at  the  mouth  of  which  it  is  situate,  and  even 

then  a  place  of  importance.  De  Hertel,  after  his  descent  of 
the  Kennebec,  had  long  prowled  about  before  he  found  his 

prey,  for  he  only  arrived  at  Salmon  Falls  on  the  27th  of 
March. 

The  settlers  were  grouped  about  the  river.  The  place 
contained  two  picket  forts,  constructed  for  protection  against 
Indian  attack.  One  of  the  houses  was  also  large  and  capable 
of  being  fortified  ;  no  watch  was  kept,  and  it  may  be  said  that 

surprise  was  invited.  De  Hertel  ̂ I'vided  his  party  into  three 
small  squads,  and  in  the  first  grey  of  the  morning  when  every 

one  was  sleeping,  the  attack  was  made.  There  was  no  time 
to  collect  the  slightest  force  for  defence;  what  resistance  was 

made  was  of  no  avail.  It  was  simply  to  defer  the  victim's 
death  for  a  few  seconds,  for  he  was  overpowered  by  numbers. 
All  found  In  the  houses  were  killed,  shot,  or  cut  down  by  the 

tomahawk.     They  numbered  thirty  persons,  men  and  women, 
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old  and  young.  The  party  of  dc  Ilcrtel  spread  itself  through 

the  small  settlement,  laying  waste  its  whole  extent.  All  the 
houses  and  barns  were  burned  :  Salmon  Falls  ceased  to  exist. 

Twenty-seven  houses  and  two  thousand  head  of  cattle  are 

said  to  have  been  destroyed  ;  fifty-seven  persons,  old  and 
young  men,  women  and  children,  were  carried  away  as 

prisoners. 
The  Canadians  rapidly  retreated,  and  had  not  proceeded  far 

on  their  route,  when  as  usual,  the  Indians  brought  them  news 

of  what  was  being  done.  The  destruction  of  Salmon  Falls 
had  been  reported  at  Portsmouth ;  in  consequence,  a  force  had 

been  rapidly  organized  and  was  advancing  to  attack  them. 
De  Hertcl  placed  himself  on  the  bank  of  what  is  now  the 

Wooster  river.  In  front  of  him  was  a  stream  only  to  be 

crossed  by  a  long  narrow  bridge,  in  itself  establishing  that  no 
ford  was  to  be  found  in  the  vicinity.  The  party  in  pursuit, 

consisting  of  one  'hundred  and  forty  men,  attempted  to  pass 
from  the  opposite  side  of  the  stream  ;  they  were  received  by  a 
continual  fire.  Two  of  the  Portsmouth  party  were  killed,  eight 
wounded.  The  skirmish  continued  until  dark,  when  de 

Hertel  retreated  safely,  to  reach  an  Abenaki  village.  A 

iM'cnchman  and  an  Indian  on  his  side  were  killed  ;  the  eldest 
son  of  de  Ilcrtel  was  wounded  by  a  musket  ball  in  the  thigh. 

Three  clays  later,  the  scouts  he  sent  out  reported  that  the\'  had 
in^t  three  men  from  New  England  on  their  tniil,  and  killed 

them.     There  is  no  I"'nglish  account  of  this  Joss. 
Intelligence  could  alwa\'s  be  obtained  at  an  Abenaki  vil- 

lage, and  on  his  arrival  de  Ilcrtel  was  informed  that,  a  few 

hc)urs  previously,  a  French  party  had  passed  onwards  towards 
Casco  Bay.  He  determined  at  once  to  join  it.  He  sent  his 
nephew  Gatineau  with  twelve  men  to  escort  the  prisoners  to 
Canada.  I  lis  son,  he  left  at  the  village  to  recover  from  his 

wound.  He  despatched  de  Maugras  with  five  Algonquins  to 
the  Saint  Francis  mission.     The  latter  were  never  heard  of 

The  expedition,  of  the  presence  of  which  he  had  been 

informed,  had  left  Quebec  in  the  last  days  of  January,  under 
the  command  of  de  Portneuf,  the  third  son  of  M.  de  Becan- 
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[1690 cour.  His  cousin  de  Courtcmanche  de  Repcntigny  was  his 

lieutenant.  It  consisted  of  fifty  French  and  Canadians,  and 
sixty  Abenakis  from  the  Chaudicre.  Like  de  Hertcl,  they 

were  to  depend  upon  the  information  which  they  could  obtain, 

as  the  guide  to  future  operations.  De  Hertcl  joined  de  Port- 
neuf ;  nothing  however  was  undertaken  during  April  and  May. 

A  reconnaissance  was  made  on  theQuinibecqui,  where  they  met 
some  Indians,  who  reported  that  they  had  had  a  skirmish  with 

the  English  in  wh-'^h  they  killed  six  of  them.  Finally,  de  Port- 
neuf  received  intelligence.which  ledhim  tobelieve  that  therewas 

a  probability  of  making  a  successful  attempt  on  the  .settlement 

of  Falmouth  in  Casco  Bay,  now  the  citj-  of  PorJand,  known 
by  the  French  from  the  Indian  corruption  of  the  true  name 

Koskebee.  Everything  promised  success.  The  fort,  "  Fort 

Loyall,"  *  had  been  constructed  on  a  high  point  of  ground  on 
Falmouth  neck,  not  far  from  the  river  Casco.  A  village  of  a 

few  houses  had  grown  up,  with  a  mill  and  a  meeting-house. 
Three  small  outlying  block-houses  had  been  constructed  for 
additional  protection.  For  about  two  or  three  thousand  feet, 

the  land  along  the  river  had  been  cleared ;  to  the  north  the 
settlement  was  skirted  by  the  forest.  The  fort,  mounted 

with  eight  pieces  of  cannon,  earlier  in  the  year  had  been 

garrisoned  by  Captain  Willard  and  one  hundred  men.  Con- 
tradictory accounts  are  given  why  this  force  had  been 

removed ;  but  the  fact  is  established,  that  by  an  order  from 
the  Massachusetts  Legislature,  Captain  Willard  and  a  part 
of  his  force  were  withdrawn.  There  is  a  letter  extant  from 

Sylvanus  Davis,  who  subsequently  took  command,  asking 

that  "  the  town  may  not  bee  desarted."  The  Indian  scouts 
had  learned  the  unprotected  condition  of  the  settlement,  and 

intelligence  of  the  design  to  attack  it  was  sent  to  the  Aben- 
akis Piid  Canabas,  with  a  summons  to  attend.     On  the  25th 

*  Fort  Loyall  was  coiistructeil  at  the  fool  of  Broad,  now  called  India  street,  on 
the  s'outh  side  of  Fore  .Street,  in  the  present  city  of  Portland.  The  high  ground 
removed  to  admit  of  the  construction  of  the  Grand  Trunk  station  was,  generally 

speaking,  aliout  thirty  feet  above  the  present  level.  Siege  and  Capture  of  Fort 
Loyall,  by  John  T.  Hull.     Printed  by  order  of  the  City  Council. 
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of  -May,  the  several  parties  came  together  within  four  miles 
of  the  fort. 

All  the  for< Fall 

ith, 

ilable  for  defenc 5ted  of rce  in  ralmoutn,  available  lor  delence  consist 

one  hundred  men,  mainly  occupied  in  the  cultivation  of  the 

land.  As  settlers,  they  had  a  large  number  of  women  and 
children.  With  few  exceptions,  they  were  not  enlisted  men, 

and  discipline  in  the  military  sense  of  the  word  in  no  way 
existed.  Captain  Sylvanus  Davis,  a  man  engaged  in  trade 

and  owning  a  store  in  the  village,  was  in  command,  and  during 
the  four  days  siege  conducted  the  defence. 

On  the  morning  of  the  26th,  two  Frenchmen  and  two 

Indians  of  de  Hertel's  force,  killed  a  Scotchman  named 
Robert  Greason,  living  four  miles  from  Casco.  His 

family,  seeking  protection  in  the  fort,  gave  the  first  notice  of 
the  presence  of  the  enemy.  The  few  soldiers  and  men  of  the 

place  gathered  in  the  fort  and  block-houses,  and  the  Cana- 
dians, seeing  that  their  presence  was  known,  made  prepara- 

tions for  the  attack.  Thirty  men,  under  Lieutenant  Thaddeus 
Clarke,  were  sent  forward  to  reconnoitre.  As  they  advanced 
towards  a  lane  where  the  Canadians  had  concealed  themselves 

in  ambush,  they  ̂ upcctcd  that  there  was  danger  in  their  front, 
as  the  cattle  would  not  enter  the  wood  as  was  their  custom. 

The  few  men  passed  on  through  the  open,  towards  a  fence 

where  de  Portneuf's  men  were  concealed.  The  Canadians 

waited  to  receive  them  until  within  a  few  yards'  distance, 
when  they  fired.  Half  of  the  thirty  fell,  some  dead,  some 

mortally  wounded,  among  the  former  Lieutenant  Clarke.  The 
attacking  force  rushed  on  the  survivors,  four  only  of  whom 

reached  the  fort,  all  wounded.  Some  Canadians  who  pursued 
them  were  exposed  to  the  fire  from  the  fort,  by  which  one  was 
killed  and  one  wounded. 

The  orders  given  by  dc  Frontenac  to  de  Portneuf,  had 

strictly  forbidden  him  to  attack  any  fortified  place,  and  in  that 
way  risk  the  loss  of  men.  So  the  day  passed  without  anything 

being  attempted.  On  the  side  of  the  defenders  the  block- 
houses were  abandoned,  and  the  whole  of  those  present  in 

the  .settlement  took  refuge  in  the  fort,  including  women  and 
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[1690 children,  to   the  number   of  two  hundred.     The  number  of 

figlitintr  rnen  was  seventy. 
The  writer  of  the  French  narrative  *  of  the  occurrence  has 

stated  that  the  fort  was  besieged  in  the  regular  form  of  ap- 
proach, and  that  trenches  and  parallels  were  rapidly  run  up,  in 

order  that  the  palisades  could  be  threatened  with  fire.  This 

statement  of  a  fact,  impossible  under  the  circumstances  in  which 
it  is  narrated,  has  been  followed  by  modern  writers.  Xo  such 

proceeding  could  have  taken  place.  On  the  26th  the  Cana- 
dians came  upon  the  ground,  and  the  sortie  of  the  thirty  men 

was  made.  On  the  night  of  the  26th  the  fort  was  called 

upon  to  surrender.  The  answer  was  given  that  it  would  be 

defended  to  the  death.  "  Our  people,"  says  dc  Monseignat, 
"  lay  during  the  night  of  the  twenty-sixth  and  the  twenty- 
seventh  on  the  beach,  within  fifty  paces  of  the  fort,  under 

cover  of  a  very  bold  bluff,  so  that  they  had  no  fear  of  the 

enemy's  continual  cannonadings  and  heavy  fire  of  musketry." 
On  the  night  of  the  2.Sth  the  fort  was  again  called  upon  to 

capitulate.  The  narrative  supplies  us  with  the  rapid  succes- 
sion of  events.  The  demand  was  to  surrender  fort,  stores  and 

provisions,  under  promise  of  quarter.  Six  days  were  asked 
to  consider  the  summons.  The  night  only  was  granted.  In 

the  meantime,  the  attempt  had  been  made,  by  collecting 
materials  from  the  houses,  with  the  addition  of  a  barrel  of  tar 

which  had  been  found,  to  set  fire  to  the  palisades  surrounding 

the  building  which  bore  the  name  of  a  fort.  This  proceeding  is 

evidently  the  approach  alluded  to.  They  had  pushed  forward 

this  inflammable  pile,  on  some  carriage  over  the  "  fifty  paces  " 
distance  from  the  spot  where  they  had  commenced  it,  protect- 

ing themselves  from  the  fire  of  the  beseigcrs  in  the  advance, 

as  best  they  were  able,  carrying  the  mass  forward,  to  bring 

it  in  contact  with  the  palisades,  where  it  could  be  fired. 
Then  the  heart  of  the  garrison  failed  them ;  they  saw  a  body 

1 1 
*  M.  lie  Monseignat,  Comptroller-General  of  Marine  and  Fortifications,  a 

protege  of  Madane  de  Maintenon,  to  whom  his  letters  were  aildressed.  X.  Y. 
Col.  Doc,  IX.,  p.  471. 
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of  four  or  five  hundred  men  ;  all  apparently  Indians.  In  a 

few  minutes  this  large,  well -prepared  mass  of  dry  fuel,  sup- 
plemented by  the  barrel  of  tar,  would  be  lighted  ;  and  the 

commandant,  who,  a  few  hours  before,  had  declared  that  he 

would  defend  himself  to  the  death,  hoisted  the  white  flag  of 
surrender. 

The  fort  capitulated,  the  gate  was  opened,  the  commandant 
with  seventy  men,  and  several  women  and  children,  marched 

out.  The  majority  of  them,  in  accordance  with  the  remorse- 
less French  policy  of  the  day,  were  handed  over  to  the 

Indians.  The  Commandant  Davis,  two  daughters  of  Lieu- 
tenant Clarke  killed  on  the  26th,  and  some  others,  were 

carried  to  Quebec*  On  the  following  day,  the  30th,  the  guns 
were  spiked ;  the  fort  was  burnt  to  its  foundation ;  the  houses 
which  dotted  over  a  mile  and  a  half  of  ground,  were  given 

to  the  flames.  On  the  ist  of  June,  de  Portncuf,  with  the  force, 

withdrew.  Many  of  the  prisoners  had  been  immediately 

killed  b\-  the  Indians,  and  their  bodies  left"f*  where  they  fell. 
The  remainder  were  carried  off  to  a  dreary  captivity. 

jMonscignat,  the  writer  of  the  French  narrative,  states,  that 
a  few  hours  after  the  surrender,  four  vessels  from  Massachu- 

setts entered  Casco  Bay,  with  the  object  of  relieving  the  fort, 

and  that,  seeing  no  English  colours  flying,  they  tacked 
about  and  sailed  away.  Some  vessels,  certainly,  did  appear, 

Vit  they  were  not  of  the  character  supposed.  They  consisted 

of  two  sloops,  with  about  fift}'  men,  and  two  shallops,  which, 
owing  to  news  of  the  destruction  of  the  place,  had  been  sent 
from    Portsmouth  to    learn    the  condition   of   Casco.      They 

*  They  formed  ihi  )iiincipal  part  of  the  prisoners  exchanged  \silh  Phips  after 

liis  unsuccessful  attack.  According  to  Mr.  Hull,  p.  82,  some  ''could  not  resist 

the  allurements  of  the  Catholic  Church."     Vide  ante  p.  245. 
+  The  bodies  of  the  slain  renuiined  until  1C92,  when  an  expedition  was 

sent  to  Pemaquid,  under  Church,  to  rebuild  the  fort.  In  the  narrative  of  the 

operations  it  is  stated,  "  in  that  wny  they  slopped  at  Casco,  and  buried  the  bones 

of  the  dead  people  there."  A  note  adds,  "  That  is,  the  bones  of  those  who  had 

been  destroyed  there  by  the  savages  under  the  Sieur  Hartel,  iSth  May,  1690." 
(Quoted  by  Mr.  Hull,  p.  So. 
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[1G9O approached  sufficiently  near  the  shore  to  receive  the  fire  of 

the  attacking  party,  and  to  see  the  fort  and  village  in  ruins, 

and  then  returned  to  report  what  they  had  observed.* 
Davis  has  given  an  account  of  his  surrender.  Although  not 

a  soldier,  he  was  not  deficient  in  courage  and  conduct.  Placed 

in  a  position  of  danger  in  an  advanced  post  of  settlement,  in 

order  to  hold  the  countr}-  and  U)  defend  it  from  attack,  he  was 
without  resources  to  meet  the  emergency.  His  force  was 

insufficient  in  number  and  character,  and  the  "fort"  was  a 
mere  palisaded  building,  sufficient  to  be  a  protection  against 

an  ordinary  Indian  attack.  Davis  was  likewise  without  that 
higher  determination  and  ability,  by  means  of  which,  the  dark 
hour  of  life  is  met  and  overcome,  ;ind  he  was  paralyzed  by  the 

presence  of  women  and  children.  His  account  is,  that,  believ- 
ing the  attacking  force  to  be  Indians,  he  asked  if  there  were 

any  Frenchmen  among  them.  Those  he  addressed  said  that 

they  were  Frenchmen.  The  query  was  then  made,  whence 

they  came?  Would  they  extend  quarter  "  for  men.  wcimen 

and  children,  wounded  and  sound,"  ;uk1  give  them  liberty  to 
march  to  the  next  English  town,  with  a  guard  for  their 

defence,  with  this  assurance  they  would  surrender?  "Also," 
continues  Davis,  "that  the  Governor  of  the  French  should 
hold  up  his  hand,  and  swear  by  die  great  and  evcr-li\ing  God, 
that  the  several  articles  should  be  performed.  All  which  he 

did  solemnly  swear."  The  terms  of  the  capitulation  were 
disgracefully  broken. 

Montcalm's  fame,  under  circumstances  more  complicated, 
still  suffers  from  the  stain  caused  by  the  ruthless  cruelty  of 

this  same  tribe  of  Indians,  sixty  j'ears  later,  on  the  surrender 
of  Fort  William  Henry,  at  the  head  of  Lake  George.  His 

conduct  appears  without  a  taint  in  comparison  to  that  of  de 

Portneuf,  who,  in  violation  of  the  terms  he  solemnly  swore  to 
maintain,   remorselessly   handed    his    prisoners   over    to    the 

*  Letter  ci.-ited  I'ortsm",  2nd  Jvine,  22111 1  [May],  1690,  signed  by  Charles  tTrost, 
Nalh'  ITryer,  Ric^'  Martyn.  Vol.  36,  p.  77,  .Mass.  Archive;?.  Quoted  hy  Mr. 

Mull,  pp.  SS-Sg, 

I  I 
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Indians  of  the  expedition.  In  spite  of  dc  Portncuf's  gallantry 
and  res'')lution  of  character,  his  conduct  on  that  day  has  left 
on  his  name  the  brand  of  infamy,  not  to  be  effaced. 

When  these  events  took  place,  Massachusetts  had  only 
indifferently  recovered  from  the  depression,  which  preceding 
events  had  causetl.  Her  outer  settlements  had  been  attacked 

under  circumstances  when  their  destruction  was  almcst 
certain.  Her  smrJler  craft  had  .suffered  from  the  cruisers  and 

privateers,  which  found  refuge  in  Port  Royal.  She  could 
command  little  money,  and  was  not  in  a  condition  to  meet  the 

cost  of  a  contcs<:,  to  a  great  extent  forced  upon  her.  The 

Province  was  still  suffering  from  the  effect  of  King  Philip's 
war,  and  the  attack  on  her  northern  frontier;  and  the  loss  of 

Pemaquid  should  have  taught  her  public  men,  that  settlement, 

even  s(uith  of  the  Kennebec,  was  accompanied  by  positive 

danger.  The  principle  of  placing  efficient  garrisons  under 
able  men,  enforcing  discipline,  was  no  doubt,  advocated  by 

man)'  of  the  more  eldcrl\-,  who  remembered  the  first  founders 
of  the  colony;  men  who  to  severe  manners  united  the  qualities 
of  the  statesman,  while  many  were  capable  of  ably  directing 

troops  in  the  field,  and  were  true  leaders  of  men.  Massachu- 
setts was,  moreover,  impressed  with  the  conxiclion  that  her 

strength  was  on  the  sea,  and  relied,  for  a  certain  and  unfail- 
ing resource,  on  her  population  engaged  in  the  fisheries. 

Great  irritation  was  felt  at  the  destruction  of  Salmon  P'alls. 
The  Indians  who  were  present  were  considered  as  having 

been  encouraged  by  Port  Royal,  and  the  place  was  looked 

upon  as  the  spot,  where  the  h'rench  privateers  found  refuge, 
and  obtained  provisions.  The  determination  was  formed,  to 

send  an  expedition  to  destroy  it.  No  ulterior  policy  was  con- 
templated, in  order  to  make  the  conquest  permanent;  and  no 

steps  were  taken  to  do  so.  To  judge  by  what  took  place,  the 

enterprise  may  be  regarded,  as  an  act  of  retaliation  for  what 

happened  in  March,  at  Salmon  Falls.  Seven  vessels  were 
obtained,  a  frigate  of  40  guns,  two  sloops  of  16  and  18  guns, 
with  four  smaller  vessels.  They  were  maiuietl  by  two  hundred 

and  eighty  .seamen,  with  the  addition  of  four  hundred  men 
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drawn  from  the  militia,  and  the  whole  were  placed  under  the 

command  of  Sir  William  I'hips. 

Phips'  principal  ([ualit)'  was  liis  desperate,  unflinching 
courage,  and  his  excellent  seamanship.  A.s  one  chosen  to 

carrj'  out  an  enterprise,  calling  simply  for  unswcr\-ing  fortitude, 
he  could  not  have  been  surpassed.  He  had  scarcely  a  single 

qualification  for  the  higher  duties  of  a  general:  statesmanship, 

power  of  combination,  readiness  of  resource  in  a  crisis  affect- 
ing mas.ses  of  men,  came  in  no  way  within  his  powers.  The 

two  enterprises  identified  with  his  name  shew  capacity  for  the 
minor  duties  of  his  position,  blended  with  an  inability  even  to 

understand  what  is  called  for,  in  one  placed  in  command.  At 

eighteen,  he  was  a  labourer  on  a  farm,  and  could  neither  read 

nor  write.  He  took  to  the  sea  and  became  a  ship-carpenter, 
and  was  afterwards  established  at  Boston.  He  had  heard,  that 

there  was  a  Spanish  galleon  wrecked  on  the  coast  of  one 

of  the  West  India  Islands,  and  became  impressed  with  the 

feeling  that  the  treasure  could  be  rcco\ered.  He  had  married 

a  widow  of  means,  and  was  thus  enabled  to  appear  in  Eng- 
land full  of  the  project,  which  he  sustained  with  a  rude 

eloquence.  Furnished  witli  a  vessel,  he  sailed  to  the  scene 
of  the  venture.  There  was  a  mutiny  on  board,  which  he 

resolutely  quelled,  and,  although  from  the  unsafe  condition  of 
the  vessel,  he  was  forced  to  abandon  the  .search,  he  did  not 

leave  tho.se  seas  until  he  had  gained  the  full  information  which 

he  considered  would  lead  to  future  success.  Such  proved  to  be 

the  case.  He  obtained  another  ship,  and,  in  a  second  voyage, 
discovered  the  treasure.  He  behaved  well  in  all  the  relations 

connected  with  it.  He  was  knighted,  and  such  was  the 

impression  made  by  him  in  London  that,  subsequently,  he 

was  appointed  Governor  of  Massachusetts. 
The  expedition  under  Phips  on  the  19th  of  May  arri\ed  at 

Port  Royal,  of  which  De  ]\Icncval  was  in  command  with 

a  garrison  of  between  sixty  and  eighty  men.  The  fortifica- 
tions were  without  importance,  the  cannon  not  even  mounted. 

De  Meneval,  nevertheless,  summoned  the  inhabitants  to  his 

aid,  and  called  upon  them  to  retire  w  ithin  the  fort  to  prepare 
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for  defence;  only  a  few  accepted  the  invitation.  The  majority 

advised  that  the  fort  should  be  ab.indoncd,  and  that  the  popu- 
lation should  retire  up  the  ri\er,  where  the  New  Englanders 

could  not  follow.  De  Mcnevul  accepted  this  view;  and  steps 

were  bcin^r  taken  to  place  provisions  and  property  in  a  bricjan- 

tinc  lyin^Lf  near  the  wharf,  when  Father  I'ctit,  a  priest  who  had 
been  long  in  Acadia,  came  upon  the  scene.  He  was  accom- 

panied by  a  younger  priest  named  Trouve.  I'etit  was  at  this 
time  sixty-one  j^ears  of  age,  and,  although  a  Frenchman  by 
birth,  was  a  priest  of  the  Quebec  Seminary,  having  been 

ordained  twenty  )-ears,  eleven  of  which  had  been  passed  in 

Acadia.  * 
In  his  view,  this  course  would  not  better  matters,  and  he 

persuaded  dc  Mcneval  that  it  was  useless  to  atteinpt  anything 

against  such  a  force,  with  the  power  of  resistance  which  he 

possessed ;  and  he  offered  to  arrange  as  to  the  terms  of  sur- 

render. On  the  receipt  of  Phips'  summons,  Father  I'etit 
proceeded  to  his  ship.  It  was  agreed  that  the  gi:rison  with 
their  arms  and  baggage  should  be  sent  to  France,  that  the 

inhabitants  should  remain  in  the  enjoyment  of  their  property, 
and  that  the  Church  should  be  respected.  Thus,  v\hile  private 

property-  should  in  ever\'  ca.se  be  left  untouched,  public 

propcrt\-  would  be  ceded.  De  Mencval  himself  went  on  board 

I'hips'  vessel  to  ratify  these  conditions.  During  the  time  he 
was  absent,  some  French  soldiers  forced  their  waj'  into  the 

pi' blic  store-house,  in  which  a  quantity  of  property  had  been 
placed,  some  portion  of  it  belonging  to  private  individuals. 

On  this  proceeding  being  made  known  to  Phips,  he  de- 
clined to  ratify  the  terms  of  the  capitulation,  on  the  ground 

that  a  part  of  this  propert}'  was  carried  off  and  concealed,  and 
doubtless  there  was  an  attempt  to  obtain  po.ssession  of  that 

which  was  valuable;  but  be  the  facts  what  they  may,  Phips' 
conduct  was  certainly  very  discreditable.  He  had  not  the 

excuse  of  being  driven  bj'  the  emergency  of  the  situation,  to 

do  what  was  unworth)-  of  himself  and  his  flag,  for  his  force 

*  On  Ills  return  to  Acadi.i,  lie  there  remained  until  1700  ;  he  died  in  the  Semin- 
ary o(  (Juehec  in  1709.     /Et.  So. 
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[1690 was  overwhelming,'.  He  hiiuled  a  large  body  of  men  and 
arrested  the  CJiosernor,  the  priests,  and  many  of  the  s(jldiers, 

to  carry  them  prisoners  to  Boston.  I  le  plundered  the  houses. 
The  Church  was  robbed  of  its  ornaments,  the  altar  destroyed, 

the  images  broken  ;  while  useless,  offensive  insults  were  in- 
dulgct!  in,  shewing  the  petty  malignity  of  those  who  coin- 

mitted  them.  l'hi[)s  may  not  have  been  responsible  f(,ir  this 
contemptible  conduct,  for  the  discipline  of  New  Knglantl  was 

always  loose  and  bad  ;  but  the  non-observance  of  the  terms 
of  the  capitulation  and  the  hard  treatment  of  the  prisoners 
were  his  own  acts.  There  was  this  redeeming  feature  :  none 

of  the  settlers,  none  of  the  garrison  were  killed  in  cold  blood 
after  the  action.  Massachusetts  had  no  Abenaki  Indians  to 

whom  the  captives  could  be  given  over.  But,  the  outrage  in 
another  direction,  was  not  less  reprehensible,  and  no  writer  of 
credit  can  vindicate  or  explain  it  away. 

The  inhabitants  were  called  upon  to  take  an  oath  of 
allegiance  to  William  and  Mary,  and,  contingent  on  so  doing, 

the  enjoyment  of  their  liberties  was  promised.  The  luiglish 
flag  was  hoisted.  Such  of  the  French  settlers  as  would  not 

accept  the  new  order  of  things  were  pillaged.  .\  council 
was  formed  from  the  inhabitants,  and  Chevalier,  a  sergeant 

of  the  garrison,  was  made  its  president.  The  council  was 

bound  by  oath,  to  carry  out  the  law  under  the  Crown  of 
England,  and  the  Government  of  Massachusetts.  Nobody 

was  to  be  persecuted  for  his  religion. 
Phips  sailed  for  Boston,  but,  previous  to  his  departure  from 

Port  Royal  he  sent  one  of  his  captains,  Alden,  to  take  pos- 

session of  Saint  Castin's  place  on  the  Penobscot,  and  of  La 
Have.  Tliere  was  no  opposition  at  cither  place  ;  he  next 

proceeded  to  Chedabucto,  where  the  fort  was  garrisoned  by 

fourteen  men,  under  Captain  Montorgueuil.  For  a  time 
some  resistance  was  experienced,  but  it  could  not  be  effective 

against  the  force  sent.  The  garrison  obtained  honourable 
conditions  of  surrender,  one  of  which  was  that  they  were  to 

be  conveyed  to  Placentia,  Newfoundland.  The  fort  was 

destroyed,  but  the  settlers  were  left  ui^harmed.     The  property 
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of  the  I'isliiii^f  Company  was  seized,  and  their  loss  by  tlic 
attack  was  estimated  by  them  at  fifty  thousand  crowns. 

Phips  arrived  at  lioston  on  the  30tli  of  May,  1690,  the  day 
when  the  New  ICnj^dand  settlements  at  Fort  Loyall  were 

beitiL;  destroyed,  and  the  captives  slaui;htcretl.  He  had  with 

him  as  prisoners,  de  Meneval,  the  priests  I'etit  and  Trouve, 
with  fifty-nine  soldiers.  The  con(iuest  of  Acadia  had  been 

made.  \o  attempt  to  tak-e  possession  of  the  territory 
followetl  ;  indeed,  it  is  iiuestionable  if  Massachusetts  had 

the  strength  to  entja.Lje  in  any  operation  involvintf  political 
responsibility.  On  the  main  coast,  her  forts  had  been  unable 
to  resist  attack,  her  settlers  had  been  surprised,  to  be  killed 

or  carried  away  into  captivity,  their  houses  burned,  and  whole 

settlements  e.xtirpated.  By  extending  her  operations  to 
Acadia  at  Port  Royal,  Massachusetts  would  have  widened 

the  area  of  her  government,  possibly  for  the  history  of 

Salmon  Ivalls  and  I'ort  Loyall  to  be  repeated.  The  expedi- 
tion had  ended  in  I'hips  sailing  away,  with  what  money  and 

booty  he  could  carry  off.  With  this  fact  to  guide  us,  how  are 
wc  to  estimate  the  project  of  the  attack  on  Quebec  in  October 

of  the  same  year?  It  may  be,  that  it  was  fortunate  for  those 
engaged  in  it,  that  it  failed.  We  have  before  us  the  policy,  if 
such  it  can  be  called,  of  Massachusetts,  in  the  successful 

attack  against  Acadia.  In  no  way,  did  her  government  enforce 
her  hold  of  the  country,  which  conquest  had  placed  in  her 

gra-p.  With  moderate  aid  from  England,  it  was  in  the 
power  of  Massachusetts,  to  have  made  Acadia  as  English,  as 
New  Hampshire  or  Connecticut.  By  holding  it  in  possession 
and  colonizing  it,  French  attack  on  the  frontier  settlements 

on  the  Atlantic  Coast  would  have  been  greatly  moderated,  if 
not  totally  checked. 

We  have  de  Meneval's  account  of  what  took  place.*  He 
describes  Phips  on  landing  as  being  greatly  angered,  at  having 
granted  such  favourable  terms,  to  a  force  so  little  capable  of 

resisting  him.     He  relates,  how  the  place  was  plundered,  and 

*  Mcmoire  presentee  a  M.  de  I'oncharirain  par  M.  de  .Meiieval.  6  nvril, 
1691.     (Quebec  Doc.  II.,  p.  40. 
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him.'^clf  robbed  of  his  clothes  and  five  hundred  pistoles.  At 
Boston  he  was  confined  in  the  same  house  with  the  priests,  but 
he  was  allowed  no  intercourse  with  them ;  while  the  soldiers 

were  thrown  into  prison.  Not  even  a  shirt  was  allowed  him. " 
During  the  three  months  that  Phips  remained  in  Boston,  pre- 

vious to  his  departure  for  Quebec,  dc  Meneval's  appeal  to  the 
Council  against  Phips'  want  of  faith  failou  to  obtain  any 
hearing,  owing  to  the  strong  feeling  of  the  body  of  the  people 

on  the  s'bjcct.  Subsequently,  it  was  entertained  by  the  Coun- 
cil, who,  according  to  dc  Meneval,  were  desirous  of  doing  him 

justice,  but  were  deterred  by  Phips  from  interfering.  All  they 

could  promise  was  to  .'^ubmit  the  matter  to  London. 
The  soldiers  were  released,  and  were  allowed  to  work  for 

their  bread.  Some  of  his  money,  and  the  worst  portion  of  de 

Mencval's  clothes  were  returned  to  him,  and  he  obtained  a 
passport  to  proceed  to  London  ;  but  he  was  constantly 

thwarted  b}'  Phips  in  his  endeavour  to  obtain  a  passage. 

P'inally,  he  succeeded,  and  had  taken  his  place  on  a  vessel,  when 
he  was  arrested  Owing  to  the  intervention  of  the  Council  he 

was  ri'leased.  On  Phips'  return  from  his  unsuccessful  attempt 
on  Quebec,  he  strove  to  infiuence  the  common  people  to 

ha\e  de  Meneval  again  arrested;  but  in  this  design  he  was 

opposed  by  the  respectable  classes.  Phips  shortly  after  left 
for  London,  to  explain  his  failure  before  Quebec,  and  there 
was  then  no  opposition  to  the  departure  of  de  IMeneval.  He 
obtained  a  passage  on  a  small  vessel  which,  under  pretence  of 

leaving  for  England,  was  proceeding  to  France  in  the  interest 
of  Dongan,  who,  from  his  personal  and  religious  relations, 

had  little  sympathy  with  the  revolution,  and  dr^sired  personally 

to  establish  himself  in  P'rance.i* 
Phips  has  been  represented,  as  one  deserving  to  hold  a  dis- 

tinguished place  in  historj'.  He  was  in  many  respects  an 
uncommon  man;  he  had  energy,  and.  within  the  field  of  his 

•  "  Sar  'aar  vo'Uoir  vciidre  seulemeiit  unc.  chemise  dc  louttes  Ics  Im  les  qu'il 

leuv  avoit  piisLS."'     p.  41. 
t  .Memoir  cf  do  Meneval  lo  ile  Poncharciain,  6tl.  April,  1691  [Qiiebc  Doc, 

II..  p.  43],  by  wliich  it  would  appear  that  Doiifjan  hni!  remained  in  New  V  uk, 
r  nd  hao  nO'  returnev!  to  England  on  his  recall. 

m 
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capabilities,  self-reliance.  Piis  patriotism  was  sincere  and 
honest,  and  his  political  life  was  undoubtedly  consistent;  but 
his  influence  was  unfortunate.  He  caused  only  discredit  and 

disf^racc,  and  a  large  amount  of  debt  to  his  native  country, 
_to  which  he  was  sincerely  devoted.      The  record  of  events. 

'except  in  the  one  cjuality  which  he  possessed,  in  common  with 
many  humble  men  who  sailed  under  him,  that  of  undaunted 
courage,  does  not:  obtain  for  him  all  that  has  been  claimed. 

A  few  days  after  Phips'  departure  from  Port  Royal,  on  the 

14th  of  June,  a  French  vessel,  the  "  Union,"  arrived  with 
merchandise,  provisions,  arms,  and  presents  for  the  Indians, 
and  with  ten  soldiers  for  the  garrison.  De  Villebon  and 

an  engineer  officer  named  Saccardic  were  likewise  on  board. 

The  knou'ledge  that  Phips,  with  a  powerful  squadron,  was  in 
Acadian  waters,  suggested  to  de  Villebon  that  he  was  unsafe 
where  he  was,  and  that  he  should  proceed  to  the  Saint  John 

and  ascend  that  river  to  fortify  himself  at  Jemseg.  Perrot, 

the  former  Governor,  and  des  Goutins,  the  judge,  accompanied 
him  from  Port  Royal.  On  their  arrival  at  the  Saint  John, 
the  \es.sel  was  detained  by  the  tide  and  a  contrary  wind.  De 

Villebon,  anxious  not  to  lose  time,  accompanied  by  some  of 
his  men,  went  up  the  river  to  Jemseg. 

While  in  this  situation  two  privateers,  w  ho  were  hovering  on 
the  coast,  attacked  the  French  vessel,  having  followed  her 

from  Port  Royal.  They  hat'  committed  much  devastation  at 
that  place,  taking  what  plunder  thc\' could  lay  their  hands  on. 
The}'  destroyed  nearly  thirtj-  houses,  and  further,  hanged  two 
of  the  inhabitants,  who  wdild  not  disclose  their  wealth,  as  a 

terror  to  the  others.  They  seized  this  vessel  at  the  Saint  John 

and  made  prisoners  of  those  remaining  in  her.  I'errot  they 
personally  illtreated  in  order  to  obtain  his  money,  for  he  had 
made  a  large  fortune  by  the  fisheries  and  traffic.  The  vessel 

was  subsecpicntly  taken  by  a  French  filibuster,  by  which 
means  Perrot  obtained  his  release.* 

*  Cliarlevoix  in  his  eighth  letter  to  the  1  Uichei-.se  tie  les  ! )it;uieies,  20th  of 

March,  17JI,  speaks  uf  Perrot's  daughters  as  womer  of  great  distinction.  Mine. 
la  Comtesse  de  la  Koche-AUard,  el  la  Fresidenie  de  Lube-t  ;  so  he  must  h.ive 
carried  his  wee  1th  to  Paris. 
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[169I Dc  Villcbon  retired  to  Jemscg,  exerting  himself  to  keep 

the  Indians  faitliful  to  France.  Subsequently,  he  proceeded 

to  Quebec,  and  was  one  of  those  who  stood  by  the  side  of  de 
Frontenac  on  the  day  of  his  memorable  reply  to  Phips.  He 
returned  to  France,  by  the  vessel  which  bore  to  Versailles  th 

record  of  de  FroiAenac's  success.  In  July,  1691,  he 
again  at  Quebec.  In  September,  accompanied  by  de  Bona- 
venture,  he  reached  Port  Royal,  whence  he  proceeded  to  the 

Saint  John;  he  there  heard  of  a  Nex/  Fngland  vessel  being 
on  the  coast;  concealing  the  position  of  his  own  ship  until  she 

appeared,  he  gave  chase  and  captured  her.  Colonel  Edward 

T)-ng,  lately  appointed  Governor  of  Fort  Royal  was  on  board. 
He  had  visited  Port  Royal,  and  seeing  that  there  was  no  pro- 

tection against  the  Indians,  the  inhabitants  not  being  willing 
to  aid  in  the  defence  of  the  place,  he  was  returning  to  Boston, 

but  pre\-ious  to  doing  so,  was  visiting  the  Saint  John.  With 
him  was  John  Nelson,  a  nephew  of  Sir  William  Temple,  a 
prominent  citizen  of  Boston,  who  had  accompanied  Tyng,  to 

advise  him  in  his  Government  of  Nova  Scotia,  of  wh""h  he 
possessed  some  knowledge.  There  was  also  a  merchant 
named  Aldcn  The  latter  was  permitted  to  return  to  Boston, 

on  condition  that  the  fifty-three  men  taken  at  Port  Royal 
should  be  surrendered  to  de  Villebon.  Aldeii  subsequently 

arrixed  at  the  Saint  John  in  a  brigantinc.  Dc  P^'ontenac  re- 
ported* that  Alden  landed  only  six  of  the  men,  on  the  plea  that 

the  remainder  were  not  desirous  of  returning,  and  that  he  had 

tried  to  kidnap  de  Villebon.  Alden's  sor  had  also  been  made 
prisoner,  and  with  Tyng  and  Nelson  was  sent  to  Canada. 
There  were  several  Fnglish  prisoners  in  Quebec,  and  to  save 

the  colony  the  expense  of  maintainmg  thern  they  were  sent 

to  France;  Tyng  was  included  in  the  number,  and  shortly 

after  died  there.  Nelson,  who  was  to  phi)-  an  important  part 
in  the  history  of  those  days,  remained  at  Quebec. 

De  Villebon  hauled  down  the  l^nglish  flag,  and  re-estab- 

lishc(  I'rench  rule  in  Port  Royal  ;  but  he  had  not  sufficient 
force  to  garrison  it.     1  le  and  his  brother  de  Portneuf  accord- 

•  15111  of  September,  i6oa.     N.  Y.  Uoc.  IX.,  p.  531 
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ingly  went  to  Jcmseg;  he  liad  only  fifty  soldiers,  and  with  this 
force  he  was  expected  to  keep  possession  of  Acadia.  His 
trust  was  in  the  Indians,  but  he  found  them  unsettled  and 

dissatisfied.  In  December,  1690,  si.x  of  the  Chiefs  had 

agreed  to  a  five  months'  truce  with  New  England,  and  in 
Ma\-  were  to  make  an  exchange  of  prisoners.  The  French 
missionaries,  however,  had  not  been  idle,  and  the  old  Indian 

ferocity  and  jealousies  had  been  successfully  awakened.  In 
June,  they  had  been  induced  to  attack  Wells,  a  settlement 

north  of  the  Piscataqua,  and  had  be-,  driven  off.  On  the 
failure  of  the  enterprise,  they  had  wandered  about,  committing 

ravages  as  opportunity  offered,  carrying  terror  through  the 
advanced  settlements. 

De  V'illebon  entered  into  communication  with  Thury,  who 
was  with  the  Indians  of  the  Penobscot,  engaged  in  his  religi- 

ous duties,  counselling  war  and  massacre,  and  even  accompan}-- 
ing  the  Indians  in  their  expeditions.  It  was  resolved  between 

them  that  an  attack  should  be  made  on  York.  The  very 

condition  of  de  Villebon's  appointment,  was  that  hu  should 

ra\age  the  English  settlements.  The  few  h^renchmen  with 
him  were  to  be  employed  in  no  other  way,  and  dc  Villcbon 

was  to  sho^v  an  exami)le  of  his  devotion  by  energeticallj- 
carrying  out  his  instruciicis.  The  Abenakis  were  to  be 
turned  to  war  as  an  occupation,  to  obtain  for  themselves  a 

better  subsistence  than  by  the  chase.*  At  this  juncture,  some 
effort  was  necessary  to  awaken  their  hostile  feelings,  and  to 

strengthen  their  dependence  on  I"" ranee  ;  the  safest  policy  for 
this  end  was  to  create  in  them  an  unconquerable  hate  to  New 

Engk  ."id,  so  that  they  would  have  the  conviction  that  their 
onh^  safety  lay  in  French  support. 

\\'ith  this  view  the  attack  was  determined  on.  Powder  and 

shot  were  freely  given,  at  the  same  time  that  I'ather  Thury  w  as 
delivering   his   religious   exhortations,  to   strike   down   their 

•  I,L  lioy  au  .Sicin  X'illuhon,  Versailles,  avril,  1692,  "  afiiiii  que  les  C.inihas 
ne  s'ciniiloyem  <ni'a  la  mtcirc  et  i|ue  par  1  economie  ile  ce  i|ue  vous  avez  a  Icur 
fournir,  ils  y  pui'isein  Irouver  louf  subsistance  et  plus  li'advantage  qu'a  la  cliasse." 
<^>ue.  Doc.  II.,  p.  83. 
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[169I enemies.  The  party  consisted  of  one  hundred  and  fifty  Aben- 
akis,  their  number  being  increased  by  some  Kennebec  Indians. 

They  left  the  Penobscot  in  January,  and  on  the  4th  of  Febru- 
ary, they  reached  York,  a  collection  of  houses  along  the 

coast,  extending  to  the  banks  of  a  small  river  a  few  miles 

north  of  Piscataqua.  The  population  consisted  of  something 
over  three  hundred  souls;  the  principal  among  them  being 
their  minister,  Dummer,  who  lived  on  the  coast.  Some  of 

the  houses  were  imperfectly  fortified. 
As  dawn  approached  the  snow  began  to  fall  thickly,  and 

the  assailants  prepared  to  carry  out  their  purpose.  They  had 
remained  in  the  forest  all  night  without  fire,  to  avoid  detection, 

and  their  blood  was  so  stagnant  with  cold,  that  any  movement 

was  a  relief  As  they  cautiously  went  forward,  they  were  led 
by  the  sound  of  an  axe  to  where  a  young  boy  had  commenced 

chopping.  They  seized  him  and  after  gaining  what  infor- 
mation they  were  able,  killed  him.  They  continued  in 

silence  to  the  outskirts  of  the  village,  and  when  all  was  ready, 

they  rushed  forward  in  a  body  with  their  war  whoop.  Dum- 
mer, in  the  act  of  mounting  his  horse,  was  shot  dead  at  his 

own  door.  One  of  the  fortified  houses,  in  which  were  only 

women,  was  at  once  taken.  The  ordinary  houses  were  entered, 
their  inmates  killed.  Those  who  were  able  to  do  so  made  for 

the  four  fortified  houses,  and  prepared  to  defend  themselves. 

The  Indians  did  not  approach  them.  They  scattered  them- 
selves over  the  other  dwellings,  and  killed  all  within  them, 

pillaged  them  of  their  contents,  and  then  burned  them.  They 
killed  the  horses  and  cattle,  and  pa.ssed  over  the  ground,  to 

destroy  everything  ia  the  form  of  civilized  life,  in  the  circuit 
of  the  few  miles  round  the  place.  The  French  accounts  give 
one  hundred  killed,  including  the  women  and  children,  while 

eighty  were  taken  into  captivity.  The  English  accounts  give 

forty-eight  killed,  and  seventy-three  carried  away.  The 
Indians  allowed  some  aged  women  and  some  children,  from 

three  to  seven  years  old,  to  return  to  one  of  the  fortified  houses. 

The  Abenakis  under  h'rcnch  leaders  had  again  dcstnjyed 
an  unprotected  settlement,  left  without  means  of  defence.     It 
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was  no  new  event  in  Massachusetts,  but  no  proper  steps  were 
taken  for  the  defence  of  the  population.  The  men  in  authority 

in  New  England  were  impotent  to  provide  a  remedy.  It  is 

they  who  were  really  responsible  for  these  disasters,  and  they 

are  accused  by  modern  United  States  writers  of  "  closing 
their  ears  against  the  piteous  appeals  for  assistance  that  came 

from  those  they  should  have  protected."  * 
The  contrast  between  Canada  and  New  England  in  the 

selection  of  men  for  duty,  and  in  the  possession  of  defined 
views  is  striking.  In  Canada  those  best  able  for  their  work 

were  chosen.  They  had  youth,  energy,  and  courage,  and  had 

been  taught  to  consider  e\-ery  proceeding  to  be  fair  for  the 
assertion  of  French  power  ;  that  those  who  had  intruded  on 

French  soil,  strangers,  foreigners,  aliens  in  language  and  faith, 
had  no  claim  to  consideration  as  human  beings,  but  should  be 
held  as  wild  beasts  to  be  hunted  to  extermination,  or  their 

return  made  impossible  by  death  or  captivity.  Hard,  remorse- 
less to  the  very  depths  of  cruelty  as  this  policy  was,  its  execu- 
tion was  assigned  to  men  who  felt  pride  that  it  had  been 

entrusted  to  them  ;  who  cheerfully  bore  privation,  who  patiently 

sought  for,  and  waited  for  their  oppor  unity,  who  were  fore- 
most in  the  attack,  and  who  could  be  relied  on  for  their 

devotion,  intelligence  and  courage.  All  these  partisan  leaders, 

lay  and  clerical,  must  be  recogni/x'd  as  well  chosen  instru- 
ments. DTberville,  de  Portneuf,  de  Contrecoeur,  de  Villebon, 

de  Villieu,  the  two  Jesuits  Bigot,  the  Seminary  Priest  Thury, 

were  men  of  ability,  and  on  that  account  selected. 

In  Massachusetts  it  was  the  reverse.  Men  obtained  pro- 
minent positions  from  their  wealth,  their  political  importance, 

their  relationships ;  and  nearly  every  scheme  undertaken  by 

Massachusetts  failed  in  its  purpose.  Her  sturdy  population 

wet-e  ready  to  fight  for  their  territory,  their  nationality,  their 
Protestantism.  They  had  passed  through  no  slight  tribulation. 

King  Philip's  war  had  been  serious  teaching  for  them.  It  was 
plain  that  north  of  the  Piscataqua  the  Indian  was  a  treacher- 

ous foe ;  nevertheless  settlement  was  pushed  forward  regardless 

*  Sie};eaiui  capture  of  Fort  Loyall.     John  T.  Hull,  p.  79. 
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of  consequences.  To  the  individual,  isolated  from  his  fellows 

little  protection  could  be  given  ;  but  where  communities  had 
been  formed,  some  effort  might  have  been  made  by  sending 
the  right  men  to  enforce  watchfulness  and  care.  With 

organization,  prudence  and  discipline,  the  valour  of  the  settlers 
defending  their  homes  would  have  repelled  every  attack. 
There  was  only  reckless  indifference,  without  any  directing 

power  to  turn  the  courage  of  the  inhabitants  to  account.  The 
men  sent  from  Boston,  as  a  rule,  were  incompetent  and  from 
their  ignorance  irresolute.  A  proper  organization  on  the  part 
of  Massachusetts,  leaders  of  vigour  and  character  being 

selected,  would  have  rendered  any  attack  from  the  Abenakis 
on  an  armed  community,  impracticable. 
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CHAPTER  II. 

De  Villebon  at  an  early  date  *  pointed  out  that  had  New 
England  obtained  peace  with  the  Indians,  after  Port  Royal 
had  been  taken,  Canada  would  have  been  exposed  to  extreme 

danger,  from  the  facility  of  reaching  Quebec  by  the  Saint 

John,  a  march  of  from  ten  to  twelve  days  ;  and  that  New 
England  would  have  been  constantly  informed  of  the  state  of 
Canada,  and  the  force  available  to  defend  it.  On  the  other 

hand,  the  enmity  of  the  Abenakis  injuriously  affected  New 

England  ;  they  prevented  fishermen  entering  ports  to  get 
wood  and  water,  or  to  obtain  shelter  in  bad  weather  ;  but 

had  the  English  obtained  a  foothold  in  Port  Royal,  they 
would  easily  have  attracted  the  Indians  to  trade  with  them, 
and  have  influenced  them  to  abandon  P>ench  interests.  The 

principle  by  which  Acadia  was  to  be  held  by  the  French,  was 
that  the  hostility  of  ihe  Abenakis  should  be  constantly  kept  at 

fever  heat,  and  the  doctrine  laid  down  by  the  French  King 

acted  upon,  that  they  were  to  find  the  plunder  of  a  settlement 

more  profitable  than  the  labours  of  the  chase.  The  destruc- 
tion of  Wells  was  determined  upon.  There  had  been  an 

attack  on  this  place  by  the  Chief  Moxus,  with  two  hundred 

men,  ̂ ut  it  had  been  foiled  by  the  resolute  conduct  of  the 
defenders. 

After  the  massacre  at  York  the  Abenakis  had  retired  to 

their  villages  to  enjoy  their  spoil.  De  Villebon  -.vas  then  on 
the  Saint  John,  completing  the  fort  of  Naxouat.f  opening 
up  by  these  means,  communication  between  Acadia  and 
Canada.  When  April  came,  and  the  rivers  were  free  from 
ice,  the  chiefs,  with  a  hundred  of  the  warriors,  atte  ided,  to 

receive  presents  and  praise.     There  were  congratulations  and 

•  I2tli  October,  1691.     N.  Y.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  50/). 
t  Opposite  the  site  of  the  present  City  of  Fredericton. 
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[169: 
feasting,  and  it  was  agreed,  that  a  rendezvous  should  be 

held  at  de  Saint  Castin's  residence,  I'cntegoet,  for  the  organ- 
ization of  the  proposed  cxjicdition. 

The  remonstrance  of  de  Alcncval,  at  the  King's  request, 
with  de  Saint  Castin  had  not  been  without  influence.  De 

Saint  Castin  was  no  longer  young ;  he  had  arrived  in  Canada 

an  ensign  in  the  Carignan-Saliercs  regiment,  and  must  now 
have  been  fifty.  He  resolved  to  change  his  manners;  he  sent 

away  the  squaws,  the  leading  feature  of  his  establishment, 
and  married  the  daughter  of  the  chief  of  the  Penobscots, 

Madockawando.  His  place  had  been  plundered  by  Andros 

in  1687,  but  when  Pemaquid  had  been  destroyed  in  1689  by 
the  Abenakis,  Pentegoet  was  again  occupied  by  him.  The 

conquest  of  Acadia  by  Phips  exposed  de  Saint  Castin  once 
more  to  interference  from  Boston.  But,  the  unfortunate  policy 
of  Massachusetts  in  entering  into  the  expedition  against 
Quebec,  instead  of  driving  every  PVenchman  not  accepting 
her  rule  from  the  territory  she  had  conquered,  and  by  these 

means  permanently  holding  it,  had  revived  the  old  struggle 

to  threaten  new  massacres.  De  Saint  Castin's  place  of 
Pentegoet,  was  of  all  others,  adapted  as  a  rendezvous,  for 

any  aggressive  enterprise  ;  and  here  in  the  first  days  of 
June,  the  Canadian  leaders  with  their  contingent,  and  the 
Indians  met.  There  were  four  hundred  fighting  men,  and 

they  proceeded  by  land  to  Wells,  which  lies  some  miles  north 
of  York.  During  the  preceding  summer,  the  country  in 

this  locality  had  been  laid  waste,  and  those  who  could  escape 

had  made  their  way  to  Wells,  and  passed  across  the  Pescata- 
qua.  Wells  formed  a  small  settlement  along  the  coast,  with 
five  fortified  houses,  and,  when  their  fears  were  awakened,  the 

inhabitants  took  refuge  in  them.  The  distance  between  York 

and  Wells  is  some  twenty  miles,  and  the  intelligence  of  the 
massacre  at  the  former  place,  had  created  the  impression  of 
danger  to  them.selves,  and  added  to  their  resolution  and  caution. 

On  the  20th  of  June,  1692,  three  small  vessels  with  supplies 

arrived  ;  they  had  not  long  been  at  the  wharf  when  cattle  were 

seen  running  wildly,  many  of  them  wounded,  into  the  open. 
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It  was  evident  that  Indians  were  present.  The  most  im- 
portant of  the  fortified  houses  was  that  of  Storer  .surrounded 

by  pahsadcs,  where  fifteen  armed  men  hatl  been  posted 
under  an  officer  of  Ma.ssachu.sctts,  Captain  Con  vers.  He  had 
been  placed  in  his  position  by  the  chief  officer  of  the  force  in 
Boston,  EHsha  Hutchinson,  who,  after  the  massacre  at  York, 

had  taken  steps  to  make  Wells  defensible.  Events  proved 
that  no  wiser  selection  could  have  been  made. 

Fourteen  men  were  on  the  vessels,  but  they  remained  on 
board  to  defend  them.  During  the  day  the  families  of  the 

settlement  were  moved  into  Storcr's  house,  for  danger  was 
anticipated.  Thirty  resolute  men  wc^c  there  to  defend  it,  and 
a  sharp  look-out  was  kept. 

On  the  morning  of  the  21st,  the  doubt  ucccimc  certainty; 
one  unhappy  man  whose  name  is  preserved  in  his  fate,  John 

Diamond,  was  early  proceeding  towards  the  vessels,  when  he 
was  seized  and  dragged  away.  No  surprise  had  been 

attempted.  It  is  however  possible  that  the  Indians  had 
prowled  up  to  the  deserted  houses,  and  from  their  condition 

had  judged  that  their  presence  was  known,  and  that  prepara- 
tions had  been  made  to  recei\e  them.  They  had  accordingly 

not  commenced  the  attack  at  dawn  as  was  their  custom. 

They  had  sent  out  scouts  with  the  view  of  obtaining  informa- 
tion, and  it  was  a  party  of  these  scouts  who  had  seizec  the 

unfortunate  man  Diamond. 

The  Indians  now  crowded  forward  over  the  cleared  ground, 

having  previously  been  addressed  by  a  French  officer  inciting 

them  to  the  attack.  Thej'  divided  themselves  into  two  bands ; 
one  advanced  to  the  onslaught  of  the  house,  one  against  the 
vessels  which  had  stranded  with  the  falling  tide.  Diamond 

had  told  them  that  there  were  thirty  men  on  board,  and  the 
attack  on  the  sloops  was  made  with  caution.  They  commenced 

firing,  protecting  themselves  behind  a  pile  of  boards  ;  some 
shooting  arrows.  The  men  on  the  vessels  fought  with  such  cool 

determination,  that  the  attacking  party  could  make  no  pro- 
gress. Finally,  the  Canadians  formed  a  shield  of  plank,  which 

the\-  fastened  to  the  back  of  a  cart  they  had  found,  and  under 
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the  direction  of  one  de  la  Brogncrie,  were  pushing  it  forward 

towards  the  sloops  that  they  might  set  fire  to,  or  board  them. 

A  wheel  sank  into  the  mud,  and  the  cart  remained  im- 
moveable; de  la  Brognerie  endeavoured  to  extricate  it.  and 

while  exposing  himself  to  do  so,  was  shot  dead.  Another  of  the 
party,  also  a  Canadian,  was  killed.  The  tide  was  now  rising, 
and  all  chance  of  success  was  hopeless,  the  party  therefore 
broke  away  towards  the  house;  some  in  their  retreat  were 

brought  down  by  the  fire  of  the  sloops. 

The  little  garrison  had  thus  to  resi.st  the  attack  of  the  whole 

force,  as  they  rushed  on,  ycHing,  shrieking,  and  firing.  The 
spectacle  carried  with  it  a  certain  terror.  One  of  the  party 

within  muttered  something  about  surrender,  "Say  that  again," 

said  Convers  fiercely, "  and  you  are  a  dead  man."  In  the  mean- 
time the  fire  was  incessant.  With  a  leader  like  Convers 

in  the  fort,  all  was  determination ;  the  women  brought 

ammunition  while  the  men  stood  to  their  ground,  and,  without 

halt,  loaded  and  fired.  The  savages  became  discouraged. 
One  of  the  assailing  force,  dressed  as  an  Indian,  called  upon 

Convers  to  surrender,  and  they  would  grant  favourable  terms. 
Convers  replied  that  he  wanted  no  terms.  He  was  there  to 

fight,  and  with  this  defiance  the  struggle  was  renewed. 
Shortly  afterwards,  the  firing  ceased,  the  attacking  force  felt 
that  it  was  in  vain  to  continue,  and  they  commenced  to  retire. 

There  was,  however,  still  the  hope  of  destroying  the  sloops. 

Accordingly,  they  constructed  a  fire-raft,  and  sent  it  down 
with  the  tide.  It  was  caught  by  the  shore.  The  Indians  had 
learned  the  danger  of  attacking  the  vessels,  so  they  kept  aloof 

There  was  now  nothing  to  be  done,  but  burn  the  unoccupied 

houses,  and  the  church,  and  kill  what  cattle  they  could  see, 

by  shooting  them.  There  was  one  thing  which  remained  ; 

the  prisoner  Diamond  was  there,  for  them  to  torture  and  to 
burn.  This  duty  performed,  the  foiled  allies,  Canadian  and 

savage,  retreated,  leaving  their  dead  behind  them.  On  de  la 

Brognerie's  body  a  purse  was  found,  stuffed  full  of  relics, 
pardons  and  indulgences. 
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This  skirmish  shews  what  the  men  of  Massachusetts  would 

have  done,  if  Boston  had  placed  the  right  men  in  command. 

A  chanj^e  of  Government  took  place  in  1692  in  Massa- 
chusetts which  influenced  the  fortunes  of  Acadia.  In  the 

early  stages  of  political  existence,  Massachusetts  had  acted 

almost  independently  of  the  Mother  Country.  The  first 
founders  who  obtained  the  charter  had  been  mostly  guided  by 
the  desire  to  find  a  home  across  the  sea,  where  they  would 

not  be  persecuted  for  the  religious  opinions  which  they  held. 

The  colony,  however,  made  but  little  advance  until  Johnson, 
Winthrop,  and  other  families  of  good  repute  and  estate,  took 

part  ill  the  project,  with  the  condition,  that,  if  they  passed 
over  to  America,  they  would  carry  the  charter  with  them,  and 

would  be  fully  empowered  to  conduct  the  affiiirs  of  the  Com- 
monwealth as  they  held  expctlient,  without  interference  from 

England.  The  principle  was  conceded.  But  the  mode  in 
which  the  people  carried  on  their  affairs  e.xcited  attention, 
and  in  1638  a  demand  was  made  for  the  surrender  of  the 

charter.  The  Engli.sh  civil  wars  prevented  this  design  being 
carried  out.  During  the  Protectorate,  Massachusetts  found 

favour  in  England;  and,  accordingly,  between  1640  and  1660, 

the  Commonwealth  became  virtually  independent,  and  com- 
pleted a  system  of  government  ;  and,  as  Hutchinson  says, 

instead  of  making  the  laws  of  England  the  ground  work  of  their 

code,  they  preferred  to  base  it  on  the  law  of  Moses.  They 
established  a  representative  legislature  and  a  judiciary,  with 

power  to  determine  capital  offences  ;  and  the  Government 
was  one  of  persecution  against  all  who  did  not  entertain  its 

religious  tenets. 
For  the  first  thirty  years,  the  gentry  of  the  country  were 

chosen  for  office.  But  new  men  forced  their  way  upwards, 

many  without  status,  and  not  distinguished  in  character. 

One  of  their  preachers  called  this  new  blood  that  of  "  creep- 

ing statesmen." 
The  Restoration  came,  and  the  dominant  party  received  a 

check  to  their  authority.  Complaints  were  made  of  the  ex- 
clusive character  of  the  Government  ;  the  charter  was,  never- 
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theless,  confirmed.  Toleration  was  enjoined  in  religion,  and 
a  change  took  place  in  civil  matters.  Difficulties  arose  from 

the  claim  preferred  by  Massachusetts,  to  engage  in  foreign 
trade  uncontrolled  by  the  Home  authorities;  difficulties  never 
to  cease  while  the  connection  with  Great  Britain  remained. 

There  were  no  Custom  Houses.  The  Governors  scarcely 
exercised  any  restraint  in  this  respect,  although  the  power  to 
enforce  the  laws  in  operation  with  regard  to  trade,  was  lodged 

in  their  hands.  The  opinion  was  also  expressed,  that  the  laws 

of  England  had  no  force  in  the  colony,  beyond  what  its  Legis- 
lature gave  them ;  although  the  charter  set  forth,  that  no  law 

could  be  made  not  in  accordance  with  the  law  of  England. 

After  much  pressure,  an  Act  was  passed  in  1676  declaring  the 
Acts  of  the  English  Parliament  regulating  trade,  to  be  in  force. 
Eventually,  on  the  ground  that  these  Acts  were  not  observed, 
and  from  other  causes,  in  1684,  the  charter  was  declared  to  be 
forfeited. 

On  the  news  of  the  Revolution  reaching  Massachusetts,  in 

1689,  the  authorities  asked  for  the  re-establishment  of  their 
charter  on  the  old  basis,  and  proceeded  to  act  as  if  it  had 

never  been  abrogated.  The  request  in  this  form  was  not 

entertained,  but  a  new  charter  was  given.  The  territory  which 

it  embraced  was  greatly  enlarged.  It  included  the  old  colony, 
with  New  Plymouth,  the  territory  now  forming  Maine  and  Nova 
Scotia,  and  extended  to  the  Saint  Lawrence.  Under  the  older 

charter  the  Governor's  position  was  little  more  than  that  of  a 
member  of  the  Council,  with  the  power  of  giving  a  casting 
vote.  He  could  not  adjourn  the  Council,  although  he  could 
call  it  together,  and  he  signed  commissions  as  a  ministerial 

act.  By  the  new  charter,  the  Governor  had  the  right  to  call 

together  or  adjourn  the  assembly.  He  did  not  take  part  in 
the  debates ;  he  had  no  seat  in  the  Council.  On  the  other 

hand,  no  act  was  valid  without  his  consent,  and  he  had  the 

right  of  making  appointments. 

On  the  14th  of  May,  1692,  Sir  William  Phips  arrived  as 

Governor.  The  appointment  is  U'.t  mentioned  approvingly 
by  any  class  of  writers,  and  there  is  little  in  his  government 



!1H npRiinmi^n JuuiLLi  MMwmmmmmm. iin« 

1692] 
FORT   PEMAQUID   RECONSTRUCTED. 

361 

could 

5terial 

:o  call 
lart  in 

other 
the 

ed  as 

■ingly 
imcnt 

to  call  for  respect.  He  was  unfit  for  the  position,  but  he  was 
representative  of  the  dominant  class  which  had  obtained 
control.  After  his  depature,  in  i6go,  he  had  proceeded  to 

England,  entrusted  with  a  petition  a.>king  for  aid  to  conquer 
Quebec.  If  he  had  failed  in  the  Saint  Lawrence,  he  had  not 
lost  his  fleet  in  the  attempt,  and  he  had  in  the  previous  months 

conquered  Acadia.  He  appeared  in  London  as  the  foremost 
man  in  his  colony,  having  been  knighted  for  previous  services. 

His  bluff,  free  manner  suggested  the  possession  of  natural 
ability,  which  required  but  expe.  ience  to  be  made  useful.  He 

knew  the  country,  he  was  present  to  represent  its  require- 
ments, and  he  had  impressed  those  whom  he  met,  as  being 

precisely  the  man  for  the  crisis.  The  appointment  grew 
naturally  out  of  the  situation  in  which  Massachusetts  had 

placed  Phips  in  England,  and  was  evidently  dictated  by  the 
desire  on  the  part  of  the  Imperial  authorities  to  satisfy  the 

Province,  and  obtain  a  competent  person  for  the  office. 

During  Phips'  stay  in  England,  the  policy  necessary  to  the 
preservation  of  Acadia  was  discussed ;  and  the  advantages 
which  the  American  possessions  generally  conferred  on  the 

mother  country,  and  their  character  and  condition  were 
brought  to  the  attention  of  the  English  ministry.  It  was  from 

this  date  that  their  importance  became  more  assured  in  the 
councils  of  the  empire. 

Among  other  considerations,  the  position  of  Pemaquid 
attracted  attention,  and  Phips  was  directed  to  construct  a  fort 

on  the  site  of  the  old  stockade  building  which  stood  there. 
It  remained  in  the  ruinous  condition  in  which  it  was  left  after 

it  had  been  surprised  in  1689,  when  commanded  by  Weems. 
The  fort  was  now  rebuilt  of  stone  and  mounted  with  cannon. 

A  garrison  of  sixtj'  men  was  placed  there,  and  it  was  antici- 
pated that  it  would  greatly  check  Indian  inroads.  The  cost 

was  borne  entirclj'  by  Massachusetts. 
At  this  time,  arose  in  New  England,  to  paralyze  her  .strength 

and  to  convulse  the  Country  in  every  part,  that  extraordinary 

infatuation  known  in  history  as  the  "  Salem  witches."  The 
mania  conin  cnced  in  February,  1692,  when  a  daughter  and  a 

Hi 
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[1692 niece  of  Paris,  the  minister  at  Salem,  complained  of  suffering 

torture.  These  young  girls  gave  circumstantial  accounts  of  the 

pain  they  suffered,  from  the  presence  of  persons  known  to  be 
in  other  places.  The  influence  was  set  down  to  the  powers 
obtained  from  the  Evil  One,  by  men  and  women  who  had  sold 

themselves  to  him,  soul  and  body,  bound  by  the  compact  to 

torture  their  fellows.  With  an  ignorant,  superstitious  com- 
munity, where  extraordinary  intervention  is  attributed  to 

Providence,  in  the  minor  and  unimportant  events  of  life,  a 

belief  often  grows  up  in  an  opposite  ]jower,  exercised  by 
natures  fiendish  and  malevolent,  intent  on  influencing  the 

condition  of  their  fellow-creatures,  to  injure,  to  torture  and  to 
consign  them  to  eternal  misery.  When  the  question  of  this 

influence  was  first  agitated  in  New  England,  so  strong  a  belief 

in  its  possibility  was  expressed  by  the  mass  of  men,  that  none 
dared  deny  it,  without  risk  of  being  included  among  the  guilty. 
The  question  of  its  existence  was  submitted  to  a  company  of 

ministers,  and  they  hesitated  to  afiirm,  that  a  curse  so  ridiculous 

was  impossible.  As  it  happens  in  such  cases,  a  terrorism 
arose  to  crush  all  opposition.  Accusations  were  made  in 
all  directions.  Parents  incriminated  their  children ;  children 

their  parents;  a  wife  was  found  to  charge  her  husband  with 

witchcraft ;  a  husband  the  wife.  By  the  month  of  j\Ia}-,  more 
than  a  hundred  women  of  Salem,  Beverley  and  other  places, 

many  of  them  of  reputable  character,  and  of  good  family  and 
circumstances,  had  been  placed  in  jail.  On  the  ist  of  June  a 

woman  was  tried,  and  in  ten  days  was  executed.  On  the  30th 

of  June  five  women  were  brought  to  trial ;  one  was  found  not 

guilty.  The  court  expressed  so  much  dissatisfaction  with  the 

verdi'^t  that  the  jury  returned  to  amend  it,  and  to  find  the 
poor  creature  guilty;  the  only  example  on  this  continent 
where  this  ignoble  course  was  followed.  They  were  executed. 

On  the  5th  of  August  six  more  were  tried.  Five  were  exe- 
cuted ;  one  of  them,  a  married  woman,  Elizabeth  Proctor, 

was  reprieved,  owing  to  her  condition  of  expectant  maternity. 
Her  husband  was  hanged.  On  the  9th  of  September  six  were 

found  guilty;  four  were  executed.     On  the  17th  of  Septem- 
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ber  four  more  suffered.  Thus  nineteen  persons,  all  protesting 

their  innocence,  were  ignominiously  hanged.  Another  prisoner 

was  subsequently  tried ;  he  refused  to  plead.  He  was  never- 
theless adjudged  to  death. 

This  madness  could  not  continue;  and  by  January,  1693,  it 

had  passed  away.  At  the  sessions,  bills  were  found  against 
fifty  for  witchcraft,  including  one  or  two  men.  They  were 

shortly  afterwards  released,  and  the  horrible  feeling  ceased  to 

prevail. 
Although  the  public  mind  recovered  its  health  sufficiently 

to  avoid  the  commission  of  further  judicial  murders,  it  long 

hesitated  to  acknowledge  the  full  extent  of  its  error  and  its 

crime.  It  clung  to  the  explanation  that  some  peculiar  cir- 
cumstances had  created,  and  some  special  influence  had 

encouraged  the  popular  feeling.  As  the  generation  responsible 

for  this  terrible  scourge  passed  away,  the  fact  came  to  be  re- 
cognized that  there  had  been  a  monstrous  fraud,  springing  from 

the  petty  influence  of  children  playing  a  part  to  obtain  sym- 
pathy; that  the  credulity  and  ignorance  of  those  among  whom 

it  happened,  encouraged  the  delusion  until  it  obtained  irresist- 
ible force,  to  develop  into  a  terrorism.  In  a  minor  way,  to 

this  day,  many  opinions  are  seen  to  operate  on  the  world's 
conduct,  when  truth  and  sense  are  set  at  defiance.  But  the 

revulsion,  if  slow,  is  certain,  and  the  whole  machinery  of  wrong 

and  injustice  is  eventually  made  manifest,  to  the  shame  of 

those  who  have  profited  by  it.* 
During  the  continuance  of  this  unfortunate  hallucination, 

the  energies  of  Massachusetts  were  misdirected  and  paralyzed, 

when  it  was  essential  to  her  well-being  that  they  should  have 

been  healthily  and  actively  cxercis^^d,  to  hold  the  territory 

she  claimed  to  be  hers,  and  which  s",  j  alone  was  taking  means 
to  people. 

*  "A  little  attention  must  force  conviction  that  the  whole  was  a  scene  of  fraud 

and  imposture,  begun  by  young  girls,  who  at  first,  perhaps,  thought  of  no  more 

than  being  pitied  and  indulged,  and  continued  by  adult  persons,  who  were  afraid 

of  being  accused  themselves.  The  one,  and  the  other,  rather  than  confess  their 

fraud,  suffered  the  lives  of  so  many  innocents  to  be  taken  away  through  the  cre- 

dulity of  judges  and  juries,"     Hutchinson  H.,  p.  62.  [1767.] 
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During  de  Meneval's  imprisonment  at  Boston,  he  received 
much  attention  from  Nelson.  Indeed,  it  was  the  latter  who 

had  endeavoured  to  obtain  the  restitution  of  his  propert)^  by 

Phips,*  and  dc  Meneval  had  lodged  at  Nelson's  house.  Con- 
sequently, when  a  prisoner  in  Quebec,  Nelson  obtained  much 

liberty.  In  Canada,  great  apprehension  had  been  felt  that 
another  expedition  would  be  sent  from  Boston,  and  it  had 

been  determined  to  prevent  any  such  step,  by  keeping  its 
force  employed  in  resisting  attacks  on  New  England,  in  spots 

where  the  country  was  vulnerable.  From  the  circumstances 
which  attracted  his  attention,  Nelson  felt  that  the  crisis  was 
serious,  and  he  induced  two  soldiers  to  desert,  to  be  the 

bearers  of  a  letter  giving  warning  of  the  threatened  hostili- 
ties. They  left  in  the  middle  of  September,  accompanied 

by  three  Dutch  prisoners  from  New  York,  who  had  been 
seized  near  Montreal.  Nelson  was  suspected  of  having  aided 

in  their  escape.  He  was  known  to  be  well  acquainted 

with  the  condition  of  Canada,  and  he  knew  that  no  rein- 
forcements had  arrived.  Parties  were  immediately  sent  out 

after  the  missing  men,  both  by  the  Kennebec  and  Lake  Cham- 
plain,  and  a  reward  was  offered  for  the  apprehension  of  the 

fugitives.  They  however,  arriv'ed  safely  at  Albany,  whence 

they  proceeded  to  Boston,  carrying  Nelson's  letter  conveying 
warning  to  the  Massachusetts  government,  that  an  attack  was 

designed  against  some  of  the  seaboard  towns. 
The  fort  of  Pemaquid  had  only  been  imperfectly  completed, 

and  it  was  resolved  to  destroy  it  before  it  was  further  fortified. 

An  expedition  had  been  organized,  in  1692,  to  carry  out  the 

project;  the  ships  the  "  Poli "  and  "  Envieux "  arrived  at 
Mount  Desert,  and  received  the  Indians  who  were  to  take  part 

in  the  attack.  D'Iberville  was  in  command.  On  his  arrival 
at  Pemaquid,  there  was  an  English  armed  vessel  in  the  har- 

bour; d'Iberville  reconnoitred  the  place,  and  afterwards  jailed 
away.  His  inaction  has  certainly  not  been  explaired,  and 
on  this  occasion  he  shewed  a  want  of  enterprise  which  was 
unusual  in  his  career. 

Quebec  Doc.  II.,  p.  340. 
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The  arrival  of  the  two  deserters  from  Quebec  led  Phips  to 
endeavour  to  kidnap  de  Saint  Castin.  The  latter,  well  known 

in  Boston  as  one  ready  to  undertake  any  operation  for  his 
own  advantage,  but  most  zealous  for  French  interests,  was 
looked  upon  as  one  of  the  chief  causes  of  the  raids,  and  as 

inciting  the  Indians  to  the  cruelty  they  practised.  Had  Phips 

succeeded,  dc  Saint  Castin's  seizUiC  would  have  exercised  no 
influence  on  the  contest;  his  place  would  have  been  supplied, 

and  the  attacks  would  have  been  continued.  The  attempt 
only  shews  the  shallowness  of  the  policy  adopted  at  Boston. 

Colonel  Church,  a  New  England  officer  who  had  distin- 
guished himself  in  the  King  Philip  war,  and  now  hold  a 

command,  in  an  expedition  a  short  time  previo'isly  '-"ad  cap- 
tured two  French  families  settled  at  Edgemoragan  to  the  east 

of  Penobscot,  and  they  had  been  carried  to  Boston.  The  men 

had  been  approached  and  asked  to  join  the  plot ;  they  appar- 
ently entered  cordially  into  the  scheme,  and  consented  to  leave 

their  families  behind  them  as  hostagis.  The  two  deserters 

from  Q".ebec,  by  name  du  Vignau,  and  Albert,  were  associated 
with  them.  The  men  were  to  find  their  way  to  Pentcgoet, 

and  to  represent  themselves  as  escaped  prisoners,  by  which 
means  de  Saint  Castin  would  be  thrown  off  his  guard,  when 

an  opportunity  would  be  taken  to  seize  and  carry  him  away 

prisoner. 
Whether  the  two  Acadians  actually  entered  into  the  plot, 

and  their  courage  failed  them  when  at  Pentcgoet,  or  whether 

from  the  first  they  accepted  the  offer  in  order  to  obtain  their 

freedom,  they  revealed  the  design  on  their  arrival.  The  two 
deserters  were  accordingly  arrested,  sent  to  Mount  Desert 
and  shot. 

The  Indians  of  the  mainland,  and  of  Nova  Scotia,  under 

pressure  of  want,  began  to  visit  Pemaquid,  and  to  trade  there. 
The  restoration  of  the  fort  had  somewhat  shaken  their  confi- 

dence in  French  power,  while  the  failure  of  d'Iberville  to 
attack  it,  had  given  an  exaggerated  idea  of  its  strength.  The 
Indian  mind  is  unreasoning,  and  passes  from  one  extreme  to 

the  other.     In  the  spring  of  the  year.  Con  vers,  who  was  a 
id 
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determined  soldier,  had  protected  the  frontier  along  the  Saco, 
and  had  built  a  fort  at  the  falls.  In  all  directions  the  Abenakis 

were  depressed.  The  position  of  Pemaquid  seriously  inter- 
fered with  them ;  for,  from  its  advanced  position,  it  was  a  bar 

to  their  passing  in  canoes  along  the  coast  during  the  period  of 
hostile  operations.  They  looked  upon  the  erection  of  the  fort 

as  specially  directed  against  them,  and  they  felt  its  presence 
the  more  that  there  were  no  means  of  avoiding  it. 

The  Indians  having  shewn  a  desire  for  peace,  negotiations 

were  commenced,  which  took  the  definite  form,  that  in  August 
thirteen  chiefs  arrived  at  Pemaquid,  to  meet  commissioners 
sent  from  New  England  to  arrange  terms  on  which  peace 
could  be  concluded.  These  chiefs  claimed  to  represent  the 

Indian  tribes  of  the  whole  present  State  of  Maine,  from  the 

Saco  to  Passamaquoddy  Bay.  Undoubtedly,  many  were  sin- 

cere; the  fact  is  admitted  by  Thury.*  They  were  dissatisfied 
with  the  French,  who,  they  saw,  were  using  them  for  their  own 

purposes,  and  they  could  not  but  feel,  that  their  interests  lay 
on  the  side  of  the  English.  Several  men  of  the  tribes  were 

in  captivity,  and  their  relatives  desired  to  obtain  their  free- 
dom, for  this  was  a  point  on  which  the  Indians  were  peculiarly 

sensitive.  In  other  respects,  the  movement  was  not  genuine; 

many  of  the  more  northern  tribes  were  under  the  leadership 
of  Taxous,  a  chief  of  great  personal  strength  and  of  some 
character,  the  unchangeable  adherent  of  the  French,  by  whom 
he  was  constantly  courted.  These  were  the  tribes  under  the 

influence  of  the  missionaries,  who  rejected  all  overtures  for 

peace  and  declared  for  war. 
The  chiefs  who  attended  at  Pemaquid  entered  into  a  treaty 

*  "  nos  Sauvages  qui  les  favorisoyent  .  .  .  .  il  y  en  avoit  pariny  eulx 
et  mesme  des  plus  consid^iables,  qui  s'estant  laissez  gagner  par  des  caresses,  belles 

parolles  et  presens  des  Anglois  agissoient  sy  je  I'ose  dire  de  concert  avec  eulx  et 
travailloient  k  establir  une  paix  solide  entre  les  deux  nations,  et  sy  ce  party  ne 

s'estoit  forme  et  n'eust  faict  coup  avant  les  nouvelles  d'Europe,  ces  sauvages 
n'auroient  jamais  ose  branler,  et  je  puis  dire  que  Ton  peut,  sans  crainte  de  faire 
un  jugement  temeraire,  croire  qu'ils  se  seroient  accomodez  avec  les  Anglois  et 
auroient  faict  la  paix  avec  eulx."  Lettre  du  R.  P.  Thury  k  M.  le  Corate  de 
Frontenac  a  Penhemeover  le  11  septembre.    Quebec  Doc.  II.,  p.  161. 
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of  peace.  Their  prisoners  were  to  be  released,  they  engaged 
to  live  in  amity  with  New  England,  and  five  hostages  were  to 

be  left  in  Pemaquid  in  token  of  amity.  Such  a  treaty,  if 

carried  out,  would  have  been  the  death-blow  to  French  power 
in  Acadia.  France  had  but  few  soldiers  to  hold  the  territory, 

and  it  was  on  the  Indians  alone  that  she  could  count  to  keep 
it.  There  was  no  plan  of  campaign  of  attacking  fortified  posts, 

and  carrying  on  the  war,  with  the  view  of  taking  possession  of 
the  country  by  advanced  garrisons.  The  policy  was  to  make 

settlement  by  New  England  impossible.  Thus  it  became 

the  principle  by  destruction  and  devastation,  and  by  Indian 
incursions,  to  establish  a  system  of  terror;  to  kill,  or  to  carry 

away  captive  all  the  settlers  that  were  found  on  the  land.  It 
was  the  mode  of  war  which  they  had  carried  on  during  the  last 

four  years;  Dover,  Salmon  Falls,  Fort  Loyall,  York,  had 
each  been  the  scene  of  systematic  massacre.  It  was  the 

one  feature  of  Acadian  warfare  during  the  quarter  of  a  century, 
preceding  the  Treaty  of  Utrecht.  The  record  of  Acadian 

historj'  as  respects  the  French,  shows  a  ferocity  and  a  dis- 
regard of  human  life  and  suffering  which  must  ever  call  for 

strong  condemnation.  Not  that  in  other  wars,  ruin  and 

suffering  have  not  been  caused  to  those  inhabiting  the  scene 

of  their  operations;  but  nowh-'^re  can  be  found  the  extreme 
cruelty  and  remorselessness  tc  be  traced  in  the  operations  of 
the  French  in  Acadia. 

In  1692,  de  Villebon  had  commenced  the  erection  of  the 

fort  of  Naxouat  on  the  Saint  John  River.  Jemseg  had  been 
found  subject  to  inundations,  and  had  been  abandoned. 
It  was  here,  that  the  news  of  the  Indian  treaty  with  Boston 
reached  him.  At  once,  he  sent  out  invitations  to  the  chiefs 
to  attend  him.  Taxous  was  treated  with  marked  favour. 

Presents  of  unusual  value  were  given,  every  feeling  of  jealousy 

and  pride  was  appealed  to.  On  the  Kennebec  and  the 
Penobscot,  the  two  priests  Bigot  and  Thury,  unceasingly 

urged  the  tribes  to  war,  so  that  the  measures  taken  to  secure 
peace  would  be  fruitless. 

Early  in  the  spring  of  1693,  the  minister  had  written  to  de 

■:m 
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Frontcnac,  expressing  his  disappointment  at  the  failure  to 
attack  Pcmaquid,  and  had  expressed  himself  unfavourably  on 
the  uncertain  character  of  the  Indian  relations.  He  desired 

that  in  Acadia,  they  should  continue  their  attempts  *  against 
the  English,  and  he  would  send  presents  to  them  as  hitherto. 
Forty  soldiers  were  to  be  garrisoned  at  Naxouat,  to  be  actively 
engaged  in  the  warfare,  or  jointly  with  the  savages.  Among 

other  instructions,  the  King  gave  positive  orders  that  de 

Portneuf  should  not  be  sent  back  to  the  Saint  John.-f-  De 
Champigny,  the  previous  autumn,  had  written  to  the  minister 

concerning  de  Villebon,  to  the  effect  that  he  had  ill-treated 
many  of  the  habitants  on  the  Saint  John,  who,  in  consequence, 

had  returned  to  Quebec.  De  Champigny  had  likewise  com- 
plained, that  he  and  his  brothers  had  obtained  control  over 

the  whole  trade,  and  had  exchanged  furs  in  Boston  for  mer- 
chandise ;  de  Portneuf  had  been  specially  reported  for  his 

irregularities.  J  De  Champigny  had  written  to  de  Villebon 

on  the  subject,  but  the  latter,  in  his  reply,  had  retorted  on 
his  accusers.  Fortunately  for  him,  the  Rccollet  almoner  of 

*  the  fort  had  given  his  testimony  in  defence  of  his  commander; 
but  not  a  word  was  said  in  vindication  of  de  Portneuf,  and 

hence  his  disgrace,  and  his  removal. 
The  minister  had  ordered  that  de  Courtemanche  should  be 

sent  in  his  place;  the  selection, however  fell  on  de  Villieu,  who 

left  Quebec  in  October,  arriving  at  Naxouat  at  the  commence- 
ment of  the  winter  of  1693,  charged  with  the  especial  duty  of 

directing  the  operations  of  the  Indians.     On  the  first  of  May 
*  Diversion. 

+  "  Le  roi  ne  veut  pas  que  le  Sieur  de  Portneuf  retourne  i  la  riviere  Saint 
Jean."     Que.  Doc.  H.,  p.  no. 

J  "  Us  luy  imputent  de  s'estre  attire  toutte  la  traitte  dans  son  fort,  et  d'avoir 
envoye  deux  de  ses  freres  qui  sont  avec  luy  dans  les  bois  pour  y  traitter  oil  I'un 
nommo  Portneuf  a  entretenu  un  villain  commerce  avec  une  sauvagesse,  au  S9U  et  a 
la  vue  des  gens  qui  estoient  avec  eulx  .  .  .  Trois  missionnaires  prestres  me 

marquent  a  peu  pres  tout  ce  que  les  habitans  ont  raporte  du  desordre  de  Port- 

neuf et  m'en  font  de  grandes  plaintes.  D'un  aultre  costo  un  Recollet  qui  servit 
aumosnier  dans  le  fort  du  Sieur  de  Villebon  parle  fort  advantageusement  de  luy, 

mais  a  I'esgard  du  desordres  (sic)  du  Sieur  de  Portneuf  il  n'en  dit  rien."  Que. 
Doc.  II.,  pp.  93-94. 
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de  Villicu  ascended  the  Saint  John  to  Midoctek,  and  called 

upon  the  chiefs  to  prepare  for  war.  It  was  the  home  of  those 
most  inclined  to  hostilities ;  they  declared  that  they  had  never 

taken  part  in  the  peace  negotiations,  and  they  only  wanted 
the  opportunity  to  fight.  A  feast  was  given,  and  de  Villieu 
remained  with  them  until  the  5th.  He  ascended  the  stream 

to  the  Eel  River,  which  he  went  up  ;  and,  portaging  to  the 
Mattawambeag,  he  descended  that  river  to  its  mouth,  east 

of  Passamac[uoddy  Bay.  Me  passed  by  land  directly  across 
to  Madaonekik,  the  village  of  the  chief  Ta.xous,  whom  he 

found  perfectly  prepared  to  join  in  any  hostile  enterprise. 
Together  they  went  to  the  village  of  Panouenkek,  where,  on 
the  lOth,  they  met  the  missionary  Higot,  with  three  Abenakis, 
one  of  whom,  on  the  part  of  his  tribe,  expressed  readiness  to 
fight.  De  Villicu  used  every  argument  to  confirm  this  view, 

and  suggested  that  they  should  immediately  proceed  to  Xa.\- 
ouat,  to  receive  the  presents  to  be  presented.  On  the  i6th 
they  started  to  rejoin  de  Villebon  at  that  place,  and  arrived 

in  six  days.  A  feast  was  given,  and  the  presents  distributed. 
On  the  25th  of  May  dc  Villieu  again  left. 

According  to  de  Villieu,  the  enterprise  found  no  favour  with 
de  Villebon,  who  consented  that  two  only  of  the  French 

should  take  jiart  in  it,  and  they  deserted  a  few  days  afterwards. 

De  Villieu  plainly  says  that  this  course  was  followed  to  lead  to 
its  abandonment.  Nevertheless,  he  determined  to  persevere, 

and  continued  on  his  route,  living  as  an  Indian  with  Indians; 

finally,  they  reached  Pentegoet  on  the  3rd  of  June. 
Among  the  chiefs  who  arrived  two  days  later  was  de  Saint 

Castin's  father-in-law,  Madocawai.do,  who  assured  them  that 
the  Governor  of  Boston  would  hving  the  prisoners  on  the  5th 
of  July,  to  be  given  over  to  their  tribes.  The  feelings  of  those 
present  were  influenced  by  this  intelligence;  many  declared 

that  they  were  unwilling  to  undertake  anj'thing  against  the 
English,  until  they  clearly  saw  that  they  had  been  deceived. 
De  Villieu  exerted  himself  to  remove  this  impression,  and 

pointed  out  that  the  engagement  was  a  mere  stratagem  to 

bring  them  together,  for  the  purpose  of  attacking  them,  when 
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they  were  inii)reparecl  to  resist.  Moreover,  that  it  was  a  mere 
attempt  to  gain  time,  the  English  being  unable  to  return  their 

children,  as  many  of  them  had  been  given  to  officers,  who  had 
carried  them  acro.ss  the  sea  to  Europe.  The  Indians  remained 

unpersuaded.  Madochawando  had  succeeded  in  influencing 
the  meeting. 

Thury,  who  was  present,  threw  his  weight  on  the  side  of 

war;  but  he  was  embarrassed  by  the  knowledge  that  a  Pro- 
testant minister  had  arrived  at  Pemaquid  to  teach  the  children 

to  read  and  write.  De  VilHeu  proposed  two  courses:  one  to 

attack  the  English  and  seize  several  of  them,  and  by  holding 
them,  obtain  their  own  prisoners  in  exchange  ;  the  second, 

that  if  no  expedition  were  resolved  upon,  the  prisoners 

they  possessed  should  be  exchanged  for  those  held  at  Boston. 
In  the  discussion  of  these  propositions,  it  was  suggested  that 
a  canoe  should  be  sent  to  Boston,  to  learn  if  their  people  had 

been  sent  to  Europe;  a  chief  offering  to  make  the  enquiry. 

It  was  accepted  by  all  who  were  not  desirous  of  continuing 
the  war,  and  obtained  general  concurrence :  for  the  moment,  de 
Villieu  felt  that  he  had  no  course  but  to  return  to  the  Saint 

John,  where  he  learned,  that,  on  the  8th  of  the  month, 
Edicrimet  and  Madocawando  had  been  on  board  a  frigate  of 

24  guns,  in  which  Phips  had  visited  the  coast,  and  had  re- 
mained there  for  two  hours.  They  had  throw  n  their  toma- 

hawks into  the  sea,  upon  which  all  present  had  grasped 

hands,  drunk  to  one  another's  health,  and  taken  supper  in 
company.  Both  de  Villieu  and  Thury  considered  from  this 
fact  that  peace  was  concluded,  and  a  letter  was  received  from 
the  Jesuit  father  Bigot,  confirming  the  intelligence. 

But  Thury  was  not  one  to  be  perplexed  by  news  contrary 
to  his  wishes  and  policy.  He  was  a  master  of  intrigue ;  he 
knew  every  fold  of  the  Indian  cliaracter,  and  he  was  without 

a  scruple  in  effecting  his  purpose.  There  were  still  open  to 
him  those  feelings  of  jealousy  and  distrust,  which  are  never 

in  vain  appealed  to  by  a  master  hand,  especially  when 
exercised  to  influence  the  Indian  mind.  In  this  form  he 

approached  Taxous.    He  pointed  out,  how^  ill  treated  the  chief 
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had  been  by  peace  having  been  made  without  his  consent  and 

participation.  The  appeal  to  Taxous'  sense  of  dit^nity  at  once 
excited  his  anijer:  he  said  that  Madocawando,  if  he  wished, 

mii^dit  make  peace,  he  was  for  war,  and  left  the  meeting. 
De  Villieu  also  obtained  information  that  the  Boston  trader, 

Alden,  in  a  sloop  of  forty  tons,  had  arrived  on  the  coast.  In 

the  hope  of  seizing.,'  the  vessel  and  the  crew,  he  hastened  to  the 
harbour,  but  on  his  arrival  he  saw  her  white  sails  in  the  dis- 

tance. He  returned  to  de  Saint  Castin,  with  whom  he 

remained  until  the  i6th,  when  he  ascended  the  Penobscot,  and 

narrowly  escaped  being  drowned.  The  spot  where  his  canoe 
upset  must  ha\e  been  near  the  town  of  Bangor.  He  received 

serious  injuries,  and  lost  all  his  property,  including  his 
arms.  The  accident  led  to  an  attack  of  fever,  which  kept 

him  on  the  spot  until  the  23rd,  when  he  continued  his 

journey  to  the  \illage,  where  it  had  been  agreed  another 
meeting  should  be  hekl.  He  arrived  there  on  the  26th, 

and  on  the  following  day  gave  a  dog-feast,  when  the  usual 
dances  and  songs  took  place.  Thirty  of  the  connections 
of  Madocawando  declined  to  join  in  the  ceremonies;  one  of 

them  even  turned  them  into  ridicule.  The  perseverance  of  de 

\^illieu  was  in  no  way  exhausted.  Every  effort  was  made,  to 
induce  Madocawando  to  take  part  in  the  hostile  expedition, 

neither  persuasion  nor  presents  being  spared.  Finally,  he 
agreed  to  accompany  it,  on  condition  that  it  should  be  deferred 
for  one  day. 

The  party,  which  consisted  of  de  Villieu,  the  priest  Thury, 
the  French  interpreter,  and  one  hundred  and  five  Indians,  left 
on  the  30th  of  May,  with  the  design  to  proceed  to  the  mouth 
of  the  Kennebec  to  meet  some  Abenakis.  On  the  9th  of 

June  de  Villieu,  with  three  Indians,  approached  the  fort  of 
Pemaquid.  They  carried  with  them  furs  to  barter,  while  he, 

disguised  as  an  Indian,  paddled  about  the  harbour,  and  made 
a  reconnaissance  of  the  position  of  the  fort,  its  harbour,  and 

where  mooring  ground  could  be  obtained.  Their  strength 
having  been  increased  by  seventy  Abenakis,  they  continued 
their  march  to  the  south. 
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They  had  now  to  determine  in  what  form  they  could  carry 

on  their  operations,  and  the  place  which  they  should  first 
attack;  a  council  was  held.  The  deliberations  lasted  for  three 

days,  but  nothing  was  concluded.  Some  of  the  Indians 
desired  to  make  an  attack  north  of  Boston  ;  others  were  of  the 

opinion  that  several  settlements  should  be  assaulted  simul- 
taneously. Finally,  it  was  agreed  to  leave  the  conduct  of  the 

expedition  to  its  more  youthful  members.  On  the  22nd  they 
advanced  ten  leagues;  they  had  now  been  for  some  days 
stinted  in  provisions,  many  began  to  murmur,  many  even 
threatened  to  return  home.  On  the  23rd  they  advanced 

twelve  leagues;  the  men  were  suffering  from  hunger,  and 
few  of  them  more  than  de  Villieu  himself  Scouts  were  sent 

out  to  a.scertain  if  any  place  in  the  neighbourhood  was  un- 
guarded ;  it  was  reported  that  the  adjoining  settlement  could 

be  surprised,  as  no  watch  was  kept,  and  no  precautions  were 

taken  again.st  attack. 
The  place  in  question,  Oyster  River,  now  bears  the  name  of 

Durham,  and  is  some  twelve  miles  from  Portsmouth,  not  far 

from  the  Piscataqua.  The  unfortunate  inhabitants  had  heard 

that  peace  with  the  Indians  had  been  proclaimed.  Not  a 
single  person  in  the  village  believed  that  an  aLtack  was 
possible.  It  was  a  thriving  and  prosperous  community,  and. 

with  organization,  possessed  the  means  of  self-defence.  It 
contained  a  church  and  a  mill ;  several  unconnected  dwellings 
had  been  constructed  along  the  stream,  twelve  of  which  were 

to  some  extent  fortified,  but  the  place  was  without  a  soldier. 

It  was  bright  moonlight  when  the  signal  for  advance  was 
given.  The  surprise  was  complete.  Two  of  the  protected 
houses  were  entered  without  resistance,  and  their  inmates 

killed.  Seven  of  the  hou.ses  being  vigorously  defended,  the 

Indians  did  not  attempt  to  attack  them,  but  contented  them- 
selves with  firing  on  them  from  a  distance.  The  assault  was 

made  on  the  scattered  houses  without  protection,  in  which  the 

inmatt'>,  among  whom  we.e  women  and  children,  awakened 
from  their  first  sleep,  became  unresisting  victims. 

De  Villieu  himself  has  given  us  a  narrative  of  his  operations. 
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The  whole  force  was  divided  into  several  small  bands,  which 

simultaneously  made  the  attack.  "  We  killed,"  he  says,  "one 
hundred  and  four  persons,  and  made  twenty-seven  prisoners 

in  sixty  houses,  which  were  pillaged  and  burnt;  a  quantit)-  of 

cattle  were  killed."*  The  force  then  retired  to  a  spot  which 
they  had  fortified  in  the  Indian  way,  so  that  they  could  defend 

themselves  in  case  of  pursuit.  No  attack  was  made  and  they 
regained  their  canoes. 

There  was  a  dispute  about  the  booty.  The  Pentegoet 
tribe  were  dissatisfied  with  their  share  of  the  prisoners,  a  less 

number  had  fallen  to  them  than  to  the  others  ;  and  they 
had  acted  under  the  direct  orders  of  dc  Villieu.  They  now 
resolved  to  divide  themselves  into  smaller  detachments.  Some 

forming  themselves  into  knots  of  five  and  six  proceeded  in 
the  direction  of  Boston,  to  attack  remote  dwellings,  and  to 

make  ravages  where  possible.  Some  reached  the  Merrimack, 
and  attacked  Garton,  within  forty  miles  of  Boston.  They 
were  driven  back  from  the  house  of  one  Larkin,  but  they 

successfull}-  attacked  the  isolated  and  undefended  houses,  and 
carried  off  ibrt)'  persons.  In  August,  the  same  bands  killed 
ten  or  eleven  persons  at  Kittering. 

De  Villieu  learnt  from  his  captives  that,  the  day  previously, 
the  inhabitants  at  Oyster  River  had  been  assembled,  and 

been  told  by  the  chief  officer  of  the  place,  that  peace  with  the 

Indians  was  obtained,  and  they  could  now  safelj'  work  upon 
their  lands.  Thej'  were  told  to  hold  themselves  in  readiness 
to  join  the  expedition,  which  King  William  had  sent  orders 
for  them  to  undertake,  to  make  themselves  masters  of 
Canada.  He  further  heard  that  two  vessels  had  started  from 

England,  one  of  which  had  been  sunk  bj*  the  French  cruisers, 
and  the  other  had  safely  arrived  ;  that  the  inilitia  had  been 

called  out,  and  an  invasion  was  to  take  place  from  New  York. 

This  intelligence  seemed  of  such  importance  to  de  Villieu, 

*  "On  tua  cent  niiatre  personnes  et  I'on  y  fit  vingt  sept  prisonniers  dans  soixante 
maisons  qui  furent  pillez  et  bruslez  et  quantito  tie  bestiaux  tuez,  puys  on  se  retira 

dans  le  lieu  on  la  separation  avoit  estii  faiete  le  soir  prixcdent." 
Hue.  Doc.  II.,  p.  142. 
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that  he  hurried  to  Canada  to  report  to  de  Fronteiiac.  On  his 

way  he  saw  l^igot,  but  de  Villieu  lost  no  time,  and  reached 
Montreal  on  the  26th  of  August.  At  a  public  audience,  the 

Indians,  who  accompanied  him,  presented  de  Frontenac  with 
thirteen  English  scalps,  and  de  Frontenac  received  them  as  a 
welcome  and  desirable  gift.  On  the  i6th  of  April,  1695,  de 

Villieu  was  officially  thanked  for  his  conduct,  in  a  letter 

addressed  to  him  by  the  minister;  but  in  a  letter  of  the  same 
date  to  dc  Frontenac,  he  is  blamed  for  his  conduct  to  de 

Villebon,  and  for  endeavouring  to  make  profit  out  of  the 

pay  of  the  soldiers,  and  the  provisions  granted  for  the  use  of 

the  expedition.* 
At  this  date  a  serious  pestilence  broke  out  among  the 

Indians,  from  which  they  died  in  large  numbers.  Their 
suffering  for  a  time  gave  quiet  to  the  country.  There  was 

little  molestation  from  them  in  1695.  De  Villebon  at  Xax- 
ouat  considered  himself  safe  from  attack,  and,  for  a  short 

period,  hostile  operations  were  limited  to  the  efforts  of  the 

cruisers  to  keep  the  coast  free  from  the  New  England  fisher- 
men. There  was  a  war-ship  of  the  navy  present,  but  the 

service  was  also  performed  by  privateers.  New  England,  on 

her  part,  sent  out  vessels  of  the  same  character,  who.se  only 

pursuit  was  piracy.  They  sailed  under  no  flag,  the  nationality 
of  the  owners  of  the  property  taken  was  not  considered,  for 
the  one  object  of  these  rovers  was  plunder. 

At  this  date,  Massachusetts  took  the  important  step  of 

petitioning  the  English  government  to  be  freed  from  the  obli- 
gation of  maintaining  Fort  Royal.  On  the  mainland,  the 

territory  to  the  north  of  Massachusetts  had  been  included 
within  the  charter  of  the  Province,  and  the  council  desired  to 

that  extent  to  limit  their  authority.  Xova  Scotia,  accordingly, 
became  dissevered  from  New  England.  It  was  owing  in  a 

great  measure  to  this  expression  of  opinion,  that,  by  the  Treaty 
of  Utrecht,  Nova  Scotia  was  constituted  a  distinct  Province. 

In  June,  1695,  dc  Villebon  called  a  meeting  of  the  chiefs  at 
Xaxouat;   they   were  fourteen    in   number,   representing   the 

*  (^>uebec  Document  H.,  p.  176. 
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tribes  as  far  as  the  Kennebec.  Thury  was  present.  There 

was  feasting  for  three  clays  with  a  distribution  of  presents. 
The  Indians  were,  however,  dissatisfied.  They  complained  that 

they  had  to  pay  high  prices  for  goods  purchased,  while  their 
furs  were  rated  low.  Their  trade  relations  with  the  English 

were  much  more  satisfactory,  and  with  this  lever,  had  states- 
manship been  exercised  at  Boston,  the  Indians  could  have 

been  detached  from  France.  The  duty  of  the  public  men  of 
Massachusetts  was,  if  only  as  a  matter  of  policy,  to  observe  the 
most  inviolate  good  faith  with  the  Indians,  and  to  treat  them 

with  consideration  ;  and,  while  holding  an  effective  force  in  the 
field  to  check  attack  against  the  settlements,  and  on  all  sides 

to  maintain  unrelaxed  vigilance.  The  situation,  without 

doubt,  was  trying,  and  called  for  unremitting  watchfulness. 
The  main  influenc?  possessed  by  the  French  was  through 

their  missionaries.  They  unfailingly  appealed  to  the  lowest 

superstition  of  the  Indian,  and  to  that  jealousy  and  distrust, 

which  a  few  words  of  cunning  and  deception  can  always 
awaken.  The  constant  theme  of  the  Acadian  French  of  every 
condition  was  the  bad  faith  of  the  New  Englanders,  their 

treachery,  the  danger  of  intercourse  with  them,  their  designs, 
under  pretence  of  trade,  to  lead  them  to  remain  unprepared, 
and  then  attack  them.  The  inassacres  which  had  followed 

any  succe.ssful  Indian  raid  led  them  to  expect,  in  any 
reverse,  treatment  similar  to  that  which  they  themselves  had 
meted  out. 

At  this  meeting,  de  Villebon  promised  redress  on  the 

points  complained  of,  and  urged  the  necessity  of  making 
incessant  attacks  on  New  England  to  as.sure  their  own  safety. 
While  the  resolution  was  formed  to  continue  the  war,  in  view 

of  concealing  their  purpo.se,  and  of  lulling  Massachusetts  into 

security,  .some  of  the  chiefs  proceeded  to  Pemaquid,  on  the 

pretence  of  receiving  the  prisoners,  who,  they  maintained,  it 
had  been  promised  should  be  given  up.  The  Commissioners 
who  were  present,  refused  to  entertain  the  demand  until  the 

English  prisoners  were  produced.  The  chiefs  affected  to 
think  that,  in  accordance  with  their  demand,  the  men  should 
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[1696 have  been  present  and  set  at  liberty ;  consequently,  the)'  left 
in  dudgeon.  Many  of  them  continued  to  prowl  about  the 
fort,  and  it  became  dangerous  for  any  of  its  inmates  to  leave 
it  for  any  distance. 

In  I^Y'bruar}'  an  event  took  place  at  Pemaquid,  which  must 
ha\c  been  heard  of  by  the  French  with  the  greatest  satisfac- 

tion. No  act  could  have  been  more  in  accordance  either  w  ith 

their  desire  or  their  interest.  Stoughton,  then  Li  ,utcnant- 
Governor  of  Massachusetts,  was  the  chief  executive  officer. 

Phips  had  left  Boston  on  the  2i>th  of  November,  1694,  and  had 
died  in  l^ngland  on  the  ist  of  March,  1695.  Stoughton 

had  become  impressed  with  the  feeling,  that  it  was  desirable 

to  obtain  possession  of  the  persons  of  the  chiefs  who  were  the 
most  troublesome,  and  were  regarded  as  the  leaders  of  the  war 

party.  He  had  determined  to  effect  his  purpose  by  an  act  of 

treachery,  as  false  in  polic}-,  as  it  was  contemptible  from  its 
low  cunning.  Stoughton  sent  a  message  to  these  chiefs, 

reproaching  them  for  having  broken  the  peace,  and  sum- 
moned them  to  attend  at  Pemaquid,  to  deliver  their  prisoners 

and  to  receive  their  own  in  exchange. 

The  Abenakis  Indians,  at  Bigot's  dictation,  returned  an  inso- 
lent reply.  Thurj'  was  the  missionary  with  the  Penobscot 

tribe,  and  either  could  not  or  did  not  attempt  to  control  them. 
Some  of  the  chiefs,  accordingly,  went  to  Pemaquid;  several 

were  known  to  have  been  present  at  the  massacre  of  0\-ster 
River.  But  be  they  who  they  might,  they  came  to  the  English 

fort  on  the  pledged  word  of  the  English  Governor  for  their  per- 

sonal safety.  They  should  have  been  regardctl  as  envoj-s.  and 
their  persons  held  sacred  under  the  guarantee  of  the  summons. 

Captain  March,  a  good  officer,  had  lately  been  removed  from 
the  command  of  Pemaquid,  and  one  Chubb  had  been  placed 

there.  No  appointment  could  have  been  more  unfortunate. 

On  this  occasion,  he  shewed  himself  as  deficient  in  judgment, 

as  during  the  course  of  the  same  j-ear  he  proved  that  he  was 
without  conduct,  or  courage.  He  met  the  Indians,  outside 

the  fort,  and  received  at  their  hands  the  English  prisoners 

brought  by  them ;  then  under  the  pretence  of  presenting  the 
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gifts  wliich  he  assured  them  he  had  been  charc^cd  to  offer,  he 

proposed  a  conference  nearer  the  fort.  He  had  placed  men  in 
ambush,  and  when  the  opportunity  offered,  the  force  rushed 
forward  and  endeavoured  to  make  the  chiefs  prisoners.  Some 

were  killed,  some  were  seized,  two  alone  escaped.  This  ill- 
judged  breach  of  faith  revivified  to  intensity  Abenaki  hostility, 

in  itself  .sufficiently  strong;  hostility,  which,  with  judgment, 
forbearance,  and  a  rigid  fidelity  to  every  engagement  entered 

into,  if  not  entirely  removed,  might  have  been  modified  and 

quieted.  It  threw  the  Indians  cntirclj-  into  the  hands  of  the 
French;  and  it  must  be  remembered  that  it  was  by  Indian 

attack  alone  that  the  contest  for  "\(  po-ssession  of  the  terri- 
tory had  been  carried  on.  If  the  Abcnakis  and  Penobscots, 

had  been  treated  with  strict  justice,  and  had  had  no  wrongs 
to  avenge;  every  chance  of  attack  on  their  side  being  firmly 

guarded  against,  Massachusetts  would  have  remained  undis- 
puted mistress  of  the  country  to  the  Saint  John. 

The  course  taken  at  Pcmaquid  justified  every  assertion  of 

the  French  with  regard  to  the  treachery  of  Massachusetts.  It 

made  the  Indians  more  hopclesslj'  the  instruments  of  the 
French  priests,  and  confirmed  them  in  enmity  to  New 

England,  which  increased,  as  its  instigators  were  able  to  satisfy 

it  by  massacre  and  plunder. 
But  their  success  in  night  raids  and  surprises  gave  the 

Indians  no  actual  relief  in  the  condition  in  which  they  were 

placed.  The)'  remained  dissatisfied  as  to  their  relationship  to 
the  French ;  and  reference  to  the  reports  of  those  who  were 

engaged  m  directing  them  proves  what  might  have  been 

accomplished  b)-  Massachusetts,  if  her  councils  had  been  gov- 
erned by  wisdom,  prudence  and  moderation.  That  the  mas- 
sacre of  settlers,  awakened  in  their  sleep  by  the  war-whoop, 

should  have  occasioned  feelings  of  rage,  and  a  desire  for 

revenge,  may  be  imagined ;  but  it  it  is  not  by  giving  way  to 

impulse,  and  by  the  treacherous  slaughter  of  sa\-age  races,  that 
good  government  is  promoted.  Treachery  begets  treachery, 
and  reprisals  are  followed  by  reprisals.  The  hand  of  authority 

ma>-  be  firm,  strong  and  heavy,  but  it  should  be  marked  by 
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[1696 Strict  justice  and  unwavering  good  faith.  Thury  plainly  wrote 

to  dc  Fnjntcnac  *  that,  if  some  quick  remedy  were  not  applied, 
cither  on  the  side  of  Canada  or  France,  the  Indians  would  in 

a  year  be  lost  to  Acadia.  This  representation  of  the  situation 
did  not  fail  to  work  its  influence.  Early  in  April,  the  Minister 

wrote,  that,  the  following  year,  Pemaquid  would  be  attacked, 
and  preparations  were  commenced  to  carry  out  the  project. 
It  was  to  be  considered  as  the  commencement  of  a  more 

thorough  occupation  of  the  country;  and  the  destruction  of 
this  atlvanced  fortress  was  to  be  followed  by  vigorous  steps  to 
hold  Acadia  L»y  something  more  than  Indian  raids. 

In  the  spring  of  1696,  two  ships  of  war  left  France  for 

Quebec ;  the  "  Profond,"  and  the  "  Envieux,"  under  the  com- 
mand of  d'Iberville,  and  of  Bonaventure.  At  Quebec  they 

received  an  additional  force  of  about  eighty  regular  and 

colonial  troops.  After  cruising  past  Cape  Breton,  and  cap- 
turing some  vessels,  they  arrived  at  the  Baie  des  Espagnols, 

Sydney,  on  the  26th  of  June,  where  thirty  additional  Indians 
were  received.  They  were  sailing  towards  the  Saint  John, 

when  they  came  upon  two  light-armed  English  frigates,  with 
a  New  PIngland  tender.  The  attack  was  commenced  by  the 

English,  who  found  themselves  engaged  with  vessels  of 

nearly  double  their  weight  in  guns,  and  manned  b\-  double 
their  force.  The  French  vessels  each  carried  44  guns.  After 

a  fight  of  three  hours  and  a  half,  the  "  Newport,"  carrying 

24  guns,  was  dismasted  and  taken.  The  "  Sorling,"  of  34 
guns,  with  the  tender,  favoured  by  the  fog  and  the  night, 
escaped. 

On  the  following  day  the  French  vessels,  with  their  prize, 
reached  the  Saint  John,  and  de  Villebon  came  down  from 
Naxouat  to  receive  them.  He  was  accompanied  by  Father 

Simon,  and  one  hundred  and  fifty  of  the  Saint  John  Indians, 

who  were  taken  on  board  by  Bonaventure.  On  the  2nd  of 
August  they  reached  Pentegoet.  There  they  were  joined  by 
Thury,  and   de   Saint    Castin,   and   one   hundred   and   thirty 

*  Quebec  Doc.  II.,  p.  162. 
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379 Penobscot  Indians,  and  an  immediate  att'  mpt  against  Pcma- 
quid  was  determined  upon. 

A  feast  was  given  by  d'Iberville  to  three  hundred  Indians, 
and  the  exped  tion  was  organized.  The  fort  possessed  a 

certain  strength,  but  was  incapable  of  resisting  artillery,  and 

it  had  no  casemates.  The  garrison  consisted  of  ninety-five 
men  lately  called  out  as  militia.  The  condition  of  the  fort  in 

every  respect  was  well  known  to  the  attacking  party.  The 
commander,  Chubb,  was  inexperienced  and  unfit  for  his  duty. 

He  was  the  same  person  who  had  seized  the  Indian  chiefs, 

and  was  now,  in  another  direction,  to  give  an  equally  discredit- 
able proof  of  his  incapacity. 

The  place  was  summoned  to  surrender  on  the  14th  of 

August.  The  reply  of  Chubb  is  indicative  of  his  character, 
and,  to  the  men  opposed  to  him,  remarkable  for  their  courage 
and  resolution,  was  enough  to  shew  with  whom  they  had  to 
deal.  It  was  that  he  would  fight,  if  the  sea  were  covered 

with  French  ships,  and  the  land  with  Indians.  Among  the 

besiegers  was  dc  Saint  Castin,  who  wrote  to  Chubb — the 

probability  is  that  he  well  knew  him — that  the  Indians  who 
were  present  were  resolved  to  be  revenged  personally  on  him 

for  the  seizure  of  their  chiefs,  and  that  if  he  made  an\'  defence, 
the  garrison  would  be  slaughtered. 

The  guns  were  landed,  and  batteries  constructed.  The 
Indians  found  what  protection  they  could  obtain,  and  fired 

on  anyone  in  any  way  exposing  himself  During  the  night 
the  guns  and  mortars  were  placed  in  position,  and,  by  three 

the  next  day,  everything  was  ready  for  the  bombardment. 
After  a  di.scharge  of  five  shells,  the  duvnadc  was  beaten,  and 

a  parley  asked  from  the  fort. 

At  five  o'clock,  the  fort  surrendered,  on  condition  that  the 
garrison  should  be  landed  at  the  first  English  fort.  Chubb 
and  his  men  marched  out,  and  de  Villieu  with  sixty  Canadians 

took  pos.session  of  it.  To  the  honour  of  d'Iberville,  the  con- 
ditions were  faithfully  observed.  The  pri-soners  were  placed 

on  an  island  to  a.ssure  their  safety.  The  Indians  were  greatly 

enraged,  owing  to  one  of  the  chiefs  seized  by  Chubb  having 
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[1696 been  found  in  a  cell  strongly  ironed.  Among  the  papers  ob- 
tained in  the  fort,  the  order  was  found  containing  instructions 

to  arrest  the  chiefs,  so  far  relieving  Chubb  from  having  been 

the  originator  of  the  treachery.  It  was  at  Boston,  that  this 

disgraceful  and  impolitic  step  had  been  planned. 
The  captured  cannon  were  carried  to  the  ships;  the  arms 

with  the  ammunition  were  given  to  the  Indians.  The  fort  was 

destroyed,  the  walls  were  mined  and  blown  up,  the  buildings 
burned.  Two  days  were  further  given  to  the  completion  of 
the  destruction. 

About  this  date,  two  English  war-vessels,  the  "  Arundel  " 
and  "  Boston,"  arrived  at  Boston.  On  the  "  Sorling  "  reaching 

that  port,  the  loss  of  the  "  Newport  "  became  known,  and  the 
belief  arose  that  the  next  attack  would  be  directed  against 

Portsmouth.  Accompanied  by  the  "Sorling"  and  a  merchant- 
man of  20  guns,  after  taking  on  board  some  militia,  these 

ships  sailed  northward,  in  search  of  the  French  vessels.  Not 
finding  them  before  Portsmouth,  the  English  ships  continued 

their  cruise.  As  they  came  in  view  of  Pemaquid,  they  saw 

the  vessels  of  d'Iberville  and  Bonaventure,  which  had  not 
long  left  that  fort,  keeping  as  close  to  the  shore  as  possible. 
Sail  was  made  to  intercept  them,  but  night  came  on,  and  the 
English  ships  were  not  able  to  reach  the  French  vessels,  and 

a  fog  arose,  which  permitted  them  to  escape.  The  English 

force  was  so  much  superior  to  that  of  d'Iberville,  that  he 
considered  his  safetj'  lay  in  avoiding  an  engagement.*  He 
made  his  way  to  Newfoundland.  The  English  vessels  returned 

to  Boston  ;  one  capture  they  did  make,  a  small  shallop,  in 

which  were  de  ViUieu  and  twenty-three  soldiers. 
The  loss  of  the  fort  was  unwelcome  news  at  Boston. 

Chubb  was,  on  his  arrival,  placed  under  arrest  for  cowardice 
and  misconduct.  He  remained  some  months  in  prison,  when 

he  was  released.  Hutchinson  expresses  doubts,  whether  with 

a  better  man,  the  fort  could  have  been  more  successfully 

defended ;  certainly,  a  better  attempt  might  have  been  made. 

*  Hutchinson,  in  his  history,  draws  attention  to  the  fact,  that  Charlevoix  has 
incorrectly  represented  the  English  squadron  to  consist  of  seven  ships. 
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Shortly  afterwards,  an  expedition  left  Boston,  to  retrieve  the 

distjjrace  of  the  surrender.  It  was  placed  under  the  command  of 
Colonel  Church,  whom  I  have  mentioned  as  doing  good  service 

in  the  King  Philip  war.  His  force  consisted  of  five  hundred 
Indians  and  New  England  militia.  They  reached  Chignecto, 
and  lantlcd  at  Beaubassin.  One  of  the  principal  inhabitants, 
Germain  Bourgeois,  saw  Church,  and  pointed  out  that,  at  the 

time  of  Phips'  invasion,  the  population  had  engaged  not  to 
attack  the  English,  and  had  been  promised  protection ;  the 
order  was  accordingly  given  not  to  molest  the  inhabitants. 
They  would,  however,  give  no  intelligence  where  the  Micmacs 
were  to  be  reached,  the  tribe  which  Church  specially  desired 
to  chastise,  as  they  had  been  prominent  in  the  late  forays 

against  the  New  England  settlements.  All  information  being 

refused,  13caubassin  was  treated  as  an  enemy's  country.  A 
proclamation  was  discovered  posted  on  the  church  door,  on 

the  part  of  the  Governor-General  of  Canada,  shewing  the 
shallow  ground,  on  which  appeal  for  protection  was  made. 

As  it  was  felt,  that  reprisals  should  be  made  for  the  merci- 
less attacks  on  the  English  settlements,  this  unfortunate 

locality  had  to  pay  the  penalty.  Church  remained  there  nine 
days.  A  great  many  of  the  houses  and  barns  were  burned.  The 
church  met  the  same  fate,  but  no  men  and  women  were  given 

over  to  Indian  slaughter.  This  reprisal  was  a  useless  act  of 
passion,  in  everyway  im[)olitic,  and  confirmed  the  Acadians  in 
their  hatred  to  New  England.  The  treatment  was  identical 

with  that,  which  the  Erench  had  meted  out  again  and  again 

to  the  New  England  communities  ;  but  the  fact  could  not 
warrant  the  devastation  and  the  misery  which  marked 

Church's  operations.  The  act  was  one  of  cruelty,  and  it  would 
have  been  an  avoidance  of  pain  to  the  English  historian,  if  it 
did  not  fall  to  his  lot  to  record  it. 

Church  proceeded  to  the  Saint  John,  where  his  intention  was 

to  interrupt  the  construction  of  the  fort,  and,  if  possible,  to 

attack  and  destroy  the  fort  at  Naxouat.  At  the  Saint  John 
there  was  an  ensign  named  Chevalier  in  charge,  with  a  small 

force.     Church  landed  in  such  strength  that  he  could  not  be 
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[1696 opposed,  and  the  French  soldiers  retreated  to  the  woods  ; 
Church,  therefore,  coiitenteil  liimsclf  with  the  destruction  of  the 

materials  which  had  been  leathered.  On  his  side.  Chevalier 

lost  no  time  in  scndin<f  a  messentjer  to  ile  Villebon  to  inform 

him  of  Church's  presence.  He  was  returning,'  to  the  coast  to  see 
in  what  condition  matters  were,  when  he  was  met  by  a  party 
of  the  invaders;  and,  resisting  an  attack  to  seize  him,  he  was 
killed.  Some  of  his  men  were  taken  prisoners,  one  of  whom 

pointed  out  where  twelve  cannon  had  been  buried.  They 

were  found,  and  placed  on  Church's  vessels.  It  is  plain  that 
Church  saw  that  he  was  in  no  condition  to  attack  Naxouat. 

It  was  late  in  the  season  ;  he  was  without  tents,  and,  althoui^h 

they  had  guns  to  move,  he  had  no  means  of  transport.  Few 
of  his  vessels  could  ascend  the  river,  owing  to  their  draught; 
and  the  delay  which  would  have  arisen  in  framing  rafts  for 

his  guns,  and  forcing  them  up  stream  at  that  period  of  the 

year,  must  have  been  a  strong  argument  against  any  expecta- 
tion of  success.  Accordingly,  he  abandoned  the  attempt,  and 

started  on  his  return  to  Boston. 

He  had  not  gone  far  on  the  voyage  when  he  was  met  b)- 
an  expedition  bound  for  the  Saint  John.  Stoughton  had 

instructed  the  "  Arundel,"  with  a  provincial  ship  and  a  trans- 
port, to  sail  to  the  Saint  John,  and  commence  operations  to 

drive  de  Villebon  from  Naxouat.  Colonel  Hawthorne  was  in 

command,  with  two  hundred  men,  and,  on  meeting  Church, 
ordered  him  to  return  with  him.  Church  was  unwilling  to  do 

so,  for  he  lost  his  rank,  as  the  force  was  now  constituted,  Haw- 

thorne being  his  senior.  No  doubt,  he  represented  the  impos- 
sible character  of  the  enterprise  with  the  appliances  at  their 

command,  but  Hawthorne  was  determined  to  carry  out  his 
orders,  and  on  the  i8th  of  October,  four  of  the  smaller  vessels 

with  troops  ascended  the  river.  The  men  were  landed  near 

the  fort,  and  a  battery  with  two  field-pieces  was  constructed. 
Had  the  fort  been  taken  by  surprise,  there  might  have  been 
some  chance  of  success.  De  Villebon,  however,  was  not  one 

to  be  entrapped.  His  military  career  had  been  distinguished 

by  surprises  of  his  enemy  when  least  expecting  attack,  and  he 
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must  have  foreseen  the  pos.sibih"ty  of  an  attempt  of  the  same 
character.  lie  had  a  garrison  of  one  hundred  men,  and, 

unless  against  ̂ ams  of  heavy  caUbre  and  a  hirj^^c  force  which 

could  cut  him  off  from  supjjh'cs,  his  fort  was  perfectly  defen- 
sible. Moreover,  he  was  a  professional  soldier,  capable  of 

defendincj  his  post  with  skill,  and  po.ssessing  the  couraj^e  to  do 

so.  lie  had  been,  to  some  extent,  jjrepared  for  the  contin- 

1,'enc)'  by  Chevalier's  messaLje.  He  had  sent  to  the  ne.xt 
mission  for  aid;  and  thirty-six  Indians  immediately  obej-ed 
the  summons.  The  inhabitants  in  the  ncit^hbourhood  were 

warned  of  the  danger,  and  told  to  hold  themselves  in  readiness 

to  seek  the  protection  of  the  fort,  and  on  the  cveninLj  of  the 
i6tli  he  was  joined  by  some  dozen  coiircurs  dc  hois. 

Thus  prepared,  de  Villebon  could  well  resist  the  insufficient 

means  of  assault  broui^ht  ai^^ainst  him.  The  two  small  j^uns 
made  little  impression  on  the  stockade.  As  night  came  on, 
the  weather  became  cold,  and  the  New  England  soldiers  lit 

their  camp  fires.  Their  light  furnished  a  target  for  Villebon's 
men  to  fire  grape,  and  the  shots  became  so  mischievous  that 
the  fires  had  to  be  e.xtinguished.  The  men  had  no  tents;  it 

does  not  appear  that  thej'  were  even  i)r()\ided  with  proper 
clothing,  for  they  suffered  from  cold.  On  the  19th,  the 

cannonade  was  continued,  when  one  of  the  two  guns  was  dis- 

mounted. That  night  the  besiegers'  fires  were  lighted  out  of 
the  range  of  the  fort  cannon,  but  it  was  only  with  the  design 

of  deceiving  de  Villebon.  During  the  night  the  New  England 

force  re-embarked,  and  commenced  the  descent  of  the  river; 
and,  on  the  morning  of  the  20th,  their  camp  was  entirely 
deserted.  The  French  loss  is  named  as  three.  The  English 

had  eight  killed,  and  seventeen  wounded.  The  expedition  had 
been  undertaken  without  forediought  or  preparation.  If  the 

\ew  England  theory  was  to  the  effect,  that  the  defenders  of 

French  forts  w^ould  surrender  them  with  little  or  no  defence, 

like  the  commanders  at  I'cmaquid  and  Fort  Loyall,  it  proved 
a  woeful  miscalculation. 

The  design  of  the  French  Court  to  attack  Boston  has  been 

spoken  of     In  Acadia  it  had  the  effect  of  keeping  the  Indians 
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at  their  villajrcs,  to  be  ready  for  service,  and  no  raids  were 

propcised  or  encouraj^ed;  diiriii^f  the  year  there  was  compara- 
tive quiet  in  the  northern  English  settlements.  Of  the  tribes 

that  had  pa.s.scd  from  Hcaubassin  Bay  to  Penobscot,  some  few 
were  encouraijed  to  activity.  The  parties  were  directed  by 

Rene  Damours  and  de  I'ortneuf,  and  the  priests  St.  Cosme, 
Simon,  and  Chambault  were  [iresent.  They  made  an  on- 
slau;4ht  on  Kettering,  and  iv^ain  on  Wells,  but  their  success  was 
limited  to  killing  some  few  of  their  opponents.  In  September, 

1697,  they  attacked  Lancaster,  and  between  twenty  or  thirty 
persons  were  killed  or  carried  away;  amonj^  the  number  was 
VVhitiiiij,  the  Minister  of  the  town.  Andover,  twenty 
miles  from  Boston,  did  not  esca[)e.  Amon.Lj  those  who  were 

killed  was  Chubb,  who  had  surrendered  l^^maijuid,  and  who 

was  much  hated  by  the  Indians,  owint;- to  his  seizure  of  the 
chiefs  at  that  place  He  had  established  himself  here  with 
his  family.  Mis  death  was  regarded  as  a  special  mark  of 

triumph,  but  there  is  no  grountl  for  the  belief  that  his 

presence  led  to  the  attack.* 
Haverhill  had  been  attacked  in  March.  It  is  in  the  narra- 

tive of  the  captives  taken  at  this  place,  that  we  have  the  story 
of  Hannah  Dustan.  She  had  been  confined  of  a  child,  the 

week  previously,  and  a  neighbour,  Mary  Heff,  was  nursing 
her,  when  they  were  seized.  With  a  boy,  they  fell  to  the  lot 

of  a  family  of  two  warriors,  three  squaws  and  seven  children. 
The  women  adopted  the  desperate  resolution  of  making  an 

effort  to  escape,  in  the  depth  of  the  night,  while  their  captors 
slept.  At  the  same  moment,  the  two  men  and  a  woman 

received  their  death-blow;  the  remainder  were  immediately 
killed.  The  dead  were  scalped,  and  the  women  reappeared 

at  the  settlement  with  the  scalps. -f  An  old  squaw  and  a 
very  young  child  were  left  unharmed. 

The  Treaty  of  Ryswick  was  proclaimed  at  Boston,  on  the 
21st  of  December,  1697;  and  from  this  di;te  the  French  could 

not  give  the  Indians,  whose  allegiance  they  claimed,  acknow- 
*  liutchiiipon. 

t  Hutchinson  records  the  fact  as  an  incident  of  the  war. 
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Icdj^cd  cncounii^cmcnt  to  continue  tlicir  rava;j[cs.  The  Abeiia- 
kis  and  Pcnobscots  had  learnt  the  advantas^es  obtainable  by 

sucli  operations;  for,  in  the  words  ot"  the  French  Kini;,  they 
were  more  profitable  in  the  i^ain  they  brouj^ht,  than  the  more 
limited  spoils  of  the  chase.  They  now  felt  that  they  were 

abandoned  bj-  their  allies.  It  may  be  siip[)osed,  that  they 
understood  imperfectly  the  terms  of  the  peace  as  laid  down 

by  the  treaty,  maintaining,  that  they  were  bouiul  by  no 
cngajfemcnt,  exce[)t  the  one  made  by  themselves.  War  had 
become  a  necessity  to  them ;  unsustaincd  by  the  French,  they 
dreaded  that  the  peace  woukl  leail  to  their  extermination. 
Hut  the  missionaries  could  no  Ioniser  openly  incite  them  to 

massacres,  or  personally  lead  them  in  their  foral,'cs. 
It  was  resolved  at  Boston,  to  make  the  best  arran_L;cment 

possible  and  conclude  peace  with  them,  so  that  quiet  w  ould 

be  restored,  and  to  accept  such  conditions  as  the  Indians  would 
agree  to.  In  October,  Major  Convers  and  Captain  Alden 
met  the  chiefs  at  the  Penobscot,  to  discuss  the  jireliminaries 

of  a  treaty,  of  which  one  of  the  conditions  was,  that  all  cap- 
tives should  be  restored.  The  dubion  .  assent  was  i^iven  that 

such  prisoners  held  by  the  Indians,  as  desired  to  return, 
should,  unmolested,  be  permitted  to  do  so.  During  the  winter, 

the  [)eace  was  definitely  arranged.  In  the  spring  of  1699, 

several  captives  returned.  "  Many,"  adds  Hutchinson  .sorrow- 
fully, "  remained,  male  and  female,  who  mingled  with  Indians, 

and  contributed  to  a  succession  of  savages,  to  exercise  cruelties 

on  the  iMiglish  frontier  in  future  wars,  and  perhaps  on  some 

of  their  own  relation.s." 
The  Treaty  of  Ryswick  was  pregnant  with  future  difficulty. 

The  English  considered  that  their  territory  extended  to  the 

Saint  Croix ;  de  Villebon,  on  the  part  of  the  F^-cnch,*  declared 
the  Kennebec  River  from  the  head  to  the  mouth  to  be  the 

boundary;  the  river  to  be  free  to  both  nations.  Massachusetts 

had  already  abandoned  her  jurisdiction  over  Nova  Scotia.  De 
Villebon  also  claimed  the  fishing  grounds  along  the  coast,  and 

Bonaventure  was  sent  to  crni.se,  and  to  seize  all  vessels  taking 
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fish  in  what  dc  Villcbon  asserted  to  be  F'rcnch  waters.  By 
the  seventh  article  all  conquests  were  to  be  restored ;  by  the 

ci^dith,  commissioners  were  to  be  appointed  to  settle  "the  limits 
and  confines  of  the  land  to  be  restored  on  cither  side,"  and 

*'  likewise  for  exchanging  of  lands,  as  may  conduce  to  the 

mutual  interest  and  advantage." 
Here  were  the  seeds  of  future  di.spute,  but  it  is  doubtful, 

if  thc}'  would  have  been  adjusted,  or  have  led  to  war,  when  in 
September,  1701,  James  II.  died,  and  Louis  acknowledged  his 
son  to  be  King  of  England.  At  this  date,  the  French  King 
had  no  desire  to  renew  the  war.  He  had  made  peace,  only 

four  years  earlier,  from  inability  to  continue  the  struggle. 

He  re-opened  the  contest,  to  re-unite  the  passionate  senti- 

ment of  the  v.'hole  of  England  to  be  directed  against  him, 
with  a  bitterness  of  hate,  that  can  be  traced  even  in  modern 

literature.  War  recommenced  ;  another  twelve  years'  struggle 
for  the  possession  of  America  was  to  take  place  before  peace 

was  again  proclaimed ;  and  even  then  the  question  was  not 

finall}-  to  be  determined. 
De  Villebon  died  July,  1700.*  He  was  a  man  of  energy 

and  great  ability,  distinguished  in  the  unscrupulous  school,  in 
which  he  had  been  educated,  as  remorselessly  ci  uel.  With 

slight  means  at  his  disposal,  he  protected  and  assured  French 

interests  in  Acadia.  During  his  rule  he  obtained  great  advan- 

tages over  the  neglected,  ill-defended  frontier  of  New  Eng- 
land. That  Ma.ssachusetts  was  not  driven  back  from  the 

territory  of  which  she  had  taken  possession,  was  not  owing  to 

any  wisdom  and  forethought  shewn  at  Boston,  either  in  the 
measures  conceived,  or  the  choice  of  the  instruments  to  carry 

them  out ;  but  to  the  indomitable  and  hardy  character  of  her 
settlers,  who  remained  unappalled  by  reverse  and  trial,  and 

who,  in  every  difficulty,  steadfastly  and  unflinchingly  held 

their  ground. 
In  1693,  the  whole  French  population  of  Acadia  was  one 

thousand  and  nine  souls. 

*  Clmrlevdix.     On  2otli  October,  I7CX3,  de  Villieu  speaks  of  him  as  iieing 
dead.     Que.  Doc.  H.,  p.  336. 
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CHAPTER   III. 

The  death  of  dc  Frontenac  was  communicated  by  Prevost, 

town  major  of  Quebec,  without  loss  of  time  to  de  CalHcres, 
de  Courtemanche  being  the  messenger.  De  Calliercs  had 
looked  forward  to  succeed  de  Frontenac,  but  he  was  not  alone 

in  the  expectation ;  both  de  Vaudreuil  and  dc  Champigny 
were  aspirants  for  the  distinction,  de  CalHcres  consequently 
saw  that,  to  attain  his  end,  some  special  effort  on  his  part  was 
necessary.  Giving  out  that  he  was  writing  to  Quebec,  he 

addressed  letters  to  France,  and  prevailed  upon  dc  Courte- 
manche to  undertake  their  delivery.  It  was  in  the  closing 

daj-s  of  navigation.  De  Courtemanche  started  in  his  canoe 

professedly  for  Quebec,  but  at  Sorcl,  b}-  night,  he  left  the 
Saint  Lawrence  and  ascended  the  Richelieu,  to  proceed 

by  Lake  Champlain  to  Albany.  He  descended  the  Hud- 

son to  New  York,  where  he  obtained  a  passage  in  a  \-es- 

sel  bound  for  England,  and  so  reached  France.*  De  CalHcres' 
brother,  who  had  been  one  of  the  principal  negotiators  of  the 

treaty  of  Ryswick,  on  the  receipt  of  the  letters  from  Canada, 

waited  upon  the  King,  to  inform  him  of  de  Frontenac's  death, 
and  asked  the  government  for  his  brother.  His  own  influ- 

ence and  character,  together  with  his  brother's  eminent  ser- 
vices, sustained  the  request,  for  it  was  unhesitatingly  granted. 

In  Quebec,  the  non-return  of  de  Courtemanche  attracted 
attention.  The  navigation  was  closed,  and  he  did  not  appear. 

De    V^iudreuil    and    dc    Champigny   entertained     suspicions 

*  Letter  de  Callieres  to  the  Minister,  2nd  -May,  1699.  [Vol.  VIII.,  Pail.  M.S. 
Doc,  2nd  .Series,  p.  37S],  in  which  he  inLMiiions  liis  application  sent  by  de 

Courtemanche.  He  speaks  of  having  served  twenty  years  in  the  King's  army, 
ami  fifteen  in  Canada,  Also  his  letter  to  Hellouiont,  9th  of  September.  1699. 

[Vol.  VIII.  M.S.,  p.  404],  in  which  he  thanks  Helloniont  for  the  assistance  given 

to  de  Courtemanche  to  proceed  to  France 
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that  they  were  the  victims  of  some  intrigue,*  and  they  received 
special  information  which  led  them  to  take  steps  to  protect 
their  interests.  They  immediately  sent  off  the  Sieur  Vinceloti 

with  despatches,  reporting  de  Frontenac's  death,  and  furnished 
him  with  money  and  letters  of  credit,  instructing  him  to  pro- 

ceed over  land  to  New  England,  and  there  obtain  a  vessel  and 
sail  for  France  with  all  possible  haste.  These  letters  were 

addressed  to  AI.  de  Fonchartrain,  who  was  ignorant  that  de 

Courtemanche  had  arrived.  Indeed,  the  latter  only  succeeded 
in  reaching  Paris,  a  few  hours  before  Vincelot.  The  Minister 

reported  the  death  of  de  Frontenac  tc  the  King,  who  replied 
that  he  knew  the  fact,  and  at  the  request  of  M.  de  Callicres, 

had  granted  the  government  of  Canada  to  his  brother. 

During  the  winter,  when  the  appointment  was  in  abej-ance, 
Canada  was  divided  into  the  two  parties,  the  supporters  of  de 
Callieres  and  of  de  Vaudreuil.  An  incident  .shewed  this  feel- 

ing. So  soon  as  the  spring  came,  before  the  arrival  of  the  ships, 
de  Callieres,  who,  by  his  position,  had  assumed  charge  of  the 
government,  assembled  the  troops  at  ̂ Montreal  for  a  review, 

and  ordered  that  in  the  march-past,  the  salute  made  to  the 
Commander-in-Chief,  should  be  given  to  him.  De  la 
Durantaye,  who  was  in  favour  of  de  Vaudreuil,  pointed  out,  that 

the  salute,  due  to  the  Princes  and  Marshals  of  P'rance  only, 
ought  not  to  be  given ;  and  de  Vaudreuil.  acting  on  this  view, 

so  notified  de  Callieres.  De  Callieres  arrived  on  the  ground  in 

his  ca/c'c/ie,  for  he  was  a  sufferer  from  gout,  and  ordered  the 
march-past  to  take  place.  De  Vaudreuil  replied  that  as  it 
was  contrary  to  the  orders  of  the  King,  he  could  not  comply 

unless  the  order  was  given  in  writing.  A  drum  was  brought 

upon  which  the  order  was  signed,  and  the  salute  was  made.  ̂  

*  "lis  se  defierent  d'un  tour  de  Norniand  joint  a  (juelques  connaissanees  qu'ils 
eurent."     Recueil,  etc.,  p.  58. 

t  De  la  Potheiie  to  the  Minister,  2nd  of  June,  1699.  Vol.  VIII.  Pari.  MS., 

p.  3S7,  Vincelot  is  nienlioned  as  having  been  despatched  from  Queijcc  under  the 
circumstances  named. 

:J:  Letter  of  de  Vaudreuil  and  Le  Roy  de  la  Potherie  to  the  Minister,  "  le 

dernier  mai  1699.''  Pari.  MS.  Doc.  VIII.,  p.  385.  The  occurrence  is  here 
related  with  the  remark  that,  if  the  salute  had  been  granted  to  M.  de  Frontenac, 
it  was  not  his  due. 
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De  Vaudreuil  did  not  lose  hope  of  the  appointment;  dis- 

cussin!4'  the  probabilit\'  shortly  after  with  an  officer,  who  told 
him,  that,  from  the  news  which  had  arrived  through  Albany, 
he  believed  M.  de  Callicres  would  be  named,  de  Vaudreuil 

replied  that  "he  would  taste  it  with  but  one  tooth."*  When 
the  appointment  was  known,  some  of  the  partisans  of  de  Vau- 

dreuil felt  some  embarrassment,  among  them  de  la  Durantaye, 
who  resigned  his  commission  to  be  appointed  to  the  Council 

at  Quebec,  the  small  emoluments  of  which  constituted  his 

sole  support.  De  Vaudreuil  was  named  Governor  of  Montreal, 
and  de  Ramezay  Commander  of  the  Forces. 

The  appointment  of  de  Callieres  was  notified  from  Ver- 
sailles, in  a  letter  addressed  to  himself  and  to  de  Champigny. 

The  King  expressed  the  wish,  that  the  Governor  and  the 
Intendant  should  live  in  amity,  and  he  informed  them,  that  he 

could  only  place  confidence  in  their  representations  jointly 

made.  He  directed  that,  in  case  of  difference  of  opinion,  each 
should  express  his  views  in  a  separate  despatch. 

The  death  of  de  Frontenac  became  known  to  the  Iroquois, 

and  in  spring  they  sent  a  deputation  to  Canada,  nominall)'  to 
express  their  sorrow  for  his  loss ;  they  had,  however,  ulterior 

views.  The)'  desired  to  learn,  to  what  extent  they  would  be 

aft'ected  by  the  peace  lately  proclaimed.  They  brought  three 
prisoners  to  Montreal,  and  invited  de  Callieres  to  conclude  a 

separate  peace  with  them,  antl  to  return  what  prisoners  of 

their  tribe  he  held.  The\-  asked  that  Father  l^ruyas  and  de 
Maricourt,  who  had  been  adopted  into  their  tribe,  and  some 
Indians  of  the  Mountain  and  the  Sault,  should  proceed  with 

them  to  Albany,  where  the  treaty  would  be  signed,  and  the 

prisoners  exchanged.  De  Callieres,  true  to  the  policy  of  de 
Frontenac,  refused  to  accept  these  conditions.  He  told  the 

Iroquois,  that  peace  only  coulo  be  discussed  at  IMontreal,  and 

that  thc\-  must  comply  with  the  conditions  which  M.  de  I'^ron- 
tcnac  had  imposed,  before  de  Maricourt  and  Father  Hruyas 

could  \isit  them.  He  granted  a  truce  of  sixty  daj's  for  the 
consideration  of  his  decision. 

*  •'  (Ju'il  n'en  taterait  que  d'une  dent."     Recueil,  etc.,  p.  59. 
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On  the  appointment  of  de  Callieres  becoming  known,  the 
Iroquois  sent  a  second  deputation  to  congratulate  him,  but  no 

steps  were  taken  towards  the  establishment  of  peace.  An 

opportunity,  however,  was  offered  to  de  Callieres  of  influencing 
them  through  their  jealousies.  He  had  received  from  Versailles 
a  letter  addressed  by  William  III.  to  the  Earl  of  Bellomont, 

directing  that  there  should  be  a  cessation  of  all  hostilities 
between  France  and  England  on  account  of  the  Iroquois, 

and,  if  necessary,  the  forces  of  New  England  and  New  l-'rance 
should  be  united  to  compel  the  five  nations  to  remain  at  peace. 
The  writer  of  this  letter  could  have  little  anticipated  the  use 

to  which  it  was  to  be  applied.  It  had  been  sent  through  the 
French  ambassador  to  Canada,  in  order  to  shew  the  desire  of 

the  English  Court,  thoroughly  to  carry  out  the  treaty;  and  the 
design  was,  that  it  should  be  forwarded  to  Albany,  and  all 
misvmderstanding  removed.  Bellomont  had  been  made 

acquainted  with  the  facts ;  and  previous  to  the  receipt  of  the 
letter  a  correspondence  had  taken  place  between  the  Governors. 
It  was  no  unimportant  weapon  to  place  in  the  hands  of  the 
French,  for  it  was  certain  to  be  used  without  scruple  in  the 

form  most  conducive  to  their  advantage.  In  place  of  accept- 
ing this  communication  in  the  spirit  in  which  it  was  written, 

as  a  mark  of  good  faith  and  good  feeling,  de  Callieres  sent  a 

copy  of  it  to  the  Onondagas  and  Senccas.  The  polic\-  of  the 
French,  was  to  detach  the  Iroquois  from  the  English  alliance; 
and  there  was  no  surer  mode  of  attaining  this  end,  than  by 

creating  the  belief  that  the  tribes  were  about  to  be  sacri- 
ficed by  the  authorities  of  New  York  ;  and  that  the  latter  had 

been  instructed  no  longer  to  give  them  countenance  and  pro- 
tection. An  attempt  had  been  made  to  awaken  their  jealous)', 

by  attributing  to  Schuyler  the  remark  made  when  in  Canada, 
that  the  Five  Nations  were  not  the  allies,  but  the  slaves  of 

New  York.  This  statement  did  not  make  much  impression ; 

but  the  King's  letter  to  Lord  Bellomont  was  of  a  different 
character.  It  went  to  the  extent,  of  the  abandonment  of  the 

Five  Nations  by  the  English  in  the  hour  of  need.  The 
French  also  had  assured  the  tribes  on  the  Western  Lakes,  that 
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they  were  included  in  the  peace,  and  that  if  attacked  by 

the  Iroquois,  the  French  would  intervene,  and  carry  hostility 
into  the  Iroquois  territory.  The  Five  Nations  were  thus 

wrought  upon  to  believe,  that  the  Fnglish  were  in  no  way  to 

aid  them  in  such  an  emergency ;  while  the  I'^-cnch  were  pre- 

pared with  the  Ottawas  and  Hurons,  on  .:'ight  pretence,  to 
attack  them.  In  July  the  Five  Nations  resolved,  with  a  view 

to  their  own  protection,  to  send  deputies  to  Canada,  to  make 
peace  with  de  Callieres. 

Bellomont  had  in  June  called  a  meeting  of  the  Sachems 
at  Albany,  and  had  exerted  himself  to  the  utmost  to 

re-assure  them  of  the  friendly  feelings  of  New  York.  He 
pointed  out,  that  it  was  better  for  them  to  be  included  in  a 
general  peace,  than  to  enter  into  engagements  on  their  own 

account.  Joined  with  New  York,  a  treaty  to  which  they  were 

a  party  could  not  be  violated,  without  the  whole  of  those  sub- 
.scribing  it  being  affected.  This  argument  was  not  lost,  and, 

had  it  been  possible,  they  would  have  recalled  their  messen- 
gers, but  it  was  too  late.  They,  however,  so  far  modified  their 

views,  as  to  insist  on  the  exchange  of  prisoners  taking  place  at 
Albany.  As  on  the  previous  occasion,  this  condition  was 

resisted ;  but  it  was  resolved  to  send  to  the  Onondagas  com- 
missioners from  Montreal,  empowered  to  make  a  preliminary 

settlement.  The  commissioners  were  de  Maricourt,  Joncaire 

and  heather  Bruyas.  They  were  received  with  unusual  cere- 
mony, when  de  Maricourt  presented  the  chiefs  with  four 

fathoms  of  tobacco.  A  feast  of  venison  and  grountl  Indian 

corn  followed.  No  representatives  of  the  Senecas,  or  of  the 

Caj'ugas,  were  present.  The  Oneidas,  although  expected,  did 
not  arrive.  The  envoys  were  however  brought  into  contact 
with  the  French  prisoners,  to  discover,  that  most  of  them 
refused  to  abandon  the  savage  life  which  they  had  adopted. 

A  council  was  called,  and,  when  it  assembled,  a  mes- 
senger from  Lord  Bellomont  arrived.  Me  cautioned  the 

Onondagas,  against  subjecting  themselves  to  French  influence, 
and  requested  their  attendance  at  Albany  in  twelve  days,  in 
order  that  their  relations  with  the  English  authorities  might 

'\ 
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be  discussed.  The  presence  of  this  envoy,  one  of  the  Schuy- 
lers  of  Albany,  caused  embarrassment  in  the  negotiations. 
The  French  were,  however,  never  wanting  in  address,  and 

they  availed  themselves  of  the  presence  of  Schuyler  himself, 

to  awaken  Indian  jealous}-.  They  pointed  out,  what  they 

called  the  haughtj-  tone  of  the  message,  and  strove  to  create 
the  feeling,  that  the  English  looked  upon  the  Iroquois  as 

slaves,  and  were  striving  to  prevent  them  from  holding  inter- 
course with  other  nations  when  they  desired  so  to  do.  Father 

Bru\-as  declared,  that  while  the  French  Governors  told  their 
Indian  children  everything,  the  English  kept  them  in  the  dark. 
When  the  Council  again  met,  Decanisora  requested  the 

English  to  attend.  He  told  them,  that  he  desired  their  pre- 
sence, in  order  that  they  might  learn,  that  he  was  about  to 

proceed  to  Quebec  to  plant  the  tree  of  peace,  and  that  on  his 

return  he  would  attend  at  Albanj'.  The  Canadian  deputies 

were  to  accompanj-  the  part}',  except  Father  Bruyas,  who 
offered  to  remain  at  Onondaga  to  conduct  the  religious  ser- 

vices there.  The  offer  was  refused,  and  the  Onondagas  told 

Father  Brux'as  that  the  English  had  engaged  to  send  mission- 
aries  to  instruct  them.  If  the  religious  assistance  was  not 

accepted,  the}'  agreed  to  receive  a  blacksmith,  to  remain  with 
the  tribe  to  give  the  material  aid  of  his  calling. 

The  Oneida  Indians  held  themselves  aloof;  Joncaire,  how- 
ever, succeeded  in  influencing  several  of  the  Senecas  to 

accompany  the  embas.sy ;  and  on  their  arrival  the  deputation 

started,  carr}'ing  with  them  the  few  captives  willing  to  return 
to  civilization. 

There  were  in  Montreal,  for  the  purpose  of  trade,  several 

of  the  \\'estern  Indians,  who  were  witnesses  of  the  reception 
given  to  the  Iroquois.  The  inhabitants  did  not  conceal  their 

gratification  at  their  presence,  for  it  was  regarded  as  an  affir- 
mation of  peace  ;  to  them  a  matter  of  serious  import.  It 

aftectcd  ever}'  relation  of  life;  not  simply  relieving  them  from 

danger  and  its  attendant  anxiet}',  but  opening  out  for  the 
future  an  enlarged  field  for  enterprise,  promising  an  assured 

reward.    Every  demonstration  of  satisfaction  was  shewn.    The 
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Western  Indians  did  not  feel  equal  comiilacency,  It  was 
an  intimation  to  them  tliat  their  own  importance  was  lessened  ; 

there  was  jealousy  and  dissatisfaction  on  their  parts  as  they 

looked  upon  these  livcl}'  marks  of  joy,  and  it  was  not  in  the 
best  of  humour  that  the\-  remarked,  that  the  fears  of  the 
French  led  them  to  shew  more  respect  to  their  enemies,  than 

love  made  them  testify  to  their  friends. 
On  their  arrival,  the  chiefs  were  addressed  by  dc  Callieres. 

One  of  the  Onondaj^as  replied,  expressing  a  strong  desire  for 
peace,  and  as  a  proof  of  this  feeling  stated,  that  the  Miamis 

and  other  Western  Indians,  who  had  acted  hostilely  towards 
them,  had  not  been  attacked.  One  of  their  requests  was,  that 
an  aniiourer  should  be  sent  to  Fort  Frontenac,  and  that  the 

place  might  be  supplied  with  goods,  to  be  furnished  as  cheaply 

as  they  could  be  obtained  from  Albany.  De  Louvigny  had  been 

appointed  commandant  at  Cataraqui.  The  value  of  this  fort 

in  affirming  French  power,  was  beginning  more  fully  to  be 

recognised,  and  the  determination  of  de  Frontenac  to  main- 
tain it  better  to  be  appreciated.  It  having  been  discovered 

that  de  Louvigny  had  traded  with  the  Iroquois,  he  had  been 

placed  under  arrest  b}'  de  Callieres.  One  of  the  requests 
made  by  the  Onondaga  envoys  was,  that  he  should  be  released 
and  restored  to  his  position.  They  likewise  brought  a  child 

with  them,  to  be  educated  in  Canada;  and  they  expressed  the 
intention  to  give  over  to  him  the  management  of  their  affairs, 

when  he  had  gained  the  proper  age.  De  Callieres,  in  accepting 

the  charge,  answered  the  \'arious  demands  as  satisfactorih'  as 
he  was  able,  and  undertook  to  request  the  Ottawas  to  deliver 

up  all  the  pri-soners  belonging  to  the  Five  Nations  in  their 

possession. 
Finally,  on  the  8th  of  September,  1700,  peace  was  signed 

between  the  French  and  the  tribes  of  Iroquois  who  were 

present,  as  a  distinct  obligation,  apart  from  all  reference  to 

New  York.  The  assembly  was  held  at  Saint  Gabriel,  in 
the  Seigneurial  house  of  the  Seminary  of  Saint  Sulpice.  The 
figurative  expression  of  the  settlement  arrived  at  was,  that 

their  father  gave   them  a  porringer,  with  a  knife  to  cut  the 
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meat,  and  a  initoiianiic  to  cat  the  soup  or  sagamite.  *  The 
attainment  of  this  peace  was  a  marked  diplomatic  success;  a 

moral  victory  over  the  English,  hereafter  to  be  followed  by 

important  consequences.  It  was  an  assertion  by  the  Onon- 
dagas  qf  independence  of  New  York  control,  and  on  the  part 

of  the  French  a  recognition  of  their  separate  and  distinct 
national  existence. 

The  French  population  amounted  only  to  15,000  souls;  even 

with  this  limited  number,  the  possession  of  Canada  could  be 
considered  to  be  perfectly  assured  against  disturbance  by 
Indian  attack.  Ue  Courtemanche,  with  Father  Angelran.were 

sent  to  inform  the  Western  Indians  that  peace  had  been 
made  with  the  Iroquois,  to  enforce  its  general  acceptance,  and 
obtain  the  release  of  the  Iroquois  prisoners  before  the  month 

of  August,  in  order  to  admit  of  their  exchange  with  those 

held  by  the  Five  Nations.  De  Callieres  directed  that  the 

prisoners  .should  be  brought  to  Montreal,  and  the  exchange 
made  in  his  presence.  One  special  duty  assigned  to  de 

Courtemanche  was,  to  quiet  the  hostilities  which  had  com- 
menced in  the  west,  irrespective  of  the  Iroquois.  The 

Ottawas  were  at  war  with  the  Sioux,  who  had  themselves 

destro}-ed  a  village  of  the  Miamis  ;  and  on  all  sides,  whether 
from  revenge  or  policy,  the  most  antagonistic  feeling 
affected  the  different  tribes. 

De  Tonty,  at  that  period  in  command  at  Michilimackinac, 
was  instructed  to  order  the  French  and  Canadians  in  ihe 

neighbourhood  to  return  to  Montreal.  M.  de  Frontenac  was 
never  influenced  by  M.  de  Champigny  in  this  respect  ;  but, 

during  his  government,  de  Callieres  had  expressed  disap- 
probation of  the  course  followed  by  the  con  rat  rs  de  bois.  Now 

that  dc  Champigny  was  admitted  to  the  position  of  joining 

in  all  representations  made  to  Versailles,  his  views  obtained 

greater  weight.  The  assent  of  de  Callieres  must  ha\c  been 
reluctantly  given,  for  only  a  few  months  previously  he  had 

*  Recueil  de  qui  s'est  passe,  etc.,  p.  60.  "  Que  leur  pere  leur  donnait  ime 
gamelle,  dans  laquelle  il  y  mit  un  couteau  pour  couper  les  viandes,  et  une 

micimanne  pour  manger  la  soupe  ou  sagamite." 
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written  to  the  Minister,  in  relation  to  the  efforts  of  the 

Enj^dish  of  New  York  to  trade  with  the  Western  Indians,  that 

the  only  remedy  against  the  enterprise  was  to  re-establish  the 
system  of  granting  licenses  to  traders  in  the  West,  for  those 

obtaining  them  acted  as  a  garrison  in  the  country.* 
Twenty  only  obeyed  this  order,  eighty-four  resolved  to 

cast  their  fortunes  on  the  Mississippi.  Thirty  of  them  at 

that  time  had  already  descended  the  river  with  ten  canoes, 

carrying  away  the  furs  in  their  possession, in  reality  the  property 
of  the  traders  in  iMontreal,  who  had  advanced  the  means  by 

which  the  furs  had  been  obtained.  The  example  w^is  fol- 
lowed by  those  who  remained  behind  ;  and  thus  the  first 

result  of  the  reversal  of  de  Frontenac's  policy,  was  this  loss  to 
IMontreal.  The  men  refused  to  submit  to  what,  in  their  \iew, 

was  the  monotonous  toil,  privation  and  poverty  which  marked 

the  settler's  life.  Dc  Champigny's  interference  with  trade 
in  order  to  carrj^  out  his  theory,  that  beaver  should  seek 
Canada,  not  the  Canadians  seek  the  beaver,  led  to  the  peltry 

finding  its  way  to  the  Mississippi.  D'Iberville  was  at  this 
date  in  Louisiana.  It  will  be  my  duty,  in  another  place,  to 

describe  his  voyages.  He  received  the  skins,  giving  powder 

in  exchange  for  them,  while  some  of  his  men  traded  with 
the  Canadians  in  goods. 

D'Iberville  wrote  to  Montreal  and  recounted  the  event. 
De  Callieres  in  much  anger  reported  to  the  King  what  had 

taken  place,  stigmatizing  the  conduct  of  these  men  as  open 

robbery.  He  expres.sed  his  surprise  that  d'Iberville  had  not 
communicated  with  him,  and  that  he  had  not  himself  been 

notified,  that  the  new  Mississippi  colony  was  independent  of 
the  general  government  of  Canada.  lie  recommended  the 
arrest  of  the.se  men,  and,  that  unless  they  returned  to  Canada 

by  the  following  July,  they  should  be  sent  to  the  gallej-s  ; 
likewise,  that,  as  the  trade  in  beaver  strictly  appertained  to 
Canada,  no  furs  should  be  sent  to  the  Mississippi. 

*  De  Callieres  to  the  Minister,  2nd  June,  1699.  Pari.  -M.S.  Uoc,  2ncl  -Series, 

VIII.,  p.  393.  "Je  ne  vols  pas  qu'il  y  eui5t  d'autres  remedes  pour  empccher 
CCS  enterprises,  que  le  retablissement  des  corps  qui  serviraient  de  garnison  ilans 

ces  quartiers-la." 
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Now  that  peace  with  the  Iroquois  had  been  obtained,  de 

CaUiercs  felt  tiiat  it  was  necessarj-  to  profit  b)'  its  advantages. 
He  had  heard  that  liellomont  desii,nicd  to  construct  forts  in 

some  of  the  villai^es  of  the  I'^ivc  Nations,  and  he  asked  in- 
structions as  to  the  course  he  should  take.  His  views  were, 

that,  if  France  could  not  obtain  the  boundaries  which  were  in 

his  view  desirable,  the  countrj-  should  be  declared  neutral,  and 

that  the  Indians  should  be  left  at  libert}'  to  choose  their  reli- 
gious teachers.  De  Callicrcs  had  no  doubt  that  the  choice 

would  be  made  in  favour  of  the  French  mi.ssionarics.  who  went 

among  them,  and  became  identified  with  their  pursuits,  and 

were  domesticated  in  their  villages.  The  English  mission- 
aries lived  mostly  at  Alb.ui_,.  There  is  little  record  of  their 

zeal  or  devotion;  their  very  names  arc  unknown. 
The  French  missionary  priest  took  a  pride  in  his  calling, 

and  was  impressed  with  the  political  significance  attached  to 

his  position,  and  the  influence  which  he  could  exerci.se.  Many, 
indeed,  in  this  view  lost  sight  of  the  moral  obligations  of  their 

position,  forgetting  that  they  were  ministers  of  the  religion  of 

peace,  and  became  apostles  of  cruelty  and  bloodshed.  But 
their  devotion  to  the  duties  entrusted  to  them  was,  in  most 

cases,  unfailing;  many  were  marked  by  great  diplomatic 
talent  and  judgment,  and  they  included  men  who  attained 
their  ends  by  moderation,  without  violent  counsels.  With 

others,  especiall)'  those  controlling  the  Abcnakis  on  the 
frontier  of  New  England,  it  was  painfully  the  reverse,  and  a 

long  record  of  blood.shed  and  devastation  clings  to  their 
memory. 

De  Callicres  reported  *  the  case  of  de  Louvigny,  who  had 
been  placed  in  command  at  Cataraqui,  with  injunctions  not 
to  engage  in  trade.  From  private  information,  de  Callicrcs 

became  acquainted  with  the  transactions  in  which  de  Lou- 

vignj-  had  embarked.     When  the  cargo  of  peltry  arrived   in 

*  October  16,  1700.  It  was  the  fir-;t  letter  .addressed  by  de  Cnllieres  to  the 
younger  de  Pontch.irtrain.  The  ehler  LouLs  Phelypeaiix  had  siiccetded  de  Sci- 
gnelay  in  1690.  In  1699,  he  w.as  appointed  Chancellor,  and  his  position  was 
transferred  to  his  son  Jerome,  who  filled  the  oftice  until  1715. 
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Montreal,  it  was  seized  and  placed  in  the  King's  stores.  Do 
Louvijj;ny  and  the  other  officers  in  the  post  were  relieved  and 
placed  under  arrest.  It  may  be  remembered,  that  his  release 

was  one  of  the  requests  made  by  the  Ononda^^'ls.  A  contem- 
porary* mentions  the  affair,  in  a  way  to  relieve  de  Louvigny 

of  discredit.  On  his  arrival  at  Cataraqui,  the  Iroquois  who 

visited  him  offered  to  bring  peltry  to  the  fort,  in  place  of  car- 
rying them  to  the  English.  As  these  furs  amounted  in  value 

to  60,000  livrcs,  it  ajipeared  to  de  Louvigny  a  matter  worthy 
of  consideration,  and  he  addressed  himself  to  a  trader  of 

Montreal  named  Soumande.  The  latter  accepted  the  enter- 
prise, and  sent  up  the  necessary  goods  for  barter;  and,  in  order 

to  prevent  official  interference,  obtained  the  interest  of  the 

Aide-Major  Clerain.  The  Jesuits  of  the  Sault  heard  of  this 
transaction,  and  brought  it  to  the  notice  of  de  Callieres  so 

repeatedly,  that  the  Governor  was  forced  to  order  the  seizure 

of  the  can^o,  and  instructions  to  act  were  given  to  Clerain. 
Instead  of  notifying  Soumande,  in  whose  interest  he  was 

supposed  to  be,  he  changed  sides,-}-  and  made  the  seizure. 
The  operation  was  favourable'  looked  upon  in  Montreal,  as  it 
diverted  to  that  city  60,000  livrcs  of  property  which  otherwise 
would  ha\e  found  its  way  to  Albany.  Le  Corne  relieved  de 

Louvigny  at  Cataraqui. 

De  Callieres  proposed  to  bring  de  Louvigny  before  a  coun- 
cil of  war;  de  Champigny,  on  the  contrary,  desired  to  submit 

the  case  to  the  Conseil  Souverain;  dc  Callieres  unwillingly 

agreed  to  this  view,  for  he  considered  de  Louvignj'  to  ha\e 
been  guilty  of  disobedience  of  orders,  and  was  unfavourable 
to  him  in  the  military,  as  in  the  commercial,  consideration  of 
his  conduct.  The  Council  confiscated  the  furs,  but  left  to  the 

consideration  of  the  King  the  question  of  any  personal  sen- 
tence. De  Louvigny  appealed  against  the  decision.  De 

Callieres,  on  his  part,  protested  against  the  lenity  as  injurious 

to  discipline,  and  asked  that  regulations  should  be  laid  down 
for  the  treatment  of  cases  of  this  character.     He  suggested 

*  Recueil  de  ce  qui  s'est  passe,  etc.,  p.  60. 
+  "  Tourna  cassaque." 
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that  the  property  confiscated  should  be  granted  to  Madame 
de  Frontcnac,  as  the  transaction  had  taken  place  on  land 

assicjncd,  for  advances  made  b)*  her  husband  to  de  La  Salle, 
for  the  construction  of  the  fort.* 
The  harvest  of  1700  proved  singularly  unproductive. 

Owing  to  the  demand  of  the  services  of  the  men  elsewhere, 
the  land  had  become  neglected,  and  had  been  imperfectly 

cultivated  by  women  and  children.  Throughout  the  colony 
there  was  a  scarcity  of  the  necessaries  of  life.  In  the  country 

settlements,  many  were  reduced  to  live  on  roots,  while  in  the 
cities,  this  poor  resource  was  not  available,  and  the  suffering 
was  greater.  Even  those  who  in  ordinary  times  were  in  easy 
circumstances,  underwent  privation.  Fortunately,  there  was 

no  war,  but  there  was  positive  want. 

The  peace  encouraged  the  Irociuois  to  resume  their  hunting 

expeditions  on  the  northern  shore  of  Lake  Ontario.  On  one 
occasion,  with  their  ancient  arrogance,  they  infringed  a  law  of 
Indian  life.  One  of  their  parties  attacked  a  beaver  meadow, 

bearing  the  customary  mark,  in  token  that  it  had  been  taken 

possession  of  by  some  Ottawas,  The  principle  was  recognised 
with  Indian  hunters,  that  those  first  discovering  a  beaver  dam 

and  placing  a  mark  to  denote  possession,  obtained  control  of 
it,  free  from  interference.  It  could  oniy  be  disturbed  in  cases 
of  extreme  hunger,  when  a  beaver  could  be  taken  and  eaten. 

The  aggrieved  party,  the  Ottawas,  being  the  stronger,  attacked 
the  Iroquois,  who,  in  violating  the  custom,  had  inflicted  the 

injury,  and  carried  away  some  of  them  as  prisoners. 
The  Iroquois  proceeded  to  Montreal  to  lay  their  complaint 

before  de  Callieres,  and  to  demand  that  the  prisoners  should 

be  released.  De  Callieres  promised  his  interference  to  obtain 
for  them  satisfaction,  and  they  returned  to  their  homes  to 
await  the  result.  In  the  month  of  May,  a  deputation  again 

appeared  to  repeat  the  demand  for  redress,  and,  what  in  reality 
was  the  true  object  of  the  delegation,  to  ask  if  it  were  true, 
that  there  was  an  intention  to  construct  a  fort  at  Detroit.     It 

*  MS.  Pari.  Doc,  Vol.  VIII.     De  Callieres  to  Minister,  7th  October,  1700, 
p.  117  ;  de  Louvigny  to  Minister,  6th  November,  1700,  p.  107. 
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399 had  Irm^f  been  the  purpose  of  de  Callicrcs  to  carry  out  this 
policy,  and  he  had  so  reported  to  the  Kin^.  While  in  every 

\\a)-  possible  he  strove  to  satisfy  tlie  Iroquois  with  regard  to  tlie 
conduct  of  the  Ottawas,  he  took  higher  ground  on  the  subject 

of  the  fort  at  Detroit.  He  declared  it  to  be  French  territory, 
and  that  neither  the  English,  nor  the  Iroquois,  had  any  right 

to  interfere  regarding  it.  It  was  not  his  intention  to  permit 
the  English  to  take  possession  of  the  country,  as  they  were 

desirous  of  doing.  1  le  should  himself  occupy  it,  for  the  advan- 
tages it  offered,  for  the  benefit  of  France  and  her  allies.  He 

was  desirous  of  establishing  peace  in  the  west,  and  had 
instructed  the  officer  in  command  to  accomodate  all  quarrels 
between  the  tribes,  and  tf>  obtain  for  all  frcetlom  to  hunt. 

Whether  the  English  wcreac(|uaintcd  with  his  purpose  or  not, 

was  not  of  importance  to  the  Iro(]Uois.  It  might  be  expected, 
that  the  English  would  endeavour  to  hinder  his  operations, 
and  prevent  the  success  of  his  project.  What  he  asked  from 
the  Iroquois  was,  not  to  interfere  in  the  quarrel  between  the 

French  and  English,  but  to  keep  themselves  neutral. 
The  chiefs  promised  this  neutrality,  and  recpiested  that  the 

deputation  of  last  year  should  again  proceed  to  their  hoiirgadc, 
to  aid  in  bringing  the  French  captives  to  Montreal.  Father 

Bruyas,  de  Marincourt  and  Joncairc,  accordingly  returned 

with  them.  On  their  arrival  they  found  a  messenger  from 

Bellomont,  Abraham  Schu\-ler,  requesting  the  chiefs  to  attend 
a  conference  at  New  York  with  the  English  Governor. 

A  Council  was  summoned,  when  Father  Ikuj'as  was  re- 
quested to  escort  the  released  prisoners  to  Montreal,  and  to 

conclude  the  general  peace  so  happily  begun  last  autumn. 

Bruyas  pointed  out  that,  if  the  Iroquois  were  absent  in  the 
general  assembly,  their  voices  would  not  be  heard.  Three 
days  afterwards,  Decanisora  informed  the  French  deputation 
of  the  willingness  of  the  tribe  to  release  their  prisoners,  and 

of  their  desire  equally  to  live  in  peace  with  the  two  countries. 
Five  deputies  would,  therefore,  leave  for  Montreal,  and  three 

for  Albany.  When  the  question  arose  of  bringing  the  pri- 
soners together  and  arranging  for  their  departure,  five  only 
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consented  to  rejoin  their  countrymen  ;  th?  remainder  preferred 
to  remain  in  their  savatje  life. 

Joncaire,  always  active  and  capable,  had  proceeded  to  the 

Cayugas  and  Senecas,  and  had  succeeded  in  similarly  iiithi- 
encing  them.  He  appeared  with  the  prisoners  he  had 

prevailed  on  to  return,  and  the  whole  party  started  for  Mont- 
real; where  they  arrived  on  the  21st  of  July.  On  the  follow- 
ing day  a  motley  crowd  of  Western  Indians,  who  had  been 

assembled  at  Michilimackinac  by  Father  Angelran  and  de 
Courtemanche  from  around  the  western  lakes,  disembarked  at 

Montreal.  Many  of  them  clung  to  the  desire  to  continue  the 
war.  The  Potowatamies,  the  Outgamis,  the  Hurons,  the 

Miamis,  were  united  in  this  wish.  The  Illinois  and  the  Kas- 
kaskias  were  also  present,  the  latter  desirous  of  attacking  the 
Kansas.  De  Courtemanche  was  in  command  of  this  curious 

combination,  which  included  some  of  the  Lake  Michigan 

tribes.  They  were  in  one  hundred  and  fifty  canoes,  and  the 
the  Indians  numbered  little  short  of  eight  hundred  men. 

Thirty  canoes,  in  descending  the  river,  were  left  behind  at 
different  spots. 

Among  those  present  was  Kondiaronk,  "  Le  Rat,"  the 
Huron  chief,  who,  in  de  Denonville's  day,  had  "killed  the 
peace."  He  had  become  a  Christian,  and  was  devoted  to 
French  interests.  Although  suffering  from  severe  illness,  he 

had  descended  with  his  tribe;  the  fatigues  of  the  journey  in 

his  weak  condition  had  taxed  his  strength,  incapable  of  re- 
sisting this  strain  upon  it.  When  the  Council  met,  he  was 

one  of  the  principal  spokesmen,  and  in  his  figurative  language 
announced  to  de  Callieres  that  the  journey  had  been  made 

only  from  the  desire  of  seeing  him. 

The  Council  met  on  the  25th  of  July,  1701.  After  the 

request  universally  made,  that  merchandise  should  '  -^  given  at 
a  moderate  price,  Kondiaronk,  and  a  Miami  chief,  Chickikalolo, 

complained  that  they  had  brought  down  their  prisoners  to 
exchange  them,  but  that  those  of  the  Iroquois  had  been  left 

in  their  villages.  Each  chief  who  spoke  repeated  the  rc- 

p»-oach,  with  the  accusation  that  the  Iroquois  had  broken  faith. 
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The  Iroquois  explained  that  the  majority  of  the  captives, 
from  having  been  taken  in  early  youth,  did  not  know  their 

parents,  and  hence  it  had  not  been  possible  to  bring  them. 

The  remark  even  increased  the  ill  feeling.  Finally,  the  dis- 
satisfaction was  somewhat  removed,  and,  from  the  generally 

felt  desire  for  peace,  discord  was  avoided.  On  the  ist  of 

August,  while  a  Huron  chief  was  speaking,  Kondiaronk  was 
suddenly  taken  ill.  Remedies  were  administered  to  him ; 

when  he  had  recovered,  he  was  placed  in  an  arm-chair  in  the 
centre  of  the  meeting.  He  addressed  those  present,  dwelling 

upon  his  own  efforts  to  obtain  a  permanent  peace,  pointing 

out  its  advantages,  and  how  indispensable  it  was  to  all  con- 

cerned. He  concluded  by  impressively  appealing  to  de  Cal- 
licres,  that  hereafter  he  would  so  act,  that  the  confidence  they 
had  placed  in  him  should  not  be  a  matter  of  reproach.  He 

remained  at  the  meeting  until  its  close,  when  he  was  carried 
to  the  Hotel  Dieu,  where  he  died  the  following  night,  receiving 
the  rites  of  the  Roman  Catholic  Church. 

There  is  much  in  Kondiaronk's  last  hours  to  recall  that 
Roman  fortitude,  which  stoically  sank  all  thoughts  of  self  in 

the  consideration  of  the  public  weal.  His  journey  to  Mont- 
real in  ill  health  was  only  in  the  interest  of  his  tribe.  The  one 

consideration  was  whether  peace  or  war  was  to  prevail;  the 

former  involved  the  abandonment  of  hostility  against  the 

hereditary  enemy  of  his  race.  The  Iroquois  had  driven  his 

ancestry  from  their  homes  and  possessions,  almost  to  entire 
destruction,  from  which  his  tribe  was  slowly  recovering,  to 

regain  some  political  consequence.  Knowing  that  he  was 
held  in  esteem  by  the  French,  he  had  been  sustained  by  the 

hope  of  directing  their  counsels  to  the  common  benefit;  he 

had  felt  that  it  might  be  necessary  ♦^o  arou.sc,  or  restrain  his 
tribe,  in  forming  the  policy  of  the  future.  To  perform  this 
last  act  of  devotion  to  their  interests,  he  sacrificed  his  life. 

Kondiaronk's  body  was  exposed  in  the  dress  of  his  rank, 
that  of  a  captain  of  the  marine  corps,  for  which  he  received 

pay  and  allowances.  He  was  buried  in  the  parish  church  of 

Montreal;  the  leading  officials,  headed   by  de  Vaudrcuil,  a 
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large  staff  of  officers,  ti'e  troops  in  the  garrison,  with  the 
Indians  present  in  Montreal,  attended  the  ceremony. 

The  non-production  of  the  prisoners  by  the  Iroquois, 
remained  a  matter  of  dissatisfaction.  On  their  side,  the  repre- 

sentatives of  the  Five  Nations  complained  of  the  disbelief 

with  which  their  explanations  were  received.  They  declared 

thai:  if  an  engagement  on  their  part  to  return  the  prisoners 

were  accepted,  there  should  be  no  cause  for  regret  that  their 
word  had  been  trusted.  De  Callicres  dwelt  on  the  ground 

of  complaint  which  they  themselves  had  furnished,  by  failing 

to  bring  their  prisoners  with  them.  He  undertook,  however, 
as  far  as  possible,  to  remove  the  objections  entertained  by  the 

Western  Indians,  and  to  soothe  the  discontent  they  felt. 
The  death  of  Kondiaronk,  the  dramatic  circumstances  under 

which  it  had  taken  place,  his  last  words  pleading  for  peace, 
and  his  earnest  advice  to  keep  friendly  relations  with  the 

Iroquois,  greatly  influenced  opinion  ;  and  the  tribes  of  the 
western  lakes  accordingly  agreed  to  accept  the  arbitration  of 
de  Callieres. 

The  general  conditions  being  accepted,  it  only  remained 
to  sign  the  treaty  formally.  There  was  the  additional  reason 

that  it  was  the  hottest  season  of  the  j'ear,  and  one  of  those 
periodical  maladies  with  which  the  Indians  were  afflicted  from 
their  want  of  care  and  cleanliness,  began  to  show  itself  The 
French  inhabitants  likewise  commenced  to  feel  uneasiness,  for 

the  presence  of  these  tribes  under  these  circumstances  was 

not  desirable.  Accordingly,  on  the  4th  of  August,  a  general 
assembly  was  again  called,  when  the  final  ceremonies  took 

place. Outside  of  the  city,  a  space  was  artificially  enclosed  with 

young  saplings,  with  a  covered  pavilion  at  one  end.  The 
Governor,  the  Intendant,  M.  de  Vaudreuil,  the  principal 

officials,  the  officers  of  the  garrison,  the  clergy,  were  in  aiLcnd- 
ance.  All  the  accessories  which  could  give  weight  to  the 
ceremony  were  observed.  De  Callieres  addressed  the  Indians, 

thirteen  hundred  in  number,  regularly  marshalled  and  placed 

by  tribes.     He  told  them  that  last  year  peace  had  been  estab- 
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lished,  but  at  that  time  the  Hurons  and  Ottawas  alone  were 

present.  Accordingly,  he  had  called  upon  the  other  tribes  to 

meet  him,  in  order  that  they  might  solemnly  bury  the  hatchet; 
and  the  hour  was  come  to  do  so  forever.  Hereafter,  he  would 

be  the  arbiter  in  their  differences,  and,  in  the  event  of  any 

tribe  having  to  complain  of  injury,  he  would  himself  exact 
satisfaction  from  the  aggressor. 

The  speech  was  translated  to  the  Abenakis,  the  Algonquins, 

the  Hurons,  the  Ottawas,  the  Illinois,  the  Miamis  and  the  Iro- 

quois. Wampum  belts  were  given,  and  each  tribe  expressed 
its  satisfaction  and  adherence  to  the  views  of  de  Callicres. 

The  chiefs  in  turn  advanced,  and  transferred  to  dc  Callicres 

the  Iroquois  prisoners  they  had  brought.  All  were  dressed 
in  conformity  with  the  custom  of  their  tribes.  One  was 

covered  with  a  buffalo's  head  and  horns  ;  another  over  a 
face  daubed  with  vermilion  wore  a  shabby  peruque  which  took 

the  place  of  a  hat,  and  the  wearer  gravely  raised  it  to  salute 
de  Callicres.  The  unrestrained  laughter  which  followed,  he 

accepted  as  applause.  The  hair  of  another  was  formed  into 

a  p\*ramid  to  represent  the  comb  of  a  cock,  from  which 
flaunted  a  red  feather.  One  wore  a  large  robe  of  beaver  to 

trail  behind  him.  But,  however  dressed,  the  chiefs  advanced 

imperturbable,  calm  and  self-contained,  fully  impressed  with 
their  own  power  and  authority.  Each  addressed  some  words 

to  the  Governor.  It  was  now  the  turn  of  the  Iroquois  to 
declare  themselves.  Expressing  himself  satisfied  with  all 

that  had  been  done,  the  speaker  gave  his  assurance  that  the 

tribe  would  fulfil  its  engagement.  "  As  to  the  slaves  which 

we  have  not  brought,"  he  continued,  "you  are  masters  in  this 

matter,  and  you  will  send  to  seek  them."  * 
The  calumet  was  brought;  it  was  passed  to  dc  Callicres,  to 

de  Champigny  and  to  de  Vaudreuil,  each  of  whom  smoked 
from  it  ceremoniously,  to  shew  his  acceptance  of  the  treaty, 

*  "Ononthio,  nous  sommes  contents  de  lout  ce  tjue  tu  as  fait  :  voild  nos  pa- 

roles pour  t'assurer  que  nous  serons  tideles  a  remplir  nos  engagements.  Quant 
aux  esclaves  que  nous  n'avons  point  amenes,  tu  en  est  le  maitre,  et  tu  les  enverras 

chercher." 
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and  it  passed  from  the  French  to  the  tribes  of  the  west,  on  to 

the  Iroquois.  A  "  Te  Deum  "  was  sung,  a  feast  was  given, 
and  presents  were  distributed  to  the  Indians.  The  Iroquois 

were  specially  exhorted  to  remain  neutral  in  any  future  diffi- 
culty between  the  French  and  English,  and  not  to  allow  forts 

to  be  constructed  in  their  territory.  De  Callieres  explained 
the  establishment  of  the  fort  at  Detroit,  and  stated  that  it 

was  his  policy  to  exclude  the  English  of  New  York  from 

proceeding  thither. 
A  few  days  after  the  tribes  had  separated,  a  deputation  of 

the  Mohawks  arrived,  and  declared  their  acceptance  of  the 

treaty.  There  remained  only  one  condition  to  complete  the 

triumph  of  the  French  ;  the  re-establishment  of  the  Jesuit 
missions.  Early  in  1702.  news  was  brought  of  the  death  of 
Garaconthie,  and  a  deputation  arrived  from  Onondaga,  asking 
that  a  mission  should  be  established.  De  Maricourt  had  suc- 

ceeded in  obtaining  the  introduction  of  the  French  priests. 

If  the  Onondagas  did  not  show  remarkable  fervour  as  con- 
verts, the  missionaries  themselves  crefully  watched  French 

interests,  to  counteract  the  influence  of  New  York;  and  it 

was  no  little  owing  to  their  efforts  that  this  influence  failed 
to  increase  in  strength. 

The  peace  following  the  Treaty  of  Ryswick  proved  of 

short  duration.  In  September,  1701,  James  II.  died  at  St. 
Germains,  when  Louis  XIV.  recognised  his  son,  under  tKe 

title  of  James  III.,  as  King  of  England. 

When  this  act  had  been  performed  and  its  significance 

understood,  an  attempt  was  made  to  explain  it  away.  The 

ceremony  was  spoken  of  as  an  act  of  courtesy  to  an  unfor- 
tunate family,  near  relations  of  the  King;  the  title  meant 

nothing,  and  was  without  significance ;  there  was  no  intention 

to  insult  the  English  government;  the  Treaty  of  Ryswick 
would  be  observed,  and  no  at:cmpt  to  weaken  the  authority 
of  King  William  would  be  permitted  in  France. 

It  was  in  vain.  The  English  ambassador  at  Paris  received 

instructions  to  quit  France  without  taking  leave.  The  French 

ambassador  was   ordered    to  depart    from    London.      When 
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the  news  became  known  in  England,  there  was  a  feeHng 

of  intense  indignation,  of  passionate  rage,  even  of  amaze- 
ment, that  so  wanton  an  insult  should  have  been  directed 

against  a  powerful  nation.  These  feelings  were  to  some 
degree  intensified  by  the  conduct  of  the  French  King  in 
having  disregarded,  a  few  months  previous,  the  Treaty  which 
he  had  entered  into  with  regard  to  the  Spanish  succession. 

In  1698,  negotiations  had  been  carried  on  to  obtain  a  set- 
tlement of  this  question,  the  main  principle  of  which  was,  that 

the  crowns  of  France  and  Spain  should  not  be  placed  on  one 

head.  Charles  II.,  then  King  of  Spain,  was  shattered,  body 
and  mind.  His  eldest  sister,  who  had  married  Louis  XIV., 

on  the  ceremonj'  taking  place,  had  renounced,  in  her  own 
name  and  on  behalf  of  her  posterity,  all  claim  to  the  Spanish 

crown  ;  an  act  confirmed  by  the  Cortes.  The  younger  sister 

had  become  the  wife  of  Leopold,  Emperor  of  German}*,  and 
had  likewise  made  a  renunciation  of  her  rights  ;  but  the  act 

had  not  been  confirmed.  The  daughter  of  this  marriage  was 

now  the  wife  of  the  Elector  of  Bavaria.  The  Emperor  Leopold 
was  himself  a  son  of  the  daughter  of  Philip  III.,  and  was  thus 
cousin  to  the  Spanish  King. 

To  prevent  Spain  from  becoming  the  appendage  of  either 
Austria  or  France,  the  Emperor  offered  to  transfer  his  rights 
to  his  second  son,  the  Archduke  Charles  ;  on  his  side,  the 

King  of  France  desired  that  the  younger  son  of  the  Dauphin, 

Philip.  Duke  of  Anjou,  should  ascend  the  Spanish  throne. 

In  Spain,  the  country  immediately  interested,  the  prevailing 
sentiment  was  that  the  Empire  should  be  kept  intact,  and 

transmitted  to  the  next  monarch  in  no  way  dismembered. 

The  King  accordingl)-  made  a  will,  naming  the  Electoral 
Prince  of  Bavaria  his  heir.  Shortly  afterwards,  the  Electoral 

Prince  himself  died,  and  the  question  was  thrown  back  into 

its  old  complications.  A  new  treaty  was  entered  into  by  the 

three  powers,  the  Emperor,  Holland  and  England,  by  which 
it  was  agreed  that  Spain,  the  Indies,  and  Netherlands  should 

be  possessed  by  the  Archduke  Charles,  and  that  P'rance 
should  receive  an  equivalent;  the  Milanese  or  some  acquis!- 
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tion,  Lorraine  being  named.  The  news  was  received  in  Spain 

with  great  indignation.  The  Ambassador  in  London  was 
instructed  to  remonstrate  with  the  English  Ministry,  and  he 

carried  out  his  instructions  so  insolently  that  he  was  ordered 

to  leave  the  country,  while  the  English  and  Dutch  Ambassa- 
dors were  curtly  dismissed  from  Madrid. 

On  the  3rd  of  November,  1700,  Charles  expired,  having 

bequeathed  the  Spanish  throne  to  Philip,  Duke  of  Anjou. 

Louis  had  not  a  moment's  hesitation  in  breaking  the  Treaty 
with  England  and  Holland,  and  sent  his  grandson  to  take 
immediate  possession  of  the  throne. 

James  II.  died  on  the  i6th  of  September,  1701,  and  in  the 

ten  months'  interval,  between  the  assumption  of  the  Spanish 
Crown  by  the  Duke  of  Anjou  and  that  event,  there  had  been 
little  to  shew  that  the  English  people  felt  particularly  aggrieved 

by  this  union  of  the  two  Crowns,  or  were  prepared  to  resent 
it  at  the  cost  of  blood  and  treasure. 

William  himself  was  fast  sinking  from  disease.  He  was 

only  fifty-two,  when  the  judgment  has  reached  its  fullest 
power,  and,  in  ordinary  circumstances,  the  physical  strength  is 
little  impaired.  His  impulse  had  been  at  once  to  declare  war, 
but  he  felt  that  he  could  not  command  public  feeling.  The 

leading  men  in  England  were  sullen  and  discontented. 

"  There  was  a  deadness  and  want  of  spirit  in  the  nation, 

universally."*  And  it  was  in  this  condition  of  feeling  that  the 
King  of  France  insulted  the  English  nation  by  acknowledg- 

ing as  King  of  England  a  child,  a  foreigner,  and  a  Roman 

Catholic,  "bred  up  in  the  principles  of  the  most  arbitrary 

government."  t 
The  revulsion  of  feeling  was  immediate.  William  returned 

to  London  the  first  day  of  November,  1701.  His  presence 
created  an  enthusiasm,  only  drawn  forth  on  important 

occasions  in  Great  Britain.     Deputation  after  deputation  from 
*  .Someis. 

+  Queen  Anne's  .Speech  in  the  House  of  Lords,  1st  April,  170S,  after  the 
unsuccessful  expedition  of  Chevalier  de  Forbin  against  Scotland  in  the  intere>t  of 
the  Pretender. 
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every  part  of  the  country  waited  upon  him,  to  express  loyalty 
and  devotion  from  all  ranks.  On  all  sides  were  to  be  met 

marks  of  attachment  to  his  person,  and  joy  at  his  safe  return. 
After  some  deliberation,  he  determined  to  dissolve  parliament, 
and  writs  for  a  new  election  were  issued. 

Parliament  met  in  December.  It  was  soon  discovered  that 

its  character  represented  the  public  feeling  .so  powerfully 
awakened.  William  had  previously  formed  another  coalition 
on  the  continent,  and  what  was  required  was  its  affirmation  by 

the  English  parliament.  The  Commons  voted  war  supplies, 

and  resolved  that  the  army  and  navy  should  each  consist  of 
40,000  men,  a  total  of  80,000  men.  The  Lords  declared  that 

they  were  prepared  to  support  resistance  to  the  encroachments 

of  France,  and  protested  against  the  French  King's  declaration 
in  favour  of  the  Pretender.  The  Pretender  himself  was 

attainted  by  Act  of  Parliament.  These  measures  were  only 

the  preliminaries  to  the  declaration  of  war. 
On  the  20th  of  February,  William  was  riding  in  Hampton 

Court  Park,  when  his  horse  stumbled,  and  fell  on  his  knees. 

The  sudden  jolt  threw  the  King  from  his  seat,  and  he  broke  his 

collar  bone.  The  injury  was  serious;  the  more  so,  that  on  his 

return  to  Kensington,  the  jolting  of  the  coach  dislocated  the 

fracture,  and  it  had  to  be  reset.  He  became  dangerouslj-  ill. 
On  the  28th  of  February,  the  Commons  listened  to  his  last 

message,  which  called  upon  them  to  effect  the  union  between 

the  kingdoms  of  England  and  Scotland. 

On  Monday,  the  8th  of  March,  between  the  hours  of  seven 
and  eight  of  the  morning,  the  great  King  died.  He  met  his 
end  with  the  calm  fortitude  which  marked  his  noble  life.  To 

all  who  approached  him  he  shewed  gracious  and  thoughtful 
kindness;  no  superstitious  terrors  disturbed  his  last  hours, 
but  he  had  no  wish  to  die.  He  desired  to  live  to  take  part 

in  the  struggle  to  which  he  had  devoted  the  best  energies  of 
his  genius  and  strength.  No  complaint  escaped  him.  From 

time  to  time  he  appeared  silently  to  be  engaged  in  prayer. 

Bishop  Burnet  and  Archbishop  Tenison  remained  with  him 
to  the  last;  to  them  he  expressed  his  belief  in  the  Christian 

rxrv 
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religion,  and  he  received  the  sacrament  from  them;  and  it 

was  they  who  knelt  when  all  was  over  to  repeat  the  commcn- 

datorj-  prayer  of  the  Church  of  England. 
xAnne  ascended  the  throne.  The  declaration  of  war  fol- 

lowed on  the  4th  of  May  ;  a  war  to  continue  the  whole  of  her 

reign,  except  the  sixteen  months  preceding  her  death. 
The  western  continent  could  only  wait  the  result  of  these 

complications.  They  were  known,  and  much  uneasiness  was 
felt  with  regard  to  the  future;  but  the  signal  for  action  had  to 
be  given  from  Europe.  The  western  territory,  consequently 
obtained  much  of  the  attention  of  the  Governor  of  Canada. 

De  Callieres  and  dc  Champigny  had  recommended  the  estab- 
lishment of  several  posts  around  the  lakes,  where  the  Indians 

could  deposit  their  peltry  in  exchange  for  goods. 
Detroit  had  already  been  established.  In  June,  1701,  la 

Mothe  Cadillac, with  a  Jesuit  father  and  one  hundred  men,  was 

sent  to  construct  a  fort  and  to  occupy  the  country ;  hence  he 

is  spoken  of  as  the  founder  of  that  city.  In  1686,  a  fort  had 

been  constructed  to  the  south  of  the  present  cit)',  where  Eort 
Gratiot  now  stands,  but  it  soon  fell  into  decay  and  was  aban- 

doned.     It  was  not  the  site  selected  by  Cadillac.  * 

The  King  was  opposed  to  this  policy. -f-  He  pointed  out  that 
with  the  establishment  of  these  remote  posts,  traffic  would 
be  drawn  from  the  settled  portions  of  the  Province ;  and  that 

as  those  engaged  in  it,  would  remove  to  the  newly  established 
centres,  the  Colony  would  lose  a  portion  of  its  population, 
and  much  of  its  strength.  He  objected  also  on  the  ground, 
that  the  expense  of  the  garrisons  would  be  serious,  and  that 

there  was  no  security  that  the  officers  and  soldiers  would  not 

engage  in  trade.  Notwithstanding  this  unfavourable  view, 

authority  was  given  to  de  Callieres  for  the  establishment  of 

*  Modern  eiuiuiiy  est.iblislics  lliat  the  site  was  in  the  centre  of  the  city,  on  the 

present  Jeft'erson  avenue,  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  E.xchange,  and  is  lijscribed 
by  Ja  Mothe  Cadillac  ns  being  three  leagues  from  Lake  Erie,  and  two  from  Lake 

St.  Claire.  The  fort  was  surrounded  by  a  picket  fence.  Its  fate  was,  to  be 

destroyed  partially  by  fire  in  1703,  to  be  rebuilt  in  1716-1717,  and  at  intervals 
extended. 

i-  3rd  May,  1702 
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such  posts,  when  the  Intendant  likewise  considered  that  they 

would  prove  of  advantage.  One  settlement  of  this  character 

was  attempted  bj-  the  Sicur  Juchereau  on  the  Wabash,  who 
took  Father  Mermet  with  him,  but  owing  to  illness  breaking 
out  among  the  Indians,  and  their  intractable  behaviour,  the 

project  was  abandoned  the  same  year. 

M.  de  Champigny  had  for  some  time  been  dissatisfied  with 
his  position.  He  had  felt  disappointment  at  the  selection  of 

dc  CalHcres  as  Governor,  and  a  contemporary  writer  tells  us  * 
that  their  personal  relations  were  not  free  from  difficulty; 

accordingly,  in  1700,  he  sent  in  his  resignation.  It  was  not, 

howe\'cr,  accepted  until  two  j-cars  afterwards,  when  M.  de 
l^eauharnois  f  was  appointed,  greatly  to  the  satisfaction  of 
M.  de  Callicres. 

De  Callicres  was  then  able  to  report,  that  the  Iroquois  had 
promised  to  take  no  side  in  the  war,  and  would  sell  their  furs 

and  buy  goods  equall}'  with  Montreal  and  Albany,  and,  that 
in  spite  of  protests  from  Albany,  the  Jesuits  had  remained  at 
their  posts.  Father  Lamberville  was  with  the  Onondagas  ; 
Fathers  Gamier  and  Valiant  with  the  Senecas.  Matters  were 

not  so  tranquil  on  the  western  lakes.  The  Sioux  had  com- 
menced war  against  the  allies  of  the  French,  and  hostilities 

had  broken  out  between  the  Saulteurs  and  the  F'oxes. 
The  long  expected  news  that  war  had  been  declared,  at 

length  reached  Canada.  De  Callicres'  endeavour  was  to  cm- 
broil  the  Indians  with  the  English  ;  on  the  other  hand,  he 

hesitated  to  undertake  any  enterprise  against  Albanj-,  until 
he  felt  assured,  that  there  was  no  possibility  of  the  Iroquois 

returning  to  their  old  alliance.  De  Callicres  gave  immediate 

attention  to  the  extension  of  the  fortifications  of  Quebec ;  for 

after  the  expedition  of  I'hips,  fears  of  an  invasion  from  the 
British  Colonies  never  passed  away  from  Canada.  \Miile 

engaged   in  carrj'ing  out  this  duty,  he  died  on  the  20th  of 

*  "  Xe  s'accomnuxlaient  pas  bien  ensemble,  ce  dernier  coninien^a  .n  solliciter 

son  congL'  qui  ne  vint  cependant  que  deux  ans  apres."  ' 

Recueil  de  ce  qui  s'est  passe,  etc.,  p.  60. 

t  4  novembre,  i  "02. 
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May,  1703.     He  had  lon<f  been  a  sufferer  from  gout,  and  the 
attack  in  this  case  proved  fatal. 

De  Callieres'  name  stands  high  in  the  Hst  of  Governors. 
Charlevoix,  who  may  be  accepted  as  giving  the  opinion  of 
that  time,  describes  him  as  the  most  perfect  General  that 

the  Colony  had  possessed,  and  the  man  from  whom  it  had 

received  the  most  important  service.*  He  came  to  Canada, 
a  cadet  of  a  noble  family,  under  the  auspices  of  the  Seminary 

of  Saint  Sulpice  in  1684,  to  be  Governor  of  Montreal.  Owing 
to  his  long  service  in  the  continental  wars,  he  obtained  the 

position  of  second  military  officer  in  the  province.  In  16S7  he 

was  in  command  of  the  camp  at  Saint  Helen's  Island,  when 
de  Denonville  organized  his  forces  for  the  attack  on  the 

Iroquois.  In  1690  he  assumed  command  in  Montreal.  He 

had,  therefore,  been  twenty  years  in  the  country  occupj'ing 
the  most  prominent  positions,  and  had  carefully  studied  its 

requirements.  In  view  of  encouraging  trade  he  was  strongly 

opposed  to  the  tax  of  one-fourth  levied  on  the  beaver.  He 
recognised  that  the  only  mode  of  retaining  the  Indians  in  the 
French  interest  was  by  trading  with  them,  and,  that  it  was 

necessary  to  receive  the  beaver  at  its  valuation  by  the  Eng- 
lish. He  also  pointed  out  the  geographical  advantages  for 

the  establishment  of  Louisiana  by  the  route  of  the  western 
lakes.  Vessels  could  be  constructed  on  Lake  Erie  as  on  Lake 

Ontario,  and  could  navigate  these  waters  to  the  head  of  Lake 

Michigan.  Here  a  force  could  land  to  reach  the  Illinois, 

and  make  a  connection  by  that  river  with  the  Mississippi.  He 
revived  the  scheme  for  the  conquest  of  New  York  and  New 

England;  for  it  was  well  understood,  at  an  early  period  in  the 

history  of  New  France,  how  adverse  to  its  prosperit}-  was 
their  possession  by  a  foreign  power.  His  peace  with  the 
Iroquois  was  the  result  of  his  ability  and  judgment;  but  the 
Governors  of  the  English  provinces  were  so  hampered  by 

their  legislatures  that,  whatever  their  ability,  they  acted  under 

great  disadvantages  in   any  contest  with  the    French  Gov- 

*  "  le  general  le  plus  accompli  qu'eut  encore  eu  cette  colonie,  et  I'liomme 
dont  elle  avail  re9U  de  plus  importants  services.     Charlevoix  11.,  p.  2SS. 

I '^1« 
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ernors,  accountable  only  to  the  King  of  France.  Ue  Callicres 
avoided  difficulty  with  the  religious  orders;  but  he  did  not 
countenance  their  pretensions.  His  tjuarrel  with  Bishop  de 
Saint  Vallier,  in  the  Rccollct  Church  at  Montreal,  was  not  of 

his  seeking,  and  he  did  not  hesitate  to  bring  the  matter  before 

the  Conseil  Souverain.  He  was  hampered  by  the  limited 

allowances  he  received,  and,  stating  that  his  office  had  caused 

him  personally  a  heavy  expenditure,  asked  in  vain  for  an 

increase  of  income,  to  meet  the  expenses  which  he  had  in- 
curred in  furnishing  his  residence  and  for  the  cost  of  living,  for, 

owing  to  the  bad  harvest,  provisions  were  dear.  No  Canadian 

Governor  had  cause  to  be  particularly  thankful  for  the  treat- 
ment he  received  from  the  French  King,  and  de  Callieres  was 

not  an  exception  to  the  general  rule. 

The  government  of  de  Callieres  was  unmarked  by  incidents 
which  attract  attention,  so  that  his  name  remains  but  little 

known  outside  the  circle  of  the  students  of  history.  But  his 

integrity,  his  personal  honour,  his  prudence,  and  his  capacity 
in  every  relation  of  life,  have  obtained  for  him  a  reputation 
without  a  stain  He  was  buried  in  the  RecoUet  Church  at 
Quebec. 
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CHAPTER  IV. 

On  the  death  of  de  CaUicrcs,  cvciythiiiK  pointed  to  de 
Vaudrciiil  as  his  successor.  Dc  Chainpiijny  had  left  the 

counti}-.  Dc  Vaudrciiil  had  himsc'f  been  an  applicant  for 
the  office;  he  was  connected  by  marriage  with  some  of  the 

principal  personages  of  the  Colony,  and  he  had  been  upwards 
of  sixteen  years  on  active  service,  having  taken  a  leading  part 
in  its  affairs.  He  had  been  present  in  the  defence  of  Quebec 

against  I'hips,  and  had  commanded  one  of  the  wings  of  the 

de  Frontenac's  expedition  against  the  Onondagas.  He  had 
been  constantly  engaged  in  the  defence  of  the  Province,  and 

had  shewn  activity  and  enterprise  in  the  severa'  lursions  of 
the  Iroquois.     At  this  date  he  held  the  positic  Governor 
of  Montreal,  to  which  he  had  been  appointed  on  the  promotion 
of  de  Callicres. 

Although  he  was  elevated  to  the  position  on  the  ist  of 

August,  1 703,  the  appointment  did  not  take  place  as  a  matter  of 
course.  The  King  hesitated  to  nominate  de  Vaudreuil,  owing 

to  his  wife  being  a  native  Canadian,  from  the  fear  that  his 

government  might  be  injuriously  affected  by  the  relationship. 
The  Minister,  however,  succeeded  in  removing  the  objection  ; 

and  it  is  a  curious  fact  that,  three  years  later,  de  Pontchar- 
train  felt  it  necessary  to  remind  M.  de  Vaudreuil  of  the 

circumstances  under  which  his  appointment  had  been  made.* 

One  of  deVaudreuil's'first  efforts  was  to  confirm  the  Iroquois 

"  "  I  must  observe  to  you  here  that  liis  Majesty 

ing  to  confer  on  you  the  Governor-Generalship  of 

your  wife's  family,  which  is  in  that  country,  and  hi 
the  assurance  I  have  given  him,  that  you  would  act 

as  if  they  were  no  connections  of  yours.  Siiould  you 

you  will  expose  me  to  his  Majesty's  reproaches,  and 

hensive  for  the  consequences."  De  Pontchartrain  to 
June,  1706,  (as  translated),  N.V.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  77S. 

felt  some  difficulty  in  resolv- 
New  France,  on  account  of 

s  Majesty  only  consented  on 

towards  your  wife's  relations 
depart  from  these  principles, 

you  ought  even  U)  be  appre- 
de  \'^audreuil,  Versailles,  9tli 

% 
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ill  their  friendly  feeling's,  the  more  so  as  he  had  ground  for 

beh'ef  that  opposite  influences  were  at  work  in  Albany.  Jon- 
cairc  was  as^ain  sent  among  the  Scnecas,  and  he  remained 
with  them  three  months.  On  his  return,  he  brought  with  him 

one  of  the  chiefs,  who  represented  himself  as  authorized  to 

express  feelings  friendly  to  the  French.  De  Vaudrcuil,  how- 
e\ir,  decrped  it  advisable  to  .send  Joncaire  to  pass  the  winter 
with  the  tribe,  that  he  might  better  watch  French  interests. 

The  instructions  sent,  to  dc  Callicrcs,  had  been  not  to  make 

an  attempt  against  Albany,  for  fear  that  it  might  embroil  the 

Iroquois  with  the  French,  and  dc  Vaudrcuil  himself  was 

likewise  guided  by  this  policy.  No  indication  had  as  yet  been 

given  by  the  Five  Nations  of  any  desire  to  break  the  peace. 
In  the  autumn,  a  chief  of  the  Onondagas,  who  visited  Quebec, 

expressed  this  feeling,  and  the  desire  to  retain  the  Jesuit 
missionaries  in  their  villages  ;  it  was,  therefore,  the  wisest 

policy  in  no  way  to  disti  ib  these  established  relations. 

Such  was  not  the  feelii  *■  with  regard  to  the  Abenakis;  and 
steps  were  taken  to  awakt  Mieir  old  hatred  to  New  England : 
and,  as  de  Vaudrcuil  cxpre.s  ed  himself,  to  engage  them  in 

a  quarrel,  for  they  were  wavering,  and  might  become  friendly 
to  Massachussets.  Bands  of  this  tribe,  directed  by  Canadian 

priests  and  officers,  ravaged  the  eastern  New  England  fron- 
tier. Any  small  bodies  of  men,  or  the  crews  of  vessels  seeking 

shelter  in  a  storm,  if  poorly  manned,  when  met  by  these 

parties,  were  killed  or  carried  off  prisoners.  De  Callicres  had 
declined  to  countenance  such  proceedings.  He  had  felt  that 

the  political  significance  of  these  attacks,  was  of  little  account. 

They  inflicted  injury  and  created  suffering  ;  but  he  failed  to 
understand  that  the  death  of  a  few  score  of  men,  and  a  few 

score  more  carried  into  captivity,  would  have  any  influence 
on  the  contest.  In  this  view  he  had  been  sustained  by  the 

Minister  at  Versailles.*  The  population  of  New  England  at 
this  date  was  over  100,000  ;  that  of  New  York  over  30,000. 

The  total  population  of  Canada  was  15,000.  Nevertheless, 
the  frontier  of  New  England  was    kept    in    terror  by  a  few 

*  iSth  of  October,  1703,  N.  Y.  Hist.  Doc,  Vol.  IX.,  p.  755. 
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hundred  Indians.  Boston  would  not  understand  the  necessity 

of  keeping  up  a  force  of  trained  soldiers  in  forts  on  well 
chosen  sites,  under  experienced  and  capable  commanders. 

The-  authorities  acted  on  the  principle  that,  a  few  men  taken 
from  the  fields,  or  from  their  trades,  and  marched  directly  to 
the  front,  were  competent  for  defence;  and  that  an  officer, 
whose  chief  merit  was  that  he  had  political  influence,  was  a 

fit  person  to  command.  Nevertheless,  the  French  policy  of 

making  the  country  untenable  through  the  settlers'  fears  had 
failed ;  for  the  ground  was  tenaciously  held  by  the  hardy 

population  of  Massachusetts,  and  not  an  acre  of  land  had 
been  abandoned. 

De  Vaudreuil  gave  these  raids  his  support.  In  the  winter 

of  1 703-1 704  he  organized  the  attack  on  Ueerfield,  the  most 
northern  settlement  of  Massachusetts  on  the  River  Connecti- 

cut. The  party  advanced  up  Lake  Champlain  and  ascended 

the  tributary  Ouinoisqui*  to  its  sources,  and  thence  descended 
to  the  River  Connecticut.  They  followed  that  river  on  the  ice, 
until  the  settlement  was  reached.  On  the  29th  of  February 

Deerfield  was  surprised  and  attacked,  ':he  population  killed, 
or  carried  away  as  prisoners.  The  narrative  of  the  expedi- 

tion will  be  included  in  the  events  which  took  place  in  Acadia. 

Severe  sickness  had  passed  over  Canada :  the  small-pox 
had  been  prevalent,  and  had  continued  its  ravages  until  the 
middle  of  1703.  Nevertheless,  twenty  canoes  of  Western 
Indians  arrived  at  Montreal  for  the  purpose  of  traffic.  Several 

Hurons,  under  the  guidance  of  a  chief  known  as  Qitaraiitc 

Sols,  had  established  themselves  in  the  neighbourhood  of 
Detroit,  and  the  French  had  reason  to  believe,  that,  although 

this  chief  expressed  attachment  to  them,  he  was  desirous  of 

entering  into  trade  relations  with  the  English  through  the 
Miamis.  De  Vaudreuil  had  formed  a  strong  prejudice  against 

me  post  at  Detroit.  He  considered  that  \^  offered  facilities 
for  commerce  with  the  English  ;  it  was  his  opinion  that  the 

place  could  only  be  held  bj*  a  large  garrison,  and  the  expense 

*  In  modern  tines  known  as  Onion  River.  It  falls  into  Lake  Champlain  a 
few  miles  north  of  IJurlington. 
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of  maintenance  would  prove  burdensome.  His  policy  was 

that  of  de  Champigny,  that  trade  should  seek  the  cities  of 

the  colony,  and  that  ad\'anced  posts  were  mischic\-ous.  He 
considered  that  the  population  in  Canada  was  too  limited 

for  settlement  to  be  permitted  in  the  West  ;  even  if  its  raim- 
ber  had  been  greater,  the  contrary  view  would  have  found 
no  favour  either  at  Versailles  or  Quebec. 

The  Ottawas  in  the  neighbourhood  of  Detroit  became  un- 
manageable, shewing  a  spirit  hostile  to  tlic  Iroquois;  the 

Miamis  were  similarly  affected.  Influenced  by  this  enmity, 
the  Senecas  and  Onondagas  began  to  doubt  whether  peace 
were  possible,  but  Joncaire  and  Father  Vailant  succeeded  in 

calming  this  feeling;  and,  commissioned  by  the  Senecas,  they 

both  descended  to  Montreal,  to  complain  to  dc  V^audreuil  of 
the  hostility  of  the  Ottawas,  and  to  ask  satisfaction. 

The  chiefs  of  the  Five  Nations  were  summoned  to  Albanj', 

to  consider  the  policj'  of  declining  to  allow  Roman  Catholic 
missionaries  to  remain  among  them,  and  with  the  view  of 

inducing  them  to  join  in  resisting  the  attacks  of  the  Abenakis 

in  New  England.  They  desired  to  obtain  the  consent  of 
the  Western  tribes  to  pass  through  their  territory  to  trade 

with  Albany  ;  but  no  result  was  attained,  and  the  meeting 
was  adjourned. 

While  Joncaire  v.  as  active  among  the  Senecas,  de  Long- 
ueuil.with  the  Onondagas,  was  engaged  on  a  similar  mission; 

he  had  taken  the  place  of  de  Maricourt,  who  had  died  a  short 

time  previously.  Both  were  sons  of  Charles  Le  AIo)-ne,  and 
were  held  in  great  favour  by  the  tribes.  De  Vaudreuil  desired 

that  these  Canadians  should  be  present  at  Albany  during  the 
conferences, for  they  had  been  adopted  into  the  tribes,  and  could 

b\'  right  attend  with  the  other  chiefs.  As  de  Vaudreuil  pro- 
mised to  obtain  satisfaction  for  the  injuries  of  which  the 

Iroquois  complained,  and  spared  no  effort  to  maintain  their 
good  feeling,  he  hoped  that  the  influence  of  Joncaire  and  de 

Longueuil  would  prevent  the  adoption  of  any  policy  hostile 
to  France. 

The  authorities  at  Albany  attempted  by  counter  intrigues 
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to  influence  the  Indians  of  the  Christian  settlements  in  Canada, 

of  which  there  were  three  villages:  at  the  Sault  Saint  Louis; 
the  mountain  north  of  Montreal  ;  and  at  the  Sault  au  Recollet, 

north  of  the  island.  Schuyler  offered  them  lands  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Albany,  and  sent  them  wampum  belts, 

with  the  proposition  that  they  should  entsr  into  an  alliance 
with  the  English  and  commence  trade  with  them,  and  pledge 
themselves  not  to  attack  the  New  York  settlements.  De 

Ramezay,  Governor  of  Montreal,  however,  hearing  of  the 
attempt,  was  able  to  cause  the  belts  to  be  returned,  and  the 

negotiations  to  be  discontinued.* 
The  Iroquois  had  flattered  themselves  that  they  would  be 

able  to  act  independently  of  both  the  French  and  English, 

and,  by  the  weight  of  their  partisanship,  now  thrown  on  one 
.side,  now  on  the  other,  to  improve  their  own  condition.  Their 

policy  towards  the  two  countries  differed  in  its  character  with 
regard  to  each.  Their  ancient  enmity  to  France,  and  their 
distance  from  Montreal  exacted  a  ceremonious  declaration 

of  amity  ;  and  the  presence  of  the  Roman  Catholic  mission- 
aries exercised  great  influence  on  their  relations  with  Canada. 

With  the  English,  their  attention  was  given  to  avoid  embar- 
rassing engagements.  For  the  present  they  expressed  the 

wish  for  peace,  clinging  to  the  neutrality  they  hoped  to  be 

able  to  observe.  •  They  even  affected  to  desire,  to  aid  in  estab- 
lishing friendly  intercourse  between  the  two  nations. 

While  the  English  of  New  York  thoroughly  understood  the 
influence  of  the  Roman  Catholic  missionaries,  and  objected  to 

their  ministration;;,  they  took  no  means  to  combat  their  in- 
fluence. If  they  had  sent  Protestant  ministers  to  satisfy  the 

religious  wants  of  the  Iroquois,  they  would  have  instructed 

those  they  minister :d  to,  and  have  made  some  attempt  to 
civilize  the  r^ce.  The  devotion  of  the  Roman  Catholic  mis- 

sionary, wherever  he  appeared,  immediately  made  itself  felt. 
His  presence  was  a  comfort  and  a  satisfaction  to  those  with 

whom  he  lived,  e^  mi  outside  the  sphere  of  his  religious  duty. 

*  De  Vaudreuil  and  de  lieauharnois  to  the  Minister,  17th  Noveniberj  1704. 
N.Y.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  764. 
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rule  he  was  selected  for  his  ability,  and  from  his  fitness  for 

the  service  he  had  to  perform.  There  is  scarcely  a  position, 

which  exacts  in  a  greater  degree,  the  union  of  pre-eminent 
qualities  than  that  of  missionary.  He  must  be  of  pure  life, 

active,  earnest,  with  judgment  and  self-control,  observant 
and  devoted.  The  success  of  the  French  in  their  policy 

towards  the  Indians  was  to  a  remarkable  extent,  owing  to  the 

distinguished  ability  of  the  priests  selected  10;  this  work. 

Appeal  to  religious  influences,  either  as  a  duty  or  a  policy,  was 
neglected  by  the  English ;  and  to  this  day,  on  this  continent, 
it  is  to  be  feared  that  the  duty  is  not  thoroughly  accepted  by 
the  Protestants,  while  the  Roman  Catholics  continue  to  be 

impelled  by  their  old  traditions  to  activity  and  exertion. 
The  French  made  every  effort  to  conciliate  the  Iroquois 

and  maintain  them  in  friendly  feeling.  A  band  of  Ottawas 
had  attacked  some  Iroquois  near  Cataraqui.  This  wrong  was 
one  of  the  grievances  for  which  redress  had  been  prom.ised. 
The  Ottawas  on  their  way  back  to  IMichilimackinac  in  1705, 

bringing  their  Iroquois  prisoners  with  them,  had  to  pass  the 
fort  at  Detroit.  DeTonty  was  then  in  command,  in  the  absence 
of  La  Mothe  Cadillac,  and  he  demanded  their  release.  On 

the  request  not  being  complied  with,  although  the  Ottawas 
were  sustained  by  some  thirty  01  their  countrymen  at  Detroit, 

Dp  Tonty  directed  Vincennes,  one  of  his  officers,  to  obtain 
them  by  force.  With  a  party  of  twenty  soldiers  from  the  fort 
he  attacked  the  Ottawas  and  delivered  the  prisoners,  who  were 
sent  back  to  their  tribe,  the  Senecas. 

In  1704,  some  of  the  Abcnakis  had  been  induced  by  dc 
Vaudreuil  to  remove  to  Canada,  and  to  settle  on  the  River 

Becancour,  opposite  Three  Rivers.  Their  own  country  was 

no  longer  tenable  by  them.  Owing  to  the  repeated  massacres 
which  they  had  committed  on  the  frontiers  of  New  luigland, 

hostility  was  so  strongly  directed  against  them,  that  they 
held  it  advisable  to  establish  themselves  in  Canada,  where 

they  were  offered  protection,  to  be  available  for  any  enter- 
prise, however  ruthless  its  character. 

This  policy  was   not   generally   approved.      De  Rarnezay 
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wrote  to  the  Minister,*  that  the  settlement  had  cost  much 
moncv,  and  had  not  been  for  the  interest  of  the  Kintj.  The 

Abcnakis  had  ceased  to  be  at  command  for  any  expedition 

against  the  EngHsh.  They  had  become  lazy  and  dishonest, 
and  already  had  outraged  two  women.  He  considered  it 

necessary  for  the  missionaries  skilfully  to  use  their  influence, 
to  induce  them  to  return  to  their  old  habitations,  and  he 

thought  that  the  money  expended  would  have  been  better 
employed  on  the  fortifications  of  Quebec. 

When  the  men  who  composed  the  expedition  against  Deer- 
field  had  passed  some  days  in  repose,  and  had  recruited  their 

strength,  they  were  again  organized  for  another  raid.  The 
settlement  to  be  attacked  is  not  named  in  the  joint  despatch 
of  the  Canadian  authorities,  but  North  Hampton,  south  of 

the  Piscataqua,  was  the  place  designed.  The  .Abenakis  were 
desirous  of  roving  about  in  small  bands,  but  the  chiefs  were 

unwilling  to  see  the  tribe  divided.  Moreover,  de  Vaudreuil 
felt  it  advantageous  to  keep  together  a  large  force  of  French 

and  friendly  Indians,  the  better  to  impress  the  Iroquois  with 
a  sense  of  his  strength,  and  so  retain  their  good  teeling.  The 

force  was  organized  under  de  Beaucours;  it  consisted  of  one 

hundred  and  twenty-five  Canadians,  with  many  of  the  most 
active  French  officers.  Including  the  Indians,  there  were 

between  seven  and  eight  hundred  men  present.  The  custom- 
ary instructions  were  given,  that,  on  reaching  the  height  of 

land,  the  destination  of  the  column  might  be  changed ;  it 

could  be  directed  against  any  place  where  an  attack  could  be 

advantageously  made.  When  near  the  spot  selected,  it  became 
known  that  information  had  been  received  of  their  advance, 

and  that  surprise  was  not  possible.  The  placp  had  been  put 
in  condition  to  receive  the  assault,  and  was  no  longer  to  be 

defended  by  a  handful  of  men  resting  from  their  labours.  De 

Vaudreuil  in  his  report  states,  that  the  known  defection  of  a 

deserter  caused  a  panic  among  the  Indians.  The  explanation 

cannot  be  accepted.  The  inference  is  more  probable,  that 

their  scouts  brought  information  that  the  place  would  be  reso- 
*  1 2th  October,  1705. 



1704 
I704] 

THE  CONSEIL  SUPfiRIEUR. 
419 

nuch 
The 

lition 

jnest, 

ed  it 

lence, 
lid  he 

better 

Deer- 
\  their 

The 

;spatch 
)Uth  of 
is  were 
;fs  were 

ludreuil 
French 

ois  with 

b      The 
I  of  one 

he  most 

•c    were 

custom- 

ight  of 

iiged;  it 
tould  be 

I  became 

Uvance, 

=en  put 

Lr  to  be 

Irs.     De 
Ion  of  a 

lanation 

lie,  that 

Ibe  reso- 

lutely defended  by  a  strong  garrison.  Whatever  the  cause, 
the  Indians  declined  to  advance,  and  abandoned  the  main 

bod}-,  to  separate  into  small  parties.  The  French  portion  of 
the  force,  accordingly  retreated.  This  event  shews  what  Mas- 

sachusetts might  have  effected  on  her  frontier  with  prudence, 
organization,  and  the  maintenance  of  a  few  companies  of 

trained  men,  properly  officered.  But  the  communit)-  was 
again  lulled  into  security,  and  four  years  later  the  disaster  of 
Haverhill  was  to  follow. 

In  1703,  a  change  was  made  in  the  constitution  of  the 
Conseil  Souverain.  When  originally  established,  in  1663,  it 

had  consisted  of  the  Governor,  the  Lieutenant-General,  the 

Bishop  of  Petrea,  and  five  Councillors,  to  be  appointed  con- 
jointly by  the  Governor  and  Bishop.  It  was  this  joint 

authority  which  created  the  difficulty  between  de  Mesy  and 

the  Bishop  de  Laval,  when  the  difference  of  view  arose  as  to 
the  advisability  of  removing  members  of  the  Council,  and 

reconstituting  it.*  In  1675,  the  number  of  the  members  of  the 

Council  had  been  increased  to  seven  ;-|-  the  appointment  of  the 
Councillors  was  then  made  by  royal  authority,  independently 

of  the  Governor.  An  ecclesiastic  was  to  be  constantl}'  pre- 
sent, either  in  the  person  of  the  Bishop  or  his  representative. 

In  1703  a  further  change  was  made.;):  Five  additional 

Councillors  were  appointed,  one  of  whom  was  to  be  an  ecclesi- 
astic whose  special  duty  was  to  guard  the  rights  of  the  Church.§ 

The  Council  is  named  as  "le  Conseil  Superieur,"i  and  was  to 
be  composed  of  the  Governor,  the  Lieutenant-Gcncral,  the 
Bishop,  the  Intendant,  and  twelve  Councillors;  eleven   laics 

*  Ante  Vol.  I.,  p.  321.       t  Ante  Vol.  I.,  p.  434. 

*  By  Royal  declaration  of  the  i6tli  of  June.  Registered  in  Canada  on  the 
29th  of  October,  1703. 

§  "  entre  lesquels  il  y  aura  un  conseiller  clerc,  lequel  etant  toujours  en 
fonction  sera  plus  instruit,  et  plus  a  portee  de  veiller  a  la  conser\..;ion  des 

droits  de  I'Eglise."  [Edicts  and  Ordonnances,  I.,  p.  300.]  No  ecclesiastic  could 
take  the  place  of  the  Bishop.  The  Grand  Vicaire  could  only  Ije  present  as 
Conseiller  Clerc  and  when  attending,  would  simply  rank  as  Councillor. 

I  The  declaration  is  addressed  "anos  ames  et  fiiaux  conseillers,  les  gens 

tenant  notre  dit  conseil  superieur." 

^'
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and  one  ecclesiastic,  and  to  have  the  same  rights  and  follow 

the  same  proceedinLjs  [smnces]  as  the  Councillors  of  the 
Parliament  of  Paris,  with  the  same  fees. 

In  June,  1704,  an  "Order"  was  issued,  which  sets  forth 
that  the  King  had  been  informed  that  the  Superior  Council 

of  Quebec,  in  the  administration  of  Justice,  did  not  follow 

the  practice  of  the  Kingdom.  Accordingly,  he  laid  down 

forms  of  procedure.  *  De  Monseignat  signed  the  registration 
as  Chief  Clerk  of  the  Superior  Council.  It  was  the  title  by 

which  the  Court  was  subsequently  known,  "  Le  Conscil 

Superieur."-|- An  event  happciied  in  the  summer  of  1705,  which  in  some 
degree  influenced  the  future  of  Canada  ;  the  capture  of  the 

French  vessel    "  La  Seine."      She    left    La   RochcUe  as  the 

*  The  Attorney-General  was  personally  to  address  the  Court,  on  which  the 
president  and  judges  should  meet,  and  discuss  the  ca.se  in  private  out  of  hearing 

of  the  Attorney-General.  When  the  argument  was  presented  in  writing,  the 

Attorney-General  should  reply  in  writing,  with  the  right  of  personally  addressing 
the  Court. 

+  On  the  24th  of  October,  1707,  and  on  the  25th  of  November,  1709,  the 

term  "  Conseil  Souverain  "  is  retained  in  the  registration  of  the  Royal  Edicts: 

but  on  the  6th  of  October,  1710,  the  words  "Conseil  Snperieur"  are  used. 
[Edicts  and  Ordonnances,  Vol.  I.,  pp.  305,  321,  323.]  I  have  been  unable  to 

learn  if  any  special  proceedings  were  taken  to  enforce  the  change  ;  whether  the 

use  of  the  word  "  Souverain  "  was  retained  in  accordance  with  custom,  or  on  tlie 
theory  that  it  extended  greater  authority.  It  is  certain,  however,  that  after  1703, 

the  ' '  Conseil  Superieur  "  was  the  legal  recognised  title. 
I  have  to  acknowledge  my  obligations  to  Mr.  J.  C.  Langelier,  of  Quebec,  who, 

at  my  request,  was  good  enough  to  examine  if  any  authority  for  the  change  of 
title  can  be  found.  He  has  been  unable  to  discover  any  such  instructions,  either 

in  the  proceedings  of  the  Superior  Council,  or  among  the  "  Edits,  ArrHs  et  De- 

clarations di's  rois."  He  further  informs  me  that  the  Fifth  Volume  of  the  "  Jngi-'- 

incuts  ct  Dilibi  rations"  commencing  in  1705,  will  be  published  as  those  of  the 

"  Conseil  Superieur." 

Mr.  Langelier  has  referred  me  to  Mr.  Parkman's  Old  Regime,  p.  267,  m 
which  the  subject  is  alluded  to.  On  the  authority  of  Cheruel,  *''  Administration 

Monarchique  en  Frame  "  I.,  p.  lOO,  Mr.  Parkman  states  "  that  the  same  change 

had  just  been  imposed  on  all  the  high  tribunals  of  France."  Even  admitting  this 
fact,  Mr.  Langelier  is  of  opinion  that,  some  special  notification  on  the  subject  must 
have  been  sent  to  Canada,  although  none  is  known  to  be  extant. 

I  have  equally  to  thank  Mr.  F.  C.  Wurtele,  of  Quebec,  for  his  assistance  in 

this  investigation. 

mmmm 
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Issistance  in 

escort  of  several  merchant  vessels,  carrying  a  cargo  of  sup- 
plies for  Canada  to  the  value  of  a  million  of  livtrs.  Among 

the  passengers  was  Bishop  de  Saint  V'allier,  who  had  been 
absent  in  France  since  1700,  and  several  ecclesiastics.  On 

the  2Gth  of  Jul)-  the  French  vessels  met  some  English  ships 
of  war,  and  a  naval  action  took  place  ;  some  of  the  merchant 

vessels  escaped  ;  "  La  Seine  "  was  carried  a  prize  to  England. 
M.  de  Saint  Vallier  remained  a  prisoner  there  for  five  j'ears. 
The  English  Government  offered  to  exchange  him  for  the 

Baron  de  Mean,  Provost  of  the  Chapter  of  Liege,  whom 
Louis  XIV.  had  seized  and  held  in  captivity.  The  offer  was 

not  accepted,  so  the  Bi«hop  remained  a  prisoner. 

The  capture  of  "La  Seine"  caused  much  distress  in  Canada; 
for,  owing  to  the  loss  of  the  cargo,  the  country  was  without 

clothing  and  man\'  necessaries.  Until  this  date,  no  effort  had 
been  directed  to  the  culture  of  textile  plants,  and  the  growth 

of  flax  and  hemp  had  been  neglected.  It  was  in  this  emer- 
gency that  attention  was  turned  to  them,  so  that  the  country 

should  in  itself  possess  resources  to  supply  its  requirements. 

Madame  de  Rcpentignj-  is  especially  named  among  those  who 
endeavoured  to  introduce  among  the  humbler  classes  the 

means  of  suppl\-ing  themselves  with  these  essentials,  b\-  weav- 
ing coverings,  blankets  and  a  heavy  drugget,  obtained  from 

the  wool  of  the  Canadian  sheep.  The  fibre  of  a  nettle  *  was 
found  to  make  a  cloth  which,  if  deficient  in  fineness,  possessed 

strciigth.  A  substitute  for  flax  and  hemp  was  sought  in  the 
bark  of  the  white  wood  and  the  cotton  tree.  The  e.xperience 

of  this  want  of  flax  and  hemp  subsequcntlj'  led  to  their  cul- 

tivation, and  the  privations  arising  from  the  capture  of  "  La 
Seine  "  were  the  cause  of  a  relaxation  of  the  regulations  pre- 

viously enforced  with  regard  to  home  manufactures.  France 
hitherto  had  insisted  on  the  right  of  supplying  Canada  with 

every  manufactured  article;  the  law  forbade  their  production 
in  Canada.  Even  the  wool  gathered  on  the  Saint  Lawrence 

was  shipped  to  France,  to  -be  returned   in  the  form  of  coarse 

*  .See  note  at  the  end  of  chapter. 
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cloth,  and  all  clothing  necessarily  was  exceedingly  expensive 
in  the  colony. 

In  the  midst  of  the  trouble  arising  from  the  loss  of  "  La 

Seine,"  changes  took  place  in  the  Government.  M.  de  Beau- 
harnois,  having  been  named  Intendant  General  of  the  Marine 

in  France,  M.  Raudot,  who  had  been  previously  a  Coun- 

cillor of  the  Board  of  Excise,*  was  appointed  his  successor, 
and  arrived  in  September.  He  had  under  his  immediate  con- 

trol the  administration  of  justice  and  the  proclamation  and 

enforcement  of  the  ordinances  of  police.  M.  Raudot  was 

accompanied  by  his  son,  a  young  man  of  twenty-five,  to 
whom  was  assigned  the  duties  relating  to  finance.  On  their 

arrival,  M.  de  Vaudreuil  was  officially  installed,  for,  until  that 

date,  his  commission  had  net  reached  Quebec,  and  had  not 
been  registered. 

One  of  the  last  events  which  M.  de  Beauharnois  had  to 

report  to  France,  was  the  destruction  of  the  Seminary  of 

Quebec.  Four  years  previously,  in  November,  1701,  it  had 
been  destroyed  by  fire,  when  the  pupils  were  out  for  a  holiday, 

the  few  priests  left  behind  being  at  vespers.  One  person  only 
was  in  charge  of  the  building,  and  he  had  made  a  fire  that  the 

room  might  be  warm  on  the  return  of  the  boys.  A  burning 

log  fell  on  the  pine  floor,  and  the  building  was  soon  in  flames. 

Fears  were  even  entertained  for  the  church,  but  the  connec- 
tion between  the  buildings  was  torn  down,  and  the  fire  was 

confined  to  the  Seminary.  The  walls,  which  were  of  massive 
stone,  on  the  whole  remained  but  little  injured.  During  the 

succeeding  four  years,  the  walls  had  been  restored,  and,  where 

necessary,  rebuilt.  The  interior  was  on  the  point  of  comple- 
tion, when,  owing  to  the  carelessness  of  a  workman  with  his 

pipe,  that  fruitful  source  of  loss  of  life  and  property  by  fire  and 
explosions  in  mines,  the  flames  burst  forth  in  a  room  where 

the  carpenters  had  been  working.  In  a  few  hours  the  whole 

building  was  in  ashes.  M.  de  Laval,  then  eighty-two  years 
old,  had  his  residence  in  the  Seminary,  and  was  assisted  from 

•  Cour  des  Aides. 
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it  to  be  taken  to  the  Jesuits'  College,  in  which  he  passed  the 
last  three  years  of  his  life. 

It  is  at  this  time,  we  meet  the  name  of  one  who  was  to  play 

a  leading  part  during  the  ensuing  years,  prc-eminentl}'  dis- 
tinguished by  ability,  who  early  perceived  that  the  power  of 

the  English  colonies  lay  in  their  union,  and  that  if  they  were 

to  pursue  a  career  of  prosperity  and  peace,  it  was  necessary  for 
them  to  combine  their  scattered  strength,  to  withstand  the 

advance  of  French  power.  It  was  owing  in  no  small  degree 
to  his  efforts  that  the  first  important  steps  were  taken  in  this 

direction.  They  were  inoperative  at  the  time,  from  many 
circumstances,  but  they  were  the  forerunners  of  that  union 

which,  half  a  century  later,  was  to  work  such  important 
results.     I  allude  to  Samuel  Vetch. 

He  was  the  third  child  of  a  minister  of  the  Church  of 

Scotland,  and  was  born  on  the  27th  of  December,  1668.  The 

family  were  extreme  Presbyterians,  and  had  been  more  or 
less  implicated  in  the  troubles  of  the  time.  Involved  in 
the  Rye  House  plot,  the  father  had  sought  refuge  on  the 
Continent.  Samuel  and  his  elder  brother  were  educated  at 

Utrecht.  Both  joined  William  in  his  expedition  to  Torbay, 
in  1688.  When  the  26th  Regiment,  the  Cameronians,  was 

raised,  the  elder  brother  obtained  a  commission  in  the  regi- 
ment, as  Samuel  did  at  a  later  date.  It  was  composed  of 

stern  Puritans,  carrying  to  excess  their  religious  principles, 
in  defence  of  which,  they  gave  memorable  proof  of  their 

mettle  and  courage  at  Dunkcld,  on  the  21st  of  August,  1689, 
in  the  action  which  terminated  the  first  Jacobite  attempt  in 
Scotland. 

Having  this  experience.  Vetch  proceeded  with  the  regiment 
to  the  Continent.  He  was  present  at  the  terrible  fight  of 
Steinkirk,  the  3rd  of  August,  1692,  and  of  Landen,  the  26th 

of  July,  1693.  He  served  until  the  Treaty  of  Ryswick,  in 

1697.  In  1698  he  joined  the  ill-fated  scheme  of  Paterson  to 
colonize  the  Isthmus  of  Darien,  and,  on  the  capitulation  of 

those  engaged  in  it,  went  to  New  York.  He  there  attracted 

the   attention    of  Lord    Bellomont.     On    the    20th    of  Sep- 

iJ 
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tember,  1700,  he  married  a  dau^^htcr  of  Robert  Liviiiir.ston, 

Sccrctarj-  for  Indian  Affairs,  and  was  thrown  into  the  centre 

of  \cw  York  poh'tics.  Becominc;  engaged  in  trade,  he  was 
interested  in  a  vessel  proceeding  to  Quebec  with  a  cargo  of 

wine  and  brandy,  which  was  wrecked  off  Rhode  Island.  Me 
became  involved  in  a  charge  of  illicit  dealing.  His  name 

appears  to  the  petition  to  the  King,  charging  Lord  Bellomont 
with  partiality  and  corruption.  For  the  next  two  years  of  his 
life  he  was  resident  at  Boston,  and  it  was  at  the  desire  of 

Dudley,  then  Governor  of  Massachusetts,  that  he  proceeded 
to  Canada  on  a  special  mission. 

After  the  assault  on  Deerfield,  in  February,  1704^  Dudley 
wrote  to  de  Vaudreuil  that,  although  he  looked  for  war,  he 

expected  that  it  would  be  carried  on  in  accordance  with  the 

Christian  religion,  and  not  against  poor  peasants,  women 
and  children,  many  of  whom  had  been  dragged  into  cruel 

captivity;  that  he  had  two  hundred  prisoners  whom,  they 
themselves  said,  he  had  fed  better  than  they  were  treated  in 

France,  and  had  sent  them  back  ;  while  at  this  time  de  Vau- 

dreuil had  made  it  a  glory  "  to  massacre  my  poor  women  and 

children."*  Such  conduct  in  Eurojie  would  be  held  to  be 
barbarous.  Dudley  called  upon  de  Vaudreuil  to  ransom  the 

captives  held  by  the  Indians,  and  return  them  to  him.  He, 

himself,  would  not  want  opportunities  to  treat  French  prison- 
ers with  less  consideration  than  he  had  shewn,  and  he  also 

had  Indians  at  his  disposal  to  destroy  them. 

He  again  wrote  to  de  Callicrcs,  calling  attention  to  his  first 

letter.  He  was  sorry  to  hear  that  the  Indians  in  the  service 

of  the  French  were  so  much  their  masters,  that  they  could 

not  be  restrained,  -f  He  asked  for  good  treatment  of  the 
English  prisoners.  Last  year,  he  had  made  an  exchange 
with  de  Brouillan.  He  expressed  his  surprise,  on  assuming 

the  government,  to  learn  that,  in  the  last  war,  the   French 

*   lotii  of  Apiil,    1704.     QiiL-btc  Doc,  \'o\.    II.,  p.   411.     "  Vous  .ivtz  fait 
gloire  de  tirer  et  de  ma.ss.icrer  mes  pauvies  femmes  et  enfaiUs." 

+  2ist  of  August,  1704.     Que.  Doc,  11.,  p.  425. 
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Indians  were  paid  money  for  ever}'  Kni,di.shman's  scalp,  as  if 
Christians  were  to  be  looked  upon  as  wild  beasts,  destined  to 

destruction.  * 

iJudlc)-,  receivincj  no  replj-,  turned  to  another  channel. 
His  previous  letters  had  been  sent  bj-  wny  of  Albany.  When 

he  again  wrote,-*-  his  letters  were  entrusted  to  the  care  of  two 
parties,  Livin<fston  and  Shedden.  He  stated  that  he  had 
one  hundred  and  fifty  prisoners,  and,  as  many  of  his  capti\es 

beloni^'ed  to  Port  Roj-al,  he  proposed  Penobscot  should  be 
the  place  of  exchange.  If  this  proposal  were  not  accepted, 
he  asked,  as  it  was  winter,  for  a  letter  to  be  sent  overland  to 

Casco  Bay,  naming  the  time  and  place,  where  the  exchange 
should  be  made. 

P3arly  in  1705,*  de  V'audreuil  acknowledged  the  three 
letters.  He  received  Livingston  courteously,  and  expressed 

willingness  to  arrange  for  the  exchange  of  prisoners.  But,  as 

Dudley  was  controlled  by  his  Legislature,  de  Vaudrcuil  asked 

to  be  given  some  assurance,  that  the  return  of  the  P'rcnch 
prisoners  would  certainly  follow  the  arrival  of  such  as  he 

would  send.     He  himself  was  supreme  in  Canada,  and  could 

*  I  must  enter  my  protest  against  the  course  taken  by  tlie  editor  of  the  Quebec 
Collection  of  docuniunts,  in  apjiending  a  jiartisan  note  t((  this  statement.  The  duty 

of  a  i)erson  in  his  position  is  to  be  punctiliously  free  from  any  such  impropriety. 

In  not  the  best  of  French,  he  remarks  :  "  L'ecrivain  oublie  ici,  que  les  Anglois 
payaiem  pour  les  chevelures  pour  les  prisonniers  de  guerre  des  sommes  trois  fois 

l^lus  fortes  que  ne  payaient  les  Fran9ais.'"  [loj'c':  plus  bas,'\  [Vol.  II.,  p.  426.] The  note  does  not  state  the  truth.  There  is  no  record  of  the  authorities  in  the 

Englisli  colonies  having  delilierately  planned  and  effected,  the  destruction  of 

women  and  children,  or  even  of  liaving  proposed  >;uch  a  policy.  The  Legislatures 
uf  Massachusetts  and  New  Hampshire  offered  a  bounty  of  twenty  pounds  for 

every  Iitdiati  prisoner  under  ten  years  of  age,  and  forty  ])ounds  for  every  older 

prisoner  or  his  scalp.  The  mode  of  warfare  followed  by  the  Abenakis  led  to  thi.s 

policy.  Massachusetts  committed  many  errors,  but  cruelty  of  reprisal  cannot  be 

counted  among  them.  Dudley's  words  are  remarkable,  as  shewing  how  free  from 

all  accusation  in  this  respect  the  Province  stood.  I  copy  the  translation  :  "  Je  ne 
sauroia  accorder  que  Ton  pretende  que  les  prisonniers  soient  laissez  entre  les  mains 

de.s  Sauvages,  parce  que  je  nc  souffre  pas  qu'un  sauvage  me  disc  qu'un  prisonnier 
Chretien  est  a  sa  disposition."     Que.  Doc.  II.,  p.  426. 

t  20th  of  December,  1704. 

:::  26th  of  March. 

w%. 
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keep  his  promise*  He  dealt  li^'htly  with  the  reproaclies  of 

Dudley,  clairniii^f  thai  the  I'reiich  had  never  assassinated  any 
person  in  cold  blofjd,  as  the  commander  of  the  Mn^lish  fleet 

had  killed  G(iurdault  in  Acadia.  In  offcrinj^  a  price  for 
scalps,  his  predecessors  had  followed  the  example  set  by  the 
English. 

De  Courtemanche  returned  with  Livingston  and  Shcdden. 

He  was  to  as!>  that  the  French  prisoners  were  to  be  sent  to 

I'ort  Royal,  and  to  '^'wc  a  pledL,fC  on  the  part  of  de  Vaudreuil 
to  leturn  the  English  prisoners,  as  soon  as  he  should  hear  of 

the  arrival  of  those  delivered  by  Dudley.  He  was  to  insist 
that  Baptiste,  a  noted  privateer,  should  be  included,  or  no 

exchange  could  take  place.  He  was  also  to  obtain  sureties 
for  the  return  of  the  prisoners,  who  had  been  sent  to  England 

and  Jamaica,  and  to  ask  justice  and  rei)aration  for  the  murder 
of  Gourdault  and  his  six  men. 

The  policy  adopted  by  the  French  towards  the  English 
prisoners  at  this  date  did  not  permit  them  to  hold  a  religious 
service  according  to  their  creed.  The  spirit  of  Roman 
Catholicism  under  Louis  XIV.  denied  the  consolation  of 

prayer  to  a  captive,  unless  he  received  it  from  a  Roman 

Catholic  ecclesiastic.  While  the  rigours  of  the  prison  '.vcre 
maintained  with  regard  to  the  stern  Protestant,  who  adhered 

to  his  faith,  whatever  his  sufferings,  they  were  mitigated  to 

those  who  were  willing  to  become  proselytes,  and  U>  accept 

the  teaching  offered  them.  To  an  unhapj^y  prisoner,  op- 

pressed by  hard  treatment,  deprived  of  all  religious  consola- 
tion, except  such  as  a  strong  nature,  in  the  dark  hour  of  despair, 

can  draw  from  its  own  prompting,  can  it  be  1  \\'ond'^  •  'hat 
several  accepted  the  only  solace  offered  ther  ri         ontly 

received  as  the  truth,  the  teaching      hirl'  ,         id  to 

them  ease  and  liberty  ?    Under  the  '         y  oi  ncV      .oh  as 

*  "maiscomme  vous  avez  un  conseil  ou  vous  n'avez  <"  <:  votre  voix,  et  que 
souvent  les  senliments  en  sont  partages,  vous  ne  devez  poih  uouver  mauvais  que 

je  prenne  des  assurances  pour  les  prisonniers  que  vous  me  renvoyez,  d'autant  plus 
que  de  mon  cote  etant  seul  le  maitre,  je  suis  toujours  en  ctat  de  tenir  la  parole 

que  j'aurai  donnee."     Que.  Uoc,  Vol.  II.,  p.  430. 

d  ̂! 
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these,  preferred  to  remain  in  Canada.  These  "conversions,"  as 
they  werecalled.wcre  made  the  matter  of  special  representation 

to  the  Kint,f,  who  granted  to  those  professinj^  the  new  behef, 
letters  of  French  natnrali/.ation.  The  arfjument  put  forth  to 
establish  the  truth  of  a  doctrine,  based  upon  the  abandonment 
of  the  faith  of  their  youth,  by  these  unhappy  prisoners  in  the 
troubles  and  adversitii  s  which  oppressed  them,  must  with  any 
candid  mind  have  little  weit;ht.  Xo  more,  in  short,  than  the 

conduct  of  the  French  and  iMiglish  who  clung  to  savage  Iife> 

establishes  that  that  primitive  existence  is  of  a  higher  order 
than  the  teachings  and  aspirations  of  civilization  and  morality. 

De  Courtemanchc  arrived  at  Boston  in  the  beginning  of 

May.  Me  made  himself  in  every  way  acceptable,  and  no 
better  person  could  have  been  selected  for  the  message.  On 

his  return,  he  was  the  bearer  of  letters  to  Quebec  from  Dud- 
ley, .setting  forth  that  no  prisoners  had  been  sent  to  Europe,  or 

to  Barbadoes,  except  by  their  own  desire.  He  proposed  that 
the  exchange  should  take  place  at  the  Island  of  Mont  Desert. 
Haptiste,  he  said,  was  a  scoundrel,  not  worthy  that  he  should 
be  claimed  by  de  Vaudreuil,  or  retained  by  Dudley;  he  would 

accordingly  be  included  in  the  number.  Dudley  declined  to 

repay  the  money  given  by  the  French  to  the  Indians  for  iheir 

English  pri.soners.  If  the  French  permitted  the  English  cap- 
tives to  be  held  by  the  Indians,  the  English  would  direct 

similar  treatment  to  be  awarded  to  the  French,  "so  your  people 

will  have  to  accept  the  life  of  the  savage  cciually  with  mine." 
Dudley  strongly  disclaimed  that  there  was  any  limit  to  his 

powers.  He  had  all  the  just  and  reasonable  authoritj'  which 
an  English  Governor  could  desire,  and  obtained  just  and 

reasonable  obedience.  But  his  people,  by  God's  grace,  were 
ten  times  more  numerous  than  the  French,  which  increased 

the  difficulty  of  government. 
De  Courtemanchc  returned  by  sea,  and  induced  young 

Dudley,  the  Governor's  son,  to  accompany  him.  Captain 
Vetch  also  went,  on  the  part  of  Mas.sachusetts,  to  aid  in  the 
final  arrangements.  The  vessel  belonged  to  Vetch,  and  it 

was  afterwards  made  a  reproach  to  him  that,  he  had  under- 

ii$| 
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taken  the  vo}'age  for  no  other  purpose  than  to  carrj-  on  trade 
with  Quebec.  De  Courtomanche  was  also  the  bearer  of  a 

pipe  of  sweet  wine,*  which  Dudley  hoped  would  prove  good- 
He  carried  with  him  a  copy  of  a  treaty  between  the  Governors 
of  Martinique  and  the  Leeward  Islands,  to  shew  that  it  was  in 
conformity  with  the  treaty  which  Dudley  proposed,  so  that 
during  the  war  Massachusetts  and  Canada  should  be  at  peace. 

It  was  with  the  latter  mission  that  Vetch  was  more  parti- 

cularly c::t'''isl-eci.  Some  writers  have  expressed  the  belief 
that  Dudley  was  insincere,  and  that  his  only  desire  was  to 

gain  time.  Those  who  follow  the  correspondence  car^  form 
no  such  opinion.  It  is  evident  that  both  de  Vaudreuil  and 

Dudley  entered  into  the  negotiation  with  good  faith.  The 

difficulty  was,  that  it  took  a  form  different  from  that  which  in 

the  first  instance  it  presented.  Dudley's  proposition  was  con- 
fined to  Massachusetts,  of  which  he  was  Governor,  and  on 

that  basis  de  Vaudreuil  treated.  The  presence  of  Vetch  in 
Canada  meant  no  more  than  this  offer.  As  the  negotiations 

ad\-anccd,  de  Vaudreuil  saw  that  peace  with  Massachusetts 
alone,  conferred  more  advantages  to  that  colony  than  to 

Canada.  Therefore,  when  he  drew  up  his  articles  of  truce,t  of 

which  Vetch  was  the  bearer,  he  added  that  the  treat}-  was 
offered  conditionalh-,  on  the  Governors  of  New  York  and  the 
other  colonies  accepting  it,  and  that  it  should  be  signed  before 

the  end  of  February.  The  answer  of  Dudlej'  might  ha\e 
been  foreseen,  that  he  had  no  authority  to  act  except  for 
himself,  and  that  the  other  Governors  must  be  consulted. 

The  treaty  consisted  of  nine  articles:  Truce  by  land  and  sea; 

no  assistance  to  be  given  to  any  nation  with  which  either 
was  at  ivar,  and  no  hostile  passage  to  be  allowed  through  the 

territories  of  either;  passports  to  be  granted  to  vessels  desirous 
of  visiting  either  country;  no  merchandise  to  be  brought  to 

New  France ;  there  was  to  be  free  navigation  from  the  Straits 

of  l^elleisle  to  Cape  Breton ;  vessels  fishing,  or  loaded  with 
fish  oil,  on  the  coast  of  New  England,  on  the  coast  of  Acadia, 

*  Vin  de  li'iueur. 
+  6th  of  October,  1 705 . 
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or  in  the  gulf  and  river  of  the  Saint  Lawrence,  to  be  liable 
to  seizure;  Indians  not  to  be  allowed  to  hunt  in  large  parties; 

parties  infringing  the  treaty  by  violence  of  conduct  to  be 

punished;  prisoners  to  be  exchanged,  including  the  Indians 
held  by  the  English. 

Vetch  remained  at  Quebec  from  August  to  the  middle  of 
October;  having  ascended  the  Saint  Lawrence  to  reach  that 
city,  and  returning  the  same  way.  His  experience  of  colonial 
life  in  New  York  and  New  England  must  have  soon  taught 

him  how  impossible  it  was  for  such  a  treaty  to  be  accepted. 

Considering  that  future  hostilities  were  inevitable,  he  keenly 
observed  all  the  points  of  defence,  and  where  the  exposed 

places  lay.  Educated  at  Utrecht,  he  must  have  known  French 
well,  for  the  continental  politics  of  Holland  were  so  mixed  up 
with  France,  that  that  language  formed  an  important  part  of 

education.  He  had  been  activelv  engaged  in  ser\'ice  since  his 

twent}'-first  year,  and  had  always  mi.xed  in  good  society.  He 
was  now  thirty-seven  years  old,  in  the  prime  of  life.  In  after- 
time,  he  spoke  of  the  completeness  of  the  knowledge  of  Canada, 

which  he  had  obtained.  It  is  certain,  that  his  representations 

vent  far  to  influence  the  adoption  of  the  offensive  operations 
which  followed  ;  that  they  failed  so  ignominously  at  the 
threshold  of  the  enterprise  cannot  be  made  a  reproach  to  him. 

Vv.L..a  visited  Montreal,  and  de  Ramezay  wrote  to  the  Min- 
ister on  the  subject,  complaining  that  in  Quebec  he  had  been 

left  at  liberty  to  obtain  all  the  information  desired ;  whereas, 
in  Montreal,  de  Ramc/.;n  had  taken  care  that  he  should 

always  be  accompanied  by  an  officer  and  an  interpreter.* 
There  had  been  old  dealings  betv.een  Vetch  and  de  Rame/.ay. 

Vetch,  when  engaged  in  his  commercial  operations  four  years 
previously,  had  advanced  de  Ramezay  the  amount  of  his 

appointments,  paying  him  in  card  currency,  and  had  received 
authority  to  draw  his  money  in  France.  The  war  broke  out, 

and  the  power  to  obtain  the  money  had  been  again  given  by 
de  Ramezay  to  another  person  in  France,      it  was  the  object 

*  Quebec  Documents,  Vol.  II.,  pp.  447-450. 
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of  Vetch  in  visiting  Montreal  to  be  repaid  this  advance,  but 

de  Ramezay  professed  himself  not  in  the  condition  to  give  it 

back,  without  the  approval  of  the  Minister.* 
De  Vaudreuil  reported  to  the  Kingf  the  negotiation  which 

had  taken  place  between  himself  and  Dudley,  and  the  Minister 
made  some  caustic  remarks  regarding  it.  He  hoped  that  the 

negotiation  was  not  an  excuse  for  the  two  Governors  to  engage 

in  trade,  and  he  trusted  that  a  knowledge  of  the  country  would 
not  be  obtained  to  be  used  against  the  French.  Owing  to  the 

length  of  time  Vetch  had  stayed  in  Canada,  some  twelve 

weeks,  he  had  applied  to  be  allowed  to  land  merchandise,  to 
the  value  of  one  thousand  ecus,  in  order  to  pay  his  expenses. 

He  explained  the  presence  of  the  merchandise,  by  stating  that 

he  was  proceeding  with  it  to  St.  John's,  Newfoundland.  The 
Minister  remarked  that  the  goods  had  not  been  intended  for 
Newfoundland,  as  Vetch  had  stated  in  his  letter;  but  had  been 

brought  to  pa)-  the  expense  of  the  voyage,  in  which  de 
Courtemanche  had  returned  to  Quebec  ;  and.  that  hy  the 

seizure  of  ten  barrels  containing  beaver  and  seal  skins,  which 

were  being  taken  on  board  the  ship,  it  was  plain  that  Vetch 

not  only  desired  to  pay  his  debts,  but  to  trade  in  furs. 
At  the  end  of  April,  de  Vaudreuil,  with  Raudot,  reported 

to  \'ersailles  Dudley's  reply,  that  he  must  confer  with  the 
Governors  of  the  other  provinces,  and  had  not  been  able  to 

do  so.  De  Vaudreuil,  conceiving  the  proceedings  had  been 

taken  to  gain  time,  had  allowed  several  small  parties  to  start 

to  make  war  on  New  England  territory.  It  was  a  policy,  he 

said,  which  would  have  a  good  effect  on  the  English ;  for  it 

would  bring  them  to  terms,  and  won'd  be  profitable  to  the 
Indians,  who,  owing  to  the  dearness  of  merchandise,  and  the 

cheapness  of  furs,  were  quite  naked,  and  would  clothe 
themselves  at  the  expense  of  Massachusetts. 

Dudley  sent  fifty-seven  prisoners  to  Port  Royal;  de  Vau- 

dreuil despatched   forty-three  prisoners,  to  be  forwarded  to 

*  "  lequel  [t!""-  Ramezay]  n'est  pas  en  etat  de  la  rendre  a  present  sans  I'approba- 
tion  (le  Monseignem."     Quebec  Doc.  II.,  p.  448. 

t  19th  of  October,  1705. 

:lt  rji 
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Boston,  to  be  withheld  until  all  French  prisoners,  without  dis- 
tinction, were  released,  a  condition  which  included  the  Indian 

captives.  Baptiste,  the  privateer  captain,  and  one  Fenoe,  were 

not  produced.  De  Vaudreuil,  while  demanding  these  condi- 
tions, entered  into  no  cn<,ragement  on  the  subject  of  the 

English  held  by  the  Abenakis;  all  he  would  undertake  was  to 
endeavour  to  obtain  their  relea.se.  There  is  allusion  to  money 
matters  between  de  Vaudreuil  and  Dudley,  difficult  to 

explain.  De  Vaudreuil  mentions  that  Shedden  had  obtained 

750  livrcs  on  the  draft  given  him  by  Dudley,  to  be  repaid  by 
the  latter  to  Louis  Marchand,  specially  sent  in  a  vessel  to 

Boston.  If  any  opinion  can  be  formed  on  such  meagre  evi- 
dence, it  suggests  a  relationship  between  the  Governors,  of  the 

character  to  which  de  Ponchartrain  had  alluded. 

De  X'audreuil,  in  his  letters  to  the  Minister,  was  careful  to 
justif\-  himself  During  the  whole  period  of  French  rule,  letters 
were  constantly  sent  to  France,  impugning  the  motives  and 
characters  of  public  men  of  every  rank  and  condition.  Nearly 

everj-  official  in  a  prominent  position  was  the  writer  of  such 
letters ;  his  criticisms  were  broadcast,  with  little  regard  to 

where  thej'  fell.  De  Vaudreuil  took  the  course  of  calling 
upon  his  mother-in-law,  Madame  de  Marson,  to  ask  the 

Minister's  permission  to  confer  with  him  on  de  Vaudreuil's 
behalf 

The  Iroquois,  although  not  changing  their  attitude,  were 
dissatisfied;  no  satisfaction  had  been  given  for  the  chief  killed 

b\-  the  Ottawas  near  Cataraqui.  The  latter  tribe,  whether 
misjudging  the  passive  policy  of  the  Iroquois,  or  urged  on  by 
their  old  enmity,  were  desirous  of  engaging  in  war.  De  Vau- 

dreuil, to  pacify  this  feeling,  sent  up  a  }-ounger  brother  of  de 
Louvigny  to  Michilimackinac.  He  was  successful  in  obtain- 

ing some  Iroquois  held  there  as  prisoners,  whom  he  brought 
away.  The  Iroquois,  summoned  to  receive  these  members  of 
their  tribe,  attended  at  Montreal,  to  set  forth  their  cause  of 

complaint  against  the  Ottawas.  After  some  delay,  a  de[)Uta- 
t;on  of  the  Ottawas  also  appeared,  who  asked  {jardon  for 

having  attacked  the  Iroquois  on  Canadian  territory.     They 
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engaged  to  give  the  satisfaction  demanded,  by  ceding  some 
of  the  prisoners  taken  from  the  more  western  tribes,  to  replace 
the  Iroquois  they  had  killed.  Father  Marest  returned  with 
them  to  enforce,  as  he  best  could,  the  observance  of  this 

condition. 
The  quarrel  which  broke  out  between  the  iMiamis  and 

Ottawas,  threatened  to  cause  greater  difficulty.  The  fear  was 
that  a  local  tribal  war  would  turn  the  wliolc  West  into  an 

Indian  battle-field  f  race,  and  that  the  Iroquois  would  take 
part  in  the  contest.  The  West  was  the  source  whence  Canada 
received  her  furs,  the  staple  of  her  trade,  and  the  effort  was 

unceasing  to  prevent  their  passage  to  Albany.  War  between 
any  of  the  tribes  would  exercise  the  most  depressing  influences, 
and  the  greatest  watchfulness  was  put  forth  to  prevent  any  such 

contingency.  The  Ottawas  in  this  case  were  the  complainants. 

They  represented  to  dc  La  Mothe  Cadillac,  the  commandant 
at  Detroit,  that  the  Miamis  had  killed  several  of  their  people. 

They  were  told  that  justice  would  be  done  them.  Shortly 
after,  de  Cadillac  left  for  Quebec,  without  steps  having  been 

taken  to  give  the  satisfaction  demanded  ;  but  he  had  said 

that  they  could  have  nothing  to  fear,  so  long  as  his  wife 

remained  at  the  fort.  Madame  de  Cadillac,  shortly  after- 
wards, left  to  join  her  husband,  and  much  significance  was 

attached  by  the  Ottawas  to  her  departure. 
Dc  Tonty,  the  lieutenant  of  de  Cadillac,  had  been  replaced 

by  a  sergeant  named  Bvurgmont,  with  little  experience  of 
Indian  character.  The  departure  of  Madame  de  Cadillac 
caused  the  Ottawas  anxiety,  and  they  looked  upon  the  e\ent 
as  the  forerunner  of  the  attack  they  dreaded.  In  answer  to 

their  expostulations  with  Bourgmont  on  the  subject,  they 
received  the  most  discouraging  replies.  In  order  to  gain  their 

confider'  -,  ''•  mrgmont  proposed  that  they  should  join  with 
the  xviiarais,  tiie  Iroquois,  and  the  Hurons,  in  a  war  against  the 
Sioux.  The  Ottawas  regarded  the  Miamis  as  the  enemies 

who  had  killed  their  people,  without  reparation  for  the  injury. 

The  Irotjuois  were  their  ancient  foes,  and,  accordingly,  they 
considered  the  proposal  to  be  a  plot  for  their  destruction. 
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With  the  Indian  mind,  suspicion  frequently  becomes  con- 
viction ;  in  this  case  their  sensitiveness  was  increased  by  the 

false  reports  which,  without  invcsti<^ation,  they  believed. 
Accepting  the  situation  as  fraught  with  peril,  they  discussed 
among  themselves  the  necessity  of  attacking  the  Miamis,  and 

anticipating  the  threatened  danger.  The  older  chiefs  thought 

that  the  best  course  would  be  to  ask  l^ourgmont  for  explana- 
tions; the  younger,  influenced  by  a  chief  named  Le  Pesant, 

were  encouraged  to  take  active  measures.  It  was  agreed 

that  they  would  appear  to  prepare  for  the  expedition  against 
the  Sioux,  but,  on  the  first  opportunity,  would  attack  the 
Miamis. 

An  incident  led  them  to  act  on  this  impulse.  A  deputation 
went  to  the  fort,  to  ask  if  news  had  been  received  from  Mont- 

real. Bourgmont  in  no  way  understood  the  significance  of 

the  question.  One  of  the  Ottawas  passing  through  the  court- 
yard, being  bitten  by  a  dog,  struck  the  animal.  Bourgmont, 

attracted  by  the  yelping,  ran  out,  and  attacked  the  Indian  so 
savagely  that,  in  a  few  days  he  died  from  the  injuries  he  had 
received.  The  Ottawas  came  to  the  conclusion  that,  if  they 

were  to  escape  the  plot  formed  against  them,  they  should  no 
longer  delay  taking  steps  for  iiieir  own  protection. 

Pretending  to  take  part  in  the  expedition  against  the 

Sioux  the  march  was  commenced,  the  chiefs  onh'  being  in  the 
secret  of  what  had  been  determined.  At  a  short  distance  a 

halt  was  made,  when  the  true  design  was  declared  ;  upon  which 
the  main  body  returned  towards  the  fort,  in  the  direction  of 

the  Miami  village  established  in  its  neighbourhood.  Meeting 

six  Miamis,  they  attacked  and  killed  five  of  them;  one 
escaped,  and  his  cries  alarmed  those  left  in  the  village,  who 

immediately  sought  protection  in  the  fort.  They  were  pur- 
sued by  the  Ottawas,  and,  as  the  latter  were  looked  upon  as 

the  cause  of  the  tumult,  the  fire  of  the  fort  guns  was  directed 

against  them,  and  several  were  killed.  Father  Constantine,  a 

Recollet,  the  almoner,  was  at  the  time  returning  with  some 

soldiers,  and,  coming  within  range,  was  also  killed.  In  the 
skirmish  which  followed,  thirty  Ottawas  fell.     The  main  body 
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retired  to  their  village;  the  attack  was  not  resumed,  and  the 
Ottauas  proceeded  to  Michilimackinac,  where  others  of  the 
tribe  were  domiciled. 

La  Mothe  Cadillac,  and  his  family,  returned  from  Montreal 
with  a  convoy  of  provisions,  and  some  additional  force  to 

make  his  presence  unmistakeably  felt. 
The  complications  in  this  quarrel  increased.  The  Iroquois, 

whether  pondering  on  old  feelings  or  excited  by  new  causes, 

having  resolved  to  attack  the  Ottawas,  sent  u  deputation  to 
de  Vaudreuil  to  announce  their  determination.  The  Gov- 

ernor resolutely  told  them  such  a  course  could  not  be  p-^r- 
mitted.  The  Ottawas  despatched  messengers  from  Michili- 

mackinac, to  declare  that  they  were  encamped  at  that  place, 
and  would  defend  themselves  if  driven  to  do  so.  It  was  the 

endeavour  of  de  Vaudreuil  to  quiet  the  storm.  Joncaire  was 

sent  to  the  Iroquois,  while  a  message  was  despatched  to  the 

Ottawas,  in  which  they  were  reproved,  but  at  the  same  time 
assured  of  French  protection.  De  Cadillac  was  called  upon 
to  exercise  caution,  and  to  watch  the  situation  carefully.  He 

had,  however,  taken  a  step  which  threatened  to  Increase  the 
trouble.  As  he  was  ascending  the  river,  he  heard  of  the 

events  which  had  happened  at  the  fort;  and  when  in  the  neigh- 
bourhood of  the  Seneca  country,  fearing  that  his  own  force 

was  not  sufficient  for  the  emergency,  he  had  enlisted  the  aid 
of  one  hundred  and  twenty  of  that  tribe,  who  accompanied 
him  to  Detroit. 

The  presence  of  the  Iroquois  did  not  tend  to  quiet  the 
sensitiveness  of  the  Ottawas ;  and  when  summoned  at 

Michilimackinac  to  attend  at  Detroit,  they  replied  that  they 
had  no  business  to  take  them  there,  and  would  send  chiefs  of 

their  tribe  to  Montreal  to  give  an  account  of  the  late  pro- 
ceedings. As  there  was  no  prospect  of  the  services  of  the 

Senecas  being  required,  de  Cadillac  after  satisfying  them,  not 
without  difficulty  induced  them  to  return  home. 

In  June,  1707,  the  Ottawas  arrived  at  Montreal.  The  chief, 
Le  Blanc,  was  the  spokesman,  and  he  endeavoured  to  justify 

what  had  taken  place.     De  Vaudreuil  demanded  the  surrender 
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of  Le  Pesant,  as  the  cause  of  the  difficulty;  but  his  tribe 
would  not  abandon  him.  The  Governor  insisted  on  his  sur- 

render, and  the  Ottawas  were  told  that  thej'  had  committed  a 
crime  against  the  community  of  nations,  and  must  make  repa- 

ration at  the  spot  where  it  had  been  committed.  Le  Pesant 

was  eventually  given  up  to  de  Cadillac,  with  the  understanding 
that  no  ulterior  steps  would  be  taken.  As  a  matter  of  form, 

he  was  put  in  irons,  but,  on  the  prayer  of  the  chiefs  for  his 

pardon,  he  was  set  free. 
If  the  Ottawas  were  satisfied  with  this  clemency,  it  was  the 

reverse  with  the  Miamis,  who  demanded  the  sacrifice  of  Le 

Pesant.  De  Cadillac  however  would  only  consent  that  Le 
Pesant  should  be  retained  at  Detroit.  The  Miamis  shewed 

their  resentment  of  this  forbearance  to  the  extent  of  killing 

three  PVenchmen  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  fort.  At  one 

time  it  seemed  probable  that  war  would  be  declared  against 
the  Miamis;  but  war  in  the  West  was  of  all  things  the  most 

dreaded,  and  accommodation  of  every  difficulty  was  sought,  so 

that  it  might  be  averted.  De  Vaudreuil,  while  reporting*  to 
the  Minister  the  high-sounding  language  which  he  had  used, 
that  French  blood  was  not  to  be  paid  for  by  beavers  and  belts, 
and  that  only  obedience  to  his  commands  and  reliance  on  his 

benevolence  would  be  of  avail,  laid  down  the  principle  that 
the  interests  of  the  colony  called  for  peace  among  the  Indian 

nations,  and  that  every  means  must  be  sought  to  obtain  it. 
At  Detroit,  de  Cadillac  acted  on  this  principle.  His  first 

intention  had  been  to  chastise  the  Miamis,  and  preparations 

were  made  for  an  expedition  against  them.  They  shewed 
themselves  willing  to  satisfy  his  demands,  and  in  his  desnc  to 
avoid  hostilities  he  accepted  their  explanations,  and  agreed  to 

terms  of  peace.  The  result  did  not  meet  his  anticipation,  for 
the  insolence  of  the  IMiamis  so  increased,  that  de  Cadillac 

felt  constrained  to  take  measures  to  coerce  them.  His  force, 

consisting  of  French  and  Indians,  ribout  four  hundred  in 
number,  attacked  the  Miamis  who  had  entrenched  themselves. 

Their  defence  was  not  of  long  duration,  and  they  submitted 

*  24th  July,  1707. 
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to  his  terms,  that  they  should  not  act  in  opposition  to  the 

policy  of  the  French,  nor  engage  in  hostile  operations  against 
other  tribes. 

During  the  summer  of  1707,  Clcrambault  d'Aigremont 
received  special  instructions  to  visit  some  of  the  western  posts.* 
His  report  throws  much  light  on  the  condition  of  Canada 

west  of  Montreal.  At  Cataraqui  the  Iroquois  village  con- 

sisted of  six  cabins.  De  Tonty -f-  was  the  commandant.  The 
chiefs  complained  that  they  could  obtain  no  consideration 

without  giving  peltry  to  the  commandant.  The  commissary 

was  dc  la  Gorgendiere,  who,  when  questioned  by  d'Aigremont, 

did  not  bear  testimony  in  de  Tonty's  favour.  Three  canoes  of 
the  Mississaguets  had  lately  arrived.  De  Tonty  had  obtained 

beaver  from  them,  by  giving  them  brand)-,  and  his  treatment 
so  displea.sed  them  that  they  left  to  carry  their  furs  to  the 
English.  He  sold  brandy  to  the  soldiers  at  eight  livrcs  the 
measure,  which  in  Montreal  cost  five  dcnicrs,  and  he  extorted 

money  from  the  pay  of  the  men  on  pretence  of  discount. 
Notwithstanding  his  frauds,  de  Tonty  was  greatly  in  debt. 
The  advantages  derived  from  the  fort  were  recognised,  but  a 

greater  number  of  Iroquois  settlers  were  reported  as  desirable; 

and  the  impolicy  of  allowing  the  English  to  obtain  any  foot- 
hold on  Lake  Ontario  was  forcibly  represented. 

At  Niagara,  d'Aigremont  was  met  by  Joncaire,  when  the 
policy  of  constructing  a  fort  was  discussed.  Joncaire  pointed 
out  that  several  Iroquois  would  establish  them.selves  in  the 

neighbourhood.  The  French  would  thus  always  be  kept  in- 
formed of  what  was  taking  place  in  the  Seneca  villages,  and 

the  preparation  for  an  adverse  expedition  would  be  immedi- 
ately known.  It  was  believed  that  the  moo.se,  bear  and 

deer-skins  would  be  brought  to  Niagara  by  the  Iroquois,  and 
that  the  Miamis  would  send  their  furs  there.  At  the  same 

time  the  beaver  would  be  diverted  from  Detroit,  and,  owing 

to  the  cheaper  rate  of  English  goods,  would  pass  to  Albany. 

*  N.Y.  Hist.  Doc.  IX.,  pp.  819-824. 
+  Not  Henri,  the  friend  of  de  La  Salle,  who  died  in  1704  at  Fort  Louis  Mobile, 

but  his  younger  brother,  Alphonse. 



1/07] 
CLKKA.MliAULT    1)  AKiRKMONT. 437 

The  use  of  a  schooner  on  Lake  Ontario  would,  however, 

cheapen  their  carrias^^c  to  Detroit.  What  was  more  tlwelt 
upon,  was  the  political  importance  of  Niagara.  It  was  held 
that  in  connection  with  it  a  fort  should  be  established  at 

La  Galctte,  where  all  the  pork  and  i,M-ain  required  could  be 
obtained,  and,  thus  the  passage  of  supplies  up  the  tedious  and 
dangerous  navigation  from  Montreal  would  be  avoided.  With 
these  establishments,  it  was  suggested  that  Fort  Frontenac 

might  be  abandoned,  and  d'Aigremont  considered,  that  b\-  the 
establishment  of  Niagara,  La  Galette  would  be  preferable. 

He  recommended  that  de  Longueuil  or  Jonquiere  should  be 
sent  there.  The  former  he  believed  to  be  the  more  capable 

and  disinterested.  Jonquiere  he  considered  as  devoted  to  his 

private  interests,  and  he  adds  sententiousl)-,  "  private  interest 

is  often  injurious  to  public  affairs,  especially  in  this  colon}-." 
Jonquiere  received  from  the  royal  stores  powder,  lead  and 
other  articles,  to  the  value  of  2,000  Ihrcs,  to  be  divided  amutig 
the  Five  Nations  at  his  discretion.  Many  believed  that  he 

sold  the  stores,  or  received  peltry  in  exchange  for  them.  He 

had  brought  down  last  year  two  canoes  full  of  furs.  D'Aigre- 
mont did  not  know  if  de  Vaudreuil  had  any  share  in  the 

venture,  but  he  was  under  the  impression  that  de  Vaudreuil 
was  interested  in  trade.  The  Indians  were  allowed  to  obtain 

eau  de  vie  at  Montreal,  and  much  merchandise  was  sent  up  to 
Michilimackinac  in  the  canoes  carrying  the  supplies  for  the 

missionaries.  The  canoes  were  furnished  by  de  Vaudreuil, 
and  it  was  believed  the  venture  was  his  own,  in  connection 
with  de  Cadillac. 

D'Aigremont  was  particularly  severe  against  La  Mothe 
Cadillac,  who.  he  asserted,  was  hated  b)-  the  troops,  the 
habitants  and  the  Indians,  all  of  whom  regarded  him  as  a  man 

led  by  personal  considerations.  De  Cadillac  had  proposed 
the  formation  of  companies  of  Indians,  regularly  officered; 

d'Aigremont  expressed  himself  strongly  against  the  project, 
which  he  conceived  to  have  been  suggested  from  motives  of 

personal  aggrar.disement. 

The  letter  of  d'Aigremont  did  not  fail  to  work  its  effect. 

m 
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DeTonty  was  removed  from  Cataraqui.  The  advantages  of  an 
establishment  at  La  Galette  were  recognised  ;  it  was  not  held 

expedient  to  construct  any  fort  at  Niagara.  Ue  Cadillac  had 

foreseen  difficulty  from  the  visit  of  d'Aigremont,  and  had  felt 
it  necessary  to  anticipate  his  report.  He  had  written  to  Ver- 

sailles that  d'Aigremont  had  not  passed  sufficient  time  at 
Detroit,  to  appreciate  the  explanations  which  de  Cadillac 

had  submitted.  The  Minister,  in  his  letter  to  d'Aigremont, 
expres.sed  the  opinion  that  de  Cadillac  looked  more  to  his  own 

advantage  than  to  the  good  of  the  colony;  adding  that  it  was 
the  intention  of  the  King  to  recall  the  troops,  and  to  leave  de 
Cadillac  to  do  with  the  fort  as  he  saw  fit.  This  design  was  not 

executed.  De  Cadillac  had  pointed  out  that  it  was  desirable 
some  means  of  communication  should  be  established  between 

Lakes  Ontario  and  Erie  ;  accordingly,  instructions  were  given 

for  an  examination  to  be  made  of  the  project,  and  the  post  at 
Michilimackinac  was  ordered  to  be  maintained. 

Finally  came  those  instructions  which  nearl}'  every  official 
of  any  standing  received,  to  supply  secretly  irresponsible  infor- 

mation, even  to  the  vilifying  his  superior  or  brother  officials. 

"You  can, without  fear,  inform  me  what  intrigues  you  hear  are 
being  carried  on,  about  M.  de  Vaudrcuil,  and  the  principal 

officers  of  the  country.  You  owe  that  to  the  confidence  I 

repose  in  you.  You  need  not  fear  that  I  will  compromise 

you."  * 

In  1708,  the  attack  of  Haverhill  took  place,  on  the  29th  of 

August.  I  will  in  another  place  relate  the  details  of  it. 
This  expedition  had  the  effect  of  awakening  INLissachusetts  to 

the  necessity  of  organization  and  effort.  Viewed  from  this 

standing  point  alone,  the  impolicy  of  these  raids  becomes 
manifest.  They  obtained  no  result,  while  they  awoke  intense, 

undying  enmity.  The  indignation  they  caused  was  commu- 
nicated to  the  mother  country,  and,  in  connection  with  the 

*  De  Ponchartrain  to  d'Aigiemont,  Versailles,  6th  of  July,  1709.  Who  can 
wonder  at  the  spirit  of  intrigue  traceable  in  French  Canada  to  the  last  ?  Never 

was  there  such  ground  for  the  application  of  Pascal's  saying,  "  .Si  chacun  savait  ce 
que  chacun  disait,  il  n'y  aurait  pas  d'amitie." 
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American  provinces,  a  policy  of  aggression  was  determined 
upon,  which  proved  fatal  to  Canada.  From  the  imbecility, 
and  incompetence  of  the  New  England  commanders,  failure 

had  hitherto  resulted.  But  the  end  was  certain  ;  to  be  con- 
summated in  the  ordinary  life  of  a  man ;  for,  in  less  than 

half  a  century,  the  contest  was  ended,  and  New  France  on 
the  northern  part  of  the  continent  became  no  more  than  a 

past  fact  of  history. 

y        ̂  
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With  the  exception  of  hemp  and  llax,  no  fibre  plant  is  cultivated  and  brought 

into  use  in  the  Dominion.  lam  inilcbtcd  for  the  foilowini;  information  to  Mr. 

James  Klelcher,  whose  labours  in  liotany  and  Kntom(ilo(,'y  have,  in  connection  with 
the  Government  experimental  farms,  obtained  honourable  recognition. 

The  American  lime,  [Tilia  Amcn'catKi^  or  Hass  wood,  is  closely  allied  to  the 
Phircjjjean  Linden,  of  which  the  bast,  or  innci  bark,  is  manufactured  into  matting, 

conlajje,  and  hassocks  for  churches.  It  is  made  into  door-mats,  and  employed  by 

(:;ardeners  for  protection  of  jilants  from  frost,  also  to  shade  greenhouses  from  the 

sun.  .Strips  of  bast  are,  to  a  great  extent,  used  in  luirope  for  tying  up  plants  and 

for  purposes  when  coarse  string  is  required  ;  and,  from  being  wider  than  string,  it 

does  not  cut  t>  der  plants, while,  from  being  tough  and  light,  it  is  serviceable  in  this 

form.  The  Russian  and  .Swedish  peasantry  weave  the  fibre  into  coarse  cloth  for 

ordinary  clothing.  In  the  Southern  counties  of  England  ropes  are  made  from  it. 

It  is  also  used  for  making  fishing  nets.  One  of  Cicero's  MS.  is  said  to  have  been 
written  upon  the  inner  bark  of  the  lime-tree. 

The  French  word  ortie  is  translated  by  the  English  word  "  nettle,"  with  which 

there  i>  an  affinity  to  the  word  "needle,"  that  with  which  one  sews.  It  was  the 
nettle  which  supplied  the  thread  in  former  times  to  the  northern  European  nations, 

and  even  in  the  seventeenth  century  was  applied  to  that  purpose  in  Scotland.  It 

yields  one  of  the  best  (ibres  for  textile  purposes.  In  Sowerby's  English  liotany 
we  find  the  following  passage  :  — "  CaiMpbell,  comi)laiiii!ig  of  the  little  attention 

paid  to  it  in  England,  says  : — '  In  Scotland  I  have  eaten  nettles,  I  have  slept  in 
nettle  sheets,  and  I  have  dined  off  a  nettle  table-cloth.  The  young  and  tender 
nettle  is  an  excellent  ])ot  herb.  The  stalks  of  the  old  nettle  are  as  good  as  flax 

for  making  cloth.  I  have  heard  my  mother  say  that  she  thought  nettle  cloth  wns 

more  durable  than  any  other  species  of  linen  ;  the  fibre  being  i)ro(luced  in  less 

quantity  than  that  of  tlax,  and  being  somewhat  difticult  to  extract,  accounts  per- 
haps for  the  fact  that  it  is  but  little  used  in  lirilain,  though  in  some  countries  it  is 

still  employed.'  "  There  are  two  species  of  the  nettle  in  Eastern  Canada,  either 
of  which  may  have  been  brought  into  use  in  the  eighteenth  century  :  Urtka 

gracilis,  a  tall  species,  not  uncommon  in  many  localities,  and  Laportea  Canadensis, 

an  abundant  plant  in  low  woodlands. 

The  Cotonnicr  is  the  name  given  by  French  Canadians  to  the  milk-weeds,  of 
which  genus  there  are  several  species.  Asclcpias  Cormiti  and  A.  incarnata,  both 

of  which  are  common,  produce  a  fine  fibre.  They  are  herbaceous,  perennial 

plants,  attaining  a  height  of  about  three  feet,  and  bear  showy,  sweetly  scented 
blossoms. 

Mr.  Fletcher's  information  suggests  that  the  subject  of  Canadian  textiles 
should  be  examined  by  those  competent  to  estimate  their  commercial  value,  for,  if 

capable  of  being  profitably  worked,  we  are  neglecting  a  valuable  industry. 
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CHAPTER   V. 

Vetch's  observations  in  Canada  had  shewn  him  tlie  h'rnitcd 
character  of  her  rcscnnxes.  The  i)o|)ulation  was  soinethiii^f 
more  than  17,000  souls,  and  several  lunidred  of  the  younger 
men  were  with  the  western  tribes  of  Indians  beyond  the  lakes. 

The  fortifications  of  Quebec  were  then  of  no  formidable  char- 
acter, and  althoucjh  the  Canadian  militia  were  capable  of  ̂ ood 

service  in  irrc^^ular  operations,  and  in  expeditions  where  en- 

durance was  called  for,  the}-  were  without  the  hi^dier  discipline 
so  necessary  in  a  continuous  campaij^n,  when  somethiuf;  more 
important  than  a  raid  is  attempted.  The  sagacity  of  Vetch 

earl}- suj^rc;ested  to  him  the  power  which  the  British  Provinces* 
possessed  from  their  pr)pulation  and  resources.  The  ilifficulty 

was  to  induce  the  N<;rthern  Provinces  to  consider  a  [jolic}- 
in  any  other  li,L,dit,  than  according  to  the  extent  it  \\(Hild 
affect  the  personal  interests  of  their  inhabitants.     They  could 

*  The  style  "Great  Britain"  was  first  adopted  the  1st  of  May,   1707.     The 
Articles  of  Union  between  Kn;jhn(l  and  .Scotland  were  signed  hy  the  Commis- 

sioners of  both  Kingdoms,  the  22nd  of  July,  1706.  On  the  3rd  of  October, 
tlie  last  Scottish  Parliament  met,  when  the  articles  were  ratified.  Towards  the 

close  of  the  year  tumults  occurred  in  Edinburgh,  and  some  of  the  other  towns  in 

Scotland,  secretly  fomented  by  the  Jacobites.  The  Articles  were  ratifieil  in 

England  on  the  6th  of  March,  1707.  On  the  1st  of  May,  the  (^)ueen  attended  a 

solemn  service  at  Saint  Paul's.  It  was  ?  day  of  thanksgiving,  and  never  in  our 
history  has  there  been  cause  for  more  devout  feeling.  A  few  days  afterwards,  the 

title  "Great  Rritain  "  was  adopted.  On  the  23rd  of  October,  1707,  the  first 
parli.Tment  of  Great  Uritain  met.     [These  dates  are  old  style.] 

In  the  present  crisis  in  the  history  of  the  empire,  the  perusal  of  the  Royal 

Speech  on  the  occasion  of  the  assent  being  given  to  the  measure  may,  to  some 

extent,  throw  oil  on  the  troubled  waters  of  political  strife. 

"  It  is  with  the  greatest  .Satisfaction,  that  I  have  given  my  Assent  to  a  Hill  for 
Uniting  England  anA  Scotland  in\.o  One  Kingdom. 

"  I  consider  this  UNION,  as  a  Matter  of  the  greatest  Importance  to  the 
Wealth,  Strength,  and  Safety  of  the  whole  Island ;  and,  at  the  same  Time,  as  a 
Work  of  so  much  Difficulty  and  Nicety  in  its  own  Nature,  that  iiil  now,  all 

Attempts  which  have  been   made  towards  it,  in  the  Course  of  above  a  Hundred 
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not  recognise  th?  necessity  of  union  of  strength  and  purpose, 

or  of  moulding  the  hardy  population  into  disciplined  soldiers. 
They  could  not  understand  that  by  some  sacrifices  of  the 
present,  a  rich  reward  lay  in  the  future,  if  not  for  themselves, 
for  their  children. 

Had  there  been  such  accord,  the  strength  of  Br'tish  America 
would  have  earlier  made  itself  felt.  It  requin  .;  some  extra- 
ordiij^try  influence  to  call  out  this  latent  feeling.  There  was 

no  desire  on  the  part  of  the  British  colonist  to  be  aggressive. 
His  one  thought  was  to  extend  trade,  and  to  live  quietly  and 

prosperously.  In  New  York,  the  effort  to  establish  trade 
relations  with  the  western  lakes  had  been  defeated :  but  the 

immense  extent  of  the  richest  soil  in  the  valley  of  the  Hudson, 

blessed  with  a  fine  climate,  would  for  years  have  sufficed  to 

satisfy  the  demand  of  settlement.  Albany  and  Schenectady 
were  frontier  po.st.s  of  trade,  and  it  was  not  until  a  quarter  of 

a  century  later  that  the  valley  of  the  Mohawk  attracted  atten- 
tion. There  was  no  collision  between  New  York  and  Canada. 

The  one  ground  of  dispute  »vas  the  position  of  friendliness 

or  antagonism  which  the  Iroquois  were  to  assume  to  each  of 
them  respectively.  Each  government  spared  no  effort  to 
maintain  its  influence.  There  was  likcwi.se  the  desire  of  both 

to  obtain  the  furs  of  the  West;  and  the  cheapness  of  English 

goods  gave  the  British  colonist  an  advantage,  against  which 
the  French  could  with  difficulty  contend. 

New  York,  'lowever,  could  not  forget  the  attack  upon 
Schenectady.      It  was  strongly  felt  that  the  province  was  as 

Years,  have  prov'd  ineffectual ;  ami,  therefore,  I  make  no  doubt,  but  it  wiil  be 
remember'd  anc'  -poke  of  hereafter,  v  .he  Honour  of  those  who  have  bei.n  instru- 

mental in  l)ringing  it  to  such  a  happy  Conclusion. 

"  I  desire,  and  expect  from  all  my  Subjects  of  both  Nations,  that  from  hence- 
forth they  act  with  all  pos.-ible  Respect  and  Kindness  to  one  another  ;  that  so  it 

may  appear  to  all  the  World  they  havo  Hearts  disposed  fo  becor.ie  One  People. 

"This  will  be  a  gre  t  Pleasure  to  Me  ;  and  will  make  us  (juickly  sensible  of 

the  good  Effect  of  "lis  UNION. 
"  .\nd  1  cannoi.  ..ut  look  upon  it  as  a  peculiar  Happiness,  that,  in  my  Reign, 

so  full  a  Piovision  is  made  for  the  l'e.ace  and  Quiet  of  my  People." 
The  Reign  of  Queen  Anne.     Hoyer,  p.  283. 
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open  to  onslaught  byway  of  Lake  Champlain  by  winter  as  when 

the  lake  could  be  navigated.  It  did  not  add  to  the  general 

security  to  know  that,  with  this  exposed  point  on  the  frontier, 

there  was  an  enemy  to  the  north,  possessing  courage  and 

endurance  to  carry  nut  the  most  difficult  enterprise;  but  the 

feeling  with  regard  to  such  an  attack  was  stronger.t  at  Albany. 

The  general  population  of  the  province  was  led  by  the  one 

sentiment,  that  no  one  was  called  upon  to  make  any  sacrifice 

or  exertion,  in  advance  of  his  daily  duty  of  striving  to  increa.se 

his  individual  prosperity,  and  to  obtain  political  status  and 

power. 
In  New  England,  the  destructive  power  of  New  France 

had  been  brought  to  the  comprehension  of  every  person  on 

the  sea-board  in  the  Northern  settlements.  Privateers  had 

seized  her  shipping ;  her  fishermen  had  been  driven  from  the 

seas  where  they  sought  a  catch,  or  their  vessels  and  cargoes 

seized  and  confiscated  ;  if  a  crew  in  distress  had  sought  refuge 

in  some  cove,  or  if  land  had  been  visited  for  wood  and  water, 

and  the  crew  were  too  weak  for  their  own  protection,  bands  of 

Abenakis  or  Micinacs  had  surpri-sed  and  killed  them.  Settlers 

on  the  northern  New  England  territory,  in  single  homesteads 

and  in  villages,  had  been  attacked  in  the  dead  of  night  to  be 

killed,  or  w^iile  the  grey  of  the  morning  struggled  with  the 

light  of  the  burning  houses,  to  be  carried  away  captive  by 
bands  of  Canadians  and  Indians;  attacks,  which  had  lasted 

for  twenty  years.  The  King  Philip  w,m-,  which  had  raged 
from  1674  to  1676,  had  been  stamped  out;  but  the  Abenaki 

feud  was  unending.  When  pressed  by  numbers,  they  took 

refuge  in  Canada;  and  it  was  from  their  villages  on  the  Saint 

I-'rancis  and  the  Becancour,  that  they  were  incitetl  to  these 
forays.  It  was  to  Canada  these  attacks  were  traceable,  for  it 

was  there  the  perpretators  of  them  found  protection. 
Vetch,  on  his  return  from  Canada,  dwelt  on  the  chances 

Canada  offered  for  being  assailed.  He  had  there  learned  all  the 

circumstances  of  Fhip<' expedition,  and  formed  the  conclus'on 
that  not  simply  vigour  and  courage,  but  professional  skill  and 

cai)acity  were  required  for  any  enterprise  against  Quebec  to 
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succeed.  He  had  seen  the  poverty  of  Canada:  the  admitted 
powerless  condition  of  France  to  assist  the  colony  was  known, 

and  he  formed  the  conviction  that  a  thoroughly  organized  expe- 
dition against  Quebec  must  attain  its  end.  In  1708  he  went 

to  England.  He  arrived  at  a  time  when  the  proposition  to 
destroy  French  power  in  North  America  could  not  fail  to  gam 

attention,  when  sustain-^d  by  reliable  and  detailed  information. 
The  war  on  the  Continent  had  continued  for  six  years  with 
an  uninterrupted  scries  of  successes.  Marlborough  had  steadily 
advanced  in  his  career  of  victory.  Blenheim  and  Ramilies 

had  been  won.  Sir  John  Leake  had  raised  the  siege  of 

Gibraltar  the  year  after  its  capture,  and,  while  Vetch  was  in 
London,  the  news  arrived  of  the  victory  of  Oudenarde. 

Vetch's  proposition  for  an  expedition  against  Canada  to  be 
undertaken  by  a  British  fleet  and  army,  the  colonies  to  con- 

tribute their  quota  of  men,  obtained  favour;  and  it  was 

resolved  that  3,000  J^ritish  troops  should  be  .sent,  sustained  b)- 
a  powerful  fleet.  Early  in  January,  1709,  Vetch  was 

despatched  in  a  frigate  to  New  York,  with  instructions  to  the 
several  governments  ;  Massachusetts  and  Rhode  Island  \.  ore 

to  put  in  the  field  1,200  men,  Connecticut  350,  New  York 

800,  New  Jersey  200,  Pcnns\dvania  150.  To  increase  the 
good  disposition  of  the  North  American  provinces,  those 

engaging  in  the  enterprise  were  promised,  in  the  event  of 

success,  special  advantages  uith  regard  to  trade  and  posses- 
sion of  the  soil. 

By  May,  the  troops  of  Massachusetts  and  Rhode  Island 
were  ready  at  Boston.  Vetch  had  been  directed  to  shew  his 

instructions  to  Colonel  Nicholson,  who  was  to  join  as  "a 
volunteer,"  and  Vetch  was  to  introduce  Nicholson  at  the 
Councils  lu'd  with  the  several  Governors. 

A  plan  of  operations  was  formed.  Nicholson,  with  the 

troops  collected  at  Albanj-,  ;'.mounting  to  fifteen  hundred 
men,  was  to  advance  by  Lake  Champlain  to  the  attack  of 

Montre?!,  Three  months'  provisions  were  to  be  obtained,  and 

deposited  at  Wood's  Creek,  a  tributary  of  the  Lake,  acces- 
sible by  a  portage  from  the  Hud.son.     Vetch,  with  the  rank  of 

ill 
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Colonel,  in  command  of  the  New  England  troops,  was  to 

accompany  the  naval  expedition  to  the  Saint  Lawrence. 
Several  English  officers  had  left  England  with  Vetch,  to  be 

distributed  among  the  newly  raised  battalions.  Flat-bottomed 
boats,  each  capable  of  landing  sixty  men,  were  built,  and 

eight  months'  provisions  obtained. 
Francis  Nicholson,  who  was  to  command  the  expedition 

from  Albany,  had  been  some  years  in  America.  In  1688,  he 

had  been  appointed  by  James  II.,  Lieutenant-Governor  of 

New  York,  when  Andros  was  Governor.  ^^"  had  endeavoured 
to  oppose  the  Revolution,  and  complaints  of  him  had  been 

sent  to  England  by  the  militia.  In  1689  he  was  deputed  by 

♦:he  Council  to  proceed  to  England  to  report  to  the  King  the 
condition  of  affairs  in  New  York.  During  his  stay  in  Lon- 

don, Colonel  Bayard,  a  prominent  personage  in  New  York 
politics,  wrote  to  him  with  regularity,  and  in  one  of  his 

letters*  recommended  an  attack  on  Canada.  It  was  probably 
owing  to  Nicholson  bringing  this  subject  to  the  notice  of  the 

Lords  of  Trade,  that  he  was  subsequently  appointed  Com- 

mander of  the  Forces;  for  "he  had  not  .seen  troops  in  the  field 

in  his  life."f  Nicholson  was  subsequently  Governor  of  Mary- 
land. In  1700,  he  visited  New  York,  when  he  endeavoured  to 

establish  a  common  standard  of  currency  for  all  the  Provinces, 

and  in  1703  became  Governor  of  Virginia. 

When  the  expedition  was  determined  on.  Lord  Lovelace 
was  Governor  of  New  York  and  New  Jersey.  Colonel 

Nicholson  was  specially  mentioned  in  the  dispatch  announcing 
the  expedition,  as  one  with  whom  the  Governor  should  confer 

in  company  with  Vetch.  They  were  both  of  great  assistance 

in  obtaining  the  grant  of  ̂ '3,000  from  the  New  Jersey  House 
of  Assembly.     All  the  Quakers  voted  against  the  bills.     New 

*  "  Its,  therefore,  most  certaine  that  these  English  CoUonies  will  never  be  at 
rest  or  safe  till  those  ill  designes  of  the  French  be  stiftled,  by  the  subdueinj;  and 

invading  of  Canida,  which  easily  might  be  accomplished  with  some  small  assis- 

tance from  England,  by  Water  from  New  Vorke  and  by  land  from  hence." 
Albany,  5th  August,  1689.     N.V.  Hist.  Doc,  III.,  pp.  611-12. 
t  The  expression  of  Governor  Hunter.  i8th  October,  1714.  N.  Y.  Hist. 

Doc,  v.,  p.  451. 
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York  raised  ̂ 14,000.  Pennsylvania  would  do  nothing  by 

reason  of  the  principles  professed  by  the  members  of  the 

Legislature. 

During  these  negotiations,  Lord  Lovelace  died ;  *  and  was 
succeeded  a^  Governor  by  Mr.  Robert  Hunter.  The  prepara- 

tions were  energetically  persevered  in,  and  every  effort  made 

to  place  the  troops  in  readiness.  E\-ents,  however,  deter- 
mined that  the  expedition  could  not  be  carried  out.  The 

troops  remained  at  their  quarters  in  Boston,  daily  expecting 

the  arrival  of  the  ships.  The  month  of  September  came,  and 
the  fleet  had  not  appeared.  Vetch,  considering  that  the 
season  was  passed  when  the  attack  could  be  made,  called  a 
meeting  of  the  Provincial  Governors  at  Rhode  Lsland. 

Shortly  after  the  conference,  a  vessel  arrived  from  England, 
on  the  I  ith  of  October,  to  inform  the  Colonial  authorities  that 

it  had  been  necessary  to  send  the  troops  to  Portugal,  f  and 

that  the  enterprise  must  be  postponed.  The  Colonial 

governors  were  left  to  determine  if  they  would  send  an  ex- 
pedition against  Nova  Scotia  with  the  force  they  possessed. 

As  the  Commander  of  the  British  men-of-war  on  the  station 

would  not  entertain  the  proposition,  the  New  England  troops 
returned  to  their  homes. 

Nicholson  advanced  towards  Lake  Champlain,  his  force  in- 
creased by  a  large  body  of  Indians.  Excepting  the  Senccas, 

who  had  been  influenced  by  Joncaire,  the  remaining  Iroquois 

*  Lord  Lovelace  had  been  appointed  in  the  place  of  Lord  Cornhury,  the 
2Sth  of  March,  1708 :  he  died  on  the  6th  of  Ma.y,  1709,  from  a  severe  cold  caught 

on  the  man-of-war  in  which  he  had  taken  his  passaj^e.  One  of  his  sons  died 
before  him.  His  eldest  son  and  successor  a  fortnight  afterwards.  Hist.  Doc. 
N.  v.,  Vol.  v.,  p.  39. 

t  The  Military  operations  in  Spain  after  the  battle  of  Almanza,  in  1707,  had 

not  prospered.  In  1709,  there  had  been  a  serious  reverse.  On  the  17th  of  May 

the  English  and  Portuguese  troops,  under  the  command  of  the  Earl  of  Galway,  and 

the  Marquis  de  Erontiera,  advancing  from  Elvas,  and  passing  the  River  Caya, 

met  the  Spanish  army,  commanded  by  the  Marquis  de  Bay,  in  the  plain  of  La 

Gudina.  Two  battalions  of  English  infantry,  abandoned  by  the  Portuguese  horse, 

laid  down  their  arms,  and  the  rest  of  the  force  could  only  letire  with  difficultv. 

Accordingly,  it  had  become  necessary  to  reinforce  the  army  in  Portugal,  so  that 

in  1709  no  battalions  could  be  sent  to  Cmada. 

\r,     i 
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had  af^rccd  to  take  the  field  against  the  French.  The  negotia- 
tions had  been  conducted  with  great  abiUty  by  Abraham 

Schuyler.  It  ha.s  been  said  that  it  was  only  by  accident  the 

expedition  became  known  •  that  Pere  deMareuil,  the  Missionary 
at  Onondaga,  having  been  instructed  to  leave  his  mission,  and 

it  not  being  ptjssible  to  descend  the  St.  Lawrence  from  the 

danger  attending  the  passage,  had  returned  by  the  way  of 
Albany,  and  there  learnt  the  facts  to  communicate  them  to 

de  Vaudreuil.  This  statement  cannot  be  accepted.  The 

Saint  Lawrence  was  quite  undisturbed  by  hostile  parties. 

There  is  a  letter  from  de  Mareuil  to  Father  d'Heu  *  who  was 
with  the  Senecas,  in  which  he  states  that  as  there  was  a 

certainty  of  war  with  the  English  and  the  Iroquois,  he  had 

accepted  the  protection  of  the  Governor's  brother,  Colonel 
John  Schuj-ler,  and  had  proceeded  to  Albany.  He  invited 

d'Heu  to  follow  his  example.  There  is  a  vote  of  the  New 
York  House  of  Assembly,  that  a  decent  provision  be  made 

for  the  French  Jesuit  and  his  servant  who  had  surrendered 
themselves. 

De  Vaudreuil  was  in  Montreal  in  January,f  where  he  had 

gathered  his  best  troops ;  the  militia  being  notified  to  be  ready 
to  march  on  the  first  orders.  A  reconnaissance  had  been 

made  by  a  strong  force,  but  nothing  could  be  heard  of  any 
hostile  advance. 

De  Lamberville,  the  missionary  with  the  Onondagas,  saw 

such  evidence  of  unfriendly  feeling  that  he  thought  it  advis- 
able to  proceed  to  Montreal.  On  his  departure,  his  house  and 

chapel  were  burned.  Joncaire  heard  in  June  of  de  Lambcr- 

ville's  proceeding,  and  was  exceedingly  indignant.  He  wrote 
to  de  la  Fresnicrc,  commandant  at  Fort  I'Vontenac,  :|:  that  de 
Lamberville  bj'  his  flight  had  placed  them  in  a  terrible  state 
of  embarrassment.  It  was  not  necessary  to  give  the  alarm  in 

Canada,  for  there  was  no  cau.se  for  despair.  Joncaire,  how- 
ever, sent  what   few  soldiers  were  with  him  to  Cataraqui,  as 

r6th  of  Tune,  1709.     Hist.  Doc.  N.  V.,  IX.,  p.  S36. 

\   . 

t  23rd  of  June,  1709,  p.  S24. I4lh  of  June,  1709,  p.  838. 
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he  did  not  feel  assured  of  their  safety.  Shortly  afterwards, 

accompanied  by  Father  d'Heu  and  forty  Senecas,  with  the 
blacksmith,  he  proceeded  to  Montreal. 

On  the  part  of  the  French,  it  was  virtually  a  withdrawal  from 

the  territory.  Had  the  attack  on  Montreal  been  successful, 
every  Seneca  would  have  immediately  become  an  adherent  of 
New  York.  This  course  had  been  taken  by  Joncairc  under 

great  pressure.  When  he  arrived  at  Montreal,  he  found  that  it 

was  de  Vaudreuil's  intention  to  order  the  abandonment  of 
Fort  Frontenac,  but  his  influence  led  to  a  change  of  policy, 

and  the  place  was  revictualled  and  reinforced. 

In  May,  de  Vaudreuil  organized  some  Abenaki  scouts, 
whom  he  pushed  forward  to  reconnoitre  on  Lake  Champlain. 

The  English,  on  their  side,  had  sent  out  scouts,  and  the  two 

parties  met.  The  French  scouts  were,  in  two  instances,  sur- 
prised with  loss  of  men,  and  the  French  lay  claim  to  a  sub- 

sequent success,  but 'little  was  done  on  either  side.  In  June, 
a  Massachusetts  officer  named  Whiting,  of  Dunstable,  *  was 
seized  and  carried  to  Montreal.  Intelligence  was  obtained 
from  him  that  the  fleet  was  expected  from  England,  with  a 
force  of  six  thousand  men.  The  news  was  sent  to  the  In- 

tendant  at  Quebec.  The  kabitans  were  recommended  to  place 

their  property  in  security,  and  every  one  capable  of  bearing 

arms  was  ordered  on  the  first  news  of  the  enemies'  ships  to 
repair  to  Quebec,  with  all  the  provisions  he  could  collect;  and 
the  same  instructions  were  sent  to  Three  Rivers.  From  two 

English  prisoners,  subsequently  taken,  de  Vaudreuil  learned 
that  ten  leagues  above  the  Little  Fall  [Whitehall]  the  English 

were  constructing  a  house  and  redoubts,  bateaux  and  canoes. 
As  the  news  became  confirmed  that  troops  were  being 

collected  at  the  head  of  Lake  Champlain,  de  Vaudreuil 
determined  to  attack  them  on  their  march.  He  organized 

an  expedition  of  fifteen  hundred  men,  under  the  command  of 

de  Ramezay.  The  advanced  guard,  under  de  Montignx', 
consisted  of  fifty  French,  and  two  iiundred  and  fifty  Abena- 

Twenty-seven  miles  from  Boston. 



1/09] 
I)E    VAUDREUILS   ACTIVITY. 

449 

T>    two 

Urned 
Inglish 
inoes. 

j  being 
Idreuil 
Miizcd 

Hid  of 

tit;ny, 
Ibena- 

kis,  with  one  hundred  Canadian  militia  under  dc  Rouville. 

One  hundred  Royal  troops  followed  under  de  la  Chassaigne  ; 
de  Ramczay  commanded  the  main  body  of  five  hundred 

Canadian  militia.  The  rear-guard,  formed  of  Christian 
Indians  of  the  Sault  and  the  Montreal  Mountain,  was  under 

Joncaire. 
When  we  consider  this  organization,  it  is  impossible  not  to 

contrast  it  with  the  course  pursued  in  similar  circumstances 

in  New  England  and  New  York.  Every  man  in  a  prominent 

position  in  dc  Vaudreuil's  force  had  distinguished  himself  by 
his  capacity  and  fitness  for  command.  The  opposite  of  this 

system  was  to  be  seen  in  the  English  colonies.  If  we  except 
the  Schuylers  and  Vetch,  not  a  name  suggests  itself  as  even 

reaching  mediocrity.  The  New  England  men  had  simply  the 
dogged  endurance  and  courage  of  their  race.  Even  with  the 

preponderating  force  brought  against  de  Subercasc  at  Port 

Ro\-al  in  1710,  it  is  questionable  if  it  would  have  been  suc- 
cessful, except  for  the  utterly  defenceless  position  in  which  the 

garrison  was  placed  from  want  of  food. 

De  Vaudreuil's  plan  of  campaign  was  not  to  wait  to  be 
attacked.  There  was  no  fear  of  the  arrival  of  ships  before 

Quebec  at  that  season  ;  and,  consequently,  he  was  able  to 

concentrate  his  forces  in  Montreal:  and  he  resolved  to  destroy 

the  boats  and  seize  the  provisions  collected  on  Wood's  Creek, 
not  far  from  its  junction  with  Lake  Champlain. 

While  Nicholson  was  waiting  at  Whitehall  for  news  nf  the 
arrival  of  the  fleet  before  Quebec,  and  for  instructions  to  march 

forward,  he  did  not  neglect  to  send  out  advanced  scouting 
parties  down  Lake  Champlain.  to  learn  what  was  before  him. 

De  Ramezay's  design  was  to  seize  Crown  Point,  and,  on 
approaching  the  place,  he  detached  .some  scouts,  who  unex- 

pectedly came  on  a  Briti.sh  picket  of  one  hundred  men.  De 
Rame/av  had  landed  in  the  meantime  above  Crown  Point; 

the  British  detachment  pursued  the  scouts  until  they  were 

witliin  range  of  de  Ramezay's  force,  and  were  received  b\'  a 
sh;;rp  fire,  upon  which  they  retreated.  In  the  night,  two 
Dutchmen  who  had  lost  their  way  were  taken  prisoners,  the 

2K 

)  . 
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onl\-   result   of  the   expedition,  which  was    not    further    fol- lowed up. 

De  Ramczay,  in  his  report  to  de  Vaudreuil,  represented 
that,  from  his  failure  to  destroy  the  entire  detachment,  the 

alarm  had  been  given,  and  a  surprise  was  not  now  possible; 
he  had,  accordingly,  held  it  inadvisable  to  proceed. 

Canada,  at  this  date,  was  ill  prepared  to  meet  such  an  in- 
vasion. In  the  Government  of  IVIontrcal  there  were  twelve 

hundred  men  between  the  ages  of  fifteen  and  sixty,  the  limit 
within  which  men  were  liable  to  be  called  to  the  field  ;  at 

Three  Rivers,  four  hundred.  In  the  district  of  Quebec,  twenty 

leagues  above  and  below  the  city,  the  number  available  for 
ser\ice  was  two  thousand  two  hundred.  Exclusive  of  the 

detachments  at  Fort  Cataraqui  and  Detroit,  there  were  but 

three  hundred  and  fift\'  regular  troops  in  the  country,  two 
hundred  and  fifty  of  which  were  at  Quebec.  The  sailors  were 

five  hundred  in  number  ;  making  a  total  force  of  four  thousand 

eight  hundred  men.  After  deducting  the  men  incapable  of 

service,  and  those  left  to  protect  the  women  and  children,  de 
Vaudreuil  would  have  had  three  thousand  three  hundred 

and  fifty  men.  He  required  one  thousand  men  to  defend 

Montreal,  and  would  have  had  only  two  thousand  three 

hundred  and  fifty  men  available  for  the  defence  of  Quebec* 
The  news  of  the  threatened  attack  caused  great  anxiety. 

As  the  summer  was  passing  awa)'  and  the  ships  were  not 
heard  of  in  the  Gulf,  and  Nicholson  remained  stationary  at 

the  south  end  of  Lake  Champlain,  the  hope  began  to  be  enter- 
tained that  danger  had  never  existed,  or  that  it  had  passed 

awa\-.  In  the  middle  of  August,  news  came  from  Bic,  one 
hundred  and  seventy  miles  below  Quebec,  that  the  vessels  had 
been  seen  ;  the  alarm  proved  false.  De  Vaudreuil,  however, 

did  not  relax  his  watchfulness,  although  frequently  discour- 
aged by  many  who  could  not  think  an  invasion  possible. 

At  the  same  time,  he  received  intelligence  that  it  was  the 
intention  of  the   British  to  construct  a  fort  south   of  Lake 

*  De  Vaudreuil  to  de  Pontchaitiaiii.     N.V.  Hist.  Doc.  IX.,  p.  S83. 
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this  occasion  the  narrative  would  be  willingly  omitted  ;  but 

its  record  is  unavoidable.  At  the  time,  it  created  as  "  great 

a  noise  as  if  the  fate  of  Britain  dej)endcd  upon  it."  The 
naval  commander  was  Sir  Hovcnden  Walker.* 

The  attack  on  Quebec  in  171 1  had  been  advocated  in  London 
by  Nicholson,  who  arrived  there  in  the  autumn  of  1 710,  after 
the  conquest  of  Port  Royal.  In  honour  of  the  Queen,  the 
new  conquest  received  the  name  of  Annapolis.  The  project, 

when  first  proposed,  had  been  supported  by  Godolphin,  and 
had  he  remained  in  power  to  organise  it,  it  would  have  been 
differently  constituted.  The  friend  of  Marlborough,  connected 
with  him  by  marriage,  his  ally  in  political  life,  he  would  have 
referred   to  the  great    Duke  the    selection  of  the  principal 

•  Walker  ])ut)li.shed  a  volume  in  his  vindication.  It  is  not  easy  to  fnul  a 
worse  written  look,  or  one  more  difficult  to  be  understood.  One  fact  it  ni.nkes 

plain,  the  ignorance,  folly  and  incompetence  of  tlie  man  whose  name  it  bears. 

We  learn  from  this  volume  that  Walker  possessed  a  small  property  in  Huntingdon- 
shire, where  he  was  a  justice  of  the  jieace.  In  tiie  war  previous  to  the  pence  of 

Ryswick,  he  had  been  a  prisoner  in  France  ;  and  at  the  period  of  his  appointment 

was  on  half  pay.  Sir  Thomas  Hardy  had  been  first  named  ;  but,  owing  to  the 

change  of  Ministry,  in  an  evil  day  Walker  was  appointed.*  He  describes  himself 

as  the  scapegoat  of  official  blundering.  "A  stick,"  he  says,  "must  be  found  to  tie 

to  a  dog's  tail,  to  hoot  him  out  of  the  parish."  He  endeavoured  to  explain  away 
the  unhappy  results  for  which  he  was  responsible,  by  dwelling  on  the  impracticable 

character  of  the  expedition,  and  the  insutficient  means  taken  to  carry  it  out.  If 
he  ever  reproached  himself  for  his  failure,  he  carefully  conceakd  the  feeling ;  there 

is  not  a  sentence  in  his  book  in  admission  of  his  shortcomings  ;  he  could  not 

recognise  that  he  had  committed  a  fault. 

The  unfortunate  event  proved  Walker's  ruin  ;  his  name  was  struck  from  the 
navy  list,  his  half-pay  taken  from  him.  England  became  painful,  so  painful  to 
him  as  a  residence,  that  he  emigrated  to  Carolina.  There  his  position  was  so 

unsatisfactory  that  he  went  to  Harbadoes,  where  he  died.  Walker  imagined  he 

replied  to  the  outcry  against  him,  by  retorting  on  his  assailants  that  they  were 

acting  "as  if  there  had  been  no  great  difficulty  in  getting  with  a  fleet  to  Quebec, 
and  that  the  taking  Placcntici  in  our  way  to  Britain  had  been  as  easy  as  a  Citizen 

riding  home  in  his  chaise  from  Hamstead  or  Hij^hgatc  calling  at  a  Cake  house  ijy 

the  way,  to  regale  himself  and  his  spouse  with  a  Glass  of  Cyder  and  a  Chees- 

cake."     Tage  28. 

*  "The  admiral  is  you"- Walker's  brother,  the  midwife."  .Swift's  Journal, 
2Sth  of  April,  171 1,  Sir  Chamberlain  Walker  was  a  celebrated  accoucheur  of 

that  time. 
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officers.  When  the  fleet  left  Enj^land  in  April,  1711  *Godol- 
phiii  was  no  lontfer  in  power.  On  the  Sth  of  Auijust,  1710, 
Godolphin  received  a  letter  from  the  Queen,  taking  from  him 

his  post  as  Treasurer,  and  requestin.Lj  him  to  break  his  staff. 

Harley  and  St.  John  con.scqucntly  became  the  heads  of  a  new 

ministry,  and  held  supreme  place.+ 
The  Parliament  which  met  on  the  25th  of  November,  1710, 

bore  the  impress  of  the  agitation  called  forth  by  the  sermon 

of  Sacheverell  ;:^  the  members  returned  were  generally  of  the 

Tory  and  high  Church  part)-,  and  the  Whig  administraticjn 
which  had  lasted  two  years  and  a  half,  were  dismissed  or 

resigned. 

There  are  crises  in  histor)'  which  have  altered  the  whole 
current  of  after  events.  In  my  humble  judgment,  the  dis- 

missal of  Godolphin  was  of  this  character.  Godolphin  would 

ha\'e  brought  his  clear  intellect  and  his  powers  of  organisation 
to  the  selection  of  proper  men,  and  to  guarding  against  every 

contingency.  What  talents  Harle\'  possessed  did  not  run  in 
this  direction.  He  was  supreme  ii  creating  hidden  influences, 

dexterous  in  the  management  of  men.  In  all  the  practical 

duties  of  statesmanship  he  was  incapable  ;  he  knew  his  own 

*  '•  Our  expedition  fleet  is  but  just  sailed;  I  believe  it  will  come  to  nothing. 
Mr.  Secretary  frets  at  the  tediousness,  but  hopes  great  things  from  it,  though  he 

own^  that  four  or  five  princes  are  in  the  secret,  and  for  that  reason  I  fear  it  is  no 

secret  to  France.'"     Swift's  Journal,  2Sth  April,  1711. 
+  The  date  of  the  appointment  of  Sir  Ilovenden  Walker  is  the  3rd  of  April, 

1711. 
i  Sacheverell's  sermon  on  the  5th  of  November,  1709,  awoke  a  contest  which 

this  charlatan  could  never  have  foreseen.  1  le  denounced  Godolphin  under  the 

name  of  Volpone  ;  with  e(|ual  indecency  he  attacked  the  Bishops  who  opposed  the 

|>crsecution  of  the  Nonconformists,  and  condemned  the  Revolution,  asserting  the 

doctrine  of  passive  obedience.  Sacheverell  was  impeached  and  found  guilty ;  to 

receive  the  mild  sentence  of  being  inhibited  from  preaching  for  three  years,  while 

his  sermon  was  condemned  to  be  burnt  by  the  common  hangman.  The  high 

Church  party  took  up  his  cause,  and  the  cry  that  the  Church  and  Crown  were  in 

danger  led  to  great  agitation.  All  classes  of  society  were  affected.  Continued  and 

serious  riots  took  place  in  London,  Bristol,  and  other  places.  Ilallam  remarks 

of  the  impeachment  "that  it  was  of  high  importance  in  a  constitutional  light,  and 
is  not  only  the  most  authentic  exposition,  but  the  mos^  authoritative  ratification  of 

,.ie  principles  upon  which  the  Revolution  is  to  be  defended." 
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deficiencies,  and  was  averse  to  assuming  responsibility  out- 

side the  circle  of  parliamentary  intrigue.*  While  the  choice  of 
the  leaders  fell  to  him,  the  organization  was  undertaken  by 

St.  John.  Brilliant,  false,  with  no  spirit  of  statesmanship, 

with  unbounded  self-assertion,  vain,  fickle,  without  experience 
in  the  duties  he  was  undertaking,  without  honesty,  with  the 
commonplace  intellect  of  Harley  only  to  hold  him  to  account, 
there  could  not  have  been  a  more  unfortunate  choice  than 

St.  John  to  conduct  these  operations. 

Had  the  command  been  given  to  capable  men,  the  deplor- 
able shipwreck  on  the  northern  shore  of  the  Saint  Lawrence 

would  not  have  happened.  Canada  had  no  power  to  resist 
such  ?.n  armament.  Relief  from  France  was  unattainable, 

and  it  is  not  possible  to  withstand  the  conviction,  that,  if  the 

enterprise  had  been  wi.sely  conducted,  French  rule  on  this 
continent  must  have  ceased  at  that  date. 

The  Commander  of  the  land  forces,  whose  memory,  with 

that  of  Walker,  bears  the  shame  of  the  failure  of  this  expedi- 
tion, was  General  Hill.  He  was  the  brother  of  Abigail  Hill, 

Mrs.  Masham.  There  were  four  brothers  and  sisters  of  the 

family,  distant  cousins  to  the  Duchess  of  Marlborough,  who 

had  placed  the  eldest  girl  in  a  position  near  the  Queen,  as  a 

tire-woman,  in  the  belief  that  her  fidelity  could  be  relied 
upon.  Abigail  eventually  obtained  such  influence  over  the 

Queen,  as  to  supplant  her  patroness,  and,  by  aiding  Harley  in 
his  intrigues,  succeeded  in  obtaining  the  dismissal  of  the 

Whig  ministry,  and  was  able  to  exercise  control  on  the  history 

of  this  continent.  Her  younger  sister,  appointed  laundress 
to  the  Duke  of  Gloucester,  remained  with  the  Court  after  his 

death.  She  is  repeatedly  named  by  Swift  in  his  Journal,  and 
succeeded  in  gaining  the  good  will  of  this  man,  so  difficult  to 

please.    The  younger  brother  obtained  a  place  in  the  Customs. 
The  elder  brother  was  General  Hill,  who,  in  171 1,  was 

placed  in  command  of  the  troops  in  America.  The  Duchess 

of  Marlborough  has  described  him  in  her  "Vindication:" 
"Her  [Abigail    Hill's]  brother,  whom  the  bottle  men  after- 

•  For  a  further  account  of  Robert  Harley,  Earl  of  Oxford,  see  Appendix. 
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wards  called  honest  Jack  Hill,  was  a  tall  boy,  whom  I  clothed 

(for  he  was  all  in  rags)  and  put  to  school  at  St.  Albans."  "  I 
afterwards  got  my  Lord  Marlborough  to  make  him  groom  of 
the  bedchamber  to  the  Duke  of  Gloucester,  and  though  my 

lord  always  said  that  Jack  Hill  was  good  for  nothing,  )-ct,  to 
oblige  me,  he  made  him  his  aide-de-camp,  and  afterwards 

gave  him  a  regiment." 
In  January,  i/io,  on  the  death  of  Lord  Es.sex,  the  lieu- 

tenant of  the  Tower,  Marlborough  recommended  the  appoint- 
ment in  his  place  of  the  Duke  of  Northumberland,  and 

that  the  colonelcy  of  the  Oxford  regiment  vacated  by  the 
Duke  should  be  given  to  the  Earl  of  Hertford.  The  Queen, 

acting  on  the  counsel  of  her  secret  advisers,  appointed  Earl 
Rivers,  and  .sent  orders  to  Marlborough  to  name  Colonel 

Hill  to  the  regiment  vacant  by  Rivers'  nomination.  The 
Duke  asked  for  an  audience  with  the  Queen,  and  represented 

the  injury  done  to  the  service  by  promoting  so  young  an 
officer  as  Colonel  Hill,  over  seniors  of  higher  rank  and  longer 
service.  He  pointed  out  that  it  was  a  personal  mortification 
to  him  for  the  brother  of  Mrs.  Masham  to  receive  so  extra- 

ordinary a  favour.  "  It  is.  Madam,"  were  his  words,  "to  set 
up  a  standard  of  disaffection  to  rally  all  the  malcontent 

officers  of  the  army."  The  Queen  listened  with  indifference, 
and  said  coldly,  "  You  will  do  well  to  advise  with  \-our 

friends." Marlborough,  greatly  mortified,  left  London,  and  absented 
himself  from  the  Council  meetings.  But  the  intriguers,  before 

the  step  was  taken,  knew  perfectly  \vell  the  powerful  hold 

they  possessed  over  the  Queen's  mind. 
It  was  Marlborough's  determination  to  resign  his  command 

if  Colonel  Hill's  appointment  were  exacted.  He  addressed  a 
letter  to  the  Queen,  in  which  he  expressed  the  mortification 

he  had  experienced,  and,  alluding  to  Mrs.  Masham's  interfer- 
ence in  military  employments,  wrote,  "  I  hf)pe  your  Majesty 

will  either  dismiss  her,  or  myself." 
Somers  waited  upon  Her  Majesty,  and  stated  the  case  in 

plain    lan^^uagc,    representing    the    great    .services    of  Marl- 

,  } 
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borough ;  but  the  Queen  remained  passive  and  unimpressed, 

and  gave  every  indication  that  she  would  not  abandon  her 

purpose. 
With  all  the  Queen's  obstinacy,  she  quailed  before  the 

storm,  when  she  saw  it  was  threatening  her.  MarlboroMgh's 
letter,  finally  placed  in  her  hands,  strongly  excited  her  fears. 

The  Under  Secretary,  lioyle,  told  her  that,  if  the  Duke  of 
Marlborough  retired  from  the  command  of  the  army,  her 

crown  was  in  danger.  There  was  great  excitement  in  all 

quarters.  Hints  had  been  given  in  the  House  of  Commons 
that  a  motion  would  be  brought  forward  against  the  favourite, 

and  that  an  attempt  might  be  made  to  stop  the  supplies. 

The  wiser  of  those  caballing  with  Harlcy  saw  the  political 

danger  arising  from  the  resignation  of  the  Duke  of  Marl- 
borough, under  the  circumstances  in  which  it  would  have 

been  made.  The  Queen,  accordingly,  summoned  Godolphin 
to  her  presence  to  inform  him  that  she  would  not  insist  011 
the  disposal  of  the  regiment  to  Colonel  Hill.  It  was  only  by 
this  concession  she  could  save  her  favourite.  The  regiment 

was  given  to  Colonel  Meredith  ;  but  Mrs.  Masham's  brother 
was  indemnified  for  his  disappointment  by  a  pension  of  one 

thousand  pounds  a  year,  to  which  he  had  as  much  claim  as 
he  had  to  promotion  from  his  military  services. 

Later  in  the  year,  after  the  celebrated  movement  of 

Marlborough  between  Arras  and  Cambraj'  had  forced 
the  French  lines,  the  difficulty  reappeared.  When  Marl- 

borough laid  before  the  Queen  his  recommendations  for  the 
promotion  of  of.icers,  the  Brigadier  named  was  the  single 
officer  before  Colonel  Hill,  and  the  list  of  Colonels  stopped  at 

three  names  short  of  that  of  Mr.  Masham.  When  the  despatch 

was  submitted  to  the  Queen,  she  remarked  that  these  two 
names  should  not  be  omitted.  In  order  to  include  Colonel 

Hill  among  the  promotions  as  Brigadier,  she  ordered  that  all 

the  Colonels  of  1705  should  be  included.  Walpole,  who  had 
received  these  orders  from  the  Queen,  wrote  to  Marlborough, 

suggesting  that  he  should  accede  to  the  Queen's  wishes  with 
regard  to  Masham,  in  a  spirit  of  conciliation,  in  the  hope  that 



I7II] DEAN  SWIFT. 457 

the  promotion  of  Hill  would  not  be  pressed.  Such  propitia- 
tion did  not  attain  its  purposes.  Mrs.  Masham  had  the 

cunning  to  suggest  that  the  refusal  to  meet  the  Queen's 
wishes  was  disrespectful  to  her.  The  Queen,  accordingly, 
ordered  three  more  commissions  to  be  made  out  for  Colonels 

Gore,  Mill  and  Honej'wood.  Walpole,  however,  did  not  fail 
to  represent  that  there  were  twenty  German  and  Dutch 
Colonels  .senior  to  Hill,  who  would  not  serve  under  him ;  and 

he  dwelt  upon  the  difficulty  which  this  course  would  entail 

upon  the  Duke.  The  Queen,  never  iheless,  obstinately  adhered 

to  her  purpose.  "I  am  very  well  assured,"  she  said,  "that 
there  can  be  no  ill  consequences  from  it  any  further  than 

people  have  a  mind  to  make  them,  and  I  will  have  it  done." 
Marlborough  was  at  this  time  on  the  Continent,  He  was 

impressed  with  the  conviction  that  a  firm  line  of  conduct  was 

called  for.  He  had  been  affected  by  the  remonstrances  of  his 

friends  against  his  compliance  in  the  case  of  Mr.  Masham,  and, 
being  sustained  by  their  opinion,  he  determined  resolutely  to 

oppose  the  nomination  of  Hill,  and  in  this  spirit  he  wrote  to 

England.  But  Godolphin's  want  of  moral  courage  paral)'zed 
all  earnestness  of  purpose.  He  implored  Marlborough  to 

comph'  with  the  Queen's  desire.  The  Queen  had  gone  so  far 
as  to  declare,  that  she  would  sign  the  commissions  independ- 

ently of  the  Commander-in-Chief  Walpole,  communicating 

this  intelligence,  sustained  Godolphin's  view.  With  reluctance, 
Marlborough  officially  .-sanctioned  the  rank,  which  enabled 
Harley,  a  few  months  later,  to  appoint  General  Hill  to  the 
duties,  in  the  execution  of  which  he  .so  painfully  failed. 

Swift  knew  "Jack  Hill,"  as  he  always  speaks  of  him,  per- 
fecth"  well.  We  get  glimpses  of  his  character,  as  a  man  living  a 
life  of  ease  in  the  fashionable  set  of  the  day.  We  learn,  that  in 

November,  1710,  Hill's  black  footman,  Pompey,  was  a  candi- 
date for  speaker  to  the  footmen.  In  that  day  the  footmen  in 

attendance  on  the  members  of  Parliament  formed  themselves 

into  a  body,  and,  as  a  burlesque,  debated  the  public  matters 
as  they  came  before  the  House.  Pompey  had  the  Court  and 
Tory  interest  in  his  favour;  Swift  directed  his  .servant  Patrick 
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to  get  him  votes.  Hill  played  a  leading  part  in  society, 

giving  and  receiving  dinners.  On  an  occasion  when  Swift 
was  to  dine  with  St.  John,  who  allowed  him  to  name  the 

company,  Hill  was  included  in  the  list.  In  spite  of  his  failure, 
the  Court  honours  fell  thick  upon  him.  He  was  appointed 

Lieutenant  of  the  Tower,  Governor  of  Dunkirk,  and  a  Privy 

Councillor.*  It  will  be  seen,  however,  that,  in  spite  of 
this  support,  he  did  not  escape  the  condemnation  of  his 
contemporaries. 

Such  was  the  man  to  whom  was  confided  one  of  the  most 

important  expeditions  which  ever  left  the  shores  of  Ikitain. 
His  one  qualification  was  Court  favour,  obtained  through  his 

sister,  Mrs.  Masham.  Harlcy  was  one  of  that  class  of  poli- 
ticians who,  in  a  political  appointment  only  recognise  the 

chance  of  affirming  their  position.  To  such  men  the  claim  of 
merit  and  of  service  is  an  unknown  factor  in  their  combina- 

tions. Writers  who  find  cause  for  alarm  in  the  advance  of 

democratic  influences  in  the  executive  direction  of  a  govern- 
ment, mu.st  recognise  that  no  more  disastrous  consequence 

could  be  possible  under  any  constitution.  The  history  of 

this  continent  is  fertile  in  records  of  the  evils  arising  from  the 

exercise  of  prerogative  in  the  advancement  of  incompetence; 
while  modern  politics  furnish  as  flagrant  violations  of  justice 

on  the  part  of  inferior  men,  in  the  interests  of  themselves 
and  those  who  sustain  them.  There  is  only  one  safeguard 

for  a  nation,  patriotic,  educated,  honest  public  opinion,  in 

itself  irresistible.  Through  the  influence  of  a  royal  waiting- 

woman,  "Jack  Hill,"  without  a  single  qualification,  was  placed 
in  his  high  position.  He  had  good  nature,  and  was  pleasant 

company  when,  in  those  jovial  days,  he  met  men  of  his  self- 
indulgent  habits.  In  the  hour  of  trial,  he  proved  himself  to 
be  destitute  of  moral  courage,  without  resources,  incapable 

of  directing  the  enterprise  he  commanded,  and  cowed  to 
death  by  a  misfortune  which,  with  a  great  mind,  would  have 
called  forth  spirit  and  determination. 

On  the  24th  of  June,  the  fleet  was  assembled  at  Boston.     It 

*  Boyer'":  Histoiy  ̂ f  (^ueen  Anne,  pp.  534-588-605. 
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consisted  of  fifteen  ships  of  war  and  forty-six  transports  and 
store  ships.  Seven  regiments  of  the  line  had  been  embarked, 

Kirke's,  Seymour's,  Hill's,  Disney's,  Windresse's,  Clayton's  and 
Kane's,*  making  a  total  of  five  thousand  men,  with  artillery 
and  marines.  Two  Massachusetts  regiments  accompanied 
the  force  ;  they  were  placed  under  the  command  of  Vetch, 

then  Governor  of  Annapolis,  who  had  been  specially  sum- 
moned to  Boston  to  accompany  the  expedition.  A  formidable 

body  of  men  for  the  service  for  which  it  was  destined,  so  that 

success  was  on  all  sides  looked  for. -I" 

*  Except  Clayton's  regiment,  disbanded  in  1712,  and  Kane's,  in  1713, 
the  remaining  regiments  have  retained  their  places  in  the  Imperial  Army  List. 

Kirke's  is  now  the  Queen's  Royal  West  Surrey  Regiment  [the  2nd] ;  Seymour's 

the  King's  Own  Royal  Lancaster  Regiment  [the  4th] ;  Hill's  the  Devonshire 

Regiment  [the  iith];  Disney's  the  Worcestershire  Second  Batialion  [the  29th]; 

Windresse's  the  Hampshire  Regiment  1st  Battalion  [ihe  37th]. 
I  have  to  acknowledge  the  courtesy  of  Lord  Wolseley,  who,  on  my  application, 

kindly  obtained  for  me  this  information.  It  is  also  giv3n  in  the  records  of  the  4th 

Regiment,  p.  41. 

It  is  customary  to  speak  of  these  troops  as  li.iving  passed  through  Marl- 

borough's campaigns.  The  2nd,  4th  and  nth  Regiments  of  the  Line,  up  to 
1 70S,  were  in  Spain  and  Portugal.  The  2nd  was  in  the  Low  Countries  for  a 

few  months  only,  in  1702.  The  2nd  and  nth  were  present  on  the  unfortunate 

day  of  Almanza,  the  25th  of  April,  1607.  The  4th  was  at  the  taking  of 

Gibraltar  and  subsequent  defence.  I  have  been  informed  that  there  are  no  printed 

records  of  the  29th  and  37th  Regiments.  Clayton's  and  Kane's  having  been 
disbanded  in  1712  and  1713,  it  is  not  easy  to  obtain  information  concerning  them. 

A  Brigadier  Kane  was  ot  Blenheim,  and  highly  distinguished  himself.  Five 

regiments  only  were  sent  from  Marlborough's  army.  On  the  27th  of  .March,  1711, 
St.  John  wrote  to  the  Duke,  "  Your  grace,  my  lord,  has  fully  answered  all  the 

queen's  intentions  relative  to  the  t"ive  regiments  by  the  orders  you  have  been 
pleased  to  give,  and,  I  hope,  by  this  time  embarking  at  Ostend,  the  convoy  being 

gone  with  a  fair  wind  and  mild  weather."  Most  prolably  these  regiments  left  the 
encampment  of  the  allies  at  the  plains  of  Sens,  the  plan  of  that  year  having 

been  to  penetrate  over  the  frontier  on  the  sides  of  Arras  ard  Cambray. 

Difficulty  had  been  experienced  in  obtaining  recruits,  so  much  so,  that  on 
occasions  recourse  had  been  had  to  the  law  to  obtain  them.  A  l)ill  ha.l  lieen 

introduced  for  raising  a  sufficient  number  of  troops  from  such  personi  as  have  no 

lawful  calling  or  employment,*  and,  under  the  authority  of  this  statute,  the  parish 
officials  had  been  literally  enabled  to  press  men  to  serve  in  the  ranks. 

*  Stat.  4,  Anne,  Chap,  10. 
t  The  dates  given  are  old  style. 
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On  the  30th  of  Jul}-  the  fleet  sailed  from  Boston.  The 
means  of  defence  possessed  by  de  Vaiidrcuil,  takint^  the  ex- 

treme view  of  the  case,  were  limited;  three  thousand  three 

hundred  and  fifty  fighting  men,  with  the  advantage  of  the 
presence  of  many  excellent  officers.  The  plan  of  campaign 
was,  that  Canada  should  be  simultaneously  attacked  at  Quebec 

and  Montreal  by  twelve  thousand  men.  What  resistance 
could  have  been  offered,  if  the  expedition  had  been  entrusted 

to  men  of  capacity,  and  the  troops  animated  by  confidence  in 
their  leaders  ? 

Vetch  has  left  a  memoir  of  the  expedition.*  Much  embar- 
rassment had  been  felt  from  the  commencement  with  regard 

to  the  pilots;  there  were  few  mariners  who  knew  the  >aint 
Lawrence,  and  for  the  most  part  they  shrank  from  the 

responsibility  of  piloting  the  war-ships  through  the  intricacies 
of  the  navigation.  There  were  no  greater  obstacles  than 
Kirke  or  Phips  had  to  contend  agains..  Both  were  men  of 
high  qualities;  and  whatever  the  defects  of  Phips  as  a  general, 
in  placing  his  men  in  the  field,  he  was  a  bold,  able  seaman. 
He  knew  the  dangers  of  navigation,  and  was  sleepless  in  his 
vigilance  in  meeting  them. 

Vetch  introduced  to  the  Admiral's  ship,  the  "  Edgar,"  one 
Captain  Bonner,  who  had  been  appointed  pilot.  Vetch  him- 

self was  on  board  the  "  Despatch."  On  the  3rd  of  August 
the  fleet  was  off  Cape  Sable,  when  the  Admiral  sent  for 
Vetch,  and  directed  him,  as  he  had  some  knowledge  of  the 
coast  and  the  river,  to  lead  the  way;  three  small  vessels  were 

to  accompany  him.  By  keeping  two  of  these  vessels  a  league 

in  front,  a  mile  apart,  one  on  each  bow,  and  a  third  advanc- 
ing ahead,  the  direction  which  the  fleet  should  follow  would 

plainly  be  given.  Moreover,  by  following  this  order  of  sail- 
ing the  mode  of  anchorage  would  be  established,  the  vessels 

carrj-ing  the  pennants  according  to  the  colours  of  the  divisions. 
These  regulations  were  acted  upon  until  Cape  Canso  was 

passed.      As   the   fleet  were   sailing   bj'  the  coast  of  Cape 

*  Journall  of  a  voyage  designed  to  Qiiebeck,  from  Boston,  in  New  England, 
in  July,  171 1.     Samuel  Vetch,  Collection  Nova  Scotia  Hist.  Society,  IV.,  p.  108. 
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Breton,  the  three  cruisers  which  had  been  despatched  from 

Boston,  the  "Sapphire,"  the  "Chester"  and  "Leopard," 
were  met.  The  "Sapphire"  was  the  smallest  frigate  in  the 
fleet.  When  near  the  island  of  Saint  Paul,  to  the  north  of 

Cape  Breton,  Vetch  went  on  board  the  "Sapphire."  The 
captain  requested  him  to  remain  on  that  vessel.  Vetch 

pointed  out  that  he  was  in  the  "  Despatch,"  and  as,  owing  to 
the  stormy  weatner,  there  would  be  difificulty  in  transferring 
his  stores,  he  must  continue  on  the  vessel  in  which  he  was. 

Shortly  afterwards  Vetch  received  a  written  order,  that  when 

the  Admiral  desired  him  to  go  on  ahead,  the  signal  would  be 

given  for  him  to  do  so;  two  days  afterwards  the  lieutenant  of 

the  "  Sapphire  "  came  on  board  with  an  order  to  Perkins,  the 

master  of  the  "  Despatch,"  to  obey  the  signals  of  Captain 

Rouse,  of  the  "Sapphire."  The  wind  continued  fair,  and  they 
were  making  for  the  mouth  of  the  Saint  Lawrence,  to  pass  to 

the  south  of  the  Island  of  Anticosti,  when,  at  midnight,  the 

Admiral  gave  orders  to  tack,  "  to  the  great  Surprizall  of  all 
the  ffleet,  and  which,  indeed,  proved  the  accidental  cause  att 

least  of  all  our  misfortunes,  in  loseing  so  much  time  of  fair 

wind  which  would  have  carried  us  into  the  River." 
As  the  fleet  advanced  the  wind  shifted,  so  they  were  driven 

into  Gaspe  Harbour.  They  arrived  there  on  the  i8th  of 

August,  and  passed  three  days  taking  in  wood  and  water. 

There  was  a  F"rench  ship  from  Biscay  in  the  Bay,  unrigged, 
receiving  a  cargo  of  fish.  She  was  seized,  with  the  intention 

of  bringing  her  off,  and  the  crew  were  made  prisoners.  It 
was  found  impossible  to  pilot  her  through  the  channel,  so  she 
was  burned  with  the  houses  and  stores  ashore. 

On  leaving  Gaspe,  on  the  2  ist  of  August,  there  was  very  little 

wind ;  the  sea  was  calm,  but  there  was  a  thick  fog.  F"rom 
time  to  time,  the  fog  lifted  to  some  extent,  but  no  land  could 

be  seen.  Two  days  later,  there  was  a  fresh  south-east  wind ; 
no  land  had  been  visible  since  the  departure  from  Gaspe. 

Some  of  the  pilots  recommended  bringing-to  until  morning; 
the  fleet,  however,  continued  under  sail,  and  on  the  22nd  of 

August  the  Admiral's  ship  was  leading  the  way. 
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Any  one  casting  his  eye  on  the  chart  of  the  Saint  Law- 

rence may  observe  that,  about  270  miles  below  Quebec,  Point 

des  Monts  stands  prominently  out  on  the  north  shore.  The 

coast  to  the  north  of  Anticosti  continues  in  an  easterly  direc- 
tion from  the  iMingan  Islands,  until  meeting  the  Seven 

Islands,  when  it  trends  .southerly  with  a  western  inclination 
for  .some  hundred  miles,  to  terminate  at  Point  des  Monts. 

At  this  spot  the  river  becomes  narrowed  to  twenty-five  miles, 
the  opposite  point  on  the  south  shore  being  thirty  or  forty 
miles  below  Matane.  If  the  line  of  coast  as  shewn  on  the  map 
be  considered,  the  most  superficial  knowledge  of  navigation 

will  suggest  that  the  course  of  a  vessel  ascending  the  river  from 

Gaspe  is  to  keep  in  sight  the  southern  shore,  or  during  a  fog 
to  navigate  on  this  course.  It  is  idle  to  speak  of  the  river  not 

having  been  known  to  the  pilots  who  joined  the  expedition  at 
Boston.  Without  consideration  of  the  early  navigators,  of 
whom  the  tradition  alone  remains,  Cartier  had  ascended  the 

river  in  1535,  and  since  1608  vessels  had  yearly  reached  Quebec, 

with  no  better  indications  to  guide  them  than  Walker  pos- 
ses.sed.  So  gross  was  his  blundering,  that  it  is  difficult  to 
exi)lain  how  the  course  taken  by  him  was  selected.  If  the 

fog  made  it  impossible  to  determine  his  position  precisely,  the 

greater  vigilance  .should  have  been  exercised  to  guard  against 

a  casualty.  Vetch  described  his  anxiety.  "  I  do  say,"  he 
writes,  "  that  Coll.  Dudley  and  Capt.  Perkins,  commander  of 

the  Despatch  ffriggatt,  where  1  was  aboard,  will  attest  how- 
uneasy  I  was  att  the  course  the  fflag  steered  that  night  the 
Disaster  happened,  and  that  I  often  told  them  that  I  wondered 

what  the  fflag  meant  by  that  course,  why  he  did  not  steer 

West,  and  West  by  South — however,  wee  were  so  cautious  as 

to  keep  astern,  by  which  we  Escaped  the  misfortune  that  hap- 

pened to  severalls."  The  Egg  Islands,  in  the  direction  of 

which  the  Admiral's  ship  was  steering,  are  a  group  of  small 
islands,  some  twenty  miles  north  of  Point  des  Monts,  entirely 

out  of  the  course  the  ships  should  have  taken.  The  ves.sels 
were  thirty  miles  out  of  their  true  course,  running  directly  on 
to  land. 
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On  the  cvcnin^f  of  the  22iid  of  August,  the  fog  was  thick  ; 
the  pilots  had  directed  the  vessels  to  be  turned  southward,  to 

avoid  the  north  shore  and  to  keep  to  the  channel.  There 

was  no  suspicion  of  danger  in  the  admiral's  ship.  As  Walker 
was  retiring  to  bed,  the  captain  of  the  frigate  came  down  to 

report  that  land  was  not  far  from  them.  Without  examining 
into  the  weathei,  totally  setting  out  of  view  that  no  land  had 

been  seen  since  Gaspe,  as  if  the  most  ordinary  matter,  Walker 
ordered  the  fleet  to  steer  to  the  north.  It  was  to  advance  on 

certain  destruction.  By  Vetch's  description  there  was  no 
s  jrm ;  there  was  only  the  roll  of  the  large  mass  of  water  of  the 
Saint  Lawrence,  at  this  spot  sixty  miles  wide.  The  fog  broke 
from  time  to  time,  for  the  light  carried  by  the  admiral  was 

visible,  so  when  the  report  was  made  that  land  could  be  seen, 
the  disaster  might  have  been  averted  by  ordinary  prudence. 

Goddard,  a  captain  of  one  of  the  regiments  on  the  admiral's 
ship,  at  the  request  of  Paradis  the  pilot  entered  the  admiral's 
cabin,  and  earnestly  requested  him  to  come  on  deck  to  see 

where  they  were  going.  Walker  simply  laughed  at  him  and 
his  fears.  Again  Goddard  went  to  him  and  in  the  extreme  of 

earnestness  implored  him  "  for  the  Lord's  .sake  come  on  deck 
or  we  shall  certainly  be  lost,  I  see  breakers  all  around  us." 
Thus  appealed  to.  Walker  came  on  deck  in  his  dressing-gown 
and  slippers;  there  stood  the  shore  before  him;  but  still  he 
could  see  no  land  to  leeward.  The  moon  at  this  time  broke 

through  the  fog,  to  show  the  long  range  of  coast  with  breakers 

directly  in  his  front.  Walker  was  barely  able  to  extricate 

his  ship  and  gain  sea-room  ;  his  signals  were  not  seen  by  the 
fleet,  or  were  misunderstood.  Eight  transports  sailed  directly 

among  the  reefs  of  the  Egg  Lslands,  and  were  wrecked. 
Wc  have  no  picture  of  that  terrible  night,  but  it  is  believed 

that  in  two  hours  the  havoc  was  consummated.  Of  those 

present  in  these  vessels,  884  of  the  troops  alone  were  lost,  499 

were  saved.  Of  Windre.sse's  corps,  192  men  were  drowned, 
only  seven  or  eight  escaped.  Vetch  heard  the  firing  of  the 
guns,  which  he  knew  intimated  the  peril  of  the  ships.  It  was 
not  until   the  25th  of  August,  he  learned  the  extent  of  the 
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disaster :  he  writes,  "  I  Cv)nfess  the  account  I  had  aboard  of 
the  Gencrall  of  the  terrible  Tragedy  did  Kxtreamly  surprize 

and  affect  me."  * 
The  disaster  was  terrible  enough  without  exaggerating  it. 

There  is  scarcely  an  event  in  the  annals  of  our  navy  with 
which  it  can  be  compared.  Writers  following  the  example  of 

Charlevoix  have  unduly  magnified  the  misfortune.  Charlevoix 

was  in  Canada  nine  years  after  the  event,  .so  he  must  have 

given  the  narrative  as  he  heard  it.  He  speaks  of  three  thou- 
sand bodies  lying  on  the  beach  ;  among  them,  those  of  several 

families  of  Scotch  emigrants  sent  out  to  be  established  in  the 

country  after  its  conquest.  There  were  no  emigrants  on  the 
fleet.  The  bodies  of  the  women  found  were  .some  of  the 

unfortunate  soldiers'  wives,  who,  from  time  immemorial,  have 
accompanied  every  expedition  of  the  Ikiti.sh  army,  to  be 

present  in  disastrous  reverses. -|-  The  French  discovered  the 
wrecked  eight  vessels.  What  property  was  not  lost,  fell  to 
their  share.  If  any  guns  were  obtained,  they  must  have  been 
tho.se  belonging  to  the  transports,  for  the  artillery  were  not 
included  in  the  misfortune. 

On  the  25th  of  August,  a  council  of  war  was  held,  to  deter- 
mine if  the  expedition  should  be  abandoned  or  not.     It  is  not 

*  The  official  account  of  tlie  loss,  confined  to  the  Uritish  regiments,  is  as 

follows  : — 
Sllip. 

Chatham   

Isabella  .^nne  Katherine. 

Marlborough   

Smyrna,  Merchant   

Rp^'ii'icnt.  liiiibarked.       Lost. 

.  Brigadier  Hill        701  60 

.Colonel  Windresse    700  192 

"       Clayton    700  130 

"       Kane    7CX3  200 

Samuel  ami  Anne   Lieut. -General  Seymour  ....  702  (  142 

Nath.  aii,i  Elizabeth               "                  "            J     10 

Colchester                "                   "            (150 
Colonel  Kirk    700 

"       Disney    800 
Content,  New  England  Ship,  Victualler    15 

S.ived. 

40 

7  or  8 

30 

30 

7  or  8 

188 

1 80 

IS 

Total   5018         884         499 

+  The  records  of  the  2nd  Regiment  state  that  thirty-four  women  of  the  4th,  the 

37lh,  Colonel  Kane  and  Colonel  Clayton's  Regiments,  were  drowne.l.  ilie 
records  of  the  4th  give  the  number  of  twenty  women  drowned  as  belonging  to  that 

regiment  alone. 
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40 
7  or  8 

30 

30 7  or  8 
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180 

499 
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to  that 

difficult  to  conceive  that  confidence  in  Walker  was  entirely  lost, 
and,  althouf,Mi  it  was  conceded  that  the  strength  of  the  land 
force  was  sufficient  to  carry  on  the  enterprise,  the  question  was 

raised  whether  the  navi^'ation  of  the  river  was  possible.  \'ctch 
told  the  Admiral  that  Sir  William  IMiips  went  up  with  seventy 

sail,  twenty  years  back,  much  later  in  the  year,  for  he  did  not 
arrive  at  Quebec  until  the  9th  of  October,  aiul  that  tliere  was 
not  a  man  in  his  fleet  who  had  been  there  before.  The 

Admiral  asked  Vetch  if  he  would  undertake  to  carry  up  the 

fleet.  "  I  told  him  I  never  was  bredd  to  sea,  nor  was  it  any 
part  of  my  Province,  but  I  would  doe  mj-  best  b\-  goein|.r 
ahead  and  Shewing  them  where  the  Difficulty  of  the  River 

was,  which  I  knew  pretty  well." 
There  was  now  an  opportunit)'  for  General  Hill  to  shew  of 

what  material  he  was  made,  and  if  the  objections  to  his  pro- 
motions were  personal  and  unjust  ;  that,  even  if  he  owed  his 

advancement  to  Court  favour,  he  possessed  qualities  which 

established  his  claim  to  consideration.  There  have  been  many 
men  that  have  led  lives  as  frivolous  and  purposeless  as  his, 

who,  in  the  hour  of  trial,  have  shewn  the  innate  nobility  of 
their  nature.  Ilill  had  now  that  opportunity  which  so  many 

of  us,  during  years  of  depression  and  trial,  hopefully  look 

forward  to,  never  to  meet".  He  was  experiencing  that  reproof 
of  chance  which  is  the  true  proof  of  men.  Had  a  battle  been 

fought,  he  might  have  counted  on  casualties  as  serious  as  had 

been  caused  by  the  wreck.  The  men  might  have  been  dis- 
heartened ;  but  a  great  genera!  would  have  risen  above  the 

mischance,  and  would  have  imparted  to  his  followers  his  own 
determination  and  resolution.  Hill  was  no  such  man.  He 

accepted  the  ftiilure.  He  had  no  patriotic  feeling  with  regard 

to  any  deplorable  result,  which  might  come  to  pass  in  North 
America  from  the  mi.scarriage  of  the  enterprise.  His  own  weak 

nature  led  him  to  regard  as  insuperable  the  difficulties  which 
scores  of  officers  under  him,  would  have  Aiced  with  undaunted 

courage.  He  would  listen  to  no  expostulation.  The  council 

of  war  acted  as  is  generally  the  case;  it  was  resolved  to  aban- 

don the  enterprise  and  return  to  Boston.     The  "  Sapphire  " 
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fri[Tate  was  ordered  to  sail  to  Boston,  with  an  express  to  be 
sent  to  Nicholson,  to  prevent  him  proceeding  down  LakeCham- 
plain.  Vetch  still,  however,  hoped  to  see  this  decision  reversed. 
He  addressed  a  letter  to  Walker,  asking  him  again  to  consult 

with  the  captains  and  pilots  on  the  point  of  proceeding  to 

Quebec.  "As  to  the  late  fateal  Disaster,"  he  wrote,  "that 
happened,  it  cannot,  in  mj-  humble  oppinion,  be  in  any  way 
Imputed  to  the  Difficulty  of  the  navigation — but  to  the  wrong 
Course  we  steered,  which  most  unavoidably  Carrd  us  upon  the 
North  Shoar  :  who  Directed  that  course  you  best  know,  as 
to  the  navigation  from  hence  to  Tadousac,  it  was  never 

thought  upon  to  be  any  Difficulty  att  all  more  than  to  Return 

to  Capt  Brittoune"  (Cape  Breton).  He  added  that  he  was 
certain  that  General  Hill  and  the  Colonels  would  be  of 

opinion  that  there  was  force  sufficient  to  reduce  the  place, 
and  that  to  return  without  further  attempt  would  be  a  fatal 

consequence  to  the  Crown  and  the  British  Colonies. 
We  can  understand  the  depressing  feeling  caused  by  the 

incapacity  of  Walker.  The  fleet  without  a  head,  in  the  truest 
sense  of  that  word  ;  joined  to  the  argument  of  shortness  of 

provisions  as  a  reason  for  the  return  home ;  with  a  self- 
indulgent  general  of  the  land  forces,  without  force  of  character, 

unendowed  with  resolution  and  moral  courage  to  obtain  per- 
sonal weight  ;  all  these  influences  led  to  the  wish  to  avoid 

responsibility.  The  admiral  cast  the  pall  of  his  pusillanimity 
over  the  whole  expedition.  He  was  sustained  in  his  opinion 

that  the  attempt  to  navigate  the  Saint  Lawrence,  up  which 

the  French  were  sailing  every  year,  was  a  matter  of  the  great- 
est danger,  and  in  all  respects  impracticable. 

No  one  can  read  the  decision  of  the  Council  of  War,  without 

a  feeling  of  contempt  at  its  cowardice.  The  disaster  had  been 
serious  and  was  depressing,  and,  as  Vetch  expressed  himself, 

no  one  could  fail  to  attribute  the  loss  of  the  ships  to  the  right 

cause :  steering  on  the  wrong  course.  There  had  been  no 
hurricane  to  scatter  the  fleet.  There  was  a  French  pilot 

named  Paradis  on  the  admiral's  ship.  Walker,  who  sought 
excuses  for  his  conduct  in  every  direction,  never  hinted  that 
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the  man,  in  a  Spartan  spirit-,  to  save  Canada  had  risked  his 
own  life  that  the  fleet  might  be  destroyed.  The  calamity  must 

be  solely  attributed  to  the  imbecility  of  Walker.  So  far  as  the 
pilot  appears  on  the  scene,  it  was  by  his  direct  intervention 

that  the  admiral's  ship  was  saved.  With  the  experience  of  the 
severe  winters  of  Massachusetts  to  guide  him,  Walker  never- 

theless formed  the  opinion  that  in  Canada  the  ice  would  em- 
brace the  whole  depth  of  the  river,  extending  to  fifty  and  one 

hundred  fathoms,  and  idiotically  formed  the  conclusion  that 

the  only  mode  of  preserving  ships  "was  to  secure  them  on  dry 

ground  in  frames  and  cradles  until  the  thaw."  It  can  scarcely 
be  credited  that  Wallcer,  in  his  published  Journal,  spoke  of  the 
wreck  on  the  Egg  Islands  of  eight  vessels,  with  the  loss  of 
some  portion  of  their  crews  and  nearly  nine  hundred  British 

troops,  as  ha\  ing  been  the  means  of  saving  the  country  from 

a  great  calamity.  His  language  has  rarely  been  equalled  in 

folly:* The  fleet  reached  Sydney,  and  a  Council  of  War  was  again 
held  whether  Placentia  was  to  be  attacked.  Vetch  gave  his 
opinion  that  at  that  season  of  the  year  it  was  not  safe  for 

vessels  to  lie  outside  the  harbour,  and,  unless  the  larger 

vessels  were  prepared  to  break  down  the  boom  across  its 
entrance,  the  attack  would  be  hazardous.  News  was  also  re- 

ceived that  the  Feversham,  and  the  three  store-ships  laden  with 
provisions  which  had  been  despatched  from  New  York,  had 

been  lost  on  the  rocks  off  Cape  Breton.  The  store  of  pro- 
visions was  therefore  considered  in.suflicicnt,  and  it  was  resolved 

*  "  That  though  we  met  with  so  considerable  a  Loss  at  our  entrance  into  the 

River  of  St.  Laivrence,  yet  it  seems  as  if  I'rovidence  designed  that,  to  prevent 

much  more  fatal  Mischiefs,  which  must  have  happen'd  inevitably  had  we  arrived 
safe  in  Qtidwc ;  because  by  that  time  our  rrovisioiis  would  have  been  reduced  to  a 

very  small  Proportion,  not  exceeding  eight  or  nine  Weeks,  perhaps  not  above  six, 
at  short  Allowance  :  Whereas  we  could  not  have  had  any  Relief  in  less  than  ten 

Month:,  if  so  soon  ;  and  the  Feversham  and  the  three  Storeships  with  the  Provi- 
sions being  cast  away  in  their  Passage,  we  were  entirely  disappointed  of  our 

Expectations  in  them,  so  that  between  ten  and  twelve-thousand  Men  must  have 
been  left  to  perish  with  the  Extremity  of  cold  and  hunger,  wherefore  iiy  the  Loss 

of  Part,  Providence  saved  all  the  rest."  Or,  he  added,  from  dread  of  famine, 
they  would  have  been  driven  to  march  to  New  England,     p.  25. 
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to  take  back  the  New  England  forces,  and  that  the  British 

troops  should  be  carried  home.  Previous  to  leaving  Sydney, 
then  known  as  Baie  des  Espagnols,  Walker  committed  the 

folly  of  erecting  a  cross  with  a  Latin  inscription  recording 
the  title  of  the  Queen  of  England  to  the  country;  the  one 

political  act  of  this  disgraceful  expedition. 
The  fleet  left  Sydney  on  the  15th  of  September.  Swift  has 

recorded  its  arrival  in  England  on  the  6th  of  October,  and 

the  impression  made  by  the  news  of  the  disaster.  St.  John 

felt  great  mortification  on  hearing  of  its  failure,  for  it  had  been 
organized  under  his  instructions.  Hill  and  the  admiral  were 

considered  "as  having  made  wrong  step.s ;"  but,  in  official  lan- 
guage, the  loss  was  represented  as  having  been  caused  by  the 

tempest  having  driven  the  ships  upon  the  rocks.  Hill  was 

greatly  blamed  by  his  friends  for  "want  of  conduct."  One 
cau.se  assigned  for  the  return  of  the  expedition  was  the  want 

of  provisions;  the  squadron,  to  lull  suspicion,  it  was  said,  had 
not  been  victualled  for  so  long  a  voyage,  and  the  Colonies 

had  not  the  means  of  making  good  the  want.  Could  it  have 

been  possible  more  forcibly  to  express  the  incompetence  of 

these  who  organized  the  enterprise,  and  of  those  to  whom  the 
command  had  been  given  ? 

*  "The  news  of  Mr.  Hill's  miscarriage  in  his  expedition  came  to-day,  and  I 
went  to  visit  Mrs.  Masham  and  Mrs.  Hill,  his  two  sisters,  to  condole  with  them. 

I  advised  them  by  all  means  to  go  to  the  music  meeting  to-night,  to  show  that 
they  were  not  cast  down,  iS:c.,  and  they  thought  my  advice  was  right,  and  went. 

I  doubt  Mr.  Hill  and  his  admiral  made  wrong  stei)s  ;  however,  we  lay  it  all  to  a 

storm,  &c.  I  .sat  with  the  secretary  at  supper  ;  tlien  we  both  went  to  lord  trea- 

surer's supper,  and  .sat  till  twelve.  The  secretary  is  much  mortified  about  Hill, 

because  the  expedition  was  of  his  contriving,  and  he  counted  much  upon  it." — 
Swift's  Journal  to  .Stella,  6tli  of  October,  1711. 

"Jack  Hill  is  come  home  from  his  unfortunate  expedition,  and  is,  I  think,  now 
at  Windsor.  I  have  not  yet  seen  him.  He  is  jirivately  blamed  by  liisown  friends 
for  want  of  conduct.  He  called  a  council  of  war,  and  therein  it  was  determined 

to  come  back.  But  they  say  that  a  general  should  not  do  that,  because  the  officers 

will  always  give  their  o])inion  for  returning,  since  the  blame  will  not  be  upon  them 

but  the  general.     I  pity  him  heartily." — Journal  12th  ol  October. 
"I  was  to  see  Jack  Hill  this  morning,  who  made  that  unfortunate  expedition; 

and  there  is  still  more  misfortune  ;  for  that  ship  which  was  admiral  of  the  fleet  is 

blown  up  in  the  Thames." — ^Journal,  i6th  of  October. 
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Misfortune  attended  the  enterprise  to  the  last.  On  the 
9th  of  October  the  fleet  arrived  at  Portsmouth,  when  the 

troops  were  landed.  On  the  15th  of  the  month,  the  Admiral's 
ship,  the  "  Edgar,"  b)-  some  accident  blew  up  at  Spithead, 

with  "about  P'our  Hundred  Seamen  and  Thirty  of  the  In- 
habitants of  Ports)iionth,  who  went  on  board  that  Ship  to 

make  merrj'  with  their  Friends."  *  Swift  tells  us  the  accident 
was  caused  by  "  the  carelessness  of  some  rot^ue  who  was 

going,  as  they  think,  to  steal  some  gunpowder." 
Whatever  censure  was  privately  passed  on  General  Hill,  he 

suffered  no  loss  of  prestige.  No  blame  was  cast  upon  him ; 
the  tempest  and  the  shortness  of  provisions  were  sufficient 
public  explanations  of  his  want  of  success.  The  Admiral 
was  iwt  so  fortunate,  and  he  was  driven  from  England,  to  die 

a  broken-hearted  man  in  a  West  Indian  island.  The  important 

events  which  were  taking  place,  and  the  care  bestowed  b}'  the 
Ministry  on  the  suppression  of  the  true  facts,  not  only  suc- 

ceeded in  preventing  the  history  of  the  expedition  from  being 

generalh'  known  at  that  date,  but  has  likewise  led  to  the 
omission  of  mention  of  it  in  history  ;  for  the  disaster  is  but 

charily  recorded  in  a  few  lines  in  our  national  annals. 

It  is  easy  to  conceive  the  feeling  of  joy  in  Canada,  when  the 
intelligence  of  the  disaster  was  confirmed.  It  was  considered 

that  Providence  had  specially  intervened  to  protect  the  pro- 
vince and  to  save  the  true  church.  The  news  of  the  ex[)edi- 

tion  had  reached  Quebec,  where  tlie  inhabitants  had  lived  in  the 

daily  e.xijectation  of  seeing  their  enemies  appear.  The  wind 
remained  favourable,  time  pa.ssed,  and  no  hostile  .ships  were 
heard  of  as  being  below.  People  began  to  think  that  it  was  a 
false  alarm  which  had  idly  threatened  the  invasion.  On  the 

15th  of  October,  a  report  was  spread  that  two  large  vessels 

were  fifteen  leagues  above  the  city,  and  that,  on  boats  having 

attempted  a  landing,  the  people  had  fired  upon  them.  The 

alarm  rose  to  its  height,  for  the  ships  were  held  to  be  the  fore- 

runners of  the  fleet.     "  On  that  day,"  writes  the  Mere  Ignace, 

*   Uiiyer,  p.  510, 
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"  we  were  completing  a  ncnvaine*  at  Notre  Dame  de  Pitie,  to 
which  we  had  assiduously  attended.  On  leaving  mass  we 

were  agreeably  surprised  to  meet  passengers  from  France, 
who  assured  us  that  they  had  seen  nothing  in  the  river  but 

the  King's  vessel,  '  Le  Heros.'  "  The  news  of  the  wreck  of 
the  transports  soon  reached  the  city,  and  a  barque  was  des- 

patched to  learn  what  the  loss  had  been,  what  the  extent  of 
the  failure  of  the  British  in  attempting  to  ascend  the  Saint 

Lawrence.  Exaggerated  reports  were  brought  back,  scarcely 

necessary  in  the  magnitude  of  the  failure.  Men' ion  is  made 
of  General  Hill  having  distributed  in  some  of  the  parishes 

proclamations  inviting  the  French-Canadians  to  acknowledge 
the  authority  of  Queen  Anne.  It  is  not  impossible  that  some 
.such  proclamations  were  found  in  the  wrecks,  but  the  only 

place  visited  by  the  fieet  was  Gaspe,  and  there  was  no  settle- 
ment on  the  southern  shore  within  two  hundred  miles  of  the 

scene  of  the  wreck. 

In  the  height  of  the  gratitude  felt  to  Heaven  for  preser- 
vation from  this  peril,  it  was  resolved  to  make  a  collection  to 

construct  a  portico  to  the  Church  in  the  lower  town  of  Quebec, 

to  which  the  name  of  Notre-Damc  des  Victoires  was  given. 
The  preparations  had  been  vigorously  urged  forward  in 

Albany.  Colonel  Nicholson  had  arrived  in  Boston  on  the  17th 

of  July,  171 1,  and  had  lost  no  time  in  communicating  with 

Hunter,  then  governor  of  New  York.  I  lunter-f-  reported  the 
fact  to  St.  John.  He  had  just  returned  from  an  interview  with 
the  Five  Nations;  he  had  heard  Joncaire  and  dc  Longueuil 

were  in  the  Indian  country,  and  that  they  had  constructed  a 
block  house.  Accordingly,  he  had  sent  Colonel  Schuyler  to 
demand  that  the  French  should  be  sent  away  and  the  block 

house  pulled  down ;  all  which  they  performed,  though  with 
some  difficulty.  Hunter  took  energetic  steps  to  carry  out  the 

instructions  which  had  been  given  him.  The  assembly  ot 

New  York  agreed  to  raise  ;6^  10,000  with  their  quota  of  men. 

*  The  Novena  of  the  Roman  Catholic  Church.  Nine  days'  .special  prayer, 
ceremoniously  performed  as  ordained. 

+  I2th  September.     Hist.  Doc.  N.  V.,  V.,  p.  253. 
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Colonel  Schuyler  was  sent  to  Albany  to  receive  the  levies 

there.  New  Jersey  gave  ;^5,ooo.  At  a  convention  held  at 
New  London,  the  numbers  to  be  drafted  were  agreed  upon ; 

New  York  was  to  furnish  6co  troops,  Connecticut  300,  New- 
Jersey  200,  Pennsylvania  240.  The  troops  were  without  delay 
levied,  clothed,  accoutred  and  victualled  ;  the  necessary 
bateaux  and  provisions  were  obtained.  A  settlement  of 

Germans,  called  the  Palatines,  had  been  lately  established  on 
the  Mohawk  and  it  furnished  three  hundred  men.  Nicholson 

was  in  Albany  early  in  August;  and  by  the  30th,  the  forces 

were  completed  to  the  strength  required.  Ingolsby's  regulars 
numbered  600,  Schuyler's,  550,  Whiting's  Connecticut  levies 
360;  making  a  total  of  1,510.  Of  the  Iroquois,  800  were  pre- 
.sent.  On  the  ist  of  September,  news  was  received  from 
Walker,  sent  from  Gas.j;  he  asked  for  more  provisions  for 
fear  of  being  obliged  to  winter  in  Canada.  Hunter  e.xerted 

himself  to  supply  what  was  required.  He  had  in  his  stores 
bread,  beans,  and  rum.  The  frigate  Feversham  was  in  port, 

and  he  determined  to  load  her  with  provisions  and  despatch 
her  to  the  St.  Lawrence.  An  unpleasant  incident  took  place 
with  regard  to  this  frigate;  her  crew  had  become  reduced  in 

number  and  it  was  necessary  to  obtain  additional  sailors. 
In  consequence  of  an  appeal  by  the  governor  to  the  captains 

of  vessels  in  port,  several  seamen  of  their  crews  volunteered, 
including  .some  men  of  a  brigantine  from  Bristol.  Owing  to 
the  instigation  of  one  Foy,  the  supercargo,  the  crew  of  this 
vessel,  some  of  whom  had  been  drinking,  resisted  the  force 
sent  to  collect  the  men  destined  for  the  frigate;  a  tumult 

occurred,  during  which  the  man-of-war's  men  were  attacked, 
and,  when  defending  themselves,  unfortunately  one  of  the 

brigantine's  crew  was  killed.  The  matter  was  takm  up  by 
the  courts,  and,  on  insufficient,  one-sided  evidence,  the  grand 
jury  found  the  officer  in  command,  and  the  soldier  who  fired 

the  shot,  guilty  of  murder.* 

*  N.  Y.  Col.  iJoc,  v.,  p.  254-255.  r.ovi.Tnor  Humor  to  .Secretary  St.  John, 

New  York,  I2th  of  Septeml)er,  171 1.  "  One  of  y'  soliliers  l)cing  knock'd  downe 
shott  one  of  y"  crew,  who  dyed  next  day."     ..."  .Some  time  after  y*  Grand 
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There  was,  even  in  those  times,  a  bad  feeling  in  New  York 

towards  the  British  <^overnment.  Some  concord  and  sympathy 
mi.i,dit  have  been  looked  for,  in  an  expedition  against  the  power 
of  France,  ever  entertaining  the  project  of  destroying  the  North 

American  colonies,  and  carrying  the  inhabitants  into  servitude. 

Hunter's  remarks  on  this  occasion,  when  considered  by  the 
light  of  sixty  years  later,  call  for  attention.  "There  is  here, 
he  said,  ''a  body,  politic,  co-ordinate  with,  (claiming  equal 
powers)  and  consequently  independently  of  ye  great  Council 

of  ye  realm."  It  speaks  little  for  the  good-feeling  towards  the 
mother  country,  that  when  New  York  was  required  to  aid  in 

the  despatch  of  provisions  to  a  British  fleet,  sailing  up  the  Saint 
Lawrence  to  subdue  Canada,  in  the  interest  of  the  colonies, 

resistance  should  be  experienced.  Nothing  should  hive 

'  interfered  with  the  public  sense  of  the  magnilude'of  the  effort 
made  by  the  mother  country.  The  news  of  the  disaster  was 

sent  to  Governor  Hunter  by  General  Hill  *  from  the  Saint 
Lawrence,  with  instructions  to  forward  the  intelligence  to 

Nicholson  ;  notwithstanding  this  exhibition  of  feeling,  the 

Legislature  of  New  York,  after  the  failure  of  Walker,  sent  an 
address  to  the  Queen  praying  her  to  renew  the  attempt. 

In  a  letter  to  St.  John,  Hunter  related  how  he  had  detained 

as  prisoners  three  officers  whom  de  Vaudreuil  "  had  sent 

under  the  mask  of  *  flaggs  of  truce  ' — a  pernicious  custom  in 

these  parts — but  really  to  spye."  From  them  he  had  learned 
that  Canada  was  not  well  prepared  for  an  attack.  The  incident 

which  liunter  related  was  the  course  taken  by  de  Vaudreuil 

on  receiving  intelligence  that  there  was  increa.sed  activity  in 
New  York.  He  sent  three  officers,  with  a  .servant  of  Major 

Livingston,  who  had  been  left  sick  at  Three  Rivers  with 
another  prisoner,  to  ask  the  relea.se  of  M.  de  Beaunny.  On 

hearing  that  they  had  been  detained,  de  Vaudreuil  despatched 
an  Indian  to  communicate  with  them,  if  possible,  and  to  bring 

Jury  of  this  City  ])iesente(l  and  found  fjuilty  of  Murder  the  said  John  Moore  and 

Capt.  Kiggs  upon  the  evidence  of  tliat  .Supercargo  and  some  others  of  his  crew, 

not  having  thought  fitt  to  call  for  any  other." 
*   1 2th  of  November. 
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back  what  ititcllij^cucc  could  be  obtained.  The  Indian 

re[)orted  that  the  authorities  were  iictivcl)-  coliectinj;  Ixxtcaiix 
and  hiring  canoes.  Orders  were  iminediateiy  given  for  the 
mihtia  to  hold  themselves  m  readiness,  and  the  anxieties  of 

de  Vaudreuil  increased.  About  this  time  de  Longueuil 

arrived  with  six  chiefs  from  the  Onondagas ;  Joncaire  came 

from  the  Senecas  with  some  few  of  the  tribe.  They  reported 

the  Kngh'sh  were  exerting  themselves  to  obtain  the  <'u'd  of  the 
Iro(|uois.  and  to  a  great  extent  had  succeeded;  in  these  two 

tribes  there  were  many  devoted  to  the  I"'rench.  JUit  generally 
the  InH|uois  tribes  were  strongh-  in  the  luiglish  interest,  and, 
had  the  expedition  been  successful!}-  carried  out,  a  large 
force  of  them  would  have  accompanied  it.  There  were 
between  four  and  five  hundred  Western  Indians  at  this  date 

in  Montreal.  The  preceding  year  de  Vaudreuil  had  taken 
steps  to  obtain  their  services,  and  they  remained  there  during 

two  months,  w  hen  they  were  .sent  back.  What  other  force  de 
Vaudreuil  could  collect  was  concentrated  at  Chambly ;  with 

the  troops  and  militia  it  amounted  to  three  thousand  men. 

Although  the  attemjjt  of  Walker  had  failed,  it  made  a  pro- 

found impression  in  Canada;  when  de  \'audreuil  appealed  to 
the  inhabitants  to  aid  in  the  extension  of  the  fortifications  of 

Quebec,  he  obtained  their  ready  assistance.  He  was  the  more 
listened  to,  as  the  report  was  current  that  a  similar  expedition 

would  be  .soon  again  undertaken.  Fiftx'  thousand  ecus  were 
thus  collected.  From  I'Vancc  there  was  little  hope,  for  the 
Minister  wrote  that  he  did  not  believe  that  another  expe- 

dition would  be  attempted.  It  is  not  impossible  that  inability 

to  render  a.ssistance  may  have  aided  in  the  belief  The  I*"rench 
Government,  however,  was  deep  in  the  intrigue  of  separate 

negotiation  with  the  Knglish  Ministr)-.  The  French  Secretary 

of  State  knew  that  Harlej-'s  tenure  of  power  depended  on  a 
treat}'  of  peace  with  France,  to  obtain  which  he  had  shewn 
his  readiness  to  .sacrifice  principles,  for  which  the  previous 
government  of  Great  Britain  had  strongly  contended. 

I    iV  ! 
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CHAPTER  VI. 

In  the  west,  the  relations  with  the  Indian  tribes  had  become 

uncertain  and  the  Outaj^famis  or  Foxes  were  in  favour  of  enter- 
taining relations  with  Albany.  They  occupied  the  territory 

on  the  western  shore  of  Lake  Michigan,  their  hunting  ground 

extending  towards  the  Mississippi.  The  position  held  by  them 
was  the  more  important,  as  they  were  domiciled  along  Green 

bay  and  Winnebago  lake,  into  which  the  Nena  or  Fox  river 

discharges,  by  the  waters  of  which,  the  height  of  land  is 
gained  ;  the  portage  passed,  the  river  Wisconsin,  a  tributary  of 
the  Mississippi  is  met.  The  Foxes  therefore,  were  on  the  line 
of  communication  between  the  great  river  and  Canada;  Vox 

river  having  been  known  imperfectly  as  early  as  the  days  of 

Nicollet.  For  a  quarter  of  a  century  other  western  tribes  had 

been  at  war  with  the  F'oxcs,  but  b)  stratagem  and  valour  the 
latter  had  attained  a  formidable  position.  They  were  now 

attacking  parties  passing  to  the  Mississippi,  and  for  several 

leagues  of  route,  made  the  passage  of  the  h'rench  trader  by 
canoe  a  matter  of  danger;  moreover  this  tribe  looked  with 

great  jealousy  on  the  establishment  of  the  French  at   Detroit. 

Owing  to  contact  with  the  Iroquois,  they  had  had  dealings 
with  the  English  ;  to  learn  how  much  cheaper  goods  could  be 
obtained  from  them  than  from  the  French,  and  how  much  more 

advantageously  trade  could  be  carried  on  with  Albany.  They 
desired  to  see  the  Fnglish  trader  enter  their  country,  anil  it 

seemed  to  them  that,  preliminary  to  that  end  being  gained, 
the  fort  at  Detroit  must  be  destroyed. 

The  commandant  at  this  time  was  Du  Buisson,  who  has  left 

an  account  *  of  the  events  which  took  place.  La  Mothc 
Cadillac  had  been  transferred  to  Louisiana  in  17 10.  In  order 

to  commence  hostilities  against  Detroit  without  risk  of  failure, 

•  Pari.  Doc.  .MS.,  Vol.  XI.,  page  326, 
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the  Foxes,  apj)arently  with  peaceful  intentions,  established 
themselves  near  the  fort.  They  had  formed  an  understanding 

with  the  Kikapoos  and  the  Mascoutins  to  aid  them  in  their 
attacks  ;  the  latter  had  arrived,  and  the  Foxes  were  waiting 

for  the  Kikapoos  to  determine  their  future  plans.  * 
While  waiting  for  a  favourable  opportunity  to  act  with 

vigour,  news  came  of  an  Ottawa  chief,  named  Saciuima,  with 

some  I'ottawatamies  having  attacked  and  destroyed  one 
hundred  and  fifty  Masccjutins.  Such  tidings  were  sufficient 

to  call  forth  the  strongest  feelings  of  revenge.  The  Ottawas 

were  the  known  allies  of  the  French  ;  the  sentiment  enter- 
tained of  this  relationship,  blended  with  their  former  feeling 

of  ill-will,  incited  the  Foxes  to  commence  hostilities.  The 
garrison  of  Detroit  consisted  of  twenty  men ;  in  the  adjoining 

Huron  and  Ottawa  villages,  most  of  the  men  devoted  to  the 
French  were  absent  on  hunting  expeditions.  Du  Buisson 

was  fortunately  informed  by  a  Christian  Outagami  that  the 

attack  had  been  planned,  and  it  was  owing  to  this  intelligence 
that  the  fort  was  not  surprised.  Du  Buisson  lost  no  time  in 

informing  the  friendly  Indians  of  the  dangers  they  were 

exposed  to  in  common  with  himself,  and  summoned  them  to 
his  aid.  His  appeal  was  answered.  During  this  interval  the 
Foxes  remained  inactive,  their  own  preparations  not  being 

sufficiently  advanced,  and  they  were  unsuspicious  of  treachery 
among  themselves.  If  they  were  to  succeed  in  the  attempt, 

it  was  in  as  short  a  time  as  possible;  in  a  few  weeks  the  fort 

would  be  re-inforced,  and  the  tribes  of  the  Lakes  would  join 
their  enemies,  in  strength  sufficient  to  enable  them  to  act  as 
assailants. 

As  the  friendly  Indians  arrived,  Du  Buis.son  saw  that  the 

•  The  Kikapoos  and  Mascoutins  were  kindred  tribes  with  the  Foxes,  and  had 
their  hunting  grounds  in  tlie  neight)ourhood  of  the  Fox  river.  They  were  first 

visited  l)y  I'ere  Dal)lon  in  1669,  and  by  I'cre  Allouez  in  1670  and  1672.  They 
received  JoUiet  and  Marquette  hospitably  in  1673  on  their  ascent  of  the  river  to- 

wards the  Mississippi.  The  early  missionaries  found  them  tractable;  [Rel.  1^)70, 

p.  100.]  but  at  this  date  possessing  strength  and  power,  they  entertained  un- 
friendly feelings  towards  the  French.  The  Mascoutins  were  also  known  to  the 

French  as  the  Nation  du  Feu.     All  these  tribes  were  of  the  Algonquin  family. 

It 
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situation  was  chaii<i[ed  ;  in  the  jjrcscncc  u(  the  Ottawas,  the 

Huron.s,  ihc  Pottawatamics,  the  Sakis,  the  Osages,  the  Mal- 

hoinincs,  he  felt  that  the  danger  was  past.  I'urnishiiig  them 
with  provisions  and  ammunition,  he  prepared  to  take  the 

field  and  attack  the  l'\jxes,  who  pre\iouslj-  had  assumed  a 
threatening  attitude.  .\s  the  Foxes  began  more  correctly  to 

estimate  their  danger,  they  entrenched  themselves  to  await 
the  attack,  according  to  the  Indian  mode  of  defence.  As  the 

fire  from  the  beseigers  became  hot,  they  dug  holes  in  the 

ground,  and  retired  within  them.  Scaffolds  of  some  twenty 

feet  in  height  were  therefore  constructed,  from  which  a  plung- 
ing fire  was  poured  upon  the  Foxes.  The  interior  of  the 

entrenchment  was  so  thoroughly  commanded,  and  the  assault 
so  continuous,  that  the  Fo.xes  could  not  obtain  water  without 

risk  of  destruction.  They  suffered  equally  from  thirst  and 

hunger.  Nevertheless,  their  courage  was  not  depressed  ;  rather 
it  seemed  to  increase  from  despair,  and  making  flags  of  their 

red  blankets,  the)' hung  them  out,  exclaiming  tiiat  their  death 
would  be  revenged  by  their  ICnglish  white  father,  liut  the 

force  brought  against  them  was  too  powerful  to  be  resisted, 
and  they  asked  permission  to  send  three  chiefs  to  consult 
with  Du  Buisson.  The  few  French  conducting  the  operations 

were  sustained  by  so  man)-  of  the  Lake  tribes  that  Du 
Buisson  felt  it  ad\isable  to  submit  the  proposition  to  them. 
The  latter  were  all  of  opinion  that,  before  any  negotiations 
could  be  entered  into,  the  release  of  three  female  Huron 

prisoners  should  be  exacted,  and  this  intimation  was  made. 

When  morning  came,  it  was  seen  that  the  red  flags  had  dis- 

ap[)eared,  and  a  white  flag  was  flying  from  the  Indian  strong- 
hold. A  Fox  chief,  Pemousse,  with  two  warriors,  presented 

himself  before  the  French  camp,  and  asked  for  a  parley.  He 

commenced  with  the  customary  ceremony  of  presenting  a 

belt,  and  afterwards  returned  some  pri-soners,  ending  with  a 
formal  demand  for  peace.  Du  Buisson  informed  him  that  no 

negotiations  could  be  commenced  until  three  Huron  women 

held  as  prisoners  were  returned ;  the  rest  of  the  day  was 

granted  for  the  consideration  of  the  demand,  and  Du  Buisson 
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S'v<-n  up.      iiic  rcniin^t  ,,...  ,      .  "uron  Women 

">c.>  wives  a,Hl  child,.   ".,;  r    ■;,   ""  ""■  '■'"«»•  -'h 
Bu..sson  anMvcrccI  that  ,h  •  <  '"  ™™'  '"  ''''"■     "u 
•"  '"■=  Indian  ailic.     .\      ,   , "r'","";'  ""■'  """"  ""'■'•  be  left 
"-';..cd  that  there  c,  1?;^  b^  I'T  ""  ̂""^""'-^  ̂ ' 
■■"Kler;  „„d  that  if  these  ,e   i  „  '""■'  ""-"<liti..nal  sur- 
*c  l-ox  deputies  ha<l  r^l   "^    ZV'T  r^^"'"'  ™  -""  - re-commenced.  *"      "  ""  "<"•'.  '!«•■  attack  would  be -V^  by  the  surrender  of  tli,.  Il„ 

""I'"'  to  obtain  favourable     odir  ""',""'  ""  '•""«'  '>»'i 
on  rece,vi„,,  this  notilieatio  ,  w"     "v t'"''        "  '''-l'l«'"»..K„t 
t'yr  can,p  depressed,  but ,    A  1    "T"'      ''''^■>-  '"■""cd  to 

-  veswith  .lesperation.    Th  '    com  ,""  '"  '"'""'  ">-'■ 
I'ghted  tinder  into  the  l-Ve"  ,    """""'«''  'o  fire  arrows  with 
''»"«-  of  fire,  that  the  te  jr'™""™'.  -«■  --h  was  t  e 

;.-"<  -..her  furs.     The  ob      a  ;    "  tTT""  "■■'"  "^^  'I-™ 
J-'-^ich    Indians.     They  be  nn  ° ''"^•"«  '''■P'--«<l  the 

"■"I  K.He  signs  of  a   de.^"  to     b  "T  '■"'   ''"'«■■  "^  -«-'. 
•-"ch  plainly  tolcl  their  al.J;'T""   "'^  ̂°"'-'-     The 
."<-■  f<;«,  they  would  depart  fi-^^vl/'"  ,""'•""«'  '"  -'fend 
""ack.nac.  leaving  thi  I.Ve  ch      '"'"''  '"'""'"'  ">  ̂ ''M- 

'•'«<-■-■     M  a  council  summ        ,  u    ""  '"  "'°  ™"cy  of  the 

""'  ">"'  '"eircoura;   :    d'efZ:     ̂   '"'  ""''"'"■  '^'^  P""^ 
™«-«,  and,  if  the/u-o    dt^:"r;;"  ""■  --'f""amin, 
rfc  .vered  fron,  a  desperate  e  e mv      p'       ''  "'""''  ""=  '''>■■  "" 
••■nd,  as  some  of  the  leadin-  eh"fs       ''■*"''  '""'^  'I'^'ributed, 
"»'  »aid.  it  „,as  resolved   to  t,       "'  ""'''""=''  "•"'  "'»' 
a^^ault  was  again  vigorouslv  ,  '  ""  '"  ""^  »«^<^l<-     The 

»'>■  l;ope  lay  i„  the':™  pfa ̂  t;  T  '^'^  --  "-  "■  el 
They  had  lost  eighty  of  the^  ne  tf  ™'  "'■''^■'■«'  ">""• 
bod,es,  which  they  could  no  r™" '.  '  '  ''""'''  '""^  ">e  dead 
They  were  tortured  by  hu„4r  2  tv''"'  '"^''"'"^'  "«■■  '^"■"P- 

'°  the  French,  asking  for  ,  ™  ",^"  *'"''  ̂""  -*.-'"  they  sent 

•■'  -P'y  .n  no  way  more   fav^u  ab  ."T,:    "'     ̂"'^  *•'"-" 

"'  ""=  answer  »hich   they 
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had    received    was   repeated,  and   they  were  called    upon   to 
consider  it. 

The  siege  had  lasted  nineteen  days.  The  hard  terms 

offered  to  the  Foxes  literally  cut  off  all  hope,  and  their  only 
salvation  was  to  be  found  in  an  abandonment  of  their  position. 

A  stormy  nitrht  ̂ ave  them  the  chance  of  escape;  they  crept 
out  of  the  fort  by  stealth,  eluding  the  iKjtice  of  the  besiegers. 

They  ascended  the  river,  and  entered  Lake  Saint  Claire,  to 

entrench  th<  mselves  on  a  peninsula  about  nine  or  ten  miles 

above  wher_-  the  waters  of  Lake  Saint  Claire  enter  the  Detroit 
River,  now  known  as  Gros.se  Point.  The  Foxes  succeeded  in 

escaping  observation.  When  in  the  morning  the  attack  was 
resumed,  the  fort  was  found  to  be  abandoned.  Not  an  hour 

was  lost  by  Du  Huisson  in  following  the  Fo.xes  to  their  new 
entrenchment,  where  the  defences  had  been  prepared  with 
Indian  skill.  In  the  hope  of  being  able  to  force  the  defences, 

the  attack  was  made  without  due  caution,  and  twenty  of  the 
assailants  were  killed,  or  placed  hors  de  combat.  The  siege 

was,  accordingly',  commenced  in  due  form,  Du  Buisson  bring- 
ing up  artilllery  for  the  attack.  After  four  days  an  uncondi- 

tional surrender  was  made.  Every  man  bearing  arms,  or 

capable  of  bearing  them,  was  massacred.  Some  hundred  and 

fifty  were  spared,  who,  with  the  women  and  children,  were 
divided  among  the  Indian  captors  as  slaves.  The  tribe  of 
the  Foxes  suffered  greatly  by  this  outbreak ;  their  loss  has 

been  estimated  at  the  large  number  of  two  thousand  men. 

Their  power  for  a  time  ceased  to  be  formidable,  and  years 

passed  away  before  their  strength  as  a  tribe  was  re-established. 
But  their  power  was  not  entirely  broken,  while  their  reverses, 
and  the  ruthless  treatment  which  they  received,  made  them 
more  than  ever  the  enemies  of  the  French.  They  continued 

to  hang  about  Lake  Michigan  and  the  routes  to  the  Missis- 
sippi ;  and  three  years  later  it  became  necessary  to  organize 

another  expedition  against  them. 

Disputes,  which  in  this  case  had  assumed  the  character  of 

open  warfare,  principally  arising  from  the  hostilities  of  tribe 
against  tribe,  were  disadvantageous  in  every  way  to  French 
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intercuts.  Accordingly  M.  dc  V'audrcuil  sent  dc  Louvi^iiy 
with  several  (jflficers  of  experience,  amon^' the  western  Inchans, 
to  (juiet  feclinjjs  of  discord,  and,  if  possible,  to  obtain  the  whole 
trade  exclusively  for  the  French.  The  attempt  in  the  former 
<iircction  was  to  some  extent  successful,  for  the  fate  of  the 

l"\i\es  enforced  such  a  policy.  It  was  .seen  that  the  side 

which  the  I''rench  would  take  must  prevail ;  and  as  the  fate 
of  the  Fox  cai)tives,  left  to  the  mercy  of  the  Indian  victors,  hat! 

been  to  underf^o  the  sternest  and  most  merciless  treatment, 
the  tribe.s  were  made  to  feel  that,  if  they  were  worsted  in  the 

strui;^le,  they  could  only  expect  the  most  cruel  repri.sals.  The 

principle  of  I'rcnch  rule  was  to  consider  onl)'  the  enti  to  be 
attained  ;  it  was  rarely  they  interfered  between  the  Indian  and 

his  i)rcy;  there  were  some  stray  occasitjns  where  such  was  the 

case,  but,  as  the  fate  of  the  P'oxes  showed,  the  decision  was  one 
of  expediency  .solely,  and  there  was  no  cruelty, which  they  held 
advantageous  to  practice,  from  which  the  French  shrank.  In 
the  matter  of  trade  the  envoys  failed;  the  western  tribes  had 

learned  the  advantages  of  commerce  w  ith  Alban)-,  and  they 
could  not  be  induced  to  abandon  them. 

While  the  French  unhesitating!/  carried  out  their  pf)licy 
with  clearly  defined  views  of  what  they  were  attempting  to 

attain :  to  hold  pos.session  of  the  country  of  the  lakes  by  the 

influence  which  they  could  exercise  over  the  tribes  inhabit- 
ing it,  a  striking  contrast  to  this  untiring  energy  was  to  be 

seen  in  the  British  provinces  of  New  York,  Pennsylvania  and 
Virginia.  New  York  confined  its  efforts  to  the  maintenance 

of  friendly  relations  with  the  Iroquois.  Every  attempt  on  the 
part  of  the  governor  and  of  the  able  men  who  saw  the  true 

interests  of  the  province  of  New  York,  and  who  laboured  for 

the  adoption  of  a  sound  policy,  was  neutralized  by  the  cold- 

ness and  indifference  of  the  Hou.se  of  As.sembly.  Peiin- 
sylvania  is  prominent  in  the  history  of  the  continent  by  her 

incapacity  to  understand  the  obligations  it  was  her  duty  to 

accept,  and  when  called  upon  to  fulfil  them,  of  ignobly  avoid- 
ing their  performance.  Had  a  determined  and  well  con- 

sidered  line  of  action   been   followed  to  gain  po.ssession  of 

1 



^ 

480 

THE    HISTORY   OK   CANADA. 

[•/I, 
the  west,  the  French  would  not  have  been  able  to  secure  the 

foothold  which,  for  a  time,  they  possessed,  and  which  they 

owed  to  their  ability  and  enterprise.  The  western  tribes  had 

formed  relations  with  the  British  traders  throu<,fh  the  Iroquois, 
and  little  was  wanted  to  '^We  them  political  consistency;  but 
no  attempt  was  made  to  establish  permanent  relations,  and 
the  French,  without  molestation,  retained  the  country  around 
the  western  lakes  in  their  interest. 

On  the  31st  of  March,  17 13,  the  treaty  of  Utrecht  gave 

peace  to  the  northern  continent  of  America.  In  another 

place  *  I  have  endeavoured  to  relate  the  several  stages  of 
negotiation  by  which  the  terms  of  the  treaty  were  settled. 
As  one  of  the  most  important  events  which  affected  the 
future  relations  of  Canada  and  British  .America,  it  must  be 

considered  in  connection  with  the  political  issues,  which 

agitated  Great  Britain  in  the  last  years  of  the  reign  of  Queen 
Anne.  I  have  shown  in  a  former  chapter  the  e:<tcnt  to  which 

these  changes  influenced  the  history  of  this  continent,  in  the 
failure  of  the  expedition  against  Quebec  in  171 1.  I  am 

convinced  that  every  student  of  history  who  dispassionately 

examines  the  intrigues,  and  want  of  statesmanship,  which 

characterised  British  diplomacy  on  this  occasion,  must  per- 
ceive how  incapably  the  negotiations  of  that  peace  were 

conducted,  and  the  extent  to  which  the  advantages  on  which 

the  allies  might  have  insisted,  were  causelessly  sacrificed.  I 

must  here,  however,  content  myself  with  narrating  the  condi- 
tions of  the  treaty  affecting  this  continent. 

Great  Britian  obtained  the  Isle  of  Saint  Christopher;  the 

country  around  Ilutlson's  Bay, with  the  restitution  of  the  forts 
held  by  the  French,  from  which  inerchandise  alone  was 
allowed  to  be  removed  ;  Nova  Scotia,  otherwise  called  .Acadia, 

conformably  to  its  ancient  limits;  likewise,  the  country  occu- 
pied by  the  French,  including  Flacentia  in  Newfoundland. 

Permission  to  fish  was  granted  to  French  fishermen,  with 

power  to  dry  their  fish.  The  French  retained  Cape  Breton, 
with  the  right  to  fortify  it.      The  inhabitants  of  Canada  and 

•  Vide  Appemlix, 
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other  subjects  of  France  were  bound  to  cease  molesting  the 

"Five  Naiions,"  who  were  recognized  as  having  submitted  to 
Great  Britain,  and  other  nations  friendly  to  that  power.  The 
British  colonists  were  bound  to  act  similarly  with  regard  to 
the  Indian  races  attached  to  France. 

During  the  negotiations  F"rance  made  great  efforts  to  retain 
Nova  Scotia.  She  offered  to  cede  the  islands  of  Saint  Martin, 

Saint  l^artholomew  and  Saint  Christopher  in  lieu  of  Acadia, 
with  the  Saint  George  as  the  boundary  between  the  English 

and  French  Colonies.  The  proposition  of  St.  John*  was  that 
Cape  Breton  should  be  enjoyed  in  common  by  the  two  coun- 

tries, neither  to  construct  fortifications.  The  proposal  was 
immediately  rejected. f  The  French  statesmen,  well  informed 

of  the  value  of  Cape  Breton,  clung  to  its  possession.  They 
knew  the  facility  which  it  offered  for  influencing  the  French 

population  of  Xova  Scotia,  and  that  it  was  the  place  from 

which  efforts  might  be  made  to  regain  the  territory  they  were 
ceding. 

When  the  determination  was  formed  on  the  part  of  Great 

Britain  not  to  give  up  Acadia,  it  is  astonishing  that  the  pos- 
.session  of  Cape  Breton  was  not  likewise  exacted,  especially 

as  the  French  would  not  part  with  the  right  to  fortify  it.  The 
abandonment  of  the  island  to  France  could  only  be  the  source 

of  future  contention.  The  specious  pretext  that  the  French 
required  an  island  at  the  entrance  of  the  Saint  Lawrence,  and 

that  island,  Cape  Breton,  should  never  have  been  listened  to. 

The  true  character  of  the  demand,  however,  was  not  under- 
tood  by  the  British  negotiators.  A  few  years  only  were 

required  for  Cape  Breton  to  become  the  focus  of  intrigue,  to 
make  the  Acadians  the  dangerous  population  they  became. 

The  view  which  the  treaty  expressed  with  regard  to  the 

Five  Nations  was  not  accepted  by  them.  Many  of  the  Onon- 
dagas  and  Senecas,  owing  to  the  presence  of  the  missionaries, 

had  strong  sympathies  with  the  French.  The  ceremonies  of 
the  Roman  Catholic  Church,  in  connection  with  the  conduct  of 
the  missionaries  living   among  them,  and   devoted  to  their 

24th  of  May,  1712. +  Sth  of  June. 30 
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interests,  exercised  great  influence  on  their  personal  feeling. 
The  efforts  from  Albany  in  this  direction  had  never  been 

of  importance.  There  is  little  to  assure  us  that  the  Pro- 
testant missionaries  in  any  remarkable  manner  exerted 

themselves  to  obtain  the  religious  sympathy,  or  the  political 

good  will  of  the  Five  Nations. 

During  the  next  twelve  years  of  de  Vaudreuil's  govern- 
ment, which  was  to  close  with  his  life,  there  was  peace  in 

Canada.  In  1713,  the  population  was  18,119  souls;  of  this 
number  4,400  males  were  between  the  ages  of  fourteen  and 

sixty.  At  the  death  of  de  Vaudreuil,  in  1725,  the  population 

was  between  twenty-eight  and  twenty-nine  thousand.  The 
year  following,  1726,  the  census  rciorts  it  to  have  been  29,396. 
During  this  interval  the  arts  of  peace  received  the  first  con- 

sideration ;  but,  except  in  the  ca.se  of  the  higher  officials,  the 

whole  labours  of  the  inhabitants  were  devoted  to  satisfying 

their  material  necessities.  De  Vaudreuil  b)'  no  means  limited 
his  energy  to  this  object.  He  clung  to  the  hope  of  regaining 
Acadia  ;  and  what  he  wanted  in  strength  and  legitimate 

ground  of  attack,  he  supplied  by  intrigue.  His  unceasing 

policy  was  to  prevent  the  Abenakis  making  peace  with 
New  England,  and  he  unfailingly  encouraged  their  attacks 

on  the  outlying  settlements.  The  narrative  of  his  proceedings 
in  this  respect  will  be  related  with  the  events  appertaining  to 
Acadia. 

For  the  five  years  succeeding  the  loss  of  "  La  Seine,"  both 
the  men  and  women  of  the  population  had  been  busily  occu- 

pied with  the  production  of  coarse  cloth,  and  in  preparing 
deerskin,  which  they  had  learned  to  dress  without  oil,  so  that 
it  could  be  used  as  cloth.  In  17 10,  the  young  Raudot  was 

recalled  to  France;  the  elder  Jacques  Raudot,  the  Intendant, 

in  1711,  was  replaced  by  M.  Begon,  who  did  not  arrive  in 

Quebec  until  September,  17 12.  He  had  been  director  of  stores 
at  Rochefort,  in  \vhich  position  he  had  shewn  much  ability. 
In  Canada  he  exerted  himself  to  the  utmost  to  develop  the 

industry  of  the  people;  he  early  understood  that  there  was 
much  which  Canada  could  profitably  produce.     The  want  of 
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money,  and  the  dcarness  of  every  article  imported  from  France, 

were  powerful  incentives  to  enterprise  and  effort.  Begon 

reported  that,  there  were  not  fewer  than  twenty-five  different 
branches  of  trade  connected  with  the  production  of  druggets, 

cloths  and  linens.  The  Sisters  of  the  Congregation  com- 
menced to  make  bunting  (ctaminc)  for  their  own  dress,  with 

black  serge  for  the  soiitditcs  of  the  priests,  and  blue  serge  for 

their  pupils  :  fabrics,  the  manufacture  of  which  is  to  this  day 

carried  on  commercial!)',  if  discontinued  in  the  convents. 
Although  the  towns  were  small,  and  police  regulations 

could  without  difficult)-  have  been  enforced,  there  was  little 
regular  observance  of  the  rules  by  which  health  is  preserved. 
There  was  no  provision  for  drainage,  no  sanitary  regulations. 

From  time  to  time  the  small-pox  appeared,  to  prove  a  terrible 

scourge;  and  during  the  last  year  of  Raudot's  presence  in  the 
country  a  disease  broke  out  at  Quebec,  known  as  "  le  Mai  de 

Sim.'i,''  by  which  man)'  persons  died.  It  is  not  unlikely  that 
it  was  a  species  of  cholera.  The  priests  and  nuns  who 

attended  the  sufferers  in  man)-  instances  were  themselves 
afflicted  with  the  disease  and  became  victims  to  it ;  and  it  is 

stated  that  as  many  as  twelve  priests  perished,  with  some  nuns. 
A  taste  had  grown  up,  especially  at  Montreal,  which  has 

been  retained  to  this  day  in  full  force  among  the  French-Cana- 
dian population.  There  is  scarcely  a  people  to  be  found  with 

whom  the  love  of  the  horse  is  more  deep  and  genuitie.  It 

pervades  all  classes,  and  in  the  management  of  the  horse  in 
harness  the  French-Canadian  is  unrivalled.  No  visitor  of 

Quebec,  but  must  have  remarked  the  skill  shewn  by  the  carter 
in  ascending  and  descending  that  city  of  hills.  As  horsemen 

the  French-Canadians  are  not  remarkable.  The  general 
attention  was  directed  to  the  breed  of  horses,  and  it  was  consi- 

dered that  it  was  given  to  the  neglect  of  animals  necessary 
for  food  ;  oxen  and  sheep.  The  possession  of  the  horse  liad 

been  followed  by  his  employment,  and  in  winter  the  sleigh 

was  replacing  the  snow-shoe.  Hitherto  the  necessities  of 
Canadian  winter  life  had  exacted  the  u.se  of  the  snow-shoe. 

The  ease  with  which  the   Canadian  youth  could   march   in 
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winter,  had  been  fully  tested  in  the  expeditions  to  the 

Mohawk  territory,  and  to  the  northern  New  England  settle- 
ments. It  was  their  skill  in  this  respect  which  had  enabled 

them  to  surprise  the  inmates  of  sleeping  villages,  on  nights  so 

stormy  that  it  was  thought  no  human  being  would  have 
found  it  possible  to  exist  in  the  woods  without  a  fire.  Like 

much  in  life,  this  excellence  was  only  attainable  by  use  and 
habit.  The  attention  of  the  Minister  was  called  to  this 

change  of  custom,  and  orders  were  given  in  the  King's  name 
that  discontinuance  in  the  use  of  the  snow-shoe  must  be 

prevented. 
The  consequence  was  that  an  ordinance  *  was  issued,  enact- 

ing that  no  Jiabitant  should  possess  more  than  two  mares  and 

one  colt.  He  was  allowed  to  the  seeding  time  of  the  fol- 
lowing year  to  get  rid  of  any  animal  owned  beyond  this 

number,  after  which  date,  any  unsold  were  to  be  killed.  The 
ordinance  sets  forth  that,  the  inhabitants  of  Montreal  do  not 

know  their  own  interest,  in  encouraging  the  breed  of  horses  to 

the  exclusion  of  other  cattle,  as  they  drew  no  profit  from  the 
horse  that  lived  on  the  forage  with  \vhich  cattle  could  be 

raised.  Nothing  was  said  of  the  neglect  of  snow-shoeing  and 
the  necessity  of  maintaining  it. 

Such  was  the  power  of  the  Intendant;  indeed,  it  penetrated 

into  every  department  of  life.  His  ordinance  established  the 

customs'  duties  ;  he  regulated  the  current  value  of  money,  he 
gave  authority  for  a  market  to  be  held,  with  the  days  of  sale 

and  the  contingent  by-laws ;  he  laid  down  the  gradients  ot 

the  streets  in  Montreal ;  he  called  upon  the  inhabitants  to  fur- 
nish carts  and  men  to  remove  the  irregularities  of  the  ground ; 

many  of  these  heaps  arose  from  the  construction  of  houses 
the  excavation  having  been  thrown  into  the  street,  and  left 

there. i"  The  inhabitants  were  held  to  keep  the  streets  in 
such  condition  that  they  could  be  travelled;  they  were  to  be 

*  13th  of  June,  1709.     Edits  et  Ordonnances,  \\.,  p.  273. 

+  "  des  buttes  de  terre  qui  se  trouvent  presentement  dans  les  dites  rues  qui 
proviennent  des  decombres  et  des  immondices  qui  y  ont  etc  jetty's  loreque  les 

habitants  y  ont  fait  batir."     Edits  et  Ordonnances,  II.,  p.  259. 
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kept  clean;  footwalks  to  be  formed;  carters  driving  on  the 
footwalk  were  to  be  fined ;  no  filth  was  to  be  thrown  into  the 

roadway;  houses  were  to  be  built  on  a  line  ;  neither  pigs  nor 

cattle  were  to  be  allowed  in  the  street;  no  liquor  could  be  sold 
without  a  license;  and,  to  prevent  provisions  being  bought 

up  by  hucksters,  the  latter  were  not  allowed  to  make  pur- 

chases before  eight  o'clock  In  the  morning.  In  the  country, 
all  the  inhabitants  were  obliged  to  do  their  share  in  the  work 

of  clearing  land  held  as  a  common. 

On  the  settlement  of  the  Cote  des  Neiges  to  the  north  of 

the  city  of  Montreal  taking  place,  the  concessions  *  had  been 
granted,  on  the  condition  that  no  liquor  should  be  furnished 

to  the  Indians,  under  the  penalty  of  the  confiscation  of  the 
grant.  An  appeal  was  made  on  the  subject  to  the  Intendant. 

An  ordinance  was  passed  declaring  this  clause  invalid.  A 
clause  introduced  into  the  concessions  in  the  Island  of  Mont- 

real, giving  the  right  to  the  Seigneur  to  take  from  the  property 

the  timber  required  for  purpo.ses  of  construction,  or  for  fire- 
wood, was  similarly  declared  to  be  void.  It  was  ordered  that 

one  arpcnt  in  sixty  should  be  so  reserved  for  the  Seigneur.  A 

difficulty  arose  as  to  the  payment  of  rent,  owing  to  the  bound- 
aries of  land  not  being  determined ;  it  was  settled  by  ordinance. 

Two  tanners  only  were  allowed  in  Montreal;  and  ̂ he  butchers 
were  held  to  divide  their  skins  between  them,  and  the  skins 

could  only  be  sold  in  the  market  to  the  tanners.  The  latter 

could  only  have  in  their  employ,  to  work  for  them,  three  shoe- 
makers and  an  apprentice.  The  missionary  of  Contrecteur, 

Saint  Ours,  Sorel  and  Vercheres,  complaining  that  neglect  was 
shown  in  conveying  him  to  these  places,  the  inhabitants  were 

ordered  in  turn  to  attend  on  him,  and  to  pay  him  his  dime ;'\ 
they  were  forbidden,  except  in  cases  of  absolute  necessity, 

privately  to  baptize  their  children. 
One  source  of  quarrel  arose  from  trapping;  many  of  the 

habitants  placing  traps  on  lands  not  their  own,  it  was  order- 

ed that  no  such  traps  should  be  placed  except  on  the  trapper's 

*  A  perpetual  lease  on  payment  of  certain  dues,  called  the  "  cens  et  rentes." 
t  The  tithe. 
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own  land.  The  Sisters  of  the  Congregation  were  forbidden 

to  make  religious  vows  or  be  cloistered,  and  such  vows  made 

in  future  were  declared  to  be  invalid.  It  was  equally  forbid- 
den to  the  Frere.s  Charon  to  take  this  course,  and  to  wear  a 

religious  dres.s.  The  inhabitants  were  called  upon  to  contribute 

to  a  bridge  or  parsonage  ;  the  material  nearest  to  the  locality 
could  be  taken,  and  the  inhabitants  in  the  neighbourhood 

were  bound  to  aid  in  obtaining  it.  Every  one  was  called  upon 

to  make  fences  around  his  property.  Slavery  was  recognized  ;* 
Negroes,  and  Panis  Indians  of  a  western  tribe,  sold  to  settlers 

in  Carolina  who  found  their  way  to  Canada,  were  declared  to 

be  full  property  of  those  that  purchased  them.  The  position 
of  the  captains  of  Militia  in  the  processions;  the  order  in 

which  the  consecrated  bread  was  given  ;  the  points  of  prece- 
dence in  Church  were  established  by  ordinance.  An  order 

was  given  that  no  quarries  should  be  opened  in  the  neighbor- 
hood of  the  fortifications  of  Quebec.  In  cases  of  disputed 

title  it  was  the  Intendant  who  ordered  the  production  of 

papers.  On  one  occasion,  a  notary  having  delivered  a  docu- 
ment marked  by  irregularity,  an  act  of  concession  unsigned, 

the  Intendant  interdicted  the  notary  for  two  months,  and 
warned  him  to  behave  better  for  the  future.  The  mode 

of  leaving  the  Church  door  was  prescribed  ;  it  had  been 

represented  that  accidents  frequently  happened  owing  to  the 
rapid  pace  with  which  Carioles  were  driven,  and  to  the  smart 

gallop  of  the  mounted  men.  We  may  learn  by  the  last  remark, 
that  it  was  then  far  more  the  practice  than  in  modern  times 

for  men  to  ride  to  Church ;  they  were  allowed  only  to  walk  or 

trot,  for  the  first  ten  arpents-\  from  the  Church  door  before 
they  increased  the  pace. 

On  the  19th  of  June,  1721,  there  was  a  serious  fire  in 
Montreal,  where  many  buildings  were  destroyed.  The  Royal 

Engineer,  de  Lery,  reported  that  the  opportunity  was  offered 

for  improving  the  burned  portions  of  the  City;  the  new  houses 

*  13th  of  April,  1709.     "En   pleine  propriete  a  ceux  qui   les  ont  achete.s 
comme  etant  leurs  esclaves."     Edits  et  Ordonnances,  II.,  p.  272. 

+  About  one  tliird  of  a  mile. 
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^verc  to  be  erected  *     r  '  '^^^ 

be  fra,ned  on  purlins..    iCed  "n  '^^■""'f''  """  '""'^  ̂ l»"W 
*n  ,■  new  structures  could  o^kkT'"'  ̂"'''""8''  "•"<-•  forbid- 

-cond  floor;  no  t^^rretl     ere i'™;"  '  °^  ''"r'  '"^'"""^U  .he 
placed  on  the  roofv>-l,ich  were  tX'  """'""S'-^"""  be 

''"d   until  the  latter  were  pToclth      ?"■'■*  ■''••'•'^  "■•'"-■ covered  with  a  double  tier  rf   h      ?     "  ""^^  ""'^  '"  be 

'""o.  the  alignment  «i   ̂  ."  f  .'j™''''^'  "<=-  buildings  „,u» 
"nly  to  raise  the  build.n.  one  sto      T'""  '™'  '"'"''^  "t  first 

»-P<eteittotwos.orieri,'  lleTea  :  *""'"  ''  ̂™""  '» A-n  attempt  was  n>ade  to  estabhsh  • 
Quebec   for  the  purpose  of  obtf'T'"'" ''■*"'■=»  below 

^f^zx  'rides':;:;?  ::r''  r  -  °^  ■^'-- ■"terment  to  the  parisi,  of  Ch "le  b      "  '°  ̂'^  *=  fees  of 

Cana,,  ,»,„;»■  f^  ̂-^^--^-nisbes  a  description  of 
bab,t  or  custom  free  from    he  !,  '         ""'"'•     '^''-^  "as  „„ 

t™l  of  the  Intendant.      T  erers'T'T',"  ''^*'°"''  ''"  """ 
render  substantial  justice  and  ''""'^"'=^^.  the  attempt  to 

'dictated  by  the  desi/e  of    C Im:,?'''?'"  k   '"  ̂ "-  "" 
government  must  rest  on  ,he<  ",  „"        "     '^  *""  ""  "'b'trary 
"bo  administer  it,modi,iec,;C':";''''''r'""'>-"f''>"- 
Pubhc  sentiment.  However  thcoretln""  '^  '^'  "■•"•■"■«"? 

be  formed  on  sound  principj  "w  "  ">'  "''"  ''^'''''"""  -^V 
determined  by  chance.     The  c  ,1  "" '"  "°  ''"''=  =«ent  is 
specially  on  this  continent  are  n  >h      T''"'"''  -'"ern.nent 
b'.t  the  fcehn,,  is  imperiSrHntfrf "'  "°-'"f-l-nt 
"re  of  themselves,  and  that  ,n  rl     ̂r'"""™'  »■"  ""^e 

^^n^ppar^t,^^^^^^  least 8th  of  July,   1721         'ru  ,.        _ 
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that  a  revulsion  of  thought  takes  place,  and  amendment  com- 
mences. Possibly  with  only  a  small  beginning,  it  makes  rapid 

progress,  eventually  to  command  the  support  of  the  majority. 

Such  a  result  must  follow  with  a  healthy  state  of  public  opin- 
ion, when  patriotism,  honesty,  and  dignity  of  character  will 

prevail,  to  exclude  the  charlatan  and  the  knave.  The  excesses 

of  popular  government  must,  in  the  end,  lead  to  their  rectifi- 
cation. What  would  be  the  feeling  of  the  modern  French- 

Canadian,  reared  in  the  healthy  freedom  of  Briti.sh  institu- 

tions, if  he  could  be  brought  back  to  the  "  institutions  et  lois  " 
of  the  rule  of  the  Intendant  ? 

When  the  newly-appointed  Intendant,  M.  Begon,  arrived, 
he  was  accompanied  by  his  family.  As  was  the  custom,  he 

took  up  his  residence  in  the  Intcndant's  palace.  It  was  situate 
outside  the  present  palace-gate,  and  surrounded  by  a  garden. 
The  front,  down  to  the  Saint  Charles,  consisted  of  meadows, 

the  property  of  the  Jesuits,  and  the  view  must  have  been  very 
pleasing.  Some  ruins  of  the  structure  yet  remain.  M.  Begon 
himself  was  a  man  of  wealth,  and  but  shortly  before  had 
been  married  to  Mademoiselle  de  Beauharnoi.s.  Her  brother 

Francois  had  held  the  position  of  Intendant  in  Canada;  her 

brother  Charles  de  Beauharnois  was  subsequently  Governor- 
General  ;  it  was  a  younger  brother  of  the  family  that  was  the 
ancestor  of  the  first  husband  of  the  Empress  Josephine. 

Madame  Begon  had  brought  from  Paris  the  latest  dres.ses,  and 

her  jewels  were  both  the  admiration  and  envy  of  many  of  the 

higher  official  womanhood.  M.  Begon  had  also  a  suite  of 

attendants.  It  was  in  the  Intendant's  palace  that  the  meet- 
ings of  the  Conseil  Superieur  took  place. 

A  fire  broke  out  on  the  night  of  the  5th  and  6th  of  January, 

1713 ;  it  burned  with  .such  rapidity  that  the  Intendant  and  his 

wife  with  difficulty  escaped  in  their  night-dresses.  Two  of  her 

women  were  burned.  The  Intendant's  valet,  in  an  attempt  to 
save  some  property, was  also  lost.  The  secretary,  in  his  anxiety 

to  preserve  important  papers,  greatly  exerted  himself;  and, 

not  having  been  able  to  put  on  his  shoes,  was  so  severely  frost- 
bitten that  he  died  in  the  hospital  a  few  days  afterwards. 
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The  losses  of  the  Intcndant  were  set  down  at  forty  thousand 
crowns;  all  the  jewels  and  the  artistic  wardrobe  of  Madame 

Begon  were  consumed.  The  building  was  immediately  rebuilt 

b}'  Hcgon,  and,  when  Charlevoix  arrived  in  the  country,  the 
palace  was  completed,  and  he  describes  the  view  as  pre- 

senting a  most  attractive  landscape.  The  new  edifice  was 

destroyed  in  1775,  in  the  attempt  of  the  revolutionary  colonial 
force  to  take  Quebec. 
When  Madame  de  Vaudreuil  sailed  for  France,  in  1 709, 

she  had  unfortunately  taken  passage  on  a  vessel  which  was 
captured.  She  was  treated  with  distinction  by  the  officer  in 
command,  and  sent  to  France.  Mme.  de  Vaudreuil  was  born 

on  the  Saint  John,  in  the  earlier  days  of  Acadian  settlement, 

in  1673,  and  was  the  god-daughter  of  de  Frontenac.  She 

must  have  been  then  in  the  pride  of  her  beauty,  thirty-six 
years  of  age.  She  attracted  great  attention  at  the  Court  of 

Versailles,  and  acted  at  the  same  time  with  prudence.  That 

she  was  deficient  neither  in  wit  nor  manner,  is  proved  by  her 

having  impressed  the  cynical  Saint  Simon.  IMadame  de 

Vaudreuil  had  passed  her  youth  in  Acadia,  and  her  experience 

of  g(xjd  society  had  been  obtained  in  Canada,  furnishing  one 
of  the  many  proofs  that  social  success  is  greatly  the  result  of 

quick  observation,  and  natural  gift  of  manner. 
After  the  peace,  M.  de  Vaudreuil  obtained  leave  of  absence 

to  proceed  to  France  to  join  his  wife,  and  left  Canada  in  the 

King's  ship,  "  Le  Heros."  During  his  absence  M.  de  Ramezay 
was  appointed  commandant. 

It  was  during  this  period  that  M.  de  Saint  Vallier,  on  his 
return  to  his  diocese,  gave  his  attention  to  the  appointment  of 

cures  throughout  the  province,  h^ourteen  were  permanently 
named.  It  was  urgently  asked  by  the  Minister  that,  when 

possible,  the  other  parishes  should  have  their  limits  defined, 

and  priests  should  be  appointed  to  them. 
On  the  1st  of  August,  1714,  Queen  Anne  died.  She  had 

reigned  thirteen  years,  and  was  only  in  her  fiftieth  year.  She 
was  succeeded  by  George  I.  without  opposition,  the  Jacobites 

confining  their  disloyalty  to  doggerel  rhyme  and  petty  tumult. 
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The  new  Parliament  met  on  the  5th  of  January,  1715,  when 

the  W'hij^s  had  a  lar^'e  majority. 
On  Septemb(;r  the  ist,  17 15,  Louis  XIV.  died,  having 

reigned  seventy  years.  Indeed,  there  were  but  three  French 
monarchs  on  the  throne,  during  the  century  and  a  half  of 
French  rule.  Within  two  years  after  Champlain  had  made 

choice  of  Quebec  as  the  place  of  settlement,  the  dai^Ljer  of 

Ravaillac  destroyed  the  (iraiid  Henri;  Louis  XIII.  died  in 

1643;  Louis  XIV.  in  1715;  the  peace  of  Pari-s  was  signed 
in  the  reign  of  Louis  XV. 

The  government  of  Canada  under  Louis  XIV.  ma}*  be 
divided  into  three  epochs  :  to  the  death  of  Cardinal  Ma/.arin, 
in  i66i,when  the  Kir:;  became  his  own  minister;  from  this 

date  to  the  abdication  of  James  II.  in  the  revolution  of  16S8, 
when  his  ambassador  was  ordered  to  leave  London  ;  and  from 

this  period  to  his  death,  during  which  he  was  opposed  by  the 
formidable  hostility  of  the  British  nation. 

F'rom  the  commencement  of  the  .second  period,  every  mat- 
ter in  Canada  was  referred  to  I^'rancc,  and,  no  doubt,  the  King 

believed  that  the  machinery  of  government  was  directed  by 
himself;  it  was  the  perfection  of  bureaucracy, with  the  addition 

that  every  official  of  rank  was  invited  to  calumniate  those  w  ith 
whom  he  was  acting.  Like  all  men  making  great  pretentions 

to  power,  the  King  was  easily  dealt  with  and  managed  b}- 
those  who  knew  his  weaknesses  anil  humored  them.* 

His  principal  service  to  Canada  was  the  emigration  directed 

*  "  Louis,  en  effet,  m.ilgre  ses  pretentions  a  ne  recevoir  ses  inspirations  (jue  de 
lui-meme  ou  dii  ciel,  et  malgre  son  active  et  jalouse  surveillance  sur  toutes  las 

parties  de  ̂ admini^ltrati(Jn,  (itait  tri.'s-susceptible  de  se  laisser  gouveriier  et  fut 

toujours  gouverni!  jusciu'a  un  certain  point  ;  plus  fort  par  la  volonte  que  ()ar  le 

genie,  il  recevait,  la  plupart  du  temps,  I'impulsionqu'il  croyait  donner  ;  seulement, 

on  y  devait  mettre  beaucoup  d'adresse  ;  (jn  etait  jierdu,  s'il  s'aperfevait  (ju'on 

visait  a  le  dominer,  et  il  tinissait  ordinairement  par  s'en  aper9evoir.  C'est'la 

I'explication  de  cette  imonstance  qui  lui  a  ete  reprochee  envers  ses  ministres,  et 

aussi  de  la  faveur  (]u'il  iiiiit  par  accorder  a  des  hommes  (jue  leur  mediocriti!'  inetlait 

k  I'abri  de  telles  ambitions.  Une  seule  personne  garda  sur  lui,  jus(iu'a  son  dernier 
jour,  un  pouvoir,  sinon  illimit6,  <lu  nioins  iniibr.anlable  ;  mai  cette  personne  tUait 

madame  de  Maintenon,  et  la  vie  enticre  de  Maintenon  fut  ie  chef-d'cf'iivre  de 

I'esprit  de  conduite." 
Histoire  de  France  de  Henri  Martin,  Tome  XIV.,  p.  4. 
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by  him  between  1665  ami  1672  ;  the  impulse  which  h-j 
K'avc  to  aL,M-iciiIturc,  by  senchn<,^  out  horses  and  domestic 
animals;  and  the  estabhshmcnt  f)f  "Lc  Conseil  Souvcrain," 
which,  imperfect  as  it  was,  was  the  means  of  administering 
justice.  His  constant  endeavor  was  to  retain  the  population 
to  the  cast  of  Montreal.  Me  opposed  settlement  at  Cataracjui ; 
Detroit  he  looked  upon  with  disfavour;  he  disallowed  the 
project  of  constructing  the  fort  at  Niagara  ;  and,  though  for  a 
time  he  listened  to  the  proposed  settlement  of  La  Galettc 
(Prescott),  no  steps  were  taken  for  its  establishment.  Michil- 
imackinac  he  desired  to  see  limited  to  a  fort;  every  attempt 
of  the  cfliircur  di-  hois  to  make  a  home  for  himself  around  the 
western  lakes  was  doomed  to  be  thwarted  b>'  the  monarch, 
whose  desire  was  to  keep  the  population  as  far  east  as  possible, 
in  connection  with  I'Vance. 

The  King's  continental  wars  prevented  him  from  giving  aid 
to  Canada ;  and  it  was  entirely  the  exhaustion  of  the  kingdom, 
which  led  him  to  entertain  proposals  of  peace.  The  comlitions 
of  treaties  he  held  of  little  weight.  When  Acadia  was  ceded  by 
the  treaty  of  Utrecht,  intrigues  to  lead  to  its  repossession  by 
iM-ance  were  immediately  begun.  The  misdirectetl  I'^rcnch 
inhabitants  that  remained  were  urged  to  attack  the  traveller, 
the  new  settler,  or  thesoldier  of  the  garrison  who  strayed  from 
the  cantonment;  there  was  no  .safety  a  mile  from  the  fort 
gates.  The  Acadian  was  encouraged  to  entertain  undying 
hatreil  to  the  British  as  enemies  of  his  race  and  church;  all 
compromise  was  to  be  rejected  ;  all  consitleration  receivetl.  to 
be  ignored  ;  all  offers  of  friendliness  to  be  refused.  This  system 
of  hostility  was  persevered  in  to  bring  terrible  retribution  on 
the  unhappy  population,  who  would  listen  to  no  terms  of 
accommodation. 

The  misery,  desolation,  personal  suffering  and  destruction 
of  life  which  Louis  caused  on  this  continent,  never  cost  him  a 
thought.  lie  was  directly  responsible  for  the  miserable  raids 
on  the  New  England  frontier,  and  the  slaughter  of  the  settlers. 
As  he  expressed  it,  he  desired  to  make  their  results  more 
profitable  to  the  Indian,  than  hunting. 
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The  influence  which  he  exercised  over  Canada  was  the 

nominal  revision  of  the  course  submitted  by  the  officials  from 

the  province;  but  no  principle  of  },fovernmcnt  can  be  traced 
to  show  that  he  knew  the  requirements  of  the  country,  and  was 

desirous  of  establishing;  the  system  most  capable  of  advan- 
cing its  interests.  If  Louis  XIV.  had  a  pc  licy  with  regard  to 

New  I'Vance,  with  the  exception  of  the  determination,  if 
possible,  to  turn  the  British  Colonies  into  a  wilderness,  we 
search  in  vain  for  evidence  of  the  fact. 

What  docs  French  Canada  owe  to  the  long  career  of  Louis 

XIV.?  Nearly  half  the  period  of  her  political  being!  He 

failed  to  develop  her  commerce;  he  embroiled  the  countr)-  in 
war;  he  was  the  cause  of  limiting  the  population  by  his 

bigotry;  he  prevented  the  extension  of  settlement ;  his  colony 
was  always  on  the  verge  of  bankruptcy  ;  he  allowed  the  people 

no  part  in  the  government;  the  law  was  the  mere  arbitrarj- 
opinion  of  his  officers;  he  permitted  neither  personal  liberty, 
freedom  of  commerce  nor  freedom  of  conscience.  It  was  from 

his  impulse,  that  the  institutions  under  which  Canadians  lived 
had  no  vitality.  There  was  no  encouragement  for  any  merit 
but  that  of  the  partisan  leader;  and  when,  the  shock  came,  and 

the  might  of  Great  Britain  was  embarked  in  the  contest,  ant! 
the  British  colonists  learned  to  concentrate  and  discipline  their 

strength  and  courage,  a  few  months  shewed  how  frail  the 

tenure  of  French  power  was  in  America.  Fort)'-four  )-ears 
after  the  death  of  Louis  XIV.,  his  whole  system  of  government 

on  this  continent  collapsed,  in  the  days  of  his  dissolute  and 

contemptible  successor. 

The  funeral  of  Louis  XIV.  on  the  9th  of  September  may  be  named  as  a  warn- 
ing to  absolutism.  It  was  characterized  by  a  want  of  ceremony  even  to  the  absence 

of  what  was  decent,  and  was  greeted  only  by  taunts  and  jeers  from  the  crowd.  Let 

Voltaire  describe  the  scene:  "J'ai  vu  de  petites  tentes  dressees  sur  le  chemin  de 
Saint-Denis.  On  y  bunait,  on  y  chantait,  on  y  riait.  Le  jtisuite  Le  Tellier  etait 

la  principale  cause  de  cette  joie  universelle.  J'entendis  plusieurs  spectateurs  dire 
qu'il  fallait  mettre  le  feu  aux  maisons  des  j^suites  avec  les  flambeaux  qui  eclair- 
aient  la  pompe  funebre."  [Siecle  de  Louis  XIV.,  chap.  XXVIII.]  This  was  the 
end  of  the  half  century  of  "  glory,"  which  to  this  day  dazzles  the  imagination  of 
even  soUer-minded  Fienchmen. 
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THE  CONSTITUTION  "  UNIGENITUS." 

In  1 713,  the  celebrated  Constitution  "  L'nijjenitus "  was  promulgated  in 
Canada.  This  remarkal)Ie  declaration  against  Jansenism  calls  for  mention  in 

this  history.  The  title  is  derived  from  the  openinjj  words,  "  L'nigenitus  I)ei 
Fiiius;"  the  propositions  were  one  hu-.dred  and  one  in  number,  .against  the 
doctrines  contained  in  I'ere  <,>uesners  book  on  the  New  Test.iment.  It  was  the 
work  of  the  remorseless  intriguer  Le  Tellier,  and  the  Jesuits  who  sustained  him. 

The^)/(i/)(/<7;/i'M/of  the  Sthof  September,  I7i3,whicii  made  it  known  in  Canada, 

is  incomplete,*  both  in  the  Archives  of  the  .Seminary  and  tlie  Ilnpital  (itnrrai 

of  (Jueliee.  The  concluding  wonls  of  the  document  are,  "  witliout  in  any  way 
changing  the  terms  in  which  it  [the  Constitution]  is  conceived.  We  notify  you 

that  tiie  Church — "  Here  the  document  ends,  plainly  mutilated  by  design,  and 
so  remains. 

The  sujipression  of  any  opinion,  given  at  this  time  by  Uishop  de  Saint  Vallier,  is 

not  difficult  of  explanation.  The  puiilication  of  the  liull  was  the  cause  of  great 

discord  in  I'rance.  Forty  bishops  accepted  it,  but,  for  the  most  part,  appended  a 
series  of  explanations,  to  be  looked  upon  as  so  many  apologies,  which  were 

unfavourably  received  at  Rome.  Cardinal  de  Noailles,  the  ArchbiHhop  of  I'aris, 
with  seven  bishops,  protested  against  it,  and  addresseil  a  letter  to  the  Tope,  asking 
for  explanations  as  to  the  meaning  of  the  text.  The  King,  prompted  by  Le 

Tellier,  refused  to  forward  the  document,  and  caused  the  bull  to  be  registereil  in 

the  parliament  of  Paris.  Tiiat  t)ody  did  not  conceal  its  dissatisfaction,  but  dared 
not  resist,  and  the  registration  was  made  with  some  reservations.  On  the  ileath 

of  Louis  XIV.,  the  ecclesiastical  party  ojiposed  to  the  bull  came  into  ])ower.  liut 

in  1720,  the  Regent,  hard  pres.sed  by  Rome,  obtained  its  recognition  from  de 

Noailles.     From  that  elate  the  Jansenists,  as  a  party,  ceased  to  exist. 

The  narrativt;  of  Saint  Simon  [XIII.,  p.  293],  throws  some  light  on  the  event. 

It  is  stateil  on  the  authority  of  M.  Amelot,  then  ambassador  at  Rome,  that  Tope 

Clement,  terrified  by  the  disorders  which  had  arisen  in  France,  expressed  his 

regret  that  the  i)ull  had  been  jniblished,  and  said  that  he  had  acted  solely  on  the 

conviction  that  there  would  be  no  opposition  to  the  will  of  the  King  ;  whereupon 

Amelot  asked  him  why  the  curious  number  of  one  hundred  and  one  propositions 

h.id  been  condemned.  The  Pope  commenced  to  weep.  "  Eh,  Monsieur  Amelot, 
what  would  you  have  me  do  ?  The  />cn'  Le  Tellier  had  said  to  the  King  that  the 
book  contained  more  than  a  hundred  censurable  propositions.  He  did  not  wish 

to  be  accused  of  falsehood,  and  I  had  their  foot  at  my  throat  for  me  to  set  down 

more  than  a  hundred,  to  shew  that  he  had  told  the  truth  ;  and  I  only  added  just 

one  more  to  the  numl)er."  + 
Le  Tellier,  whose  memory  will  ever  remain  one  of  the  most  despised  and  hated 

in   French   history,  was   a  Jesuit  priest,  who,  on  the  death  of  Pere  La  Chaise,  in 

*  Mandements,  Lettres  pastorales  et  Circulaires  des  Evcques  de  Quebec,  1S87, 
Vol.  I.,  p.  487. 

t  "  On  m'a  tenu  le  pied  sur  la  gorge  pour  en  metfre  plus  de  cent  pour  montrer 

qu'il  avait  dit  vrai,  et  je  n'en  ai  mis  qu'une  de  plus.'' 
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1709,  succeeded  him  as  the  King's  confessor.     In  this  capacity  he  became,  as  it 

were,  the  political  representative  of  his  church.* 
The  public  distress  of  the  winter  of  1709,  the  insurrections  of  the  Cevennes, 

the  misery  suffered  by  the  people  during  the  long  war,  the  absence  of  success  in 
the  war,  the  exhausted  condition  of  the  kingdom,  during  the  later  years  had 

obtained  some  toleration  for  the  I'lotestants.  They  had  not  been  forced  to  send 
their  children  to  the  Roman  Catholic  schools  ;  indeed,  many  schools  had  been 

closed  from  the  want  of  means  to  keep  them  open  ;  moreover,  the  Protestants  had 

occasionally  met  together  without  persecution.  Even  on  signing  the  Treaty  of 

Utrecht,  in  1713,  Louis,  at  the  request  of  the  Queen  of  England,  engaged  to 

release  the  Protestants  sentenced  to  the  galleys  on  account  of  their  religion. 

Thirty-six  only  obtained  their  liberty.  Many  had  died,  and,  on  the  pacification 
of  the  Cevennes,  several  h.id  been  set  free  ;  nevertheless,  two  years  later,  in  1715, 

there  remained  mary  such  prisoners.  But,  prior  to  this  date,  when  the  peace 

n.'gotiations  had  taken  such  a  form  that  the  King  felt  assured  of  their  favourable 

termination,  the  persecution  of  the  Protestants  was  re-commenced  Before  tho 
treaty  was  signed,  in  March,  1712,  an  ordinance  appeared,  enacting,  under 

heavy  penalties,  that  physicians  attending  a  sick  bed,  in  case  of  danger,  should 

insist  on  their  patients  confessing  ;  and  that  on  the  third  day  of  the  illness  the 

physician  should  demand  the  certificate  of  the  priest,  that  confession  had  been 

made,  and  if  not  produced  he  was  to  decline  to  give  further  attendance.  The 

same  year,  the  King  had  been  called  upon  to  d'^clare  as  illegitimate  all  children 
not  born  from  marriages  performed  in  the  Roman  Catholic  Church.  Louis  was  dis- 

suaded from  so  actip.g  by  the  elder  d'Aguesseau.  The  Chancellor  Pontchartrain 
preferred  resigning  his  place  in  the  Council  to  entering  into  disputes  with  tlie 

dominant  party.  Voisin,  then  Minister  of  War,  to  which  position  he  had  been 

preferred  through  the  influence  of  -Madame  de  Maintenon,  succeeded  him.  There 
was  no  longer  to  be  any  trure  with  the  Protestants.  On  the  8th  of  March,  1715, 

the  Edict  of  the  29th  ot  Ajril,  16S6,  which  had  been  allowed  to  fall  into  disuse, 

was  renewed.  It  was  then  declared  that,  as  the  pretended  reformed  religion  had 

been  abolished,  those  who  had  remained  in  France  were  Catholic,  for  otherwise 

•  "  La  Chaise,  qui,  sauf  quelques  eclipses  de  faveur  causees  par  ses  differends 
avec  madame  de  Maintenon,  avait  t'te  une  sorte  de  ministre  des  affaires  ecclesias- 

tiques,  etait  mort  en  1709.  Son  successeur  Le  Tellier  le  fit  bien  regretter.  C'etait 
un  fanatique  apres  un  politique,  un  esprit  de  violence  et  de  scandale  apres  un 

esprit  de  temperament,  de  moderation  et  de  prudence  mondaine.  i-e  fanatisme 

de  Le  Tellier  etait  de  la  pire  espece,  de  celle  qui  prend  sa  source  non  dans  les 

passions  exaltees,  mais  dans  les  passions  haineuses,  et  qui  joint  I'hypocrisie  des 
moyens  a  la  conviction  du  fond,  si  Ton  peut  appeler  conviction  un  aheurtement 

farouche  et  aveugle.  Par  un  contraste  singulier,  ce  persec  eur  avait  debute  par 

etre,  sinon  persecute  au  moins  maltraite  par  Bossuet  et  le  cardinal  de  Noailles, 

pour  avoir  defendu  la  tolerance  et  la  philosophic  dans  IV ttairf  des  ccrimonia 

cliinoiscs ;  il  se  dedommagea  aux  depens  des  protestants  et  des  jansenistes  de  sa 

charite  envers  les  Chinois  ;  dans  I'un  comme  dans  I'autre  cas,  il  n'eut  qu'un  nieme 

but,  I'interet  de  sa  Compagnie.  objet  de  son  forcene  dtivouement." 
Henri  Martin.    Histoire,  XIV.,  p.  598-9. 

w 



V   \ 

1713] 

THE   CONSTITUTION    "  UNKiEXITUS.' 

495 

they  would  never  have  been  tolerated.  Although  not  so  expressed  in  words,  the 

conclusion  followed,  that  those  not  niarrietl  in  the  Roman  Catholic  church  were 

not  married  at  all,  and  the  children  born  >  f  such  marriages  were  held  to  be 

bastards  ;  and  those  dying  without  accepting  the  sacraments  were  to  be  treated 

as  atheists,  and  buried  at  a  cross-road  without  the  slightest  religious  service. 
The  remarkable  falsehood  of  this  statement  is  apparent  from  the  fact  that,  after 

the  Revocation  of  the  Edict  of  Nantes,  the  Protestants  were  forcibly  prevented 

from  leaving  France.  Moreover,  as  late  as  September,  1713,  an  Edict  had  been 
issueil  renewing  the  denial  of  the  right  to  leave  the  kingdom,  in  the  case  of  subjects 

of  the  King  of  the  religion  pntntdne  rcformiv,  a  proof  of  the  existence  of  numerous 

Protestants,  in  1715  declared  to  be  non-existent.  "  The  Edict  of  March,  1715," 
powerfully  writes  one  of  the  first  of  modern  French  historians,  Henri  Martin, 

"  extorted  by  a  wretch  from  the  enfeebled  old  age  of  the  Grand  Koi,  was  truly 

the  masterpiece  of  that  spirit  of  falsehood  which  France  has  baptized  with  the 
name  of  Tesuitism.  We  do  not  believe  that  so  great  a  national  defilement  is  to  be 

found  in  our  entire  ancient  legislation.  The  most  infamous  tyrants  have  imagined 

nothing  worse  than  this  combination,  which  branded  with  infamy  at  one  and  the 

same  time  an  entire  jiopulation,  in  the  cradle  and  on  the  death-bed,  and  which 

created  a  tribe  of  Pariahs  in  the  France  of  the  eighteenth  century."  * 
In  connection  with  this  crusade,  a  mandcmcnt  was  issued  in  Canada  on  the 

24th  of  May,  I7i7,t  by  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  against  marriages  »  la  Gaumhw, 

the  term  then  gi'-en  to  civil  marriages,  from  the  Doyen  MaUre  des  Reqmtes,  at  the 

time  of  the  Fronde  named  Gaumine,  who  had  been  married  by  civil  contract.  The 

mandauent  threatened  with  excommunication  all  who  should  dare  to  contract 

those  detestable  marriages,  those  wicked  enough  to  ad'^ise  them,  all  the  hired 

witnesses,  and  the  notaries  w'.io  drew  up  the  deed.  I  believe  no  civil  edict 

sustaining  this  prohibition  exists. 

From  the  Protestants,  Le  Tellier  turned  to  the  Jansenists.  Some  years  previ- 

ously the  Pere  Quesnel  J  had  published  "Reflexions  morales  sur  le  A'ouvcau 
Testament:'  The  work  had  passed  through  several  editions:  according  to  all 

accounts,  on  its  appearance  the  Pope  and  Pere  La  Chaise  had  given  it  their 

approval.  The  edition  of  1693  had  received  the  countenance  of  de  Noailles,  then 

Bishop  of  Chalons.  But  numerous  objections  were  urged  against  its  teaching,  as 

enforcing  Jansenist  principles.  In  1699,  de  Noailles,  then  Archbishop  of  Paris, 

caused  the  work  to  be  revised.  But  the  clamour  against  it  continued  on  the  part 

of  the  extreme  Jesuit  party,  and  was  persevered  in,  to  obtain  from  the  Po)?e  the 

condemnation  of  the  book.  But  the  decree  prohibiting  its  use  was  not  published 

in  France,  nominally  on  account  of  some  defect  in  form.  In  reality,  the  prohibition 

was  an  attack  on  the  Archbishop.  In  the  meant'.Tie,  in  1709,  Pere  La  Chaise  died, 
tu  be  succeeded  by  Le  Tellier.  One  of  the  first  proceedings  of  this  man,  in 

November  of  this  year,  was  the  destruction  of  the  monastery  of  Port  Royal.     The 

*  Vol.  XIV.,  p.  601. 

t  Mandements  et  Lettres  Pastorales,  I.,  pp.  492-4- 

X  Quesnel  was  the  personal  friend  of  the  celebrated  Arnauld,  and  upon  his 

death  had  been  considered  the  head  of  the  Jansenists.  Quesnel  died  in  exile  at 

Amsterdam,  in  1679. 
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place  was  forcibly  entered  by  the  police,  under  the  orders  of  d'Argenson.  The 
nuns  were  placed  in  carriages,  to  be  driven  to  prison.  Ma.ame  de  Remicourt 
was  kept  for  two  years  in  solitary  confinement,  in  a  cell  lighted  and  ventilated 

only  through  the  chimney  ;  without  fire,  society  or  books.  The  superior,  Louise 
de  St.  Anastasie  Mesnil  de  Courtiaux,  could  not  have  been  subjected  to  greater 

rigour  if  she  had  been  a  felon.  The  building  was  destroyed  to  the  foundation. 

Workmen,  lashed  up  by  drink  to  the  outrage,  broke  open  the  graves  of  the  buried 

nuns,  amid  scenes  of  revolting  brutality,  and  the  bones  were  thrown  into  a  pit  in 

the  neighbouring  church  of  Saint  Lambert.* 

Le  Tellier's  next  step  was  to  denounce  to  the  King,  Pere  Quesnel's  book,  and 
he  succeeded  in  obtaining  from  Louis  a  formal  demand  upon  the  Pope  for  its 

condemnation.  Nearly  two  years  elapsed  before  the  Bull  "  Unigenitus  "  was 
issued,  on  the  8th  of  September,  171 3.  Writers  on  this  Constitution  have  pointed 

out  that  it  not  only  condemns  the  teaching  of  Saint  Augustine,  but  even  assails  the 

very  words  of  Saint  Paul.  It  is  the  complete  triumph  of  Jesuitism  in  opposition 

to  the  general  spirit  of  all  theology.  The  doctrines  condemned  require  only 

to  be  set  forth  to  prove  this  a.ssertion.  Among  them  were  "  Neither  God  nor  religion 

is  present  where  there  is  no  charity."  "  The  reading  of  the  Scriptures  is  for  all  men." 

"The  Lord's  day  (.nght  to  be  sanctified  by  Christians  by  the  perusal  of  Holy 

Scripture."  "  It  is  hurtful  to  deprive  mankind  of  Scripture."  "The  dread  of 

unjust  excommunication  ought  not  to  prevent  us  doing  our  duty."  It  was  teachings 
of  this  character  which  were  declared  to  be  heretical,  and  conducive  to  a  bad  life. 

I  give  this  imperfect  account  of  this  well-known  Constitution,  owing  to  its 
introduction  into  Canada.  The  incomplete  record  of  the  document  establishes 

that  a  portion  of  the  ?nan(ieinent  issued  on  the  occasion  of  its  promulgation,  in 

explanation  of  the  doctrine  which  the  Bull  contains,  h.is  been  deliberately 

expunged  ;  whether  by  Bishop  de  Saint  Vallier  himself,  by  subsequent  authority, 

or  by  some  private  hand,  must  ever  remain  a  mystery. 

On  his  accession  to  power,  the  Regent  Orleans  sent  into  lianishment  the  l)rutal 

persecutor  Le  Tellier,  the  cause  of  so  much  misery  and  suffering,  and  of  such  dis- 
sension in  his  Church. 

I  deem  it  proper  to  append  some  of  the  propositions  condemned  in  this  bull : 

a  condemnation  which,  several  of  the  French  Bishops,  headed  by  the  Archbishop 
of  Paris,  refused  to  accept. 

*  I  beg  leave  to  'efer  my  readers  for  the  narrative  of  this  scene,  to  the  touching 
description  of  it  by  the  late  Sir  James  Stephen,  in  his  life  Regius  Professor  of 

Modern  History  at  Cambridge.  It  is  to  be  found  in  the  Edinburgh  AVrvWc  of 

1841.  I  venture  to  quote  the  closing  words  :  "  In  that  spot,  however,  may  still 

be  seen  the  winding  brook,  the  verdant  hills,  and  the  quiet  meadows,  nature's 
indestructible  monuments  to  the  devout  men  and  holy  vifomen  who  there  nuriiircd 

affections  which  made  them  lovely  in  their  lives,  and  hopes  which  rendered  them 

triumphant  in  death.  Nor  in  her  long  roll  of  martyrs,  has  hist.:.y  to  record  the 

names  of  any  who  suffered  with  greater  constancy  or  in  a  nobler  cause,  for  their 

conflict  was  with  the  very  church  they  most  profoundly  revered,  and  their  cause 

was  that  of  devotedness  to  sincerity  and  the  abhorrence  of  falsehood." 
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II.  Jesu  Chiisti  gratia,  principium 

efficax  boni  cujuscumque  generis, 

necessaria  est  ad  omne  opus  bo- 
num;  absque  ilia,  non  solum  nil  fit, 
sad  nee  fieri  potest. 

XVIII.  Semen  verbi.quod  manus  Dei 

irrigat,  semper  aftert  fructum  suum. 

XXVI.  Nulla;  dantur  gratis,  nisi  per 
fidem. 

XXVII.  Fides  est  prnna  gratia  et  fons 

omnium  aliarum. 

XXXVIII.  Peccator  non  est  liber,  nisi 

ad  malum,  sine  gratia  Liberatoris. 

LVII.  Totum  deest  peccatori,quando 

ei  deest  spes ;  et  non  est  spes  in 

Deo,  ubi  non  est  amor  Dei. 

LVIII.  Nee  Deus  est,  nee  religio  ubi 

non  est  charitas. 

LXXIII.  Quid  est  Kcclesia,  nisi  ecetus 
filiorum  Dei  manentium  in  ejus 

sinu,  adoptatorum  in  Christo,  sub- 

sistentium  in  ejus  persona,  redemp- 

torum  ejus  sanguine,  viventium 

ejus  spiritu,  agentium  per  ejus  gra- 
tiam,  et  expeetantium  gratiam 
futuri  sitculi. 

LXXVII.  Qui  .ion  ducit  vitam  dig- 
nam  filio  Dei  et  membro  Christi, 

cessat  interius  habere  Deum  pro 

patre  et  Christum  pro  c.ipite. 

LXXIX.  Utile  et  neeessarium  est 

omni  tempore,  omni  loco,  et  omni 

personarum  generi  siudere  et  eog- 
noseere  spiritum,  pietatem,  et 

mysteria  sacrw  Seripturx'. 

II.  The  graee  of  Jesus  Christ,  the 

effeetual  principle  of  every  kind 

of  good,  is  necessary  to  every  good 
work,  without  it  n(jt  only  nothing 

is  done,  but  nothing  can  be  done. 

XVIII.  The  seed  of  the  word  watered 

by  the  hand  of  (Jod  always  brings 
forth  its  fruit. 

XXVI.  No  gifts  of  gr.ace  are  given 

but  through  faith. 

XXVII.  Faith  is  the  first  gift  of  grace 

and  the  fountain  of  all  others. 

XXXVIII.  The  sinner  is  not  free, 

unless  for  [the  commission  of]  evil, 

without  the  grace  of  the  Redeemer. 

LVII.  Everything  is  wanting  to  the 
sinner  when  hope  is  wanting  to 

him,  and  there  is  no  hope  in  God 
where  there  is  no  love  of  God. 

LVIII.  Neither  God  nor  religion  is, 

where  there  is  no  charity. 

LXXIII.  What  else  is  the  Church 

than  a  communion  of  tlie  children 

of  God,  remaining  in  His  bosom, 

adopted  in  Christ,  subsisting  in 

Ilis  person,  redeemed  by  His 
blood,  living  in  His  spirit,  acting 

through  His  grace,  and  looking 

for  the  grace  of  future  life. 

LXXVII.  He  whodoesnot  lead  a  life 

worthy  of  a  son  of  God  and  a 
member  of  Christ,  ceases  to  have 

within  him  God  for  a  father  and 

Christ  for  a  head. 

LXXIX.     It  is  useful  and  necessary  in 

all  time,  in  uU  place,  and  for  every 

kind  of   person,  to  study  and  to 

become  acquainted  with  the  spirit, 

the    piety    and    mysteries    of    the 
sacred  Scriptures, 
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LXXX.  Lectio  sacra;  Scriptuix  est 

pro  omnibus. 

LXXX  I.  Oiwcuritas  sancta  verbi  Dei 

non  est  laicis  ratio  dispensandi  se 

ipsos  ab  ejus  lectione. 

LXXXn.  Dies  dominicus  a  christi- 
anis  debet  sanctificari  lectionibus 

pietatis  et  super  omnia  sanctarum 
Scripturarum.  Damnosum  est 
velle  cliristianum  ab  hac  lectione 

retrahere.* 
LXXX IV.  Abripere  e  christianorum 

manibus  Novum  Testamenluni,  seu 

eis  illud  clausum  tenere,  auferendo 

eis  modum  illud  inlelligendi,  est 
illis  Christi  os  obturare. 

LXXXV.  Interdicere  cliristianis  lec- 

tionem  sacrte  Scripturx,  prx'sertim 

Evangelii,  est  interdicere  usum  lu- 

minis  tiliis  lucis,  et  facere  ut  patian- 

tur  speciem  quamdam  excommu- 
nicationis. 

XCL  Exconimunicationis  injustai  me- 
tus  nunquam  debet  nos  impedire 

ab  implendo  debito  nostro  :  nun- 
quam eximus  ab  Ecclesia,  etiani 

quando  hominum  nequitia  videniur 

ab  ea  expulsi,  quando  Deo,  Jesu 

Christo,  atque  ipsi  Ecclesire  per 
charitatem  affixi  sumus. 

LXXX.  The  reading  of  the  sacred 

Scriptures  is  for  all  people. 

LXXXL  The  holy  obscurity  of  the 
Word  of  God  is  not  a  reason  for 

the  laity  neglecting  its  study. 

LXXXn.  The  Lord's  day  should  be 
kept  holy  by  Christians  in  reading 
works  of  piety,  and,  above  all 

things,  the  holy  Scriptures.  It 
is  hurtful  to  desire  to  withdraw 

Christians  from  this  reading. 

LXXXIV.  To  take  violently  the  New 

Testament  from  the  hand  of  Chris- 

tians, or  to  hold  it  [the  book]  closed, 

taking  away  the  means  of  under- 
standing it,  is  to  close  the  mouth 

of  Christ  to  them. 

LXXXV.  To  forbid  Christians  the 

study  of  the  sacred  Scriptures, 

especially  of  the  Gospel,  is  to 
interdict  the  use  of  light  to  the 

sons  of  light,  and  to  make  them 

suffer  a  species  of  excommunication. 

XCL  The  fear  cf  unjust  excommuni- 
tion  ought  never  to  prevent  us 

performing  our  duty.  We  never 
go  out  of  the  Church,  even  when 

by  the  wickedness  of  men  we 

appear  to  be  expelled  from  her 

[fold],  so  long  as  we  remain  at- 
tached to  God,  to  Jesus  Christ,  and 

to  the  Church  itself  through  charity. 

*  The  printed  text,  Vol.  21,  p.  572,  "  Bullarium  Romanum,"  gives  "retrabere." 
There  is  also  an  error  in  the  Prcemium,  "  ovium  velleribus  obvolventes "  is 

printed   "  obvolentes.'' 
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On  the  accession  to  power  of  the  Rcgjent,  a  change  took 
place  in  the  administration  of  affairs.  Hitherto  the  Governors 
had  written  long  despatches,  containing  a  general  history  of 

the  year's  events.  Orders  were  now  issued  that  matters  were 
not  generally  to  be  related  in  one  letter,  but  that  each  subject 

should  be  specially  treated  in  a  separate  communication. 

The  system  of  writing  directly  to  the  Secretary  of  State  by 
subaltern  officials  was  discontinued  ;  they  were  instructed 

according  to  their  position,  to  make  reports  to  the  Governor, 
the  Intendant,  or  their  immediate  superior. 

One  great  difficulty  experienced  in  Canada  was  that  of  the 

currency.  The  specie  coming  into  the  country  immediately 

found  its  waj-  back  to  France,  in  spite  of  the  attempt  to 
keep  the  current  coinage  in  the  Province  by  assigning  to 

it  an  artificial  value.  It  has  been  always  found  that  any 

such  advantage  is  imaginary,  and  that  money,  like  any  other 
commodity,  has  only  its  market  value  ;  and  that  to  rate  a 

coinage  one-third  higher  than  its  actual  worth  simply  causes 
the  price  of  commodities  to  rise  proportionately  with  this 

increase.  The  Frei^ch  sih-er  /at,  worth  two  and  a  half  /iz'res 
in  France,  was  rated  at  four  francs  in  Canada,  more  than  it 

was  actually  worth,  even  bj-  the  standard  of  the  day.  In 
1635  de  MeuUes  had  introduced  card-money,  and  for  thirty 
years  it  had  been  the  currency  of  the  country.  It  was  not 

like  a  modern  bank-bill,  representing  gold  on  demand  :  but 
a  bill  of  exchange  on  the  national  treasury  in  France  was 

obtainable  for  the  amount  of  card-money  deposited  with  the 
government,  previous  to  the  departure  of  the  autumn  vessels. 
So  long  as  these  bills  were  regularly  paid,  the  value  of  the 

card-money  was  maintained,  but,  for  some  years  previous  to 
the  peace  of  Utrecht,  France  was  so  exhausted  that  the  bills 
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could  not  be  met.  In  1709,  an  unfavourable  season  had 

produced  a  famine.  The  letters  of  Madame  de  Maintcnon 

to  the  Prince.s.se  de.s  Ursin.s,  who  represented  French  interests 
at  the  Court  of  Spain,  .show  the  deplorable  condition  of 
France,  and  the  extent  of  public  misery.  In  thi.s  general 
ruin  Canada  was  involved.  The  drafts  drawn  by  the  colonial 

government  were  dishonoured,  and  the  monetary  condition 
of  the  province  was  consequently  thrown  into  confusion. 

Virtually  repudiated  by  the  French  government,  the  value 

of  the  card-money  rapidly  depreciated.  The  treasury  bills 
unpaid  were  either  sold  in  TVance  at  a  great  discount,  or 

returned  protested  to  Canada,  and  when  the  colonial  govern- 
ment was  called  upon  to  meet  its  obligations,  nothing  could 

be  done,  for  there  was  no  money. 

In  17 14,  the  population  of  Canada  was  under  19,000  souls. 

It  is  difficult  to  name  the  amount  of  card-money  in  circulation 
at  this  date;  it  is  probable  that  no  account  had  been  kept.  It 
has  been  estimated,  however,  that  it  reached  the  value  of  two 

million  livrcs.  If  such  is  the  fact,  it  shows  the  reckless  char- 
acter of  the  issue,  as  one  half  of  that  sum  would  have  sufficed 

for  the  currency  of  the  country.  The  consequence  was 

that  much  embarrassment  was  felt.  Several  Quebec  traders, 

suffering  from  the  non-payment  of  the  bills  of  exchange  on 
France,  and  from  the  difficulty  of  obtaining  money  to  remit  for 

their  purchases,  made  a  proposition  to  exchange  the  card- 
money  at  half  its  face-value  for  bills  on  France,  on  the  express 
condition  that  they  should  be  paid.  The  offer  was  accepted, 

as  it  reduced  the  debt  in  Canada  one-half,  to  the  extent  that 
the  remedy  could  be  applied.  From  time  to  time,  specie  was 

likewise  sent  in  small  amounts  to  redeem  card-money,  on  the 

basis  of  half-value ;  and  this  arrangement  lasted  until  17171 

when  a  decree  was  issued  on  the  subject.  *  After  recording 
the  irregularities  arising  from  the  issue  of  this  currency,  it  was 
declared  it  should  be  withdrawn ;  but  that  an  issue  should  be 

made  to  meet  the  expenses  of  the  last  six  months  of  17 16 

and  the  first  six  months  of  17 17,  the  last  occasion  when  this 

•  Edits  et  Ordonnances,  Vol.  I.,  p.  370,  5th  of  July,  1717. 
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paper  currency  was  to  be  resorted  to.  Such  currenc)-,  old 
and  new  issue,  was  only  to  be  received  at  half  its  face-value 
in  the  colony;  in  France  two  livres  Canadian  would  be  held 

to  represent  one  livre  ten  sols ;  consequentl)-,  in  France 
the  card  currency  only  passed  for  three-eitjhths  of  its  nominal 
value. 

In  1718  a  supplementary  ordinance  was  made  with  ret^ard 

to  debts  contracted  since  17 14.*  The  ritjht  of  paying  them 
with  card-money,  according  to  its  face-value,  was  granted, 
seeing  that  the  transactions  had  been  made  on  that  basis. 

The  principle  of  redemption  laid  down  was  that  Bills  of 
Exchange  on  France  for  half  value  would  be  drawn,  to  be 

due  on  the  ist  of  March  of  the  )-ears  1718,  1719,  and  1720. 
After  the  ships  left  in  1718,  the  bills  given  were  to  fall  due  in 

1 7 19  and  1720.  After  that  date  the  card-money  was  to  be 
held  worthless  and  was  ordered  to  be  burned. 

Card-money  passed  out  of  use  to  be  reissued  in  1729  under 
M.  de  Heauharnois.  The  destruction  of  the  first  issue  must  have 

been  thoroughly  carried  out  ;  examples  of  it  are  exceedingly 

scarce.-*"  The  specie  in  circulation  in  the  colony  was  insuffici- 
ent; and  from  17 19  to  1726  edicts  were  issued  to  regulate  the 

currenc}-.  Canada  was  seriously  affected  by  the  financial  diffi- 

culties of  France.  The  year  1720  saw  the  collajxse  of  Law's 
sj'stem,  in  spite  of  every  effort  to  maintain  it,  and  he  had  fled 

to  Ital)-  with  but  little  monej-.  *  The  misery  which  followed  in 
England  and  France,  the  reckless  spirit  of  speculation  which 

*  Edits  et  Ordonnances,  Vol.  I.,  p.  393,  21st  March. 

+  Tlie  svriter,  during  1887,  exerted  himself  to  obtain  some  specimens  for  a 

friend.  Except  about  a  dozen  examples  held  by  known  numismatists,  he  was 

unable  to  hear  of  the  existence  of  any  such  money ;  even  the  knowledge  that  it 

was  ever  in  use  was  confined  to  a  few  students  of  history. 

X  It  does  not  appear  that  Law  carried  any  wealth  from  France,  and  he  had 

brought  a  large  fortune  into  the  country  stated  at  upwards  of  a  million  and  a  half 

of  livres.  All  that  he  managed  to  retain  was  some  ])recious  stones  of  moderate 

value.  At  Brussels  he  was  met  by  an  agent  of  Peter  the  Great,  who  had  followed 

him  from  Paris,  the  bearer  of  an  otiler  to  be  director  of  finances  at  Russia  ;  which 

Law  refused.  He  died  in  Venice  in  1729,  a  poor  man,  retaining  to  the  last  the 

hope  of  returning  to  France  and  renewing  his  operations. 
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had  affected  nearly  all,  who  could  obtain  money,  proved  the 
ruin  of  many  families,  lianking  was  then  in  its  infancy,  and 
a  redeemable  currency  unknown.  Canada  was  involved  in 

the  crash,  not  from  having  participated  in  the  stock  jobbing 
madness  of  the  time,  but  from  the  inability  of  the  mother 

country  to  pay  the  debt  ijicurred  for  the  necessary  expenses  of 

government.  Had  a  limited  amount  of  card-money  been  put 
in  circulation,  it  would  have  supplied  the  want  of  the  colony. 

The  danger  appears  to  have  been  that  when  the  issue  was 
made,  it  was  confined  to  no  limit  ;  as  was  proved  by  the 
immense  amount  of  the  second  issue  authorized  in  1729, 

in  circulation  at  the  period  of  the  conquest,  thirty  years 
afterwards. 

It  was  after  the  peace  of  Utrecht  that  exportations  of  the 
products  of  Canada  commenced.  Canadian  wheat,  fish,  and 

fish-oil,  and  leather  found  their  way  to  France  ;  they  were 
not  admitted  free,  but  were  subjected  to  a  tariff.  Shortly 

after  this  date  Gen-sing  became  for  a  time  an  article  of 
commerce.  In  17 12,  Here  Joseph  Francois  Lafitau  arrived  in 
Canada,  and  was  immediately  sent  to  the  mission  of  the  Sault 

above  Montreal.  He  remained  at  this  station  for  five  years, 

during  which  he  devoted  himself  to  the  stud)'  of  the  manners 
and  customs  of  the  Indians,  which  led  to  the  publication  of  a 

work  by  him,  still  referred  to.  * 
In  the  autumn  of  1716  he  discovered  the  plant  of  Gen-sing. 

Having  been  in  Quebec  in  1715,  he  read  a  letter  of  Pere 

Jartoux,  who  had  seen  the  plant  in  Tartary  in  1709,  and  who 

gave  a  description  of  it.  I'ere  Lafitau  learned  its  value  as  a 
medicinal  drug  in  China  to  be  equal  to  its  weight  in  silver. 

Seeing  the  advantages  to  be  gained  by  its  introduction  as  an 
article  of  commerce,  Lafitau  made  incjuiries  concerning  it 

from  the  Indians,  and  personally  examined  the  country  in 
the  hope  of  its  discovery,  f 

*  Mct'urs  des  Sauvages  Americains,  comparees  aux  Mceurs  ties  rremieis  lemps. Paris,  1723. 

f  Gen-sing  is  one  of  the  family  of  the  dicotyledonous  araliacea:,  and  is  held 
by  the  Chinese,  Japanese,  and  Tartars,  to  be  a  panacea  in  all  cases  of  sickness. 
It  was  from  this  plant  that  Lafitau  founded  one  of  his  arguments  that  America 
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The  discovery  led  to  the  plant  bciiij;  gathered,  dried  and 

culled.  When  first  introduced,  the  price  at  Quebec  was  from 

thirty  to  forty  sols  the  pound,  and  any  one  was  permitted  to 
sell  the  plant.  But,  as  it  increased  in  value,  the  Comi)any 

determined  to  exercise  its  rij^hts,  and,  in  175 1,  claimed  to 
exclude  all  others  from  the  trade.  The  price  rose  to  twelve 

livrcs  the  pound;  it  is  said  that  thirty-three  livrcs  were  ])aid. 
As  the  demand  for  the  plant  increased,  the  care  with  which 
it  was  obtained  and  prepared  was  relaxed.  It  was  gathered 

out  of  season,  dried  imperfectly  before  it  was  ripe,  being 
placed  in  stove  ovens.  There  was  no  knowledge  in  Canada  of 

the  proper  mode  of  treating  the  plant.  ICven  in  this  imper- 

fectly prepared  state  it  fetched  twenty-five  livrcs  the  pound. 
In  1752,  Gen-sing  of  this  character,  to  the  value  of  500,000 

livres,'ws.i^  exported,  and  the  company  took  steps  to  obtain 
the  plant  at  its  maturity,  and  to  have  it  properly  cured  and 

dried.  The  Gen-sing,  however,  sent  to  La  Rochelle  remained 

unsold;  finall)',  by  the  channels  of  iMigland,  Holland  and 
Spain,  it  found  its  way  to  China.  It  was  the  inferior  Gen- 
sing,  unripe  and  improperly  cured,  which   caused   the   plant 

h.id  formerly  been  joined  to  Asia,  to  the  north  of  China.  The  nieaniiii;  of  the 

Chinese  word  "  Gin-sem^'"  and  tiie  Iroquois  wonl  "  Garent  0<;ueii,'^  the  Indian 

name  of  the  piaDt,  is  the  same  "a  man's  tiiigh,"  from  the  sui)posed  reseiiiMance  to 
the  human  thij^h,  a  coincide.ice  l.afitau  could  not  consider  to  be  lortiiitim^.  The 

theory  of  Lat'itau  was  that  the  Indian  jjopulation  of  .\merica  had  originally  come 
from  Asia.  According  to  M.  Verreault  the  botanical  name  is  faiiax-qiiin</ue- 
folium. 

I  have  to  acknowledge  my  obligat'ons  to  the  treatise  of  the  learned  Abbe 
Verreault  on  this  subject.     .Montreal,  1858. 

I'ere  I.afitaii  reai)pears  in  history  in  a  dilTerent  character  to  that  of  the 
advocate  of  tien-sing.  He  retired  from  the  order  of  Jesuits  and  became  liishop 

of  Sisteron.  lie  was  one  of  the  active  <lefenders  of  the  "  Unigenitus  "  Constitu- 
tion ;  and  was  likewise  the  historian  of  its  promulgation  :  he  published  also  the 

life  of  I'ope  Clement  .\I.  lie  is  principally  remembered  in  modern  lii'-tory  as 
havmg  been  the  agent  in  Rome  of  Dubois,  then  Archbishop  of  Cambrai,  in  the 

attempt  of  the  latter  to  obtain  the  Cardinal's  hat.  Much  of  ilie  correspondence 
remains.  Clement  XI.,  with  cunning  equal  to  that  of  Dubois,  managed  to  evade 

the  request  until  his  death  in  January,  1 72 1.  The  honour  was,  however,  after- 
wards obtained,  on  the  election  of  Cardinal  Conti  as  Pope  Innocent  XIII. 

Dubois       ame  Cardinal  the  i6th  of  July,  1721. 

f 
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from  Canada  to  be  held  of  little  worth.  As  it  could  not  be 

sold,  its  e.vport  ceased. 

At  the  time  when  the  plant  was  held  of  value,  it  was  con- 
sidered more  profitable  to  undertake  the  search  for  it,  than  to 

cultivate  the  farm.  In  many  localities  af^riculture  was  nc}:;- 
Iccted ;  the  entire  attention  c)f  the  inhabitants  was  given  to  its 

collection;  the  result  was,  that  in  some  parts  of  Canada  the 

plant  entirely  disappeared.  In  modern  times,  however,  it  is 
occasionally  to  be  seen  in  the  neij^^dibourhood  of  Montreal.  In 

two  years  after  the  trade  was  at  its  maximum,  in  1 754,  the  value 

exported  was  only  thirtj'-threc  thousand  iivrcs,  and,  as  the 
Company  ceased  to  purchase  the  [)lant,  the  trade  entirely 
disappeared.  All  that  remained  of  it  was  a  proverb  among 
the  people,  when  speaking  of  some  matter  having  failed,  that 

it  had  come  to  nothing,  as  the  Gen-sing.* 
Ship-building  iiow  commenced  to  be  more  general  at  Que- 

bec. Four  vessels  were  launched.  I''or  one  hundred  and 

si.\ty  years  it  was  to  remain  a  settled  induslrj-  of  the  city. 
In  modern  times,  the  use  of  iron  has  superseded  wood  in  the 

construction  of  vessels,  and  in  consequence,  ship-building  in 
Canada  is  confined  to  narrow  limits.  Furs  remained  a  great 

staple  of  trade,  and,  as  the  western  tribes  were  brought  into 

relationship  with  the  French,  manufactured  goods  from  France 
were  more  introduced,  but  Fnglish  competition  was  sensibly 

felt.  It  was  from  the  furs  that  a  portion  of  the  revenue  was 

obtained  ;  one-tenth  of  the  moose,  and  one-fourth  of  the 
beaver  skins,  went  for  the  expenses  of  the  government. 

There  was  al.so  a  tariff  of  ten  per  cent,  on  wines  and  spirits, 

and  fi\e  sols  on  a  pound  of  tobacco. 

The  attempt,  by  means  of  companies  and  associations  to 

develop  the  commerce  of  Canada  had  been  marked  b\-  failure. 

In  1664,  the  original  "Cent  Associes"  were  replaced  by  a 
companj-  known  as  the  "  Compagnie  Occidentale."  but,  in 
1665,  the  trade  in  furs  in  the  Province  was  transferred  to  a 
CanadiafU  combination  of  the  inhabitants,  on  condition  of  the 

'  C'est  toniln'  Cdiuini;  11-  Gcn-hing." 
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annual  payment  of  a  iniilion  j)ouik1s  of  heaver-skins  for  the 
cnjo)in(;nt  of  the  privilej^e.  The  rights  which  the  coini)any 
reserved  were  confirmed  by  de  Tracy  in  1667.  Vov  some 

period  much  activity  wa.s  shewn,  and  the  c()mi)any  annually 

cmploj-ed  one  hundred  vessels  in  their  operations.  .\.s  they 

assumed  the  responsibility  of  meeting'  much  of  the  e.xpensc 
of  the  t,fovernment,  the  trade  of  Tadousac  was  retained  by 

them.  In  1674,  this  compaii)-  became  bankrujjt,  anil  was 

suppres.sed.  On  Colbert's  recommendation  the  debts,  amount- 
i'lfi  to  3,523,cxx)  livri's,  were  assumed  by  the  Kiiifj,  and  the 
shareholders  were  paid  the  amount  of  their  investments, 

\,2(jj,ooo  lii'irs.  The  monopoly  wa.s  transferred  to  the 
Oudiette  Company,  which  undertook  to  i)ay  the  same  contri- 

bution for  the  support  of  i;()\crnment,  and  the  ta.\  on  the 

commerce  of  the  countr)-  remained  unchan^'cd.  All  furs  were 
ordered  to  be  brouLjht  to  the  stores  of  the  company-,  the  skins 
beint^  arbitrarily  valued  at  four  livres  ten  sols  each.  It  was, 
however,  discovered  that  there  arc  different  (lualities  of  fur  ; 

eventuall)'  they  were  divided  into  cla.-.ses  one,  two  and  three, 

'"cachc-gras"  ''(/ciiii-j^ras"  and  ".s'tr."  Charlevoix  tells  us  that 

the  term  "dry  beaver"  was  ai)plied  to  skins  which  had  not  been 

used,  and  lliat  '^  cac/ie-gras"  hail  been  worn  by  the  Indians, 
after  having  been  treated  on  the  inside  with  the  marrow  of 

animals,  to  render  it  pliable.  Several  skins  were  sewn  toj^'cther 
to  form  a  robe,  which,  durini;  winter,  was  worn  next  the  skin, 

never  to  be  removed.  The  conscHjuence  was  that  the  lon<4'  hair 
was  worn  off,  and  the  fur  that  remained,  obtained  the  appear- 

ance of  what  is  now  known  as  "plucked  beaver."  Fourteen  or 
fifteen  months  were  neces.sary  to  obtain  this  result.  In  1675, 

Oudiette  retired.  Two  companies  were  successively  formed, 
each  of  which  accepted  the  conditions,  on  which  Oudiette  had 
declined  to  continue  his  operations,  each  in  turn  to  be  ruined. 

They  were  followed  by  i\\e  fermiers  gem'raux  de  France,  who 
gathered  a  number  of  skins,  but  could  find  no  market 
for  them,  and  a  million  skins  remained  unsold  in  their 

stores.  In  1 700,  another  company  was  formed  in  Canada, 

h^'ance,  however,  could  purcnase  onl}'  i  50,000  skins,  and  the 
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company  was  not  allowed  to  send  the  furs  elsewhere,  from 

fear  of  injurin^^  the  business  of  the  I'aris  hat-makers.  In 
1706,  this  company  became  bankrupt;  its  tlebts  amounted  to 

I, Si 2,000  livres.  The  monopf)ly  was  then  ̂ 'ivcn  to  Aubert, 
Neyret  and  Gayot.     In  171  5,  they  failed. 

It  was  not  from  her  own  misfortunes  t  le  colony  was 

suffcrin<,^  Owing  to  the  vicious  commercial  ..^'stcm  which  was 

followed,  the  ill  effects  of  Law's  operations  in  France  reacted 
on  the  Saint  Lawrence.  Law  had  killed  a  man  in  a  duel  and 

sou{,dit  refuge  in  I*>ance,  where  his  schemes  had  gained  the  con- 
fidetice  of  the  Regent.  The  Hank  of  l^ngland,  established  in 
1695,  in  the  reign  of  William  III.,  had  been  of  great  service 

in  obtaining  money  during  the  crisis  of  the  war.  The  Regent 

believed  that  he  was  creating  a  source  of  material  wealth  by 

the  formation  of  a  similar  institution,  liy  Ktlict*  an  order 
was  given  to  those  charged  with  the  State  moneys,  to  receive 

and  pay  the  notes  of  this  bank  without  discount  ;  it  was 

principally  by  this  privilege  that  the  bank  w  enabled  to  pay 

seven  and  a  half  per-cent  interest. 
Since  the  conclusion  of  the  war,  a  spirit  .  icculation  had 

grown  up  in  the  northern  part  of  Europe;  and  as  at  this  date 
France  was  almost  bankrupt,  any  scheme  of  relief  attracted 
attention.  Law  had,  accordingly,  little  difficulty  in  forining 

a  compan)'  which  should  possess  the  monopoly  of  trade  in 
the  country  of  the  Mississippi,  and  should  develop  French 
colonization  in  North  America.  He  obtained  the  concession 

of  the  territory  of  Louisiana.  Foreigners  were  permitted  to 
hold  shares  ;  and  the  Government  bills,  which  had  been  at 

fifty  per-cent  discount,  and  often  of  less  value,  were  acceiitctl 
in  part  payment  for  shares.  The  country  was  represented  as 

a  second  i'eru,  where  gold  was  plentiful  ;  and  the  story  was 
everywhere  believed.  The  Parliament  of  Paris  rcadil>'  regis- 

tered the  edict.  When,  in  171.S,  the  company  of  .Aubert. 

Neyret,  and  Gayot,  came  to  an  end,  their  charter  was  trans- 

ferred to  Law's  company,  with  the  privilege  until  the  last  of 

*  loih  of  April,  1717. 
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December.  1742,  of  reccivmf,^  beaver-skins  in  Canada  to  the 
exclusion  of  every  one  else.  J^Lxcept  the  company,  ,10  one 
could  purchase  a  beaver-skin  to  send  to  l«rance  ;  ant!  the 
discovery  of  one  beaver-skin  on  board  a  vessel  was  sufficient 
to  lead  to  her  confiscation.  In  connection  with  this  le^rj^ia. tion  Illinois  was  joined  to  the  ̂ 'overnmcnt  of  Xcw  Orleans. 

Tl-   company    immediately  endeavoured    to   control    the 
trade,   but    it   had  still    to    contend  with    the   disadvantai,rc that  better  prices  and  better  ̂ roods  were  obtainable  fn.m   the 
British;  and  it  was  not  only  in  Canada  that  difficulties  were 
experienced,  the  manufacturers   of  Paris  refused   to   receive 
the  dressed  beaver.     In   order  to  countermine  the  Kii.rlish 
influence  with  the  Western  Indians,  their  jealousy  and  dislike 
of  the    Iroquois    had    been    successfully    appealed    to.     The 
canoes  from  Lake  Superior  and  Lake  Michi-an  a-ain  passed down  the  Ottawa,  avoidinL,r  the  Saint  Lawrence.     O.    their 
arrival  at  Montreal   a  fair  was  held,  at  which   the   furs  were 
exchanjrcd  for  -oods     At  Three  Rivers,  the  same  course  was 
followed  with  re-ard     .  the  Indians  who  descended  the  .Saint 
Maurice.     So    lon.cr   a      the    advantage  of  trading    u  Jth   the 
British   was    imperfectly     understood,  this   system    could    be 
carried  on,  the  price  of  t  le  goods  being  rai.sed  to  meet  the 
high  prices  asked.    But,  since  the  peace,  many  of  the  courcrs 
dc  bois  without  licenses,   had   proceeded   to   the   north- west, 
and  many  young  men  connected  with  good  families  had  com- 

menced  trade  with  Albany.      It  was   the  effort   of  the  com- 
pany to  .stop  this   intercourse  entirely  by  preventing  English 

goods  being  smuggled  into  Canada.     The  company  asserted 
that  it  was  a  national  necessity  that  the  practice  should  be  put 
an  end  to  ;  and    they  asked  that  the   right  should  be  given  to 
their  officers  to  enter  any  house,  even  that  of  any  ecclesiastic. 
to  examine  whether  foreign  goods  were  concealed  there.    'Ihc 
request  was  not  granted  ;  the  Council  decided   that   such    in- 

spection  could    only  be  made  by  the  officers  of  justice  under authority  of  the  Commandant  or  Intendant. 
In  1718,  several  young  men  were  prosecuted  on  account 

of  their  relations  with  Albany,  carried  on  through  Lake  Cham- 
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plain.  One  of  them,  M.  de  la  Decouverte,  had  made  himself 

remarkable  by  bringing  back  a  negro  .slave,*  and  .some  silver 
ware.  One  of  the  Xcw  York  Livingstons  resided  in  Mont- 

real, and  was  generally  the  intcrmcdiarj-  in  these  transaction.s. 
On  the  other  hand,  de  Contrec(L'ur  was  stationed  at  Lake 
Champlain  to  prevent  this  irregular  trade  being  carried  on. 
In  1722,  the  name  of  the  company  of  the  west  was  exchanged 

for  thai  of  the  company  of  the  Indies. 
In  1 7 14,  de  Vaudreuil  made  a  proposition  to  the  Court, 

which,  it  was  fortunate  for  Canada,  was  not  accepted.  After 

stating  that  Canada  had  but  4,484  males  between  fourteen 

and  si,\ty  capable  of  bearing  arms,  and  that  the  twenty-eight 
companies  of  marines  maintained  by  the  King  amounted 
only  to  620  men,  scattered  over  a  hundred  leagues,  he  pointed 
out  that  the  British  colonies  had  sixty  thousand  men  capable 

or  bearing  arms,  and  there  could  be  no  doubt  that  on  the  first 

quarrel  the)-  would  make  an  attempt  to  seize  Canada.  He 
instanced  that  meetings  had  been  held  in  the  city  of  London, 
calling  upon  members  of  Parliament  to  ask  the  Government 

why  Canada  and  Cape  Breton  had  been  left  to  France. 

He  recognised  the  difficulty  of  sending  men  to  Canada, 

owing  to  the  then  small  population  in  manj-  of  the  provinces 

of  I''rance,  and  the  di.sordered  state  of  the  national  finances. 
In  order,  therefore,  to  increase  the  [)opulation  of  Canad:i,  he 
recommended  that  the  fraudulent  dealers  in  salt,  working  out 

tiicir  .sentences  at  the  galleys,  should  be  sent  to  Canada  at 

the  rate  of  one  hundred  and  fifty  annually  ;i-  that  the  Farmers 
General  should  furnish  for  each  man  one  hundred  and  fifty 

llvrcs.  On  their  arrival,  each  man  was  to  receive  fifty  livrcs. 

The  new  comers  would  be  distributed  among  the  inhabitants; 

*  This  negro  must  have  been  among  (he  first  brought  into  Canada.  In  1689, 
on  the  representation  of  ile  I  )enonvilie  and  de  Champigiiy,  their  introduction  had 

been  approved  in  X'ersaille:^.  I  have  alluded  to  the  Edicts  of  Raudot  in  1709,  by 
which  the  slavery  of  the  negro  was  recognised. 

i'  "II  y  a  lous  les  ans  un  noinbre  considerable  de  Faux-sonniers  comlamnes 
aux  Galeres  dont  le  Roy  a  peu  de  besoin  &  qui  deviennent  inutiles  pour  la  culture 
des  Terres  ;  leur  depense  est  payee  par  les  Fermiers  Generaux  &  le  Roy  pourroit 

^^i" 
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and  bound  to  work  for  three  j'car.s ;  after  which  period  thc)* 
would  be  free  men,  but  without  libert}-  to  return  to  France. 
The  one  hundred  livrcs  rcmaininij  would  be  placed  in  the 
hands  of  the  masters,  who  would  be  bound  at  the  end  of  three 

years  to  give  each  man  fifty  ecus. 

In  the  same  letter  he  dwelt  upon  the  necessity  of  prevent- 

ing the  Abenakis  accepting  the  friendlj-  offices  of  Massa- 
chusetts. He  stated  that  with  dc  Saint  Castin  the  missionaries 

were  making  wonderful  attempts  to  lead  them  to  refuse  these 

offers, but  as  Perc  La  Chaise  informed  him,  "Grace  frequently 
required  human  assistance,  and  temporal  interests  some- 

times act  as  a  vehicle  of  faith."*  It  was,  therefore,  necessary 
for  steps  to  be  taken  to  preserve  the  alliance  of  this  pcf)ple, 
who  in  the  last  two  wars  had  given  the  French  the  superiority 
over  the  Flnglish  colonies. 

This,  it  must  be  remembered,  was  in  the  year  after  the  peace. 

It  had  been  hoped  that  the  reverses  suffered  by  the  Outa- 
ganis  or  Fo.xes  in  17 12  would  have  restrained  them  in  their 

enmity  to  the  I-'rench;  it  had  the  contrary  effect.  Those  of 
the  tribe,  who  had  escaped  to  reconstitute  it,  became  more 

hostile  than  ever.  Occasionally,  they  were  joined  by  the  Sioux 

and  Iroquois, when  they  made  communication  between  Lake 
Michigan  and  the  Mississippi  a  matter  of  great  danger.  They 
attacked  parties  proceeding  to  the  Mississippi,  and  now  that 

Louisiana  had  passed  under  French  rule,  it  was  indispensable 

that  the  connection  between  the  two  countries  of  New  F'rance 
should  be  undisturbed. 

The  course  taken  by  the  Foxes  caused  great  embarrass- 
ment, and,  accordingly,  de  Louvigny,  then  commandant  at 

Quebec,  received  instructions  from  de  Vaudreuil  to  undertake 
their  chastisement.     With  a  party  of  French  and  Canadians, 

en  accorder  ̂   la  Colonic  <lu  C.-xnada  cent  cinquante  tons  les  ans."  Charlevoix, 
II.,  403. 

The  modern  .-spelling  is  "  faux-saulniers."  Person.s  engaged  in  the  illegal 
traffic  of  salt  in  contravention  of  the  Koyal  authority. 

•  "  La  grace  a  souvent  hesoin  de  la  co-operation  des  homines,  et  que  Tinterft 

temporel  .sert  (juelque  fois  de  vchicule  a  la  Foy."     Charlevoix  II.,  p.  404. 
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he  proceeded  to  Michiliinackinac,  where  he  gathered  his 
Indian  aUies.  His  force  amounted  to  eiijht  hundred  men,  all 

in  good  spirits,  the  Indians  being  determined  not  to  cease  the 
contest  until  the  last  Outagami  was  destroyed. 

The  Foxes  had  entrenched  themselves  in  an  Indian  fort 

surrounded  by  three  tiers  of  oak  palisading.  Five  hundred 
of  them  had  been  gathered  together,  with  three  thousand 

women  and  children.  De  Louvigny  brought  with  him  two 

field-pieces  and  a  mortar,  and  proceeded  with  caution  to  the 
attack.  His  men,  protected  by  fascines,  advanced  to  the  pal- 

isading, which  they  successfully  undermined,  and  de  Louvigny 
was  on  the  point  of  firing  the  mine  laid  by  him,  when  the 

Foxes  proposed  to  capitulate.  They  asked  for  peace,  and 

engaged  to  return  their  prisoners,  or  to  supply  their  place  by 

slaves  taken  from  other  tribes,  and  to  pay  in  furs  the  e.\'i)cnses 

of  the  war.  De  Louvigny's  orders  from  Quebec  were,  to 
obtain  the  submission  of  the  Foxes,  without  driving  them  to 

e.xtrcmity.  He  had  sufficient  influence  with  his  Indian  allies, 
to  lead  them  to  agree  to  these  terms.  A  promise  was  inade 

to  send  deputies  to  Montreal  to  ratify  the  treaty,  and  their 

countr}-  was  ceded  to  the  French.  Pamoussa  and  two  of  the 
chiefs  died  from  small-pox  in  Montreal.  In  1717,  de  Lou- 

vigii}-  was  again  sent  to  Michilimackinac  to  execute  the  treaty, 
with  instructions,  on  his  return  to  bring  some  of  the  chiefs 

to  Montreal ;  and  he  was  specially  called  upon  to  induce  the 

coiivcurs  dc  bois  to  return  to  the  civilized  portions  of  Canada. 

Personally,  he  was  kindly  received  by  the  Foxes;  but  they 
were  far  from  being  satisfied,  and  continued,  with  the  Sioux 
and  Chickasas,  to  attack  the  French  when  on  their  route  to 

the  Mississippi.  A  small  number  only  of  the  coureurs  dc  bois 
were  influenced  to  return  with  him.  The  majority  passed 

over  to  the  Misj^issippi,  and  there  established  themselves: 
misappropriating  the  merchandise  which  had  been  placed  in 
their  hands,  they  definitely  abandoned  Canada,  taking  with 

them  what  property  they  had  gathered,  at  the  expense  of  the 
Montreal  trader'^  who  had  trusted  them. 

In  1716  de  Vaudrcuil  returned  to  Canada  accompanied  by 
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Madame  de  Vaudrcuil.  Durini,'  the  last  years  of  his  <^overn- 
ment  this  lady  obtained  great  influence,  which  she  did  not 
hesitate  to  exercise.  She  had  lived  in  Versailles,  the  atmos- 

phere of  which  had  imi)ressed  her  with  the  power  attainable 

by  feminine  effort  and  tact.  Canada  was  in  the  enjoyment  of 

peace,  and  the  province  could  quietly  develop  its  resources  so 

that  its  interior  life  miijht  advance  in  prosperity.  The  hostili- 

ties with  the  Foxes  in  the  west,  and  the  intMJ,aies  to  re-obtain 

possession  of  Acadia  had  little  influence  or  the  famil)- (juiet  of 
Montreal  or  Quebec.  Amont^  the  higher  clas.ses,  the  society 
was  remarkably  good  ;  Charlevoix,  who  was  in  Canada  in 
1720,  in  his  letters  to  the  Duchesse  de  les  Diguieres,  draws  a 

pleasant  picture  of  the  life  at  Quebec.  With  a  master  hand,  he 
describes  the  contrast  between  the  iMiglish  and  the  French 

coltMiist,  "There  is,"  "he  says,"  a  wealth  in  New  luigland,  from 
which,  it  appears,  tho.se  living  there  do  not  know  how  to  draw 

profit ;  and  in  New  France,  a  poverty  concealed  under  an  air  of 
ease  in  no  way  studied.  Trade  and  the  cultivation  of  the 

plantations  give  strength  to  the  foriner;  tne  industrj-  of  the 
habiUxiits  sustains  the  second,  while  the  taste  of  the  nation 

gives  to  their  relations  an  inexhaustible  charm.  The  ICnglish 

colonist  amasses  wealth,  and  enters  into  no  superfluous  ex- 

pense. The  French  enjoys  what  he  has,  and  often  makes  a 
show  of  what  he  does  not  possess.  The  fortner  labours  for 

the  benefit  of  his  fiimily;  the  latter  leaves  his  heirs  in  the 

difficulties  which  he  has  himself  experienced,  to  extricate  them- 

selves from  an}'  emergency  as  may  be  possible.  The  ]*-nglish 
Americans  do  not  desire  war,  for  thej'  ha\e  much  to  lose. 
They  in  no  way  show  consideration  to  the  Indians,  for  they 

do  not  believe  that  the}-  have  any  recjuirement  for  them.  For 
contrary  reasons,  the  Canadian  youth  detest  peace,  and  live 

with  the  aborigines  of  the  countr}-,  from  whom  they  easily 
gain  esteem  in  war,and  friendship  at  all  times  .  .  .  1*1  very- 
body  here  has  eiKUigh  to  live  upon;  little  is  paid  to  the  King  ; 

the  habitant  does  not  know  what  a  tax  i.s.  Bread  is  cheap, 
meat  and  fish  not  dear  ;  but  wine,  clothes,  all  that  comes 

fnMii    I'^rancc    is    expensive.      The    most    to    be    pitied   are 
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the  men  of  birth,  {ge?itilhoiiuncs,)  and  the  officers  who 

have  only  their  appointments,  and  have  their  family  responsi- 
bilities. The  women,  for  a  dowry,  generally,  only  bring  to 

their  husbands  much  esprit,  tenderness,  fascination,  and  great 

fecundity.*  God  extends  to  the  marriages  of  the  country 
the  blessing  he  was  wont  to  give  to  those  of  the  patriarchs  ; 
in  order  to  be  able  to  sustain  these  numerous  families, 

the  life  led  by  the  patriarchs  should  be  followed ;  but  that 

time  has  passed." 
In  1 72 1,  Burnet  was  appointed  Governor  of  New  York. 

One  of  his  first  acts  was  to  address  de  Vaudreuil  on  the  sub- 

ject of  the  post,  which  Joncairc  had  influenced  the  Scnecas  to 
allow  him  to  construct  at  Lewiston,  seven  miles  above  the 

junction  of  the  River  Niagara  with  Lake  Ontario,  the  place 
where  La  Salle  had  established  himself  when  he  commenced 

the  building  of"  L^.  Griffon."  It  was  a  block-house,  enclosed 
by  palisades,  with  port-holes.  It  was  constructed  in  1719-20. 

The  place  was  visited  by  Charlevoix  in  May,  1721.^-  He 
there  met  de  Longueuil,  with  the  Marquis  de  Cavagnal,  de 

Senneville,  and  de  la  Chauvignerie,^vho  were  returning  from 
a  mission  to  the  Onondagas.  Charlevoix  evidently  records 

the  opinions  which  he  heard  expressed  ;  that  the  claim  of  the 

English  over  the  Iroquois  to  extend  their  possessions  to  Lake 

Ontario,  if  practically  enforced,  w'ould  be  to  establish  them- 
selves in  the  centre  of  the  French  colony,  or  at  least  would 

absolutely  ruin  its  commerce.  Joncaire,  who  had  been  adopted 

by  the  Senecas,  had  not  built  the  block-house  as  representing 
the  French,  but  as  a  special  permission  to  himself  The 
British  had  complained  of  this  step,  and  having  obtained  the 

support  of  the  other  tribes,  asked  that  similar  privileges 
should  be  accorded  to  them.  They  were  refu.sed,  on  the  ground 

that  it  would  lead  to  war.  Charlevoix  records  the  opinion  of 

the  day,  when  he  dwells  upon  the  importance  of  this  position, 

*  "  Les  femmes  n'apportent  ordinnirement  pour  dot  ii  leurs  maris  que  beau- 

coup  d'esprit  d'amitit'  et  d'agrcmens,  cl  une  giande  fcconditi'." 

t  Charlevoix's  Letters.     Letter  IIL,  page  80.     26th  May,  1721. 
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from  which  the  united  power  of  the  British  and  Iroquois 

would  be  unable  to  drive  them,  while  by  its  means  the  French 

could  control  the  trade,  and  prevent  the  furs  being  carried  to 

Albany,  which  was  daily  being  done  with  impunity.  The 

block-house  itself,  in  a  few  years,  fell  into  decay,  and  must 

have  been  abandoned,  for  in  1727*  de  Beauharnois  proposed 

to  the  Home  Government  to  reconstruct  it.  The  recommen- 

dation was  approved,  with  orders  to  rebuild  it  the  following 
autumn. 

Burnet  complained  of  the  establishment  of  this  block-house, 

on  the  ground  that  it  interfered  with  trade  with  the  Indians, 

which  the  treaty  of  Utrecht  permitted  equally  to  the  French 

and  English,  and  that  as  the  sovereignty  of  the  Five  Nations 

had  been  ceded  to  the  British,  the  iM-ench  had  no  right  to 

establish  themselves  on  the  territory  ;  that  the  British  had 

the  better  title  to  the  ground  ;  and  as  the  boundaries  had  not 

been  established,  the  iM'cnch  were  not  justified  in  taking  pos- 

session of  disputed  territory.  A  F"rench  Governor  was  never 
at  a  loss  to  sustain  any  claitn  made  by  him,  and  in  this  case 

he  could  refer  to  the  block-house  built  by  de  La  Salle  on  the 

site  fifty  years  previously,  and  to  de  Dcnonvillc's  fort  at  the mouth  of  the  river. 

The  protests  of  the  New  York  Governor  had  no  intluence 

on  the  policy  of  the  French.  Accordingly,  Burnet  determined 

to  push  forward  settlement  on  Lake  Ontario.  In  172 1.  a  com- 

pany often  persons  started,  under  Major  Abraham  Schuyler, 

to  establish  themselves  at  Tirandaquet  Creek,  now  known 

as  Irondcquoit  Bay,  a  place  "  indisputably  in  the  Indian  pos- 

session, and  lies  very  convenient  for  all  the  Indians  to  come 

on  account  of  Trade,  from  which  the  French  at  Niagara  will 

not  hinder  them."  ..."  This,  my  lords,"  wrote  Burnet. 

"  is  the  beginning  of  a  great  Trade,  that  may  be  maintained 

with  all  the  Indians  upon  the  Lakes,  and  the  cheapness  of  all 

our  goods,  except  Powder,  above  the  French,  will  by  degrees 

draw  all  that  Trade  to  us,  which  cannot  better  appear  than  by 
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the  French  having  found  it  worth  while  to  buy  our  Goods  at 

Albany  to  sell  again  to  the  Indians."  * 
That  practice  found  no  countenance  with  the  New  York 

authorities,  however  willingly  the  merchant  accepted  contra- 
band trade  with  Canada.  Burnet  saw  that  the  true  policy 

was  to  deal  directly  with  the  Indians,  and  not  to  furnish 
goods  to  the  Canadians  to  enable  them  advantageously  to 

compete  with  Albany.  There  were  other  considerations  to 
be  held  of  account.  It  seemed  as  if  the  struggle  for  boundary 

might  take  a  form  beyond  any  peaceful  solution,  and  it  was 

now  beginning  to  assume  that  p^iase.  Private  interest  never 
ceases  its  ..cilf-assertion ;  so  the  relations  between  Albany 
and  Montreal  in  opposition  to  the  interests  of  New  York, 

remained  uninterrupted.  To  prevent  its  continuance,  Fort 

Lydius,  on  the  Hudson,  subsequently  known  as  Fort  Edward, 
was  commenced  in  I72i.f 

In  1724,  Burnet  resolved  to  establish  himself  at  Chouaguen, 

the  modern  Oswego.  The  information  was  soon  carried  to 
Quebec.  Although  the  French  claimed  the  country,  on  the 

ground  that  it  had  always  been  held  to  belong  to  France,  it 

was  by  the  right  of  priority  of  discovery  only.  But  the  pro- 
visions of  the  treaty  of  Utrecht,  recognizing  the  sovereignty 

of  England  over  the  Five  Nations,  were  as  certain  an  abandon- 
ment of  any  rights  they  had  put  forth  to  the  territory,  as  their 

cession  of  Acadia.  De  Vaudreuil  saw  the  difficulty  with 

regard  to  Niagara,  foreshadowed  by  the  policy  of  Burnet. 
That  post  in  its  present  form  was  not  safe  from  attack  ;  so 

*  Governor  Burnet  to  the  Board  of  Trade,  New  York,  i6th  of  October,  1721, 
Doc.  His.  N.  Y.,  I.,  p.  444. 

t  I  visited  the  site  of  this  fort  in  1883.  There  is  no  trace  of  its  existence, 
although  its  site  is  perfectly  identified.  It  was  then  occupied  by  a  few  buildings 
of  an  inexpensive  character,  and  a  small  sum  of  money  would  have  converted  it 
into  a  public  square.  It  played  an  important  part  in  the  wars  of  the  succeeding 

sixty-years  ;  its  memory  is  worthy  of  preservation,  and  its  identification  by  some 
monument  would  lead  many  tourists  to  visit  the  town.  Burnet  writes,  i6th 

October,  1721,  "to  break  that  Practice  [trade  with  Canada]  more  effectually, 
I  have  placed  a  sufficient  Guard  of  Soldiers  on  the  Carrying  Place  to  Canada 

and  built  a  small  Block-house  there."  The  distance  to  Lake  George  is  fourteen 
miles ;  the  road  follows  the  route  then  taken. 

'mi^.u 
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the  old  influence  of  intrigue  was  appealed  to.  But  the 
Iroquois  were  on  the  side  of  the  English,  and  the  proposed 
settlement  at  Oswego  was  being  made  with  their  approval. 
In  oruer  that  some  protest  should  be  placed  on  record,  dc 
Longueuil  influenced  the  Christian  Indians  of  the  Sault,  and 
of  the  Mountain,  to  send  deputies  to  Albany  to  represent 
that  the\-  would  not  suffer  any  establishment  at  Chouaguen,  and 
that  the}'  would  declare  war  if  it  were  attempted.  The  threat 
was  ridiculous  and  contemptible  as  coming  from  themselves, 
but  as  influenced  by  the  French  it  was  not  without  signifi- 

cance. De  Vaudreuil  proceeded  on  the  ice  to  Montreal,  where 
he  arrived  in  March,  and  he  there  heard  that  steps  had  been 
taken  to  commence  the  settlement.  The  Sault  and  the 

Mountain  Indians  returned  from  Albanj-  without  having 
obtained  the  slightest  recognition  ;  de  Longueuil  was  accord- 

ingly despatched  to  the  Onondagas  to  induce  them  to  inter- 

fere, or,  if  they  were  disinclined  to  take  any  active  part,  to 
remain  neutral  and  grant  permission  to  the  French  for  the 
erection  of  a  more  solid  building  than  the  block-house  on  the 
Niagara  river.  He  was  directed  also  to  proceed  to  Chouaguen 
and  to  order  the  English  settlers  established  there  to  with- 

draw, and,  if  necessary,  to  use  force. 
De  Longueuil  subsequently  reported  that  on  the  river 

Chouaguen,  some  four  leagues  from  lake  Ontario,  he  was  met 

b}-  one  hundred  Englishmen  and  six  canoes,  who  made  him 
produce  his  pass  ;  and  thej-  showed  him  the  order  of  the 
governor  of  New  York,  that  no  Frenchman  should  go  by 
without  a  passport.  Dc  Longueuil  nevertheless  continued  his 
journey  to  the  Onondaga  village,  and  obtained  the  consent 
of  that  tribe  for  the  erection  of  the  fort  at  Niagara.  He  met 
more  than  one  hundred  canoes  engaged  in  carrying  peltry  to 
the  British,  which  were  also  bringing  back  rum;  among  them 
were  several  canoes  of  the  Xippissing  and  Sault  Indians  from 
Lake  Huron.*  So  enterprising  were  the  British  at  this  date 
that  they  had  carried  their  operations  to  within  a  league  and 
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a  half  of  Fort  Frontcnac,  and  seriously  interfered  w  ith  the 

trade  of  that  place  and  of  Xiaj^ara. 

These  proceedings  were  reported  to  Versailles  bj-  de 
Vaudreuil,  with  the  additional  information  that  some  of  the 

English  from  Carolina  had  established  themselves  on  the 
head  waters  of  the  Wabash.  De  Vaudreuil  pointed  out  the 

indispensable  necessity  of  expelling  the  English  by  open  force 

from  Chouaguen,  and  of  putting  to  death,  in  case  of  resist- 
ance, those  established  there.  He  asked  for  authority  to  be 

given  him,  with  positive  orders  on  the  subject,  as  delay  was 

fraught  with  mischief 
In  1725  the  fort  of  Niagara  was  commenced  by  Chaussegross 

de  Lcry,  on  the  spot  where  the  wooden  structure  of  de 

Denonville  formerly  stood ;  it  was  built  of  stone,  and  com- 
pleted in  1726.  By  this  date  de  Vaudreuil  was  no  more,  and  de 

Longueuil  was  administering  the  government.  De  Longueuil 
wrote  to  France  that  he  had  sent  his  son  to  lake  Ontario,  and 

had  directed  him  not  to  return  until  the  Dutch  and  English, 
who,  to  the  number  of  three  hundred,  had  been  at  Chouaguen, 

had  retreated;  and  that  he  had  instructed  them  if  he  met  any 
New  York  canoes  on  the  lake,  to  plunder  them.  The  young 

man  in  September  wrote  that  there  were  no  such  canoes  at 

Chouaguen,  and  he  undertook  to  plunder  any  he  met. 

This  statement  was  singularly  untrue.  Ikwnet'.-.  letter  to  the 
Board  of  Trade  the  following  year  *  reports  that  there  were 
at  Chouaguen  two  hundred  traders,  armed  as  militia.  In  the 

spring,  he  had  sent  up  workmen  to  build  a  stone  house  of 

strength  at  a  place  called  Oswego,  at  the  mouth  of  the  Onon- 
daga River,  having  obtained  the  consent  of  the  Five  Nations. 

As  a  party  of  ninety  men  were  to  be  present  at  the  French 

fort  at  Niagara,  he  had  sent  up  sixty  soldiers,  with  a  captain 

and  two  lieutenants,  to  protect  the  Oswego  fort.  One  of  the 
earliest  acts  of  de  Beauharnois  was  to  protest  against  its 
construction. 

In    1725,  the  last  year  of  de  Vaudreuil's  life,  occurred  the 

♦  9th  of  May,  1727.     Doc.  His.  N.  Y.,  I.,  p.  447. 
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wreck  of  "  Lc  Chameau,"  within  two  leagues  and  a  half  of Louisbourg.  No  one  person  escaped.  The  vessel  contained 
several  of  the  f^rst  officials  of  the  colony:  M.  de  Chazel,  the 
newly-appointed  Intendant,  appointed  to  relieve  M.  Bcgon ; 
the  son  of  de  Ramezay ;  de  Louvigny,  lately  appointed 
Governor  of  Three  Rivers.  Many  officers  and  ecclesiastics 
were  among  the  passengers.  The  ship  contained  also  much 
which  was  required  in  Canada  of  the  annual  stores  sent 
by  the  government.  The  loss  in  every  respect  was  very serious. 

On  the  loth  of  October,  1725,  M.  de  Vaudreuil  died.     He 
had   been   twenty-one  years  Governor,  during  which  he  had 
performed  his  duties  with  unfailing  zeal.     He  possessed  a 
clear  perception  of  the  true  interests  of  Canada.     He  had 
lost  much  of  his  vigour  before  his  death  ;  the  change  having 
been  apparent  after  his  return  from  France.     He  had  arrived 
in    Canada   in    1687,  so  he   had    been  thirty-eight  j-ears  in 
the  colony  ;   he   had  distinguished    himself  at  Valenciennes 
ten  years  earlier.     He  was  now  a  man  of  eighty  }-ears  of  age, 
by  no  means  retaining  his  force  of  character.     He  sank  under 
much   mental   depression,  and    became  incapable  of   effort. 
Both  de  Vaudreuil  and  Bcgon  addressed  letters  to  the  Regent, 

independently  of  those  which  they  signed  in   common.^   In these  letters,  de  Vaudreuil  occasionally  expressed  his  disap- 
probation of  what  he  had  officially  accepted,  explaining  that, 

to  avoid  quarrels  and  disputes  with  Bcgon,  he  had  signed  the 
letters,  through  not   agreeing  with    their   recommendations. 
He  therefore  took  this  mode  of  expressing  his  views. 
Madame  de  Vaudreuil  has  preserved  the  reputation  of  pos- 

sessing great  energy  of  character.  During  the  last  years  of 
her  husband's  life  she  was  his  adviser,  sustaining  him  by  her courage  and  counsel.  A  (ew  weeks  after  his  death  she  return- 

ed to  France  where  she  had  made  many  influential  friends, 
and  was  held  in  high  respect  for  her  talents  and  char- 

acter. By  the  influence  of  Mme.  de  Maintenon,  on  her  first 
visit,  she  was  placed  in  charge  of  the  education  of  the  Due 

d'Alenc^on,  aud,  on  the  death  of  her  pupil,  his  father,  the  Due 
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[1740 de  Berry,  begged  of  her  to  remain  to  take  charge  of  the  other 
children. 

On  her  re-appcarance  at  court,  she  was  still  kindly  received, 
but  Mme.  de  Maintenon  was  no  longer  a  power  and  had  re- 

treated to  Saint  Cyr.  Mmc.  de  Vaudreuil  died  in  Paris  in 

June,  1740,  and  her  memory  is  preserved  as  being  zealous  on 
all  occasions  to  assist  her  Canadian  countrymen  in  any  form 

she  was  able.* 

*  "Mme.  de  Saint  .Simon  fit  donner  la  place  de  sous  gouvernante  a  Mme.  de 

Vaudreuil,  qui  etait  une  femme  d'un  vrai  merite.  Cela  etoit  fort  au  dessous  d'elie. 
Son  mari  ttoit  de  bon  lieu  et  gouverneur  general  de  Canada,  mais  elle  avoit  peu 

de  bien,  beaucoup  d'enfans  u  placer,  puis  a  pousser,  qui  se  sont  depuis  avances 
par  leur  merite,  et  avec  beaucoup  d'affaires  qui  I'avoient  fait  rtvcnir  de  Quebec." 
(1712.)     Saint  Simon.     Vol.  IX.,  p.  397. 

END   OF  VOLUME    II. 
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THE  TRf:ATV  OF  UTRECHT. 

The  treaty  of  Utrecht  forms  an  epoch  in  Canadian  history, 

separating  the  period  of  undisturbed,  if  not  unassailed,  possession 

of  Canada  by  France,  from  the  final  years  of  struggle,  which 

closed  with  the  conquest.  Thirty  years  of  peace  followed  ;  when 

war  broke  out  in  i  7+3,  sixteen  years  only  were  to  elapse  before 

French  power  disappeared  from  the  north  of  the  American  conti- 

nent. I  feel  myself,  therefore,  called  upon  to  relate  the  history  of 

the  negotiations  of  which  the  treaty  was  the  consequence ;  and, 

to  do  so  satisfactorily,  allusion  is  necessary  to  the  political  events 

which  preceded  them  in  Europe. 

The  study  of  the  campaigns  of  the  great  duke  of  Marlborough 

establishes  his  commanding  genius  in  war  and  diplomacy.  Not 

the  least  of  his  victories  was  his  triumph  over  adverse  circum- 

stances. He  received  strong  support  from  prince  Eugene  and 

Heinsius,  but  in  the  mixed  councils  of  the  allies  he  obtained  only 

imperfect  co-operation.  At  one  time  the  Dutch  field-deputies 
exacted  that  all  operations  in  the  field  should  be  submitted  for 

their  approval ;  a  hindrance  often  more  disastrous  than  the  enemy's 
movements.  The  margrave  Louis  of  Baden,  the  elector  of 

Hanover  afterwards  George  I.,  the  elector  of  Brandenburgh 

Frederick  I.  of  Piussia,  were  all  incapable  of  doing  justice  to  the 

breadth  and  wisdom  of  Marlborough's  views.  The  embarrass- 
ments he  experienced  seemed  only  to  draw  forth  his  inexhaustible 

resources;  and  he  triumphed  over  all  opposition,  and  overcame 

obstacles  which  to  other  men  would  have  proved  insuperable.* 

*  On  one  occasion,  at  a  court  ceremony,  Marlborough  held  a  napkin  for  the 
king  of  Prussia.  After  this  important  event,  less  difficulty  was  experienced  with 
that  mor\arch.     When,  in    1707,  Cnarles  XII.  of  Sweden,  after  the  conquest  of 
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The  campaign  of  1704,  brought  to  a  close  by  the  victory  of 

Blenheim,  conceived  with  genius,  and  executed  with  vigour  never 

surpassed  even  in  the  most  brilliant  campaigns  of  Napoleon, 

created  for  the  duke  enemies  as  bitter,  as  the  expression  of 

national  favour  was  undoubted.  The  jacobite  party  regarded  him 

with  dread,  as  a  formidable  opponent  to  their  cause ;  and  it  has 

been  said  that  the  conqueror  was  more  blamed  in  England,  than 

the  general  who  lost  the  battle  was  censured  in  France.  Marl- 
borough was  denounced,  as  exceeding  his  powers  in  going  to  the 

Danube  ;  the  victory  itself  was  depreciated  as  useless,  while  the 

loss  of  the  French  king  was  spoken  of  "  as  no  more  than  to  take 

a  bucket  of  water  out  of  the  river.'"  "  If,"  wrote  ̂ Tarlborough, 
"  they  will  allow  us  to  draw  one  or  two  such  buckets  more,  I 
should  think  we  might  then  let  the  river  run  quietly,  and  not  much 

apprehend  its  overflowing  and  destroying  its  neighbours." 
The  victory  of  Ramilies,  in  1706,  was  equally  decisive.  It 

encouraged  the  Dutch  to  change  their  views  from  the  hope  of 

defending,  to  the  desire  of  extending  their  territory  ;  a  policy  of 

which  Marlborough  saw  the  impracticability.  The  disasters  of 

this  campaign  were  so  momentous,  and  the  distress  in  France  so 

great,  that  indirect  offers  of  peace  were  made  by  its  ruler. 

Louis  offered  to  withdraw  the  pretensions  of  his  family  to  the 

crown  of  Spain,  conditionally  on  a  kingdom  being  found  for  Philip 

in  Italy;  the  queen  of  England's  title  to  be  recognized;  the  estab- 
lishment of  a  barrier  to  the  Dutch  republic  to  be  conceded  ;  and 

great  commercial  advantages  given  to  the  maritime  powers.     This 

Poland,  established  his  quarters  near  Leipsic,  every  inducement  was  offered  by 

Louis  to  lead  him  to  take  the  side  of  the  French.  On  the  part  of  the  allies,  the 

endeavour  was  to  induce  the  Swedish  king  to  remain  neutral,  for,  from  his  antipathy 

to  the  emperor,  they  could  not  hope  he  would  take  their  side.  Marlborough  was 

selected  to  wait  upon  Charles.  After  presenting  an  autograph  letter  from  the 

queen,  Marlborough  stated  that,  if  it  had  not  been  for  her  sex,  she  would  have 

crossed  the  sea  to  look  upon  a  prince  admired  by  thi:  whole  universe,  and,  on  his 

own  part,  he  expressed  a  wish  that  he  could  serve  some  campaigns  "under  so 
great  a  General  as  Your  Majesty,  that  I  might  learn  what  I  yet  want  to  know  in 

the  art  of  War."  This  extraordinary  compliment  was  accepted  as  an  ordinary 
rem.irk.  Marlborough  accomplished  what  he  had  in  view  ;  his  visit  led  to  the 

king's  neutrality.  .Shortly  afterwards,  Charles  crossed  the  frontier,  to  carry  into 
Russia  the  war  which  enc'-^d  in  his  ruin. 
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was  the  first  step  in  the  negotiations,  which  terminated  in  the  final 

settlement.  The  oft"er  to  open  a  conference  was  not  accepted.  The 
conduct  of  Marlborough  on  this  occasion  has  led  to  the  accusa- 

tion that  he  was  opposed  to  terminating  the  war,  from  a  desire  to 

profit  by  it:  a  charge  repeated  even  in  modern  times.  His  private 

letters  distinctly  establish  that  during  the  whole  of  this  period  he 

was  desirous  of  peace  and  quiet  in  his  family,  and  would  gladly  have 

accepted  retirement.  One  of  the  causes,  which  had  encouraged  his 

desire  for  wealth,  had  ceased  to  influence  him,  owing  to  the  death  of 

his  only  son,  the  marquis  of  Blandford,  at  Cambridge,  in  1702, 

which  removed  the  hope  of  male  succession  to  his  honours. 

However  strongly  the  love  of  money  may  have  been  entertained 

by  Marlborough,  that  it  led  him  to  advocate  the  continuance  of 

the  war  is  disproved  by  his  private  correspondence. 

On  the  3rd  of  November  [N.  S.],  1707,  the  first  parliament  of 

Great  Britain  met.  During  the  year  the  unfortunate  battle  of 

Almanza  had  been  fought  in  Spain,  and  the  attempt  upon  Toulon 

had  failed.  Nevertheless,  the  majority  of  the  house  of  commons 

were  against  the  terms  of  peace  proposed  in  1706.  Resolutions 

were  passed,  affirming  the  policy  of  not  permitting  the  power  of  the 

house  of  Bourbon  to  be  extended  over  Spain,  and  both  houses 

pledged  the  country  to  the  continuance  of  the  war. 

The  campaign  of  1708  was  marked  by  the  battle  of  Oudenarde, 

when  IMarlborough  and  Eugene  defeated  the  French  under  Ven- 
dome  ;  and  the  conquest  of  Minorca  was  made  by  lord  Stanhope. 

Prince  George,  the  queen's  husband,  died  on  the  8th  of  November 
of  this  year.  It  is  a  curious  illustration  of  the  manners  of  those 

days,  that,  on  the  28th  of  January,  three  months  after  the  death 

of  the  prince,  the  two  houses  sent  up  a  joint  address,  "  that  she  [the 
queen]  would  have  such  indulgence  to  the  hearty  desires  of  her 

subjects  as  to  entertain  thoughts  of  a  second  marriage."  The 
queen  replied,  that  the  care  she  had  taken  to  secure  the  protestant 

succession  was  a  proof  how  much  she  had  at  heart  the  happiness 

of  the  kingdom.  She  continued:  "  The  subject  of  this  address 
is  of  such  a  nature  that  I  am  persuaded  that  you  do  not  expect  a 

particular  answer."  It  was  from  this  date  that  the  hopes  of  the 
party  of  the  pretender  became  more    sanguine.     The  tory  party. 
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intent  on  gaining  office,  ready  to  seize  every  occasion  for  censure, 

and  every  opportunity  to  create  dissatisfaction,  gave  countenance 

to  this  sentiment  of  disloyalty,  that  it  might  be  turned  to  their 

advantage,  although  the  great  majority  among  them,  owing  to  the 

religion  of  the  pretender,  in  no  way  favoured  his  pretensions. 

In  1709,  France,  reduced  to  great  distress,  again  made  over- 
tures for  peace.  The  first  months  of  the  year  had  been  visited 

by  a  continued  frost,  in  its  severity  entirely  unknown  in  that  latitude. 

The  fruit  trees  throughout  the  kingdom  suflfered  great  damage. 

In  Normandy  the  orchards  were  seriously  injured  ;  in  the  south, 

the  vines  and  olive  trees  to  a  great  e.Ktent  had  been  destroyed, 

while  the  cornfields  of  the  central  plains  were  so  blighted  that 

the  hope  of  a  year's  harvest  passed  away.  The  cold  ,vas  so 
intense  that  the  Rhone,  nne  of  the  most  rapid  rivers  in  France, 

was  frozen.  Along  the  coast,  were  to  be  found  fields  of  ice,  as  in 

the  polar  seas.  The  courts  of  justice,  the  theatres,  the  S(j/ofis  of 

fashion,  the  places  of  business  and  pleasure,  were  closed.  Social 

life  was  sens''^ly  affected,  in  accord  with  the  depression  of  nature. 
Th?  people,  without  experience  in  a  trial  of  this  character,  could 

make  no  preparation  to  meet  it.  It  is  related  that  entire  families 

were  found  frozen  to  death  in  their  cottages,  and  in  the  garrets  of 
the  cities. 

In  March,  Louis,  through  M.  Menager,  a  merchant  of  Rouen, 

again  made  indirect  proposals  for  peace ;  Menager  obtained  the 
aid  of  M.  Pettekum,  the  minister  of  the  duke  of  Holstein  at  the 

Hague.  The  Dutch  declined  to  enter  into  any  separate  negotia- 
tion, laying  down  the  principle  that  what  discussion  took  place 

must  be  carried  on  with  the  whole  of  the  allies.  They,  however, 

went  so  far  as  to  submit  the  preliminaries  on  which  a  proposal  of 

peace  could  be  discussed.  M.  de  Torcy,  then  Secretary  of  State 

for  France,  accepted  the  basis  of  negotiation,  and  asked  for  pass- 
ports for  two  French  representatives;  one  in  the  name  of  Bergheyck, 

who  had  been  Intendant  for  Spain  in  the  Low  Countries.  This 

passport  was  refused,  a  slight  the  king  of  France,  a  few  years  previ- 
ously, would  have  thought  impossible.  The  second,  in  favour  of 

M.  Rouille,  president  of  the  parliament  of  Paris,  a  man  marked 

by  much  diplomatic  address,  was  sent.     His  instructions  were  to 
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make  the  best  terms  he  was  able,  in  order  to  obtain  a  suspension 
of  hostilities. 

Rouille  was  not  allowed  to  proceed  to  the  Hague,  but  was 

requested  to  establish  himself  at  Moerdyke;  he  afterwards  wt-nt  to 
Worden,  at  which  place  two  deputies,  Buys  and  Vanderdussen, 

delegated  by  the  United  Provinces,  met  to  confer  with  him 

This  offer,  on  the  part  of  France,  was  responded  to  in  the 

British  parliament  by  an  important  vote.  The  preceding  year, 

1708,  an  expedition  in  favour  of  the  pretender  had  sailed  from 

Dunkirk,  with  the  design  of  effecting  a  landing  in  Scotland  :  an 

attempt  that  entirely  failed.  It  was  accordingly  considered  that 

additional  conditions  should  be  exacted  in  any  treaty  of  peace. 

The  resolutions  carried,  set  forth  that  it  was  incumbent  upon  Louis 

to  acknowledge  the  queen's  title  and  the  protestant  succession;  to 
engage  to  send  the  pretender  out  of  France ;  and  to  demolish 
the  fortifications  an:l  harbour  of  Dunkirk.  With  such  instructions 

Marlborough  and  lord  Townsend  were  appointed  plenipotentiaries 

at  the  Hague. 

The  allies  asked  the  abandonment  of  the  province  of  Alsace, 

including  the  city  of  Strasbourg  ;  the  duchy  of  Luxemburg;  the 
cession  of  ten  fortresses  on  the  frontier  to  form  a  barrier  for  the 

Dutch  ;  among  them  Tournay,  which  France  still  held,  and  Lille, 

which  had  been  taken.  No  Italian  possessions  were  definitely 

promised  to  Philip,  in  the  form  of  indemnity,  on  his  abandonment 

of  the  crown  of   Spain. 

Conditions  so  onerous,  and  beyond  the  powers  of  Rouille,  were 

referred  by  him  to  his  court.  They  were  submitted  at  a  meeting 

of  the  council,  when  the  king,  the  dauphin,  and  five  councillors, 

were  present.  Stern  and  exacting  as  they  were,  it  was  resolved  to 

accept  them.  De  Torcy  undertook  the  duty  of  proceeding  to 

Holland,  empowered  to  conclude  a  treaty  with  the  least  possible 

delay,  and  to  accept  peace  almost  on  any  terms.  The  only  pass- 
port on  which  he  could  travel  was  that  of  a  courier,  and  in  this 

character  he  reached  the  Hague.  He  went  directly  to  the  house 

of  Heinsius  to  state  his  business,  to  the  pensionary's  great 
surprise. 

We  owe  to  the  memoirs  of  de  Torcy  the  history  of  these  nego- 
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h tiations.  He  has  left  on  record  that  he  was  instructed  to  offer 

Marlborough  money  to  influence  his  conduct.  Marlboro'  ::h's 
dishonourable  correspondence  with  James  was  known  to  the 

French  court,  and,  in  the  early  negotiations,  allusion  had  been 

made  to  it,  in  the  hope  of  paralyzing  any  opposition  he  might 

offer.  De  Torcy  was  now  instructed  to  offer  the  duke  two  mil- 

lions of  /I'vres  if  Naples  and  Sicily,  or  Naples  alone,  could  be 
secured  to  Philip  ;  or  if  Strasbourg  could  be  retained  by  France, 
and  the  dem,  .ition  of  Dunkirk  avoided.  Four  millions  would  be 

paid,  if  all  these  objects  could  be  accomplished. 
De  Torcy  has  related  the  result  of  these  c  jnvcrsations.  The 

colour  mounted  to  Marlborough's  face ;  he  calmly  changed  the 
conversation.  He  declared  his  desire  for  peace,  to  retire  to  his 

home,  and  live  in  quiet ;  and,  while  advocating  the  other  claims 

set  forth  by  his  Government,  he  stated  that  he  had  positive  orders 

from  the  queen  to  insist  on  the  cession  of  Newfoundland. 

IMarlborough,  as  usual,  was  most  courteous.*  He  spoke  respect- 
fully of  the  king  of  France.  He  had  learned,  he  said,  the  art  of 

war  in  France  ;  but,  whatever  personal  feeling  he  entertained,  it 

would  not  be  possible  to  cede  Naples  and  Sicily  to  Philip  :  no 

English  minister  could  listen  to  the  proposition.  He  admitted, 

adds  de  Torcy,  the  necessity  of  peace  to  his  nation,  but  he  was 

silent  regarding  the  political  agitations  by  which  it  was  then 

affected.  He  spoke  kindly  of  the  pretender  as  the  son  of  his  old 

master,  and  pointed  out  that  it  was  the  prince's  interest  to  leave 

France.  "  Where  c,  .n  he  go  ?  "  asked  de  Torcy.  "  Wherever  it 

may  please  him  "  replied  Marlborough,  "  to  any  other  country 

where  he  would  enjoy  freedom  and  security."  He  expressed 
even  a  desire  to  serve  the  so-called  prince  of  Wales  ;  but  the 

perusal  of  these  negotiations,  as  given  by  de  Torcy,  establishes 

Marlborough's  fidelity  to  his  country. 
Moi ,  than  this  feeling  is  also  apparent ;  he  endeavoured  to 

ootain  ̂   .-ace,  and  de  Torcy  was  greatly  aided  by  his  advice.  The 
French  secretary  was  prepared  to  cede  every  demand.  The 

negotiation  failed  on  the  condition  of  the  abandonment  of  French 

pretension  to  the  crown  of  Spain.     What  de  Torcy  offered  was, 

*  "  La  politesse  regnoit  dans  ses  discours." 
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that  Louis  should  make  known  to  Philip  that  he  would  withdraw 

all  aid  from  Spain,  and  recall  his  officers:  but  he  would  undertake 
no  more.  He  would  withhold  all  assistance,  and  leave  the  allies 

to  drive  Philip  out  of  Spain.  The  consequence  would  have  been 

that,  while  the  allies  were  engaged  in  war,  sacrificing  men  and 

money,  France  would  have  recruited  her  strength  and  re-formed 

her  army.  During  the  negotiations,  de  Torcy,  speaking  of  con- 
tinuing the  contest  in  Spain,  quoted  Marlborough  as  saying  that 

it  would  be  a  petty  war.  "  Certainly,"  replied  Marlborough, 

"  but  it  must  be  brought  to  a  close."  The  difficulty  with  the  allies 
was  want  of  belief  in  the  good  faith  of  Louis,  who  had  never 

hesitated  to  abandon  a  treaty  when  it  accorded  with  his  policy ; 

and  it  was  feared  he  would  act  similarly  in  this  case.  What  the 

allies  were  willing  to  accede  to,  was,  a  treaty  of  suspension  of  arms 

for  two  months  from  the  ist  of  June;  that  within  this  period  Louis' 
grandson  should  retire  into  France  with  his  adherents ;  and,  if  he 

failed  so  to  do,  Louis  should  join  the  allies  in  enforcing  this  course. 
The  terms  forwarded  to  France  were  submitted  to  the  Council 

to  be  unanimously  rejected.  Rouille  was  ordered  to  leave  Holland. 

Louis  acting  on  the  advice  of  de  Torcy,  issued  a  declaration  to  the 

French  people,  appealing  to  their  patriotism.  This  course  was  as 

une.xpecled  as  it  was  unusual.  The  circular,  addressed  to  the  gov- 

ernors of  provinces,  related  the  immense  sacrifices  proposed  by  the 

king  to  obtain  peace,  and  that  all  that  had  been  offered  to  France 

was  a  temporary  truce.  He,  therefore,  called  for  support  in  a  war 

necessary  to  the  national  e.xistence  ;  its  prosecution  had  become 

inevitable.  The  appeal  with  all  classes  obtained  immediate  res- 
ponse. The  king,  himself,  sent  out  his  gold  plate  to  be  coined 

into  money  ;  most  of  the  nobility  followed  his  example  ;  the  pat- 

riotic feeling  of  the  people  was  thoroughly  aroused,  and  an  army 

again  took  the  field  in  defence  of  the  country's  ancient  renown. 
In  September,  1709,  the  battle  of  Malplaquet  was  fought,  con- 

cerning which,  there  is  strange  perversion  of  the  facts  in  English 

history.  It  is  described  as  fought  by  Marlborough  without  pur- 

pose, for  his  personal  ends.*     French  historians  express  no  such 

*  Even  "  Murray's  Hand-book  of  Northern  Germany  "  [p.  195]  represents 
this  battle  as  a  murderous  conllict  and  useless  victory. 
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view  ;  they  record  the  battle  as  an  event  incident  to  the  presenct- 
of  two  large  armies  face  to  face,  and  as  a  consequence  of  the  plan 

of  operations  of  the  allies.  For  the  latter  not  to  have  assumed 

offensive  operations,  would  have  been  to  act  in  accordance  with 

the  policy  of  Villars,  who  was  desirous  of  saving  Tournay  and 

Mons,  and  avoiding  every  trial  of  strength. 

Marlborough  and  Eugene,  with  an  army  of  one  hundred  and  ten 

thousand  men,  had  invested  Tournay,  which  city  Villars,  with 

Marshal  Bouftlers,  was  endeavouring  to  reliev  \  But  Villars  was 

out-generalled  by  Marlborough,  and  Tournay  was  taken.  On  the 

very  day  of  the  capitulation,  a  division  of  i.he  allies  was  detached 
to  invest  Mons,  and  the  whole  army  marcned  towards  that  place 

the  following  day.  Villars  made  an  attempt  to  anticipate  this 

movement ;  but  he  advanced  only  to  find  Eugene  and  ]\Iarlborough 

between  him  and  Mons,  in  the  country  south  of  the  Haine,  at  its 

junction  with  the  Trouille.  Villars,  consequently  entrenched  him- 
self in  his  position  at  Malplaquet,  as  he  was  too  weak  for  offensive 

operations.  The  battle  became  inevitable.  The  French  were 
attacked  in  their  entrenchments,  and  driven  out,  with  a  loss  of 

fourteen  thousand  men.  The  loss  of  the  allies  was  twenty 

thousand.*  That  the  action  was  bloody  f  and  undecisive  is 
not  an  argument  that  the  attack  should  not  have  been  made.  It 

was  the  last  important  battle  of  the  war ;  and  while  in  no  way  it 

affected  the  strength  of  the  allies,  the  forlorn  condition  of  France 

in  the  following  year  showed  to  what  extent  this  reverse  impaired 
her  national  resources. 

It  was  not  owing  to  the  plan  of  attack  that  the  allies  suffered 

so  severely,  but  because  the  orders  of  Marlborough  and  Eugene 

were  not  observed.  The  losses  were  chiefly  on  the  Confederate 

left.  Eugene,  on  the  right,  was  to  advance  from  the  wood  of  Sart ; 

Marlborough  directed  the  attacks  of  the  centre  a"d  left.  On  the 
left,  the  Dutch  regiments,  with  some  Scotch  battalions,  were  under 
the  command  of  Prince  Frison  of  Nassau.  This  force  was 

advanced  and  halted,  so  to  remain  until  further  orders  were  given. 

*  Coxe's  Marlborough.     Vol.  II.,  p.  459.     (Bohn's  Edition). 
t  "  Ce  fut  la  plus  grande,  et  la  plus  sangl.ante  bataille  de  toutes  les   guerres 

de  Louis  XIV."     Henri  Martin,  XIV.,  p.  524. 
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The  command  of  the  prince  was  shared  by  marshal  Tilly,  and  the 

division  was  to  be  sustained  by  Withers,  who  had  arrived  from 

Tournay  with  nineteen  squadrons  and  ten  battalions. 

When  the  sun  had  cleared  the  foi,'  from  the  i^round,  at  half-past 
seven  on  the  iith  of  September,  the  battle  was  commenced 

by  vigorous  attacks  on  the  right  and  centre.  On  the  left,  a 

powerful  demonstration  only  was  to  be  made.  Unfortunately,  the 

prince  of  Nassau  was  possessed  by  the  ambition  to  be  named 

stadtholder,  and  he  was  desirous  of  capturing  public  support  bv 

some  daring  act  of  gallantry.  Marshal  Tilly,  partaking  the  com- 

mand with  him,  was  an  e.xcellent  officer,  but  politically  opposed  to 

the  pretensions  of  the  house  of  Orange.  The  prince,  however, 

had  the  support  of  all  the  young  officers  of  the  army.  Withers' 
corps  had  been  moved  to  the  Folic  hamlet  on  the  right.  Half  an 
hour  after  the  commencement  of  the  battle,  without  consultation 

with  Tilly,  and  unsupported  by  Withers,  the  prince  gave  the  order 

for  the  attack.  Two  lines  of  entrenchments  lay  in  his  front,  de- 

fended by  heavy  guns,  and  strong  masses  of  infantrv.  The  first 

line  was  carried.  At  the  second,  the  attack  of  the  prince  was 
received  with  a  storm  of  shot,  and  he  was  forced  to  retire.  The 

prince  showed  desperate  gallantry,  leading  his  men  onward  ;  but 

after  a  few  moments  of  success  he  was  driven  back,  leaving  behind 

him  his  cannon  aud  several  standards.  In  this  ill-conceived  move- 

ment 2,000  men  were  left  dead,  and  upwards  of  that  number  placed 

hors  lie  combat ;  one-fourth  of  ihe  losses  of  the  day.  It  was  only 

Marlborough's  presence  that  retrieved  the  disaster. 
On  the  confederate  right  and  centre,  after  a  temporary  check, 

the  French  were  driven  back  by  Marlborough  and  Kugeni  In  the 

allied  advance,  some  divisions  painfully  waded  across  a  morass 

considered  impassable,  and  from  this  cause  sufficient  to  offer  an 

impediment  to  any  attack.  The  French  were  driven  from  the 

woods  to  the  plain,  wliere  the  confederate  cavalry  took  ground. 

It  was  in  the  endeavour  to  remedy  the  disorder  in  the  French  ranks, 

that  Villars,  personally  advancing  at  the  head  of  thirty  battalions, 

was  wounded  in  the  knee,  and  carried  fainting  from  the  field.  The 

French  centre  being  thus  weakened,  Marlborough  directed  against 

it  a  mass  of  infantry.     The  centre  was  forced  and  penetrated,  the 
2K 
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communication  between  the  wings  was  broken,  and  the  retreat  of 
the  French  was  ordered. 

Had  Marlborough  at  the  proper  time  received  the  reinforcements 

for  which  he  had  asked,  and  had  his  orders  to  the  prince  of  Nassau 

been  obeyed,  the  result  would  have  not  been  the  "murderous,  use- 

less victory  "  it  is  the  fashion  to  represent  this  battle  to  have  been. 
If,  notwithstanding  the  disasters  experienced  by  the  allies  on  their 

left,  the  result  ended  in  their  favour,  and  the  object  of  the  battle, 

the  capture  of  Mons,  was  attained,  what  would  have  been  the  result, 

had  proper  generalship  been  shown  by  the  prince  of  Orange*  in 
the  place  of  mere  reckless  daring,  and  with  a  reserve  powerful 

enough  to  continue  active  operations  ?  Would  it  not  have  been 

that  the  confederate  army  would  have  entered  France,  and 

have  terminated  the  war  on  such  conditions  of  peace  as  the  allies 

felt  to  be  necessary  ? 

Marlborough,  believing  that  the  preparations  which  were  being 

made  in  France  for  this  campaign,  were  almost  final  in  their 

desperation,  at  the  opening  of  active  operations  had  asked  for 
reinforcements. 

With  ten  thousand  additional  men,  the  battle  and  the  subse- 

quent events  of  the  campaign  would  have  borne  a  different 

impress.  The  French  retreated  unmolested.  The  event  was 

spoken  of  in  England  by  those  opposed  to  the  administration,  as 

proving  the  inexhaustible  resources  of  France  ;  and  consequently, 

the  impolicy  of  continuing  the  war.  The  cry  was  repeated  that  the 

war  was  being  carried  on  for  the  advantage  of  the  allies,  without 

any  benefit  to  Great  Britain  ;  the  cost  being  mainly  borne  by  the 

British  nation,  who  paid  the  allies  large  subsidies  in  furtherance  of 
their  own  interests. 

In  1 7 10,  the  negotiations  for  peace  were  resumed.  The  Dutch 

agreed  to  tne  renewal  of  the  conferences  of  1709,  on  condition 

that  the  cession  of  Spain  by  Philip  should  take  place  within  two 

months  of  the  signature  of  the  treaty  ;  a  proposition  certainly  not 

rejected  by  the  French  king,  for  he  undertook  to  submit  an  equi- 
valent which  should  be  satisfactory.     The  plenipotentiaries  met  at 

*  The   prince   was    accidentally   drowned  in    171 1. 
doubtless  favourably  influenced  contemporary  criticism. 

His   unfortunate   fate 
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Gertruydenberg.  France  being  represented  by  the  Abb^.  afterwards 
Cardmal  de  Polignac.  and  Marshal  d'Huxelles.     Although  Louis 
offered  further  engagements  to  effect  the  abdication  of  Philip  the difficulties  which  had   been  insuperable   the  preceding  year,  again 
proved  the  stumbling-block  to  settlement.     Louis  was  prepared  to bmd  himself  to  recall   by  edict,  all  Frenchmen  from  Spain,  and even  engaged  to  pay  monthly  subsidies  for  the  prosecution  of  the 
war  to  force  Philip's  retirement.     He  would  not.  however,  accept he  condition,   that   positively  within  two  months   Philip   should 
leave  bpain.      The  allies  could    only  perceive   the    unfavourable sice  of  these  conditions.     The  Dutch  and  British,  however,  com- 

menced  to  entertain  the  policy  of  inducing  Philip  to  resign  the crown  of  Spain,  by  a  promise  of  that  of  Sicily.     But  the  house  of Aus  ria  forwarded  a  memorial  to  the  Hague,  declaring  that  Austria 
would   never  consent   to  any  portion  of  the  Spanish  territories, even  outside  the  peninsula  of  Spain,  being  ceded  to  the  house  of 
Bourbon       Thus,  the  allies,  on   this   point,  were   not  in  accord among  themselves,  a  fact  which  the  French  soon  learned 

Marlborough,  during  these  negotiations,  exerted  himself  to  obtain 
peace.  It  was  well  known  throughout  Europe  that  his  influence at  home  was  greatly  lessened  ;  a  fact,  of  which  no  one  was  more sensible  than  himself,  and  which  exercised  restraint  upon  his  con- 

duct; for,  from  the  knowledge  of  the  unfriendlv  feeling  of  the ministers,  he  acted  in  all  respects  with  great  prudence  and  caution It  soon  became  understood  that  no  result  could  be  attained  The conference,  nevertheless,  was  prolonged  until  July,  when  the plenipotentiaries  separated.  As  no  arrangement  had  been  reached the  operations  of  the  campaign  were  recommenced 
The  fal,  of   the  whig  Ministry,   in   ,7.0,   had    great  influence 

on  the  fortunes  of   the  French  and  British   provinces  in  North 

cT,Tu-  I  'r /?''''  ''^  circumstances  of  the  dismissal  of Godolphm.*  Had  he  remained  in  power,  there  would  have  been no  such  miserable  collapse  as  the  failure  of  Walker's  expedition 
and  the  conditions  under  which  peace  would  have  been  discussed 
would,  m  every  respect,  have  been  different.  Great  Britain  would 
h_av^rema.ned  the  undisputed  head  of  thej:onfederacy ;  the *  Ante  page,  453. 
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objections  of  Austria  would  not  have  had  the  same  force.  It  was 

while  these  negotiations  were  being  carried  on  that  the  ([ueen 

insisted  on  the  promotion  of  Colonel  Hill,  and  Marlborough's 
son-in-law  Sunderland,  was  dismissed  ;  facts  in  themselves  being 

a  proclamation  to  Europe,  that  the  ministry  of  Godolphin  was 

tottering  to  its  fall. 

The  opinions  which  I  have  stated  as  having  been  rrccly 

expressed  in  England  after  the  battle  of  Malplaquet,  to  a  great 

extent  prevail  in  modern  times.  It  is  pertinent  to  examine  the 

causes  which  have  led  to  their  acceptance.  The  main  ground  of 

the  discredit  attached  to  Marlborough's  memory  is  the  systematic 
abuse  of  Swift  ;  and  while  his  vituperation  has  been  accepted  as 

genuine  and  warranted,  there  has  been  little  examination  into  the 

character  of  his  philippics.  To  use  a  modern  word,  Marlborough 

had  no  "  following  '  attached  to  him  by  liberal  and  kindly  rela- 
tions. Although  most  courteous  in  his  manners,  and  perfect  in  his 

high  breeding,  he  was  not  hospitable,  he  was  not  generous.  In 

the  army,  his  genius  in  the  field  had  created  him  adherents  ;  but 

in  his  private  life,  there  was  little  to  awaken  in  men  that  personal 

devotion  which  so  many  leaders  have  known  how  to  create ;  while 

the  terrible  insolence  of  the  Duchess  of  Marlborough  repelled 

many  from  his  side,  and,  in  other  respects  exercised  a  disastrous 
inlluence  on  his  fortunes. 

A  main  defect  in  Marlborough's  political  character  was  the  little 
value  he  attached  to  the  support  of  able  writers.  He  had  no  love 

of  letters,  no  respect  for  literary  ability,  not  the  slightest  reverence 

for  learning.  The  advantages  obtainable  by  political  writing  may 

have  been  a  matter  with  which  he  did  not  actively  interfere,  leaving 

its  management  to  Godolphin.  The  daily  newspaper  was  now 

coming  into  use  ;  caricature  was  becoming  a  formidable  weapon  ; 

and  public  opinion  was  being  moulded  by  what  in  these  days  we 

call  journalism.  Marlborough  remained  insensible  to  this  engine 

of  power,  and  little  remains  to  us  of  any  contemporary  defence  of 

his  character.  We  have  the  surer  evidence  of  his  private  letters 

to  establish  that,  for  years  Marlborough  yearned  for  peace  and 

happiness  within  his  family.  Much  stress  has  been  laid  on  his 

desire  to  be  appointed  Captain  General  for  life.     The  application 
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was  made,  when  he  felt  that  there  was  unfriendliness  to  him,  espe- 

cially on  the  part  of  the  queen  ;  and  he  was  desirous  of  guarding 

against  the  loss  of  his  position.  He  had  rendered  great  services  ; 

and,  as  a  reward  for  them,  he  sought  to  be  maintained  in  his  post. 

No  one  can  deny  that  Marlborough  loved  the  emoluments  of 

office  and  desired  to  retain  them  ;  but,  although  not  an  amiable 

feature  in  the  character  of  this  distinguished  man.  it  cannot  be 

made  a  matter  of  disgraceful  reproach.  The  application  was  not 

a  diirnified  proceeding  ;  but  it  cannot  be  condemned  as  criminal. 
It  amounted  to  no  more  than  a  demand  that  his  emoluments 

should  be  continued  during  his  lifetime. 

What  are  held  to  be  virtues  in  other  men  are  made  a  reproach 

to  Marlborough  It  is  a  strange  feature  in  the  estimate  of  his 

character,  that  his  affection  and  devotion  to  his  wife  are  seldom 

mentioned  without  a  sneer.  They  have  been  compared  to  the 
attachment  of  Belisarius  to  the  characterless  Antonina.  His 

prudence,  economy  and  thrift  have  been  stigmatized  as  a  r;ordid 

and  unconquerable  love  of  money  :  even  a  woman  with  the  worst 

of  histories,  was  lured  by  Harley  to  accuse  Marlborough  of  per- 

sonal cowardice,  and,  to  Swift's  disgrace,  the  calumny  received  his 
countenance.* 

Harley,  on  the  contrary,  was  conscious  of  the  advantages 

obtainable  from  the  support  of  eminent  writers ;  and  his  good 

fortune  threw  him   into  association  with   a  man    of  pre-eminent 

*  "Those  mali)j;iiers  who  ileny  him  personal  valour,  seein  not  to  consider  that 
this  accusation  is  charged  at  a  venture  ;  since  the  person  of  a  wise  general  is  too 

sel'ii'ni  exposed  to  form  any  judgment  on  the  matter  :  and  that  fear  which  is  said 
to  have  sometimes  disconcerted  him  before  an  action  might  prohahly  he  more  for 

his  army  than  for  liiniself."  "  History  of  tlie  four  last  years  of  the  (Jueen," 

published  as  "by  the  late  Jonathan  Swift,  D.D.,  D.S.I'.  I)."  p.  15.  Hoth  lord 
Macaulay  and  lord  Mahon  had  doubts  of  its  genuineness.  The  iiook  did  not  ap|)ear 

until  1 75S,  fourteen  years  after  Swift's  death,  and  it  was  not  accredited  by  the  name 
of  a  responsible  editor.  Johnson  remarks,  in  his  life  of  .Swift,  "I  can  only  say  that 
it  (the  history)  seemed  by  no  me.ans  to  correspond  with  the  notions  that  I  had 
formed  of  it,  from  a  conversation  which  I  once  heard  between  the  earl  of  Orrery 

and  old  Mr.  Lewis." 
Whoever  was  the  author,  the  book  is  a  poor  performance,  and  of  little  value 

in  unravelling  the  history  of  the  negotiations  of  the  time.  The  "  maligner  "  was 
the  characterless  Mrs.  Manley,  authoress  of  the  discreditable  book,  the  New 
Alalantis. 
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ability,  prepared  to  consider  as  marketable  the  extraordinary 

powers  he  possessed.  Few  men  have  been  distinguished  by  the 

genius  of  Swift,  and  it  is  this  genius  which  has  cast  the  halo  over 

his  opinions.  It  is  not  possible  to  trace  in  his  support  of  Harley, 

any  dictate  of  principle,  any  sentiment  of  sincerity,  or  of  devotion  to 

a  cause  he  had  embraced.  Considering  himself  to  be  neglected 

by  the  whigs,  he  was  willing  to  gratify  his  wounded  pride  by 

shewing  them  the  power  of  the  man  they  had  ill-treated.  He  saw 
before  him  the  reward  which  he  trusted  to  obtain.  To  me  he 

appears  the  greatest  bravo  of  literature,  having  brought  to  his 

work  the  greatest  ability.  His  affectation  of  independence  with 

the  men  of  rank  with  whom  he  associated  was  a  sham  ;*'  and  this 
independence  has  been  dwelt  upon  to  enforce  respect  for  his 

character  and  opinions. 

Swift  was  in  London  in  1708-9,  to  urge  some  requirements  of 
the  Irish  Church,  when  he  was  treated  with  neglect  by  Godoiphin. 

He  revenged  himself  by  a  satirical  poem.f  The  tory  pamphleteers 

had  little  ability.  Prior,  then  on  that  side,  the  only  name  now- 
recollected,  was  not  a  political  writer  of  power.  There  was  no  one 

to  answer  Addison  and  Steele.  In  1710,  Swift  was  again  in  London, 

and  it  was  in  September  of  that  year  that  he  commenced  the 

letters  to  Stella,  known  under  the  name  of  "  the  Journal."  These 
letters  were  continued   until  17 13. 

It  has  been  pretended  that,  Swift's  sentiments  as  a  churchman 
were  shocked  by  the  latitudinarian  principles  of  Godoiphin  and  the 

whigs,  and  that,  guided  by  these  feelings,  he  determined  to  throw 

his  weight  on  the  side  of  the  new  administration,  formed  on  the 

principle  of  sustaining  the  church.  It  was  no  ordinary  weight ; 

his  personal  influence  in  politics  has  never  been  exceeded,  and  has 

*  Johnson  remarks  on  this  point  :  "  No  man,  however,  can  ])ay  a  more  -c-rvile 
tribute  to  liie  great,  llian  by  suffering  his  liberty  in  tlieir  presence  to  aggrandize  him 

in  liis  own  esteem.  Between  different  ranks  of  the  community  there  is  necessarily 

some  distance  ;  lie  who  is  called  by  his  superior  to  pass  the  interval  may  properly 

accept  the  invitation  ;  but  petulance  and  obtrusion  are  rarely  produced  by 

magnanimity  ;  nor  have  often  any  nobler  cause  than  the  pride  of  importance  and 

the  malice  of  inferiority."     Lives  of  the  Poets.     Swift. 

t  "  The  virtues  of  Sid  Ilamet  the  Magician's  Rod."  "  Sid  '  is  in  allusion 

to  Sydney,  the  family  name  of  Godoiphin.  The  "  Rod  "  is  the  staff  of  the  lord 

treasurer.     Dated  August,  1710,  it  is  marked  by  all  Swift's  coarseness. 
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truly  been  compared  to  that  of  a  new  newspaper  in  moilern  times, 

started  to  sustain  a  ministry.  It  is  not  f)ossibIe,  however,  to  speak 

of  Swift  as  an  earnest  high  churchman.  Sacheverell  he  despised.* 

He  spolcc  of  the  high  church  party  as  the  "  Tantivies,"  the  name 

given  thtm  in  Queen  Anne's  day.  f  Lent  he  hated. J  Who  can 

read  the  "Tale  of  a  Tub  "  and  the  "Voyage  to  the  IIouyhnhnms,"§ 
in  which  he  satirizes  transubstantialion,  the  disputes  regarding  music 
in  churches,  the  adoration  of  the  cross,  and  the  rites  and  vestures 

of  the  Roman  catholic  church,  but  can  trace  opinions  the  reverse 

of  those  entertained  by  the  class  he  himself  called  the  "Tantivies".'' 

There  can  be  but  one  explanation  for  Swift's  conduct ;  he  thought 

Harley's  the  winning  side. 

He  found  an  organ  in  the  "  Examiner."  The  earlier  numbers 
had  been  written  by  St.  John,  Atterbury,  Prior,  Friend  and  .Mrs. 

Manley.  Swift  took  charge  of  the  14th,  and  carried  it  on  until 

the  45th  number.ll  Not  only  in  this  paper  was  he  the  strongest 

supporter  of  the  minister,  but  he  produced  poems  and  tracts  and 

pamphlets  with  untiring  energy.  Swift  knew  no  mercy  in  his 

cynical  nature.  Family  history,  personal  defects,  individual  tastes, 

were  coarsely  assailed  by  him,  without  scruple,  truth  or  justice. 

To  destroy  an  opponent,  was  to  him  no  more  than  for  an  Iroquois 

or  Abenaki  Indian  to  scalp  his  victim.     (3ne  of  his  effusions  raised 

*  Journal,  Letter  XL.,  26tli  of  January,  1712.  "I  once  hardly  thout;lit  I 
should  he  a  solicitor  for  Sacheverell." 

t  Letter  XXX IL,  9th  of  Octolier,  1 71 1.  The  nickname  given  (mni  a 

caricature,  in  which  they  were  rejiresented  galloping  "tantivy"  to  Rome. 

+  Letter  XLIl.,  23rd  of  Keitruary,  1712.  "I  wish  you  a  merry  Lent.  I 
hate  Lent  ;  I  hate  different  diets,  and  furniity  and  butter  and  herb  porridije  ;  and 

sour  devout  faces  of  ])cople  who  only  put  on  relii;iun  for  seven  weeks." 
§  "He  asked  me  what  were  the  usual  cau>es  or  motives  that  made  one  country 

go  to  war  with  another.  I  answered,  they  were  imuimerable  .  .  .  Difference 

in  opinions  has  cost  many  millions  of  lives  ;  for  instance,  whether  fle^h  be  bread 

or  bread  be  flesh  ;  whether  the  juice  of  a  certain  berry  be  blood  or  wine  ;  whether 

whistling  be  a  vice  or  a  virtue  ;  whether  it  be  better  to  kiss  a  post  or  throw  it 
into  the  fire  ;  what  is  the  best  colour  for  a  coat,  whether  black,  white,  red  or 

gray  ;  and  whether  it  should  be  long  or  short,  narrow  or  wide,  dirty  fir  clean  ; 

with  many  more." 
Gulliver — A  Voyage  to  the  Ilouyhnhnms,  Chaj).  V. 

il  loth  of  November,  1710,  to  7th  of  July,  171 1. 

It 
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him  up  an  enemy*  whose  influence  with  Anne  did  much  to  aid  in 
depriving  him  of  the  coveted  bishopric.  Harley  and  St.  John 

were  prepared  to  reward  his  services  with  any  dignity,  ecclesiastical 

or  otherwise.  Deaneries  and  bishoprics  became  vacant,  to 
which  other  men  were  appointed,  until  Swift,  seeing  that  no 

benefice  was  to  be  given  him,  determined  to  leave  England.  His 

last  paper  in  the  "  Examiner"  'vas  writt(- -  in  June,  171 1  ;  but  his 
pamphlets  were  continued  with  power  and  vigour  to  seize  the 

public  mind,  and  are  still  read  for  their  force  and  argument. 

His  reward  was  the  deanery  of  St.  Patrick,  vacated  by  the  appoint- 

ment of  his  friend.  Dr.  Sterne,  to  the  bishopric  of  Dromore  ;  the 

object  of  his  aspiration,  an  English  bishopric,  passing  out  of  his 

hopes  forever.f 

The  ministry  of  Harley  and  St.  John,  in  a  great  degree  owed  to 

Swift   the    short    lease    of   power   it    obtained.       It    was    Swift's 

ff-^r;*-
 

*  In  his  "  Windsor  Prophecy,"  Swift  attacked  the  duchess  of  Somerset,  who 
had  i-uccet'ded  the  duchess  of  Marlliorough  in  two  of  her  offices,  and,  looked 
upon  as  a  whig,  was  held  to  be  unfavourable  to  tlii;  administration.  Th';  Duchess 

had  red  han-,  and  was  a  Per;y. 

Beware  of  Canv/s  from  Northumberland. 
*  *  * 

Root  out  these  Carrots,  O  //loti  (Queen  Anna)  whose  name 

Is  backwanh  and  forrcards  always  (lie  same  ; 

And  keep  .'use  to  thee  alwrys  that  name  (Mashani) 
Which  Imckwanh  and  fonoarJs  is  almost  the  same  ; 

And,  England,  wouldn't  thou  be  haiipy  still, 

Bv  y  those  Ccirrots  under  a  ///.','  (the  maiden  name,  of  Mrs.  Masham). 

The  political  women  of  Queen  Anne's  clay  were  not  personally  aitractive. 
Mrs.  Masham  had  a  red  nose,  often  alluded  to  by  the  whig  party  writers.  Swift 

writes  of  her,  14th  of  November,  1711  :  "Mrs.  Masham  was  with  him  [the 

lord  treasurer]  when  I  (.;.i  e,  and  they  are  niver  disturbed  ;  'tis  well  she  is  not 

very  hi.ndsome  ;  they  sit  alnne  tot^ether,  settling  the  nation." 

•(•  In  1712,  Swift  kjxpected  the  deanery  of  Wells  ;  it  was  given  to  Dr.  Brails- 

ford,  the  chai)la*n  of  the  Dvke  of  Newcastle.  "  I  can  serve  everybody  but  myself," 
he  ̂ vrote  bitterly,  on  the  8th  of  March,  1712.  His  ne.\t  hope  was  the  bishopric  of 

Hereford,  vr  ;ant  by  ihe  death  of  Dr.  Humphreys,  the  20th  of  November,  1712. 

Ag.'dn  '  ■  ex]ierienced  a  refusal.  Harley  was  then  Earl  of  Oxford,  prepared  to 
su.siain  i.ini ;  but  the  Tale  of  a  Tub,  and  the  duchess  of  Somerset,  with  Arch. 

'Dishop  Sharpe,  were  pouerful  to  inlluence  the  queen's  mind,  and  Anne  persevered 
in  h'ri  objections  to  his  elevation. 

tl 
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powerful  influence  on  public  opinion  which  led  to  the  conclusion 

of  the  treaty  of  Utrecht ;  indeed,  it  is  no  exaggeration  to  say  that 

it  was  greatly  his  work. 

Th"  policy  of  Godolphin  and  Alarlborough  had  been  to  carry  on 
the  war,  and  obtain  conditions  of  peace,  which  should  jjermanently 

protect  Europe  against  the  aggressions  of  Louis  XIV.  The 

sieges  of  the  towns  on  the  frontier  are  not  to  be  regarded  simply 

as  the  conquest  of  French  strongholds.  France  was  surrounded 

by  a  triple  line  of  fortresses,  and  it  was  to  remove  the  protection 

afforded  by  them,  that  they  were  taken  one  after  another  by 

Marlborough.  The  policy  of  prince  Eugene  and  IMarlborough 
was  one  and  the  same  ;  to  advance  into  the  heart  of  France,  and 

dictate  terms  of  peace.*  French  writers  admit  the  exhaustion  of 
France  ;  Louis  himself  had  contemplated  desperately  to  make  a 

last  stand  behind  the  Somme.f 

Blarley's  views  were  peace  on  any  terms,  so  that  he  could  hold 

office,  and,  accordingly,  it  was  Swift's  purpose  to  write  in  favour 
of  peace.  His  effort  was  directed  to  shew  that  war  was  unnc<  es- 

sary.  and  its  prosecution  injurious ;  that  the  country  was  being 

exhausted,  and  its  future  strength  anticipated  ;  that  the  valour  of 

the  troops  had  been  called  forth,  and  their  blood  shed,  to  no  good 

purpose  for  Great  Britain  ;  that  the  war  had  been  continued  to 

secure  the  Dutch,  and  aggrandize  the  Emperor,  without  the  least 

advantage  to  the  national  interest;  that  tlie  allies  had  been  paid 

to  fight  their  own  battles,  and  he  war  had  been  proi. acted  by  the 

duke  of  ]\Iarlborough  in  order  that  he  might  add  to  his  hoards. 

These  points  were  unceasingly  repeated  by  Swift,  with  all  the 

force  of  his  wonderful  ability. 

One  of  the  principal   means  of   confirming  Harley  s  power  was 

*"  "  in  das  Herz  dieses  Konigreiches  einzudringen."  Eugene  to  Sinzendorf, 
2n<i  of  July.  1712. 

t  At  the  last  meeting  with  Villars,  before  proceeding  to  take  command  in 

April,  1 7 12,  Louis  said  :  "  Kn  .illendant  que  vous  me  disiez  votre  pensec,  je  vous 

apprendrai  la  mienne  ....  je  con'iais  la  Somme,  elle  est  difficile  a  passer ; 

il  y  a  des  places  :  je  compterais  nie  rendre  h  I'eronne  ou  a  .Saint  Quentin  y 

raniasser  tout  ce  qui  j'aurais  de  troupes,  faire  un  dernier  efi'ort  avec  vous  et  perir 
ensemble  ou  sauver  I'Etat,  car  je  ne  consentirais  jamais  a  laisser  I'er.nemi 
api^rocher  de  ma  capitale. 

V 
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the  destruction  of  Marlborough's  character  on  general  grounds, 
previously  to  attacking  his  conduct  during  the  war.  In  the  early 

stage  of  Swift's  attacks,  Marlborough's  fame  as  a  general  remained 

unassailed.  Marlborough's  thrift  was  well  known,  and  it  was  an 
easy  task  to  find  cause  of  offence  in  his  love  of  money.  The 

transition  to  the  charge  that  he  was  endeavouring  to  continue  the 

war  to  gratify  this  greed,  was  too  simple  to  be  allowed  to  be 

passed  over.  It  thus  became  the  duty  of  Swift  to  heap  invective 

after  invective  on  Marlborough.  The  duke,  indeed,  formed  the 

subject  of  a  great  part  of  the  papers  in  the  "  Examiner."  Swift 
continued  the  abuse  in  his  political  pamphlets,  and  carried  on  his 

attacks  in  rhyme,*  which  still  astonish  us  by  their  audacity  and 

remorselessness,  and  which  were  continued  by  him  after  Marl- 

borough's death.  It  would  appear  as  if  Swift's  malignity  towards 
Marlborough  was  inexhaustible,  and  could  not  be  satisfied. 

It  is  this  systematic,  dishonest  abuse  of  Marlborough  by  Swift, 

which,  by  a  strange  fatality,  has  clung  to  Marlborough's  name  in 
English  history.  There  are  causes  why  this  view  has  been  con- 

tinued.      Marlborough   lived    until    1722,  perfectly  retaining    his 

*  "The  Fable  of  Midas,"  1712,  one  of  tin.'  most  powerful  .is  it  is  one  of  the 
most  discreditable  productici. ,  of  Swift.  The  closing  lines  to  trie  conqueror  of 

Blenheim,  the  upholder  of  British  power  on  the  continent,  who  maintained  the 

ancient  fame  of  the  land  in  a  manner  which  has  never  been  surpassed,  can  only 

be  read  with  pr'.in  by  every  student  of  history  : — 

"  But  gold  defiles  with  freciuent  touch — 

There's  nothing  fouls  the  hands  so  mucli  ; 
And  scholars  give  it  for  the  ciuse 

Of  British  Midas'  dirty  ))aws. 

And  Midas  now  neglecti-d  stands  (!) 

With  asses'  ears  (!)  and  dirty  hands  (!) 

See  also    "  A  satirical  elegy  on  the  deiith  of  a  late  fanioiis  general,  1722,''  in 
which  the  duke's  memory  is  infamously  assailed.     The  concluding  lines  are 

"Let  Pride  he  taught  by  this  rebuke, 

How  very  mean  a  lhint,'s  a  duke. 
From  all  his  ill-got  honours  flung  ; 

Turned  to  the  dirt  from  whence  he  sprung." 
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faculties.     His  last  appearance  in  the  house  of  lords  was  on  the 

27th  of  November,  1721.     The  well  known  line  of  Popo  Johnson 

"  From  Marlborough's  eyes  the  streams  of  rlot'.ge  flow," 

is  only  a  continuance  of  the  libel.  He  was  seventy-two  years  of 

age  at  his  death.  The  severity  of  his  campaigns  had  told  upon 

his  constitution,  but  with  unimpaired  intellect  he  performed  his 

duties  of  Captain-general  and  master  of  the  ordnance  to  within  six 

months  of  the  time  of  his  death.  He  had  previously  tendered  his 

resignation  of  these  offices,  which  George  I.  refused.  One  attempt 
to  cast  ridicule  on  his  character  is  four,  i  on  his  behaviour  to  the 

queen,  in  his  endeavour  to  prevent  the  dismissal  of  the  duchess 

from  her  official  positions  ;  it  is  contemptuously  remarked  that  tears 

stood  in  his  eyes.  We  are  told  sneeringly  how  he  knelt  before 

the  queen  and  shewed  great  emotion.  Alarlborough,  like  all  men 

who  have  habitual  self-command,  possessed  strong  feelings,  and 
was  sensitive  to  an  extent  which  only  his  correspondence  could 

b^ve  disclosed.  It  was  customary  in  those  days  to  kneel  in  an 

official  interview  with  the  Sovereign  ;  an  ancient  ceremony  not  quite 

dispensed  with  in  modern  times.  The  refusal  he  met  with,  was 

not  personal  to  himself.  What  he  asked  affected  his  wife,  for 

whom  his  affection  has  been  made  a  reproach.  A  rush  of  feel- 
ing must  have  passed  through  his  mind.  He  had  been  devoted  to 

the  interests  of  the  lady  Anne,  and  as  a  subject  he  had  remained 

a  friend  of  the  queen.  He  had  been  her  adviser.  He  must  have 

felt,  in  the  cold  refusal  he  had  received,  that  all  the  past  had  dis- 

appeared as  if  it  had  never  been.  The  queen's  hard  manner 
had  dissevered  these  ancient  ties,  and  it  must  have  forced  itself  on 

his  mind  that  he  was  the  victim  of  a  base  intrigue,  with  the  irre- 
sistible impression  how  little  his  own  services  were  held  in  account. 

To  those  sustaining  the  theory  of  the  utter  unworthiness  of 

Marlborough's  character,  the  scene  is  too  tempting  to  escape  com- 
ment. To  others,  considering  it  with  fairness  and  justice  the 

behaviour  of  the  duke  can  only  appear  as  a  natural  consequence  of 
the  harsh  destruction  of  intimate  associations. 

Tiie  generation  which  succeeded  Marlborough  were  not  called 

upon  to  discuss  his  reputation.  Political  events  multiplied  to  uirn 

public  attention  elsewhei-e. 

'       I 
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From  1743  to  1760  there  was  a  chronic  state  of  war  with 

France.  The  vigour  of  Chatham's  administration,  and  the  splendid 
triumphs  which  it  eftected  in  the  four  years  preceding  the  peace  of 

Paris,  turned  the  mirJs  of  men  to  the  future  rather  than  to  the 

past.  The  troubles  with  the  North  American  colonies  succeeded, 

and  the  angry  issues  of  Imperial  politics  after  the  death  of  George 

li.  to  the  close  of  the  century,  allowed  little  though*-  to  be  given  to 
the  wars  of  Queen  Anne. 

In  1777,  Johnson  commenced  his  "  Lives  of  the  Poets."  No 
man  knew  better  the  progress  and  character  of  our  literary  history. 

Is  it  a  heresy  to  say,  that  he  was  only  imperfectly  acquainted  with 

the  deeper  and  hidden  influences  in  our  national  political  life  ? 

He  did  not  probe  beneath  the  surface  to  examine  into  Swift's 
bitter  accusations  against  the  whigs  of  that  day.  His  own 

prejudices  led  him  naturally  to  accept  the  view  which  favoured 

the  high  church  and  jacobite  cause,  and  in  his  lives  of 

Swift  and  Prior,  he  has  adopted  the  opinions  contained  in 

Swift's  libels  and  accepted  the  defamatory  statements  against 
the  "  Great  Duke."  The  influence  of  the  "  Lives  of  the  Poets," 
a  book  which  yet  keeps  its  place  in  literature,  has  done  its  part 

in  affirming  the  opinion  which  has  been  prevalent  with  regard  to 
those  events. 

Our  subsequent  national  history,  which  includes  the  United 

States  war  of  Independence,  fotlosved  by  the  French  revolutionary 

wars,  in  connection  with  the  political  excitement  which  prevailed 

alter  Waterloo,  explain  the  cause,  that  the  events  of  Queen  Anne's 
reign  have,  to  some  extent,  passed  out  of  view.  The  treaty  of 

Utrecht  has  come  to  be  looked  upon  as  a  page  of  the  past,  the 

examination  of  which  is  a  work  of  supererogation.  Party  sympathies 

have  lent  their  influence  to  the  acceptance  of  the  policy  of  Harley 

and  St.  John.  Tory  politics  were  dominant  to  within  the  last  sixty 

years,  and  it  was  a  struggle  against  the  opinions  of  men  in  power 

to  ask  public  consideiation  of  the  mode  in  which  the  treaty 

had  been  obtained.  The  question  really  is,  not  what  we  gained, 

but  what  we  failed  to  achieve,  owing  to  our  own  intrigues.  It  is  a 

passage  in  British  history,  painful  to  read  ;  the  record  from  begin- 
ning to  end  is  one  of  national  dishonour,  the  result  of  the  trickery. 
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intrigue,  and  dishonesty  of  the  men  in  power,  and  prominent  in 

this  roll  of  disgrace  stands  the  name  of  Robert  Harley,  carl  of 
Oxford. 

After  the  dismissal  of  Godolphin,  in  17 lo,  Marlborough  had 
one  course  to  follow  ;  he  should  have  retired  with  the  treasurer, 

and  had  he  then  given  up  his  command,  the  step  would  have 

produced  serious  consequences.  The  public  mind  had  not  been 

prepared  by  Swift's  abuse  and  falsehood  for  the  duke'.s  sacri- 

fice. But  Marlborough  was  cajoled  by  Harley's  expressions  of 
friendliness  ;  in  former  years  he  had  supported  St.  John,  when 

secretary  of  war,  and  there  was  no  indication  that  any  attack 

would  be  directed  against  himself.  When  at  the  end  of  the  year 

he  returned  to  England,  the  parliament  had  met.  Its  majority  was 

tory  and  high  church.  The  usual  vote  to  ]\Iarlborough  for  his 

services  during  the  campaign,  was  withheld,  on  the  ground  that  no 

exploit  had  been  performed  ;  the  first  blow  to  hi'j  prestige.  There 
was  still  one  condition  on  which  Harley  was  willing  to  accept 

Marlborough's  services,  and  to  grant  him  full  consideration  ;  that 
he  should  set  himself  free  from  the  whigs,  and  give  the  new  ad- 

ministration the  weight  of  his  support  in  carrying  out  their  policy. 

A  circumstance  happened  with  respect  to  the  army  in  Flanders 

which  made  clear  to  ]\Iarlborough  the  spirit  of  hostility  against  him. 

Three  general  ofliccrs,  Meredith,  Honeywood  and  Macartney,*  at  a 

convivial  meeting,  drank  confusion  to  Marlborough's  enemies.  They 

*  General  Macartney  was  rfterwards  lord  Mohun's  second,  in  the  faial  duel 
with  the  duke  of  Hamilton.  The  rage  of  the  tory  and  Jacobite  party  at  the 

duke's  death,  gave  currency  to  the  charge  of  foul  pl.ay  on  the  part  of  lord 
Mohun  and  h! ;  seconds.  The  evidence  shews  that  the  duel  was  perfectly  fair,  hut 

fought  with  hate  and  bitterness,  lioth  the  principals  were  killed.  Macartney  had 

to  leave  England,  but  returned  in  the  reign  of  George  I.,  when  the  prosC'Cution 

was  abandoned.     On  this  subject,  "ee  Beyer,  page  609. 

The  charge  ivas  br.sed  on  the  evidence  of  Colonel  Hamilton,  the  duke's 
second,  before  the  Privy  Council,  "  that  he  saw  -Macartney  make  a  Pass  at  His 

Grace."  "  The  Falsity  of  that  horrid  Imputation  sufficiently  ap]ieared  both  from 

the  si'veral  Depositions  taken  at  the  Coroner's  Inquest  and  from  the  ri^ports  and 

Declarations  of  Two  or  Three  eminent  Surgeons,"  that  the  Duke's  (loath  had  been 
caused  by  the  thrust  made  by  Lord  Mohun.  Colonel  Hamilton  "became  so 
odious  to  all  Men  of  Honour  that  he  was  obliged  to  .-^ell  his  corpany  in  the 

Guards.'' 
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were  removed  from  their  posts,  but  allowed  to  sell  their  commis- 

sions. Cadogan,  whose  judgment  and  skill  had  been  of  such  use 

to  Marlborough,  and  who  had  performed  such  good  service  in  the 

war,  was  recalled  from  his  post  of  envoy  to  the  United  Provinces, 

and  the  earl  of  Orrery  appointed  ;  a  man  in  all  respects  objec- 
tionable to  Marlborough.  Good  service,  to  men  of  the  type  of 

Harley,  is  ever  of  small  account. 

Whatever  his  official  reception,  Marlborough  on  his  arrival  was 

welcomed  by  the  people  with  enthusiasm,  but,  in  order  to  avoid 

creating  any  tumult,  he  took  a  hackney  coach  and  drove  to  St. 

James.  The  queen  received  him  coldly,  but  expressed  a  wish 

that  he  should  continue  at  his  post.  She  requested  him  not  to 

encourage  the  proposal  of  any  vote  of  thanks,  as  her  ministers 

would  oppose  it.  On  his  side,  Harley  had  resolved  to  proceed  to 

extremities  with  Marlborough.  His  vindictive  nature  reverted  to 

the  time  when  he  had  been  compelled  to  resign  office  from  the 

course  followed  by  Marlborough.  The  disgrace  of  the  duchess 

was  the  first  step  to  be  taken  ;  she  received  a  peremptory  demand 

to  return  her  gold  key,  her  badge  of  office.  In  the  hope  of 

averting  ;his  step,  Marlborough  asked  for  an  interview  with  the 

queen,  which  was  officially  granted.  On  one  knee,  he  presented 

the  letter  from  his  wife,  and  passionately  pleaded  his  wife's  cause, 
asking  that  she  might  be  permitted  to  retain  her  position.  The 

queen  was  inflexible,  and  replied  that  the  key  must  be  sent  back 

within  two  days  Marlborough  in  vain  asked  for  a  delay  of  ten 

days.  He  rose  from  his  knee,  and  complained  of  the  dismissal  of 

the  three  general  officers  of  the  army.  The  queen  interrupted 

him  ;  she  would  talk  of  no  other  business  until  she  had  the  key. 

Of  the  three  offices  held  by  the  duchess  of  Marlborough,  the 

duchess  of  Somerset  was  appointed  mistress  of  the  robes  and 

groom  of  the  stole ;  Mrs.  Masham,  keeper  of  the  privy  purse. 

If  Marlborough  had  consulted  his  own  feelings,  he  would 

immediately  have  retired  from  his  command  :  every  influence, 

however,  was  exercised  to  indu  e  him  to  remain  with  the  army. 

Godolphin,  his  friends  in  England,  Heinsius  at  the  Hague,  prince 

Eugene,  saw  in  the  abandonment  of  his  post  the  dissolution  of 

the  league  and  the  triumph  of  France.     Impressed  by  this  appeal. 
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in  an  evil  hour  for  himself,  Marlborough  consented  to  remain  and 

serve  in  the  next  campaign.  He  received  assurances  from  the 

Ministry  that  he  would  be  fully  supported,  and  left  London  in 

February,  17 11,  for  the  memorable  campaign  of  that  year.  At 

the  beginning  of  the  month,  Anne  wrote  the  States  General  that 

she  was  in  all  respects  satisfu  with  the  conduct  of  the  duke,  and 

that,  according  to  the  desire  which  had  been  expressed,  she  would 

order  him  forthwith  to  go  to  Holland.'-^ 
Without  a  knowledge  of  these  events  it  is  not  possible  to  under- 

stand the  intrigues  of  the  English  ministry  to  obtain  the  treaty 
which  exercised  such  influence  on  the  Northern  American  con- 

tinent. They  were  preliminary  to  the  pernicious  counsels  of 

Harley  t  in  opening  negotiations  with  France,  and  aided  in  the 

development  of  his  policy  of  abandoning  the  allies  and  making  a 

separate  treaty  ;  a  policy,  as  events  establish,  as  devoid  of  political 

foresight  as  it  was  marked  by  bad  faith. 

When  Marshal  Tallard  was  French  ambassador  in  London,  a 

priest  named  Gaultier  acted  as  his  chaplain.  This  priest  had 

remained  in  London,  protected  by  the  countess  of  Jersey,  a 

Roman  catholic  and  Jacobite.  A  correspondence  had  been 

opened,  by  the  means  of  Gaultier,  with  the  French  court.  In 

these  letters  the  leading  men  of  P^ngland,  and  among  them  Harley, 

were  represented  as  being  in  the  pretender's  interest,  and  the  earl 
of  Jersey  had  the  dishonesty  to  advise  how  France  could  carry  on 

war  advantageously,  so  that  peace  might  be  concluded  :  the  hope  of 

the  Jacobites  rested  upon  the  basis  of  peace  with  France.  Gaul- 
tier was  named  by  lord  Jersey  as  a  fit  person  to  send  to  Paris,  to 

propose  confidentially  that  negotiations  should  be  renewed  with 

Holland,  and  to  inform  the  French  court  of  the  feeling  of  the 

English  ministry.  For  greater  security  no  written  instructions  were 

given.  Under  the  name  of  Delorme,  Gaultier  reached  Ver- 

sailles in  January,  1 7  1 1 ,  a  few  days  before  Marlborough  started 

for  the  Hague,  and  while  preparations  were  being  made  for  the 

disgracefully  conducted  expedition  against  Quebec.     Gaultier  saw 

Js 

*  Boyer,  p.  502. 
t  "A  dark  and  tortuous  course  wps  at  all  times  the  most  consonant  to  the 

character  of  Harley.''     Earl  Stanhope. 
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de  Torcy  who  has  told  us  his  surprise  at  an  application  for  peace, 

the  matter  most  anxiously  desired,  but  of  which  there  was  not  the 

slightest  expectation.  "To  ask,"  said  de  Torcy,*  "  a  minister  of 

his  Majesty  if  he  wished  peace,  was  to  ask  an  invalid  suft'ering 
from  a  long  and  dangerous  disease  if  he  desired  to  be 

cured."  Gaultier  only  asked  that  de  Torcy  should  write  a 
letter  to  lord  Jersey,  to  the  effect  that  he  was  glad  to  hear  lord 

Jersey  was  in  good  health  ;  it  would  serve  both  as  a  passport  and 

for  his  credentials.  Gratified  as  the  French  were  by  this  an- 

nouncement, with  statesmanship  in  strong  contrast  to  that  of 

Harley,  they  returned  a  cautious  reply.  It  set  forth  that  Louis 

was  offended  by  the  hostile  spirit  shewn  by  the  Dutch,  and  was 

disinclined,  from  a  proper  sense  of  his  own  dignity,  again  to  apply 

to  them  :  the  king  would,  however,  gladly  accept  the  mediation 

of  Great  Britain,  and  would  submit  to  the  English  such  conces- 
sions as  he  was  inclined  to  grant.  If  thought  expedient,  the  offer 

could  be  made  known  to  the  Dutch.  On  the  distinct  understand- 

ing that  perfect  secrecy  should  be  observed,  Gaultier  carried  back 

to  Versailles  the  reply  of  the  English  ministry,  accepting  this 

proposition. 
At  the  end  of  April,  Gaultier  reappeared  in  London  bringing 

an  offer  of  peace  from  de  Torcy.  The  conditions  were  set  forth 

in  six  vague  and  indistinct  articles.  It  c.  nnot  be  made  a  reproach 

to  France  that  plainer  language  was  not  used.  The  negotiations 

exacted  the  highest  diplomacy.  The  knowledge  of  the  political 

intrigues  in  England  was  working  its  influence  at  Versailles,  and, 

although  the  genius  of  Marlborough  was  never  more  apparent  than 

during  the  campaign  of  171  i,  it  was  known  throughout  the 
continent  that  his  influence  was  on  the  wane,  and  that  the  ablest 

man  in  Europe  would  be  excluded  from  taking  part  in  his  country's 
councils. f 

•  "Interroger  alors  un  ministre  de  sa  Majestc  s'il  souhaitait  la  paix,  c'etoit 

demancler  a  un  malade  attaquc  d'un  long,'.!e  et  dangereuse  raaladie  s'il  en  veut 
guerir."     He  Torcy  :  tmisieme  partie. 

+  Swift  writes  in  the  Journal  21st  December,  1712.  "  This  day  se'ennight 
after  I  had  been  talking  at  Court  with  Sir  William  Wyndhani,  the  Spanish 
anibassador  came  to  him,  and  said  he  heard  that  was  Dr.  Swift,  and  desired  him 

to   tell  me  that   his  master,  and   the  king  of  France  and   the  queen  were  more 
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lilu 

li  than 

These  six  articles  promiseti  securities  for  trade  in  Spain,  the 

Indies,  and  the  Mediterranean  ;  a  barrier  to  protect  the  Dutch  ; 
freedom  of  commerce  ;  and  reasonable  satisfaction  to  the  allies. 

The  Spanish  succession  it  was  hoped  might  be  regulated  to  the 

contentment  of  all  parties  engaged  in  the  war. 

These  terms  were  sent  to  lord  Raby  at  the  Hague,  with  secret 

instructions  to  show  them  in  confidence  to  Heinsius,  and  the 

Dutch  ministry.  Raby  was  told  that  Marlborough  had  no  com- 

munication on  the  subject  from  England,  and  it  was  supposed  that 

none  would  be  given  him  from  the  Hague.  The  Dutch  expressed 

a  desire  for  peace,  but  asked  for  proposals  in  plainer  language. 

Pettekum  also  wrote  to  France  that,  if  Louis  would  re-open  the 
negotiations  in  Holland  he  would  be  satisfied  with  the  manner  in 

which  they  would  be  carried  on.  As  requested  by  the  English 

ministry,  Louis  declined  the  offer  ;  for  as  events  were  shaping 

themselves,  it  was  to  his  advantage  to  conduct  them  in  London. 

On  the  29th  of  May,  very  probably  with  the  view  of  shewing  the 

French  court  the  high  favour  in  which  Harley  was  held,  he  was 
created  earl  of  Oxford. 

In  order  to  give  a  more  direct  character  to  the  negotiations. 

Prior  was  ofBcially  sent  to  P'rance.  He  was  selected  owing  to  the 
desire  to  keep  the  negotiation  a  secret  ;  for  the  appointment  of  a 

man  of  higher  rank  would  have  drawn  attention  to  the  mission. 

His  credentials  were  signed  by  the  queen's  own  hand,*  and  con- 
sisted of  a  few  lines,  giving  him  power  to  communicate  the  British 

claims  and  receive  the  French  reply.  He  was  instructed  to  assure 
the  French  court  that  Great  Britain  had  no  desire  to  interfere  with 

a  member  of  the  house  of  Bourbon  sitting  on  the  Spanish  throne, 

provided  the  crowns  were  not  placed  on  the  same  head,  and  full 

security  given  for  this  provision.     He  was  to  ask  for  the  cession  of 

obliged  to  me  than  any  man  in  Europe  ;  so  we  bowed  and  shook  hands  &c.  I 

took  if:  very  well  of  him."  Well  might  the  king  of  France  own  his  obligations 

to  Dr.  Swift,  for  having  by  his  calumnies  removed  the  first  genius  from  his  country's 
service  in  the  critical  hour,  when  his  experience  and  capacity  would  have  proved 

formidable  hindrances  to  French  diplomacy. 

*  De  Torcy  gives  the  text.  "  Le  sieur  Prior  est  pleinement  instruit  et  autori.se 
de  comniuniquer  a  la  France  nos  deinandes  preliminaires  et  de  nov.s  en  rapporter 

les  reponses.    A.  R." 

2L 

i<  k 

'ill!    ! 



544 APPENDIX. 

Gibraltar,  Minorca  and  Newfoundland  ;  the  demolition  of  the 

harbour  of  Dunkirk  ;  participation  in  the  trade  of  South  America  ; 
a  barrier  for  the  Dutch  in  the  Low  Countries  ;  and  a  barrier  for  the 

allies  on  the  Rhine.  In  order  to  gain  time,  Louis  took  advantage 

of  the  limited  powers  given  to  Prior  and  proposed  to  send  back 

Menager  to  conduct  the  negotiations  in  London.  The  secret 

had  been  well  kept,  but  the  absence  of  Prior  from  his  haunts 

attracted  attention.*  It  was  whispered  about  that  he  was  engaged 
in  peace  negotiations  ;  an  accident  revealed  the  fact.  Prior, 

landing  at  Deal  under  a  feigned  name,  was  arrested  as  a  smuggler 

and  spy,  and  was  only  released  on  orders  from  London. 

The  French  envoy  was  instructed  to  demand  that  the  electors 

of  Bavaria  and  Cologne  should  be  reinstated,  and  the  cities  of 

Lille  and  Tournay  be  ceded  to  France,  as  compensation  for  the 
demolition  of  Dunkirk.  These  demands  were  left  for  consideration 

at  the  discussion  of  the  final  conditions  of  peace.  On  the  27th 

of  December,  M(^nager  signed  eight  preliminary  articles  :  Anne 

was  acknowledged  as  queen  with  full  recognition  of  the  protestant 

succession  ;  a  new  treaty  of  commerce  was  to  be  entered  into  ; 

Dunkirk  was  to  be  demolished,  some  special  consideration  being 

given  ;  Gibraltar  and  Minorca  were  to  remain  with  Great  Britain  ; 

Newfoundland  was  also  to  be  ceded  with  some  fishing  rights 

reserved  ;  and  the  slave  trade  permitted  to  the  British.  The 

preliminaries  signed,  Manager  was  received  at  Windsor  Castle. 

Marshal  Tallard,  a  prisoner  since  Blenheim,  was  allowed  to  return 

to  France  on  parole.  A  different  set  of  prelirr-inaties  were  sent 
over  to  Holland,  in  which  the  claims  favorable  to  Great  Britain 

were  omitted.  It  was  stipulated  that  the  crowns  of  Spain  and 

France  shoui  \  never  be  united  in  one  sovereign,  and  a  barrier 

treaty  was  promised  both  to  the  Dutch  and  the  empire. 

The  proposals  were  not  acceptable  at  the  Hague;  and  Buys  was 

sent  to  England  to  urge  the  claims  which  the  States  General  put 

forward.  For  the  first  time  Holland  was  admitted  to  the  negotia- 
tions ;  but  Great  Britain  had  virtually  abandoned  the  side  of  the 

allies  to  take  that  of  France.  She  had  clandestinely  accepted 

terms  of  peace  which  she  was  prepared  to  enforce,  and  had  thus 

•  Swift,  24th  of  August,   171 1. 
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virtually  dissolved  the  coalition      TU 

-^n  considered  policy,  supped  b    '"  ""  '"  '''  '"'"-'  ̂ °  ̂ e  no 
distinctly  enunciated     The  C      .  ̂  """'^  "''"'^''  °^  'h-  alliance 

-  ̂  -i-c,.  G.at-B::^^c::;r'"''^,  ̂ ^^'  ^^^ '----; 
dupncuy.  and  .ust  be  held  res  o       ',   ̂ Th'      °'  '''°"°"^  ̂ ^ 
^"d   bad   fa.th  which  arose       Then  '"'P'"'°"'  ■'"'-'^'o^sy 

object  in  viev,  Oxford  s  int  igue     i;""   "°  '°"^'-   ̂    --.on 

each  state  specially  to  advoca!ts  own' ':'"'"'   ''''''''''  ̂ ^'^  'ed 

common  weal  and  the  future   vel  ̂  ̂  i^"^''  ̂^^^^^^'-^  of  the After  some  hesitation  rr.      u  Europe. 

emperor  .i.h  .ho  c„,„sc.  ,ake„  I'  ..'"'T'""""""  f="  "^  'he 

e«r.me,  and  i.  „s  expressed  i„  "..o;„  !  '■"«"'"  ■"'"'■^■"'  "a, 
ambassaJo..  Tho  la.tor  even  pi  "hd"'.'''*'"  '"  ''''  °'-'"»».  '''^ 

'h^  papers  relaUve  ,„  ,„«  .rea™  Th  !,  T  "  "  ''"""  '^'""■""  " 
^W   of    which  ho  had  odich  V  t         .        '""'  '°  "'>"«"■',  a 

^pcTor  ,vas  callod  upon  ,o  sond  !n„  h  """'"  "  '°""'  ""<>  'he 

^  Th.  news  „f  peace  on  .hoso  co„<n  """"'^' '°  ''■"«'-^- 
fac'ion  in  E„„a„d,.  publico  !":,"' "^™°''  ̂ ™' ''i-a'- 
Pohc,  of  the  govornmon.  ,  a  l- "  '  T""*"'  ''■^'^"^"-  The 

Pan>phle.s  which  appeared  aga^"  ,  *r"^'>.^^»°-ncod  in  ,he 
he.  .he  coarsos.  and  mos?  nns  "  pi,,  j! '"''^  '="^™'"  <l'>g'ace. 
•earnest  in  „rg,n8  .ho  prosec„tio7of  ,  •"'""P'""^"'.  became 
°""  '•'f  >"  obtaining  ,hoir  p„    shm  n^   ,"T:'':  '""  "'"'"^  '"  his 
men.  Marlborough  arrived  a.  Green  "ich         t'""'  "'  ""=  "■^'■■"e- 
her,  ,7,,,  Queon  Elizabo.h's  birThda         Pt      ̂   "'"■  '"'  '•'"'=- 
her.  the  anniversa-;  of  ,ho  J,"     7'         '"  ""=  5'h  of  Novom- 

^-a.  quoonwas  ,hen  p 'biici      .     .""a^  °''  '"^  ̂'""a.v  of  .he <iemons.ralions  and  riot,  ,„ok  p.a-e      t?      T""'""'  ™"»='i^ 
onconraging  such    manifestations    M,M  "'"  ''PP'>"''"<=''  of 
London  until  , ho  following  ,10  °"°''    ""'    "o.    reach 
-bject  Of  tho  proposed  ;!«  nJ'V  '"^  «-'™-.' on  the 

made  for  ,ho  obsorvanco' of  Ih  ,Th  T""°"^  '"O  ̂ een 
-ere  anticipated  by  the  govornmon  t  '^°''""''"-  They 
'he  procession    wore   seized       „ d   "  ""^"^  '""="<'=''   for 
»n"^..al  demonstration  '"="'    ""''»    '=>   Prevent   any 
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Marlborough  was  accompanied  by  baron  Bothmar,  envoy  of  the 

heir-apparent  the  elector  of  Hanover,  who  was  the  bearer  of  a 
powerfully  written  memorial  against  the  peace  as  proposed ; 
this  paper  was  printed  shortly  before  parliament  met.  As  the 
whigs  still  retained  a  majority  in  the  house  of  lords,  the  ministry 
saw  clearly  the  insecurity  of  their  position,  should  Marlborough 
remain  at  the  head  of  the  army ;  for  with  the  great  body  of  the 

people  he  was  still  the  victorious  general  who  had  maintained 
ancient  English  renown.  On  the  continent,  his  influence  was 

greater  than  ever,  and  Oxford  became  convinced  that,  for  his 

own  policy  to  be  successful,  the  great  duke  must  be  struck  down. 
The  duchess  of  Somerset  had  also  awakened  the  fears  of  the 

men  in  power.  Her  posit'on  near  the  queen  gave  her  great 
influence,  which  it  was  supposed  she  exercised  in  a  manner 
unfavourable  to  the  ministry.  Oxford,  with  his  intriguing  spirit, 
endeavoured  to  remove  her ;  but  he  soon  discovered  that  the 

queen's  objection  to  this  step  would  prove  insuperable,  and, 
accordingly,  he  ceased  to  persevere  in  the  attempt.  On  the  other 
hand,  Anne  had  shewn  her  determination  to  support  the  high 

church  party,  and  to  give  her  full  support  to  those  who  flattered 
her  sense  of  prerogative. 

Anne  frequently  attended  the  debates  of  the  house  of  lords, 

where  she  was  supposed  to  be  incogniia.  On  the  opening  of  the 
session,  after  the  speech  from  the  throne,  and  when  her  Majesty  had 

taken  off  her  robes,  she  seated  herself  in  the  place  she  generally 
occupied.  The  debate  turned  on  the  peace.  Lord  Anglesea  said 
it  might  have  been  obtained  after  Ramillies,  had  it  not  been  for 

those  whose  interests  it  was  to  prolong  the  war.  Marlborough  rose 
with  great  emotion,  and  bowing  towards  the  bench  where  the  Queen 

sat,  said  that  he  could  appeal  to  her  Majesty  whether  he  had  not 
constantly  informed  her  of  every  proposal  which  had  been  made ; 
adding,  that  he  had  always  been  desirous  of  an  honourable  and 

lasting  peace,  and,  had  been  far  from  wishing  to  prolong  the 
war.  He  was  not  able  however,  to  support  the  terms  of  peace 
laid  before  parliament.  The  vote  was  62  to  34.  against  the 
ministry. 

Oxford  no  longer  hesitated.     Papers  were  laid  before  the  house 



APPENDIX. 

of  commons  attacking  Marlborough.  *  A  deposition  early  in  the 
year  had  been  made  by  Sir  Solomon  Medina,  a  rich  jew  contractor 
for  bread  for  the  army :  he  stated  that  he  had  paid  Marlborough 

332,000  guilders,  and  his  secretary,  Cardonnell,  500  ducats.  These 

papers  had  been  sent  to  Marlborough,  and  he  had  replied  that  in 
receiving  this  money  he  had  only  followed  the  precedent  of  every 

commander-in-chief  in  the  Low  Countries,  and  that  he  had 
applied  the  money  to  obtain  intelligence,  and  generally  on  secret 
service.  The  house  of  commons,  elected  after  the  Sacheverell 

prosecution,  would  admit  no  such  explanation,  and  reported  that 

they  could  find  no  precedent  of  this  character.  The  report  also  s'^t 
forth  that  Marlborough  had  received  two-and-a-half  per  cent,  on  the 
subsidies  paid  to  foreign  powers.  The  utter  unfairness  of  the  conduct 
of  the  house  of  commons,  is  made  plain  by  the  fact  that,  no  English 
general  before  Marlborough  had  held  command  in  the  Low 
Countries.  Great  efforts  were  made  to  prove  that  there  had  been  an 

illegal  disposal  of  commissions,  but  they  utterly  failed.  On  the  sub- 
ject of  the  two-and-a-half  per  cent,  allowed  by  foreign  princes  on  the 

subsidies  received,  the  ministers,  representing  their  courts,  declared 

that  it  was  the  spontaneous  gift  of  the  sovereign  princes  them- 
selves, with  which  the  British  parliament  had  nothing  to  do,  and 

that  it  was  an  infringement  of  their  sovereign  rights  to  question 
their  conduct.  A  fit  comment  on  this  persecution  is,  that  when 

the  duke  of  Ormond  was  appointed  to  succeed  Marlborough,  the 
same  allowance  was  continued  to  him,  which  he  accepted  without 

a  scruple  of  conscience. 

History  contains  no  more  extraordinary  record  than,  that  with- 
out examination  of  the  facts  by  any  judicial  tribunal,  without  fair 

investigation,  almost  without   inquiry,   without  extending  to  the 

*  There  is  a  curious  note  in  Hallam  as  to  one  form  of  opposition  to  which 

Marlborough  was  subjected.  "  A  contemporary  historian,  of  remarkable  gravity, 
observes  :  '  It  was  strange  to  see  how  much  the  desire  of  French  wine,  and  the 

dearness  of  it,  alienated  many  men  from  the  Duke  of  Marlborough's  friendship.' 
Cunningham,  II.,  p.  220.  The  hard  drinkers  complained  that  they  were  poisoned 

by  port ;  these  formed  almost  a  party.  Dr.  Aldrich,  Dean  of  Christchurch,  sur- 

named  the  Priest  of  Bacchus,  Dr.  Radcliff,  General  Churchill,  &c.  '  And  all  the 
bottle  companions,  many  physicians,  and  great  numbers  of  the  lawyers  and  inferior 
clergy,  and  in  fine  the  loose  women  too,  were  united  together  in  the  faction  against 

the  Duke  of  Marlborougli.'  "     Chapter  XVI. 
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great  commanler,  who  had  raised  British  fame  to  the  highest 
horizon  of  renown  the  justice  shewn  to  the  petty  robber  of  a  hen 

roost,  Marlborough  was  summarily  dismissed  from  all  his  appoint- 

ments.* Many  events  in  our  history  are  painful  to  read,  few  more 
dispiriting  than  the  record  of  the  disgrace  which  the  miserable 

politicians  of  the  last  years  of  Queen  Anne  brought  upon  the 

national  escutcheon.*  Even  this  exercise  of  power  would  not  have 
sufficed  to  overcome  the  majority  of  the  house  of  lords  opposed 

to  the  conditions  of  the  peace :  in  order  to  nullify  the  possi- 
bility  of  an  adverse  vote,  the  extreme  step  was  taken  of  creating 
twelve  additional  peers.f 

The  vote  in  the  house  of  lords  was  secured  by  these  new 

appointments ;  and  on  Marlborough's  removal,  the  duke  of  Ormond, 
fettered  by  instructions  which  made  the  presence  of  the  British 

troops  a  mockery,  was  appointed  to  the  command.  As  peace 

had  not  advanced  beyond  the  submission  of  the  preliminary  condi- 

tions, a  large  army  took  the  field  on  the  side  of  the  allies.  Marl- 
bOiOugh  had  hitherto  held  the  supreme  command  of  the  whole 
force.  The  Dutch  would  not  recognise  the  duke  of  Ormond  in 

that  position,  and  appointed  Eugene  to  the  command  over  their 
troops.  The  policy  of  penetrating  into  the  heart  of  France  remained 

unchanged.  The  fact  is  important ;  it  establishes  that  Marlborough's 

*  The  entry  of  the  duke's  dismissal  in  th"  records  of  the  council  is  dated  the 
31st  of  December,  171 1.  "  Being  informed  that  an  information  against  the  Duke 
of  Marlborough  was  laid  before  the  house  of  commons  by  the  commissioners 

of  public  accounts,  her  Majesty  thought  fit  to  dismiss  him  from  all  his  employ* 

ments,  that  the  matter  might  undergo  an  impartial  investigation."  The  queen 
communicated  this  resolution  in  a  letter  to  the  duke  in  her  own  hand,  which  is 

not  extant.  The  duchess  stated  that,  in  his  indignation,  Marlborough  threw  the 
letter  into  the  fire. 

t  Mr.  Masham  was  included  in  the  number,  from  the  belief  that  the  selection 

would  be  personally  agreeable  to  the  queen.  The  contrary  was  the  case  ;  Anne 
in  no  wise  objected  to  use  her  prerogative  to  advance  Colonel  Masham  to  military 

rank,  in  opposition  to  the  viev.'s  of  the  Commander-in-chief;  but  she  had  no 
desire  to  elevate  her  waiting-woman  to  the  rank  of  a  peeress.  "  I  never  had  any 

design  to  make  a  great  lady  of  her,"  said  the  queen,  "  and  I  should  lose  a  useful 
servant  about  my  person  ;  for  it  would  give  offence  to  have  a  peeress  lie  upon  the 

floor  and  do  several  other  inferior  offices."  The  difficulty  was  obviated.  My  lady 
Masham  consented  to  remain  in  the  continuance  of  her  duties,  and  so  obtained 

her  patent  of  nobility. 
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dismissal  had  no  influence  on  the  conduct  of  the  campaign,  and  that 

the  charge  that  the  war  had  been  continued  principally  by  his 

influence  is  entirely  without  foundation.  The  statesmen  of  true 

ability  of  that  day,  on  the  continent  as  well  as  in  England,  acted 

upon  the  conviction  that  peace  was  not  desirable  unless  its 

permanancy  were  assured  ;  and  past  experience  had  taught  them 

that  it  could  be  only  satisfactory,  when  it  was  the  result  of  the 

irresistible  power  of  the  allies. 

When  joined  by  Ormond,  the  army  of  the  allies  amounted  to 

122,000  men.  The  political  events  which  had  taken  place  in 

England,  led  Eugene  to  confer  with  Ormond,  as  to  the  powers  he 

possessed.  Ormond  answered,  they  were  the  same  as  those  of 

Marlborough,  and  that  he  was  ready  to  assist  in  attacking  the 

enemy.  Villars  was  in  their  front  with  an  army  of  100,000  men, 

ill  equipped,  ill  provided,  with  little  heart  for  the  campaign.  Its 

deficiencies  in  strength  were  more  than  supplied  by  the  treachery 

of  the  English  ministry.  St.  John,  on  the  loth  of  May.  sent 

orders  to  Oj;mond  "to  avoid  engaging  in  any  siege,  or  hazarding  a 
battle,  until  further  orders  from  her  Majesty.  I  am  at  the  same 

time  directed  to  let  your  Grace  know,  that  the  Queen  would  have 

you  disguise  the  receipt  of  this  order,  and  her  Majesty  thinks  that 

you  cannot  want  pretences  for  conducting  yourself  so  as  to  answer 

her  ends,  without  owning  that  which  might  at  present  have  an  ill 

effect  if  it  was  publicly  known." 
Acting  on  these  instructions,  Ormond  entered  into  a  corres- 

pondence with  Villars,  informing  him  that  they  were  no  longer 

enemies,  and  removing  every  feeling  of  alarm  from  the  French 

marshal  regarding  the  movements  of  the  overpowering  force 

before  him.* 

Prince  Eugene,  accustomed  to  the  genius  and  loyalty  of  Marl- 
borough, soon  formed  the  opinion  that  the  vacillation  of  purpose 

of   the  English    general    was  not  simply  want  of  capacity  on  his 

"  "the  Tongues  of  most  People  were  very  free  with  the  Duke  of  Ormond: 
And  to  this  Purpose  we  may  take  Notice  that  an  Alehouse  Keeper  in  West- 

minster, having  either  for  a  Jest-sake  or  out  of  mere  Simplicity  set  for  his  .Sign 

His  Grace's  Mead,  with  this  Inscription,  the  *  General  of  Peace, ^  the  Government 
order'd  the  same  to  be  taken  down."     Boyer,  p«57i. 
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part,  but  was  the  consequence  of  deep-laid  treachery ;  he  lost  no 
time  in  putting  his  suspicions  to  the  proof.  The  reports  he 

received  of  the  condition  of  the  French  troops,  from  the  higher  offi- 
cers he  had  sent  out  to  reconnoitre  their  camp,  convinced  him  that 

it  was  open  to  assault,  and,  on  the  28th  of  May,  Eugene  called 

upon  Ormond  to  join  in  a  united  attack  upon  Villars,  Ormond,  to 

avoid  any  action  on  his  part,  asked  that  a  delay  of  some  days 

should  be  granted.  Villars  in  the  meantime  made  a  retrograde 

movement,  and  the  opportunity  passed  away.  A  cry  of  indigna- 

tion was  heard  on  all  sides.  The  army  was  convulsed  with  emo- 

tion. Prince  Eugene  addressed  expostulatory  letters  on  Ormond's 
conduct  to  England.  If  Oxford  and  St.  John  were  ready  to 

gratify  their  love  of  power  by  treachery  and  wrong,  the  ancient 

spirit  of  the  land  was  not  dead.  Public  feeling  was  painfully 

excited,  and  eleven  days  after  the  event  the  matter  was  brought  up 

in  the  house  of  lords.  "  The  orders  to  the  queen's  general  not 

to  act  offensively  against  the  enemy  "  *  were  disclosed  during  the 
debate,  and  rarely  has  so  inglorious  a  discussion  been  heard  in 

the  British  senate.  The  dishonourable  abandonment  by  Great 

Britain  of  every  standard  of  right  was  dwelt  upon,  especially  that 

"  the  allies  who  had  relied  upon  the  aid  and  friendship  of  the 
British  nation,  and  expended  so  mu^h  blood  and  treasure,  should 

be  exposed  to  the  revenge  of  that  power,  against  whom  they  had 

been  so  active."  An  address  was  moved  to  the  queen,  setting 
forth  the  bad  and  dishonourable  effects  of  the  restrictive  order  to 

her  general,  beseeching  her  to  recall  tha  same,  and  direct  him  to 

act  offensively,  in  conjunction  with  the  other  allies. 

The  motion  was  seconded  by  Marlborough.  He  expressed  his 

opinion  that  the  only  way  was  to  carry  the  war  into  the  heart  of 

France,  and  that,  as  it  was  impossible  to  execute  this  design 

unless  the  French  troops  were  withdrawn  from  their  position,  and, 

as  they  could  not  be  induced  to  retire  from  want  of  provisions, 

they  must  be  attacked  and  forced. 

During  the  debate,  Lord  Poulet  remarked  that  nobody  could 

doubt  the  duke  of  Ormond's  courage,  but  "  he  was  not  like  a 
certain  general  who  led  troops  to  the  slaughter  to  cause  a  great 

*  Boyer,  p.  571.  ■ 
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number  of  Officers  to  be  knocked  on  the  Head  in  a  Battel,  or 

against  Stone  Walls,  in  order  to  fill  his  Pocket  by  disposing  of 

their  commissions."  Marlborough  heard  the  remark  with  silent 
self-composure.  When  the  house  was  up  he  sent  lord  Mohun  * 
to  lord  Poulet,  with  the  notice  that  he  desired  to  have  some 

explanation,  and  asked  Poulet  to  take  the  air  in  the  country. 
Poulet  asked  if  it  was  a  challenge  ?  Mohun  answered  that  his 

message  wanted  no  explanation,  and  he  was  there  to  accom- 
pany the  duke  of  Marlborough.  Lord  Poulet  returned  home 

"  with  some  emotion,"  and,  giving  his  wife  a  hint  of  what  was 
threatened,  she  communicated  the  matter  to  lord  Dartmouth,  and 

the  affair  was  not  allowed  to  proceed  further.  The  queen  even 
personally  intervened. 

One  passage  in  the  life  of  Marlborough  cannot  be  omitted.  In 

171 2  he  left  England,  not  to  return  until  the  day  of  Queen  Anne's 
death,  the  ist  of  August,  17 14.  This  step  is  difficult  of  explana- 

tion ;  but  there  are  known  facts  to  call  for  consideration.  In 

order  to  insure  the  success  of  the  peace  negotiations  of 
the  government,  it  was  desirable  to  remove  Marlborough 

from  the  arena  of  politics.  His  correspondence  with  James  II. 
was  known  to  the  French  court,  and  in  this  crisis  it  may  be 

assumed  that  it  had  been  communicated  to  the  English  min- 
istry. The  ignoble  letter  relative  to  the  Talmash  expedition 

was  included  in  these  papers.  If  it  be  conceded  that  it  could 
only  be  from  some  powerful  motive,  that  Marlborough  became 
a  banished  man  on  the  continent,  for  his  absence  from  England 

can  be  looked  upon  in  no  other  light,  is  it  an  exaggeration  to  sup- 
pose that  Oxford  threatened  him  with  an  exposure  of  this  treason- 

*  Marlborough's  choice  of  lord  Mohun  was  in  accordance  with  his  character. 
Lord  Mohun  had  been  mixed  up  in  affairs  of  this  kind,  and  was  known  to  be  in 
earnest  when  he  acted  ;  it  was  necessary  to  make  lord  Poulet  understand  that 

there  was  no  child's  play  in  the  business.  Some  modern  historians  heap  indignity 
on  lord  Mohun's  name.  On  this  point  I  refer  my  readers  to  Boyer,  p.  610,  in 
which  place  his  memory  is  vindicated  :  Whatever  the  errors  of  his  youth, 

.  .  .  "  he  liv'd  to  be  a  great  Example  of  Sobriety  ...  my  Lord  Mohun 

.  .  .  did  wonderfully  reclaim  .  .  .  and  became  a  strenuous  Asserter  of 
the  Cause  of  Liberty  .  .  .  and  was  no  less  regretted  by  the  Whigs  than  the 

Duke  Hamilton  (sic)  was  by  the  other  Party." 

V 

\ 
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able  document,  to  the  extent  of  demanding  his  impeachment  ? 

Swiff's  Journal  furnishes  proof  sufficient  that  Oxford  could  keep 
his  own  counsel.  It  was  through  Oxford  the  correspondence  was 

conducted  by  which  passports  were  obtained  ;  Mainwaring  was 

the  medium  of  communication  on  the  duke's  side.  There  is 
undoubtedly  mystery  as  to  the  cause  of  his  departure.  Lord 

Cowper  has  recorded  in  his  diary  that  the  queen  said  to  the  duchess 

of  Hamilton,  "the  duke  of  Marlborough  has  acted  wisely  in  going 

abroad."  It  may  have  been  that  Anne,  while  willing  enough  to 

remove  Marlborough,  stayed  Oxford's  hand,  for  she  had  always  a 
regard  for  the  duke  in  the  "  Mr.  Freeman  "  of  earlier  years. 

If  this  theory  be  correct,  what  a  nemesis  is  here  apparent. 

Does  Greek  tragedy  anywhere  furnish  a  more  powerful  represen- 
tation of  the  pursuit  of  unrelenting;  fate  than  this  painful  spectacle 

of  the  greatest  general  and  diplomatist  of  Europe  forced  as  an 
alien  from  his  native  country,  which,  in  the  main  lines  of  his  life, 

he  had  served  so  faithfully  and  gloriously,  not  by  the  commision  of 

a  terrible  crime,  but  by  a  petty  mean  act  of  perfidy,  dictated  by  con- 
temptible selfishness  }  Is  there  any  teaching  of  the  preacher  more 

potent  to  awaken  reflection  on  the  ways  of  the  transgressor  } 
Was  there  ever  a  sterner  retribution  exacted  for  dishonour  ? 

The  ministry  resolved  immediately  to  withdraw  the  British 
troops  and  the  auxiliaries  on  British  pay  from  the  campaign.  The 

proposal,  however,  was  first  made  to  the  allies  to  agree  to  an  armis- 
tice, but  it  was  not  accepted.  With  a  knowledge  of  these 

negotiations,  Villars  addressed  Ormond  asking  to  be  decidedly 

informed, whether  itwas  the  intention  of  theBritish  troops  to  serve  in 
the  siege  of  Quesnoy,which  had  been  commenced.  This  categorical 
demand  entailed  on  Ormond  the  necessity  of  acting  according  to 

his  instructions,  and  he  resolved,  with  the  British  troops,  to  march 
from  the  side  of  the  allies  ;  but  neither  the  generals,  nor  the 

soldiers  of  the  auxiliary  force  in  the  pay  of  Great  Britain,  would  follow 

this  disgraceful  example.  Under  such  circumstances,  twelve  thou- 
sand British  troops  were  ordered  to  abandon  the  cause  which  they 

had  so  long  and  gloriously  sustained.  Never,  before  or  since  that 

day,  have  British  soldiers  evinced  such  a  sense  of  shame  and 
degradation.    They  were  abandoning  comrades  by  whose  side  they 
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had  fought  in  an  uninterrupted  tide  of  success,  to  gain  victory 

after  victory,  to  take  town  after  town,  with  only  an  ill  equipped, 
disheartened  army  to  arrest  their  further  advance  to  conquest. 

The  depression  which  came  upon  the  troops,  and  the  feeling 
of  disgrace  they  attached  to  this  unworthy  proceeding,  are 

recorded  by  a  contemporary  writer.  "It  grieved  them  to  the  heart 
to  submit  to  the  disgrace  of  laying  down  their  arms  after  so  many 
splendid  victories.  Some  left  their  colours  to  serve  among  the 

allies,  and  others  afterwards  withdrew;  and  whenever  they  recol- 
lected the  duke  of  Marlborough  and  the  late  glorious  times, 

their  eyes  flowed  with  tears."*  ' 
Shortly  after  this  event  occurred  the  defeat  of  a  detachment  of 

the  allies  at  Denain.  A  force  of  8,000  men  under  the  earl  of 

Albermarle  stationed  to  protect  the  lines  at  this  place,  and  to 

insure  the  safe  passage  of  supplies  to  the  camp  at  Landrecies, 

was  unexpectedly  attacked,  in  a  rapid  march  by  Villars,  and 
thoroughly  defeated  with  the  loss  of  3,000  prisoners,  prince 
Eugene  not  having  been  able  to  cross  the  Scheldt  to  come  to 
their  relief.  This  event  had  great  influence  in  inducing  the 

minds  of  the  Dutch  to  peace.  There  is  a  letter  extant  from 

Oxford  to  Ormond,  in  which  he  literally  gloats  over  the  disaster ; 
a  scandal  in  the  life  of  even  such  a  man.  f 

I  have  related  the  conditions  of  the  treaty  as  they  aftectea 

Canada  and  British   America ;    it  is  unnecessary    to   enter   into 

*  Cunningham,  Vol.  II.,  p.  432. 

t  August  5,  1712  :  My  Lord  :  No  Pen  nor  Tongue  is  able  to  express  tiie 

great  Pleasure  I  took  in  your  Grace's  Successes.  It  was  a  very  great  Satisfaction 
to  see  so  much  done  for  the  Publick  ;  to  see  such  an  Example  of  steddy  Conduct 

in  so  great  a  Nobleman,  and  so  courageous  a  Heart,  is  what  has  made  you  envy'd 
by  some,  dreaded  by  your  Enemies,  and  applauded  by  all  Men  of  Knowledge  and 

Understanding.  Your  Grace's  march  to  Ghent,  &c.,  is  a  Cotip  de  Maitre ;  it  is 
own'd  to  be  so  in  France  and  Holland :  And  I  must  own,  that  I  take  a  double 
Pleasure  in  it,  because  it  is  done  by  the  Duke  of  Ormond,  to  whose  Person  I 
have  so  intire  a  Friendship  and  in  whose  Success  I  take  so  particular  an  Interest. 
Monsieur  Torcy  wrote  a  veiy  just  Compliment  on  the  affair  of  Denain.  Tuit  tht 

Allies  might  now  see  what  they  had  lost  by  her  Majesty's  withdrawing  her  Forces, 
and  what  Value  they  ought  to  ptit  upon  a  Nation  which  everywhere  led  Victory  with 
it.     I  am,  &c.,  Oxford. 

Boyer,  pp.  S93-S94> 
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clauses  which  applied  to  the  whole  continent  of  Europe.  After  what 
has  been  said,  it  can  easily  be  understood  that  no  great  difficulty 

would  have  been  experienced  with  regard  to  the  American  possess- 
ions of  either  power.     The  real  point  at  issue,  the  boundary  line 

between  the  two  countries,  was  left  untouched  ;  while  the  mischiev- 
ous retention  by  France  of  Cape  Breton  became  one  of  the  main 

causes  of  future  dissension.       As  we   read  the   history  of  these 
events,  few  can  doubt    that    had    the  British  negotiations  been 

differently  conducted,  the  conditions  of  peace  would  have  been 
widely    different.        France,   with    extreme    unwillingness,  ceded 

Newfoun'dland,  Hudson's  bay,  an  1  Acadia  ;  but  it  was  no  feeling 
of  their  value,  if  we  except  Newfoundland,  regarded  as  a  nursery 
of  the  French  navy,  which  led  to  the  desire  to  retain  them.    It  was 
the  abandonment  of  territory  which  had  been  once  French,  which 

was  painful ;  and  the  consent  of  France  was  only  extorted  by  the 

desperate  circumstances  in  which   she  was  placed.     With  Marl- 
borough in  command,  all  opposition  to  the  advance  of  the  allied 

forces  into  the  heart  of  France  would  have  been  swept  away.    It  is 

the  taunt  of  some  modern  writers  that  Marlborough's  victories  led 
to  no  result.     There  is  not  entire  truth  in  the  phrase,  for  very 
important  concessions  were  obtained  :   but  the  failure  to  obtain  a 
more  favourable  treaty  must    be  attributed    to  the    ignominious 

intrigues  of  the  English  ministers  with  the  French  court,  in  which 

they  sacrificed  the  national  interests,  to  obtain  for  themselves  a 

short  discreditable  tenure  of  power,  and  forever  to  incur  the  con- 
tempt of  posterity.  Among  the  altered  conditions,  is  it  an  exagger- 

ation to  assert  that  Canada  would  have  passed  to  British  rule  as  one 

of  the  conditions  of  the  peace  ?    The  overwhelming  force  which  in 
1 7 1 1  ascended  the  Saint  Lawrence  would,  under  competent  leaders, 

have  proved  irresistible  ;  but  apart  from  this  consideration,  there 
is  much  to  show  that  in  France,  a  strong  feeling  existed  against 

Canada.     There  were  many  who  felt  that  while  the  colony  added 

nothing  to  the  national  prestige,  it  was  a  great  source  of  expense 

and  difficulty,  and  that  its  security  was  not  based  on  unassailable 
conditions. 

Similarly  to  what  happened  forty  years  later,  no  great  efforts  would 
have  been  made  to  retain  what  most  French  statesmen  regarded  as 
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a  few  acres  of  snow.*  Voltaire's  remark  must  not  be  looked  upon 
as  a  mere  epigram  ;  it  must  be  accepted  as  representative  of  a 
widely  spread  feeling  in  France ;  and  the  trifling  allusion  to  the 
French  American  possessions  in  the  treaty  of  peace  enables  us  to 
form  an  estimate  of  the  value,  in  which  these  possessions  were 

held,  in  relation  to  the  European  questions  which  occupied  the 
attention  of  French  statesmen. 

There  are  events  in  history  which  leave  the  impression  on  the 

mind  that  they  were  foreordained.  One  school  of  thinkers  would 
class  this  result  as  one  of  fate  ;  another,  as  an  act  of  Providence. 

The  last  years  of  the  reign  of  Queen  Anne  glide  before  us  in  the 
panorama  of  history,  as  if  foredoomed  by  some  irresistible  power. 
The  chief  actors  appear,  to  strut  their  brief  hour,  many  of  them 
to  be  heard  no  more  ;  nevertheless,  they  aided  to  carry  on  the 
action  of  the  drama  to  its  denouement.  Much  had  been  battled 

for.  With  the  exception  of  the  withdrawal  of  the  insolent  preten- 
sion of  the  French  King  to  control  the  succession  to  the  crown  of 

Great  Britain,  and  the  destruction  of  the  overwhelming  power  of 

France  which  had  hitherto  paralyzed  the  whole  continent,  no 

remarkable  result  is  apparent  from  the  conditions  of  the  treaty. 
These  two  modifications,  however,  in  the  political  state  of  Europe, 

were  of  the  highest  importance.  They  were  in  themselves  guar- 
antees for  the  advancement  of  free  institutions,  and  enlightenment  i 

for  the  cause  of  the  pretender  was  of  importance  in  the  eyes  of 
the  French  king,  inasmuch  as  by  its  success  Great  Britain  could  be 
reduced  to  the  ignominious  position  she  had  held  during  the  reigns 
of  Charles  II.  and  James  II. 

No  other  main  disputed  point  had  been  definitely  settled. 

But  the  recollection  of  the  war,  which,  with  some  years  of  inter- 

ruption, had  lasted  for  a  quarter  of  a  century,  was  powerful  to  pre- 

*  The  expression  is  to  be  found  in  Candide,  Chap,  XXIII.  "  Vous  connais- 

sez  r  Angleterre  ;  y  est  on  aussi  fou  qu'en  France  ? — C'est  un  autre  espece  de  folic 
dit  Martin  ;  vous  savez  que  ces  deux  nations  sont  en  guerre  pour  quelques  arpents 

de  neige  vers  le  Canada,  et  qu'elles  depensent  pour  cette  belle  guerre  beaucoup 
plus  que  tout  le  Canada  ne  vaut.  De  vous  dire  precisement  s'il  y  a  plus  de  gens  k 
lier  dans  un  pays  que  dans  un  autre,  c'est  ce  que  mes  faibles  lumieres  ne  me 
permettent  pas  ;  je  sais  seulement  qu'en  general  les  gens  que  nous  allons  voir  sonl 
fort  atrabilaires."  ' 
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serve  peace.  When  the  generation,  contemporary  with  the  suffer- 
ing and  privations  it  had  caused,  had  passed  away,  they  were  for- 

gotten. After  thirty  years  interval,  the  fires  of  national  hate  and 

fury  were  again  kindled  ;  all  the  bad  passions  of  humanity  were 
called  forth,  and  Europe  and  North  America  once  more  became 
the  scenes  of  bloodshed  and  devastation. 

Note. — The  late  Earl  Stanhope  has  on  two  occasions  brought  against  Marl- 
borough the  charge  of  assisting;  the  first  pretender  with  money  to  aid  him  in  his 

invasion  of  Scotland  in  1715;  in  "The  History  of  England,  1713-1783,"  Ed.  1858, 
Vol.  I.,  p.  105,  and  in  his  "  History  of  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne  to  the  Peace  of 

Utrecht,"  1870,  p.  72.  In  the  latter,  the  charge  is  advanced  with  less  positiveness. 
At  the  time  of  giving  this  assistance  'he  Duke  of  Marlborough  was  professing 
loyalty  to  George  I.,  and  in  possession  of  a  lucrative  post  in  the  army.  I  am 
impelled  to  express  my  dissent  to  the  opinion  that  any  money  was  given  for  such 
purpose,  considering  that  it  is  not  sustained  by  evidence. 

The  accusation  is  based  on  a  passage  in  a  letter  from  Bolingbroke  to  the  pre- 
tender, dated  Paris,  the  25th  of  September,  1715.  Speaking  of  the  little  secrecy 

observed  in  the  pretender's  councils,  he  adds  :  "The  Marquis  d'Effiat  told  me 
the  veiy  sum  Marlborough  has  .idvanced  to  you."  There  is  likewise  a  letter  from 
the  duke  of  Berwick  to  James,  dated  the  nth  of  March,  1714,  in  which  the  Duke 

of  Marlborough  is  spoken  of  slightingly.  It  runs  :  "  Mr.  Belly  has  received  a 
letter  from  M.  Malbrouck's  friend  [Marlborough]  ....  you  will  find  little 

more  than  verba  et  voces,  according  to  that  gentleman's  custom." 
Saint  Simon  tells  us  [Vol.  VI.,  p.  262]  that  after  Oudenarde,  in  1708,  Lieutenant 

General  de  Biron,  who  had  been  taken  prisoner,  was  invited  to  dinner  by  Marl- 
uorough,  and  received  with  the  perfect  high  breeding  which  distinguished  the 
duke.  During  dinner  he  surprised  de  Biron  by  asking  after  the  prince  of  Wales, 
who  was  serving  under  Vendome,  apologizing  for  so  naming  him  ;  at  that  date, 

with  the  French,  the  pretender  was  looked  upon  as  James  III.  "We  will  not 

dispute  on  that  point,"  replied  de  Biron,  "for  in  our  army  he  is  only  called  the 
Chevalier  de  St.  George."  He  then  spoke  of  James  in  terms  of  praise.  Marl- 

borough listened  with  much  attention,  and  answered,  "  I  am  much  ploased  in 
hearing  so  much  good  of  him,  for  I  cannot  help  feeling  great  interest  in  that  young 

prince,"  and  the  conversation  closed. 
The  theory  of  any  such  money  having  been  given  by  Marlborough,  must  be, 

on  the  ground,  that  it  was  advanced  from  a  selfish  and  ignoble  astuteness  to 

secure  his  own  interest,  in  the  event  of  the  pretender's  success.  No  one  would 
accuse  the  great  duke,  of  want  of  judgment  and  foresight;  but,  if  in  this  case 
the  charge  be  admitted,  the  grossest  folly  and  fatuity  must  be  attributed  to  him  ; 

for  no  one  could  have  better  seen  the  slight  chance  of  success  of  the  pretender's 
cause  at  this  time. 

A  few  dates  will  shew  that  it  money  were  given  it  could  have  no  connection 
with  the  events  of  1715.  Anne  died  on  the  1st  of  August,  1714.  George  I.  was 

proclaimed  king,  and  ascended  the  throne  without  opposition.     He  arrived  in 
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England  on  the  31st  of  the  month.  Immediately  after  the  queen's  death,  before 
George  I.  reached  England,  Louis  XIV.  acknowledged  the  Hanoverian  succession. 
Parliament  was  dissolved,  to  meet  on  the  17th  of  March,  1715,  when  there  was  a 

strong  majority  for  the  whigs. 
News  reaching  London  that  a  jacobite  attempt  was  being  organized,  in  Sep- 

tember Sir  George  Uyng,  with  a  fleet,  appeared  in  the  roads  of  Havre,  where  it 

was  reported  the  preparations  were  being  made.  Lord  Stair,  the  British  ambas- 
sador at  Paris,  demanded  that  certain  ships,  which  he  specifie<l  by  name  as  being 

engaged  in  the  service  of  the  pretender,  should  be  j;iven  up  by  the  French 
government.  The  regent  directed  that  they  should  be  unloaded,  and  the  arms 

and  other  cargo  placed  in  the  king's  stores. 
The  pretender  had  great  difficulty  in  leaving  France  ;  it  was  only  in  December 

he  landed  at  Peterhead  ;  and  in  February,  1716,  he  left  Scotland  sailing  from 
Montrose  for  France. 

It  is  not  improbable  that  Marlborough  may  have  been  asked  to  assist  the 
pretender  in  money  difficulties,  and  that  he  so  assisted  him.  It  is  but  an  act  of 
justice  to  his  political  discrimination  and  foresight,  to  suppose  that,  if  the  money 
was  given,  it  was  in  response  to  a  request  of  the  pretender  in  the  pressure  of 
some  personal  emergency. 

If  the  slight  evidence  which  we  possess  be  accepted  as  proof  of  the  fact,  at  least 
we  should  harmonize  it  with  the  undoubted  good  sense  and  unfailing  judgment 
which  characterized  Marlborough.  There  wp.s  no  man  in  Great  Britain  so  little  of 
a  jacobite,  and  no  man  more  persecuted  for  his  political  opinions  adverse  to  that 

cause.  He  was  then  sixty-five  years  old,  the  first  general  in  Europe,  and  little 
likely  to  compromise  himself  with  a  knot  of  men,  many  of  whom  were  his  personal 
enemies,  and  who,  for  the  most  part,  he  must  have  despised.  Is  there,  indeed, 

any  proof  that  money  was  really  given  to  the  pretender  by  the  duke  ? 

1 
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MARLBOROUGH'S  CONDUCT  IN  CONNECTION  WITH  THE 
EXPEDITION  TO   BREST   IN    1694. 

The  disgraceful  fact  is  known  that  with  many  of  the  public  men  in  England 
during  the  reign  of  William,  Marlborough  entered  into  correspondence  with 
James  II.  when  at  Saint  Germains.  The  reputation  of  Marlborough  is  further 
sullied,  by  the  fearful  accusation  of  deliberately  informing  James  of  the  projected 
attack  of  Brest,  owing  to  which  information,  the  port  was  placed  in  thorough  defence, 
and  such  preparation  was  made,  that  the  English  expedition  was  defeated  with  tlie 
loss  of  eight  hundred  men.  This  act  was  first  brought  to  general  notice  by  earl 
Stanhope  in  1836,  who,  in  narrating  it  in  a  few  lines,  adds,  that  no  defence  of  it  is 
possible,  but  that  of  the  Roman,  Manilas  Capitolinus,  who,  when  charged  by  the 
patricians  with  treason,  pointed  to  the  Capitol  he  had  saved.  It  remained  for  lord 

Macaulay,  twenty  years  later,*  to  bring  the  deplorable  truth  to  almost  universal 
knowledge,  in  my  humble  judgment,  with  marked  injustice  to  Marlborough. 
Macaulay,  who  would  at  once  have  seen  the  fallacy  of  his  own  statements  if  made 

by  any  other  writer,  assigns  the  motive  for  Marlborough's  conduct,  not  to  have  been 
the  advancement  of  the  Jacobite  cause,  but  the  diabolical  purpose  of  sac\ifi 
cing  Talraash,  the  one  soldier  in  the  English  army  liable  to  interfere  with  his  career. 
It  is  always  painful  to  record  the  evil  deeds  of  a  man  o^  genius,  and  the  character 
of  the  letter  under  any  circumstances  is  simply  ignominious.  But  to  speak  of 

Marlborough's  jealousy  of  Talmash  is  unwarrantable. 
There  was  no  quality  in  Marlborough's  minu  more  pre-eminent  than  his  free- 

dom from  jealousy.  He  had  no  such  feeling  towards  Cohom  or  Slagenberg, 

Overkirk  or  Opdam  ;  certainly  not  of  his  co-equal  in  greatness,  prince  Eugene. 
Their  relationship  can  only  be  remembered  to  the  honour  of  both. 

It  cannot  be  denied  that  Marlborough  constantly  wrote  such  letters.  It  would 

be  u  '^d  record  against  the  honour  of  any  man,  and  it  must  read  doubly  infamcis 
when  tht  cnme  is  committed  by  the  possessor  of  great  powers.  But  had 
Marlborough  any  other  design  than  to  secure  himself,  in  the  event  of  a  counter 
revolution  ?  It  was  the  belief  of  many  who  were  anything  but  Jacobites  that  the 
restoration  of  James  II.  was  only  a  question  of  time.  When  Marlborougii 
commenced  this  correspondence,  in  1690,  he  was  devoted  to  the  interests  of  the 

queen's  sister,  the  lady  Anne,  afterwards  queen.  Whatever  the  professicns  con- 
tained in  these  letters  of  his  desire  to  advance  the  interests  of  his  former  sovereign, 

no  one  act  of  Marlborough's  career  can  be  adduced  to  show  support  of  jaco- 
bitism.  James  II.  has  so  complained  in  his  memoirs ;  and  immediately  after 
one  of  these  letters,  Marlborough  went  to  Ireland,  to  perform  good  service  for 
William  III.  at  Kinsale  and  Cork. 

Lord  Macaulay  assumes  that  Marlborough  had  special  means  of  information  ; 
but  the  fact  is  not  proved,  and  the  condition  in  which  Marlborough  stood  with  the 
court  is  not  in  favour  of  this  theory.  The  object  assigned  is  the  destruction  of 
Talmash.     There  was  no  certainty  that  Talmash  would  be  killed,  and  his  was  a 

•  The  publication  of  the  III.  and  IV.  volumes  of  the  history  took  place  in 
December,  1855, 
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character  which  woulu  appear  noblest  in  adverse  circumstances.  Moreover,  the 

information  given  by  Marlborough  would  not  have  proved  of  value  but  for  extra- 

ordinary circumstances.  The  fact  is  admitted  by  lord  Macaulay.*  In  the  days 
of  steam  the  warning  would  have  been  w  ithout  effect.  London  was  full  of  spies. 
The  preparation  of  the  expedition  was  the  talk  of  the  coffee  houses.  Several 
places  were  named  as  threatened.  Is  it  possible  to  suppose  that  in  the  alarm 
caused  by  this  general  uncertain  information,  the  important  harbour  of  Brest  would 

be  neglected  ?  The  secret  was  remarkably  well  kept.  In  Marlborough's  letter  to 
James,  he  stated  that  Russell  had  declined  to  give  information,  and  amid  express- 

ions of  devotion  to  the  exiled  king,  Marlborough  warned  James  against  Russell. 
Had  it  not  been  for  the  adverse  winds  which  prevailed  for  a  month,  the  English 

ships  would  have  reached  Brest  as  soon  as  Marlborough's  letter  was  in  James' 
hands.  The  Jacobite  cutters  charged  with  treasonable  correspondence  were 
unaffected  by  the  wind ;  they  made  their  way  to  the  trench  coast  according  to 
its  direction ;  thus  while  the  fleet  was  detained,  the  letter  arrived.  However 

disastrous  the  result,  I  cannot  look  upon  the  information  sent  by  Marlborough 
as  anything  more  than  partaking  the  general  character  of  his  correspondence  with 
James  ;  the  mention  of  Brest  being  a  mere  lucky  guess,  considered  as  being  sent 
at  a  time  when  the  information  would  be  valueless. 

There  can  be  no  vindication  for  this  dishonest  correspondence  with  the  exiled 
court,  especially  on  the  part  of  those  not  devoted  to  his  cause.  To  a  certain 
extent  this  deplorable  line  of  conduct  may  be  explained  by  the  lax  dishonourable 

tone  of  thought  which  distinguished  the  "ignoble"  reigns  of  Charles  II.  and 
James  II.  Selfishness,  meanness,  falsehood,  low  tunning,  became  the  character- 

istics of  many  public  men  of  that  date,  leaving  an  ineffaceable  stain  on  £i'  'ish 
history. 

*  Promptitude  was  indeed  necessary,  for  when  Marl'oorouph's  letter  was 
written,  the  preparations  at  Portsmouth  were  all  but  complete,  and  if  the  wind  had 
beei:  favourable  to  the  English,  the  objects  of  the  expetlition  might  have  been 

attained  without  a  struggle.  But  adverse  gales  detainef'  our  fleet  in  the  Channel 
during  another  month. 

Macaulay,  vol.  IV.,  chap.  XX. 
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MALBROUGH  S'EN  VA-T-EN  GUERRE. 

Mr.  de  Celles,  librarian  of  parliament,  permits  me  to  use  his  name  as  an 

authority  that  the  song  of  "  Malbrough  s'en  va-t-en  guerre"  still  holds  its  place 
among  the  songs  of  the  habitants  in  the  country  parishes.  There  can  be  no  doubt 
that  it  was  brought  to  Canada  by  the  French  soldiers.  The  tradition  is,  that  it 
was  originally  written  by  the  nurses  of  the  children  of  the  duke  of  Bourgogne, 

the  pupil  of  Fdnelon  ;  and,  no  doubt,  verses  have  been  added  from  time  to  time. 
It  possibly  was  written  after  the  battle  of  Oudenarde.  Blenheim  was  fought  on 

the  13th  of  August,  1704,  for  Marlborough's  name  to  become  a  household  word 
in  France;  Oudenarde  on  the  iith  of  July,  1708.  The  duke  de  Bourgogne  had 
supreme  command,  but  he  was  accompanied  by  Vendome,  in  reality  to  be  the 
guiding  spirit  of  the  campaign.  The  duke  preferred  to  take  the  counsel  of  M. 
de  Puys^gur,  in  modern  history  a  mere  name.  The  battle,  as  was  usual  in  those 
days,  was  won  by  Marlborough  and  Eugene.  Venddme,  alone  in  the  council  of 
war,  was  desirous  of  continuing  the  fight  on  the  following  day ;  moreover,  he 
considered  that  the  action  had  been  lost  from  neglect  of  his  counsel.  The  death 
of  the  young  duke  made  a  profound  sensation  in  Europe.  He  had  married  Marie 
Adelaide  of  Savoy,  remembered  as  throwing  such  a  charm  over  the  last  years  of 
Louis  XIV.  She  died  from  fever  on  the  I2th  of  February,  1 712,  in  her  twenty- 
sixth  year  ;  the  dauphin,  her  husband,  for  such  was  his  rank,  owing  to  the  death 
of  his  father,  the  only  legitimate  son  of  Louis,  who  had  died  on  the  previous  I  Ith 
of  April,  died  in  his  thirtieth  year,  six  days  after  her  death. 

It  was  for  their  children  the  song  was  written.  The  eldest,  also  called  the 

duke  of  Bourgogne,  then  five  years  old,  died  on  the  8th  of  May,  1712.  The 
second,  the  duke  of  Anjou,  afterwards  Louis  XV.,  was  then  but  two  years  old. 

I  am  impelled  to  give  the  song  entire,  as  now  sung  in  Canada. 

Malbrough  s'en  va-t-en  guerre, 
Mironton,  mironton,  mirontaine  ; 

Malbrough  s'en  va-t-en  guerre, 
Ne  salt  quand  reviendra.     ter 

[Da  Capo  adjinem.) 

Beau  page,  ah  I  beau  page, 

Quell'  nouvelle  apportez  ? 

Aux  nou veil's  que  j'apporte 
Vos  beaux  yeux  vont  pleurer  ! 

II  reviendra  z-h.  Paques 
Ou  i  la  Trinity,    ter 

Quittez  vos  habits  roses 
Et  vos  satins  brochds. 

La  Triniie  se  passe, 

Malbrough  ne  revient  pas. 
Monsieur  d'Malbrough  est  mort, 
Est  mort  et  enterr^. 

Madame  i  sa  tour  monte. 

Si  haul  qu'ell'  pent  monter. 

Je'  I'ai  vu  porter  en  terre 

Par  quatre  z-ofiiciers. 

EUe  aper9oit  son  page. 
Tout  de  noir  habill^. 

L'un  portait  sa  cuirasse, 
L'autre  son  bouclier, 
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I/un  portait  son  grand  sahre, 

L'autre  ne  portait  rien. 

A  I'entour  de  sa  tombe, 
Flomurins  Ton  planta. 

Sur  la  plus  haute  branche, 
Le  rossignol  chanta. 

On  vit  voler  son  Sme, 
Au  travers  des  lauriers. 

Chacun  mit  ventre  h  terre, 

Et  puis  se  releva. 

Pour  chanter  les  victoires 

Que  Malbrough  remporta. 

La  ct^r^monie  faite, 

Chacun  s'en  fut  coucher. 

J'en  dis  pas  davantage, 
Car  en  voilJi  z-assez. 

The  songs  of  the  French-Canadians,  in  their  family  gatherings,  are  identical 
with  those  sung  a  century  and  a  half  back  by  their  ancestors  during  French  rule. 
Many  of  them,  however,  have  been  somewhat  expurgated  ;  at  least  they  vary  from 
the  text  retained  in  France,  where  they  are  still  sung  with  verses  which  have 

been  added  or  have  been  removed  in  Canada,  for  chey  are  unknown  in  the  country 

parishes  of  the  Saint  Lawrence.  The  latter  most  likely  is  the  case,  for  the  varia- 
tions are  not  to  be  recommended  by  their  decency.  The  change  may  have  taken 

place  at  the  time  of  the  conquest,  on  the  departure  of  the  French  troops ;  the 
population  was  then  small,  and  the  tradition  of  the  earlier  generation  may 
easily  have  passed  away. 

These  songs  are  a  remarkable  feature  in  Canadian  literary  history,  as  much 
from  the  originality  and  gaiety  of  the  airs  as  from  their  relationship  to  the  early 
settlers  of  the  country.  They  embrace  the  songs  of  childhood,  many  of  which  are 
extremely  pleasing ;  such  as  : 

"  C'est  la  poulette  grise 

Qui  pond  dans  I'^glise ; 
Elle  va  pondre  un  p'tit  coco 

Pour  le  p'tit  qui  va  faire  dodo." 
Some  of  them  are  known  over  the  whole  world,  as  they  have  been  sung  at  the 

camp  fires  of  the  Peninsular  War  ;  in  the  campaign  of  1812  ;  in  the  Crimea  ;  and 

in  India,  where  many  members  of  the  old  French-Canadian  families  were  present, 

some  never  to  return.  For  example  :  "Le  fils  du  roi  s'en  va  chassant."  "La 
belle  Fran5oise."  "  Par  derri^re  chez  ma  tante."  Especially  "  A  la  claire  de  la 
fontaine,"  perhaps  one  of  the  oldest  of  these  ballads,  which  has  its  origin  in 
Normandy. 

Several  of  the  songs  now  sung  are  of  comparatively  modern  date ;  tlie  most 
remarkable  are  those  which  have  come  down  from  the  time  of  the  French. 
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ROBERT  IIARLEY,  EARL  OF  OXFORD. 

The  most  prominent  actor  in  these  events  was  Robert  Harley,  Earl  of  Oxford. 
The  treaty,  indeed,  may  be  described  as  the  work  of  that  spirit  of  intrigue  which 
guided  him,  until  his  power  of  deception  had  developed  into  an  art.  By  nature  he 
was  disingenuous  ;  he  preferred  to  attain  an  object  by  indirect  means  when,  it  was 

otherwise  feasible  ;  he  was  known  as  "The  Trickster."  [Bohn's  Marlborough, 
II.,  p.  35].  His  mind  was  shallow,  his  intellect  commonplace  ;  he  was  entirely 
devoid  of  true  statesmanship,  and  his  policy  was  to  postpone  every  official  act, 
until  its  performance  became  unavoidable.  Characters,  the  most  opposite,  agree 
in  this  estimate  of  the  man.  Marlborough,  Somers,  Godolphin,  Lord  Chancellor 

Co'vper,  the  duchess  of  Marlborough.  Even  "Jack  Hill"  presented  Swift  with 
a  "gold  studded  snuff-box  [Journal,  isth  of  September,  1712]  for  which  the 
duchess  of  Hamilton  made  a  pocket,  on  which  Harley  was  represented  as  a  snail.* 
Lord  Cowper  records  in  his  diary  a  dinner  given  by  Harley,  when  Harley  and 
St.  John,  met  Marlborough,  Godolphin,  Sunderland,  Boyle  and  himself.  He 

says  :  "On  the  departure  of  Lord  Godolphin,  Harley  took  a  glass,  and  drank  to 
love  and  friendship  and  everlasting  Union,  and  wished  he  had  more  Tokay  to 
drink  it  in  ;  we  had  drunk  two  bottles,  good  but  thick.  I  replied  his  white  Lisbon 
was  best  to  drink  it  in,  being  very  clear.  I  suppose  he  apprehended  it  (as  I 
observed  most  of  the  company  did)  to  relate  to  that  humour  of  his,  which  was 
never  to  deal  clearly  or  openly  ;  but  always  with  reserve,  if  not  dissim  Uation,  or 
rather  simulation  ;  and  to  love  tricks  when  not  necessary,  but  from  an  inward 

satisfaction  in  applauding  his  own  cunning." 
The  duchess  of  Marlborough  describes  him  as  having  "a  constant,  awkward 

motion,  or  rather  agitation  of  the  head  and  body,  as  betraying  a  turbulent  dis- 
honesty, even  in  the  midst  of  all  this  familiar,  jocular  bowing  and  sinking,  which 

always  affected  to  cover  what  could  not  be  covered." 
On  entering  the  House  of  Commons  in  King  William's  reign,  by  his  readiness 

in  debate,  and  his  capacity  for  business,  he  obtained  a  leading  position,  and  was 
ultimately  elected  speaker.  As  his  career  widened,  he  became  identified  with  the 
tory  party.  He  had  started  life  as  a  presbyterian,  but,  as  policy  suggested,  he 

merged  into  a  high-churchman,  or  at  least  sought  the  support  of  the  October  Club. 

*  Swift  acknowledged  the  receipt  of  the  snuff-box  in  a  characteristic  letter, 

dated  the  12th  of  August,  1712,  and  alludes  to  Hill's  device  at  the  bottom  of  the 

box : — "  My  Lord  Treasurer,  who  is  the  most  malicious  person  in  the  world,  says, 
you  ordered  a  goose  to  be  drawn  at  the  bottom  of  my  box,  as  a  reflection  upon 
the  clergy,  and  that  I  should  resent  it.  But  I  am  not  angry  at  all,  and  as  his 
Lordship  observes  by  halves  ;  for  the  goose  there  is  drawn  pecking  at  a  snail,  just 
as  I  do  at  him  to  make  him  mend  his  pace  in  relation  to  the  public,  although  it 

be  hitherto  in  vain.  And,  besides,  Dr.  Arbuthnot,  who  is  a  scholar,  says  :  "  You 
meant  it  for  a  compliment  for  us  both  :  that  I  am  the  goose  who  saved  the  Capitol 

by  my  cackling,  and  that  his  Lordship  is  represented  by  the  snail  because  he  pre- 

serves his  country  by  delays. " 
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Zealous  for  no  interest,  and  having  in  view  chiefly  his  own  advancement,  he  could 
adapt  himself  to  all  opinions. 

The  main  element  of  Ilarley's  character  was  unfathomalile  cunning,  which  he 
could  enlist  in  any  form  for  any  purpose  ;  and  he  could  assume  a  free,  jaunty, 
motle  of  familiarity,  which  rarely  failed  to  attract  a  certain  class  of  those  he 
desired  to  bend  to  his  purpose. 

When  in  Godolphin's  government,  his  duplicity  against  the  chief  ministers 
led  to  his  dismissal,  for  to  such  it  amounted  ;  although,  with  his  want  of  moral 
courage,  he  resigned  to  avoid  this  disgrace.  He  secretly  continued  his  political 
intrigues  with  Mrs.  Masham,  and,  by  that  woman  was  constantly  introduced  to 

private  interviews  with  the  queen.  Hy  flattering  Anne's  love  of  prerogative,  and 
by  encouraging  her  animosity  against  the  duchess  of  Marlborough  and  by  humour- 

ing every  royal  weakness,  he  became  more  advanced  in  her  favour.  Anne's  senti- 
ment towards  the  duchess  had  become  almost  that  of  hate,  and  she  had  reached 

the  opinion  that  everything  should  be  attempted  so  she  could  be  rid  of  the  duchess' 
presence.  The  first  step  towards  this  result  was  to  remove  the  necessity  for  the 
services  of  the  duke.  In  other  words,  that  peace  should  be  obtained.  Under  this 

pretence,  Harley's  intrigues  first  effected  the  dismissal  of  Sunderland,  and  after- 
wards ihat  of  lord  Godolphin,  finally  to  obtain  the  appointment  of  himself  as 

lord  tre"-surer  and  first  minister.  * 
To  obtain  the  peace  he  even  cozened  Louis  XIV.;  leading  the  French  king 

to  believe  that  he  was  engaged  in  the  pretender's  interest.  To  give  a  better  colour 
to  his  possession  of  this  feeling,  he  appointed  as  his  secretary  Erasmus  Lewis,  a 
known  Jacobite,  who  became  afterwards  an  active  agent  in  the  events  of  17 15. 

Ilarley's  failure  to  keep  his  engagements  in  this  respect,  and  the  doubt  felt  as  to 
his  future  conduct  led  to  his  fall  [Henri  Martin,  vol.  xvi.,  p.  590]  The  duke  of 
Berwick  states  in  his  memoirs,  [vol.  ii.,  p.  133]  thai  the  pretender,  through  the 
duke  of  Ormond,  and  Mrs.  Masham  made  known  to  the  queen  the  wish  that 
Oxford  should  be  removed,  and  we  may  fairly  surmise  that  the  recommendation 
was  sustained  by  the  French  court.  On  the  27th  of  July,  1714,  O.  S.,  a  few  days 

before  the  queen's  death,  Oxford  was  dismissed  from  power.  On  the  same  day 
Lewis  wrote  to  Swift  "The  Queen  has  told  all  the  Lords  the  reasons  of  her  part- 

ing with  him,  namely  :  that  he  neglected  all  business  ;  that  '.  j  was  seldom  to  be 
understood  ;  that  when  he  did  explain  himself,  she  could  not  depend  upon  the 
truth  of  what  he  said  ;  that  he  never  came  to  her  at  the  time  she  appointed  ;  that 
he  often  came  drunk,  and  lastly,  to  crown  all,  that  he  behaved  himself  towards  her 

with  bad  manners,  indecency  and  disrespect. — Pudet  haec  opprobria  nobis,  &c." 
Swift  wrote  to  Pope  loth  January,  1721,  O.  S.:  "lean  never  forget  the 

answer  he  (Oxford)  gave  to  the  late  Lord  Halifax,  who,  upon  the  first  change  of 
the  Ministry  interceded  with  him  to  spare  Mr.  Congreve  ,  it  was  by  repeating 
these  two  lines  of  Virgil : 

"  Non  obtusa  adeo  gestamus  pectora  Poeni : 

Nee  tam  aversus  equos  Tyria  sol  jungit  ab  urbe." 

*  "  Une  revolution  de  cabinet,  qui  tendait  h  changer  toute  la  politique  de 

I'Europc,  avail  commence  par  une  revolution  de  ruelle.  Henri  Martin,  XIV., 

p.  536. 
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The  lines  are  found  in  the  first  Mneid,  567>8,  and  are  met  in  the  reply  of 
Dido  to  the  appeal  of  Ilioneus  for  hospitality.  If  Oxford  ever  read  the  fourth 

book  he  might  have  found  a  passage  which  at  the  close  of  his  career  had  applica- 

tion to  himself.  It  occurs  in  the  desperate  outburst  of  passion  in  Dido's  curse  of 
Mntta. 

Nee  cum  se  sub  leges  pans  iniqiuu 

Tradiderat,  regno  aut  optat&  luce  fruatur ; 
Sed  cadat  ante  diem, 

—Mn.  IV.,  618-620. 

[When  he  has  treacherously  abandoned  himself  to  the  conditions  of  a  disad- 
vantageous peace,  neither  that  he  enjoy  power,  nor  the  desired  honour,  but  fall 

before  his  time.] 
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